# REPORT OF THE STUDY TEAM ON AGRICULTURAL CREDIT INSTITUTIONS. IN RAJASTHAN



(J):6.202. NY L5 NJ

162072

RESERVE BANK OF INDIA AGRICULTURAL CREDIT DEPARTMENT BOMBAY

## REPORT OF THE STUDY TEAM ON AGRICULTURAL CREDIT INSTITUTIONS IN RAJASTHAN

HINTS FOR READING THE REPORT References: page 461 Abbreviations: full forms—page 462 Glossary: page 462

# REPORT OF THE STUDY TEAM ON AGRICULTURAL CREDIT INSTITUTIONS IN RAJASTHAN



RESERVE BANK OF INDIA AGRICULTURAL CREDIT DEPARTMENT BOMBAY First Published December 1975

Printed by J. S. Khamesra at G. Claridge & Co. Ltd., 289 Frere Road, Bombay 400 001 and Published by Dr C. D. Datey for the Reserve Bank of India. Agricultural Credit Department, Bombay 400 018

## CONTENTS

			Page
	INTE	RODUCTION	
	3	Terms of reference	2
	5	Special studies	3
	8	Meetings and visits of the Team	5
	11	Acknowledgements	6
Chapter I	AGR	ICULTURAL SITUATION IN THE STATE	
•	1.03	Geo-physical and climatic conditions	7
		Principal zones	7
	1.07	Land use	9
	1.08	Pattern of land holdings	9
	1.09	Cropping pattern	10
	1.18	Irrigation facilities	14
	1.21	Irrigation development	15
	1.23	High-yielding Varieties Programme	16
	1.25	Agricultural and Allied Development Schemes	18
	1.38	Concluding remarks	23
Chapter II	RAJA	ASTHAN STATE CO-OPERATIVE BANK	
•	2.02	Management	24
	2.06	Financial position	25
	2.07	Owned funds	26
	2.10	Deposits	26
	2.13	Borrowings	28
	2.18	Advances	31
	2.20	Deficits in non-overdue cover and defaults by ccbs	33
	2.23	Overdues	35
		Cash Reserve and Liquid Assets	35
		Supervision	36
		Role as a central financing agency	36
		Role as an apex institution	36
Chapter III	CEN	IRAL CO-OPERATIVE BANKS	
<b>-</b>		Financial position	38
		Comparative performance	39
		Field of enquiry	40
		Viability	41
		Efficiency — subjective criteria	42
		Efficiency — objective criteria	43
		Justification for continued existence	45
		Financial assistance	50
	3.24	Concluding observations	51

Chapter IV		IARY AGRICULTURAL CREDIT -OPERATIVE SOCIETIES	
	SEC. I	-PRIMARY AGRICULTURAL CREDIT SOCIETIES	
	4.07	Number of societies	55
	4.09	Coverage	57
	4.11	Borrowing membership	57
	4.13	Owned funds	59
	4.15	Deposits	59
	4.16	Borrowings and working capital	60
	4.18		60
	<b>√</b> 4.20	Overdues	62
	4.22	Audit classification	63
	4.23	Full-time paid secretaries	63
	SEC. I	I—ON-THE-SPOT STUDIES OF SELECT PRIMARY AGRICULTURAL CREDIT SOCIETIES	
		Coverage	66
	4.31	g	67
	4.41		73
	-	Scales of finance	74
	4.44		74
	4.45		74
	4.46		75
	V 4.47		76
	4.48	Overdues in relation to size of holdings of defaulters	76
	4.52	Coercive action	78
	4.54	Non-credit business	80
	4.55	Full-time paid secretaries	80
	<b>√</b> 4.56	Summary of findings	81
	SEC. I	IIDIRECTIONS FOR RE-ORGANIZATION	82
Chapter V		ICULTURAL FINANCE BY COMMERCIAL NKS	
	5.03	Branch network	90
		Deposit mobilization	92
	-	Financing of agriculture	92
		Recovery performance	95
	5,14	Financing of primary societies by commercial banks	95
	5.19	Concluding remarks	97
Chapter VI	DEV	DIT POTENTIAL AND FUTURE LINES OF ELOPMENT	
		Credit requirements ,	98
		Credit gaps	100
	6.07	Institutional sources	101

	6.12 Commercial banks—Future line of development	104
	6.15 Selection of areas	105
	6.22 Direct lending	109
	6.24 Role of the State Co-operative Bank	110
	6.27 Concluding remarks	111
Chapter VII	PROBLEMS OF AND INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGE MENTS FOR TRIBALS	-
	7.03 Objectives of the study	112
	7.04 Special features of the tribal population in Rajasthan	113
	7.06 Existing credit and other institutions in tribal area	114
	7.07 Central co-operative banks	114
	7.10 Primary agricultural credit societies	115
	7.13 Co-operative marketing societies	116
	7.14 Forest labour contract societies	117
	7.15 Managing committees	117
	7.16 Problems of indebtedness to moneylenders and of land alienation	118
	7.17 Draft Sub-Plan for tribal areas	120
	7.22 Institutional arrangements for the development of tribals	121
Chapter VIII	PROBLEMS OF AND INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGE MENTS FOR DROUGHT-PRONE AREAS	-
	8.07 Objectives of the study	136
	8.08 Sheep population and wool production	137
	8.10 Activities of the Sheep and Wool Directorate	138
	8.14 Purchase and marketing of wool by the Direc- torate	139
	8.16 Special programmes	142
	8.17 Sheep development under DPAP	142
	8.22 Institutional credit facilities	144
	8.29 Need for short-term finance	147
	8.30 Economics	147
	8.31 Security for loan	148
	8.32 Institutions for dispensation of credit	149
	8.34 Institutional arrangements for marketing	149
	8.48 Government aid	155
	8.49 Goat rearing	155
	8.50 Concluding remarks	155
Chapter IX	BLOCK-WISE PLAN OF ACTION FOR RE- ORGANIZATION OF PRIMARY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT STRUCTURE	
	9.04 Blocks with excess societies	159
	9.08 Blocks which can support additional societies	162
	9.10 Over-all picture	164
	9.15 Concluding remarks	167

Chapter X	OVERDUES IN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT INSTITUTIONS	
	10.02 Magnitude of overdues	170
	10.03 Types of default	170
	10.05 Maharashtra Study Team	171
	10.09 Recommendations of the Overdues Study Team	173
	10.12 Incidence of drought in Rajasthan	174
	10.13 Relief under stabilization arrangements	175
	10.16 Criteria for defining non-wilful defaulters	176
	10.18 Nature and extent of relief	176
	10.21 Part payment of overdue loans as a precondition for relief	178
	10.22 Relief in respect of overdue interest	180
	10.24 Estimate of non-wilful default	180
	10.25 Financial arrangement	181
	10.27 Follow-up action	182
	10.30 Wilful defaults	183
	10.35 Concluding remarks	186
Chapter XI	ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS SEC. I—SECRETARIES OF PRIMARY AGRICULTURAL CREDIT	
	SOCIETIES	
	11.04 Cost of secretaries	188
	11.05 Cadre for secretaries	189
	11.11 State and District Cadre Societies	193
	11.12 Arrangements for training	196
	11.13 Avenues for promotion	196
	11.14 Personnel for large-sized societies in tribal areas	197
	11.15 Special recovery officers	198
	11.19 Key personnel for central banks	200
	11.29 Inspectors/assistant inspectors in central banks	204
	11.34 State co-operative bank	206
	11.37 Co-operative Department	207
	11.38 Arrangement for Audit	207
	11.41 Personnel in Registrar's Office	209
	SEC. II-OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS	
	11.43 Interest margin	209
	11.48 Deposit mobilization	211
	11.55 Deposit insurance	216
	11.56 Lending policies	216
	11.59 Review of action on recommendations	217
	11.60 Concluding observations	218
	SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS	220
	ANNEXURES 1 to 88	263
	REFERENCES	461

#### INTRODUCTION

THE Conference of the State Ministers of Co-operation held in January 1973, recommended that the Government of India might appoint Study Teams to study the problems of co-operative credit institutions in the states where such institutions had failed to make much headway in lending support to the programmes of agricultural development in their areas. The Government of India requested the Reserve Bank of India to undertake the responsibility in some states of which Rajasthan was one. The suggestion was accepted and accordingly, the Governor of the Reserve Bank appointed in February 1974, a Study Team on Agricultural Credit Institutions in Rajasthan under the Chairmanship of Dr C. D. Datey, Executive Director, Reserve Bank of India with the following as members:

Shri G. S. Shaktawat<sup>1</sup> Chairman Rajasthan State Co-operative Bank

Shri Shobha Ram M.L.A. Rajasthan

Shri R. C. Sood<sup>2</sup> Development Commissioner and Agricultural Production Secretary Government of Rajasthan

Shri V. I. Rajagopal Special Secretary Co-operative & Agriculture Departments Government of Rajasthan

Shri Arun Kumar Registrar Co-operative Societies Rajasthan

Shri D. Aurora Director (DPAP) Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation Department of Rural Development Government of India

I Shri Shaktawat later became also the Minister of State, for Home and Industries, Government of Rajasthan.

<sup>2</sup> Shri Sood has since been designated as the Agricultural Production Commissioner. Shri R. Srinivasan<sup>1</sup> Deputy Secretary Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation Department of Rural Development Government of India

Shri P. N. Khanna Additional Chief Officer Department of Banking Operations and Development Reserve Bank of India

Shri P. N. T. Chary Joint Chief Officer Agricultural Credit Department Reserve Bank of India (Member-Secretary)

Subsequently i.e., in July 1974, Shri B. K. Zutshi assumed 2 charge as the Registrar, Co-operative Societies, Rajasthan and was, therefore, nominated as a member of the Study Team in place of Shri Arun Kumar. Shri P. N. T. Chary, proceeded on leave in December 1974 and Shri R. R. Pradhan, Joint Chief Officer, Agricultural Credit Department appointed as the Member-Secretary. Shri G. A. Bhimnathwala, Managing Director, Rajasthan State Co-operative Bank and Sarvashri K. Subba Reddy and B. L. Jain, Joint Chief Officer and Assistant Chief Officer, Agricultural Credit Department, New Delhi and Jaipur respectively and Shri B. D. Sharma, Deputy Chief Officer, Department of Banking Operations and Development, Reserve Bank of India, Jaipur attended the meetings and discussions of the Study Team as invitees. Besides, Shri Anil Bordia, Special Secretary, Special Schemes Department, Government of Rajasthan, Dr B. D. Sharma, Director (Tribal Development) and Shri P. V. Rao, Deputy Secretary from the Ministry of Home Affairs, Government of India attended some of the discussions and meetings of the Study Team on special invitation.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE

- 3 The terms of reference of the Study Team were as follows:
  - (i) To examine the financial and organizational position of the state and central co-operative banks in Rajasthan and to suggest a unit-wise programme for re-organization and rehabilitation where necessary;
  - (ii) To identify district-wise areas of agricultural development and examine generally the co-operative credit structure in those areas which will be in a position in the near future to meet the requirements of agricultural credit and, if not, to suggest alternative institutional stop-gap arrangements in this behalf which may include (a) the state co-operative bank or commercial banks financing primary agricultural credit societies by-passing the central co-operative banks, (b) central co-operative banks financing the individual agriculturists by-passing the primary agricul-
  - 1 Shri R. Srinivasan has since been appointed Director (Credit)

tural credit societies, and (c) the state co-operative bank or the commercial banks financing individuals directly through their branches and also to identify district-wise, the areas where one or more of these alternatives may be adopted;

- (iii) To examine further and in some detail whether there is at all any justification for continuing the intermediate level institutions of the three-tier structure of the co-operative credit system in the state and if such a step is not considered advisable and necessary for the state as a whole, whether in any particular district it would be advantageous to eliminate the central co-operative bank and in that case suggest the steps necessary to enable the state co-operative bank or the commercial banks to take the place of the central bank and to discharge the responsibility more effectively and efficiently than the latter;
- (iv) To examine the position of overdues at the various levels of the cooperative credit structure with a view to considering the feasibility of, and the financial assistance required for, re-scheduling the overdues in respect of non-wilful defaulters so that the line of credit to institutions and individuals is re-opened and to suggest measures necessary for recovery of the overdues from wilful defaulters;
- (v) To examine the lending policies of the state and central co-operative banks in regard to the provision for production and investment credit and to suggest modifications where necessary in the interests of ensuring soundness and adequacy of credit facilities vis-a-vis the developmental programmes in the state;
- (vi) To examine with reference to such data as may be collected, the organization at the primary level of the three-tier co-operative credit structure and the arrangements for supervision and to suggest the lines on which re-organization may be done taking into account credit and other range of services that may be provided by them;
- (vii) To identify areas which are continually affected by natural calamities and suggest, if necessary, special arrangements for financing agriculturists in such areas;
- (viii) To study in greater detail the problems of the tribal areas and the credit institutions, laws, etc., operating in such areas and suggest, if necessary, special financial assistance and a different organizational pattern for such areas;
  - (ix) To suggest the nature and extent of financial and administrative assistance that may be necessary from the state government, the Government of India and the Reserve Bank of India in the matter of re-organization and rehabilitation of the co-operative credit structure in the state; and
  - (x) To make any other recommendations which are incidental to or related to the above terms of reference.

4 At its first meeting held on 30th March 1974, the Team approved two sets of proformas devised by the Member-Secretary for eliciting the relevant information district-wise from the banks and offices of the concerned Government Departments.

#### Special studies

5 As the above proformas were designed to give only a broad picture of the overall position, it was decided to study the working of some primary agricultural credit societies (pacs) with a view to ascertaining their coverage of agricultural population, lending policies, performance in meeting credit needs, recovery of dues and extending relief by way of conversions in a year of

#### INTRODUCTION

natural calamity. Accordingly four pacs from each of the twentysix districts in the state were selected. These 104 societies served 538 villages and had a membership of 29025 of which 6371 were defaulters. Besides, another on-the-spot study was taken up of 19 societies (including 17 from the above 104) to ascertain the reasons for poor coverage and borrowing membership. Both the above studies were entrusted to the officers of the Co-operative Department, the Rajasthan State Co-operative Bank (RSCB), some central co-operative banks (ccbs) and the Jaipur regional Office of the Reserve Bank's Agricultural Credit Department (ACD).

The Team was required to examine in greater detail the 6 problems of tribal areas and the credit institutions, laws, etc., operating in such areas and suggest, if necessary, special financial assistance and a different organizational pattern for such areas. A detailed study was undertaken in October 1974 by the officers of the Special Studies Division of the ACD to determine the problems of the tribal areas and institutions functioning in such areas with a view to evolving a solution. During the course of the study, the officers visited four ccbs, viz., Udaipur, Dungarpur, Banswara and Chittorgarh, and six pacs functioning in the tribal areas, two each from the districts of Banswara, Dungarpur and Udaipur. They also discussed the problems of the tribal population with the managers of primary land development banks (pldbs) at Udaipur, Dungarpur and Banswara operating in the tribal area and also with the Deputy Registrar of the Udaipur Division, the Deputy Director of Tribal Welfare Department of the state government and the Managing Director (MD) of the RSCB.

7 The Team was required to identify the areas prone to frequent droughts and study the problems connected with the provision of credit to the farmers in these areas. The prospects for agriculture in these areas cannot possibly be improved until the problem of water for the crops is solved and until this is done the emphasis may have to be on the development of sub-sectors of agriculture like animal husbandry and poultry. Accordingly, the Special Studies Division was requested to study in some detail sheep breeding and goat rearing activities in the state so that the Team could consider the most appropriate institutional credit structure for financing these activities as also for organized marketing of wool and mutton. The study was undertaken in December 1974 in the districts of Ajmer, Bhilwara and Jodhpur. The officers also visited six pacs, two each from the above three districts and had discussions with the Secretary, Special Schemes Department and other officials of the Sheep and Wool Directorate and Co-operative Department of the state government, ccbs and certain non-officials.

#### Meetings and visits of the Team

8 The Team held in all 5 meetings. The first two meetings were held at Jaipur on 30 March 1974 and 7 November 1974 while the third was held at Alwar on 25 January 1975. At the fourth meeting held at Jaipur on 14 and 15 March 1975 the Team considered the preliminary draft report prepared by the Member-Secretary. In the light of the discussions held and decisions taken in this meeting, a final draft of the report was prepared and placed for consideration at the fifth meeting held on 28, 29 and 30 April 1975 at Mount Abu. The report was finalized at this meeting and signed by the members on 30 April 1975.

9 With a view to ascertaining the views of concerned officials and non-officials on the terms of reference, the Team held three separate discussions, the first at Jodhpur on 5 November 1974, the second at Banswara on 6 and 7 December 1974 and the third at Alwar on 24 January 1975 with the representatives of ccbs from the arid and semi-arid zones, the tribal and non-tribal areas and from the normal zone respectively and the officials of the concerned departments of the state government posted in the districts. The Team had also the privilege of meeting the representatives of commercial banks at Jaipur on 7 November 1974 and discussing with them their role in the financing of agriculture in the state. The Team also held discussions at Jaisalmer on 6 November 1974 with the officials and non-officials from the district regarding the problems of areas continually affected by drought.

10 The report is divided into eleven chapters as under:

- Chapter I Agricultural situation in the state
- Chapter II Rajasthan State Co-operative Bank
- Chapter III Central co-operative banks
- Chapter IV Primary agricultural credit co-operative societies.
- Chapter V Agricultural finance by commercial banks
- Chapter VI Credit potential and future lines of development
- Chapter VII Problems of and institutional arrangements for tribals
- Chapter VIII Problems of and institutional arrangements for drought-prone areas
- Chapter IX Block-wise plan of action for re-organization of primary co-operative credit structure
- Chapter X Overdues in co-operative credit institutions
- Chapter XI Administrative and operational arrangements Summary of recommendations

#### INTRODUCTION

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

11 We are grateful to the state and central co-operative banks and the state government and their officers especially of the Co-operative Department, for having extended their active co-operation and for furnishing data sought for from them and for undertaking on-the-spot studies required by us. We are also grateful to the officers of the Sheep and Wool Directorate and Tribal Welfare Department of the state government for furnishing the information and data sought for from them. We would like to specially thank Shri K. V. Sankaran, Special Secretary, Department of Community Development and Panchayati Raj, Government of Rajasthan, for offering valuable suggestions during the course of the fourth meeting of the Study Team when the preliminary draft report was considered.

12 We appreciate the hard work put in by the officers and staff of the regional office of the ACD at Jaipur and more particularly of Shri B. L. Jain, Assistant Chief Officer in the collection of required data, undertaking on-the-spot studies and preparation of preliminary district-wise notes. We also thank Shri B. D. Sharma, Deputy Chief Officer of the Reserve Bank's Department of Banking Operations and Development at Jaipur for furnishing very valuable information and data relating to the operations of the commercial banks in the state. The Special Studies Division of the ACD functioned as the secretariat for our Team. We would like to express our thanks to the officers and staff of this Division, in particular to Sarvashri B. K. Godbole, Assistant Chief Officer, A. G. Sule, Rural Credit Officer and H. N. Bhobe, Staff Officer for the untiring zeal with which they processed the voluminous data, prepared a number of analytical notes on the subjects falling within our terms of reference and finally the drafts of the Report. We were sorry that our first Member-Secretary Shri P. N. T. Chary, Joint Chief Officer, ACD could not be with us since December 1974 owing to his illness and as a result the Team was deprived of his rich experience in the field. The rest of us would like to place on record our sincere appreciation for the able manner in which his successor Shri R. R. Pradhan, Joint Chief Officer, directed the secretariat in completing the work of the Team in a short period of time.

#### CHAPTER I

#### AGRICULTURAL SITUATION IN THE STATE

1.01 THE Rajasthan State was formed in 1949 by integrating twenty-two erstwhile Princely States. It is the second largest state in the Indian Union covering an area of 338 lakh hectares. However, as per 1971 census, it is one of the thinly populated states with a population of about 258 lakhs and density of 75 per sq. km. as against 178 per sq. km. for the country as a whole. The state has basically a rural and agricultural economy. The total rural population of the state is 212 lakhs forming 82 per cent of the total population. About 73 per cent of the working population is gainfully employed in agriculture. A statement at Annexure 1 indicates the district-wise position of rural and urban population as also the population of the scheduled tribes.

1.02 For administrative convenience, the state has been divided into 26 districts and 232 'panchayat samities' (development blocks). There are 157 cities/towns and 32241 inhabited villages in the state. The entire rural population is covered by the community development blocks and 7361 village panchayats.

#### Geo-physical and climatic conditions

1.03 The entire state is subject to extreme climatic conditions. The highest maximum temperature is around 45°c while the lowest minimum temperature ranges between 1°C and 5°C. In normal conditions, the state receives an average rainfall of 59 cms annually, mostly from south-west monsoons during the period June to September. The average annual rainfall ranges between 16 cms for Jaisalmer district in western part and 100 cms for Jhalawar district in south-eastern part of the state. The districts in the western half of the state receive low rainfall, i.e., below 50 cms annually, and are susceptible to drought on account of failure of rains, the incidence of drought being the highest in the western-most districts of Barmer and Jaisalmer bordering Pakistan. Besides, the districts in the western part of the state have mostly sandy soils. In the northern half of eastern Rajasthan the soils are grey brown, red and yellow, while in the southern half they are red, black or mixed red and black.

#### Principal zones

1.04 On the basis of physiography, climatic conditions and soils, the twenty-six districts in the state can be broadly divided into two regions, one comprising the districts of Barmer, Bikaner, Churu, Jaisalmer, Jalore, Jhunjhunu, Jodhpur, Nagaur and Sikar and the other covering the remaining seventeen districts, viz., Ajmer, Alwar, Bharatpur, Bhilwara, Bundi, Ganganagar, Jaipur, Jhalawar, Kota, Pali, Sawai Madhopur, Tonk, Banswara, Chittorgarh, Dungarpur, Sirohi and Udaipur. The nine districts in the former region being not endowed with the nature's gifts like good soil, adequate rainfall and irrigation facilities, do not offer even the normal prospects for the development of agriculture. Of these nine districts, four districts, viz., Barmer, Bikaner, Churu and Jaisalmer have desert soil and receive an average rainfall well below 30 cms annually even in normal years. These four districts which are dry and have exceptionally high irrigational needs as failure of rains is almost twice in every three years, can be deemed to comprise a separate zone which may be called the 'arid zone' (AZ). The remaining five districts offer slightly better prospects from the view point of agricultural development inasmuch as they receive average rainfall of 30 cms to 45 cms annually and the incidence of drought in these districts is comparatively lower vis-a-vis the position obtaining in the four districts of the arid zone. For the purpose of our analysis, therefore, these five districts, viz., Jalore, Jhunjhunu, Jodhpur, Nagaur and Sikar may be grouped into a separate zone called the 'semi-arid zone' (SAZ).

1.05 The seventeen districts in the latter region enjoy at least the moderate physiographic and climatic conditions to ensure the development of agriculture and can therefore, be deemed to fall in what may be termed the 'normal zone' in the state. Of these seventeen districts, the districts of Banswara and Dungarpur and the southern pockets in the districts of Chittorgarh and Udaipur have a heavy concentration of tribal population. Besides, the Sirohi district has hilly terrain and a sizeable tribal population. These five 'districts, i.e., Banswara, Chittorgarh, Dungarpur, Sirohi, and Udaipur, therefore, can be deemed to form the 'tribal area' (TA) within the normal zone.

1.06 Thus, from the view point of geo-physical and climatic conditions with which the prospects for the development of agriculture are closely linked, we have for the purpose of this study divided the state into three zones, viz., the normal zone (17 districts), the arid zone (4 districts) and the semi-arid zone (5 districts). Further, taking into account the concentration of the tribals and the need to adopt a special approach to deal with their problems the seventeen districts in the normal zone have been sub-divided into two groups, viz., the non-tribal area—NTA (12 districts) and the tribal area (5 districts). To facilitate ready reference, a statement indicating the classification of the twenty-six districts in the normal zone into the non-tribal and tribal areas has been given as Annexure 2.

#### Land use

1.07 About one-third of the total area in the state is a desert. In 1972-3, of the total area of the state at 338 lakh hectares, about 122 lakh hectares (36 per cent) comprised uncultivable or fallow land, 13 lakh hectares (4 per cent) were covered by forests and 57 lakh hectares (17 per cent) were not available for cultivation. Thus, the net area sown measured 146 lakh hectares forming 43 per cent of the total geographical area of the state. As against the net area sown at 146 lakh hectares, the total cropped area in 1972-3 was 161 lakh hectares.

#### Pattern of land holdings

1.08 The pattern of the size of holdings for the state as a whole in 1970-71 was as under:

Size of holdings (in hectares)	Percentage to total cultivating households
Less than 1	25.2
1-3	30.8
3-5 .	14.6
5-10	15.4
10-20	8.9
Above 20	5.1
	100.0

The district-wise position in regard to the (i) average size of holding, (ii) percentage of the holdings to the total, and (iii) the percentage of the area under the holdings to the total for the state, is given in Annexure 3. The district-wise position of the number of holdings according to size was not readily available. The position in this regard in 1973-4 in respect of 18592 indebted members of 101 out of 104 pacs covered by the on-thespot study taken up at our instance is given below:

		Norm	al Zone							
Holdings (in acres)	NTA		TA	<u> </u>	A7	2	S	٩Z	Tota	d
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
10 and above	4274	40	436	11	1243	94	1768	69	7721	42
5-10	3563	33	1258	32	42	3	502	20	5365	29
3- 5	1420	13	1214	30	13	1	191	7	2838	15
Below 3	959	9	1003	25	2		74	3	2038	11
Tenants, etc.	489	5	85	2	30	2	26	1	630	3
Total	10705	100	3996	100	1330	100	2561 <sup>.</sup>	100	18592	100

It will be seen from the above table that while for the state as a whole 29 per cent of the cultivator-borrowers have holdings below 5 acres, another 29 per cent between 5 and 10 acres and 42 per cent above 10 acres, the position obtaining in the three principal zones as also the tribal area of the normal zone differs widely. For instance, in the tribal area 57 per cent of cultivator-borrowers have holdings below 5 acres, 32 per cent between 5 and 10 acres and only 11 per cent above 10 acres. In the non-tribal area, 40 per cent of the cultivator-borrowers have holdings above 10 acres, 33 per cent between 5 and 10 acres and 27 per cent below 5 acres. On the other hand, in the semi-arid and arid zones, 69 per cent and 94 per cent of the cultivator-borrowers respectively have holdings above 10 acres and only 11 per cent and 3 per cent respectively below 5 acres. Thus, the above analysis is indicative of the fact that the average size of holdings is small in the tribal area. medium in the non-tribal area but large in the semi-arid zone and the largest in the arid zone.

#### Cropping pattern

1.09 On account of scanty rainfall and poor irrigation facilities, the cropping pattern in the state is dominated by low-value food-grain crops as may be seen from the following table:

Lakh Hectares

						<b>L</b> .ur		
<b>C</b>	1952	-3	1955	-6	1965	-6	1972	-3
Crops	Area	%	Area	%	Area	%	Area	%
Foodgrains	71.42	65	99.84	79	112.07	75	121.58	76
Oilseeds	5,44	5	8.03	6	11.37	8	13.46	8
Cotton	1.45	1	2.45	2	2.78	2	3.43	2
Other crops	31.08	29	15.16	13	23.50	15	22.50	14
Total	109,39	100	125,48	100	149.72	100	160,97	100

In terms of value of the agricultural output almost a similar trend is observed. As per the estimates made by the Directorate of Economics and Statistics of the state government, foodgrains accounted for about 78 per cent of the total gross value of agricultural output in 1969-70. Non-foodgrains which, by and large, consisted of oilseeds contributed only 12 per cent, the balance of 10 per cent being accounted for by the by-products like straw and fodder.

1.10 A statement at Annexure 4 indicates the district-wise position of the area and production of principal crops in 1972-3. The relevant district-wise data were not available for 1973-4. The position for the state as a whole in 1972-3 and 1973-4 of

Crop	Ar (lakh h	ea ectares)		duction h tonnes)		
	1972-3	1973-4	1972-3	1973-4		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)		
Foodgrains		ĸ	•			
Bajra	53.34	57.13	8.64	21.81		
Jowar	9.76	11.22	3.04	3.86		
Maize	8.01	8.37	6.61	3.43		
Wheat	13.96	16.72	17.49	17.89		
Barley	4.33	5.89	4.89	5.92		
Rice	1.36	1.32	0.80	1.18		
Gram	12.04 .	15.13	8.03	7.19		
Tur	0.36	0.31	0.13	0.14		
ther cereals and pulses	19.42	21.04	1.90	5.71		
Sub-total	122.58	137.13	51.53	67.13		
on-foodgrains						
Sesamum	4.54	4.76	0.27	0.59		
Rape and mustard	2.93	3.78	2.15	1.12		
Linseed	0.55	0.87	0.14	0.26		
Groundnut	2.59	2.42	1.25	1.41		
Sugarcane	0.34	0.40	13.50	19.40		
Chillies	0.32	_	0.13			
Cotton	3.43	3.02	2.87 (lakh bales)	2.84 (lakh bales		
Tobacco	0.06	<del></del>	0.04	_		
Others	0.14		0.10			
Sub-total	14.90	15.25	17.58*	22.78		
Total	137.48	152.38	69,11*	89.91		

the area under different crops and the production thereof is given in the following table: 1.11 Rajasthan produces 6 per cent of the foodgrains output of the country and occupies the ninth place among the states in this respect. In terms of the area and the production of bajra, Rajasthan occupies the first place among all the states. It produces one-fourth of the country's output of bajra. However, the average yield of bajra per hectare at 284 kgs in the state during 1968-9 to 1970-71 was considerably lower than the all-India average at 457 kgs. The districts of Barmer (AZ), Jalore, Jodhpur and Nagaur (SAZ) and Jaipur (NTA) account for nearly three-fifths of the total output of bajra in the state. Bajra is the principal crop of the districts from the arid and semi-arid zones.

1.12 Next to Uttar Pradesh, Rajasthan is the biggest rape and mustard growing state. It accounts for 8 per cent of the national production. The Alwar, Bharatpur and Ganganagar districts from the normal zone account for about 85 per cent of the production of rape and mustard in the state.

1.13 Rajasthan is the largest gram and barley producing state after Uttar Pradesh. It produces one-sixth and one-fourth of the national output of gram and barley respectively. Both these crops are essentially grown in the districts from the normal zone. While the districts of Alwar, Bharatpur, Ganganagar, Jaipur and Sawai Madhopur produce 70 per cent of gram, 60 per cent of the barley production in the state is accounted for by the Alwar, Bhilwara, Jaipur, Udaipur and Tonk districts. The average yield of gram per hectare for Rajasthan at 661 kgs is considerably lower than the relevant average for Haryana and Punjab which exceeds 800 kgs in each case.

I.14 Wheat is another important crop grown in the state. Rajasthan is the fifth largest wheat producing state, accounting for 7 per cent of the output of wheat in the country. In terms of money value, the crop accounts for 25 per cent of the gross value of agricultural output in the state. The districts of Alwar, Bharatpur, Ganganagar and Kota from the non-tribal area and Chittorgarh and Udaipur from the tribal area are the principal wheat producing districts. The average production of wheat per hectare in the state at 1132 kgs is below the all-India average at 1228 kgs.

1.15 Rajasthan ranks fourth in maize production and produces one-tenth of maize of the country. The crop is mainly grown in the tribal area. The districts of Banswara, Bhilwara, Chittorgarh and Udaipur account for two-thirds of maize production in the state. Though hybrid varieties of maize are gaining popularity the average yield per hectare in the state at 836 kgs is considerably below the all-India average at 1079 kgs.

1.16 Among non-foodgrain crops, the area under sesamum is the largest in the state. Rajasthan ranks third in sesamum pro**CROPPING PATTERN** 

duction and produces one-tenth of the country's sesamum. The crop is mainly grown in the semi-arid districts of Jalore, Jodhpur and Nagaur as also the district of Pali from the normal zone. Pali district alone accounts for one-fourth of the state's production. The average yield of sesamum per hectare for the state at 108 kgs is, however, very poor *vis-a-vis* the all-India average at 200 kgs.

1.17 Although, there has not been any significant change in the cropping pattern in Rajasthan during the last two decades or so inasmuch as the proportion of the area under foodgrains to total area under cultivation has been more or less the same as will be seen from the table contained in paragraph 1.09 above, the trend seems to be in the direction of high-value crops like wheat, groundnut and cotton which has a bearing on credit requirements, as will be seen from the table given below:

Lakh Hectares

Oner	Ar	ea	Percentage of variation	
Crop	1960-61	1972-3	between 1960-61 and 1972-3	
Foodgrains			V	
Bajr <b>a</b>	45.58	52.34	+ 15	
Gram	13.78	12.04	— 13	
Wheat	10.67	13.96	+ 31	
Maize	6.50	8.01	+ 23	
Barley	4.74	4.33	<u> </u>	
Non-foodgrains				
Sesamum	4.21	4.54	+ 8	
Rape and mustard	2.04	2.93	+ 44	
Groundnut	1.03	2.59	+151	
Cotton	2.01	3.43	+ 71	

But there has not been any substantial increase in the crop productivity as the average yield for the state in respect of almost all the major crops grown is below the national average. Scanty and erratic rainfall coupled with inadequate irrigation facilities cause wide fluctuations in agricultural output as can be seen from Annexure 5. The production of foodgrains in the state in 1970-71, when the crop conditions were normal, on account of excellent monsoon was over 88 lakh tonnes, i.e., well above the Fourth Plan target of 81 lakh tonnes. But the same had declined to 63 lakh tonnes in 1971-2 and further to 52 lakh tonnes in 1972-3. However, the position improved in 1973-4, when the foodgrains production increased to 67.13 lakh tonnes.

#### Irrigation facilities

1.18 The irrigation facilities have been poor in Rajasthan. In 1972-3 as against the total cropped area at 161 lakh hectares and the net area sown at 146 lakh hectares, the net area irrigated was 22.70 lakh hectares and the gross irrigated area was 26.82 lakh hectares. The percentage of the gross area irrigated to the total cropped area was 16.7 in 1972-3. Thus, the area irrigated more than once was 4.13 lakh hectares. The sources of irrigation were wells and tube wells (58 per cent), canals (36 per cent) and tanks, etc. (6 per cent). Bulk of the gross irrigated area had been utilized for the cultivation of food crops in 1972-3 as can be seen from the following table:

Crop	Irrigated area (gross in lakh hectares	e) Percentage to total
Food crops	20.64	77
Sugarcane	0.33	1
Cotton	2.41	9
Other crops	3.44	13
Total	26.82	100

The gross irrigated area in 1973-4 was 29.28 lakh hectares as against an estimated net irrigated area of 25.25 lakh hectares. The gross irrigated area is likely to increase to 31.50 lakh hectares in 1974-5.

1.19 The irrigated areas are not evenly distributed among the various districts in the state. A statement at Annexure 6 indicates the district-wise position of the net irrigated area and the sources of irrigation. It will be seen therefrom that 90 per cent of the area irrigated by canals is in the districts of Ganganagar (67 per cent), Kota (14 per cent) and Bundi (9 per cent). Barring the Bikaner district wherein an area of about 6000 hectares is irrigated by canals, none of the districts from the arid and semi-arid zones and the tribal area receive the benefit of canal irrigation. In the Bharatpur and Sawai Madhopur districts from the non-tribal area, an area of about 33000 hectares in each district receives the benefit of canal irrigation. Thus, facilities of irrigation by canals are mainly available to the Ganganagar, Kota, Bundi, Bharatpur and Sawai Modhopur districts.

1.20 Sixty-eight per cent of the area irrigated in the state by wells and tube wells is in twelve districts from the non-tribal area. Seven districts, viz., Alwar, Bharatpur, Bhilwara, Jaipur, and Pali from the non-tribal area and Chittorgarh and Udaipur from the tribal area, account for about 60 per cent of the area irrigated by wells and tube wells in the state. While the Jaipur district has the maximum area of 2.36 lakh heotares irrigated by wells and tube wells, irrigation by this source is almost nonexistent in Bikaner, Churu and Jaisalmer districts from the arid zone.

#### Irrigation Development

1.21 The Irrigation Commission (Government of India) 1972 had estimated the ultimate irrigation potential of the state at 50 lakh hectares. A statement at Annexure 7 gives the area under canal irrigation in 1972-3 and the expected increase in such area by the end of the financial year 1978-9. It will be seen therefrom that the area irrigated by canals at 8.19 lakh hectares in 1972-3 is expected to increase by 3.59 lakh hectares to 11.78 lakh hectares in 1978-9, i.e., by the end of the Fifth Five Year Plan. Bulk of the increase at 2.53 lakh hectares will be on account of completion of phase II of the Rajasthan Canal Project (RCP). The benefit will accrue to not only Ganganagar district but also to the arid district of Bikaner. On completion, the Project will irrigate a total area of 11.63 lakh hectares and the benefit thereof will be derived by the north-eastern part of Jaisalmer district from the arid zone in addition to the districts of Ganganagar and Bikaner. We also understand that the state government have appointed a Committee to explore the possibility of providing lift irrigation by utilization of canal water in Churu, Nagaur and Jodhpur districts from the arid and semi-arid zones during the phase II of the RCP. This may necessitate a review of the credit potential in the above districts as on account of the establishment of lift irrigation schemes the benefit of irrigation may in addition accrue to these three districts, although the total availability of water may remain the same. The six medium-size schemes mentioned at items 6 (b) to (g) of Annexure 7 which are expected to be completed during the Fifth Plan period will bring in under canal irrigation additional area of 0.74 lakh hectares from the districts of Bharatpur, Bhilwara, Jhalawar, Kota and Pali from the non-tribal area and Udaipur from the tribal area. Besides, the Mahi Project which is likely to be completed in another 8-10 years will cover/extend canal irrigation to large areas in Banswara district. Thus the proposed irrigation schemes will not only help further development in certain prosperous districts, but also provide opportunities for the development of agriculture in some arid and semi-arid districts by the end of the Fifth Plan itself and later in the tribal district of Banswara.

1.22 Although the groundwater resources of Rajasthan particularly in the arid and semi-arid zones are reportedly limited, the state government plan to tap groundwater potential from areas like Lathi Basin (Jaisalmer-Barmer area) which has substantial reserves of groundwater. A statement at Annexure 8 indicates the programme of sinking new wells/tube wells, renovation of old wells and installation of pumpsets proposed to be undertaken during the Fifth Plan period. It will be seen therefrom that the districts from the semi-arid zone and the tribal area will have a greater share in the proposed programme of sinking tube wells, renovation of old wells and installation of pumpsets. With these proposed developments, the area irrigated by wells and tube wells in the state at 13.14 lakh hectares in 1972-3 should increase to at least about 15 lakh hectares in 1978-9.

#### High-yielding Varieties Programme

1.23 The high-yielding varieties programme has been undertaken on a comparatively modest scale in the state. The reasons therefor may be that farmers in the state are handicapped in adopting improved methods of cultivation on account of physical limitations like poor soils, scanty rainfall, poor irrigation facilities, etc. The targets fixed and achievements thereof in respect of the crops covered by the programme for the years 1972-3 and 1973-4 are given below:

Lakh Hectares

Crop	Total area under the	1972-3			1973-4	
1	crop in 1972-3	Target	Achieve- ment	Target	Achieve- ment	
(1)	(2)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)-	(4b)	
Kharif						
Baira	52.34	3.48	2.37	3.52	3.26	
Jowar	9.76	0.16	0.04	0.10	0.09	
Maize	8,01	0.29	0.20	0.32	0.25	
Paddy	1.36	0.34	0.20	0.34		
Rabi						
Wheat	13.96	5.81	5.27	7.27	6.69	
Total	85.43	10.08	8,08	11.55	10.29	

Thus, in 1972-3 the area actually covered by high-yielding varieties of crops was 8.08 lakh hectares forming 9 per cent of the total cropped area in the state under bajra, jowar, maize, paddy and wheat. The short-fall in the achievements of the targets fixed for 1972-3 was on account of widespread drought

conditions. Similarly, the actual achievement in respect of wheat crop in 1973-4 fell short of the target by about 8 per cent as the *rabi* crops were reportedly damaged by heavy rains and cold wave. Thus, the high-yielding varieties programme is confined mainly to bajra crop in the *kharif* season and mexican wheat in the *rabi* season. While the programme in respect of bajra crop is, apart from the non-tribal area, also being taken up in the districts from the arid and semi-arid zones, the programme in respect of mexican wheat is mainly confined to the districts of Alwar, Bharatpur, Bundi, Ganganagar, Jaipur, Kota and Sawai Madhopur from the normal zone. The high-yielding varieties programme in respect of paddy is mainly confined to the Kota and Bundi districts. The programme in respect of hybrid jowar and maize is confined to the tribal districts.

1.24 The consumption of fertilizers in Rajasthan has gone up from 0.67 kg per hectare in 1964-5 to 4.41 kgs in 1971-2. The actual consumption of chemical fertilizers in the state in 1971-2, 1972-3 and 1973-4 was as under:

Year	Consumption o	Consumption of fartilizers in metric tonnes (in thousands)					
	Nitrogenous	Phosphatic	Potassic	Total			
1971-2	46	9	3	58			
1972-3	48	7	3	58			
1973-4	_	<del>.</del> .	<u> </u>	72			

The consumption of fertilizers in 1972-3 did not show any variation as compared to the position in the previous year. It showed considerable improvement in 1973-4. The primary co-operative marketing societies which were estimated to be handling about 40 per cent of the sale of fertilizers, sold fertilizers worth Rs 4.97 crores in 1973-4. About 57 per cent of these sales were in the districts of Kota (Rs 1.05 crores), Ganganagar (Rs 0.94 crore) and Bundi (Rs 0.86 crore). The short-term agricultural advances of the RSCB for rabi 1973-4 were of the order of Rs 5.18 crores as against which the kind loans advanced by the ccbs amounted to Rs 1.53 crores. Bulk of these advances were made by Kota (Rs 50.90 lakhs) and Bundi (Rs 32.53 lakhs) banks. The Registrar of Co-operative Societies (RCS) had fixed a lending target of Rs 14 crores for rabi 1974-5 with instructions that 50 per cent of the loaning should be in kind. As against this target, the actual achievement is reportedly of the order of about Rs 11 crores, of which about Rs 6.50 crores have been disbursed in the

form of kind component. Obviously, the consumption of fertilizers in *kharif* and *rabi* seasons together in the state during 1974-5 should be higher than in 1973-4.

#### Agricultural and allied development schemes

1.25 Major agricultural and allied development projects taken up/being taken up in Rajasthan are:

- (i) Rajasthan Canal Command Area Development Project (RCCADP)
- (ii) Chambal Command Area Development Project (CCADP)
- (iii) Drought Prone Areas Project (DPAP)
- (iv) Dairy Development Project (DDP)
- (v) Rajasthan Sheep Development Project (RSDP)

The two command area development projects in Rajasthan are the first such projects in the country to be undertaken with assistance from the World Bank.

1.26 With the completion of stage I of the RCP at the end of 1973, the main canal and its distributary system commanded an area of 5.40 lakh hectares, but the land effectively irrigated was not more than 30 per cent of the command area. This was mainly due to factors such as the lack of assured year-round water supply, the poor state of preparation of the virgin desert lands and heavy loss of water through the unlined distributary canals and water-courses. Consequently, permanent settlement of the area by the former landless farmers is lagging seriously behind. With the completion of Pong dam on Beas river in 1974, perennial water supplies can be available to the Rajasthan Canal. The RCCADP proposes to cover 2 lakh hectares of irrigable land in two blocks within the command area of stage I of RCP. It aims at integrating the activities of all the development agencies in the area, completing all the necessary infrastructure, on-farm land development works and permanent settlement, and providing greatly enhanced agricultural supporting services. The proposed project includes:

- (i) the lining of 915 kms of distributary canals;
- (ii) the construction of 431 kms of roads and water supplies for 100 villages.

- (iii) pasture development and afforestation of 0.35 lakh hectares of high shifting sand dunes surrounding the irrigated area; and
- (iv) provision of 0.46 lakh nutrient tonnes of various fertilizers to build up and restore soil fertility.

The on-farm development works include lining of 5800 kms of water-courses, land shaping of 0.12 lakh hectares and reclamation of 0.17 lakh hectares of sodic soils. The project will also assist the farmers to complete further land shaping on 0.26 lakh hectares, reclamation of 0.17 lakh hectares of soil and improvement of on-farm field channels. The project implementation is expected to take six years. About 33000 families are to be settled in the area. The settlers will be drawn from landless agricultural labourers in adjacent agricultural areas and temporary tenants dwelling in the area. They will purchase their lands from the state government with an interest free loan of 15 years. The project is expected to provide the equivalent of 70000 additional iobs and the increase in the net value of production is estimated at Rs 25 crores per year in 10 years and Rs 35 crores per year at full development in 21 years.

1.27 The major works of the Chambal Irrigation Project were completed in 1960. These works included reservoirs and a canal system designed to serve an irrigable area of 2.29 lakh hectares in the Kota and Bundi districts of the state apart from a similar area in the adjoining state of Madhya Pradesh. Agricultural production in the above area of 2.29 lakh hectares had not met the earlier expectations due to lack of drainage and on-farm development, inadequate roads, unsatisfactory maintenance and ineffective supporting services. The CCADP is designed to correct these deficiencies and include drainage over 1.67 lakh hectares, lining of 14 kms of canals where seepage is excessive, increasing the capacity of 850 kms of canals and building or improving 160 control structures. The on-farm development over 0.50 lakh hectares includes provision of access to almost every farm by construction or improvement of 250 kms of roads. boundary realignment and land shaping, afforestation and erosion control on 0.01 lakh hectares, provision of 0.15 lakh nutrient tonnes of fertilizers to restore the soil fertility, strengthening agricultural extension, etc. The project implementation is expected to take six years. The production of foodgrains in the

area is expected to rise from 1.40 lakh tonnes to 3.50 lakh tonnes and the increase in the net value of production from the area is expected to be of the order of Rs 10 crores per year at full development in eight years' time.

1.28 The DPAP for Jodhpur and Nagaur districts to be implemented with assistance from International Development Agency (IDA), an affiliate of the World Bank, mainly consists of (i) minor irrigation works including dug wells, tube wells and tanks, (ii) dry farming development programme to extend improved technology and inputs, (iii) improved sheep and wool production by introduction of controlled grazing on improved pastures on village common lands, distribution of crossbred rams and expansion of animal health services, and (iv) dairy development through the establishment of producer co-operatives and milk collection systems, mobile veterinary units, artificial insemination units, etc. The total project cost is Rs 10.23 crores in respect of Jodhpur district and Rs 6.19 crores in respect of Nagaur district. The credit institutions are expected to meet 30 per cent of the project cost to finance on-farm development. The state and central governments are expected to provide 36 per cent of the cost towards establishment and financial assistance to small holders and the balance 34 per cent of the project cost will be the contribution from the IDA. Bulk of the proceeds of the IDA credit will be channelled through the Government of India (GOI) as budgetary grant to the state government. Activities for which institutional credit is required will be eligible for refinance from the Agricultural Refinance Corporation (ARC). Besides, the Government of Rajasthan (GOR) have formulated similar projects for eight other districts. The details in this regard are contained in Chapter VIII.

1.29 Rajasthan produces nearly 24 lakh metric tonnes of milk which is more than one-tenth of the total milk produced in the country. DDP has been undertaken by the state government under which dairy plants have been established or proposed to be established in various parts of the state. Out of the eleven dairy schemes in the districts of Ajmer, Alwar, Bharatpur, Bhilwara, Jaipur, Kota (NTA), Udaipur (TA), Barmer, Bikaner, Jaisalmer (AZ), and Jodhpur (SAZ), schemes in Kota and Udaipur districts will be purely milk supply schemes and those in Jaisalmer (Pokhran) and Barmer entirely milk products factories. The remaining schemes will have composite plants after their expansion programme is complete. It is proposed to manufacture whole or skim milk powder, table butter, butter oil, *ghee* and cheese.

1.30 The expenditure to be incurred on dairy projects is summarized below:

Rs	Crores
----	--------

	Expenditure				
Item	Fourth Plan -	, Fifth Plan			
		Total	Core		
Establishment of 8 co-operative dairies	5.77	1.91	0.60		
Expansion and consolidation		5.24	5.24		
Establishment of 3 new co-operative dairies	·	4.30	1.80		
Sub-total	5.77	11.45	7.64		
Training staff	0.01	0.10	0.10		
Assistance to co-operatives	0.20	0.30	0.30		
Milk Production Programme (IDC)	· 1.00	1.08			
Evaluation Section	0.025	0.075	—		
Central organization	0.025	0.50	0.50		
Total	7.03	13.50	8.54		
_					

Out of the total expenditure of Rs 13.50 crores needed for dairy development in the Fifth Five Year Plan, Rs 5.00 crores will be available as institutional finance, central and agency grants, etc. The cost of Jaisalmer (Pokhran) and Barmer balancing plants is to be met from the DPAP. The remaining cost of spill over expenditure on the dairy schemes (Rs 0.60 crore), consolidation and expansion of the Fourth Plan dairy schemes (Rs 5.24 crores), full cost of Jaipur dairy project (Rs 1.80 crores) and assistance to cooperatives, central dairy organization and training of staff (Rs 0.90 crore) totalling Rs 8.54 crores has been included as core expenditure in the Fifth Plan.

1.31 In addition to the above programmes of dairy development, the GOR, in conjunction with the Animal Husbandry Division of Central Ministry of Agriculture, has formulated the Rajasthan Sheep Development Project. The Project has been

drawn with the objective of financing the development of sheep for producing higher and better qualities of wool and mutton through a Sheep Development Board to be constituted in the state. It aims at achieving this objective by organizing, in an integrated manner, both the production and the marketing of wool and mutton through the provision of required inputs and corresponding services in two select compact areas of the state. An area in the north-east part of Rajasthan (comprising Churu, Jhunihunu and Sikar districts and northern parts of Nagaur and Jaipur districts) which has a sheep population of one million. mostly of the Chokla breed, will be taken up for intensive development. This medium-fine wool breed can be cross-bred with the Rambouillet breed to produce 2 to 2.5 million kgs of fine quality wool per year suitable for apparel. Another nearby area in the south-east of Rajasthan (comprising Bhilwara, Chittorgarh and Udaipur districts) will be taken up for enhancing mutton production. This has a sheep population of one million of the Sonadi and Malpura breed which can be cross-bred with Corriedale sheep to produce 4.5 million kgs of mutton and 2 million kgs of wool of the superior carpet quality.

1.32 Each of the two areas will have 0.75 million animals of breedable age and will, therefore, be divided into five blocks each of 0.15 million breeding ewes. Each of these ten intensive sheep development blocks will be served by organized services for rapid cross-breeding, pasture development and marketing besides adequate health cover. Cross-breeding will be taken up with the rams of exotic breeds (Rambouillet and Corriedale) through artificial insemination (AI) methods.

1.33 The pasture development programme will consist of: (i) improvement of pastures in government/public lands which will be leased to sheep breeders (one hundred pastures of 200 hectares each would be developed); (ii) provision of credit and extension services to sheep farmers for developing individual pastures; and (iii) the production of seeds of perennial grasses and legumes suitable to the areas. The animal health cover activities will include (i) establishment of a Central Disease Investigation Laboratory with mobile squads for diagnosis, prophylaxis and disease control; and (ii) distribution of vaccines, medicines, anthelmintics and dipping agents, etc.

1.34 The existing wool and mutton marketing facilities will be expanded and re-organized. The Board will take up the establishment of slaughter-houses and organize bulk sale of mutton in the metropolitan cities of Bombay and Delhi.

1.35 The estimated cost of the project is Rs 9.30 crores. The conversion of native breeds of sheep to cross-breds would take

a cycle of eight years. Therefore, a repeat project of three years will be required. Taking the life of the project as twenty years, the incremental income to the farmers is expected to be Rs 55.50 crores due to the project.

1.36 The Project is reportedly at the negotiation stage with the World Bank authorities.

1.37 Thus, while the two command area development projects are designed to maximize agricultural production from the concerned areas by ensuring full utilization of the irrigation potential already created, the DPAP as also RSDP aim at stabilizing and upgrading the economy of farmers from the arid and semiarid districts in particular. The DDP aims at maximizing production of milk and ensuring fair returns to the farmer producers. All these major schemes and a number of other schemes proposed to be undertaken by the state government on their own and/ or with the assistance of the ARC, etc., will have to be taken note of from the view point of credit requirements of the farmers in the state in the years to come.

#### CONCLUDING REMARKS

1.38 To sum up, agriculture in Rajasthan especially in the western part is a struggle against inhospitable nature on account of unfavourable natural factors like poor soils, scanty and erratic rainfall, poor irrigation facilities and such other inadequacies. In view of these adverse circumstances, irrigational and agricultural development programmes have been initiated for extension of canal irrigation, maximum conservation of water resources, adoption of suitable dry farming techniques and other modern methods of cultivation, development of mixed farming and arresting the advance of the desert. These efforts for maximizing agricultural production in turn call for adequate credit support from agricultural credit institutions operating in the state. It is in this context we have assessed the performance so far in this regard of the three tiers of the co-operative credit structure, viz., the RSCB, the ccbs and the pacs, as also the commercial banks in the next four chapters. Our recommendations regarding suitable institutional arrangements to ensure uninterrupted flow of credit for giving adequate support to the various programmes of development of agriculture and allied activities in the state are contained in the subsequent chapters.

#### CHAPTER II

### RAJASTHAN STATE CO-OPERATIVE BANK

2.01 CO-OPERATIVE agricultural credit in Rajasthan is of comparatively recent origin. It made a real beginning only in 1953 with the registration of the RSCB on 14 October 1953. The bank commenced functioning from 17 October 1953. It was included in the second schedule to the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 on 2 July 1966. The ccbs, apex co-operative institutions, Rajasthan Rajya Sahakari Bhoomi Vikas Bank (RRSBVB) and the state government comprise the membership of the bank. Each of the 26 districts excepting Jaisalmer is served by a ccb. In Jaisalmer the branch of the RSCB has been functioning, since 14 February 1962, as the central financing agency (cfa) for the district.

#### Management

2.02 The management of the bank vests in a board of directors, the composition of which is as under:

- (i) Registrar of Co-operative Societies-Ex-officio,
- (ii) ten directors representing affiliated ccbs provided that at least one director shall be elected from each former revenue divisions and in case the number of ccbs in a former revenue division is five or more at least two directors shall be elected from such former revenue division,
- (iii) two directors being experts in banking and finance nominated by the GOR,
- (iv) one director representing affiliated apex societies, and
- (v) one director representing the RRSBVB.

2.03 The executive committee consists of seven members of which four are the President, Vice-President, RCS and a director representing RRSBVB. The remaining three members are elected by the board from amongst the remaining directors. Two of them are required to be the directors representing ccbs. The executive committee constitutes, from time to time, *ad hoc* subcommittees to examine and attend to specific issues.

2.04 The day-to-day administration of the bank is vested in the MD, which post was created in May 1973. The present MD is a senior officer on 'deputation from the Reserve Bank of India (RBI). He is assisted by a General Manager (GM), who is a

senior officer of the Co-operative Department of the state government, and a complement of 16 other officers as under:

Deputy Managers	3
Loans/Administrative/Accounts Joint-Loans Officers	4
Inspecting Officers	5
Statistical Officer/Accountant	2
Branch Managers	2

2.05 The progress made by RSCB during the period 1968-9 to 1973-4 is reviewed in the following paragraphs.

#### Financial position

2.06 A statement showing the growth of owned funds, deposits, advances, borrowings, overdues, etc., of the bank from 1968-9 is given below:

Rs Lakhs

Item	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	197 <b>1-2</b>	1972-3	1973 <b>-4</b>
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
1 Share capital (of which from the	182.48	197.0 <b>5</b>	203.17	206.31	206.45	250.61
state government) 2 Reserves and other	(40.00)	(40.00)	(40.00)	(40.00)	(40.00)	(50.00)
funds	145.99	176.51	199.08	216.51	242.87	260.93
(i) Statutory reserve	27.12	30.83	34.38	34.60	42.58	42.59
(ii) Agricultural Cred						
Stabilization Fun	d 99.25	124.44	143.05	160.46	179.91	201.22
(iii) Bad and doubtful				••		
debts reserve	10.54	11.61	11.90	11.90	10.16	6.90
(iv) Building Fund	4.40	4.44	4.44	4.44	4.44	4.44
(v) Investment Depre		• • •		• • •		- ···
ciation Fund	2.75	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.40	3.40
(vi) Common Good						
Fund	1.09	1.20	1.21	1.16	1.23	1.23
(vii) Staff Gratuity Fu	nd 0.80	0.99	1.10	0.95	1.15	1.15
3 Owned funds	328.47	373.56 262.66	402.25	422.82 396.29	449.32	511.54
4 Deposits	204.15	202.00	339.39	390.29	472.96	585.44
(of which from						
central banks/	(169.05)	(195.00)	(761 01)	225 80	(101 05)	(407 22)
societies)		1209.53				
5 Borrowings (of which from	10/1.00	1209.55	1050.54	000.50	1100.25	1427.23
Reserve Bank) (	1071 66 (	(1181.90)(	1056 52)	(662 34)	1085 00	(1205.05)
6 Loans issued	20/0 03	1718.60	1690 58	030 46	1863 31	2840.02
(of which	2049.75	1/10.00	1070.50	220.40	1003.31	2040.02
	(1622 15)	(1570.53)(	1682 60)	(924 60)	1797 98)	(2742 28)
7 Loans outstanding ]	1550 54	1654.47	1643 68	1355 52	1692 87	2300 77
(of which	1000.01	100	1010100	1000.00	10/2.07	2500.77
agricultural) (	1456.40)(	1631.43) (	1600.060	1289.51)	1653.56	(2168 16)
8 Overdues	35.50			307.52		33.26
9 Percentage of						
overdues to						
demand	5.4	10.6	7.3	21.6	11.8	2.4
10 Profit	16.27	19.05	18.66	13.12	12.23	26.35
11 Rate of dividend (%)	3	4	4	4	3	3

#### **Owned** funds

2.07 The paid-up share capital of the bank increased during the period by Rs 68.13 lakhs from Rs 182.48 lakhs as on 30.6.69 to Rs 250.61 lakhs on 30.6.74. Bulk of the increase was in the years 1969-70 and 1973-4 when the share capital increased by Rs 14.57 lakhs and Rs 44.16 lakhs respectively. The share capital contribution from the state government increased by Rs 10.00 lakhs in the year 1973-4 raising it to Rs 50.00 lakhs as on 30.6.74.

2.08 The reserves of the bank increased by Rs 114.94 lakhs from Rs 145.99 lakhs as on 30.6.69 to Rs 260.93 lakhs as on 30.6.74. The increase in the reserves was accounted for mainly by an increase of Rs 101.97 lakhs in the Agricultural Credit Stabilization Fund which increased from Rs 99.25 lakhs as on. 30.6.69 to Rs 201.22 lakhs as on 30.6.74. Bulk of the increase in this Fund was mainly by way of grants-in-aid, subsidy, etc., received from the state government. Stabilization arrangements have special significance to Rajasthan as large parts of the state are susceptible to drought conditions. The ccbs have to ensure a minimum involvement of 15 per cent in the conversion loans supplemented by assistance from stabilization fund of the state co-operative bank so as to be eligible to draw on the National Agricultural Credit (Stabilization) Fund maintained by the RBI whenever such a need arises. In this context, the Study Team on Overdues of Co-operative Credit Institutions 1974 (Overdues Study Team) appointed by the RBI had estimated that the RSCB would have to take steps to build up its stabilization fund to the level of Rs 314 lakhs by 1978-9.

2.09 Except for a nominal increase in the statutory reserves, there was nil or negligible increase in the other reserves. The bad and doubtful debts reserve had actually declined from Rs 11.90 lakhs as on 30.6.72 to Rs 6.90 lakhs as on 30.6.74. A sum of Rs 2.50 lakhs from out of the bad and doubtful debts reserve had been utilized in 1972-3 by the bank as its share of the contribution towards the rehabilitation of weak ccbs under the scheme sponsored by the GOI.

#### Deposits

2.10 The bank's deposit increased by Rs 381.29 lakhs from Rs 204.15 lakhs as on 30.6.69 to Rs 585.44 lakhs as on 30.6.74. The deposits registered a substantial increase (Rs 112.48 lakhs) during the year 1973-4. Even then the deposits of the bank were low inasmuch as the percentage of deposits to working capital stood at 23 at the end of June 1974 as against the all-

#### DEPOSITS

Ту	pe of deposit	30.6.69	30.6.70	30.6.71	30.6.72	30.6.73	30.6.74
1 2 3 4 5 6	Current Fixed Others Total Percentage of 1 to 4 Percentage of 2 to 4	24.49 158.45 21.21 204.15 12 78	34.63 153.91 74.12 262.66 13 59	90.22 234.50 14.87 339.59 27 69	93.56 245.76 56.97 396.29 24 62	277.72 41.62	155.55 413.69 16.20 585.44 27 71

India average for state co-operative banks at 46 per cent as at the end of June 1973. The composition of deposits was as under:

It will be seen from the above table that fixed deposits formed 59 to 78 per cent of the total deposits while the current deposits formed 12 to 32 per cent of the total. Bulk of the deposits are from central banks and societies as may be seen from item 4 of the table given in paragraph 2.06 above. As at the end of June 1974, the bank's deposits from sources other than co-operatives stood at Rs 88.21 lakhs only and formed 15 per cent of the total deposits which is not very creditable for a bank which has been in existence for over two decades.

2.11 The bank has two branches of which one is in Jaipur City (C Scheme) and the other at Jaisalmer. The performance of these two branches in regard to mobilization of deposits is given in the table below:

				Rs Lakh	8
Branch	30.6.70	30.6.71	30.6.72	30.6.73	30.6.74
'C' Scheme Jaipur Jaisalmer	14.95 5.12	22.97 4.66	30.10 6.41	36.16 6.54	36.02 7.56

The deposits of both the branches have been on the increase except in the year 1973-4 in respect of 'C' scheme Jaipur branch and in 1970-71 in the case of Jaisalmer branch.

2.12 The percentage of deposits to the total loans and advances ranged from 14 to 29 as will be seen from the table given below:

	Item	30.6.69	30.6.70	30.6.71	30.6.72	30.6.73	30.6.74
2	Outstanding loans Deposits Percentage of 2 to 1		262.66		1355.52 396.29 29		

was as u Rs Lakhs

Rs Lakhs

The bank's deposits are no doubt increasing progressively but the level at present cannot be considered adequate to sustain a higher lending programme which is essential in the context of the various programmes of development of agriculture and allied activities envisaged in the Fifth Plan. The bank should aim at 20 per cent annual growth rate in the deposits so that they may reach the level of about Rs 15 crores in 1978-9, i.e., the last year of the Fifth Plan. Since the bank has branches at its headquarters and in Jaisalmer and as recommended by us will function as a cfa in two more districts, it has to look primarily to the ccbs as feeders for its deposits. Consequently, the RSCB will have to involve itself actively in the deposit mobilization by the ccbs. We strongly recommend that the bank should pay special attention to this aspect and supervise the action on the part of the ccbs in the direction of mobilizing deposits in their areas.

## **Borrowings**

2.13 The borrowings of the bank had shown an uneven trend. While the outstanding borrowings increased from Rs 1071.68 lakhs on 30.6.69 to Rs 1209.53 lakhs as on 30.6.70, they declined to Rs 1056.54 lakhs as on 30.6.71 and further to Rs 668.56 lakhs as on 30.6.72. However, the borrowings of the bank shot up to Rs 1106.25 lakhs as on 30.6.73 and further to Rs 1427.25 lakhs as on 30.6.74. Barring a sum of Rs 31.28 lakhs borrowed from the National Co-operative Development Corporation (NCDC) to finance certain small and medium size processing units under the Central Sector Scheme, the other borrowings of the bank as on 30.6.74 were from the RBI. The percentage of the bank's borrowings to loans and advances ranged from 49 to 73 during the years 1968-9 to 1973-4 as may be seen from the table below:

Rs Lakhs

	Item	30.6.69	30.6.70	30.6.71	30.6.72	30.6.73	30.6.74
1	Loans and advances	1500.54	1654.47	1643.68	1355.52	1692.87	2300.77
2	Borrowings	1071.68	1181.92	1056.54	668.56	1106.25	1427.25
3	Percentage of 2 to 1	71	73	64	49	65	62

The above table reveals the somewhat excessive dependence of the bank on external borrowings for its lending programmes which makes its position vulnerable in the years of scarcity. The bank should aim at keeping its borrowings to less than 60 per cent of the total loans and advances. This will be possible only if the growth of the deposits annually is as much as we have envisaged above.

2.14 As observed earlier, the bank's borrowings were almost entirely from the RBI under different types of accommodation sanctioned on behalf of the affiliated ccbs. The position in regard to sanction of limits (short and medium-term) by the RBI and utilization thereof by the RSCB on behalf of the ccbs during the period 1968-9 to 1973-4 is given in Annexure 9. The position in regard to the number of ccbs in the different zones is given in brief in the table on page 30. Pali bank from the non-tribal area had not been sanctioned any limit by the RBI for two years, i.e., 1971-2 and 1972-3. In the tribal area, Banswara bank did not enjoy any credit limit from the RBI for four 1969-70 to 1972-3, while the vears from other two banks, viz., Dungarpur and Sirohi (TA) for two years 1971-2 and 1972-3. In the arid zone, Bikaner bank had not been sanctioned a credit limit in the past five years ending 1972-3, while the Barmer bank had not been sanctioned a limit for two years, i.e., 1971-2 and 1972-3. The Churu bank was not sanctioned a credit limit by the RBI in 1972-3. As for the banks in the semiarid zone, the Jhunjhunu bank had not been sanctioned a credit limit for all the six years from 1968-9 to 1973-4. Besides, the Jalore and Jodhpur (SAZ) banks were not sanctioned credit limits for two years, the former for 1971-2 and 1972-3 and the latter for 1968-9 and 1973-4. The Nagaur (SAZ) bank was not sanctioned a credit limit by the RBI for the year 1973-4.

2.15 The utilization of the short-term credit limits sanctioned on behalf of different ccbs from the non-tribal area was generally above 60 per cent of the limits sanctioned in all the years. In the case of banks from the tribal area, in some years the utilization was generally below 50 per cent. For instance, the Udaipur bank for three years from 1970-71 to 1972-3, the Sirohi bank in 1970-71, the Dungarpur bank in 1969-70 and 1970-71 and the Banswara bank in 1968-9, had utilized the credit limits to the extent of 50 per cent or less. As for banks from the arid and semi-arid zones to which the limits were sanctioned, the utilization was generally above 75 per cent except in the case of the Nagaur bank which had not drawn on the limit sanctioned for 1972-3.

										N	umbe	er of	ban	ks										
		190	58 <b>-9</b>			190	59-70	)		197	0-71			19	71-2			19	72-3		<u>.</u>	19	73-4	
	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ	NTA	ТА	AZ	SA2
I Short-term (agricultural)																								
(i) No. of central banks on whose behalf limits were sanctioned	12	5	2	3	12	4	2	4	12	4	2	4	11	2	1	3	11	2	-	3	12	5	3	2
(ii) Utilization of limits (number of banks)																								
(a) Upto 50 percent	-	1	-	-	-	1		-	-	3	-	1	-	1	-	-	1	1	-	1	-	-	1	-
(b) 51 to 75 percent	2	1	-	-	1	1	1	-	2	-	1	-	2	1	-	-	2	1	-	1	2	2	-	-
(c) Above 75 percent	10	3	2	3	11	2	1	4	10	1	1	3	9	-	1	3	8	-	-	1	10	3	2	2
I Medium term (agricultura	1)																							
(i) No. of central banks on whose behalf limits were sanctioned	8	4	2	3	9	4	1	_	6	2	-	2	7	1	_	3	7	2	-	-	7	3	1	•
ii) Utilization of limits (number of banks)																								
(a) Upto 50 percent	1	1	1	-	3	1	1	_	4	1	_	1	6	-	-	3	2	-	-	-	1	1	-	-
(b) 51 to 75 percent	2	1	-	-	3	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	1	-		1	-		-	1	-	-	-
(c) Above 75 percent	5	2	1	3	3	3	-	_	2	1	-	_	-	_	-		4	2	-	-	5	2	1	-

30

#### ADVANCES

ى بىلەر بەر بىلەر بىل					Rs	Lakhs				
Zone	Limits sanctioned by the RBI on behalf of ccbs									
	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4				
Short-term (agri)				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·					
Normal										
(a) NTA	669.00	935.00	1050.00	1080.00	1070.00	1565.00				
(b) <b>TA</b>	125.00	130.00	127.00							
Arid	38.00	38.00	35.00	10.00		58,00				
Semi-arid	57.50	77.50	77.50	55.00	90.00	55.00				
Sub-total	889.50	1180.50	1289.50	1260.00	1270.00	1868.00				
Medium-term (agri)		<u> </u>								
Normal										
(a) NTA	46.50	56.00	33.00	47.50	50.50	65,50				
(b) <b>TA</b>	15.00	14.00	12.00	5.00	17.00					
Arid	7.00	4.00	_			2.00				
Semi-arid	9.00	4.00	6.00	11.00						
Sub-total	77.50	78.00	51.00	63.50	67.50	84,50				
Total	967.00	1258.00	1340,50	1323.50	1337,50	1952.50				

2.16 As regards the amounts of limits sanctioned by the RBI on behalf of the ccbs, the zone-wise position is briefly tabulated below:

The short-term credit limits sanctioned for seasonal agricultural operations (sao) increased from Rs 889.50 lakhs in 1968-9 to Rs 1868.00 lakhs in 1973-4, i.e., by Rs 978.50 lakhs. However, bulk of the increase at Rs 896.00 lakhs was accounted for by the twelve banks from the non-tribal area. Consequently, the share of the banks from the arid and semi-arid zones and the tribal area in such limits sanctioned by the Reserve Bank declined from 25 per cent in 1968-9 to 17 per cent in 1973-4. Thus, the rate of credit expansion in respect of banks from the non-tribal area was relatively better.

2.17 The quantum of limits sanctioned by the RBI on behalf of ccbs for medium-term agricultural purposes was small even in the case of banks from the non-tribal area.

## Advances

2.18 The bank's advances were mainly for agricultural purposes as may be seen from item 6 of the table in paragraph 2.06 above. The total loans issued by the bank had shown a declining trend up to 1971-2. The loans issued had then declined from Rs 2049.93 lakhs in 1968-9 to Rs 930.46 lakhs in 1971-2. This deterioration was, however, stopped when the

loans issued by the bank increased to Rs 1863.31 lakhs in 1972-3 and further to Rs 2840.02 lakhs in 1973-4. Although there was a declining trend for some time in the total loans issued, the proportion of agricultural loans to total loans issued remained almost unchanged. Of the total loans issued at Rs 2840.02 lakhs in 1973-4, those amounting to Rs 2362.80 lakhs were issued to affiliated central banks for sao. The zonewise break-up thereof was as under:

		Rs Lakhs
Zone	No. of ccbs	Amount
Normal		
(a) NTA	12	1726.38
(b) TA	5	278.02
Arid	3	123.00
Semi-arid	5	235.40
Total	25	2362.80

Seventy-three per cent of such loans issued were accounted for by the 12 banks from the non-tribal area as against the share of these banks in the limits sanctioned by the RBI at 84 per cent. Thus, the RSCB had involved its internal resources in a comparatively larger proportion in loans to banks from the less developed areas. But still, three-fourths of its business was accounted for by the 12 banks from the non-tribal area. In fact, 44 per cent of its total loans for short-term agricultural purposes in 1973-4 were issued to five banks functioning in the prosperous areas, viz., Alwar, Bharatpur, Ganganagar, Jaipur and Kota. The break-up of the bank's loans outstanding into short-term (sao), medium-term (agricultural), medium-term (conversion) and other loans was as under:

Rs Lakhs

Type of loan	L		Loans outstanding as on							
		-	30.6.69	30.6.70	30.6.71	30.6.72	30.6.73	30.6.74		
Short-term			010 12	1046 70	1207 08	000.26				
(sao)	•••	•••	818.13	1046.72	1206.08	992.30	1106.53	1588.43		
Medium-term (agri.)			152.34	132.50	119.01	119.40	145.22	150.14		
Medium-term										
(conversion)	•••	•••	289.67	350.53	274.97	177.73	378.63	428.09		
Others	•••	•••	240.40	124.72	43.62	66.03	62.49	134.11		
Total			1500.54	1654.47	1643.68	1355.52	1692.87	2300.77		

32

2.19 The bank's own involvement in the advances out of its own resources ranged between Rs 428.00 lakhs and Rs 874.00 lakhs as under:

1968-9	1969-70	197 <b>0-7</b> 1	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4
 428.86	444.94	587.14	686.96	586.62	873.52

There was a substantial increase in the bank's own involvement in its advances in the year 1973-4. As regards distribution of the bank's involvement in advances to ccbs from different zones, indication can be had from the bank's own involvement in shortterm agricultural loans (which formed bulk of the bank's loans portfolio) issued to ccbs during the years 1972-3 and 1973-4. A statement in this behalf is given at Annexure 10. The position could be summarized as under:

Rs	Lakhs
----	-------

Rs Lakhs

Zone	No. of ccbs	Involve	ment	Average involvement per bank in the respective zone/area			
		1972-3	1973-4	1972-3	1973-4		
Normal							
(a) NTA	12	163.66	302.41	13.64	25.20		
(b) TA	2	59.38	69.30		13.86		
Arid	3	36.73	54.43	12.24	18.14		
Semi-arid	3	63.00	140.01	12.60	28.C <b>O</b>		
Total	25	322.77	566.15	12.91	22.65		

N.B.—The above involvement does not include bank's advances in Jaisalmer district.

The above table reveals that in the year 1972-3 the bank's involvement in the banks from all zones/areas was almost uniform, i.e., around Rs 12.00 lakhs per bank. There was, however, a substantial increase in its involvement in the banks from the arid and semi-arid zones and the non-tribal area in the year 1973-4. The involvement in the banks from the tribal area during the year was slightly higher than in the year 1972-3.

### Deficits in the non-overdue cover and defaults by ccbs

2.20 A statement showing the ccbs which were not in a position to provide adequate non-overdue cover (nodc) for their short-term borrowings from the RBI and were in default to the RSCB in respect of short-term dues during the period 1968-9 to 1973-4 is given at Annexure 11. The position in this behalf is summarized on page 34.

Zone	ccbs in	No. of cct			its in noc iring the		I short-	No. of		ulting in 1 es to the l		t of short	t-term
	the zone	<b>1968-9</b>	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4
(1)	(2)	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	(3d)	(3e)	(3f)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(4d)	(4e)	(4f)
Normal													
(a) NTA	12	8 (12)	2 (12)	5 (12)	12 (11)	7 (11)	9 (12)	4	7	8	7	8	1
(b) TA	5	4 (5)	4 (4)	4 (4)	4 (2)	1 (2)	2 (5)	2	4	5	3	3	1
Arid	3	2 (2)	2 (2)	2 (2)	2 (1)	1 (—)	2 (3)	2	2	3	3	2	
Semi-arid	5	1 (3)	3 (4)	3 (4)	2 (3)	1 (3)	(2)	2	5	5	5	4	. 1
Total	25	15	11	14	20	10	13	10	18	21	18	- 17	3

N.B.-Figures in brackets indicate the number of banks to whom the short-term credit limits were sanctioned in the respective years.

#### OVERDUES

2.21 The banks which had deficits in node in respect of shortterm borrowings from the RBI, for five or six years during the period 1968-9 to 1973-4 were three from the non-tribal area, viz., Ajmer, Bhilwara and Sawai Madhopur, two from the tribal area, viz., Chittorgarh and Dungarpur, and one from the arid zone, viz., Churu. As against this position, the banks which had deficits only for one or two years during the above period were Bharatpur and Jhalawar from the non-tribal area and Jalore and Jodhpur from the semi-arid zone. Other banks had deficits for three or four years or had not made any borrowings from the RBI.

2.22 Almost all banks from the arid and semi-arid zones and the tribal area had been defaulting in repayment of their dues to the RSCB. As for banks from the non-tribal area excepting the Kota and Ajmer banks, others had been defaulting for two years to five years in repayment of their dues to the RSCB. The Kota and Ajmer banks had defaulted only in one year, i.e., in the year 1972-3 and 1970-71 respectively.

Ove	rdues	Percentage of	Owned
Total	Of which over 3 years	demand	funds
35.50 139.49	4.52	5.4 10.6	328.47 373.56
307.52 139.31	3.57 3.98	21.6 11.8	402.25 422.82 449.32 511.54
	Total 35.50 139.49 97.24 307.52 139.31	over 3 years           35.50         4.52           139.49         6.66           97.24         6.45           307.52         3.57	Total         Of which over 3 years         overdues to demand           35.50         4.52         5.4           139.49         6.66         10.6           97.24         6.45         7.3           307.52         3.57         21.6           139.31         3.98         11.8

Overdues

2.23 The bank's position in regard to overdues was as under:

The overdues position which had deteriorated in 1971-2 improved from the following year, i.e., 1972-3 and showed a substantial improvement in 1973-4, when the amount of overdues touched the lowest figure of Rs 33.26 lakhs during the past six years. The percentage of overdues to demand was only 2.5 at the end of June 1974.

## Cash reserve and liquid assets

2.24 The bank had marginally defaulted in the maintenance of liquid assets on some days in October 1972 and June 1973, the deficits ranging between Rs 0.29 lakh and Rs 0.49 lakh.

Rs Lakhs

These deficits could have been avoided as the bank had large balances with commercial banks on these days and the same are not reckoned for the purpose of maintenance of liquid assets.

## Supervision

2.25 The bank has its own staff for inspection of its branches as also indebted institutions. As on 30.6.73 it had five inspectors and a Development Officer to attend to the inspection work. With a view to strengthening supervision over the central banks and other indebted institutions, the bank may have to open its regional offices in the different parts of the state. We recommend that the bank may establish these regional offices in a phased manner. Priority may be given for opening such offices at Jodhpur and Udaipur with a view to supervising and guiding the operations of the institutions in the comparatively less developed areas. The other two regional offices may be opened at Bikaner and Kota to control and guide the credit institutions operating in the areas of the two command area development projects in the state.

## Role as an apex institution

2.26 As observed earlier, the bank has a branch at Jaisalmer which functions as a cfa for Jaisalmer district. The position in regard to mobilization of deposits, loans outstanding and overdues during the years 1969-70 to 1973-4 was as under:

				Ks	Lakhs
Item	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4
Deposits Loans outstanding Overdues	5.12 5.05 4.04	4.66 4.97 4.18	6.41 5.00 4.52	6.54 4.15 3.97	7.56 2.70 2.70

The above table reveals that the advances by the branch have stagnated. In fact, no loans had been issued by the branch during the three-year period 1971-2 to 1973-4. However, concerted efforts for recovery of dues were made in 1973-4 and as a result the overdues of the branch declined from Rs 3.97 lakhs as on 30.6.73 to Rs 2.70 lakhs as on 30.6.74. There was also a slight improvement in the deposits with the branch.

## Role as an apex institution

2.27 The above analysis indicates that about one-half of the business of the bank was concentrated in seven districts, viz., Alwar, Bharatpur, Bundi, Ganganagar, Jaipur, Jhalawar and Kota. The share of the less developed areas, i.e., the arid and

## ROLE AS AN APEX INSTITUTION

semi-arid zones and the tribal area in the business of the bank was about one-fourth. No doubt the development of business of an apex institution is conditioned by the financial strength of the lower two tiers, viz., the ccbs and the pacs. Besides, unfavourable natural factors like poor soils and water resources as also repeated famines inhibit the growth of agricultural development in the state. But the RSCB as an apex institution should accept the situation as a challenge and shoulder greater financial and administrative responsibilities in improving the operational efficiency and internal resources of the institutions in these areas. We have examined these issues at a greater length in subsequent chapters and our specific recommendations in this regard are contained in these chapters.

· 37

### CHAPTER III

# CENTRAL CO-OPERATIVE BANKS

THE Committee on Co-operation in India 1915 (Maclagan 3.01 Committee) had favoured the organization of ccbs in the districts in the country in preference to branches of state co-operative banks as the directors of the central banks with their local knowledge and close contacts would, according to the Committee, be in a better position than the agents of the state co-operative bank's branch to assess the credit-worthiness of the affiliated societies and their needs as also to appreciate their problems, recover the dues from the societies because of their local influence and contacts and finally mobilize sizeable deposits from the urban centres again on account of their local standing and influence. The policy of having a ccb in each district instead of branches was generally endorsed later by other committees and commissions which went into this question subsequently. In Rajasthan, 10 ccbs and 2 banking unions were organized by the end of 1955-6. This number increased in the following years to 25 by the end of 1967-8. Since then, each of the twenty-six districts in the state with the exception of Jaisalmer is served by a ccb. We give in this chapter an account of the financial position and working of these institutions.

## Financial position

3.02 A consolidated statement showing the trends in the growth of owned funds, deposits, lendings and the position of overdues, etc., of the twenty-five central banks in the state for the years 1968-9 to 1973-4 is given in Annexure 12. During this period, the owned funds of these banks increased by Rs 4.06 crores to Rs 8.78 crores as on 30.6.74 of which the state government's contribution to share capital was Rs 2.24 crores. The total deposits of all the central banks had progressively increased during the five-year period to Rs 15.54 crores. The trend in the outstanding borrowings was similar, with the exception of a fall during 1971-2. They stood at Rs 22.66 crores as on 30.6.74 as against Rs 12.96 crores as on 30.6.68. The trends in the growth of the loans issued as also the total loans outstanding corresponded to the growth of borrowings. The total loans issued by the twenty-five banks in 1973-4 amounted to Rs 33.15 crores including Rs 29.75 crores issued for agricultural purposes. The total loans outstanding as on 36.6.74 stood at Rs 36.67 crores.

3.03 The overall recovery performance of the twenty-five banks had deteriorated up to 1971-2. The percentage of overdues to demand increased from 30 at the end of June 1969 to 57 at the end of June 1972. The recovery position had, however, improved during the years 1972-3 and 1973-4. Consequently, the percentage of overdues to demand declined to 42 as on 30.6.73 and further to 38 as on 30.6.74. Four banks had incurred losses in 1971-2 as also in 1972-3 as against one during the previous three years. The number of such banks increased to five in 1973-4.

3.04 There were, however, large variations in the financial position of individual banks. The bank-wise comparative financial position for the years 1970-71 to 1973-4 is contained in Annexure 13. There were 12 central banks functioning in the non-tribal area, 5 in the tribal area, 3 in the arid zone and 5 in the semi-arid zone. Some area/zone-wise averages about certain major aspects of their business in 1973-4 are given in the following table to indicate the comparative performance of the banks *inter se* areas/zones:

Rs Lakhs

	Average per bank in respect of ccbs								
Item	- <u>-</u>	functio	ning in						
	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ					
Owned funds	50.47	22.08	15.51	20.79					
Deposits	93.35	45.56	22.55	27.66					
Outstanding borrowings	136.70	54.47	37.79	48.01					
Working capital	298.89	129.45	80.29	102.16					
Total loans outstanding	222.71	94.11	55.58	71.34					
Short-term agricultural loans outstanding	165.07	61.15	42.13	50.56					

Each of the above six averages in respect of the banks in nontribal area was more than double the relevant averages in respect of banks in other three regions. Thus, the position of the twelve banks in the non-tribal area was relatively better than the thirteen ccbs operating in the tribal area and the arid and semi-arid zones. However, the size of business handled by most of the ccbs had improved during the period.

### Comparative performance

3.05 Despite the sustained improvement in the operations of most of the twenty-five central banks in Rajasthan during the six-year period 1968-9 to 1973-4, their overall financial position at the end of June 1974 was relatively poor when compared to the all-India position as on 30.6.73 and more particularly the position as on the latter date of the ccbs in a co-operatively

developed state like Maharashtra. Comparative averages about some aspects of the business of the ccbs in Rajasthan as on 30.6.74 and in the state of Maharashtra and for all-India as on 30.6.73 are given in the following table:

Rs Lakhs

Item	Rajasthan	Maharashtra	All-India
Owned funds	35.11	165.42	73.91
Deposits	62.36	680.80	187.98
Outstanding borrowings	88.65	245.37	127.36
Working capital	199.42	1091.59	389.25
Total loans outstanding Short-term agricultural loans	146.66	781.80	298.93
outstanding (sao and marketing	) 106.62	295.45	170.04

Although the averages for the banks in Rajasthan relate to the position obtained one year later than in the other cases the above table indicates that the average owned funds of the banks in Rajasthan are less than one-half of the all-India position and about one-fifth of the average for Maharashtra. In respect of deposits, the position is even worse inasmuch as the relevant average for the banks in Rajasthan is about one-third of the all-India position and less than one-tenth of the average for Maharashtra. Consequently, the average loan business handled by the banks in Rajasthan is about one-half of the all-India position and less than one-fifth of the position obtained in respect of the banks in Maharashtra. Significantly, even for this meagre business the banks in Rajasthan have relied more on external borrowings inasmuch as their borrowings formed almost 60 per cent of their outstanding loans on 30.6.74 as against 42 per cent and 31 per cent as on 30.6.73 in respect of the banks all over India and Maharashtra respectively.

### FIELD OF ENQUIRY

3.06 Our terms of reference require us to examine in some detail whether there is at all any justification for continuing the intermediate level institutions of the three-tier structure of the co-operative credit system in the state and if such a step is not considered advisable and necessary for the state as a whole, whether in any particular district it would be advantageous to eliminate the ccb. The most important consideration in this behalf is that of viability and allied with it is the question of efficiency of a central bank. Banks which are not likely to attain viability within a reasonable period and are also inefficient may probably not continue to function as independent entities and may have to make room for other institutional agencies. We have, therefore, in the following paragraphs evaluated the performance of the twenty-five ccbs in Rajasthan firstly from the angle of viability and later from that of efficiency.

## Viability

3.07 The All-India Rural Credit Survey Committee 1954 (Survey Committee) considered a ccb as viable if it had share capital and reserves of Rs 3.00 lakhs and working capital of Rs 20 lakhs to Rs 25 lakhs. At a latter date, the erstwhile Standing Advisory Committee on Rural and Co-operative Credit of the RBI (SAC) suggested that a viable bank should have a minimum loan business of Rs 1 crore and working capital of about Rs 1.20 crores. The Working Group on Co-operation for the Fifth Five Year Plan (Fifth Plan Working Group) considers a bank with an existing loan business of Rs 75 lakhs and prospect of reaching Rs 1 crore within the next 2 to 3 years as potentially viable.

3.08 On the basis of above norms of viability/potential viability, all the twelve banks from the non-tribal area, the Chittorgarh and Udaipur banks from the tribal area, the Barmer bank from the arid zone and the Jodhpur and Sikar banks from the semi-arid zone, i.e., in all 17 banks out of the total of 25 in the state could be deemed as viable/ potentially viable units on the basis of their achievements in The 1973-4. Banswara, Dungarpur Sirohi banks and from tribal Bikaner and Churu banks the area, the the Jalore, Jhunjhunu from the arid zone and and Nagaur banks from semi-arid zone, i.e., in all eight banks out of twenty-five are not even potentially viable as per standards of the Working Group. The bank-wise position in this behalf is indicated in Annexure 14.

3.09 It was more than a decade ago that the minimum of Rs 100 lakhs of loan business was indicated by the SAC for a bank to be treated as viable. Since then there has been a considerable increase in the costs of inputs and services and also in the establishment expenditure, the former leading to an automatic increase in the loan business and the latter to increase in the costs of operation. Taking these aspects into account we feel that a central bank in Rajasthan may be deemed to be viable if its loans outstanding exceed Rs 150 lakhs and potentially viable if the loans exceed Rs 100 lakhs. On the basis of the norms suggested for Rajasthan 8 banks from the non-tribal area, viz. Ajmer, Alwar, Bharatpur, Bhilwara, Ganganagar, Jaipur, Jhalawar and Kota and one bank from the tribal area, viz., Udaipur, i.e., in all 9 banks could be considered as viable already. In addition 4 banks in the non-tribal area, viz., Bundi, Pali. Sawai Madhopur and Tonk, the Chittorgarh bank from the tribal area and Jodhpur from the semi-arid zone, i.e., in all six banks could be considered as potentially viable. Thus in all 15 banks out of 25 can be considered viable or potentially viable with reference to their achievements in 1973-4.

## Efficiency-Subjective criteria

3.10 In regard to the possibility of substituting the ccbs by branches of state co-operative banks, the Maclagan Committee observed as under:

A central bank gives an opening whereby the middle classes can interest themselves in the movement, and even though local committees were organised to supervise the branches, it is probable that local enthusiasts would work with a keener sense of responsibility and zeal for their own independent bank than for a branch of the provincial bank. Our conclusion, therefore, is that although there is no reason why branches should not be established in preference to central banks in places where Unions have been developed, local conditions should always be well weighed before this step is taken, and we imagine that in most cases it will for some time to come be the cheaper and more efficient course to adhere to the system of independent central banks. (page 72)

The Survey Committee is in agreement with the view expressed by the SAC that "other things being equal—in regard to finance, local support, administrative efficiency, etc., the establishment of a central bank should be preferred to that of a branch of the state co-operative bank" (page 444).

3.11 Referring to some doubts expressed as to the need for the three-tier structure and to the suggestions made from time to time for eliminating one or the other of the intermediary units, the Informal Group on Institutional Arrangements for Agricultural Credit 1964 also appointed by the RBI, observed:

As for the central co-operative banks, these are federal organizations of primary co-operative societies and function as bankers and advisory and supervisory agencies at the district level. Many of these banks have operated as important means of raising sizeable resources from the urban depositors. The assessment of the creditworthiness and needs of the societies, the determination of the terms and conditions governing the loans provided to them and other technical aspects of agricultural credit are all such as to call for a close relationship between the lender and the rural borrower. This kind of personal contact, experience and local knowledge can be best found only in a body like the board of directors of the central co-operative banks, who are able to appreciate better than any paid staff, the real problems arising from local conditions. Experience in more than one State has shown that, from the point of view of fulfilling these various functions and providing leadership to the movement at the district level, the branches of an apex co-operative bank can only be poor substitutes for the district central cooperative banks and, in most cases, the former have been replaced by the latter. (page 54)

The cost of retailing credit in the conditions of the large number of villages over which small producers are spread is inescapable and must be covered by the margin included in the rate charged on lending though every effort has to be made to keep it to the minimum. In fact local organizations built up into a federal structure provide the most economical way of keeping down the servicing cost of small loans. It is by improved operational efficiency, on the one hand, and increasing turnover, on the other, that these costs and margins may be expected to be brought down to reasonable levels, over the years, even where they may be considered to be excessive today. As the dispensation of agricultural credit is a fairly complicated and risk laden business, provision has to be made for cushions and reserves at different levels. In this connexion, it may also be mentioned that the three-tier pattern of the co-operative credit structure has been adopted and worked successfully in a country like Japan where also agriculture is characterised by small holdings. (page 55)

#### EFFICIENCY

3.12 More recently, the Study Team on the Two-tier Co-operative Credit Structure in Kerala 1973 (Kerala Study Team) appointed by the Reserve Bank examined the role of the intermediate level credit institutions in that State. The Team is of the view that besides the consideration of viability, a ccb can justify its claim to continued existence if it satisfies the three criteria, viz., (i) adequate mobilization of resources, (ii) responsiveness to local needs, and (iii) better recovery performance. In this context observations of the Kerala Study Team quoted below are significant:

There are, in our view, three major considerations in favour of the central banks which being district level organizations and consisting largely of elected representatives of affiliated societies, could lend support in a variety of ways to the growth of the co-operative credit movement and to the development of agriculture. These are:

- (i) Firstly, non-official directors by virtue of their local standing and influence could help the central bank in deposit mobilization.
- (ii) Secondly, the non-officials would also be in a position, by virtue of their local knowledge and interest, to appreciate and assess according to priority, the demand for production credit in their areas and also take the steps necessary to meet the demand effectively.
- (iii) Thirdly, for the same reasons, they would be in a better position not only to ensure the end-use of credit but also exert pressure and see to the recovery of loans on the due dates.

Briefly it is thought that a central co-operative bank organized as an independent democratic unit for a district and functioning close to the primaries which are its constituents and with intimate mutual ties both as regards membership and working will have an edge over a state co-operative bank operating through bureaucratically controlled district branches in matters particularly of resource mobilization, responsiveness to local needs and recovery of loans. (page 42)

## Efficiency-Objective criteria

3.13 The three broad criteria mentioned by the Kerala Study Team for justifying the continued existence of ccbs may be translated into some objective criteria for assessing the relative performance of the banks in Rajasthan. We have made an attempt in this behalf by rating the banks with reference to the following:

- 1 Size of owned funds
- 2 Size of deposits
- 3 Size of working capital
- 4 Size of total loans outstanding
- 5 Size of loans advanced for short-term agricultural purposes
- 6 Recovery performance
- 7 Frequency of defaults to the state co-operative bank
- 8 Size of profits
- 9 Rate of dividend paid, if any
- 10 Performance in meeting credit inadequacies

The assessment on the basis of most of the above standards could be confined to the position obtained during or at the end of 1972-3, as the case may be, on account of non-availability of the requisite data in respect of all the banks for 1973-4. While the performance in the matter of recoveries has been judged on the basis of the three-year period ending 1973-4, the ability to meet the commitments to the state co-operative bank has been evaluated on the basis of performance during the 5 years ending 1972-3. The marks allotted are higher as the performance of the banks is better. We do not claim to have determined the relative rating on the basis of any scientific standards. All the indicators have been assumed to be equally important, although some of them are more important than others justifying different weights to the different indicators. We, however, feel that the rating may be a rough index of the relative performance of the different banks in the state. The position in this behalf has been given in Annexure 15. The rating received by each bank in respect of each of the above aspects of its business is indicated in Annexures 16 to 25. The bank-wise position of aggregate rating is given in Annexure 26. The same is summarized in the table below:

Aggregate rating (out of 1000)		Banks			
(000 01 1000)	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	
200 or below		Banswara Dungarpur Sirohi	Barmer Bikaner Churu	Jalore Jhunjhunu Nagaur Sikar	
201 to 350	Bhilwara Bundi Jaipur Jhalawar Pali Sawai- Madhopur Tonk	_		Jodhpur	
351 to 500	Ajmer	Chittorgarh Udaipur		_	
501 and above	Alwar Bharatpur Ganganagar Kota	_	_	-	

Ten central banks with 20 per cent or less marks could be rated as inefficient. They include all the eight central banks which had not attained even the minimum level of business of a potentially viable bank (Annexure 14). The two additional banks which find place in the list of inefficient banks are Barmer and Sikar. Four banks, viz., Alwar, Bharatpur, Ganganagar and Kota have come out very well in the rating. The efficiency of Ajmer, Chittorgarh and Udaipur banks could be considered fairly satisfactory. The efficiency of the remaining eight banks would have to be toned up considerably if they have to justify their continued existence.

### Justification for continued existence

3.14 Strictly speaking banks which are not even potentially viable or those whose rating is 20 per cent or less can be considered as the banks which have failed to satisfy the criteria suggested by the Maclagan Committee to justify their continuance. They cannot also hope either to improve their loan business or their efficiency before the end of the Fifth Five Year Plan, i.e., before 1978-9. If the loan business is to reach Rs 150 lakhs in say, 5 years, the existing level would have to be at least Rs 75 lakhs if a growth of 15 per cent per annum is assumed. It will not be correct to say that the growth rate could easily be achieved if the banks are very liberally assisted by the higher financing agencies. The loan business cannot be sustained only on borrowings. It has to be supported by requisite amounts of owned funds and deposits. Assuming that 60 per cent of the loans come out of borrowings-which incidentally is the ratio obtaining in the banks in Rajasthan-Rs 90 lakhs could be raised through borrowings and the balance of Rs 60 lakhs would have to be found from deposits and owned funds. Roughly 70 per cent of the internal resources become available for loans. On this basis these would have to be at least Rs 85 lakhs. The division between owned funds and deposits may be Rs 25 lakhs and Rs 60 lakhs respectively. From Annexure 14 it will be seen that the owned funds and deposits of all the ten banks, whose rating is below 20 per cent, are about 50 per cent or even less than the above figures. In some cases they are onethird or even less indicating how difficult it will be for these banks to attain the minimum business required to become viable units.

3.15 While strictly speaking the ten central banks which are rated inefficient, eight of which are not even potentially viable as per the norms adopted by the Fifth Plan Working Group, could be marked as those which may have no justification to continue, one may make some allowance for the existing low level of achievement and the adverse natural conditions prevailing in some parts of Rajasthan and consider sympathetically even the cases of banks which have a chance of attaining the level of business of at least Rs 100 lakhs by the end of the Fifth Plan so that they can be expected to reach a level of business of Rs 150 lakhs within the subsequent three years and Rs 200 lakhs by the end of the Sixth Plan period. At the same time, one has also to consider whether there is adequate credit potential in the district to enable the bank to reach the above level of business of Rs 150 lakhs. Assuming that the banks in question will have to mainly depend on short-term agricultural loan business for attaining viability as the other types of business may be, in their cases, negligible, the cases of the ten central banks in the state for continued existence may be examined on the basis of the following:

- (i) whether there is potential in the district for the bank to reach a level of business of Rs 150 lakhs assuming that not more than 50 per cent of the estimated short-term credit requirements in the district could be met by the concerned bank.
- (ii) whether the deposits with the bank will reach the level of Rs 60 lakhs at the end of 1978-9 (assuming an annual growth rate of 25 per cent) necessary to sustain a credit business of Rs 150 lakhs.
- (iii) whether the deposits will reach at least Rs 40 lakhs at the end of 1978-9 for sustaining a credit business of Rs 100 lakhs.

While the position in regard to the fulfilment of criterion (i) above is indicated in Annexure 27, the same in respect of criteria (ii) and (iii) is given in Annexure 28. From the view point of fulfilment of the three criteria, the ten central banks in question may be classified into four broad categories:

- Category I—Banks which do not satisfy criterion (i), viz., Dungarpur and Sirohi.
- Category II—Banks which satisfy criteria (i) and (ii), viz., Banswara, Barmer, Bikaner and Sikar.
- Category III—Banks which satisfy criteria (i) and (iii) but not (ii), viz., Jalore and Nagaur.
- Category IV—Banks which satisfy criterion (i) alone, viz., Churu and Jhunjhunu.

3.16 In our opinion, the central banks falling in category I, viz., Dungarpur and Sirohi, are unlikely to attain the level of business of Rs 150 lakhs necessary to function as viable units, in view of the lack of adequate potential in the districts they serve and have, therefore, no justification to continue. We, therefore, recommend that these two banks may be amalgamated with the RSCB. However, in order to ensure that the RSCB is not laden with any unrealizable assets of the amalgamated units, it should take over on an 'outright' basis only the realizable assets and equivalent liabilities of the central banks. The unrealizable assets of the central banks should be taken over on 'collection' basis and corresponding liabilities repaid on pro rata basis. Such amalgamations have been already made with success in the case of four ccbs in West Bengal, three of which

were amalgamated with the West Bengal State Co-operative Bank and the remaining one with the Burdwan Central Co-operative Bank, under the provisions of sections 18A and 18B of the Bengal Co-operative Societies Act as specially amended for the purpose. In the case of Rajasthan also, the amalgamations on the lines suggested above cannot be brought about unless Sections 16 and 17 of the Rajasthan Co-operative Societies Act, 1965 are suitably amended. We, therefore, recommend that the GOR may take action to amend the Act to facilitate the amalgamations on these lines. The state government may in this connexion consult the Reserve Bank before drawing up a scheme of amalgamation.

3.17 The districts served by the four banks in category II, viz., Banswara, Barmer, Bikaner and Sikar, offer adequate potential to enable these banks to take up their level of business firstly to Rs 150 lakhs in 1978-9 and later to Rs 200 lakhs and function as viable units. Besides, if these banks maintain an annual growth rate of 25 per cent in their deposits, they will have adequate internal resources to sustain the loan business of the above order. We suggest, therefore, that the managements of these banks should make concerted efforts towards mobilization of additional deposits so as to ensure an annual growth rate of 25 per cent as also for increasing the level of their loan business to Rs 150 lakhs in 1978-9 and later to Rs 200 lakhs. The state government may review the position of these banks in 1978-9 to decide whether any or all of them had justified their existence. The cases of banks which fail to reach the desired level of business in 1978-9 may be considered for amalgamation with the RSCB.

3.18 This would leave out four banks in categories III and IV, viz., Jalore, Nagaur, Churu and Jhunjhunu. We have indicated in paragraph 3.15 above that in view of the adverse natural conditions in some districts of Rajasthan, an allowance could be made for the existing low level of achievement on the part of some central banks provided each of them had a chance of attaining the level of business of at least Rs 100 lakhs by 1978-9. All the four banks in question are functioning in the arid and semi-arid zones. The districts served by them have adequate potential to enable them to reach a level of business of Rs 100 lakhs in 1978-9 and, with continued efforts thereafter, even of Rs 200 lakhs. Assuming an annual growth rate of 25 per cent in deposits, the two banks in category III, viz., Jalore and Nagaur, could be expected to mobilize deposits of Rs 40 lakhs by 1978-9 necessary to sustain a loan business of Rs 100 lakhs in that year. As regards the two banks in category IV, viz., Churu and

Jhunjhunu, while the shortfall in the requisite level of deposits in 1978-9 will be marginal (i.e., by Rs 0.60 lakh only) in the case of Churu bank, it will be sizeable (of about Rs 15 lakhs) in the case of Jhunihunu bank even if it maintained an annual growth rate of 25 per cent in its deposits. We understand that the concerned authorities in the state government and of the state co-operative bank are formulating jointly a programme for deposit mobilization by the central banks in the state with a view to enabling these institutions to handle a higher level of business during the year 1975-6, with special attention to such banks as had meagre business. In view of this position, it may not be difficult for the two central banks in category III, viz., Jalore and Nagaur to ensure an annual growth rate of 25 per cent in their deposits. For the same reason, we would not differentiate between the banks in category III and the two banks in category IV, viz., Churu and Jhunjhunu and also allow the banks in the latter category a continued existence on the presumption that special efforts will be made in their cases to ensure that each bank achieves a level of deposits of Rs 40 lakhs by 1978-9. We, therefore, recommend that the managements of the Churu central bank from the arid zone and the Jalore, Jhunjhunu and Nagaur banks from the semi-arid zone should make concerted efforts for mobilization of additional deposits so as to ensure that the total deposits of each bank reach the level of at least Rs 40 lakhs by 1978-9. Simultaneously, steps may be taken to progressively increase the level of loan business of each of the four banks to Rs 100 lakhs in 1978-9. While arrangements for providing the needed guidance to these banks may be made on the lines suggested in the next paragraph, the GOR may, as suggested in paragraph 3.17 above, review the position of these banks in 1978-9 with a view to initiating action for amalgamation with the RSCB of such banks as fail to achieve the expected level of business.

3.19 At the same time, we are of the opinion that the matter of achieving improved performance in the coming years cannot be left entirely to the managements of the above four banks. Special attention will have to be bestowed on these banks and necessary guidance provided to them from time to time. One of these banks, viz., Nagaur is already under an administrator, but the level of its loan business, instead of registering improvement, has declined from Rs 79.62 lakhs at the end of June 1973 to Rs 59.30 lakhs as on 30.6.74. We would not favour appointment of an administrator by the state government for each of these four banks after superseding their boards of directors as, such a step, if taken, will result in depriving the involvement of local support which is very necessary for these banks to achieve an improved performance. The better alternative, in our opinion, is to nominate the MD, RSCB on the boards of each of these four banks to guide them in their affairs. The agreements entered into by the RSCB with the central banks under the provisions of Section 58(b) of the Rajasthan Co-operative Societies Act relating to the state partnership arrangements already empower the state government to nominate three directors on the board of every central bank. We, therefore, recommend that the GOR may nominate as a director the MD. RSCB on the boards of the Churu central bank from the arid zone and the Jalore. Jhunihunu and Nagaur banks from the semi-arid zone. Consequently, the GOR may like to withdraw the administrator and arrange for vesting the management of the Nagaur central bank in an elected board of directors. With a view to toning up the operational efficiency of these banks, we recommend that the services of suitable officers of the RSCB should be placed at the disposal of such banks to function as key officers and the bank may also agree to meet their cost.

3.20 The financial position of the RSCB itself needs to be stgengthened and, therefore, it may be contended that the position in Dungarpur and Sirohi districts would not change materially after the amalgamation of the two central banks with it. This is not wholly true. Perhaps, the RSCB would be able to present a better image of itself as a bank and may succeed in tapping deposits even in the tribal areas where the two banks are located. As is seen from the performance of the commercial banks in these districts, there is enough scope for deposit mobilization. Secondly, the financial position of the apex bank will always be better than that of the two banks individually, as the former will have avenues of income from the business in the remaining 24 districts to which the two central banks have at present no direct access. The participation in the management of the other four ccbs by the apex bank will, in our view, also bring about the desired improvement in the level of their efficiency. The proposed amalgamation and management participation should, in our view, be in the larger interest of the co-operative movement in the state. In this context we would like to mention that the RBI had suggested in 1972 that all the ccbs in the state might be amalgamated with the RSCB. We have now made a detailed examination of the position in this respect and feel that the objective would be achieved by restricting the scope of amalgamations to the two banks listed above immediately and. if necessary, later to other eight banks rated inefficient and by introducing participation in the management of four other central banks by the RSCB in the manner suggested in paragraph 3.19 above. Another consideration which has weighed in our mind is the existing capacity of the RSCB itself to take up the responsibility over extensive areas. The two districts in

our view are within the capacity of the apex bank to manage as the work involved at least initially would be of a promotional nature. Similarly, it should not be difficult for the apex bank to post competent personnel in the four central banks in whose management it is to participate. That does not mean that the apex bank will require no special preparation to accept the responsibility. It will have to recruit some additional staff and train the existing ones suitably so that they will all be equipped to shoulder the additional responsibility. We hope that the RSCB will apply its mind to these issues once decisions to amalgamate the two banks with it and to participate in the managements of the four banks are taken.

### Financial assistance

3.21 We have recommended that Churu, Jalore, Jhunjhunu and Nagaur banks may not be amalgamated on the ground that they have the potential of attaining a loan business of Rs 100 lakhs by 1978-9. This will be short by Rs 50 lakhs in relation to the minimum business of Rs 150 lakhs considered necessary by us for attaining viability. With a view to compensating them for the loss of income from the loans of Rs 50 lakhs, we recommend that government may contribute Rs 15 lakhs each to the share capital of these banks by borrowing from the Reserve Bank's Long-term Operations Fund (LTO Fund). This should give them a minimum income of Rs 1 lakh per annum assuming that at least Rs 10 lakhs out of it remain in their business. We recommend further that the contribution should be made in lump sum in one year and that for this purpose the RBI may also relax its normal conditions governing the grant of loans from its LTO Fund.

3.22 We have recommended that Dungarpur and Sirohi central banks should be amalgamated with the RSCB. The level of business of these banks is very low and it may not be easy for the apex bank to step it up appreciably unless it also receives financial assistance. We recommend that the RBI may consider sanctioning limits to the apex bank for financing societies in these districts against government guarantee. This itself will not be sufficient. We feel that the bank's share capital may be augmented at the rate of Rs 10 lakhs per bank. The government may accordingly make an additional contribution of Rs 20 lakhs to the share capital of the apex bank by borrowing from the LTO Fund. In this connexion we may mention that assistance on these lines had been given to the state and central banks in West Bengal on the recommendations of the Study Team on West Bengal. This assistance coupled with the special efforts which the RSCB is expected to make should enable it to take the level of the loans in

these relatively backward districts to at least Rs 100 lakhs if not more by 1978-9. The other four districts are also expected to reach the above level by that year. Thus with the implementation of the measures recommended by us it should be possible to step up the loans in these six districts from the level of Rs 282 lakhs in 1973-4 to at least Rs 600 lakhs in 1978-9. A two-fold increase in the loans should not be considered very small considering the difficulties the credit agencies will have to face in view of somewhat adverse natural conditions and economic backwardness of the region. Besides, the commercial banks may also be called in to take up greater responsibilities in these districts than in the others. The co-operative and commercial banks should together be able to meet the credit needs of the people in this area to a much greater extent than at present, if our recommendations are implemented with vigour and drive by those who will be in charge of implementing the production and credit programmes.

3.23 A very deliberate and conscious action according to a programme will be necessary not only in the four district central banks which have been identified as weak and inefficient (categories III and IV—paragraph 3.15) but also in the case of the Banswara, Barmer, Bikaner and Sikar banks whose rating is also 200 or below as also in the case of eight banks with rating between 201 and 350. The eight banks in the latter category include Bundi, Pali, Sawai Madhopur, Tonk and Jodhpur banks which had a loan business of less than Rs 150 lakhs each. The scope of business in all these cases as evidenced by the large credit gaps, is considerable. There is no reason why they should not be able to take the level of the loans to over Rs 250 lakhs by 1978-9. If they fail to reach even Rs 200 lakhs in that year, we suggest that their performance should again be reviewed so as to determine whether it would be advisable to merge any one of them with the RSCB.

## Concluding Observations

3.24 Our recommendation thus would remove two central banks covering one district each from the scene. With those and Jaisalmer which is already with it, the RSCB would cover three of the 26 districts. Our recommendation would also involve the apex bank directly in the management of four ccbs thus curtailing to some extent complete autonomy of the boards of directors of these banks. The non-official co-operative opinion, we hope, will, however, receive our recommendations in the spirit in which they have been made. The question of providing credit for agriculture should receive the highest priority. The end should be considered more important than the means and if to achieve that end an institution in one

#### CENTRAL CO-OPERATIVE BANKS

tier in the co-operative credit structure has to make room for the institution at the higher level in the same structure or to accept positive guidance from the latter, there should be no objection from any side. In fact, such a step has been recommended earlier in similar circumstances by the All-India Rural Credit Review Committee 1969 as well as the Banking Commission 1972. Our recommendations are in keeping with the authoritative views of the above Committee and the Commission and, therefore, we hope that they will be accepted by all concerned without any reservation and implemented as quickly as possible.

52

#### CHAPTER IV

## PRIMARY AGRICULTURAL CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETIES

4.01 THE success of the co-operative credit structure in meeting agricultural production credit needs adequately depends very much on the efficiency and soundness of the institutions at the primary level which are closest to the cultivator. This is specially true in the present context of the urgency to increase agricultural production and particularly of foodgrains so that the nation becomes self-sufficient in them. It is now accepted that, credit is only one of the inputs for increasing agricultural production and that for achieving the desired measure of success it has to be integrated with supplies of fertilizers, better seeds, etc., and services for assisting the farmers to take to modern methods of cultivation. It is also recognized that this integrated arrangement can best be worked through primary co-operative credit societies having full-time paid managers and other complementary staff. If these organizations are to become viable, it is clear that their coverage has to be more extensive and broad-based than even the viable societies on the pattern recommended by the Committee on Co-operative Credit (Vaikunth Mehta Committee) in 1960. As far back as in 1954, the Survey Committee suggested that the future line of development at the primary level should be in the direction of large-sized multi-purpose societies with state partnership. In November 1958, however, there was a shift in policy when the National Development Council advocated the organization of primary societies with the village as the basic unit. Attention was, therefore, directed to the establishment of service co-operative societies. The question of organization of pacs was again examined by the Vaikunth Mehta Committee. The Committee suggested that the population covered by a primary society should not exceed 3000 and that no village covered should be at a distance of more than three miles from the headquarters. At the same time, the Committee felt that the primary unit should be capable of rendering the more important of the services expected of credit institutions both adequately and to as large a number of cultivators as possible without depending on government assistance except for a limited period. The subsequent policy in regard to the structure at the primary level followed these recommendations.

4.02 More recently, the Overdues Study Team 1974 examined the question of the structure at the primary level in the con-

text of the levels and trends of overdues of co-operative credit institutions. The Team observed that bigger societies with full-time paid secretaries were in a relatively better position not only to keep the level of overdues low but also absorb overdues at their level and thus maintain the line of credit open for their non-defaulter and new members from the higher financing agencies. It, therefore, reiterated the recommendations of the Fifth Plan Working Group that the pacs should be re-organized and every re-organized society should have a potential loan business of Rs 2 lakhs and a full-time paid secretary.

4.03 The RBI had all along supported the idea of organization of multi-purpose societies with a reasonably extensive jurisdiction. The GOI and the RBI have, ever since the recommendations of the Vaikunth Mehta Committee, strived to re-organize the pacs into viable units. In fact, assistance to primary societies by way of government contribution to share capital or subsidy for appointment of full-time paid secretary have been confined to viable and potentially viable societies only. In December 1974, the Agricultural Credit Board of the RBI (ACB) reviewed the progress towards the achievement of the objective of having only viable societies and felt that more firm measures would have to be taken to overcome the resistance from vested interests and ensure re-organization of the primary credit structure.

4.04 The latest development in this regard was the appointment of a Group headed by Shri T. A. Pai, Union Minister for Industries and Civil Supplies by the GOI (Pai Group). The Group was required to examine the question of the most appropriate institutional credit structure in the rural areas for meeting the credit and other requirements of farmers in general and small farmers in particular in the context of the entry of the commercial banks in the sphere of agricultural credit to meet the credit gaps and their programmes of branch expansion in the rural areas. The Group observed that what was needed was a viable, well-managed institution which would not only dispense credit to the farmers, but also make arrangements for supply of the desired inputs, necessary technical extension services, provide for marketing intelligence and services and collect deposits from the rural community. The Group was of the view that only a viable, professionally managed multipurpose co-operative society would be in a position to cater the package of services needed by the farmer. Such an institution should provide all types of credit requirements of farmers including the long-term credit for agriculture. The Group recommended further that commercial banks may, before opening a rural branch below the mandi level, consider

the possibility of providing agricultural credit through pacs re-organized on the lines suggested by them. The recommendations of the Group have since been accepted by the GOI and it is expected that the future course of action will be in the direction given by the Group.

4.05 After mentioning briefly the above developments, we proceed to examine in this chapter the performance of the primary credit structure in Rajasthan. The chapter is divided into three sections. The performance of pacs for the state as a whole, with district-wise position wherever necessary, is discussed in Section I. The findings of the on-the-spot studies of select pacs taken up at our instance are given in Section II. The studies brought out the need for a further examination in depth about the factors responsible for poor coverage of population and lower borrowing membership. Seventeen of these societies and two other societies from Kota district were, therefore, visited to study this aspect and the findings thereof are also given in Section II. The suggestions for re-organization are contained in Section III.

#### SECTION I

### PRIMARY AGRICULTURAL CREDIT SOCIETIES

4.06 A statement showing the number of societies, growth of membership, owned funds, deposits, lendings and the trend of overdues as also certain important averages for the state as a whole for the years 1968-9 to 1973-4 is given in Annexure 29. Another statement giving the district-wise position of the number, membership and financial position of the pace is contained in Annexure 30.

### Number of societies

4.07 It will be observed from Annexure 29 that the number of pacs progressively declined from 9691 at the end of June 1969 to 7699 at the end of June 1973 but increased by 42 to 7741 as on 30.6.74. However, the number of dormant societies which declined from 2542 at the end of June 1969 to 1924 at the end of June 1971 sharply increased to 3786 at the end of June 1972 but again declined to 2891 at the end of June 1973 and further to 2236 at the end of June 1974. As on 30.6.73 the percentage of the dormant societies to the total number of societies stood at 38 as against the all-India average of 12. The relevant percentage, however, declined to 29 as on 30.6.74. Next to Assam, Rajasthan had the largest proportion of dormant societies in the country. The position obtaining

Zone	Total number of societies as on 30.6.74	Of column (2), number of dor- mant societies	Percentage of col. (3) to (2)
. (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Normal (a) NTA (b) TA Arid	4267 1384 686	799 436 309	19 32 45
Semi-arid <b>Total</b>	1404 77 <b>41</b>	692 <b>2236</b>	49 <b>29</b>

in this regard in the various zones of the state differed widely as can be seen from the following table:

Thus, the proportion of dormant societies to the total number was very high in the arid and semi-arid zones as also in the tribal area. Even in the non-tribal area about one-fifth of the total number of societies were inactive during 1973-4.

4.08 The district-wise position regarding the proportion of the number of dormant societies to the total number of societies is as under:

Proportion of number	Districts					
of dormant societies to total number of societies as on 30.6.74	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)		
Below 10 per cent	Ajm <del>er</del> Alwar Jhalawar Kota	-	-			
10-30 per cent	Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Tonk	Chittorgarl Dungarpur Udaipur		Jodhpur Sikar		
30-50 per cent	Pali Sawai- Madhopur	Banswara Sirohi	—			
50-60 per cent			Bikaner Churu	Jalore Jhunjhunu		
60-75 per cent			_	Nagaur		
75-90 per cent		_	-	_		
Above 90 per cent		—	Jaisalmer	_		

Almost all the societies (95 out of 102) in Jaisalmer and about two-thirds of the societies in the semi-arid district of Nagaur

#### COVERAGE

were dormant. The proportion of inactive societies exceeded 50 in four other districts, viz., Bikaner and Churu (AZ) and Jalore and Jhunjhunu (SAZ). The same was 35 and above in another four districts, viz., Pali and Sawai Madhopur (NTA), Banswara and Sirohi (TA). Significantly, even in the prosperous districts of Jaipur (26 per cent) and Ganganagar (24 per cent) the proportion of dormant societies was very high vis-a-vis the position obtaining in this regard in Ajmer (8 per cent), Alwar (6 per cent), Jhalawar (9 per cent) and Kota (5 per cent) districts. On the other hand, the arid district of Barmer (15 per cent) and semi-arid districts of Jodhpur (32 per cent) and Sikar (33 per cent) had lower proportion of dormant societies in comparison with the position obtaining in other arid and semi-arid districts. Thus, the extent of the dormant societies does not seem to be dependent on the prosperity or otherwise of the area.

### Coverage

4.09 Of the 32241 inhabited villages, 30741 or 95 per cent were served by pacs at the end of June 1974. The societies covered 90 per cent of the rural population of 212 lakhs. But as on 30.6.73 the villages served by 4808 active societies numbered 20907 forming 66 per cent of the total number of inhabited villages in the state as against the all-India average of 86 per cent. As on that date, the active societies covered a rural population of 124 lakhs forming 58 per cent of the total. The position should have, however, improved since as the number of dormant societies in the state declined by over 600 during the year 1973-4.

4.10 As at the end of June 1974, the membership of the pacs was 15 lakhs and formed 41 per cent of the rural families in the state. The average membership per society worked out to 194 as on 30.6.74 as against the all-India average of 217 as on 30.6.73. Even the average membership per active society in the state at 204 as on 30.6.73 was lower than the all-India average for all societies, i.e., active as well as dormant. As on the latter date, the membership of the active societies at 9.79 lakhs constituted 27 per cent of the total rural families in the state.

## Borrowing membership

4.11 The number of members who borrowed during the year increased from 5.13 lakhs in 1968-9 to 5.53 lakhs in 1970-1 but declined to 4.29 lakhs in 1971-2. The same again rose to 5.40 lakhs in 1972-3 and further to 7.22 lakhs in 1973-4. During the period 1968-9 to 1972-3, while the membership of

the societies increased by 1.73 lakhs, the borrowing membership increased by 0.27 lakh only. However, in 1973-4 as against the increase in membership of the societies by 1.47 lakhs, their borrowing membership increased by 1.82 lakhs. Thus, the proportion of borrowing members to the total membership, which declined from 43 per cent in 1968-9 to 40 per cent in 1972-3 increased to 48 per cent in 1973-4. In 1972-3 the same was more or less on par with the all-India average at 39 per cent. The proportion of members who borrowed loans during 1973-4 to the total rural households stood at 20 per cent indicating thereby that the effective coverage of pacs in Rajasthan was very low.

4.12	The	district-wise	e position	in	regard	to	the	proportion	of
borro	wing	members to	the total	me	embersh	ip v	was	as under:	

Percentage of the number of members	Districts						
who borrowed loans during 1973-4 to total membership	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ			
Above 60	Alwar Bharatpur Bundi Jhalawar Kota Tonk	-		-			
50-60	Bhilwara	Chittorgarh Dungarpur	-	Sikar			
40-50	Ajmer Ganganagar Sawai- Madhopur	Banswar <b>a</b> Udaipur	<del>.</del>				
30-40	Jaipur	Sirohi	Barmer Churu	Jalore Jhunjhunu			
20-30	Pali		Bikaner	Jodhpur			
10-20							
Below 10	—		Jaisalmer	Nagaur			

Barring Sikar district, the percentage of borrowing members to the total membership was below 40 in all the districts of the arid and semi-arid zones. In fact, hardly 3 per cent of the members borrowed during 1973-4 in Jaisalmer district and the relevant percentage was 9 in Nagaur district. In the Pali district from the non-tribal area, only 28 per cent of the members had borrowed loans during 1973-4. In six other districts, viz., Ajmer, Jaipur and Sawai Madhopur from the nontribal area and Banswara, Sirohi and Udaipur from the tribal area, the proportion of borrowing members to the total was below the state average. Significantly, even in the prosperous district of Jaipur the relevant proportion was hardly 37 per cent.

## Owned funds

4.13 The share capital of the pacs increased progressively by Rs 5.12 crores from Rs 5.05 crores at the end of 1968-9 to Rs 10.17 crores at the end of 1973-4. Of this increase, an increase of about Rs 1.36 crores represented contribution to share capital from the state government. At the end of June 1974, the average share capital per society worked out to Rs 13141 as against the all-India average of Rs 16010 as on 30.6.73. As on the former date, the average share capital per member worked out to Rs 68 and was lower than the all-India average of Rs 74 at the end of June 1973. The relevant averages in respect of the principal natural zones in Rajasthan compared with the position for the state as on 30.6.74 and all-India as on 30.6.73 were as under:

Zone	Averag per	Average share capital per member (Rs)			
	For the zone	For the For state all-India	For the zone	For the state	For all- India
Normal (a) NTA (b) TA	17,218 9,207	13,141	80 52	68	74
Arid Semi-arid	9,207 6,762 7,704	15,141 10,010	39 50 ∫	00	/4

Thus, the capital structure of the societies in the arid and semi-arid zones as also the tribal area was very weak.

4.14 The reserves and other funds of the societies in Rajasthan increased by about Rs 22 lakhs from Rs 30.50 lakhs at the end of June 1969 to Rs 52.86 lakhs at the end of June 1974.

### **Deposits**

4.15 The deposits of the societies increased by Rs 82.91 lakhs from Rs 117.79 lakhs at the end of June 1969 to Rs 200.70 lakhs at the end of June 1974. Bulk of this increase at Rs 57.26 lakhs was during the years 1972-3 and 1973-4. As at the end of June 1974, the average deposits per society and per member were Rs 2,593 and Rs 13 as against the all-India average at Rs 5,451 and Rs 25 respectively as on 30.6.73. Zonewise, the average deposits per society as on 30.6.74 was as under:

Zone	Average deposits per society Rs
Normal (a) NTA (b) TA Arid Semi-arid	3543 1944 1235 1006

It will be seen from the above table that while even in the non-tribal area the average deposits per society were lower than the all-India average, the relevant averages compared very unfavourably with the all-India and the state positions in respect of the societies in the arid and semi-arid zones and the tribal area.

### Borrowings and working capital

4.16 The borrowings of the societies increased progressively from Rs 18.41 crores at the end of June 1969 to Rs 33.30 crores at the end of June 1974, i.e., by about Rs 15 crores. As on 30.6.73, the same stood at Rs 27.40 crores and included the outstanding borrowings of the societies from the ccbs at Rs 26.01 crores. During the year 1973-4, their gross drawings from the ccbs aggregated Rs 25.96 crores and these were made by 4,093 societies as against the total number of active societies in the state at 5,505. In other words about one-fourth of the active societies in the state had not borrowed loans from the ccbs during the year 1973-4.

4.17 The working capital of the societies increased by Rs 28.91 crores from Rs 24.94 crores as on 30.6.69 to Rs 53.85 crores as on 30.6.74. As on latter date, the average working capital per society worked out to Rs 69,301 as against the all-India average of Rs 94,519 as on 30.6.73. The relevant averages for the different zones in the state as on 30.6.74 were as under:

Zone	Average working capital per society Rs
Normal	
(a) NTA	91753
(b) TA	50965
Arid	34671
Semi-arid	37533

Thus, the average working funds with the societies in the arid and semi-arid zones were very low. The relevant averages for the societies in the tribal and non-tribal areas indicated that an average society from these areas could just manage to handle a loan business of about Rs 50,000 and Rs 90,000 respectively.

## Loan business

4.18 The performance of the pacs has to be measured primarily with reference to the extent to which they have succeeded in meeting the credit needs in their respective areas.

Viewed from this angle the performance of the pacs in Rajasthan in general and from the arid and semi-arid zones in particular has to be rated as poor. A number of pacs have been dormant and the effective coverage of many who are active is meagre. The borrowing membership may not have also received their full credit needs as the loans advanced remained steady for many years. The loans advanced by the societies in the state at Rs 14.56 crores in 1968-9 increased to Rs 16.33 crores in 1970-71, but sharply declined to Rs 9.74 crores in 1971-2. However, the same again increased to Rs 16.04 crores in 1972-3 and further to Rs 25.49 crores in 1973-4. Thus, the loans advanced in 1972-3 had marginally increased over the position obtaining in 1968-9 but in fact had slightly declined when compared to the level of such loans in 1970-71. The position had, however, improved in 1973-4. In 1972-3, as against 3.136 societies which had borrowed loans from the ccbs. 3.160 societies had issued loans to their members. In 1973-4, however, 4166 societies had issued loans to their members. The zone-wise details were as under:

7		advan-	per borrowing member (Rs)			
Zone societies advanc- ced (Rs as on ing loans crores) 30.6.74 during 1973-4		For the state	For all- India			
Normal (a) NTA (b) TA Arid Semi-arid	3,468 948 377 712	2,631 826 259 450	19.38 2.80 1.18 2.13	383 247 319 328	353	594
Total	5,505	4,166	25.49			

A large number of active societies has not undertaken loaning in 1973-4. Forty-seven per cent of the loans advanced at the primary level in the state in 1973-4 were accounted for by the societies in the prosperous districts of Alwar, Bharatpur, Ganganagar, Jaipur and Kota, the share of 12 districts from the non-tribal area (including the above five) being 76 per cent. Despite this position, even in respect of the societies in the non-tribal area, the average loan advanced per borrowing member in 1973-4 compared unfavourably with the all-India average for 1972-3. The relevant average for 1973-4 exceeded Rs 515 in the following three canal irrigated districts, but was still lower than the all-India average for 1972-3 at Rs 594:

Bundi	Rs	534
Ganganagar	Rs	517
Kota	Rs	546

4.19 The loans outstanding at the primary level increased from Rs 17.88 crores at the end of June 1969 to Rs 32.82 crores at the end of June 1974, i.e., by Rs 14.94 crores, the increase in loans issued during the period being Rs 10.93 crores.

## **Overdues**

4.20 The overdues of the pacs increased from Rs 5.56 crores forming 31 per cent of the loans outstanding at the end of June 1969 to Rs 12.61 crores forming 38 per cent of the loans outstanding as at the end of June 1974. The overdues were the highest at the end of June 1972 when they amounted to Rs 14.58 crores and formed 63 per cent of the loans outstanding as against the then all-India average of 44. As at the end of June 1973, the overdues of primary societies in the state, which constituted 43 per cent of the loans outstanding, continued to be higher than the all-India average of 38 per cent. The periodwise classification of overdues as at the end of June 1974 was as under:

Period	Rs Crores Amount
Below 1 year	6.15
1-2 years	2.56
2-3 years	2.00
Over 3 years	1.90
Total	12.61

The chronic overdues, i.e., overdues over 3 years formed 15 per cent of the total overdues. As at the end of June 1973, the overdues at the primary level exceeded the owned funds and deposits of societies at Rs 10.55 crores by Rs 0.89 crore. However, as on 30.6.74, they were just within the internal resources of the pacs at Rs 12.71 crores mainly because of the increase of about Rs 2 crores in the owned funds of these institutions during 1973-4.

4.21 The district-wise position of the overdues at the primary level as at the end of June 1974 was as under:

Percentage of overdues

to outstandings	Districts				
	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	
25 or below	Alwar			Sikar	
26-38	Ajmer Bharatpur Bhilwara Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Tonk	_	_	-	

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
39-50	Bundi Sawai- Madhopur	Chittorgarh Dungarpur Udaipur	Barmer Bikaner Churu	• Jodhpur
51-60		Banswara		Jalore
61-79	— .	·		Jhunjhunu Nagaur •
80-90	Pali	Sirohi		
Above 91			Jaisalmer	

In nine districts from the non-tribal area and Sikar district from the semi-arid zone, the level of overdues at the primary level was below the state average of 38 per cent. In another nine districts, their level was below 50 per cent. These included three out of five districts from the tribal area, three out of four districts from the arid zone and Jodhpur district from the semi-arid zone. In Banswara district from the tribal area and Jalore district from the semi-arid zone the relevant percentage was 53 and 56 respectively. In the districts of Jhunjhunu and Nagaur from the semi-arid zone, the overdues of primary credit societies were between 61 and 79 per cent of the loans outstanding. In Pali district from the non-tribal area (89 per cent) and Sirohi district from the tribal area (83 per cent), the level of overdues was very high. In Jaisalmer district from the arid zone, the entire outstandings at the primary level represented amounts in default. In Dungarpur district from the tribal area, the percentage of overdues to loans outstanding had declined from 63 at the end of June 1973 to 40 at the end of June 1974 mainly because of the conversion of short-term loans into medium-term loans.

### Audit classification

4.22 The pacs audited during 1972-3 for the year 1971-2 numbered 7241. Their audit classification was as under:

Audit class	No. of societies
Α	13
В	237
С	2823
D	3608
E	10
Audited but not classified	550
Total	7241

About 50 per cent of the societies audited were in "D" or "E" audit class. Only 250 societies or 3 per cent of the total had been awarded "A" or "B" audit classification. But the position should have shown improvement for the year 1972-3 as the co-operative movement in the state in general had received a great set-back in 1971-2.

### Full-time paid secretaries

4.23 As on 30.6.74, as against 7741 societies in the state (of which, 5505 were active), the societies having full-time

paid secretaries numbered 3305. While the district-wise position is available in Annexure 30, the zone-wise position as on 30.6.74 was as under:

Zone	No. of active societies	No. of societies having full-time paid secretary
Normal		
(a) NTA	3468	2476
(b) TA	948	458
Arid	377	94
Semi-arid	712	277
Total	5505	3305

Thus, a large number of active societies were not served by a full-time paid secretary throughout the state in spite of the attempts made by the GOR in 1973-4 to induct more managers for pacs under its Half a Million Jobs Programme.

4.24 In terms of Rule 41 of the Rajasthan Co-operative Societies Rules, 1966, the RCS formulated a scheme for the appointment of paid-secretaries to pacs. The scheme was introduced in July 1967 but was later modified in May 1969 and introduced with effect from 1.6.69. In pursuance of the modified scheme the secretary of a society is entitled to salary in grade of Rs 90-250 with dearness allowance of Rs 35 per month (This has since been revised to Rs 120-270 with a dearness allowance of Rs 80). He is normally expected to be a matriculate but at least VIII standard passed, if a matriculate is not available. The selection of secretaries is entrusted to a district level selection committee under the chairmanship of the chairman of the ccb with three other members, viz., chairman of the district co-operative union, the Assistant Registrar of Co-operative Societies of the district and the Executive Officer of the ccb (Member-Secretary). The appointment orders are issued by the Member-Secretary on behalf of the district level selection committee and thus the secretaries are not treated as employees of the concerned ccb.

4.25 For meeting the expenditure on salaries of the secretaries a 'Supervision Fund' is required to be created by each central bank. Contributions to the Fund are expected as under:

(i) Three-fourths of the margin available to the societies on the short/medium-term loans advanced to them by the ccb. Since the societies are entitled to a margin of 2 per cent on their loan business, their contribution comes to 1.50 per cent of the short/medium-term loans borrowed from the ccb.

64

SECRETARIES

- (ii) Contribution from the concerned ccb at the rate of 0.25 per cent of the short/medium-term loans borrowed by it from the RSCB. As against this contribution the ccb is reimbursed by the apex bank at the rate of 0.10 per cent of the short-term loans borrowed by the apex bank on behalf of the concerned ccb from the RBI.
- (iii) Subsidy from the state government, if any, if the societies covered by the scheme are entitled for a managerial subsidy. Most of the societies having been registered more than three years earlier are not entitled to such subsidy.
- (iv) Interest on the credit balance in the Fund to be credited at the savings bank rate by the concerned ccb.

4.26 The number of societies to which the scheme was originally extended since stands reduced because of the low level of the loaning business of some of the societies originally covered under the scheme. Consequently, the contributions in respect of them did not cover even the modest salary of the secretary and the short-fall being farge, the secretaries had to be withdrawn. The position in this behalf in four districts from the tribal area was as under:

District	No. of Societies to which the scheme originally extended	No. of societies covered by the scheme in October 1974
Banswara	101	31
Dungarpur	. 96	60
Udaipur	200 (approx.)	155
Chittorgarh	200 (approx.)	72

4.27 The ccbs are not following uniformly the prescribed procedure in respect of the creation of the Supervision Fund. For instance, the Udaipur bank recovers contribution towards the Fund from all the societies financed by it, though only 155 societies are covered under the scheme. There was, therefore, a net credit balance of Rs 1.14 lakhs as on 30.6.74 in the Supervision Fund. The other three banks recovered contributions from the societies to whom secretaries are provided, at a percentage of the short/medium-term loans outstanding at the end of the year and not on the loans issued by them to the concerned societies. There was a credit balance of Rs 0.33 lakh as on 30.6.74 in the Supervision Fund maintained by the Chittorgarh bank obviously because only such societies have been covered under the scheme as have adequate loan business. The position is different in the case of Banswara and, Dungarpur banks. The net debit balance in the Supervision

Fund as on 30.6.74 maintained by these two banks was Rs 0.56 lakh and Rs 0.28 lakh respectively. This debit balance which is likely to increase could be deemed as irrecoverable, unless corresponding subsidy on an *ad hoc* basis is sanctioned by the state government. It may be stated that the societies covered under the scheme have to part with three-fourths of the margin of 2 per cent presently available to them on their loan business as their contribution to the Supervision Fund and it is not possible for them to meet their other expenses like office rent, stationery, meeting expenses, audit fees, etc., from the balance margin of 0.5 per cent retained by them.

4.28 Thus, the scheme in vogue needs to be modified if it were to be self-supporting and if provision of paid secretaries to all the active societies were to be ensured. Our suggestions in this regard are contained in Chapter XI on "Administrative and Operational Arrangements".

### SECTION II

# ON-THE-SPOT STUDIES OF SELECT PRIMARY AGRICULTURAL CREDIT SOCIETIES

4.29 The Team decided to study in depth the working of about 100 pacs in the state with a view to ascertaining their coverage of cultivating families, performance in meeting credit needs, recovery of loans, the extent and the causes of overdues and the extent of the relief provided by them by way of conversions in a year of natural calamity. Accordingly, four societies from each of the twenty-six districts in the state were selected for on-the-spot studies which were entrusted to officers of the Regional Office of the ACD at Jaipur (28 societies), officers of RSCB (30 societies) and select ccbs (16 societies) and officers of the Cooperative Department (30 societies). Of the 104 societies selected for on-the-spot studies, 48 societies were located in the non-tribal area and 20 in the tribal area, 16 in the arid zone and 20 in the semi-arid zone. For obvious reasons, the 104 societies selected for on-the-spot studies had to be functioning institutions and, therefore, none of the dormant co-operatives was visited. Thus, the findings of the on-the-spot studies including those of depth study relating to coverage, etc., summarized in the following paragraphs may be taken as representative of the performance of the 5,505 functioning co-operatives in the state.

### *Coverage*

4.30 A statement vide Annexure 31 gives the zone-wise position of cultivating families covered, membership, indebted

66

and defaulting membership, etc., as on 30.6.73 in respect of the 104 societies visited. The position could be summarized in brief as under:

Zone	No. of socie- ties	Villa- ges served	of	Mem- ber- ship	Ave- rage mem- ber- ship per society	% of (5) to (4)		(8) to	% of (8) to (5)
(1) Normal	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
(a) NTA	48	354	40,909	16,06	0 335	39.4	8,021	19.5	5 50.0
(b) TA	20	100	11,736	5,26	64 263	45.3	2,685	23.1	i 51.0
Arid	16	34	8,034	2,81	1 176	5 35.0	568	7.	5 20.2
Semi-arid	20	50	15,009	4,89	0 245	5 32.7	1,542	10.0	31.5

The average membership was low and ranged between 176 in the arid zone and 335 in the non-tribal area. The coverage of cultivating families ranged between 32.7 per cent for the semiarid zone and 45.3 per cent for the tribal area. The borrowing members constituted 50 per cent of the total for the non-tribal area, 51 per cent for the tribal area, 20.2 per cent for the arid zone and 31.5 per cent for the semi-arid zone. However, the proportion of borrowing members to the total cultivating families, is very low and ranged between 7.5 per cent for the arid zone and 23.1 per cent for the tribal area. In the semi-arid and arid zones, the relevant percentage is 10 or below, probably because agriculture in these regions is not stable and the cooperatives had not, by and large, afforded any credit facilities for subsidiary occupations in agriculture like dairying, poultry keeping, sheep breeding etc. Significantly, the effective coverage of the societies from the tribal area, though low, is slightly better than that of the societies from the non-tribal area. This may be so because tribals in Rajasthan are landholders and primarily depend on agriculture for their sustenance.

### Low coverage and lower borrowing membership

4.31 In order to ascertain the reasons for the low coverage of cultivating families and lower borrowing membership of pacs in the state, seventeen of the 104 societies selected for the on-the-spot studies and two other societies from Kota district were visited. This intensive study was undertaken in February 1975 by the officers of the Jaipur Regional Office of the ACD (5 societies), officers of the RSCB (5 societies), select ccbs (4 societies) and officers of the Co-operative Department (5 societies). 4.32 A statement showing the growth of membership ar borrowing membership of these nineteen societies, the classific tion of their membership and borrowing membership into schduled tribes/castes and others as on 30 June 1974 and the coverage, etc., is contained in Annexure 32. It will be see therefrom that the coverage of rural families belonging t scheduled tribes/castes was lower by 10 per cent or mor *vis-a-vis* the coverage in respect of other families in the follow ing eight societies:

	<b>6</b> 1 m	Coverage in per cent of			
	Society	rural families belong- ing to the scheduled tribes/castes	other rura families		
1	Laxminath Kastakaran VKRSS (Ajmer)	8	42		
2	Kotkasim Prathmik VKRSS (Alwar)	40	52		
3	Pholai GSS (Bundi)	35	51		
4	Chailanwali GSS (Ganganagar)	19	30		
5	Dhakarkheri GSS (Kota)	62	80		
6	Undwa GSS (Kota)	34	46		
7	Bhooteshwar GSS (Sirohi)	18	41		
8	Bhopalgarh VBSS (Jodhpur)	9	36		

N.B. :	VKRSS —	Vrihat Krishi Rindatri Sahakari Samiti
	GSS —	Gram-sewa Sahakari Samiti
	VBSS	Vrahat Bahudhandi Sahakari Samiti

In the area of Laxminath Kastakaran VKRSS (Ajmer district), another society, viz., Shri Krishna GSS operates and it is stated that majority of cultivators belonging to scheduled tribes/castes preferred to be members of the latter society. In the case of Bhooteshwar GSS in Sirohi district, it is observed that the chairman had been somewhat selective in admitting new members resulting in a relatively low coverage of scheduled tribe/ caste families. The managements of six other societies also did not appear to be enthusiastic about admitting families belonging to scheduled tribes/castes. At the same time, it has to be noted that in the remaining eleven societies, there was no significant variation between the coverage of families belonging to scheduled tribes/castes and other rural families. Thus, it may be said that in some societies covered by the study, the coverage of rural families belonging to scheduled castes/tribes is comparatively low mainly on account of the apathy of their managements to bring the scheduled castes/ tribes within the co-operative fold. However, the apathy cannot be considered as universal.

68

4.33 Another statement showing the classification of rural families in the area, membership and borrowing membership as on 30.6.74 according to the size of holdings in respect of the nineteen societies covered by the study is given in Annexure 33. The relevant data were available in respect of sixteen societies. It will be observed therefrom that, barring Rased GSS in Bhilwara district and Jaitpura GSS in Jaipur district, the coverage of farmers with holdings of 5 acres and less is, by and large, low *vis-a-vis* the position obtained in respect of medium farmers with holdings between 5 and 10 acres or big farmers with holdings of 10 acres and above. The variation is wide in respect of the following societies:

Consister		Coverage in per cent of				
	Society	small farmers	medium farmers	big farmers		
1	Laxminath Kastakaran					
	VKRSS (Ajmer)	29	82	83		
2	Kotkasim Prathmik					
	VKRSS (Alwar)	57	71	70		
3	Nadbai VBSS (Bharatpur)	14	38	12		
4	Kalwar VKRSS (Jaipur)	5	26	45		
5	Undwa GSS (Kota)	39	72	70		
6	Bhooteshwar GSS (Sirohi)	25	36	56		
7	Moras GSS (Sirohi)	10	21	92		
8	Chandgothi GSS (Churu)	8	75	58		
9	Jagnath GSS (Jalore)	7	14	47		
10	Bhopalgarh VBSS (Jodhpur)	55	68	70		

The conclusion, therefore, appears to be inescapable that small farmers with holdings below 5 acres are not being encouraged to join the society of their area as members. This confirms the findings of similar studies conducted elsewhere that even the co-operatives whose primary objective is to help men of small means or the neglected sections of the community, tend to give attention to the more affluent sections of the society. It may be necessary to enlighten and educate the managements of the societies about their responsibilities towards the neglected. If this fails to produce the desired result we will have no objection to adopting coercive methods for that purpose. This may take the form of denial of credit to the more affluent sections until the needs of the less affluent are met to a reasonable extent. The Reserve Bank insists upon at least 20 per cent of the borrowings from the apex bank to be advanced as loans to small farmers. The proportion may have to be fixed, perhaps, for each society individually, taking into account, the relative importance of small farmers, harijans and girijans in the area of its operations.

4.34 The data contained in Annexures 32 and 33 would, however, indicate that once a cultivator is admitted to membership, he is not denied credit facilities as there is no wide variation between the proportion of borrowing membership to the total membership in respect of small farmers, farmers belonging to scheduled tribes/castes or other categories of farmers.

4.35 It will be observed from Annexure 32 that the coverage of rural families as on 30 June 1974 of eleven out of the nineteen societies included in the study is below the state average of 41 per cent. The data relating to the growth of membership in these societies during the period 1969-70 to 1973-4 is also given in Annexure 32. On the basis of this data, the eleven societies can be grouped into five categories as under:

Category	Particulars	Name of society	Coverage of rural families as on 30.6.74 (% to total)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
1	Membership stagnant	Laxminath Kastakaran VKRSS (Ajmer)	37
		Nadbai VBSS (Bharatpur)	19
II	Membership stagnant	Moras GSS (Sirohi) Chailanwali GSS	13 .
	up to 1971-2 but increased in 1972-3 and 1973-4	(Ganganagar)	28
111	Membership stagnant up to 1972-3 but increased in 1973-4	Kalwar VKRSS (Jaipur)	27
	nierouseu in 1970-4	Nadol GSS (Pali)	27
		Bhooteshwar GSS	27 31
		(Sirohi) Chandgothi GSS (Churu)	39
		Jagnath GSS (Jalore)	27
IV	Membership stagnant in 1969-70, 1971-2 and 1972-3 but increased in 1970-71 and 1972-3	Bhopalgarh VBSS (Jodhpur)	30
v	Membership progres- sively increasing	Dhawa GSS (Jodhpur)	- 38

Another statement showing the credit and non-credit business handled by the nineteen societies covered by the study during the periods 1969-70 to 1973-4 and 1971-2 to 1973-4 respectively is given in Annexure 34. The Laxminath Kastakaran VKRSS (Ajmer) and the Nadbai VBSS (Bharatpur) in category I had transacted sizeable credit and non-credit business. The lower coverage in respect of the former is probably due to the fact that another primary agricultural credit society is operating in its area while in the case of the latter the same can be attributed to the lack of enthusiasm on the part of the management to enrol new members. This society appears to be content with catering to the needs of its existing members in which it is somewhat successful inasmuch as 68 per cent of its members had borrowed during 1973-4. The third society in category I, viz., Moras GSS (Sirohi) has the lowest coverage of 13 per cent presumably because its loan business during the period 1969-70 to 1973-4 was nil or negligible and did not handle any non-credit business.

4.36 The membership of the Chailanwali GSS (Ganganagar) in category II increased substantially in 1972-3 and 1973-4 as the society transacted sizeable loan business in those years. Similarly, the membership of the five societies in category III increased in 1973-4 as the societies advanced larger loans in 1973-4 than in the earlier years. For the same reason, the membership of the Bhopalgarh VBSS (Jodhpur) in category IV increased in 1970-71 and again in 1973-4. The membership of the Dhawa GSS (Jodhpur) in category V increased progressively as the society issued loans during the five-year period and handled some non-credit business since 1972-3.

4.37 The coverage of rural families of five other societies as on 30 June 1974 was as under:

Society	Coverage (%)
Kotkasim Prathamik VKRSS (Alwar)	49
Pholai GSS (Bundi)	45
Rased GSS (Bhilwara)	67
Undwa GSS (Kota)	41
Koshelao VBSS (Pali)	52

The membership of the Kotkasim Prathmik VKRSS (Alwar) and Koshelao VBSS (Pali) increased substantially in 1973-4 as the societies handled a higher level of loan business in that year. Besides, both the societies are transacting sizeable noncredit business. On the other hand, the relatively low coverage of Pholai GSS (Bundi) and Undwa GSS (Kota) can be attributed to the stagnation in their loaning operations and their inability to handle non-credit business which is negligible in the case of the former and nil in the case of the latter. The Rased GSS (Bhilwara) is carrying on effectively the functions of provision of credit and supplies and, therefore, its coverage is high at 67 per cent. 4.38 The study of sixteen societies reveals that their managements, by and large, have not launched any drive for membership. The concerned ccb or the Co-operative Department do not also seem to have given sufficient attention to the matter with a view to persuading the managements of the societies. It is reported that in 1973-4, these societies had issued loans to all such members as approached them for the purpose in time and were non-defaulters, the only limiting factor being the inability of the concerned ccb to provide the necessary credit support.

4.39 Significantly, the performance of the remaining three societies in the matter of coverage as also effective coverage was noteworthy as can be seen from the following table:

Society	Coverage of rural families as on 30.6.74 (per cent)	Percentage of borrowing mem- bers to total members as on 30.6.74	
Jaitpura GSS (Jaipur)	96	99	
Nayagaon GSS (Kota)	71	85	
Dhakarkheri GSS (Kota)	74	73	

While the two societies in Kota district operate in canal irrigated area, the area of Jaitpura GSS in Jaipur district is relatively less prosperous and can be compared with any other area having average agricultural potential. The managements of all the three societies are enterprising not only in the matter of enrolment of fresh members but also in persuading the members to avail of facilities extended by their society. Besides, the managements have taken keen interest in the recovery of loans and in turn ensured that the members, as far as possible, are eligible for fresh credit. Apart from handling the business of provision of inputs and domestic needs, the Jaitpura GSS (Jaipur) has a wheat thresher, a flour mill and a tractor. It also arranges for transport of agricultural produce of members for sale in mandi. It is running a milk collection centre. The two societies in Kota district also handle the distribution of fertilizers and domestic requirements. Both of them have a wheat thresher and are running a flour mill. The success of the three societies may be attributed to a large extent to their enlightened management and ability to provide adequate and timely credit with requisite supplies and services. One can venture also to conclude that membership is attracted not so much by the provision of credit as by the provision of various other services such as supply of inputs of agriculture and domestic requirements. The findings also confirm the latest thinking on the subject that pacs to be effective must integrate credit with supplies and services and to be in a position to do so must have the necessary complement of paid staff.

4.40 The findings of the depth study of nineteen societies may be summarized as under:

(i) In some societies, the managements appear to be apathetic in enrolling cultivators belonging to the scheduled tribes/castes as members. At the same time, such apathy is not noticed in some other societies.

(ii) Small farmers with holdings below 5 acres have, by and large, not been encouraged to join the society of their area.

(iii) Once a cultivator is admitted to membership, he is not denied credit facilities irrespective of whether he is a small farmer or a cultivator belonging to a scheduled caste/tribe.

(iv) The managements of most of the societies did not undertake a drive for membership nor have the concerned ccb or the Co-operative Department evinced adequate interest in this task.

(v) The extent of coverage of rural families in the area of a society is closely linked to its ability to provide credit facilities with inputs and services.

# Loan business

4.41 A statement as per Annexure 35 gives zone-wise position of loans issued during 1970-71 to 1972-3, outstandings and overdue loans as on 30.6.73 and the period-wise classification of overdues in respect of the 104 societies selected for on-thespot study. The position in brief is as under:

Zone	No. of societies	Loans issued in 1972-3	members	Average number of bor- rowing members per society	loans issued per	Loans out- standing as on 30.6.73	Average loans out- standing per society
Normal							
(a) NT	A 48	63.31	8021	167	1.32	58.86	1.23
(b) TA	20	9.62	2685	134	0.48	10.83	0.54
Arid	16	1.39	568	36	0.09	4.00	0.25
Semi-arid	20	13.50	1542	77	0.68	12.44	0.62

It will be seen from the above table that although average membership per functioning society is low and ranges between 176 for arid zone and 335 for the non-tribal area, the average number of borrowing members per society is still lower at 36 for arid zone, 77 for semi-arid zone, 134 for tribal area and 167 for the non-tribal area. The average loans issued in 1972-3 per functioning society range between as low as Rs 0.09 lakh for the arid zone and Rs 1.32 lakhs for the non-tribal area. The average loans outstanding as on 30.6.73 per functioning society are Rs 0.25 lakh for the arid zone, Rs 0.62 lakh for the semi-arid zone, Rs 0.54 lakh for the tribal area and Rs 1.23 lakhs for the non-tribal area.

4.42 Although the average membership as well as the average number of borrowing members per society is higher in the societies in the tribal area *vis-a-vis* those in the semi-arid zone, the average loans issued or outstanding per society is higher in the latter zone than in the tribal area. This is mainly due to the fact that the holdings of tribals are, by and large, small and the quantum of loan per member is also small. The restructured pacs in the tribal area may have, therefore, to cover a larger number of borrowing members and consequently a larger population *vis-a-vis* the societies in the non-tribal area.

# Scales of finance

4.43 The studies reveal that the societies in many districts have not adopted crop-wise scales of finance. Two separate scales of finance, one for single crop area and the other for double crop area, have been adopted by many ccbs like Ajmer, Alwar, Ganganagar, Jaipur, Pali, Sawai Madhopur, Tonk, Dungarpur, Bikaner, Churu, Jaisalmer, Jalore, Jhunjhunu, Nagaur and Sikar.

# Defects in lending

4.44 A statement at Annexure 36 shows in detail the instances of 'ghost' acreages, financing of defaulters and recovery by adoption of dubious methods like book adjustment, noticed during the course of the on-the-spot studies. The number of such instances noticed indicate the need for closer and more effective supervision over societies by the field staff of central banks and stern action against erring staff/institutions responsible for such malpractices.

# Medium-term loans for agricultural purposes

4.45 The institutions selected for on-the-spot studies had not evinced adequate interest in issuing medium-term loans for agricultural purposes though there was demand for loans for

74

sinking of wells, purchase of pumpsets, etc., in the non-tribal and tribal areas and for allied activities like dairying, sheep breeding, etc., in the arid and semi-arid zones. The mediumterm loan business handled during 1972-3 by the societies selected for on-the-spot study was as under:

Rs La	akhs
-------	------

Zone	No. of societies selected for	Medium-term (Normal) loans issued during 1972-3			
	study	No. of societies	Amount		
. (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
Normal (a) NTA	48	12	2.50		
(b) TA	20	· 6	1.74		
Arid	16	Nil	Nil		
Semi-arid	20	2	0.51		
Total	. 104	20	4.75		

Thus, out of the 104 societies visited for the study, 20 societies only had issued medium-term loans for agricultural purposes and allied activities during 1972-3. No society from the arid zone as also none but two societies from the semi-arid zone had issued medium-term loans during 1972-3.

### Medium-term conversion loans

4.46 A statement showing the number of villages served by primary societies selected for on-the-spot studies, the number of villages affected by famine during 1968-9 to 1972-3, the number of members who approached for conversion loans, the amount of loans applied for and the conversions actually effected at the level of the societies visited, is given in Annexure 37. The position is given in brief in the table below:

Year	NTA		TA		AZ		SAZ	
i cai	Α	B	A	В	Α	В	Α	B
1968-9 1969-70	581 869	581 786	389 357	275 357	285 118	234 118	706 207	698 205
1970-71 1971-2 1972-3	1015 2260	765 1794	122 801	 122 666	260 205	260 183	40 1557	16 1317

N.B.: A - No. of members who applied for conversion facility.

B - No. of members who were ultimately granted conversion facility.

During the year 1968-9 in the non-tribal area and during the years 1969-70 and 1971-2 in the tribal area and the arid zone, the societies visited were in a position to extend the conversion facility to all such members as approached them for the purpose. In all other cases and especially during 1972-3 when the drought conditions were widespread, not all the members who desired the facility were granted conversion loans. Payment of full interest on the loan due for conversion was the only condition precedent to the sanction of the conversion facility. However, a few of the societies visited were reported to be either reluctant or were not in a position to grant conversion loans to borrower-members affected by drought.

# **Overdues**

4.47 The position of loans outstanding at the level of societies as on 30.6.73, loans overdue as on that date and the period-wise classification of the overdues is given in Annexure 35. The zone-wise position is given in brief in the table below:

Rs Lakhs

Zone	out-	Loans over- due	(3)	(3) of overc		riod-wise classification overdues			• % of col. (9) to (3)
·	stan- ding as on 30.6.73	as on 30.6.73	(2)	Below one year	one to three years	to five	Over five years		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Normal (a) NTA (b) TA Arid Semi-arid	58.86 10.83 4.00 12.44	14.11 3.38 1.45 2.77	24.0 31.2 36.2 22.3	3.58 1.07 0.16 0.14	6.22 1.18 0.76 1.71	2.03 0.71 0.14 0.54	2.28 0.42 0.39 0.38	4.31 1.13 0.53 0.92	30.5 33.4 36.6 32.5

It will be seen from the above table that the occurrence of default was slightly higher in the tribal area and the arid zone vis-a-vis the non-tribal area and the semi-arid zone. There was, however, no appreciable variation in the proportion of chronic defaults, i.e., overdues for periods over three years to the total as the former formed about one-third of the latter in all the zones. The defaults were reported to be, by and large, wilful although in a few cases denial of conversion to cultivators affected by famine also led to overdues.

# Overdues in relation to size of holdings of defaulters

4.48 A statement at Annexure 38 indicates holding-wise information of 6246 defaulter members of 101 pacs as on 30.6.73. The relevant information was not available in respect of defaulter members of 3 societies, i.e., one each from the non-tribal area, the arid and semi-arid zones. The information in brief is tabulated below:

17.	.1.1		Number of members						
	olding acres	S ·	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ	Total		
	(1)		(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)		
1		ted members	(-)	(-)		,			
-		10 and above	4274(40)	436(11)	1242(94)	1768(69)	7721(42)		
	(b)	5-10	3563(33)	1258(32)	42(3)	502(20)			
	· (c)	3-5	1420(13)	1214(30)	13(1)	191(7)	2838(15)		
	(d)	Below 3	959(`9)	1013(25)	2(-)	74(3)			
	(e)	Tenants, etc.	489( 5)	85(2)	30(2)	26(1)	630(3)		
			10705(100)	3996(100)	1329(100)	2561(100)	18592(100)		
,	Defai	lters							
•	- (a)	10 and above	1244(37)	196(12)	432(88)	546(72)	12418(30)		
	(b)	5-10	937(28)	499(31)	19(4)	124(17)			
	(c)	3-5	506(15)	501(31)	9(2)	40(6)			
	(ď)	Below 3	433(13)	384(24)	<u>1(-)</u>	18(2)			
	(e)	Tenants, etc.	263(7)	40(2)	28( 6)	26(3)			
		Total	3383(100)	1620(100)	489(100)	754(100)	6246(100)		
3	Perce	ntage of defaul	ters to inde	hted member	* 5				
•	(a)	10 and above	29	45	35	31	31		
	- õ	5-10	26	40	45	25	29		
	(c)	3-5	35	41	69	21	37		
	(ď)	Below 3	44	38	50	25	40		
	(e)	Tenants, etc.	53	47	93	100	56		
		Total	31	41	37	29	33		

N.B.: Figures in brackets indicate percentage of indebted and defaulter members to total indebted and defaulter members respectively.

In the above table, the indebted members (18592) and defaulters (6246) have been classified into 5 groups according to the size of their holdings, viz., big farmers (10 acres and above), medium farmers (5-10 acres), small farmers (3-5 acres), smallest of small farmers (below 3 acres) and tenants/agricultural labourers. It will be seen from table that the tenants and agricultural labourers formed a negligible percentage of the total indebted members in all the zones.

4.49 It will be observed from items 1 and 2 of the table contained in paragraph 4.48 above that among land holding farmers (i.e., barring tenants and agricultural labourers), the proportion of indebted members in each group to the total indebted members was more or less identical to the proportion of defaulters within the respective group to total defaulters in all the zones. From the percentages given against item 3 in the table, it will be observed that among land holding farmers the variation between percentage of defaulters within a group to indebted members within that group and percentage of total defaulters to total indebted members, was not wide excepting in the case of small and smallest of small farmers from the arid zone who (like tenants/agricultural labourers) formed a negligible percentage of the total indebted membership.

4.50 The above analysis indicates that incidence of default is more or less of the same degree (with marginal variations) among all categories of farmers, i.e., big, medium or small in all the zones. A similar observation has been made by the Overdues Study Team on the basis of on-the-spot studies of 233 societies throughout the country, of which seven were from Jaipur, Kota and Banswara districts of Rajasthan.

4.51 Incidentally, the studies of over 100 pacs from the different zones of Rajasthan reveal that even in the case of functioning co-operatives the proportion of defaulters to the total indebted members is higher in the tribal area and the arid zone *vis-a-vis* the position obtaining in the non-tribal area and semi-arid zone (see percentages against item 3(f) of the table given in paragraph 4.48 above).

# Coercive action

4.52 A statement as per Annexure 39 indicates the position of pending arbitration (loan recovery) cases and awards pending execution in respect of defaulter-members of the societies visited. The position in brief is summarized below:

Zone		No. of	No. of arbitration cases				
	societies visited	default- ers as on 30.6.73	Pending as on 30.6.72	during	Disposed of during 1972-3	as on	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	
Normal							
(a) NTA	48	3387	214	117	68	263	
(b) TA	20	1620	8	18	17	9	
Ariđ	16	592	19	54	55	18	
Semi-arid	20	772	26		3	23	
Total	104	6371	267	189	143	313	

	INO. OI awards						
Zone	Pending as on 30.6.72	Passed during 1972-3	Executed during 1972-3	Pending as on 30.6.73			
(1) Normal	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)			
(a) NTA	95	68	37	126			
(b) TA	8	17	19	6			
Arid	35	55	38	52			
Semi-arid	51	3.	22	32			
Total	189	143	116	216			

The above table shows that the number of defaulters against whom coercive action had been initiated, is small in all the zones. It is clear that the managements of the societies have not been enthusiastic about coercive steps against defaulters. For instance, none of the societies from 8 out of 12 'districts in the non-tribal area, 3 out of 5 districts in the tribal area, 3 out of 4 'districts in the arid zone and all the five districts in the semi-arid zone, had filed a single arbitration case during 1972-3. The disposal of arbitration cases and execution of awards by the departmental staff has not been prompt even though coercive action had been initiated against a small number of defaulters by the societies inasmuch as the number of pending arbitration cases and awards pending execution as on 30.6.72 at 267 and 189 increased to 313 and 216 respectively as on 30.6.73. The position regarding defaults by members of the managing committees of societies as on 30.6.73 is as under:

Zone	No. of societies visited	No. of societies in which mana- ging committee member/s was/ were defaulter/s	No. of Managir committee members in default	ng Amount of default as on 30.6.73 (Rs lakhs)
Normal				-
(a) NTA	48	12	31	0.25
(b) <b>TA</b>	20	9	26	0.11
Arid	16	2	4	0.01
Semi-arid	20	3	7	0.03
Total	104	26	68	0.40

The incidence of default by members of the managing committees is comparatively more in the non-tribal and tribal areas *vis-a-vis* the position obtaining in the arid and semi-arid zones.

4.53 The above analysis indicates the need for exercising pressure on the managements of societies for initiating coercive action against recalcitrant defaulters as also expeditious disposal of arbitration cases and execution of awards by the departmental staff with a view to creating a favourable climate for prompt repayments.

Mo of owords

# Non-credit business

4.54 The non-credit business handled by the societies related mainly to the distribution of fertilizers and controlled commodities. The volume of such business handled by the societies visited during 1971-2 and 1972-3 is as under:

Rs Lakhs

Zone	societies	societies	Value of	Sales	Profit from busin	
	selected fo <b>r</b> study	handling non- credit business	1971-2	1972–3	1971-2	1972–3
Normal (a) NTA	48	37	11.57	17.69	0.22	0.20
(b) TA	20	16	2.81	6.68	0.05	0.14
Arid .	16	8	0.40	4.22	(Rs 235)	(Rs 37)
Semi-arid	20	14	4.47	16.59	( <b>Rs</b> 262)	0.02
Total	104	75	19.25	45.18	0.28	0.36

The societies on an average are entitled for a margin of 2 per cent on the sales. The volume of non-credit business handled per society during 1972-3 ranged between Rs 0.42 lakh for the tribal area and Rs 1.18 lakhs for the semi-arid zone and did not add much to the profitability of the societies.

### Full-time paid secretaries

4.55 Seventeen societies were not served by full-time paid manager. A statement at Annexure 40 gives the performance of these societies in the field of coverage, effective coverage, loan business, recovery and non-credit business with relevant averages for the societies in each of the areas/zones. The coverage of cultivating families in respect of 12 out of the 17 societies is less than the relevant average for the respective zone/area. The effective coverage, i.e., percentage of borrowing members to the total cultivating families in the area, is lower in respect of 14 societies. The loans issued during 1972-3 by 15 out of 17 societies were lower than the relevant average for the respective zone/area. In fact, seven societies did not issue any loans during 1972-3 while the loans issued by another 4 societies were negligible. The recovery performance of eleven societies was unsatisfactory as compared to the average recoveries made by the societies in each of the zones/areas. Five societies had not handled any non-credit business during 1972-3 while such business handled by most of the other twelve societies was negligible. The above analysis shows that the societies with independent full-time paid secretaries are in a better position to serve the clientele and needs of the area vis-a-vis the societies with part-time or honorary secretaries.

80

### SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

4.56 The findings of the on-the-spot studies of 104 pacs may be summarized as under:

(i) The average membership per society ranges between 176 for the arid zone and 335 for the non-tribal area in the normal zone. The coverage of cultivating families ranges between 33 and 45 per cent.

(ii) The effective coverage, i.e., proportion of borrowing members to the total cultivating families, however, is very low and ranges between 7.5 per cent for the arid zone and 23 per cent for the tribal area.

(iii) The average loans issued during 1972-3 per society range between Rs 0.09 lakh for the arid zone and Rs 1.32 lakhs for the non-tribal area. The average loans outstanding range between Rs 0.25 lakh for the arid zone and Rs 1.23 lakhs for the non-tribal area.

(iv) The average effective coverage of the societies from the tribal area is the highest. But the average loan business handled by them is even lower than the position obtaining in semi-arid zone.

(v) Crop-wise scales of finance have not been adopted by many central banks.

(vi) Several instances of 'ghost' acreages, financing of defaulters and book adjustments have been noticed.

(vii) The societies have not evinced adequate interest in issuing medium-term loans for agricultural purposes and other allied activities.

(viii) When the drought conditions were wide-spread in 1972-3 all the members who had approached for conversion assistance were not given such relief.

(ix) The defaults are, by and large, wilful although in some cases denial of conversion assistance to cultivators affected by famine may have led to overdues.

(x) Barring tenants and agricultural labourers, the incidence of default is more or less of the same degree among all categories of farmers, viz., big, medium, small or smallest of the small.

(xi) The number of defaulters against whom coercive steps for recovery of dues have been initiated is small in all the zones. (xii) The incidence of default by members on the managing committees is comparatively more in the non-tribal and tribal areas than the position obtaining in the arid and semiarid zones.

(xiii) The societies with independent full-time paid secretaries served the clientele and the needs of their area better *vis-a-vis* the societies with part-time or honorary secretaries.

#### SECTION III

#### DIRECTIONS FOR RE-ORGANIZATION

4.57 The analysis of the pacs in general and of the 104 societies in particular brings out clearly how weak is the structure at the base level. The averages of owned funds, loans advanced, loans outstanding, effective coverage of rural population of the societies in the state are poorer than the all-India averages. It is now recognized that the most appropriate institutional arrangement at the rural base is a multipurpose primary credit society which not only provides credit but also fertilizers and other inputs and if possible technical guidance, particularly to small farmers. The society must have a full-time paid secretary if it is really to be of service to the people. This has been brought out in the detailed studies of the primary societies. The society should also have an office of its own and be able to declare a reasonable dividend after providing for the various reserves. All this will not be possible unless the society has an adequate business turnover. The Fifth Plan Working Group has recommended that a society to be able to employ a full-time paid secretary should have a minimum credit business of Rs 2 lakhs. The margin in the non-credit business of the society in fertilizers, etc., will, in the opinion of the Group, be just adequate to meet the cost of the additional staff that may have to be employed to handle this business. Even if some surplus accrues, which in most cases may not be sizeable, it will help improve the prospects of viability of the society. The above recommendation of the Working Group has been reiterated by the policy circular from the GOI and the ACB to which a reference has already been made by us. It is now agreed that the pacs in every state should be so re-organized as to have ultimately only societies as have a potential loan business of at least Rs 2 lakhs. We are in full agreement with the above decisions and would urge upon the government and the non-official co-operative opinion in the state to co-operate wholeheartedly in their implementation.

4.58 It will be necessary to find out how the pacs in Rajasthan are situated with reference to the minimum level of business necessary to attain viability on the basis indicated above. The information as on 30.6.73 in respect of all the districts other than six districts, viz., Ajmer, Bhilwara and Tonk (NTA), Dungarpur (TA), Bikaner (AZ) and Nagaur (SAZ) has been given in Annexure 41. The abstract of the Annexure is given below:

Zon	e	No. of	No. of	No. of societies with loans outstanding of						
		dists. for which data were available	active societies in the dists. as on 30-6-73	Rs 25000 or below	Rs 25000 to Rs 50000	Rs 50000 to Rs 75000	to	Rs 1		
Nor	rmal		·····				·····			
(a)	NTA	9	2,539	776	599	319	331	514		
<b>(</b> b)	TA	4	679	153	266	123	88	49		
Ario	1	3	266	151	95	16	2	2		
Sem	ni-arid	4	499	ب 229	148	59	32	312		
	Total	20	3,983	1,309	1,108	517	453	596		

Thus almost one-third of the total number of active societies had a loan business of less than Rs 25000, i.e., not even 12.5 per cent of what is considered as the minimum for attaining viability. Another 1625 or about 40 per cent had outstanding loans between Rs 25000 and Rs 75000. In short, over 70 per cent of the active societies did not have outstandings of the level which is considered as the minimum for a society to be classified as potentially viable. Only 596 societies had loans outstanding exceeding Rs 1 lakh. The position might have slightly improved in 1973-4. Even so, the achievements so far indicate how far away are pacs in Rajasthan from attaining viability and how difficult is the problem going to be if the goal is to be reached quickly.

4.59 The poor achievements of the societies may be attributable to either or both of the following reasons. The jurisdiction of the societies in terms of the area which can be put to productive use may not be sufficient to give them a potential loan business of Rs 2 lakhs. In this context one has to bear in mind that not every farmer needs credit facilities or likes to join a society and that every member does not necessarily borrow. It may be safe to proceed on the basis that ultimately only members cultivating about 40 to 50 per cent of the total cultivable area may obtain credit facilities from the societies. Secondly, the adequacy of the area may not ensure the attain-

ment of the minimum business of Rs 2 lakhs as much will depend on the support which the societies get from the higher financing agencies. To expect the societies themselves to mobilize enough savings from the rural area will be unrealistic. We have seen from the account given of the ccbs how meagre are their internal resources. While the scope for greater mobilization of the savings of the public does exist, it will take a long time for many ccbs even in the relatively prosperous districts to mobilize large deposit resources. The capacity of the apex bank to lend support to them is also limited. It is for this reason that we have suggested that commercial banks may be invited to lend through pacs. Even the commercial banks will need considerable time to establish firm and expanding relationship with the societies. The net effect of all these is that if the number of agricultural credit societies in the state is large it will take them a much longer period than the remaining four years of the Fifth Five Year Plan to reach the optimum loan business of Rs 2 lakhs. At the same time, it will not be appropriate to allow a large majority of the societies to continue to be without full-time paid secretaries. It will not be correct to place too much reliance on subsidies that the government may provide for the appointment of full-time paid secretaries for a period longer than the end of the Fifth Plan. i.e., beyond 1978-9. Taking all these aspects into account we feel that the societies in Rajasthan may have a wider jurisdiction than their counter parts in the relatively more developed states like Gujarat or Maharashtra so that their number is kept down to a level which will ensure viability for each of the societies.

4.60 In the light of what has been stated above, we recommend that a society in the normal zone may have within its jurisdiction approximately 2000 hectares of land under cultivation and a society in the arid and semi-arid zones approximately 5000 hectares. A much wider coverage has been suggested for the societies in the latter zones because of the admittedly poor agricultural prospects in them. A statement showing the district-wise position of the average size of holdings and the average number of cultivators which a society would cover on the basis of our above recommendation is given in Annexure 42. The zone-wise position in respect of the latter average will be as under:

Zone	Average number of cultivators which a re-organized society will cover
Normal	
(a) NTA	581
(b) TA	885
Arid	255
Semi-arid	733

Thus, the number of cultivating households covered by a re-organized society will, on an average, range between 255 for the arid zone, wherein the average size of holdings is very large, and 885 for the tribal area in which the holdings are small. Another statement showing the number of existing societies, of dormant societies and of societies which each district may be in a position to sustain on the basis of the above norms is given in Annexure 43. It will be seen that in all the 12 districts of the normal area excepting Ganganagar district, the number of societies is larger than the optimum, the excess being 1026. Ganganagar district is, however, short by as many as 333 societies. Similarly, in all the districts of the tribal area and the semi-arid zone, the number is in excess of the optimum by 706 and 585 respectively. In the arid zone, in two districts of Barmer and Churu, there are less societies than the optimum, the shortfall being as much as 89. In Bikaner district, the number of societies exceeds the optimum by three only. Only Jaisalmer district has a much larger number of societies than the optimum, the excess being as much as 75 societies. For the state as a whole the optimum number of societies will be 5766 as against the existing number of 7741. The excess number of the societies in the majority of the districts in the state comes to 2395 and the shortfall in some aggregates 422, most of the shortfall being accounted for by the Ganganagar district.

The total number of 7741 societies as on 30.6.74 includes 4.61 as many as 2236 societies which are dormant. From Annexure 29 it will be seen that the number and the percentage of the dormant societies have varied from year to year. The highest number was in 1971-2, viz., 3786 forming 49 per cent of the total. The number came down by almost 1000 next year and the percentage dropped to 38. In 1973-4, number of dormant societies declined further by 655 and the percentage to total declined to 29. Dormant societies are defined as those which did not advance loans for two years in succession. Dormancy may not necessarily mean that the societies have to be taken into liquidation. Many societies could perhaps be revived if adequate support came forth from the higher financing agencies. There is every reason to assume that the level of loans outstanding of most dormant societies is low and the effective coverage poor, as in both respects the active societies are also poor. We, therefore, feel that in the programme of re-organization of societies which may be drawn up keeping the broad guidelines as indicated in view, the dormant societies may not necessarily be taken into liquidation. It is only such of them as have their owned funds eroded completely or as have a very low borrowing membership that may be left out and marked for liquidation. The others may be retained if their area of operations conforms to the norms indicated above or amalgamated

with a neighbouring society to make the total area conform to the above norms suggested by us.

4.62 What we have suggested above is only an overall picture for each district. Three districts can, as per the norms suggested by us, have a total of 422 additional societies. We feel that as far as possible no new societies may be organized in these districts during 1975-6 and 1976-7 except perhaps in RCP area. The question may be examined later in 1977-8. Two of the districts are in the arid zone where the prospects for agriculture are poor. The potential for a large addition in Ganganagar district may be because of adopting 2000 hectares as the norm which may not apply to large parts of the district which have not yet received the benefit of irrigation. In drawing the plans of re-organization in the other districts, it would be better to make an assessment block-by-block and identify the societies to be retained taking into account the cropped area, their geographical location and their financial position. We understand that a study similar to the above has been conducted in four Karnataka districts by an officer of the RBI. The RBI may make the findings of the study available to the GOR for guidance in the matter. The study will also identify the societies that may have to go out of existence. The whole process of re-organization need not be postponed till these latter societies are taken into liquidation as that is a very time consuming process. In this connexion we endorse the recommendation made by the Overdues Study Team, which is reproduced below:

At the same time it has to be admitted that the process of reorganization of the primary credit structure by liquidation of weak units and organization of new societies by amalgamation voluntary or compulsory, of two or more existing societies into a strong unit is time consuming. Experience has shown that efforts in this direction have not yielded the desired results. The better alternative is to allow the dormant and weak units a slow and natural extinction. The Registrar of Co-operative Societies of every state/union territory should draw up an action programme to identify dormant or financially weak and non-viable primary credit societies which have a high level of overdues, say above 60 per cent of the demand, consecutively for two or more years. Such societies should be denied fresh credit by central banks and the area of an adjoining society may be extended to cover the areas of the dormant and weak societies for meeting the credit requirements of nondefaulters and new members from the area. (pages 247-8)

The figure of 5768 arrived at on the basis of the rough norms adopted by us need not be taken as the firm and final figure. The block-wise examination which we have suggested will give the correct figure. In view of the urgency of the matter we recommend that the examination should be accorded the highest priority by the government and the co-operative banks so that the blueprint for action is ready for the whole state latest by December 1975. We have made block-wise assessment in this regard in Chapter IX and it will be seen therefrom that the societies that may eventually emerge will be around 6000. If each one of them is able to attain the level of business of Rs 2 lakhs by 1978-9, the total credit provided by the societies could reach Rs 120 crores, which will still be much less than the requirement of Rs 200 crores which we have assessed later in Chapter VI. While every attempt may have to be made to see that the necessary support becomes available to the societies from the co-operative and commercial banks, we would like to emphasize that the achievement of the minimum level of business by the societies will not be possible unless they are given a wider area of operation as suggested by us and unless, in particular, the societies have trained full-time paid secretaries.

4.63 If a concrete programme of re-organization of the societies on the lines indicated above as also subsequently in Chapter IX, is drawn up, we recommend that each one of the reorganized societies may receive government contribution to its share capital at the rate of Rs 10000 per society, if it has not received such contribution. If the number of societies to be retained is 6000, the total contribution will amount to Rs '6 crores. As at the end of June 1974, the societies in the state had received government contribution to the share capital amounting to Rs 2.16 crores. The balance contribution will come to Rs 3.84 crores. We recommend that GOR should make the necessary provision in their budgets for 1975-6, 1976-7 and 1977-8 for the amount so that in the last year of the Fifth Plan all the societies will have received the required contribution. We also recommend that the RBI may sanction corresponding loans to the GOR out of its LTO Fund.

4.64 We have emphasized the need for each society having a full-time paid secretary. If the approximate number of the societies is 6000, an equivalent number of secretaries will be necessary. At present 3305 societies are reported to be having a paid secretary. The balance thus comes to 2695. We recommend that about 1000 secretaries may have to be recruited and trained annually in the next two years or so with the result that each one of the societies will have the benefit of a trained secretary. It follows that the secretaries so recruited will have to be trained for their assignments. A massive programme of training them will have to be drawn for the purpose. Besides, to ensure that they take sustained interest in their work and maintain efficient standards, they will have to be provided with avenues for improving their prospects in the form of promotion to a higher scale of pay in the same cadre or higher cadre. Our specific recommendations in this behalf are contained in Chapter XI on 'Administrative and Operational Arrangements'.

4.65 We have suggested that the societies re-organized will be multi-purpose in character and their operations. In this context we have examined the need for separate and additional functional societies for extension of credit for dairying, poultrykeeping, sheep and goat rearing. There is a feeling in some quarters that the multi-purpose societies may not be able to attend to the special needs and problems of dairying, etc., which can best be looked after by functional credit societies. In the discussions we had with the representatives of co-operative banks we were told that such societies were neither necessarv nor desirable. We have examined the matter carefully and are of the view that additional functional societies for disbursement of credit for activities allied to agriculture will create problems of security and adversely affect the prospects of the multi-purpose societies attaining viability as quickly as possible. Apart from this, there will be the question of the functional credit societies themselves becoming viable units. In a situation in which the vast majority of the existing societies in the state are having outstanding loans of even less than Rs 75000, we feel that nothing may be done to take away from the societies any sphere of agricultural business that will mar the prospects of viability of the multi-purpose societies. We note that the last Conference of Registrars of Co-operative Societies held at New Delhi in July 1974 had taken note of various functional co-operatives like dairy societies, co-operative sugar factories, cane unions, sericulture societies, etc., providing credit facilities and recommended that the question of such societies providing integrated services, including credit, might be examined on an area and commodity basis. In the light of conditions obtaining in Rajasthan which we have discussed at length, we recommend that in the future no separate credit societies be organized for dairying, etc., and that those that may have been organized already be merged with the re-organized multi-purpose pacs.

4.66 Our terms of reference require us to study in detail the problems of drought prone as well as tribal areas. In the former areas there are some special programmes which are being considered by the IDA, the emphasis of which is on dairying, sheep and goat rearing and animal husbandry, the scope for which in these areas is rated to be much better than for agriculture proper. The multi-purpose societies re-organized in these areas will naturally be concerned with financing these activities. There seems to be no difficulty in these societies also providing credit for whatever cultivation operation that may be undertaken in these areas. So far as tribal areas are concerned, we have separately considered their problems and have recommended multi-purpose societies for all the people in the areas and not exclusively for the tribals. 4.67 The Pai Group, to which we have made a reference in paragraph 4.04 above, is of the view that viable pacs should be in a position to cater to all credit requirements of farmers including long-term credit for agriculture. If the re-organized societies proposed by us also purvey long-term credit for agriculture it will no doubt help them to quickly attain a viable status. Although the subject of long-term credit for agriculture is outside the purview of our terms of reference, the same has a bearing on the question of viability of pacs, with which we are very much concerned. From the point of improving the viability prospects of the pacs we have recommended against the organization of additional functional societies for dairying. etc., and have suggested that these activities should be handled by the pacs themselves. For the same reasons we would recommend the pacs handling long-term agricultural credit also so that they get one more line of business and avenue for income. The ACB which considered this matter recently has also endorsed the idea of pacs providing long-term agricultural credit so that a comprehensive view of a borrower's needs can be taken.

4.68 In Rajasthan long-term co-operative credit is at present disbursed by 35 pldbs affiliated to the RRSBVB. We understand that the Committee on Co-operative Land Development Banks appointed by the RBI has recently recommended that in order to function as a viable unit, each pldb or a branch of the state land development bank should have a minimum loan business of Rs 35 lakhs. A statement showing the bankwise position of loans issued during 1973-4 and the outstandings as on 30.6.74 in respect of the 35 pldbs in the state is given in Annexure 44. Of the 35 banks, 21 banks do not conform to the norm of viability suggested by the above Committee. Thirteen of them have loan business of less than Rs 20 lakhs and may not attain a viable status for some time to come.

4.69 We feel that a beginning can be made to give effect to the recommendations of the Pai Group and the ACB by entrusting the responsibility for long-term credit to as many societies as possible in the areas of the 13 pldbs which have little prospect of becoming viable. Obviously, only societies re-organized on the lines suggested by us will have to be selected for the purpose and the managers of the societies will have to be given the necessary training to handle the additional responsibility. The whole question will have to be examined further in consultation with the RRSBVB. We suggest that this may be done by the GOR.

4.70 We feel that the re-organization of the pacs on the lines discussed above will lay the foundation for the development of agriculture in the state and are confident that they will be received well by all concerned.

### CHAPTER V

# AGRICULTURAL FINANCE BY COMMERCIAL BANKS

5.01 THE most significant development in the banking structure of the country in recent times has been the nationalization of fourteen major commercial banks in July 1969. With the introduction of social control over the commercial banks in 1968 and in particular after the nationalization, the commercial banks are required to give considerable importance to the provision of adequate credit facilities to the neglected sectors of the economy like agriculture and small-scale industry. Consequently the banks have taken steps to build up the necessary infrastructure so that they may be able to discharge their responsibilities in this sphere satisfactorily.

5.02 Our terms of reference require us to examine whether the co-operative credit structure in Rajasthan will be in a position to meet adequately the agricultural credit needs in the near future, and if not, suggest alternative institutional arrangements which, among other things, may include the commercial banks financing either (i) the pacs in certain select areas by-passing the ccbs or (ii) individual cultivators directly through their branches. Our analysis of the performance of the co-operative credit structure in the state contained in the previous three chapters brings out clearly that, as in most other states, the co-operatives alone will not be in a position, at least for some time to come, to meet the credit needs of agriculture in all parts of Rajasthan. It is in this context, we have assessed in this chapter the performance of commercial banks operating in Rajasthan with a view to determining the role that could be assigned to them for shouldering, along with the cooperative credit agencies, the responsibility for meeting adequately the credit needs of agriculture.

## Branch network

5.03 Twenty-three commercial banks, including sixteen public sector banks, are presently operating in Rajasthan. These include the State Bank of Bikaner and Jaipur and the Bank of Rajasthan which have their main business in the state. All the twenty-six districts in the state have been adopted under the 'Lead Bank Scheme'. A statement showing the names of 'Lead Banks' for various districts is contained in Annexure 45. 5.04 A statement showing the district-wise distribution of commercial bank offices as on 30.6.73, 30.6.74 and 31.12.74 in the state is given in Annexure 46. At the end of June 1973, there were 664 commercial bank offices in Rajasthan, of which 308 (46.4 per cent) were located in rural centres and 216 (32.5 per cent) in semi-urban centres. The remaining 140 urban offices were located in the cities of Jaipur (51), Jodhpur (21), Kota (21), Ajmer (13), Udaipur (13), Bikaner (12) and Alwar (9). The distribution of the 664 offices according to the principal zones in the state is as under:

Zone	No. of districts	No. of of	fices of commend of	nercial ba June 1973	nks at the
		Rural	Semi-urban	Urban	Total
Normal					
(a) NTA	12	173	126	94	393
(b) TA	5	60	30	13	103
Arid	4	21	22	12	55
Semi-arid	5	54	38	<b>21</b>	113
Total	26	308	216	140	664

5.05 The average population per bank office for the state comes to 39000 as on 30.6.73 as against the national average at 36000. The coverage by commercial banks in the state improved during 1973-4 and the average population per bank office stood at 34000 as on 30.6.74. The average population per bank office is lower than the national average as on 30.6.73 and state average as on 30.6.74 in the districts of Ajmer, Ganganagar, Jaipur, Jhalawar and Kota from the non-tribal area, Sirohi from the tribal area, Bikaner from arid zone and Jodhpur from the semi-arid zone. As against this position, it is above 60000 in the districts of Barmer and Jaisalmer (AZ) and Jalore (SAZ).

5.06 The number of commercial bank offices in the state increased from 664 as at the end of June 1973 to 774 as at the end of December 1974, i.e., by 110. Although, the distribution of offices among urban, semi-urban and rural centres as on the latter date is not available, the zone-wise increase is as under:

Normal Zone	
(a) NTA	63
(b) TA	12
Arid Zone	15
Semi-arid Zone	20
Total	110

During the year 1973-4, the commercial banks further widened their coverage particularly in the less developed areas of the state where they opened as many as 47 new offices out of the total of 110 offices.

### Deposit mobilization

5.07 The performance of the commercial banks in the mobilization of deposits in the state has been noteworthy. A statement showing the district-wise position of deposits of commercial banks, their total advances and the credit-deposit ratio as on 30.6.74 is given in Annexure 47. As at the end of June 1974, the total deposits raised by them in the state stood at Rs 218.48 crores. The zone-wise break-up is as under:

Normal Zone	. Rs crores
(a) NTA	137,66
(b) TA	26.55
Arid Zone	20.38
Semi-arid Zone	33.89
Total	218.48

Thus, the banks have been successful in mobilizing sizeable deposits even from the less developed areas. The average deposits per bank office works out to Rs 29.09 lakhs. Barring Jaisalmer, the deposits exceed Rs 1 crore in all the other districts. Even in the most sparsely populated Jaisalmer district the deposits with the banks were Rs 62.64 lakhs. In Ajmer, Ganganagar, Jaipur and Kota districts from the non-tribal area, Udaipur from the tribal area and Jodhpur from the semi-arid zone, the deposits exceed Rs 15 crores in each case. In Bikaner district of the arid zone the deposits amounted to Rs 13.96 crores. The highest deposits are in Jaipur district (Rs 59.19 crores).

# Financing of Agriculture

5.08 As can be seen from Annexure 47, the total outstanding advances of the commercial banks in the state as on 30.6.74 amounted to Rs 121.58 crores forming 55.6 per cent of the total deposits in the state. This ratio has almost remained unchanged at 56.7 per cent as at the end of December 1974 when the total outstanding advances were Rs 135.34 crores out of the total deposits of Rs 238.78 crores. The district-wise position

of the credit-deposit ratio, i.e., proportion of total advances to total deposits mobilized in the district, as on 30.6.74 is summarized in the table below:

Credit-deposit ratio as on 30.6.1974		Districts		
(in percentage)	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ
Below 30	_	Dungarpur Sirohi Udaipur	Bikaner Churu Jaisalmer	
30-50	Alwar Ganganagar Tonk	_		Jalore Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar
50-70	Ajmer Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Pali S. Madhopu	Banswara Chittorgarh	-	Jhunjhunu
70-100			Barmer	
Above 100	Bhilwara Bharatpur Bundi	· .*	-	_

The credit-deposit ratio in respect of six out of nine districts from the tribal area and the arid zone is below 30 per cent. In another seven districts, including 4 out of 5 districts from the semi-arid zone, it is between 30 per cent and 50 per cent. In the case of Alwar and Ganganagar districts from the nontribal area, the relevant percentage is 37.0 and 44.2 respectively.

5.09 A statement showing the district-wise position of agricultural loans of various types issued by commercial banks and outstandings under these loans is given as Annexure 48. It will be seen therefrom that during the one-year period commencing from the last Friday of September 1972 to the last Friday of September 1973, the banks issued total agricultural finance of Rs 5.57 crores to 15423 borrowers including short-term crop loans at Rs 0.60 crore to 4560 borrowers and term loans amounting to Rs 4.84 crores to 10651 borrowers. The zonewise break-up of agricultural loans issued during the one-year period is as under:

Normal Zone	Rs Crores	
(a) NTA	3,75	
(b) <b>TA</b>	0.64	
Arid Zone	0.13	
Semi-arid Zone	1.05	
Total	5.57	

AGRICULTURAL FINANCE BY COMMERCIAL BANKS

The classification of districts according to the amount of loans issued during the one-year period is given below:

Amount of agricultural loans (ST/MT) issued during the one-year period (Rs lakhs)	Districts
Above 40	Bharatpur, Bhilwara, Ganganagar and Jaipur
Between 30 and 40	Chittorgarh and Sikar
Between 20 and 30	Ajmer, Alwar, Jhunjhunu, Jodhpur and Kota
Between 10 and 20	Barmer, Bundi, Jhalawar, Nagaur, Sawai Madhopur, Sirohi and Udaipur
Between 5 and 10	Jalore
Between 2 and 5	Pali and Tonk
Below 2	Banswara, Bikaner, Churu, Dungarpur and Jaisalmer

5.10 The break-up of agricultural loans outstanding as on the last Friday of September 1973 and March 1974 is as under:

D. Cases

			K3 C	10165
	September 1973		March 1974	
	No. of accounts	Amount	No. of accounts	Amount
Short-term	4204	0.69	6540	0.93
Medium-term	30545	12.20	38674	14.02
Other direct finance	542	0.32	2408	1.21
Total	35291	13.21	47622	16.16

The short-term agricultural loans formed only about 5 per cent of the total outstanding agricultural loans.

5.11 A statement showing the classification according to the size of holdings of the borrowers of short and medium-term loans for agricultural purposes issued by commercial banks during the one-year period ending with the last Friday of September 1973 and those outstanding at the end of the period is given in Annexure 49. It will be seen therefrom that of the short and medium-term loans (excluding other direct finance for agriculture) amounting to Rs 5.44 crores issued during the one-year period, loans amounting to Rs 0.37 crore (6.8 per cent) were issued to cultivators with holdings of 5 acres or below. The relevant percentage in relation to the loans outstanding as on the last Friday of September 1973 works out to 9.3.

94

## Recovery performance

5.12 A statement showing the district-wise position of the recoveries of commercial banks in respect of their short-term and investment credit for agriculture as on the last Friday of June 1973 is given in Annexure 50. The percentage of overdues to demand as on that date for the state as a whole was 56.9. Between the principal zones of the state, the position of recoveries varied marginally, the extent of overdues being higher in the arid and semi-arid districts. The districts in which the percentage of overdues to demand exceeds 60 are. Ajmer, Jaipur, Jhalawar and Pali (NTA), Banswara and Chittorgarh (TA), Churu and Jaisalmer (AZ) and Nagaur and Sikar (SAZ). The overdues are below 30 per cent of the demand in the highly irrigated districts of Bundi and Kota as also in the less developed districts of Barmer and Jalore. Thus, as in the case of co-operatives, the occurrence of default has no relation to the level of agricultural development in a district.

5.13 In the context of non-availability of legal safeguards for these banks to ensure prompt recovery of dues through coercive steps, wherever these are warranted, we note that the GOR have since enacted legislation on the lines of the 'Agricultural Credit Operations and Miscellaneous Provisions (Banks) Bill' suggested by the Talwar Committee, i.e., Expert Group on State Enactments Having a Bearing on Commercial Banks Lending to Agriculture 1970. The relevant Act passed by the state government is called 'Agricultural Credit Operations (Removal of Difficulties) Act, 1974.'

## Financing of primary societies by commercial banks

5.14 With a view to meeting the agricultural credit needs of farmers in the areas of ccbs which were incapable of lending adequate support to pacs, the RBI formulated a scheme in 1970 for the societies being financed by commercial banks. The scheme introduced initially in five states, viz., Andhra Pradesh, Haryana, Karnataka, Madhya Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh has since been extended to Orissa in 1971-2, Jammu and Kashmir and West Bengal in 1972-3 and Maharashtra in 1974-5.

5.15 During the year 1973-4, the 2657 societies in seven states financed by the commercial banks issued agricultural loans amounting to Rs 13.51 crores, including short-term loans at Rs 12.30 crores. Thus, short-term loans formed 92 per cent of the total loans issued by the commercial banks through the societies adopted by them for financing. As against the demand of Rs 18.76 crores for the year 1973-4, the recoveries amounted to Rs 10.79 crores forming 58 per cent of the former. During the year 1972-3, Karnataka led all other states in the matter of the number of societies financed (845) and the quantum of loans issued (Rs 3.85 crores).

5.16 The salient features of the scheme introduced in 1970 were as under.

- (i) A commercial bank may undertake to finance 10 societies within a radius of about 10 miles from one of its branches.
- (ii) The banks would take over only the current liabilities of the societies and overdues only on the merits of each case.
- (iii) The banks will adopt the crop loan system and provide credit on the scales of finance per acre per crop to meet the full requirements of the farmers.
- (iv) The banks would meet the credit needs of the non-agriculturists in the same manner as a ccb.
- (v) The banks would also provide credit facilities to the societies for their business in inputs of the agriculture and consumer goods.
- (vi) The banks would provide medium-term loans for agricultural purposes.
- (vii) The banks would charge interest on the loans to societies as advised by the RBI from time to time.
- (viii) The banks would refrain from providing agricultural credit directly to farmers residing within the areas of the societies taken over by them.

The scheme has been under review by the GOI from time to time. In November 1973 the Union Finance Minister had convened a meeting of representatives of commercial banks, cooperative banks and the state governments wherein the various aspects of the scheme were further considered and it was decided to continue the existing scheme and extend it further where necessary.

5.17 The Standing Committee on Co-ordination between cooperative and commercial banks in financing agriculture, of the ACB at its meeting held in July 1974 considered the policy that may be pursued in regard to this scheme. The consensus of opinion in this behalf was as follows:

(i) Commercial banks might finance pacs in a compact area having a potential loan business of about Rs 20 lakhs, i.e., roughly Rs 2 lakhs per society. If any of the existing societies in the area were dormant or otherwise unsuitable, the area of operation of the neighbouring society might be extended to cover the villages served by the former societies. Each of the societies financed by commercial banks should have a full-time paid secretary.

(ii) The selection of the area where the commercial banks might be invited to finance pacs should be left to the state governments.

96

5.18 More recently the question of the most appropriate institutional arrangements for agricultural credit particularly to small and marginal farmers was examined by the Pai Group. The Group felt that in view of the infrastructural problems and the relatively high cost of direct lending, it would be preferable for the commercial banks to provide agricultural credit for production and investment through an association of the local people, preferably a farmers service society as recommended by the National Commission on Agriculture or a viable multipurpose society which would integrate credit with supplies and services. The Group's recommendations have since been accepted by the GOI and the Union Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation, Department of Rural Development, has issued a circular letter to all state governments on 7 February 1975 outlining the policy in this behalf. Commercial banks have been advised that they may examine the possibility of providing credit facilities through farmers service societies or viable primaries before opening their branches below the mandi level. We have referred to the various recommendations made in recent years as we will have to take them into account in giving our own suggestions and recommendations regarding the role of the commercial banks in the sphere of agricultural credit in Rajasthan.

#### CONCLUDING REMARKS

5.19 The commercial banks operating in Rajasthan have a wide network of rural and semi-urban branches. Their success in the mobilization of deposits even from the less developed districts is praiseworthy. In the predominantly agricultural state like Rajasthan where the co-operative credit structure is very weak, the commercial banks have a very large scope in the sphere of agricultural credit. At the same time, one will have to take note of the difficulties the banks will face in building up the necessary infrastructure for expanding credit facilities substantially from the relatively low base at the present. We propose to examine in the next chapter the manner in which the commercial banks may supplement the efforts of the co-operatives in meeting the large credit gaps that exist in relation to the agricultural credit potential in the state.

### CHAPTER VI

# CREDIT POTENTIAL AND FUTURE LINES OF DEVELOPMENT

6.01 AFTER giving a brief account of the performance of agricultural credit institutions functioning in Rajasthan, we proceed to make in this chapter an estimate of the requirements of credit for agricultural production for the state as a whole as also for each of the twenty-six districts and the 232 development blocks in the state. With reference to the estimates of the credit potential, the provision of credit by the co-operative credit institutions in the state vis-a-vis the potential and the progress that may be expected in this behalf by them by 1978-9, we have, as per our terms of reference, to suggest alternative institutional arrangements for meeting the credit inadequacies in areas where these are essential to ensure that the production efforts do not suffer for want of adequate credit support. The later paragraphs of this chapter, therefore, have been devoted to detailed discussion on the institutional arrangements а which could possibly be made for meeting the credit gaps and to evolving the general criteria for identifying areas where alternative institutional arrangements are necessary.

### Credit requirements

6.02 The Fifth Plan Working Group estimated the credit needs for the entire country for sao at Rs 3000 crores in 1978-9 on the basis of Rs 250 per hectare for irrigated lands and Rs 125 per hectare for dry lands. On the same basis, the short-term credit needs for Rajasthan for the gross cropped area of 160.97 lakh hectares in 1972-3 (134.15 lakh hectares unirrigated and 26.82 lakh hectares irrigated) may be placed at Rs 234.74 crores or, say, Rs 235 crores.

6.03 In Rajasthan, however, low-value food crops account for a large proportion of the total especially in the arid and semiarid zones. In view of this situation, while the norms adopted by the Working Group to estimate the credit potential for the entire country could also apply to all the irrigated areas as also to the unirrigated areas in the relatively prosperous normal zone, it will be necessary to adopt a lower norm for the dry lands in the agriculturally less developed districts from the arid and semi-arid zones. On the same analogy, a lower norm will be appropriate for dry lands in the districts of Ganganagar, Jaipur and Pali although for the purpose of our analysis, they have been included in the non-tribal area. The unirrigated lands in the hilly districts of Dungarpur, Sirohi and Udaipur from the tribal area would also fall in the above category. After due consideration, we have come to the conclusion that the most appropriate norms in respect of the unirrigated lands in the arid and semi-arid districts and the six districts of Ganganagar, Jaipur, Pali, Dungarpur, Sirohi and Udaipur should be as under:

District	Norm in respect of unirrigated areas per hectare
Ganganagar, Jaipur and Pali (NTA), Dungarpur, Siroh	Rs
and Udaipur (TA) and Jalore (SAZ) Barmer, Bikaner, Churu and Jaisalmer (AZ), Jbunjhunu, Jodhpur, Nagaur and Sikar (SAZ)	100
	75

In respect of unirrigated areas in the remaining eleven districts, including the relatively prosperous districts of Banswara and Chittorgarh from the tribal area, the norm suggested by the Working Group may apply.

6.04 On the basis of the norms indicated in above paragraphs, the total short-term credit requirements for the state as a whole work out to Rs 193.60 crores or, say, Rs 190 crores. The district-wise position is given in Annexure 51. The zone-wise position is as under:

#### Rs Crores

Zone	Short-term agricultural credit requirements
Normal (a) NTA (b) TA Arid Semi-arid	107 19 27 37
Total	190

From the review of the agricultural situation in the state contained in Chapter I, it will be observed that there has not been any significant increase in the gross cropped area during the last decade or so. However, in recent years there is a shift in favour of high value crops like groundnut and cotton and high-yielding varieties of wheat and maize. Further, as a result of full or partial completion of certain schemes, the area under irrigation in the state is expected to go up by about 5 lakh hectares by 1978-9. The prices of fertilizers have almost doubled during 1974-5 and, therefore, the basis of estimating the credit potential adopted by the Working Group and also by us with some modifications is not realistic. Actually, if the price increase of fertilizers is taken into account, the estimate of the potential in 1978-9 may as well exceed Rs 270 crores. However, we have proceeded on a very conservative basis of Rs 200 crores only.

## Credit gaps

6.05 As against the above estimates of credit potential, the RSCB had issued short-term loans amounting to Rs 23.63 crores to the ccbs in 1973-4. But as the internal resources of the lower two tiers were mostly locked up in overdues and, at the level of the central banks also in liquid assets required to be maintained under section 24 of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949 (As Applicable to Co-operative Societies), the short-term loans issued by the pacs during 1973-4 were higher only by Rs 0.11 crore, i.e., at Rs 23.74 crores (total loans issued by the primaries in that year aggregated Rs 25.49 crores). Besides, as indicated in Annexure 51 the overdues at the level of pacs under short-term agricultural loans as on 30.6.73 were of the order of Rs 9.33 crores. If the defaulters accounting for these overdues had cleared their defaults, the concerned societies could have issued them fresh short-term loans at least for an equivalent amount. The primary societies could, therefore, be deemed to have met short-term credit requirements in 1973-4 to the extent of the aggregate of short-term loans issued during 1973-4 and the overdues in respect of such loans as on 30.6.73. On this basis, the short-term credit requirements met by the co-operatives during 1973-4 work out to Rs 33.07 crores or, say, Rs 33 crores forming 17 per cent of the existing potential at about Rs 190 crores. The credit gap for the state as a whole was, therefore, 83 per cent. The district-wise position of the credit gaps in 1973-4 is contained in Annexure 51.

6.06 In 1974-5, however, the position has further improved. As on 31.10.74, as against the short-term agricultural credit limits aggregating Rs 19.40 crores sanctioned by the RBI to the RSCB on behalf of the ccbs for financing *kharif* 1974 operations, the RSCB had sanctioned limits aggregating Rs 24.97 crores to the central banks. The actual drawals from the RSCB for financing *kharif* 1974 operations amounted to Rs 21.95 crores. Besides, as indicated in paragraph 1.24 of Chapter I, as against a target of lending programme, at Rs 14

crores fixed by the RCS for the rabi 1974-5, the RSCB has disbursed about Rs 11 crores of which about Rs 6.50 crores were in the form of kind component. The total short-term loans issued by the RSCB during 1974-5 are likely to go up to Rs 35 crores on the assumption that the disbursements of about Rs 10 crores made by the bank during April-June 1974 for financing kharif 1974 crops will be matched by corresponding disbursements during April-June 1975 for financing the next kharif crop. The short-term loans issued at the primary level during 1974-5 can be assumed to be of the order of Rs 35 crores on the same basis that there is not much of a difference between the two so far as Rajasthan is concerned. The overdues in respect of short-term loans at the primary level aggregated Rs 10.60 crores as on 30.6.74. Thus, on the basis indicated in paragraph 6.05 above, the pacs in the state can be deemed to have met short-term credit needs of agricultural production to the extent of Rs 45 crores in 1974-5, i.e., 24 per cent of the credit potential estimated at about Rs 190 crores.

#### Institutional sources

The chances of maintaining the above tempo of develop-6.07 ment, however, depend on the recovery performance. The recoveries should be satisfactory as the prospects of rabi 1974-5 output are bright. But, unless the efforts made for achieving the improved lending performance are backed by an equally concerted drive for recoveries, the situation may develop into a crisis as the internal resources for the entire credit structure in the state are too poor to bear the strain of heavy overdues. We are seized of the problem and have, therefore, suggested in Chapter X a series of measures for tackling the problem of overdues. The conscientious implementation of our recommendations will help not only to maintain the pace of development, but also to release the blocked internal resources of the ccbs and pacs. Simultaneously, we have made a number of suggestions in subsequent chapters for improving the image and operational efficiency of co-operative credit institutions. The adoption of these suggestions would help the institutions to mobilize increased resources, and place them in a position to receive higher financial assistance from the RBI. In essense, we suggest that the managements of the co-operative credit institutions, particularly of the state and central banks, and the concerned authorities of the state government should together strive to achieve an annual growth of about Rs 12 crores in short-term lendings by the institutions so that they meet the short-term credit needs to the extent of Rs 95 crores in 1978-9, i.e., Rs 50 crores over and above the level of Rs 45 crores expected to be reached in 1974-5.

#### 102 CREDIT POTENTIAL AND FUTURE LINES OF DEVELOPMENT

6.08 The Fifth Plan Working Group, to which we have referred in paragraph 6.02 above, had suggested state-wise targets in respect of short-term and medium-term agricultural credit through co-operatives to be achieved at the end of the Fifth Plan period. Subsequently, these were scrutinised in detail in the Working Groups of the Planning Commission constituted to examine the draft Fifth Plan proposals of the states/union territories and finally accepted by the Planning Commission. The target for short-term agricultural loans to be advanced by pacs in Rajasthan in 1978-9 was fixed at Rs 75 crores. Recently, the GOI in the Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation (Department of Rural Development) constituted a Group to review the institutional credit targets accepted earlier by the Planning Commission while finalizing the Fifth Plan proposals. in the light of steep increase in the prices of fertilizers and other agricultural inputs. This Group assumed that the amount of kind loans disbursed at primary level in 1978-9 would be 40 per cent of target for the total short-term agricultural loans accepted by the Planning Commission. On this basis, the Group estimated that the amount of kind loans that might be disbursed by primary societies in Rajasthan in 1978-9 would be Rs 30 crores, i.e., 40 per cent of Rs 75 crores, at the old prices of fertilizers, etc. Assuming a 90 per cent rise in the prices of fertilizers in 1978-9 over the current level, the Group placed the amount of kind component loans in 1978-9 of co-operatives in Rajasthan at Rs 57 crores and the total target for short-term loans at Rs 102 crores, the amount of cash component loans remaining unchanged at Rs 45 crores. The Group also adopted a second method for the above assessment. It felt that the kind loans of co-operatives in various states including Rajasthan in 1978-9 might be 50 per cent of the value of fertilizers that would be distributed through cooperative agencies in that year. On this basis, the Group estimated the amount of kind loans that would be disbursed by co-operatives in Rajasthan at Rs 38 crores and the total target for short-term loans at Rs 83 crores. Finally, the Group compared both the targets and from the view point of realistic approach and feasibility, fixed the target for shortterm loans to be advanced by primary societies in Rajasthan in 1978-9 with refinance from the state and central banks at Rs 83 crores. The estimate made by us in paragraph 6.07 above at Rs 95 crores is in respect of outstanding short-term loans, i.e., inclusive of the expected level of overdues in respect of short-term loans at primary level and, therefore, could be deemed, by and large, on par with the target fixed by the Group appointed by the Union Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation.

6.09 Even after realization of the above target of Rs 95 crores, the share of the co-operatives in meeting short-term credit needs will rise from 17 per cent in 1973-4 to 47.5 per cent of the credit potential at Rs 200 crores in 1978-9 leaving a large credit gap to be filled. The only other institutional source available is that of the commercial banks and we feel that they will have to be involved to a much greater extent than at present. As we have observed in Chapter V, Rajasthan is served by a good net-work of 774 branches of the commercial banks as on 31.12.74. The total deposits mobilized by these banks in the state amounted to Rs 218.48 crores as on 30.6.74 as against Rs 194.60 crores as on the last Friday of September 1973. The deposits of commercial banks as on last Friday of December 1972, 1973 and 1974 were of the order of Rs 165.11 crores, Rs 202.89 crores and Rs 238.78 crores respectively. The annual growth rate for the two years worked out to 17.1 per cent and 17.5 per cent respectively. The banks could, therefore, reasonably be expected to maintain a growth rate of at least 15 per cent in deposit mobilization in the state so as to take their deposits to nearly Rs 400 crores by the end of June 1978. They could plough back a part of these resources to supplement the efforts of co-operative credit institutions in the state. On the basis of credit-deposit ratio of the commercial banks at 70:100, the loanable funds of the banks at the end of June 1978 will work out to Rs 280 crores assuming their level of deposits in June 1978 at Rs 400 crores. The commercial banks may be able to allocate 33 per cent of their loanable funds for investment in the priority sectors which include agriculture. Thus, Rs 93 crores would be available by the end of June 1978 for investment in the priority sectors. The commercial banks in Rajasthan had invested Rs 41.33 crores in the priority sectors as on 31 December 1973 which formed 37 per cent of their total advances as against the all-India figure of 28.5 per cent. The investment in agriculture and allied activities alone on that date was Rs 16.71 crores forming 15 per cent of the total advances against the all-India percentage of 9.4. As indicated above, the commercial banks in Rajasthan can be expected to allocate Rs 52 crores in addition for the priority sectors by 1978-9. Of this additional amount of Rs 52 crores, about 50 per cent or at least Rs 25 crores may be invested by them in meeting the short-term agricultural needs of the farmers through primary societies to be adopted by them in pursuance of our recommendations in this behalf which follow.

6.10 The Group referred to by us in paragraph 6.08 above considered the question of revising the targets for short-term agricultural credit fixed for the commercial banks for the Fifth Plan. In the case of Rajasthan, The Group has revised

#### 104 CREDIT POTENTIAL AND FUTURE LINES OF DEVELOPMENT

the target upwards from Rs 25 crores to Rs 40 crores for both direct and indirect financing for agriculture. The latter category includes finance for fertilizer distribution, electricity boards, etc. Financing of agriculture in the state had already reached the level of Rs 16 crores in 1973-4. Keeping in view the estimated growth of the deposit resources of the commercial banks at 15 per cent annually, we feel that the estimate of Rs 25 crores made by us for financing agriculturists through pacs is reasonable.

6.11 Thus, in our opinion, the co-operative credit institutions at the primary level with financial assistance from the cooperative and commercial banks together should be, by the end of the Fifth Five Year Plan, in a position to meet shortterm agricultural credit needs to the extent of Rs 120 crores or 60 per cent of the credit requirements at Rs 200 crores. Their efforts would have to be pursued thereafter for filling the remainder of the credit gap of 40 per cent.

## Commercial banks-Future line of development

6.12 In the light of the role that we have proposed for the commercial banks, the basic issue that would merit serious consideration is whether these banks should supplement the efforts of the co-operative credit institutions by expanding substantially their direct loans or choose the medium of pacs for the purpose. We have indicated in Chapter V that after nationalization the commercial banks are expected to give special attention to the financing of agriculture. However, in Rajasthan they could disburse short-term crop loans of about Rs 60 lakhs only to less than 5000 farmers during the oneyear period (October 1972-September 1973). To some extent this may have been due to the difficulties involved in providing short-term credit directly to a large body of farmers, mainly small or marginal ones. A study made by the State Bank of India in Gorakhpur district of Uttar Pradesh in 1974 has emphasized that for reaching out to all farmers in the rural areas, the commercial banks would have to necessarily depend on 'institutional intermediaries.'

6.13 The Pai Group to which we have referred in paragraph 4.04 of Chapter IV and paragraph 5.18 of Chapter V, was of the view that rural branches of commercial banks could hope to serve the rural community around them more extensively and effectively through a local intermediary like a viable pacs and secure the advantages of local knowledge and supervision making the extension of credit facilities possible, particularly to small and marginal farmers, at relatively low cost. The Group, therefore, recommended that in future the commercial

banks might, instead of opening rural branches below the *mandi* level, consider operating through farmers service societies/reorganized viable pacs. As we have indicated in Chapter V, the recommendations of the Group have since been accepted by the GOI.

6.14 The advice of the GOI thus confirms the desirability of introducing the scheme of financing pacs by the commercial banks. We had occasion to discuss this aspect at length with the representatives of the commercial banks operating in Rajasthan at a meeting held at Jaipur on 7 November 1974. They conceded that direct financing of individual cultivators had limitations and also wholeheartedly welcomed the proposal of financing pacs in select compact areas, provided each society was a viable unit and was served by an independent full-time paid secretary. We recommend, therefore, that the scheme of financing of pacs by the commercial banks should be extended to Rajasthan so that the banks could take up their short-term lendings for agricultural production through this medium to the level of Rs 25 crores by the end of the Fifth Five Year Plan, i.e., in 1978-9, The scheme should conform to the consensus reached on the policy of commercial banks financing agriculturists through societies at the meeting of the Reserve Bank's Standing Committee on Co-ordination between Commercial and Co-operative Banks held on 30.7.74 (paragraph 5.17 of Chapter V). The RBI has issued detailed guidelines to commercial banks for financing pacs. We expect the commercial banks, the co-operative banks, the co-operative societies and the RCS to bear them in mind in the transfer and financing of the societies by the commercial banks. The actual allocation of areas should be done on the basis of our recommendations that follow.

#### Selection of areas

6.15 We have suggested earlier that the commercial banks should plan to extend short-term loans of Rs 25 crores through the pacs by 1978-9. This is expected to be done by the branches of the banks by adopting about 10 viable primary societies in a compact area having a potential loan business of about Rs 20 lakhs, i.e., roughly Rs 2 lakhs per society. This means that the commercial banks would have to identify/ select in a phased manner about 125 such areas in Rajasthan for financing agriculture indirectly so as to reach the target of Rs 25 crores in 1978-9. Roughly 30-40 areas would have to be selected annually during the next three-four years commencing from 1975-6. It may, therefore, be desirable to lay down broad guidelines to facilitate actual allocation of the areas to the commercial banks.

# 106 CREDIT POTENTIAL AND FUTURE LINES OF DEVELOPMENT

6.16 A statement showing the block-wise position of the credit needs and gaps calculated on the basis of the norms contained in paragraph 6.03 read with paragraph 6.05 above is given in Annexure 52. The data in respect of irrigated and unirrigated areas under cultivation reckoned by us while working out district-wise credit potential were supplied to us by the state government. The block-wise data in this regard were, however, collected from various sources and had, therefore, to be adjusted to ensure that the total for all blocks in a district tallied with the district total. As in the case of district-wise credit gaps (Annexure 51), the estimated credit needs have been treated as already met by the co-operatives to the extent of the aggregate of the overdues of primary societies as on 30.6.73 and the short-term loans issued by these societies during 1973-4. It is necessary to reckon overdues for the purpose as the defaulters would not be in a position to obtain loans even if an alternative institution steps in.

6.17 On the basis of the above statement, the position of block-wise credit gaps in the state emerges as under:

Zone	No. of blocks with the credit gaps of					
	90% and above	75-90%	60-75%	50-60%	Below 50%	No. of blocks
Normal						
(a) NTA	22	50	27	7	13	119
(b) TA	7	32	5	2	2	48 22 43
Arid	17	5				22
Semi-arid	25	13	4		1	43
Total	71	100	36	9	16	232

According to the recommendations made by us, the commercial and the co-operative banks together will meet by 1978-9 short-term agricultural production credit needs through pacs to the extent of 60 per cent of the credit requirements, the share of the former being 12.5 per cent and the latter 47.5 per cent. In view of the relatively small role suggested by us for the commercial banks in financing pacs, not many areas can be earmarked or identified for the purpose. Hence, we propose that all blocks with credit gaps of 75 per cent or above may be identified, *prima facie*, as suitable for the introduction of the scheme of financing of pacs by the commercial banks. The number of such blocks in the state works out to 171.

6.18 Assuming that a branch of a commercial bank could adopt one compact area with business potential of Rs 20 lakhs so that the area could sustain about 10 viable societies, the next point to be considered is about the number of branches of commercial banks that should take up financing societies in each of the above 171 blocks in the state (Annexure 52).

6.19 For the same considerations as given in paragraph 6.17, we suggest the following norms for carving out areas for ceding to the commercial banks from blocks with credit gaps of 75 per cent and above:

(i) Only the blocks with credit gaps exceeding in amount Rs 60 lakhs and in percentage 75 may be selected for the commercial banks financing pacs.

(ii) The extent of the influence of the commercial banks in the above blocks may be as under:

(a) Where the credit gap exceeds Rs 160 lakhs, to the extent of Rs 60 lakhs which could be handled through three branches.

(b) Where the gap exceeds Rs 110 lakhs, but is less than Rs 160 lakhs, to the extent of Rs 40 lakhs which could be handled by two branches in the block.

(c) Where the gap exceeds Rs 60 lakhs but is less than Rs 110 lakhs, to the extent of Rs 20 lakhs which could be handled by one branch in the block.

According to the data in Annexure 52, the number of blocks in category (a) are 13, in category (b) 14 and category (c) 65. Thus, the scheme could be introduced in 92 blocks out of the total of 171 blocks with credit gaps exceeding 75 per cent. The scheme may not, thus, be introduced in the districts of Dungarpur and Udaipur from tribal area and Jaisalmer from arid zone as the amount of credit gap is below Rs 60 lakhs in each block in these districts. Similarly, the Kota district may also be excluded from the purview of the scheme as it ' has only one block with a credit gap exceeding Rs 60 lakhs. The total number of branches of commercial banks that could be entrusted with the responsibility in the state will come to 131-39 in category (a), 28 in category (b) and 64 in category (c). The details of the blocks are indicated in Annexure 53, At the rate of Rs 20 lakhs per branch the credit potential will be Rs 26.20 crores out of a total of Rs 200 crores estimated on the ad hoc basis in paragraph 6.04 above.

6.20 The scheme thus could be introduced in 91 blocks in 22 districts. The introduction of the scheme would also depend on the availability of the required number of branches of commercial banks in the respective blocks to take up the responsibility. The information in regard to availability of

#### 108 CREDIT POTENTIAL AND FUTURE LINES OF DEVELOPMENT

branches in these blocks is given in Annexure 54. It will be seen therefrom that of the 22 districts, the required number of branches are not available in the Ganganagar, Barmer, Jalore, Jodhpur and Nagaur districts as under:

District	Block	Credit gap (Rs lakhs)	No. of commercial bank branches				
			Required	Existing	Shortfall		
Ganganagar	Sadulshahar	185.31	3	2	1		
	Bhadra	190.19	3	1	2		
Barmer	Barmer	365.89	3	· 2	1		
	Chohtan	187.26	3	1	2		
	Baitu	112.32	2	1	1		
	Dhromanna	79.11	1	Nil	1		
Jalore	Ahore	270.54	3	1	2		
	Sanchore	277.30	3	ī	2		
Jodhpur	Phalodi	183.39	3	2	1		
	Luni	114.02	2	Nil	2		
	Shergarh	135.86	2	1	ī		
	Balesar	79.52	ī	Nil	ĩ		
	Bap	84.19	i	Nil	ī		
Nagaur	Riyan	89.29	î	Nil	ī		

Wherever such a situation arises the only course open, in our opinion, would be initiation of action for opening of the required number of branches of the commercial banks in the respective blocks. This would not be a difficult proposition as we have suggested that the scheme may be implemented in a phased manner over a period of three to four years. We recommend, therefore, that in blocks where the scheme of financing primary societies by commercial banks is proposed for introduction but wherein there is no office or required number of offices of the commercial banks, the Reserve Bank's Department of Banking Operations and Development may allocate suitable centres to the commercial banks for opening of the required number of branches so as to ensure the introduction of the scheme on the lines suggested by us in the identified 91 blocks in the state by 1978-9. In the next one or two years, the scheme could be introduced in blocks where the branches of commercial banks already exist.

6.21 The actual allocation of the areas in each block should be done in the District Level Committee in which both the commercial and co-operative banks may be represented. The Collector of the district may act as Chairman. The allocation should be placed before the State Level Committee for ratification. Once the allocation is finalized no one should be allowed to alter it unilaterally. Thus, the ccbs should be compelled to part with the areas and the societies to obtain credit facilities from the commercial banks. Past experience shows that unless the matter is dealt with firmly no progress is likely to be made. The contention of the central banks that they will be able to meet the credit gaps themselves is not tenable against the background of the assessment made by us in Chapter III.

#### Direct lending

6.22 The commercial banks may no doubt show preference to lending through pacs rather than directly to farmers because of the various advantages the former arrangement has over the latter. However, our recommendation would enable them to do so in only 91 blocks out of a total of 232 blocks in the state. Even in these blocks the idea is that the banks would cover not the entire area of a block but only a portion. Thus the commercial banks will be free to lend directly to the farmers in a substantial portion of the state and we expect that with the removal of the several difficulties in the way of direct lending with the passing of the legislation on the lines recommended by the Talwar Committee, their role will expand considerably in future. We have estimated earlier in paragraph 6.09 that commercial banks may be able to allocate an additional sum of Rs 52 crores for priority sector lending. We have recommended that out of this a sum of Rs 25 crores may be reserved for loans through pacs. The short-term loans presently advanced by the commercial banks are very meagre and are less than Rs 1 crore. We feel that it may not be difficult for the banks to step up this figure to Rs 10 crores considering the vast areas where they will be providing agricultural loans directly to the farmers. Even in these areas, i.e., other than the areas in the 91 blocks in which they will be financing the pacs, the commercial banks may, if they so desire, provide finance through pacs in additional compact areas provided the areas are selected in consultation with the state government and have the approval of the state and district level committees. If this additional finance of Rs 10 crores is made available by the commercial banks, the total shortterm credit provided through the commercial and co-operative banking systems will amount to Rs 130 crores or roughly two-thirds of the credit potential estimated at Rs 200 crores by 1978-9.

6.23 The point for consideration next is whether the banks should continue to lend directly to farmers in the areas of societies which are ceded to them for financial accommodation. We have been informed that when the scheme of financing primary societies by commercial banks was introduced in 1970, the farmers in need of credit and residing within the area of

## 110 CREDIT POTENTIAL AND FUTURE LINES OF DEVELOPMENT

operation of the societies affiliated to the commercial banks were expected to join the societies as the banks were advised not to finance such farmers directly. The restriction was later removed by the RBI in terms of their circular letter dated 18 February 1972 and the banks were permitted to lend directly to farmers. The idea in stipulating the earlier restrictions was to enable the primary societies to attain viability as quickly as possible. Further, it is important that the provision of credit is coupled with that of inputs and services which the societies will be able to provide. We are of the view that these considerations are very important and have been emphasized in the policy circular of the GOI of 7 February 1975, to which we have referred to in Paragraph 5.18 of Chapter V. We, therefore, recommend that the commercial banks may not as far as possible lend directly to farmers residing within the jurisdiction of the societies financed by them. Such of those farmers who are already receiving credit facilities may be persuaded to join the society of their area within a reasonable period of time after which the financial accommodation to them may even be stopped if they do not want to join the society.

## Role of the state co-operative bank

6.24 The guidelines proposed above for the selection of areas have been so designed as to ensure that adequate business potential is left for sustaining a branch of the concerned ccb. In Jaisalmer district, however, there is no separate cfa and the district is served by a branch of the RSCB. Besides, we have, in Chapter III, identified two central banks, viz., Dungarpur and Sirohi, which, judged from their performance so far, may not justify their continued existence. The re-organized pacs in these districts would have to be given necessary institutional support so as to ensure that they are not starved of credit and are in a position to maintain a line of credit for the individual farmers. We recommend, therefore, that the RCS should initiate necessary steps so as to ensure that the Dungarpur and Sirohi banks are amalgamated with the RSCB and the branches of the former banks function as the branches of the latter bank. The whole process should be completed as early as possible preferably before the end of June 1976. Simultaneously, we recommend that the RSCB should take steps for the training of the staff of the ccbs to be taken over by it and, if necessary, arrange for the recruitment and training of the additional staff so as to ensure that the offices/branches of the transferor banks are manned by efficient personnel to handle the additional responsibilities devolving on them. Similar action would be necessary in respect of its branch at Jaisalmer.

#### ROLE OF THE APEX BANK

6.25 We have envisaged financing of pacs directly by the RSCB by-passing the central banks presently functioning in the districts of Dungarpur and Sirohi. Such a measure has already been commended by the All India Rural Credit Review Committee and the Banking Commission. We recommend, therefore, that the RBI may permit the RSCB to open its branches in the above two districts as also in the district of Jaisalmer and also consider providing refinance to the bank on behalf of the societies in these three districts.

6.26 In addition to the new responsibility of functioning as a cfa in the districts of Dungarpur and Sirohi, the RSCB will have to strengthen its control over the other affiliated ccbs in order to ensure an improved performance on their part. This aspect is discussed later in a subsequent chapter on 'Administrative and Operational Arrangements'. We do not wish that the RSCB should overburden itself with the new responsibilities, and therefore, suggest that during the next three-four years the bank should not enter other areas for financing the pace by-passing the concerned ccbs.

#### CONCLUDING REMARKS

6.27 These are our broad guidelines for ensuring institutional arrangements for agricultural credit in all areas. Our blockwise specific recommendations follow in the next two chapters district by district. But it has to be appreciated that the success of the arrangements evolved in the above paragraphs would largely depend on the re-organization of the primary structure as per the directions contained in Chapter IV.

#### CHAPTER VII

# PROBLEMS OF AND INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR TRIBALS

7.01 In the Fifth Five Year Plan a great emphasis has been laid on the development of the backward classes in general and the scheduled tribes in particular. A major factor contributing to the slow economic progress of tribals is the inadequate development of institutional arrangements for provision of credit, supplies and services to them. At the first meeting of the Team, therefore, it was decided that a detailed study might be undertaken to determine the problems of tribal areas and of institutions functioning in such areas in Rajasthan with a view to evolving a solution. Accordingly, the Member-Secretary of the Team visited Jaipur, Udaipur and Dungarpur during the third week of August 1974 and had discussions with various officials and non-officials including the Collectors of Udaipur and Dungarpur districts to ascertain in general the problems of tribals and of credit institutions operating in tribal areas. Subsequently (i.e., during the period 10 to 17 October 1974) on the basis of guidelines prepared by him, a detailed study of the problems of tribals and of credit institutions, laws, etc. operating in tribal areas of Rajasthan was undertaken by the officers of the Special Studies Division of the ACD at Bombay.

7.02 During the course of the detailed study the officers visited the ccbs at Udaipur, Dungarpur, Banswara and Chittorgarh and six pacs functioning in the tribal area, two each from the districts of Banswara, Dungarpur and Udaipur.

## Objectives of the Study

- 7.03 The objectives of the study were as under:
  - (i) to identify tribal blocks in the state which had a high percentage of tribal population and, therefore, needed to be covered by institutions offering various special facilities to tribals;
  - (ii) to examine whether the existing co-operative structure in the area, viz., the pacs, the co-operative marketing societies and ccbs, could be counted upon to provide various range of services needed by the tribals; or
  - (iii) whether it was necessary to develop a new structural pattern of cooperatives, to enable the tribals to obtain the package of services needed by them from a single point;
  - (iv) if so, to examine whether the ccbs operating in the area could effectively support the activities of the base level institutions or whether a higher level co-operative organization like Tribal Co-operative Development

Corporation may have to be registered and pressed into service to support the activities of base level institutions;

- (v) to examine whether up-to-date records of rights are available and the tribals are able to obtain possession certificates for their holdings, which would then be legally identifiable, thus enabling the tribals to offer the security of land for their term credit requirements and the problems of land alienation with a view to suggesting measures to overcome them; and
- (vi) to examine and suggest whether there is any need for financial assistance to the various institutions especially at the base level so that extension of credit and other services needed by the tribals will not become burdensome for the institutions and also to suggest arrangements necessary for intensive guidance and supervision at the level of primary societies as also individuals.

#### Special features of the tribal population in Rajasthan

7.04 According to the 1971 census, the tribal population in the state is 31.29 lakhs forming about 12 per cent of the total population at 258.03 lakhs. The tribal population in the districts of Dungarpur and Banswara, seven tehsils of Udaipur district, viz., Gogunda, Kherwara, Kotra, Phalasia, Sarada, Salumber and Lasadia and Pratapgarh tehsil of Chittorgarh district, accounts for about 50 per cent or more of the total population of the respective district/tehsil. A statement giving the tehsil-wise distribution of the tribal population is given in Annexure 55. The area of this tribal region is co-terminus with the areas of all the thirteen blocks in Dungarpur and Banswara districts, seven blocks in Udaipur district and two blocks in Chittorgarh district. A list of the twenty-two blocks is given in Annexure 56. The study identified these twenty-two blocks as areas with a high percentage of tribal population which need to be covered by institutions offering special facilities to tribals. We have, however, for the purpose of our analysis, included in the tribal area Sirohi district, which has a sizeable though not concentrated tribal population.

7.05 The special features of the tribal population in the above mentioned tribal area as observed during the course of the study can be summarized as under:

- (i) All the twenty-two identified tribal blocks are geographically in a contiguous and compact area in hilly terrain of southern Rajasthan.
- (ii) The tribals in the state are not migratory.
- (iii) Most of them are landholders. Ninety per cent of the economic activities of the tribals relate to agricultural operations.
- (iv) The recent degradation of the forests in the tribal area has seriously cut down the income of tribals from minor forest produce.

- (v) The tribals, by and large, are not engaged in subsidiary occupations like cattle breeding and sheep and goat rearing. The latter activity is not being undertaken due to the considerations of status. They derive their subsidiary income mainly from wages as casual labourers in the off season.
- vi) The moneylender or moneylender-cum-merchant/ trader, viz., The Mahajan or Kalal, plays a key role in the economic life of the tribals. The basic necessities of life like foodgrains, cloth and shelter are often obtained by them from him in exchange of their produce. The tribals also approach him for cash loans to meet the cost of social functions like child birth, marriage, etc., or purchase of ornaments.

The study has thus brought out the necessity for an institutional structure at the base level which can extend credit, supply seeds, fertilizers and other inputs as also consumer goods to tribals, undertake marketing of their agricultural produce and persuade them to undertake subsidiary occupations like cattle breeding and sheep and goat rearing. Besides, the base level institution should be capable of undertaking activities like contracts for collection of wood, fodder and other minor forest produce with a view to providing employment during the off season.

# Existing credit and other institutions in tribal area

7.06 The existing position of the credit structure comprising ccbs and pacs, marketing societies and forest labour contract societies functioning in the tribal area, viz., the twenty-two identified development blocks or sixteen tehsils, as revealed by the study is discussed in the following paragraphs.

## Central co-operative banks

7.07 Four central banks, viz., Banswara, Dungarpur, Udaipur and Chittorgarh are operating in the blocks with heavy concentration of tribal population. Besides, the tribal district of Sirohi is served by its own central bank. The position of these five banks has been discussed at length in Chapter III from the viewpoints of their viability and efficiency. We have observed that the Dungarpur and Sirohi banks may have no justification for continued existence and, therefore, proposed their amalgamation with the RSCB. We have suggested in the case of the Banswara central bank that its management will have to make strenuous efforts to achieve a level of loan business of at least Rs 150 lakhs by 1978-9 so as to justify its continued existence as, on the basis of its performance so far, it cannot be deemed even as a potentially viable unit or rated as efficient. The performance of the Chittorgarh and Udaipur central banks has been relatively better and they have a prospect of reaching a level of business of Rs 200 lakhs by 1978-9 and function as viable units. The study reveals that none of these ccbs has adopted special scales of finance or offered any special credit facilities to the tribals.

7.08 The study reveals that the arrangements for supervision over the primary societies in the tribal blocks as in the rest of the districts of the state have been inadequate. We have, therefore, discussed this aspect at length in subsequent Chapter XI on 'Administrative and Operational Arrangements'.

7.09 The byelaws of the four central banks covered by the study, viz., Banswara, Chittorgarh, Dungarpur and Udaipur, provide for 12 directors on the board of each bank. Of the 12 directors, 6 represent affiliated pacs and 3 other types of societies subject to the condition that at least one of them should represent a marketing society. The remaining 3 directors are the nominees of the state government. The byelaws of the banks as also the State Act/Rules do not provide for block/tehsilwise representation with the result that all the elected directors can be from few or some of the blocks. There is no reservation of seats for tribals. None of the office bearers, viz., the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman, in each of the four banks was a tribal. Only the Banswara bank had 3 directors on its board belonging to the scheduled tribes. While the Dungarpur and Udaipur banks had only one director from the tribals, none of the directors of the Chittorgarh bank belonged to scheduled tribes. Significantly, the Chairmen of all the four banks represented the district or a primary marketing society.

## Primary agricultural credit societies

7.10 In Chapter IV, we have observed that the primary credit structure in the state is weak and its re-organization is necessary to ensure adequate flow of credit for financing agricultural development programmes. The study of the tribal areas has shown that weakness of the structure is of greater degree in the twenty-two blocks with heavy concentration of tribal population. The financial and other particulars of the pacs in these blocks for the year 1972-3 are given in Annexure 57. It will be seen therefrom that the primary credit structure in the tribal blocks is, by and large, incapable of providing a wide range of services and even meeting adequately the agricultural credit needs of the tribal members. Of the 657 pacs in the twenty-two tribal blocks as on 30.6.73, as many as 347, i.e., fifty per cent, were dormant. The number of societies which borrowed from the concerned central banks and advanced loans to their members in 1972-3 was 218 or nearly one-third of the total number of societies at 657. The effective coverage was as low as 6.2 per cent inasmuch as the borrowing membership of the societies

aggregated 0.29 lakh as against the number of rural families in the blocks estimated at 4.72 lakhs. The percentage of overdues to demand ranged from 53 in respect of two tribal blocks of Chittorgarh district to 80 in the seven tribal blocks in Udaipur district. Of the total overdues at Rs 64.59 lakhs on 30.6.73, over one-third (Rs 29.39 lakhs) were overdue for over three years. Out of the 209 and 181 societies in Banswara and Dungarpur districts, 173 and 158 societies respectively were placed in audit class 'D' for the year 1971-2. Excepting three societies in Dungarpur district which were placed in audit class 'B' none of the societies from these two districts was placed in audit class 'A' or 'B'. The audit classification of pacs in the tribal blocks of Udaipur and Chittorgarh districts was not separately available. Judging from the overall position for the districts, however, the state of affairs in this regard in respect of the societies from the tribal blocks in the two districts is not likely to be different. In Udaipur and Chittorgarh districts, of the 544 and 336 societies, 363 and 132 societies respectively were awarded audit class 'D' for the year 1971-2.

7.11 None of the 657 societies undertook marketing/processing activities. The societies undertaking distribution of farm requisites numbered 65 and mainly distributed fertilizers. Only 135 societies, i.e., about 20 per cent of the total, had full-time paid managers. The societies working at loss numbered 190. Besides, 92 societies had not earned any profit. The visits to six primary societies during the course of the study revealed that the only service rendered by them to tribal members was, as in the case of other members, issue of short-term crop finance at the scales adopted by the central bank for all the areas. In fact, one of the societies, viz., Adivasi Gram Seva Sahakari Samiti, Kagdar in Udaipur district, had not even taken up this business for the last six years.

7.12 The unsatisfactory performance of the pacs in the tribal blocks, which can be attributed to their small area of operation limited to a village panchayat, low effective coverage, absence of full-time paid managers and inadequate supervision over them from the concerned central bank, indicates clearly that they are not equipped to meet the multifarious needs of the tribals.

# Co-operative marketing societies

7.13 The financial and other particulars of the co-operative marketing societies operating in the tribal blocks covered by the study for the year 1972-3 are given in Annexure 58. There is no primary marketing society in the 12 tribal blocks of Dungarpur and Udaipur districts. The district level marketing societies of these districts serve the tribal blocks. The six marketing societies operating in the tribal blocks of Banswara and Chittorgarh districts as also the district level marketing societies of Dungarpur and Udaipur districts did not undertake marketing business and were engaged in the distribution of fertilizers and consumer goods. The distribution activities undertaken by the marketing societies excepting the district level society of the Udaipur district were meagre. Most of the distribution business of the district society was reportedly accounted for by the non-tribal blocks of the district.

#### Forest labour contract societies

7.14 A statement showing the financial and other particulars for the year 1972-3 of the forest labour contract societies operating in the twenty-two tribal blocks is contained in Annexure 59. It will be seen therefrom that of the 40 societies as many as 33. i.e., about 82 per cent were dormant. Of the forest labour contracts valued at Rs 12.15 lakhs taken up during the year 1972-3 by the remaining 7 societies, contracts valued at Rs 9.25 lakhs were undertaken by only one society, viz., the Ambavidaiya Adivasi Mazdoor Sahakari Samiti at Ambasar in Jhadol block of Udaipur district. Two societies in Dhariyawad block of Udaipur district had accounted for contracts worth Rs 2 lakhs while the remaining contracts worth Rs 0.90 lakh were taken up by the four societies in Pratapgarh tehsil of Chittorgarh district.

#### Managing Committees

7.15 The pacs in the tribal area have adopted the model byelaws proposed by the Co-operative Department in terms of which the managing committee comprises seven members including the Chairman, the Treasurer and the Hon. Secretary. There is no provision in the byelaws for reservation of a certain number of seats on these committees in favour of the tribals. The position obtaining in the six primary societies visited during the course of the study was as under:

Gram-seva Sahakari Society		Block/ District	Total member- ship	Of which - tribal member-	M.C. members		Tribal or not	
			amp		Total	Of which tribals	man	Hon. Secre- tary
1	Umrai	Talwara- Banswara	175	174	7	7	Yes	Yes
2	Kushalpura	-do-	146	135	7	6	Yes	Yes
3	Barothi	Bichiwara- Dungarpur		184	7	6	No	Yes
4	Amjhara	-do- `	130	107	7	7	Yes	Yes
5	Mahavir (Dal Village)	Salumber- Udaipur	217	56	6	Nil	No	No
6	Adivasi (Kagdar Village)	Kherwara- Udaipur	155	153	6	6	Yes	Yes

In the Barothi GSS in Bichiwara block of Dungarpur district although 184 out of 197 members were tribals, the Chairman of the society was a non-tribal. In the Mahavir GSS in the Salumber block of Udaipur district none of the 56 tribal members was on the managing committee. The Treasurer of the latter society was reported to be a moneylender. Thus, it is clear that the tribal members do not have adequate representation on the managing committees of their societies and it is possible, therefore, that the tribals are not receiving adequate attention from their own societies.

# Problems of indebtedness to moneylenders and of land alienation

7.16 As indicated earlier, the special feature of the tribals in Rajasthan has been age-old grip of the moneylenders over them. No data were available on the indebtedness of the tribals to moneylenders. In the draft Sub-Plan for the Tribal Areas (1974-9) prepared by the GOR, the indebtedness of tribals to moneylenders has been estimated on an average at Rs 600 per tribal household. The officers entrusted with the study interviewed a large number of tribal members of the societies visited by them with a view to assessing their indebtedness to the moneylenders. In spite of severe limitations partly due to the presence of moneylenders from the village itself and partly due to the reluctance of the members arising out of fear of denial of fresh facilities from the indigenous source, the outcome of the interviews is revealing as can be judged from the information that was elicited from a few borrowers in some detail (Annexure 60). The findings are summarized below:

- (i) The quantum of loans due to moneylenders ranges between Rs 300 and Rs 3000 per household.
- (ii) The loans are raised not only for meeting the expenditure towards social obligations like marriages, but also to meet domestic requirements like foodgrains, cloth, etc.
- (iii) The loans are also raised in a few cases for legitimate agricultural needs like seeds, purchase of bullocks, etc.
- (iv) In a few cases, the loans have been raised for identifiable medium-term agricultural purposes like sinking of wells. The need for such a loan arises to supplement the institutional/government (taccavi) credit.
- (v) The rate of interest is exorbitant ranging from 36 per cent to as high as 130 per cent and further, in some cases, the interest amount, along with certain commission, is deducted at the time of handing over the principal amount of the loan.

- (vi) The repayment, by and large, is insisted in the form of agricultural produce valued at a price fixed by the moneylender at the time of disbursement of the loan which often compares unfavourably with the market prices.
- (vii) The cumulative effect of the high rates of interest and the mode of repayment is that the tribal can hardly manage to pay the interest and consequently there is no repayment towards the principal amount.
- (viii) The moneylender charges interest at compound rates and follows the practice of renewing the loan transaction with accrued interest annually or at least at the end of every three years.
  - (ix) The default in the repayment of the loan and the interest thereon successively for two-three years has resulted in the moneylenders acquiring possession of the land of the tribal and insisting on the tribal cultivating the same land as a farm labourer for which the latter is given a certain share, generally fifty per cent of the produce. In such cases, the moneylender obtains an agreement for the lease of the land to him until repayment of the debt. This arrangement, it is reported, has in some cases helped him to secure transfer of land in his own name with the connivance of the *patwari*, at the time of updating the land records.
  - (x) The holdings cultivated by many tribal members stand in the name of their ancestors. No doubt, transfer of lands in the name of successor sons could have been effected, but has not been done mainly on account of the expenditure involved in completing the necessary formalities. In this connexion a statement showing the state of land records in the identified tribal tehsils is given in Annexure 61. It will be seen therefrom that some of the villages were last surveyed nearly 39 years ago.
  - (xi) The moneylenders dealing with the tribals do not, by and large, hold a licence. The Deputy Registrar of Co-operative Societies of each division in the state is the licensing authority under the Rajasthan Moneylenders Act, 1963, while the work of ensuring implementation of the provisions of the Act is handled by the Assistant Registrar of the district. No separate staff has been provided to these officials for the purpose.

## Draft Sub-Plan for Tribal Areas

7.17 It may be relevant to give a brief summary of the Draft Sub-Plan for Tribal Areas (1974-9) prepared by the GOR. The tribal blocks identified as tribal areas in the Draft Sub-Plan are the same as identified in Annexure 56. Under the Sub-Plan it is proposed to organize one block-level multi-purpose society for each of the 22 tribal blocks dealing not only in the short/ medium-term credit needs of the tribals and the range of services needed by them, but also handling the portfolio of long-term agricultural loans. The 22 block level societies will be affiliated to a Tribal Co-operative Development Corporation to be newly registered which in turn will be affiliated to the state co-operative bank, the state land development bank and the apex co-operative marketing society. This means that the ccbs and pldbs operating in the Banswara and Dungarpur districts will have to cease functioning and these institutions operating in the Udaipur and Chittorgarh districts have to cede the nine tribal blocks in the two districts to the proposed Corporation. We understand that one or two tribal blocks will be initially selected for organization of the block level societies and the scheme will thereafter be extended to other tribal blocks depending on the experience of the pilot block level societies. In effect pending organization of the proposed Corporation after all the tribal blocks are covered by the blocklevel societies, the existing credit institutions at the district level will continue to function.

7.18 The total proposed outlay for the Sub-Plan is Rs 154.66 crores of which Rs 43.57 crores are expected from institutional sources, Rs 24.53 crores will be available by way of sectoral inflow in the State Plan and Rs 86.50 crores will be the resources gap expected to be met from assistance from the Tribal Development Fund of the GOI.

7.19 The programmes under agriculture include animal husbandry, forestry, dairy, poultry, soil conservation and minor irrigation with emphasis on livestock farming, soil conservation and minor irrigation. The programmes for irrigation and power have been proposed with a view to utilizing the infrastructure already created in the tribal area. It is proposed to maximise power connections in the tribal villages through a subsidised scheme. The total outlay for irrigation and power has been placed at Rs 33.62 crores.

7.20 The programmes for communications include construction of arterial roads. The role of programmes for development of small scale and household industries is to divert the surplus population from agriculture to industry. The programmes of adult literacy-cum-education and agro-industries servicing-cumcontinuing education centres have been proposed with a view to generating a tertiary sector in the tribal area. The programmes relate to general education, health, rural water supply and other amenities.

7.21 In order to obtain the maximum results, the Sub-Plan has proposed a single line separate administrative structure for the tribal area development. For similar reasons, a separate co-operative structure for financing, marketing and credit has been proposed in the Sub-Plan. The new credit co-operative institution at the block level is expected to provide loans for social purposes. The tribal area is susceptible to drought. In order to meet this contingency, an emergency scheme with labour-intensive programmes has been drawn up and included in the Sub-Plan.

#### Institutional arrangements for the development of tribals

7.22 The findings of the study undertaken at our instance are revealing. The study has clearly brought out that the credit and marketing institutions operating in the tribal area of Rajasthan are so weak as to offer practically no resistance to the exploitation the tribals have been subjected to by the moneylenders or moneylender-cum-traders. No activity for the benefit of tribals can succeed unless their exploitation by moneylenders is prevented. The obvious solution is the creation of an institution to which the tribals can approach for all their basic needs like credit for agricultural and personal needs, supply of domestic requirements, marketing of agricultural and minor forest produce. It is in this context that we have made specific recommendations in the paragraphs that follow regarding the institutional arrangements for tribals. In making these recommendations we have taken due note of the proposals made by the GOR in their Draft Sub-Plan for the Tribal Areas as outlined in paragraphs 7.17 to 7.21.

7.23 A co-operative society exclusively for tribals has to be ruled out firstly because it will affect adversely the process of integration of the tribals with the main stream of the society and secondly because the existing pacs will have difficulty in becoming viable units if their business is confined to non-tribals if the latter are small minority in the total population of the area. On the other hand, if the society is exclusively for tribals, it will have difficulty in attaining viability. From the social as well as economic point of view, therefore, it will be preferable to have only one unit catering to the needs of all the people in the area, i.e., both tribals and non-tribals. It should be possible, however, to provide for a majority of the tribals on the managing committee of the society as well as for their being elected/appointed to the posts of Chairman/Secretary/ Treasurer of the society as has been done in respect of small farmers in the Farmers Service Society. Such a reservation is considered necessary by us as the special study has brought out that even where the tribals constitute almost the entire membership, the office-bearers are non-tribals. It should be possible to confine certain benefits and privileges to the tribals, e.g., capital subsidies, preferential rate of interest, etc.

7.24 Normally, a pacs does not cater to long-term credit needs which are looked after by a pldb or the branch of the state land development bank. As the tribals generally have restricted alienable rights in the land and as the records of lands in the tribal areas are also poorly maintained, the land development banks have not been able to provide enough credit to the tribals. Besides, it will be better if a comprehensive view of the credit needs of the farmers is taken with a view to tailoring the periods of the loans for the different purposes according to the total income and repaying capacity of the tribal. The basis of lending to a tribal may have to be somewhat different from that applied to a non-tribal. It follows logically, therefore, that the co-operative society in the tribal area should handle also long-term loans along with short-term and medium-term loans. Since the tribal population is concentrated in the 22 blocks, the pldbs in them may have to be out of the picture, if credit for long-term purposes is routed through the pacs. It may be necessary to merge them with the state land development bank. The details in this behalf may have to be worked out later.

7.25 Although the proportion of institutional credit for agriculture is steadily growing and has received a further impetus with the entry of commercial banks in this field, non-institutional agencies consisting of moneylenders and relatives are still preponderant in this sphere. The role of the institutional agencies in the provision of agricultural credit is admittedly much poorer in the tribal areas. Relatives also do not play any significant role because the general economic condition of the relatives of the tribals is also equally poor. Consequently, the tribals, by and large, are indebted to moneylenders or moneylender-cum-merchants/traders. The need to approach the latter arises primarily for obtaining the basic necessities of life and also for such social obligations as in marriage, birth or death ceremonies, although in respect of the latter a practice based on mutual help prevails in many tribal communities. A co-operative society in the tribal area must take note of the needs and obligations of the tribals and devise methods of operation which will minimise or obviate the need to approach the moneylender or moneylender-cum-merchant/trader. At the same time, it should be recognized that no institution can hope to meet extravagance in domestic expenditure or in the

various types of ceremonies. The realization to be modest in such expenditure can come through education and reforms in the social practices which cannot be the responsibility of the credit agencies. The burden of responsibility in this behalf has to be shouldered by the government in the Tribal Welfare or Social Welfare Departments and also by social organizations like the Bhil Seva Mandals as in Gujarat which devote themselves to the economic and social uplift of the tribals.

7.26 So far as the basic needs of life are concerned, it is essential to see that the tribal is not required to go to the merchant/moneylender and this will be possible if the society itself extends the necessary credit and also arranges to provide essential items such as foodgrains, coarse cloth, sugar, salt, jaggery, kerosene oil, matches, tobacco, etc. In other words, the society should have a consumer stores wing to deal with not more than a dozen essential items required by the tribals. This will not only ensure control over the stocks, but also keep the investment of funds to the minimum, besides ensuring a quick turnover of the funds. The credit limit for the purpose can be to the extent of the 'A' component (cash component) under the crop loan system. In Andhra Pradesh the Reserve Bank had suggested that if the 'A' component in the scale of finance was Rs 100 per acre, the tribal borrower might not be advanced in cash more than Rs 25. The balance was to serve as his entitlement to purchase consumer goods from the society. If the tribal uses the facility prudently, he can avail of it largely in the lean months, when his production of foodgrains is exhausted or when he does not have any cash income from casual labour. This sort of supply of credit in kind should be treated as credit for agricultural operations and be reimbursable from the credit limit sanctioned by the RBI for short-term agricultural purposes. However, this will be the position in respect of tribals who are cultivating land. Any facility of the above nature provided to a mere labourer will. however, not be reimbursable from the Reserve Bank, because it will be to a non-agriculturist and for a non-agricultural The society can think of such consumption credit purpose. to non-agriculturist tribals also but out of its own resources as supplemented by the ccb or the commercial bank. dividual limits will have to be fixed cautiously and it may be advantageous to require an agriculturist tribal to stand surety to such borrowers.

7.27 So far as expenses in connexion with social obligations in birth, marriage or death ceremonies are concerned, the possibility of institutionalizing the present tribal custom of mutual help—*Narota* as it is known among the adivasis of Rajasthan—should be explored. Such occasions are not many in the life of a tribal and he could be persuaded to save little

by little continuously. The habit of thrift and self-nelp has to be inculcated amongst the tribals. It is possible that at a given time the accumulated savings may not be adequate to meet the minimum expenses and, therefore, in order to meet them he may have to resort to borrowings. But he can be saved from going to the moneylender or merchant if the society itself has the necessary arrangements to accommodate With a view to putting the much needed check on him. extravagant expenditure to which one is tempted, it will be desirable to limit the amount of the loan at a multiple of the amount to the credit of the tribal in his thrift deposit account on which an attractive rate of even 10 per cent could be allowed, if the interest on the loan is fixed at, say, 14 or 15 per cent as a disincentive to borrow. The rate on the loan should not be too low and out of tune with the rate to which the tribal is accustomed in respect of his present borrowings from the moneylender. It is possible that the society will have little or no resources of its own to provide loans to its tribal members on the lines recommended above. The provision of refinance to the society should be regarded as a legitimate responsibility of the cfa. No refinance from the RBI can, however, be admissible as this will not be a purpose recognized under the Reserve Bank of India Act.

7.28 While some institutional arrangement can be made to obviate, as far as possible, the need for the tribal to resort to the moneylender or trader in the future for meeting his domestic requirements as well as his credit needs for agricultural production, the question of his existing indebtedness remains to be tackled. It is contended that unless the tribal is set free first from the clutches of the moneylender, it will be futile to expect any improvement in his economic condition and that, he will cease to approach him to incur fresh debts. Various suggestions have been made to relieve the tribal of the burden of debt. The Government of Bihar have recently passed a law under which the debts of a person owning less than 4 acres of land stand written off. It is suggested that a similar legislation can be passed in Rajasthan to free all the tribals, irrespective of the size of their holding, from the existing debts. If that is not possible, long-term loans may be advanced by banks to the tribals for redemption of their old debts. Alternatively, the existing debts may be re-scheduled and made repayable over a long period, so that the annual burden is reduced within a reasonable limit. For this purpose, the state government may issue bonds redeemable at the end of a given period and take over the responsibility to recover the debts over a long period and redeem the bonds on maturity. Finally, the state government may appoint Debt Relief Boards to scale down the debts and fix instalments to

be paid directly to the moneylender over a long period. The merits and implications of these proposals are discussed in the following paragraphs.

7.29 First of all it has to be remembered that the problem is not peculiar to tribals only. Harijans, small farmers and other economically backward communities are also indebted to moneylenders and merchants. If special measures are initiated for relief of indebtedness among the tribals, the demand for relief to similarly backward sections of the society will also have to be met. Secondly, there is generally no documentary evidence of the debts incurred by the tribal. The transactions in most cases are known only to the creditor and the debtor and, therefore, the magnitude of the amounts involved in the aggregate cannot possibly be ascertained. Any measure to write off the debts or to reschedule them may not achieve the desired results, because in most cases the matter may not go to any tribunals at all. The moneylender or the trader will have his own ways of recovering his debts as he has in securing the rate of interest he wants on the loans he advances despite restrictions imposed by the moneylending legislation. Thirdly, a part of the debts of the tribal will be from credit institutions like the co-operative and the commercial banks as well as the state government. The question of writing off the debts due to the institutions should not obviously arise. They deal with funds belonging to the public and the confidence of the depositors in the credit agencies will be lost, if they have to lose a part of their deposits or accept re-scheduling of their deposits because the loans to the tribals are either written off or extended over a period of time. Fourthly, the magnitude of the funds needed will be so large that, in the present tight money conditions, it will be most unrealistic to expect either the government or the banking institutions to find them. For instance, in the 22 tribal blocks of Rajasthan, the tribal population is about 3 million or roughly 4.72 lakh families. Even if the indebtedness per family is put at Rs 200, the requirement will be around Rs 10 crores. In view of the present budgetary position of the central and state governments, there is hardly any chance of the government finding adequate resources for the purpose. Banks also are not exceptions. Fifthly, if the moneylenders and traders are paid off in one or two instalments, apart from the inflationary pressure of such payment, there is danger that the money will be utilized by them in hoarding and creating artificial scarcities of essential commodities. Finally, there is no guarantee that a tribal freed from his existing debts will not indulge in extravagance and incur debts in the future. Both the borrower and the lender may reasonably expect a repetition of the relief operation. The result may perhaps be the opposite of what

is hoped and we may find ultimately that the tribal is more steeply in debt than in the past.

7.30 The real solution of the problem lies in bringing about certain social reforms which will check extravagance on the occasions of birth, marriage and death ceremonies and most importantly in raising the level of the income of the tribal. The government's Tribal Welfare Department is already engaged in bringing about the much needed social reforms. It will have to continue its efforts in that direction even in the future, if necessary by providing incentives for the establishment of social welfare organizations like the Bhil Seva Mandals. The lasting solution, however, lies only in improving the income earning prospects of the tribals primarily from agriculture and allied activities and from minor forest produce to which they have generally a free access. In the former case, it will involve a somewhat long and difficult process of nodernizing agriculture through investment of more working and durable capital. In the latter case, it will be mainly a question of finding a remunerative market for the produce and of ensuring that the tribal does not have to resort to the trader for selling the forest produce, for, in such a situation the tribal will not get a fair deal. The co-operative society for the tribals, therefore, should integrate credit with supplies of inputs of modern agriculture, arrange technical guidance to facilitate the adoption of modern methods of cultivation by the tribals and also the marketing of minor forest produce as well as the products of his agriculture and other allied activities. The cumulative effect of all these measures may be to increase the incomes of the tribals which will not only provide the necessary wherewithal to pay off the existing debts but obviate the need to resort to borrowing from the moneylender, particularly when the society arranges to provide domestic requirements and also loans for meeting the outlay on social functions like marriages.

7.31 The type of base level organization which is most suited to meet the various requirements of the tribals is, therefore, a primary agricultural/multi-purpose/service co-operative credit society which integrates credit with supplies and services and corresponds to the farmers service society recommended by the National Commission on Agriculture. The society should undertake the following important activities and functions amongst others:

- (i) Provision of short, medium and long-term credit for agricultural purposes;
- (ii) Provision of inputs of agriculture like seed, fertilizer, insecticide, agricultural implements and machinery;

- (iii) Provision of essential domestic requirements like foodgrains, cloth, salt, sugar, vegetable oil, kerosene, matches, tobacco, etc., against the members' entitlement under the cash component of the scale of finance or against a limit specifically sanctioned for meeting their consumption needs;
- (iv) Provision of technical advice and guidance needed for modernizing agriculture and allied activities;
- (v) Marketing of agricultural produce or products of allied activities like dairying, poultry keeping, etc;
- (vi) Marketing of minor forest produce;
- (vii) Provision of credit for expenses incurred to meet certain\_social obligations in birth, marriage or death ceremonies, the quantum of such credit being related to the members' thrift deposits collected continuously;
- (viii) Undertaking where possible forest or other labour contracts which will provide employment and additional income to members;
- (ix) Mobilization of deposits from members and others; and
- (x) Undertaking such other activities which are incidental to the above functions.

7.32 A society undertaking all the functions listed above will be a very complex organization demanding a high degree of managerial competence at the village level which may not be easily forthcoming. Management of cash is a relatively simple matter. Management of goods (inventory control) and services in addition will call for a higher degree of skill and cannot be performed efficiently unless there is sufficiently trained and adequately qualified staff to attend to the various functions. Further, the capital base of the organization will also have to be much broader than that of a society undertaking merely credit functions. Each one of the business listed above will necessitate some involvement from the resources of the society and cannot be carried with one hundred per cent financial accommodation from higher financing agencies. All these point out to the need for the society having a much wider area of operations so that the business generated from the members in the area gives sufficient income to pay not only for a more competent manager/managing director, but also a large complement of staff to provide technical guidance, handle agricultural inputs and consumer goods and market agricultural and minor forest produce. It may not be easy to get the necessary staff all at once. The required staff may have to be recruited and given sufficient training before they can be expected to shoulder the complex responsibilities. Apart from this, one has to take note of the fact that a primary co-operative society with such a wide territorial jurisdiction does not generally exist at present and if one such has to be brought into existence, it can be done only through a process of amalgamation and liquidation of the existing societies. This has always proved to be the most difficult thing to do largely because of the vested interests created by the existing societies.

If a whole block of, say, 100 villages is selected for the new type of society, there may be already 25 or 30 societies each serving the tribals in three or four villages. The task of bringing round the managements of these societies to form one society will be a formidable one. Further, even if that becomes possible, such a society will have to have at least 10 branches to serve its membership effectively. Existence of branches of that order makes the management of the society a still more complex proposition.

7.33 Taking all these aspects into account we think that it may be advisable to have a society which is bigger than a society considered viable as per the standards suggested by us in Chapter IV, but not as big as to cover the whole block as has been envisaged in the draft Sub-Plan for the Tribal Areas. The ideal jurisdiction may be about 10000 rural population (2000 families) or 4000 hectares of land so that the effective coverage at 40 per cent may be 800 borrowing members owning and cultivating together about 1600 hectares of land. A coverage of 40 per cent can reasonably be reached within a period of 4 or 5 years. Such a society may ultimately reach a loan business of Rs 10 lakhs. The other business activities will grow correspondingly and the experience generally is that the income from the complementary business is just adequate to meet the establishment and other costs leaving a small profit. We are of the view that the future pattern of reorganization of the societies in the tribal area in the state may be in the direction of societies with jurisdiction and functions as above, because they will present fewer problems of man-agerial competence and of amalgamation and liquidation of existing societies. Even then it is unlikely that such societies will come into existence in the entire tribal belt. The most practical way will be to cover about six out of the twenty-two blocks with heavy concentration of tribal population (Annexure 56) with such special types of societies. The six blocks may be two each from the districts of Banswara and Dungarpur and one each from the districts of Udaipur and Chittorgarh. This means about 40 such societies will have to be organized newly or by amalgamation of existing societies and this may be achieved in a phased manner by organizing about 10-15 societies per year during the next three years commencing from 1975-6. Besides, there will have to be a minimum programme for other blocks including the blocks from the Sirohi district. In these blocks effort should be to re-vitalize such of the existing societies as will be able to reach a loan business of atleast Rs 2 lakhs. Within the competence and capacity of a full-time paid manager each of these societies may undertake the first three functions listed in paragraph 7.31 above. The programme of re-organizing them on the other model with

much wider jurisdiction and functions may be taken up after 1978-9, i.e., after watching the results of the other model. It may be mentioned that this model of special type of societies for tribals is close to one of the two models of the farmers service societies recommended by the National Commission on Agriculture. The difficulties involved in the organization of farmers service societies have been fully recognized and, therefore, a very modest programme of only 50 such societies all over the country has been contemplated. For the same reasons, we have suggested that during the next three years only six blocks from the tribal area may be covered with about 40 such special type of societies which for the purpose of identification may be called *Adimjati Seva Samitis* or 'Tribal Service Societies'.

7.34 As against the block-level organization at the base level proposed in the state government's Draft Sub-Plan, we have favoured the organization of special type of societies covering less than a block in the tribal area mainly to (i) obviate the need for the society opening branches which in turn will help to solve the problem of finding the necessary trained staff and (ii) minimize the problems of amalgamation and liquidation of the societies operating within the area. At the same time. with the increase in business, even the society with area of less than a block may eventually find it necessary to open branches. But we presume that the aspects of economy and managerial competence will be given due consideration before the branches are opened. In view of this position, there can be flexibility regarding the special society in the tribal area having branches or serving a larger area extending even to a block. This being so, if the concerned authorities in the state government are confident of tackling the problems of managerial competence and amalgamation/liquidation of the existing societies, we have no objection to the GOR organizing a block-level society for one or two tribal blocks provided each society has at least ten branches and a full complement of trained staff to serve the members effectively.

7.35 Since the present level of business of the tribal in agriculture or minor forest produce is somewhat lower than his non-tribal counterpart, a co-operative society organized in the tribal area may require a longer period than a society in the non-tribal area to attain viability. Further, the former types of societies will undertake a wider range of functions and responsibilities than the societies in the non-tribal area and consequently may require the services of a larger complement of staff. The normal pattern of assistance for appointment of qualified and trained staff is limited to three or five years and that too is given on a tapering basis from year to year. Since the Constitution has cast a special responsibility on the nation

in the matter of social and economic upliftment of the tribals and since this can best be achieved by improving the levels of their agricultural and other business through a co-operative society undertaking multifarious functions, the subsidies for the appointment and maintenance of staff should be continued to the extent necessary for as long as is necessary. The minimum staff required, which in the case of the Adimjati Seva Samiti proposed by us may comprise a MD, three technical assistants, one or two accountants, godown keepers, supervisors and attendants, should not be reduced merely on the ground that the society failed to attain the level of business needed to sustain that staff strength. The strength of the staff in the remaining societies in the tribal area may have to be provided on a somewhat more liberal basis than the societies in the non-tribal area as the former societies will be called upon to give more personal attention to their members. Due allowance must be made for the longer gestation period needed by a society meant to serve the tribal community and the continuance of the staff subsidy correspondingly for a longer duration, if that becomes necessary. There will always remain an element of welfare work in the dealings with the tribals so long as their standards of living are not raised to the levels of others.

7.36 The Adimjati Seva Samiti proposed by us is to take up a variety of functions which will not be possible unless it has a fairly satisfactory capital base. Bank credit cannot be expected to the extent needed without the provision of the prescribed margins by the society. Such margins can come from its own funds. It will be unrealistic to expect that the tribals will contribute adequately to the share capital of the society to enable it to provide the necessary margins to the bank. Even in regard to his own borrowings from the society, a tribal may contribute as share capital only 5 per cent which will not make it possible for the society itself to contribute to the share capital of the central bank at the normal 10 per cent of its own borrowings from the bank. In such a situation, there are two ways of strengthening the share capital of the tribal societies. As in the case of the Small Farmers Development Agencies, the Tribal Development Authority by whatever name called, may grant loans to individual tribals to enable them to contribute to the share capital of the society. In Uttar Pradesh, the state government granted similar loans to small farmers outside the Small Farmers Development Agency areas. Alternatively, the state government may participate in the share capital of the Adimjati Seva Samitis by borrowing from the LTO Fund. As per existing norms, loans for Rs 10000 or more are given to societies with a potential loan business of Rs 1 lakh to Rs 2 lakhs, Rs 50000 or more for societies

with a potential of Rs 10 lakhs and Rs 1 lakh or more for those with a potential of Rs 100 lakhs. In these circumstances we feel that it may be necessary for the government to be somewhat liberal in their contribution to the share capital of the societies meant primarily for the tribals. Correspondingly, the RBI may also take a more sympathetic view of the needs of these societies in dealing with the applications of the state government for loans from the LTO Fund.

7.37 What should be the institutional set up at the higher levels to support the base level organizations outlined in paragraph 7.33 above is the question to be considered next. The functions expected to be undertaken by the base level organization have been listed in paragraph 7.31. Some of them relate to provision of credit for agricultural or domestic purposes, some to the provision of inputs of agriculture and domestic consumption goods, while some others are concerned with the marketing of agricultural or forest produce. The points for consideration are: (i) should there be only two tiers in the whole set up or two in some and three in the others and (ii) should the organizations at the intermediate and apex levels confine their operations to one or two allied functions or that the higher level organizations should combine in themselves all the activities which the base level institution is supposed to undertake. In the latter case, the base level institution will be a miniature replica of the institutions at the higher level. It may be mentioned in this connexion that in Andhra Pradesh there is an organization called the Girijan Co-operative Corporation formed by 22 primary marketing societies. The Corporation provides short and medium-term agricultural credit, runs what are known as domestic requirements depots where minor forest produce brought by the tribals is also purchased. The Corporation enjoys a monopoly in that behalf in the sense that no other trader is allowed to purchase the produce in the tribal belt.

7.38 The experience of the Girijan Co-operative Corporation has brought home the inherent weakness in combining banking with trading and in requiring the organization to provide the necessary support in handling domestic goods, agricultural inputs, minor forest produce, etc., along with credit. It is a universally accepted policy not to allow banks dealing with public deposits to undertake any trading activity. The Banking Regulation Act, 1949 debars any bank in India from undertaking any trade on its own account. The intention is that the risks of trade should not endanger the safety of the depositors' interests. There is no possibility of the law being changed and hence any organization which intends to under-

take any trading functions on its own will be prevented from doing the business of banking, i.e., from accepting deposits from the public. It may accept deposits from its members. But since the membership will be confined to the organizations of the tribals, the prospects of mobilizing large deposits resources will be meagre. Consequently, the organization of the type of the Girijan Co-operative Corporation will have to depend upon its owned funds for providing the prescribed margins in respect of bank credit for various purposes. It may be mentioned that because of the Reserve Bank's insistence on the condition that the borrowings from it must be backed by non-overdue loans outstanding, even the credit business cannot be undertaken without a sufficient involvement of the institution concerned. If deposits from the public are debarred, the owned funds base would have to be very wide to facilitate the undertaking of all the activities by the institution including that of credit. The Girijan Corporation has been given by the Government of Andhra Pradesh a sum of Rs 25 lakhs exclusively for its credit business. It may not be possible for the GOR to strengthen the capital base appropriately of the Tribal Development Corporation envisaged in the Draft Sub-Plan for the tribals. Further, the experience of the Girijan Corporation shows that the trading in minor forest produce may not always be governed by pure business considerations in which case the losses in that business may adversely affect the credit functions. We think, therefore, that it will be advisable to separate the credit and non-credit functions at the higher levels, i.e., to have two or more distinct organizations undertaking the functions of credit on the one hand and supply and marketing functions on the other, although at the base level there will be only one institution undertaking both the credit and noncredit activities.

7.39 The co-operative credit structure consists of tiers and wings. The state co-operative bank at the apex level and ccbs at the intermediate level provide short-term and mediumterm credit for agricultural and non-agricultural purposes to individual farmers through pacs by whatever name called. Thus there is a three-tier structure. Long-term credit is provided by co-operative land development banks which have a unitary or a federal structure in that in some states like Maharashtra the state land development bank operates through its branches all over the state, while in others like Rajasthan, the bank operates through pldbs. In either case, the pacs do not come into the picture and loans are provided directly to individuals by the branches of the state land development bank or by the pldbs covering, in the case of Rajasthan, roughly a district. For the reasons given earlier we are of the opinion that it will be advisable for the RRSBVB to by-pass the pldb and route

long-term loans through the Adimjati Seva Samiti treating it as primary bank so that a comprehensive view of all the credit needs of the adivasi can be taken. Simultaneously, immediate steps are necessary on the part of the state government for updating the land records in the tribal area, in particular, of the blocks to be covered by the Adimjati Seva Samitis.

7.40 There are various intermediate and apex level organizations in the co-operative sector undertaking a variety of noncredit functions. Primary marketing societies, including those which also process agricultural produce, help their members to market agricultural produce and supply agricultural inputs like fertilizers, agricultural implements and machinery and also essential consumer goods. There are in some cases district level organizations or separate federations at the state level for distribution of inputs of agriculture or the distribution of consumer goods like the State Co-operative Marketing Federation or the State Wholesale Consumers Stores Federation. These are appointed as licencees or agents of the government for distribution of fertilizers, distribution of sugar and other essential commodities, monopoly procurement of foodgrains, cotton, etc. In Rajasthan, not every block is served by a primary marketing society. But each district has a district level marketing society affiliated to the state level federation. Of the twenty-two blocks with heavy concentration of tribal population, only ten are served by a primary marketing society each. We have indicated earlier in paragraph 7.13 that the business of these societies as also the district level marketing societies operating in the tribal area relates to the distribution of fertilizers and sugar and that business, in most cases, is also meagre. In view of this position, the existing marketing organizations operating in the tribal area in the state cannot be counted upon to provide adequate support to the Adimjati Seva Samitis/viable primary societies in their noncredit functions. In fact, the marketing societies do not generally handle the purchase and sale of minor forest produce. While, therefore, we do not consider it necessary to have a separate institution at the secondary level to provide support to the primary societies in the tribal area in respect of their credit functions, we recommend organization of a Tribal Development Corporation for the tribal area in Rajasthan to co-ordinate and support the non-credit business of the primary societies like the provision of inputs of agriculture and domestic consumption goods and marketing of agricultural and forest produce. The Corporation should be registered under the Co-operative Societies Act and its membership may be open to the marketing and primary societies operating in the tribal area. The Corporation should function as a commercial organization. It may open branches at suitable centres or

operate through the existing marketing societies to serve effectively the *Adimjati Seva Samitis*/viable primary societies. The GOR should provide the requisite financial and administrative support to the Corporation.

7.41 The restructuring of the base level organizations, in the tribal area to cover six blocks by Adimiati Seva Samitis and the balance with societies each with a potential business of Rs 2 lakhs, the widening of the scope and variety of their functions and the strengthening of their links with the co-operative or other credit agencies as well as agencies handling agricultural produce, inputs, consumer goods, etc., will require careful planning and execution. The whole work will involve considerable amount of co-ordination among the extension departments of the state government concerned with agriculture, animal husbandry, forests, education, social welfare as well as between them and the co-operative organizations looking after credit, marketing, processing, distribution of consumer goods, supply of inputs, etc. Development of the tribals may be viewed as an integrated project the execution of which has to be carefully planned and supervised to the minutest detail. The execution of the plans will depend on how devoted, efficient and trained are the staff engaged to perform duties in the Adimjati Seva Samitis. Special attention will have, therefore, to be paid to the selection of the staff and training designed to make them perform their duties satisfactorily. In our view, it will be advisable, therefore, to set up a Tribal Development Authority for each district from the tribal area whose responsibility it should be to draw up a programme of action and supervise its implementation. On the Governing Council of the Authority should be represented not only the various departments of the state government but also the various credit and other business The Authority can be registered under the organizations. Societies Registration Act like the Small Farmers Development Agency. Government grants and subsidies may be routed through this Authority. There should be a whole-time Executive Director for the Authority with the minimum of technical and other staff for helping it to draw up a comprehensive plan of development and supervise its execution. The expenditure of the Authority will have to be borne entirely by the state government for which also provision should be made in the Tribal Sub-Plan.

#### CHAPTER VIII

## PROBLEMS OF AND INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR DROUGHT-PRONE AREAS

8.01 WE are required as per our terms of reference to examine the problems of the areas which are chronically affected by famines and suggest institutional arrangements for credit for agriculture and allied activities so that a greater degree of economic stability is achieved in the economy of this region. We propose to apply ourselves to this task in the present chapter.

8.02 In 1970, the GOI thought of initiating a programme of rural works and, for this purpose identification of droughtprone areas was undertaken. Barring the district of Sikar, the other eight districts included by us in the arid and semi-arid zones for the purpose of our analysis, are, among others, identified as drought-prone areas. The periodicity of drought in the case of the above eight districts of western Rajasthan is about once in two and a half years. We have outlined in brief in Chapter I the DPAP that will be implemented in the districts of Jodhpur and Nagaur with the assistance from the IDA, an affiliate of the World Bank. Apart from the projects which aim at research in dry land farming, the main Centrally sponsored schemes which are operating in all or some of the droughtprone districts include the DPAP and the Desert Development Programme. The DPAP includes the development of minor irrigation, rural communications, soil conservation, afforestation and supply of drinking water. Later on, certain funds under the programme were sanctioned for production activities like animal husbandry and milk chilling plants. The Desert Development Programme was extended in Rajasthan to the districts of Barmer and Jaisalmer during the period of Fourth Five Year Plan. The programme comprised schemes relating to afforestation, soil conservation, development of pastures, minor irrigation and livestock development.

8.03 The Special Schemes Organization in the Agriculture Department of the GOR has prepared project reports on drought prooting for eleven districts in the state including six districts in the arid and semi-arid zones, viz., Barmer, Bikaner, Churu. Jaisalmer, Jalore and Jhunjhunu, besides the districts of Jodhpur and Nagaur from the semi-arid zone covered by IDA project. The emphasis in these project reports is on sinking of tube wells, animal husbandry and milk marketing, sheep and wool development, pasture development and fodder banking, supply of drinking water, etc.

8.04 Thus, in the various programmes discussed above, the strategy has been to ensure the development of activities allied to agriculture rather than agriculture proper as agriculture in the arid and semi-arid zones will continue to be unstable so long as suitable dry farming techniques are not developed. From the view point of viability of agricultural credit institutions operating in the arid and semi-arid zones, therefore, steps are necessary for stabilizing and upgrading the economy of farmers by inducing them to take up suitable ancillary occupations and ensuring adequate credit and other necessary support therefor. A beginning has been made inasmuch as the pacs are now extending finance for purchase of milch cattle. Simultaneously, suitable arrangements for collection and marketing of milk are being ensured. But the dairy business has also limited scope in the arid and semi-arid zones on account of limited market for milk and the difficulties of transportation of fresh milk to long distances for sale or for processing into milk products. Besides, judged from the past experience, conversion of milk into milk products may not prove economical. On the other hand, in so far as Rajasthan is concerned sheep breeding is an important activity which can help substantially in stabilizing and increasing the income of farmers, particularly belonging to the economically weak category.

8.05 In view of the above position a study was taken up at our instance by the officers of the Special Studies Division of the ACD at Bombay with a view to suggesting institutional arrangements for credit for sheep breeding and goat rearing activities in Rajasthan and for organized marketing of wool and mutton. The findings of the study and our recommendations are contained in this chapter.

8.06 Although institutional credit for the sheep breeding business has more significance from the view point of conditions in the arid and semi-arid zones of the state, the study had to cover Ajmer and Bhilwara districts from, the normal zone as in these two districts only loans for purchase of sheep flocks have been issued by the central banks, and primary societies under the SFDA/MFAL projects. Besides, the study also covered the semi-arid district of Jodhpur. Apart from the central banks of the districts, six pacs (two from each of the three districts) were visited during the course of the study. A list of societies visited is given in Annexure 62.

### Objectives of the study

8.07 The objectives of the study were as under:

- (i) Identification of areas offering potential for the development of sheep breeding and goat rearing;
- (ii) determination of the problems of sheep farmers;

- (iii) working out the economic size of flock, the capital and recurring expenditure necessary, the quantum of loan required, the income generated by the sale of wool, mutton, etc., the repaying capacity and period of loan;
- (iv) finding out the type of base level institutions necessary for provision of institutional credit facilities to sheep farmers;
- (v) ascertaining the arrangements for collection, grading and marketing of wool as also marketing of mutton so as to ensure linking of credit with marketing;
- (vi) ascertaining also the arrangements for the provision of a range of services like supply of breeding stock, technical guidance on sheep production, disease control, etc;
- (vii) examining the nature of security for loan and the problem of migration and mortality of sheep flocks connected therewith;
- (viii) examining the possibility of refinance from the RBI and the need for modification of existing conditions, if necessary; and
- (ix) examining the need for government aid in the form of cash subsidy. veterinary services and for the development of pastures, etc.

#### Sheep population and wool production

8.08 According to 1971 animal census, Rajasthan has 85.63 lakh sheep which constitute about 21 per cent of the sheep population of the country. The quantity of wool produced annually in the state is estimated at 122.70 lakh kgs and accounts for 40 per cent of the national production. A statement showing district-wise sheep population and annual wool production is given in Annexure 63. The sheep population exceeds 5 lakhs in the districts of Ajmer, Barmer, Bhilwara, Jodhpur, Nagaur and Pali whereas it is between 3 lakhs and 5 lakhs in the districts of Bikaner, Churu, Jaipur, Jaisalmer, Jalore, Sikar, Tonk and Udaipur. Thus, with the exception of Jhunjhunu district, the remaining eight districts of the arid and semi-arid zones have sizeable sheep population.

8.09 The sheep in Rajasthan can be classified into eight main breeds. A statement showing the kinds of breeds, their hometract, population, annual wool production, the qualities of wool produced and average body weight of each breed is contained in Annexure 64. The average annual production of wool per sheep ranges between 0.75 kg in respect of Malpura variety and 3 kgs in respect of Jaisalmeri variety. The relevant average for all the breeds is 1.44 kgs per sheep. The body weight varies between 20 kgs for Chokla variety and 35 kgs in respect of Nali variety. The average body weight for all varieties is reported to be between 25 kgs and 30 kgs. The flocks of Jaisalmeri and Marwari sheep from western Rajasthan are reportedly migratory. But such flock owners have, by and large, homestead or roots in land in their area of residence and the migration is temporary inasmuch as the flocks move out after rainy season, i.e., about December especially when rains fail and return to their area of residence before the onset of monsoon, i.e., in the following June. Thus, the percentage of nomads, i.e., migrators who regularly move from one area to another is reported to be very low. The temporary migration takes place either from one district to another or to the adjoining areas of the states of Gujarat and Madhya Pradesh.

8.10 The shearing of wool is generally done twice in a year, i.e., in March and September, although in a few districts like Bhilwara the same is done thrice, i.e., in March, July and November. In the case of migratory flocks the shearing in March is done outside the normal area of residence. The Sonadi variety of sheep belonging to Udaipur division (especially Bhilwara district) produces very coarse wool and the sheep of this breed are mainly reared for mutton, the main markets for which are Bombay, Delhi and Ahmedabad.

### Activities of the Sheep and Wool Directorate

8.11 A separate Directorate with the responsibility of ensuring the development of sheep breeding business in the state was created in the year 1964. The Directorate is under the charge of a Director and has 11 District Offices at Ajmer, Barmer, Bhilwara, Bikaner, Churu, Jaipur, Jaisalmer, Jalore, Jodhpur, Nagaur and Sikar. The area of the district office at Bhilwara extends to Chittorgarh district also. Each district office is under the charge of a District Sheep and Wool Officer. There are 6 sheep breeding farms, 127 sheep and wool extension centres and 13 AI centres throughout the state. Each AI centre has established some sub-centres within its area. Α statement showing the district-wise number of Extension and AI centres as also the location of 6 sheep breeding farms is given in Annexure 65. Normally each Extension Centre is under the charge of a Sheep and Wool Extension Officer (generally a veterinary graduate) who is assisted by 2 Stock Assistants. Each AI centre is under the charge of an Assistant AI Officer (a veterinary graduate) who is assisted by a Stockman and a Laboratory Assistant. The Directorate arranges short duration courses in wool grading, artificial insemination work, etc., for imparting training to the departmental staff as also progressive sheep farmers/breeders.

8.12 Besides extension work, the Directorate purchases wool at the 127 extension centres. The wool collected is transferred to the 3 wool grading centres run by the Directorate at Bikaner, Jaipur and Jodhpur. Each centre has a capacity to handle half a million kgs of wool. The Directorate has established wool grading centres at four other places, viz., Beawar, Nagaur, Navalgarh and Udaipur, but the same are not in operation presumably because of the shortfall in departmental purchases of wool to feed them.

8.13 The main activities of the Directorate can be summarized as under:

- (i) to establish rapport with sheep breeders and educate them in adoption of practices necessary for improving their breeding stock;
- (ii) to provide facilities for vaccination against common diseases like sheep-pox as also to provide medicine for other common ailments;
- (iii) to arrange for mechanical and scientific shearing of wool (for this purpose the Directorate has maintained static and mobile shearing units);
- (iv) to import exotic rams and arrange distribution of cross-bred rams to village flocks;
- (v) to extend AI facilities for improving the breed with a view to ensuring increase in the quantity as well as quality of wool;
- (vi) to arrange for purchase of wool with a view to giving fair price to sheep breeders and preventing their exploitation at the hands of middlemen;
- (vii) to arrange grading and marketing of wool so purchased;
- (viii) to promote schemes for sheep development including for the development of pastures, and
  - (ix) to provide training facilities to ensure availability of trained personnel in the field of scientific shearing, wool grading and AI work.

The Directorate arranged during 1972-3 for vaccination of 6.18 lakh sheep, treatment of 0.94 lakh sheep, distribution of 225 cross-bred rams, artificial insemination of 0.07 lakh sheep, machine shearing of 1.78 lakh sheep and training of 407 village flock-owners in AI work. These activities were reportedly undertaken on an increasing scale during the year 1973-4. Thus, in view of the infrastructure created by the Directorate during the last decade, the state offers an excellent promise to develop further the sheep breeding business.

## Purchases and marketing of wool by the Directorate

8.14 The objectives of the study required a detailed assessment of the work of purchases, grading and marketing of wool undertaken by the Directorate. Before introduction of the scheme of purchase and sale of wool by the Directorate in 1964, in the absence of any organized market the sheep breeders were at the mercy of middlemen in the sellers' market. With

the introduction of the scheme, the Directorate is now admittedly able to prevent exploitation to some extent of the sheep breeders at the hands of middlemen who are obliged to offer reasonable prices in areas in which the scheme operates. As indicated earlier, the purchases of wool by the Directorate are made at the 127 extension centres by the staff attached to them. For effecting the purchases, a schedule of prices for various categories of wool to be offered on tender is circulated in advance of the season for confidential information of the staff entrusted with the work. The staff is expected to collect wool and grade it and make necessary payment at the prescribed rate. The wool so collected is then transferred to the grading centres where it is subjected to inspection to ensure whether the correct rate had been offered at the centres, further graded into large lots and baled, generally of one quintal each, so as to be ready for disposal. The sale of bales is effected through open auctions. The floor prices as determined by the experts of the Directorate have prior approval of the state government before the auctions are held. A statement showing the yearwise purchases made by the Directorate during the years 1964-5 to 1973-4 is contained in Annexure 66. Another statement showing the district-wise wool purchases made by the Directorate in the year 1973-4 is given as Annexure 67. It will be seen therefrom that the purchases by the Directorate in 1973-4 accounted for about 9 per cent of the total wool production estimated at 122.70 lakh kgs.

8.15 At the same time, it may be pertinent to mention that in view of the resource constraints and the controls at various levels which are inherent in government hierarchy, the scheme suffers from various short-comings which in brief are discussed below:

- (i) The share of purchases by the government in the total wool production is limited to the funds provided for the purpose in the budget. The maximum achievement in the past was, therefore, restricted to about 9 per cent of the total wool production.
- (ii) Since outright purchases are made under the scheme, the benefit of the surplus arising on account of rising prices is neither passed on to the sheep breeders nor is retained within the business. The practice is to credit the same to the State Treasury.
- (iii) Similarly, to avoid deficit in the event of a fall in selling prices the sales are deferred. The resultant accumulation of stocks leads to paucity of funds for making fresh purchases. For instance, during the financial year 1973-4, the Directorate purchased 10.73

lakh kgs of wool valued at Rs 121.21 lakhs. But, subsequently the wool market faced a slump reportedly on account of imposition of a duty of 25 per cent on wool exports. Large stocks, therefore, accumulated. Consequently, the purchases made during the year 1974-5 up to the end of November 1974 were lower at 3.75 lakh kgs of wool of the value of Rs 39.27 lakhs.

- (iv) For the reasons mentioned at items (i) and (iii) above, the centres of the Directorate cannot ensure uninterrupted purchases of wool from sheep breeders which depresses further the prices offered by traders.
- (v) The Directorate does not enjoy complete freedom in the matter of sales. The state government has prohibited bulk sales to single parties. Although the floor prices are initially determined by the experts in the Directorate, the same are required to have prior approval of the state government before auctions are held. Seeking such approval is reported to be a time consuming process. The Directorate is, therefore, able to conduct hardly two/three auctions per year. It may not be out of place to mention that quick turnover is the essence of success in wool trade inasmuch as the market for wool often faces wide fluctuations.
- (vi) The centres handling purchases of wool are, by and large, located at block head quarters. Taking ad vantage of the distance between the centres and fai off villages, a new class of middlemen who make purchases at lower prices from the flock owners from such villages and sell the stocks to the centre of the Directorate at higher prices, has emerged Thus, the benefit of equitable prices offered by the Directorate may not always pass on to flock owners particularly belonging to the economically weaker sections.
- (vii) While the Directorate has no arrangements for collection of animals for slaughter, the practice among sheep breeders is to hand over wool to the private trader who also purchases their animals meant for slaughter.
- (viii) Even in Ajmer and Bhilwara districts where the central banks have sanctioned, through the affiliated pacs, medium-term loans for purchase of sheep units to marginal farmers identified by the MFAL Agency, there is no arrangement to effect recovery of loan in-

stalments from the proceeds of wool sold to the extension centres.

Notwithstanding the above deficiencies, the Directorate of Sheep and Wool has to be given credit for introducing and developing some organization and expertise for orderly marketing in the erstwhile unorganized wool market.

## Special Programmes

8.16 It will be pertinent to mention in brief certain special programmes that have been initiated or likely to be initiated for ensuring an orderly growth of improved breeds. A sheep breeding farm with Central assistance of Rs 84.14 lakhs is being developed on 8500 acres of land at Fatehpur in Sikar district. After full development, the farm will maintain a stock of 8500 sheep including 4000 belonging to the Russian Merino variety. The programme will include formulation of methods for maintenance of foreign breed in local conditions. The cross-bred rams maintained at the farm will in due course be utilized for AI work. Besides, the Directorate has undertaken a research programme at Shahpura in Bhilwara district. The cross-breeding programme of this centre will cover 10000 lambs during the next three years and is intended to develop the best methods for preservation of semen, dilution and transportation thereof and ideal methods for maintenance of the breeding stock, in relation to cross-breeding of Corriedale breed of rams with local Sonadi/Malpura variety of sheep.

### Sheep development component under DPAP

8.17 As we have indicated in Chapter I as also earlier in this chapter, the World Bank recently approved a Drought Prone Areas Project for Jodhpur and Nagaur districts. The sheep development component of the Project includes financing the development of blocks of degraded communal grazing lands which at present are administered by the local pancha-These areas, which are not less than 100 hectares each vats. as a unit, will be fenced, contour furrowed, seeded with improved grasses and provided with stock water supply. The areas to be developed will not exceed 25 per cent of the total area of such land available to a village community so that (a) sheep stock which cannot be accommodated on the improved land can continue grazing along traditional lines, and (b) flock owners can compare the productivity of their stock when subjected to different levels of feeding and management. Besides, the improved pasture will need sound management complemented by improved sheep husbandry, stock quality and disease control. Sheep growers' co-operative societies are, therefore, proposed to be established for each 100 hectares unit (200 hectares in some parts) to provide a management

unit and a channel for technical assistance. Membership and hence participation in the scheme, will be voluntary. Equity will be purchased in cash and kind. The latter will consist of ewes of breedable age, subject to health inspection and valued on the basis of a live-weight price for which shares of an equivalent face value will be issued. Thus, a member, who wishes to withdraw from the society, will receive cash value for shares. He will not be allowed to withdraw his sheep handed over to the society. Preference is expected to be given to members purchasing shares in kind. No individual member will be permitted to purchase that share of the society's equity which exceeds the ratio of his sheep numbers to the total number of sheep owned by all intending members.

8.18 Guidance on the day-to-day management to sheep growers' co-operative societies and the provision of health cover to their sheep is expected to be the responsibility of the unit managers who will each look after about three societies. In addition, the unit managers are expected to provide veterinary services for all non-participating village livestock.

8.19 As a result of improved nutrition, husbandry and disease control as also improved breeding, the following results are expected:

- (a) weaning rates will increase from 50 per cent to 70 per cent;
- (b) adult mortality will fall from 10 per cent to 5 per cent;
- (c) immature mortality will fall from 25 per cent to 15 per cent;
- (d) wool yields will go up by 60 per cent; and
- (e) body growth performance will improve by 50 per cent.

Thus, participating farmers can be assured of increased income by way of return on their shares. Even so, strong financial incentives are considered necessary to persuade sheep farmers to participate in the scheme. The state government will, therefore, subsidise the cost of capital improvement and of unit managers for the first five years. Besides, a minimum return for each share purchased in kind will be guaranteed for the first four years. The minimum guaranteed return will be so fixed as to assure the farmer that the income from ewes handed over by him to the society will be 10 per cent above the present gross production value per ewe. Any operating surplus after appropriations to reserve fund, etc., will be distributed to members as bonus.

8.20 The implementation of the project will be the responsibility of service centres to be established in each district under

the Sheep and Wool Directorate. These centres are expected to publicise project activity, assist groups of interested farmers in the formation of co-operative societies, assist in managing societies and providing them with inputs and technical services. The centres will be staffed and equipped to give assistance in the improvement and management of grass lands, stock husbandry, veterinary services and marketing of wool and mutton for about 50 societies. They will also supply cross-bred rams to the societies, and in some cases, actually operate ram multiplication farms. The unit managers referred to in paragraph 8.18 above will work under the control of the centre managers. Five service centres are expected to be established in the state. Two of them will be outside Jodhpur and Nagaur districts and will be pioneer phases of similar developments in the south-eastern and north-eastern districts of the state.

8.21 The number of sheep growers' co-operative societies proposed to be organized in Jodhpur and Nagaur districts will be forty five each in the course of four years. To summarize, the proposed sheep growers' societies, apart from strengthening the income of participating farmers by giving them an assured and increased return in respect of the sheep pooled by them, will serve as demonstration plots to popularize the benefits of improved nutrition and breeding with a view to inducing the sheep breeders to adopt these progressive techniques on their own.

## Institutional credit facilities

8.22 As already stated, the study in question was taken up to assess the need for institutional credit to individual farmers to undertake sheep breeding with a view to stabilizing their economy. For this purpose, field visits were undertaken in Ajmer and Bhilwara districts wherein the ccbs had issued loans through affiliated pacs to identified small/marginal farmers for purchase of sheep units. Besides, Jodhpur district was selected for field visits to ascertain the scope for issue of such loans and the reasons which prevented adoption of this activity by the credit system.

8.23 A statement showing medium-term loans for purchase of sheep issued to identified small/marginal farmers by Ajmer and Bhilwara central banks during the years 1971-2 to 1973-4 is given in Annexure 68. It will be seen therefrom that the respective banks issued loans for the purchase of 734 units in Ajmer district and 674 units in Bhilwara district. Although separate figures of recovery performance were not available as composite accounts for all medium-term purposes together were being maintained, the same is reported to be satisfactory. However, officials of these two banks as also of the Jodhpur central bank were hesitant to take up such financing on a large scale, despite demand for the same, in the absence of institutional arrangements for organized marketing of wool and mutton and satisfactory arrangement for ensuring recovery through linking. Besides, they also felt that without institutional arrangements for organized marketing it will not be possible for them to obtain reimbursement from the RBI as the Bank wanted to be sure of such an arrangement.

8.24 The pacs visited included one each from Kekri and Bhinai blocks of Ajmer district, one each from Kotri and Suwana blocks of Bhilwara district and 2 from Bhopalgarh block of Jodhpur district. A statement showing the number of sheep breeders in the area of each society, number of the society's members, of whom sheep breeders, etc., in the areas of the six societies visited is given in Annexure 69. Another statement (Annexure 70) indicates the number of sheep breeders financed, amount of loans issued and recovery performance thereof in respect of the four societies from Ajmer and Bhilwara districts. It will be seen therefrom that the recovery performance is, by and large, satisfactory mainly because of the small number of loans issued. This may be so because refinance from the ccbs for such loans is available in respect of identified small/marginal farmers only.

8.25 The discussions with non-officials and general members revealed that there was a great demand for loans even without subsidy for the following reasons:

- (i) sheep breeding business generates a quick return;
- (ii) expenditure on maintenance of sheep is negligible;
- (iii) unlike milch cattle, mortality of animals does not involve complete loss of livestock;
- (iv) annual lambing ensures not only replacement of dead/sold animals but also appreciation of asset due to increase in the number of sheep;
- (v) the occupation is capable of adoption by small and economically weak farmers; and
- (vi) the cultivators are assured of a regular and fixed income from sheep breeding.

8.26 The study thus reveals that there is demand for loans for purchase of sheep units and that the co-operative credit agencies are keen to take up the activity provided adequate reimbursement for the purpose becomes available from the RBI and institutional arrangements are guaranteed for organized

marketing not only to effect recoveries but also to assure a fair return to the person. Reportedly, there is already an over exploitation of grazing areas. The policy in respect of loans for purchase of sheep units should not, therefore, result in increasing the sheep population. The credit support may be for upgrading the breeding stock. This means alongwith credit for purchase of suitable sheep flocks, arrangements for extension of health cover and AI facilities to the borrowers will have to be ensured. If this is done, the beneficiary will be in a position to replace his uneconomic animals with better breeds and improve his income. Besides, cultivators who are not presently sheep farmers can be extended loans for purchase of sheep units to supplement their income. This class of farmers will necessarily buy sheep from large flock owners who may be interested in disposing a part of their breeding stock. Extension of such loans will not, therefore, lead to any increase in sheep population. It was reported during the course of the study that a large number of cultivators belonging mostly to small and economically weak category were interested in maintaining sheep flocks but were not in a position to do so due to non-availability of finance for the purpose. Extension of medium-term loans for acquisition of sheep flocks will, therefore, serve the social objective of supplementing the agricultural income of such class of farmers.

8.27 At the same time, concentration of sheep population in an area out of proportion to the availability of grazing grounds will have to be avoided. Besides, it will have also to be ensured that the beneficiaries of loans are provided with extension, medical cover and AI facilities offered by the Directorate so as to ensure upgrading of their breeding stock and increased income for them from the activity. We suggest, therefore, that the district level credit agency should draw its annual lending programme for the purpose in close collaboration and consultation with the concerned District Sheep and Wool Officers of the Directorate.

8.28 The above approach is already being adopted to a certain degree by the Ajmer and Bhilwara central banks in respect of medium-term loans for purchase of sheep units to identified small/marginal farmers. The purchase of sheep unit of 30 ewes and 1 ram is certified by a committee with representation for the concerned Sheep and Wool Extension Officer. The sheep are either ear-tagged or tattooed in some cases to facilitate identification. The extension/AI centres of the Directorate take special care of the sheep units of the beneficiary farmers by extending their facilities to them. The position obtaining in Udaigarh Kheda GSS, Dhantol, in Bhinai block of Ajmer district visited during the course of the study, can be cited to illustrate the point. The society had issued loans for purchase of sheep flocks to 20 small/marginal farmers. A statement showing the names of beneficiary farmers, date of loan, number of sheep purchased and the present position of sheep stock is contained in Annexure 71. It will be observed therefrom that excepting in three cases the stock has increased substantially in number and most of these flocks have a good number of cross-bred sheep/lambs.

### Need for short-term finance

8.29 The expenditure for maintenance of the sheep flock, in particular the stationary flocks from normal areas, is negligible. The flock owners from the arid and semi-arid zones, by and large, face the problem of nutrition during November to June especially when there is failure of rains which is quite frequent in these regions. In the event of such calamity they need finance either for purchase of fodder, pre-mixed feed and feed pellets or alternatively some cash assistance to migrate the sheep flock temporarily. While a suggestion for making available the needs in kind has been made in the subsequent paragraphs, it may have to be considered whether the assistance in case for a temporary period not exceeding eight months can be allowed to breeders who are required to migrate their flocks. Such cash assistance may have to be linked with the compulsory deposits to be made out of sale proceeds with the marketing organization referred to in later paragraphs.

### **Economics**

8.30 A revised economics for a sheep unit of 30 ewes and one ram inclusive of cost of paddock prepared by the Project Officer, MFAL Agency, Ajmer is given in Annexure 72. It will be seen therefrom that a medium-term loan of Rs 3000 for purchase of a sheep unit can be repaid by the beneficiary farmer in five annual instalments out of the income generated from the sheep flock purchased by him even if the beneficiary is denied the subsidy which is available to small/marginal farmers covered by the SFDA/MFAL Schemes. The repayment schedule given in the economics of the Agency, however, needs partial revision for the following reasons:

- (i) Since the entire expenditure of Rs 3000 will be met from the loan, the equal annual instalments for repayment thereof amount to Rs 600 each.
- (ii) Interest burden had been calculated by the Agency at the rate of 10 per cent per annum. Following the recent upward revision in the Bank Rate, the societies in Rajasthan have enhanced their rate of interest to 13 per cent per annum.

(iii) A reduction of 10 per cent may be made in the expected gross income as an allowance for contingencies like slump in prices.

Taking into consideration the above observations, it may not be possible for the sheep breeder to meet the entire burden of annual instalment together with interest thereon in the initial one/two years. The repayment schedule for the mediumterm loan, while confining the total period to five years, will have to be revised as under:

				Rs		
Year	Gross income@	Instalment	ment Interest	Total (3+4)	Balance (25)	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
First	765	200	390	590	175	
Second	954	400	364	764	190	
Third	1179	600	312	912	267	
Fourth	1611	900	234	1134	477	
Fifth	2061	900	117	1017	1044	
Total	6570	3000	1417	4417	2153	

@ Assumed 10 per cent less than shown in economics.

\*Calculated at 13 per cent per annum. The above table illustrates that the repayment towards princi-

The above table infustrates that the repayment towards principal will be facilitated if the annual instalments are not equal but fixed in an ascending order starting from Rs 200 in the first year to Rs 900 in the fourth and fifth year. This is so because there will be increase in sheep stock of the breeder from year to year coupled with progressive decline of annual interest burden on him. We, therefore, suggest that the repayment of medium-term loan may not be insisted in equal annual instalments but the total burden can be in an ascending order proportionate to the increase in gross income of the breeder. From column 6 of the table, it will be observed that sufficient surplus will be left with the beneficiary to take care of increase in prices of sheep and simultaneous increase in loan amount even if there is no increase in the market price of sheep products.

## Security for loan

8.31 Though the bigger farmers are prone to give full attention to improving their agriculture and, therefore, not interested in sheep breeding activity, the farmers interested in acquisition of sheep flocks are, by and large, small/marginal or economically weak. For obvious reasons, it will be difficult for the small and economically weak farmers to offer landed security of adequate value for the loan. In the paragraphs that follow suggestions regarding development of institutional arrangements for marketing of wool and mutton have been made. If some such arrangements are eventually made, the recovery of loan instalments through sale proceeds can be

148

ensured. We are of the view, therefore, that medium-term loans for purchase of sheep upto Rs 3000 may be extended to economically weak farmers without insistence on mortgage or charge on land on the basis of joint and several liability of a group of not less than 5 farmers. The facility to take a term loan of that order to a farmer who is prepared to mortgage his lands should, however, continue.

# Institutions for dispensation of credit

8.32 We have already recommended in Chapter IV that the existing pacs need restructuring so as to create bigger societies each having an independent full-time paid secretary and a minimum loan business of Rs 2 lakhs. We have suggested the organization of multi-purpose societies as a better alternative to the organization of functional credit societies. This is necessary to avoid the problem of offering security to different institutions for a borrower member. The commercial banks will also prefer to lend for agriculture and allied activities through one base level institution which can be the restructured pacs. The existing pacs in Ajmer and Bhilwara districts are already issuing loans for purchase of sheep flocks without difficulty. During the course of field visits in Jodhpur district it was observed that the managements of primary societies visited were willing and keen to take up the above loan business. For, they felt that they will not only be meeting the genuine requirements of their members, but the activity, if taken up, will help widen their effective coverage. We reiterate, therefore, that no separate institutions for disbursement of credit for purchase of sheep flocks are necessary at the primary level in the state and business, wherever there is potential, may be entrusted to the pacs.

8.33 As regards the district level institutions, it may be stated that the pacs can obtain financial accommodation for the purpose from the concerned co-operative bank or the branch of the state co-operative bank/commercial bank as the case may be.

### Institutional arrangements for marketing

8.34 Although sheep breeding has been an important rural occupation undertaken in the pastures of Rajasthan, the sheep breeders depend, by and large, on private intermediaries for the marketing of their wool and mutton and are thus deprived of a fair return for their products. Although the Directorate has launched a scheme for purchase of wool to free the sheep breeders from the grip of the middlemen, their share in purchase of wool is very limited vis-a-vis the total production. Attempts had been made in the past to organize a few wool

marketing societies like the one at Kekri in Ajmer district. But these societies had become defunct on account of lack of adequate resources, organization and expertise to handle the complex business of wool marketing. Wool prices are susceptible to wide fluctuations and in the absence of trained personnel to handle the sale policy, the activity can prove unprofitable. In the light of these observations any institution created for collection, grading and sale of wool will have to concentrate solely on this business. Besides, it should be in a position to mobilize adequate resources if it is to have a major share in the total wool produced. Further, it should have arrangements for collection of wool from distant villages. Above all, it should have an organization and expertise for efficiently handling wool collection, grading and marketing.

8.35 Another essential requirement is that the profits should partly be retained by the institution itself and partly distributed among the sheep breeders. This will be possible if the institution undertakes to pool the wool and does not make outright purchases. This will simultaneously obviate the institution shouldering the burden of losses in the event of fall in prices. In this connexion, it may be worthwhile to draw on the experience of the arrangements for marketing of cotton in the Broach district of Gujarat.

8.36 In the Broach district pacs issued production finance for cultivation of cotton. A cotton marketing society operates over a wider area corresponding to a block or tehsil. All the primaries in the area are affiliated to the marketing society. The latter has its own arrangements for ginning and pressing of cotton. Individual cultivators pool their cotton directly in the marketing society and are paid an advance equivalent to 75 per cent of the market price of the cotton delivered through their credit society. The cotton tendered is accepted on behalf of not the individual members but the primary society of which they are members. Non-members are not allowed to pool their cotton unless they enrol themselves as members of the primary society of their area. On ginning and pressing of cotton the sale of pressed bales is effected through an union of the marketing societies. The managements of these societies have, however, the freedom to decide the price at which the bales may be sold. On realization of sale proceeds, the ginning and pressing charges and commission are deducted from the sales proceeds and the surplus left is distributed to individual cultivators as final payment through their primary societies in proportion to the quantity and quality of cotton pooled by them. The cultivators are also required to make compulsory deposits at a nominal proportion of their sale proceeds with a view to strengthening the resources of the marketing as well

as primary credit societies. The primary societies adjust 50 per cent of the advance payment towards the loan due from the concerned tenderer and the balance, if any, is recovered at the time of the final payment. Thus, the system ensures complete linking of credit with marketing as also a fair return to the cotton grower. The system is working successfully inasmuch as the influence of middlemen in cotton trade has almost disappeared in the district.

8.37 In the light of observations made above the institutional arrangement for marketing of wool in Rajasthan may have to combine the organization and expertise already available under the government scheme with the experience of cotton marketing in Gujarat. Unlike the cotton sale societies in Broach district, the jurisdiction of a wool marketing society will have to be wider, as the quantity of wool produced in each district in Rajasthan is much lower than that of cotton produced in the Broach district. It is, therefore, suggested that to ensure viability, the sheep and wool marketing society in Rajasthan may serve the whole district. Such a society will need a strong capital base. For example, if the total annual wool production in a district is of the order of Rs 120 lakhs and the society is to handle 75 per cent of such production, its annual sales will be Rs 90 lakhs. Assuming four turnovers, the society may have to hold stocks not exceeding in value Rs 22.50 lakhs. If the bank's margin is 25 per cent of the value, the society will need owned funds of about Rs 5.50 lakhs to provide the margin. In addition, there will be some dead-stock, vehicles, etc. Thus, the owned funds of the society may have to be of the order of Rs 7 lakhs. The membership of the society may be kept open to the state government, the pac's and other co-operative institutions and to individual sheep breeders in the district. Mobilization of share capital from the latter two sources will be limited at least in the beginning and hence initially the state government may have to contribute bulk of the share capital of the district level marketing society. Since on the organization of the marketing society, the goverment scheme for purchase of wool will be withdrawn from the district, the budget provision made in that behalf for the district can perhaps be diverted for contributing to the share capital of the marketing society.

8.38 The managing committee of the marketing society may be nominated for the first two years. The Chairman of the society can be an officer of suitable rank from the Directorate and the Deputy/Assistant Registrar of Co-operative Societies and the Manager of the central bark may be among the directors. The remaining directors should be sheep farmers representing the affiliated pacs. The MD of the society may be an officer on deputation from the Directorate. The state government may have also to place on deputation such other minimum staff from the Sheep and Wool and Co-operative Departments as is necessary to ensure efficient functioning of the society.

8.39 Collection of wool can be made by the existing extension centres of the Directorate. The staff attached to such centres, viz.. an Extension Officer and two stockmen, is at present engaged in the purchase of wool for about four months in a year, i.e., for about 2 months at the time of each shearing. One-third of the annual salary of the staff may, therefore, be reimbursed by the marketing society to the state government. In addition, the society can, in a phased manner, open its own purchase centres. Besides, the society may maintain mobile grading units. Good working primary societies with godown facilities may be authorized to collect wool and keep the same in separate bundles. The mobile unit of the marketing society can visit such primary societies on appointed days to decide on the quantity and quality of wool tendered by each sheep farmer. In short, arrangements are possible to ensure that even the distant villages have purchase points of the marketing society in the vicinity.

8.40 The collection of wool should not be on outright purchase basis. On tendering the wool, the farmer may be entitled to an advance up to say, 75 per cent of the market price of the wool. After collection the wool should be graded and pressed in bales. For this purpose the grading centres available with the state government may be utilized by the district level sheep and wool marketing societies. The society should have complete freedom to decide its sales policy. It may make bulk sales to single parties or hold auctions as often as is necessary. It should, however, aim at quick turnover and avoid carrying over of unsold stocks to the next season. On realization of the sale proceeds, the marketing society should be entitled to certain commission on turnover for meeting its management and other expenses. The balance of the sale proceeds may be distributed as the final payment among sheep farmers in proportion to the quantity and quality of wool pooled by them.

8.41 The first and final payments may be made to the sheep farmers through the primary society of their area. The adoption of the Gujarat system of insisting on even the non-borrowers and non-members to observe this discipline is very necessary to ward off merchants and traders in wool and to ensure that the benefits of the scheme accrue to sheep farmers only. The primary societies can be permitted to make adjustments from the payments, towards the loan dues from the borrower members. 8.42 At the time of transferring the payment to the pacs, the marketing society may deduct compulsorily 3 per cent to 5 per cent of the total sale proceeds towards deposits which may be utilized in its business. In dry months especially in the event of failure of rains, the marketing society may arrange for provision of fodder or pre-mixed feed to the depositor sheep farmers either on cash payment or the selling price may be debited to the sheep farmer's deposit account. However, sheep farmers for whom temporary migration of the flock is inevitable may be allowed withdrawal of their deposit in part or full at the time of migration.

8.43 In addition to the compulsory deposit suggested above, the marketing society may be permitted to make another nominal deduction, say, at one per cent of the sale proceeds to be transferred to the central bank for credit to a Mortality Fund to be maintained by it. The central bank itself can make a small contribution to the fund annually out of its distributable profits. In addition, the state government may sanction grants-in-aid on matching basis for credit of the fund. The fund should be drawn upon to provide partial or full relief in the repayment of medium-term loan instalments to a sheep farmer who is affected by large scale mortality of his sheep flock, say, at least to the extent of 50 per cent, not on account of mismanagement but because of occurrence of an epidemic. For this purpose, the application of the flock owner seeking relief may be routed through the primary society. On receipt of the application, the central bank can arrange for an on-the-spot enquiry by a team comprising the concerned inspector of the bank and Extension Officer of the Directorate. The extent of relief may be decided on the basis of the enquiry report and the loan instalment/s together with interest can be deemed as recovered by debit to the Mortality Fund. Since the sheep farmers obtaining medium-term loans are expected to receive special attention in the matter of vaccination, health cover, etc., from the extension centre of the area, the need for the suggested relief may not be widespread.

8.44 A similar procedure as in the case of wool can be adopted for collection and sale of animals to be disposed of for mutton. In Bhilwara district, the sheep commonly reared belongs to Sonadi variety. The animal is mostly reared for mutton. Presently, traders and merchants in Bhilwara district transport live animals in trucks for sale in Delhi, Ahmedabad and Bombay markets. The same arrangements can be made by the district level sheep and wool marketing society although the return from the sale of animals will be less on account of loss (about 10 per cent) in body weight of animals and mortality of animals (about 5 per cent) in transit and loss of income from skin, bones, etc. But there appears to be no alternative as the establishment of a slaughter house cannot, for obvious reasons, be considered until the district level marketing societies for various districts stabilize their position.

8.45 Once all the districts with potential for sheep development have their own sheep and wool marketing societies, the societies can join in a state level federation. The federation may co-ordinate the activities of the affiliated district societies. It can consider establishment of a slaughter house. Besides, it may in due course make its own arrangements for carding, combing, and carbonization of wool which activity will prove beneficial if the Federation establishes its own woollen mill. However, all these activities have to be considered in a phased programme of development of institutional marketing.

8.46 The RBI sanctioned five year medium-term loan limits to the Ajmer and Bhilwara ccbs for reimbursement of mediumterm loans issued by them to identified small/marginal farmers for purchase of sheep units. In view of the economics contained in paragraph 8.30 above, sanction of five-year limits for the purpose seems justified. Besides, for the reasons mentioned in the same paragraph, fixing of annual instalments for the repayment of principal on a rising scale from year to year may have to be considered. Further, if the arrangements for institutional marketing of sheep and wool on the lines suggested are introduced and the lending programme in respect of loans for purchase of sheep units is finalized in consultation with the District Sheep and Wool Officer, sanction of mediumterm limits for the purpose can be considered by the RBI in respect of all sheep farmers and to other ccbs.

8.47 The proposed district level sheep and wool marketing societies will require cash credit accommodation to finance their marketing business. It may not be possible for the cooperative banking system in Rajasthan to provide such facility without any reimbursement from the RBI. The Bank may be requested to consider providing reimbursement facilities to the district level institutions through the normal channel, viz., the state and central co-operative banks, for financing collection, grading and marketing of sheep and wool. The cash credit limits may be sanctioned for a co-operative year and each drawal under the limit treated as demand loan and allowed the period of 90 days for repayment. A longer period has not been suggested to ensure quick turnover. It has already been suggested that the first payment on the basis of floor price should be made on tender of wool/sheep through the primary society of the concerned sheep farmer. Adoption of such a practice will ensure that the benefits of marketing accommodation

provided by the Reserve Bank do not accrue to traders and middlemen.

# Government aid

8.48 As indicated earlier, the MD of the proposed district sheep and wool marketing society should be an officer on 'deputation from the Directorate. Besides, it has been suggested that certain key personnel for the society may have to be placed on deputation from the Sheep and Wool and Co-operative Departments. Further, the proposed society will reimburse onethird of the annual salary of the staff of extension centres in its area. The above management and other expenses can be met by the society from the commission on turnover to which it will be entitled. This is not possible unless the society handles certain level of business. The proposed society may take three years or more to stand on its own. The state government may have, therefore, to consider sanctioning a suitable management subsidy to each society. Alternatively, the government may place the above staff on duty with the society and bear their salaries, initially for the first three years.

## Goat rearing

8.49 It will be seen from the above paragraphs that suggestions for the creation of an institutional structure for providing credit and marketing facilities for the sheep breeding business is possible because of the availability of an infrastructure that has been built up over the years by the state government. No such infrastructure exists in the case of goat rearing activities. In view of this and also the fact that there are no arrangements for the extension of health cover, AI facilities, etc., we offer no suggestions regarding institutional credit arrangements for financing goat rearing activities.

# CONCLUDING REMARKS

8.50 We have in the above paragraphs considered at length the possibilities of providing institutional facilities for the credit and marketing of sheep in the context of the potential this activity offers from the view point of a guaranteed return to a farmer, particularly from the arid and semi-arid districts in the state. Such a farmer cannot be sure of a regular return from agriculture. Our analysis brings out that with refinance from the higher financing agency, it will not be difficult for the re-organized primaries to provide credit for purchase of sheep flocks especially when we envisage that each such society will be served by a full-time paid secretary. However, the scope for such loans is limited on account of the over exploitation of grazing grounds by the already large sheep population

in the state. At the same time, a large number of farmers, particularly belonging to small and economically weak category. are interested in maintaining a sheep unit as an ancillary occupation. Those having such units may be interested in replacement of their uneconomic sheep by purchasing sheep of better breed. Besides, various programmes are proposed for the development of pastures in the arid and semi-arid districts. The ccbs from the arid and semi-arid zones can, therefore, explore the areas offering scope for loans for purchase of sheep units. However, to avoid over concentration of the sheep population in an area and to integrate credit with extension facilities, each bank will have to draw its annual lending programme for the purpose in consultation with the concerned district office of the Sheep and Wool Directorate. We recommend, therefore, that the GOR and the RSCB may provide broad guidelines and induce the ccbs operating in the arid and semi-arid zones to identify areas and explore the possibility of dispensing credit for sheep breeding on the lines suggested by us.

8.51. The visits to six primary societies during the course of the study taken up at our instance indicates that many farmers residing in the areas of each society are already maintaining sheep units and some of them are also members of the society of their area (Annexure 69). The urgent need is to ensure for them a fair and regular return from their sheep business activity. The same will be true of farmers who will be provided with loans for the purchase of sheep units. The study of nineteen societies undertaken at our instance to assess the causes of poor coverage and lower borrowing membership of pacs has brought out that the performance of a primary society in these matters is closely linked to its ability to provide not only credit but also the range of services needed by the farmer (Section II of Chapter IV). Institutional arrangements for marketing proposed by us assume, therefore, a greater importance. If satisfactory arrangements for marketing of sheep and wool are made, exploitation of farmers by middlemen will be mitigated/ prevented and a fair and regular return assured to the farmers through the credit society of their area. This in turn will help the primary societies to widen their coverage of farmers in their area, expand their loan business and attain viability quickly. The farmers will receive the necessary help for stabilizing their income and may not have to rely solely on the income from agriculture. This itself will help the primary societies to ensure, even in lean years, the recovery of agricultural loans which may not be large in quantum being for low value food crops. In fact, automatic recovery of even agricultural loans will be possible as the society will be in a position to lay hands on return from the sale of sheep products which

#### CONCLUDING REMARKS

have necessarily to be marketea. We, therefore, urge on the state government to seriously consider our suggestions regarding institutional marketing of sheep and wool. A beginning can be made by organizing district level sheep and wool marketing societies for two/three districts from the arid and semi-arid zones. Involvement of the pacs in the arrangements for marketing of sheep products and their close liaison with the proposed district marketing society is very necessary and should on no account be overlooked. The scheme may be extended to other districts in phases depending on the success and experience gained from the pilot district marketing societies. For. ir ensuring suitable institutional frame-work for the developmen. of activities allied to agriculture, of which sheep breeding is the most important, lies the hope of improving the economy of farmers in the arid and semi-arid areas for whom agriculture proper may not be for some time to come a regular surplus generator.

#### CHAPTER IX

# BLOCK-WISE PLAN OF ACTION FOR RE-ORGANIZATION OF PRIMARY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT STRUCTURE

9.01 AFTER reviewing the performance of the primary agricultural credit structure in the state, we have, in Chapter IV, emphasized the need for re-organizing the pacs and spelt out the direction in which this may be brought about. We then indicated that it would be desirable to make an assessment block-by-block and identify the societies to be retained. To facilitate the implementation of this suggestion, we give in this chapter a block-wise plan of action for organization and reorganization of the societies in respect of each of the twentysix districts in the state so as to have ultimately only viable societies by 1978-9.

9.02 In paragraph 4.60 of Chapter IV, we have recommended that the jurisdiction of a primary credit society should normally extend to 2000 hectares of land under cultivation in the normal zone and to 5000 hectares in the arid and semi-arid zones. At the same time, we pointed out that these were only the broad norms and that the actual number of societies to be retained in an area would depend not only on the cropped area but also on the potential for business of at least Rs 2 lakhs to be reached in 1978-9. In drawing the final plan, account has to be taken not only of the business potential as roughly determined with reference to the cropped area, but also of such factors as facility of communications and the financial position and operational efficiency of the concerned societies. The actual location of the society identified to be retained within a given area in the block will depend largely on the latter considerations.

9.03 In view of this position, it becomes necessary first to estimate the amount of loan business that may be handled in 1978-9 by pacs in each block in the state. On the basis of the norms suggested in paragraph 6.03 of Chapter VI, the total short-term credit requirements for the state as a whole work out to about Rs 190 crores. In paragraph 6.04 of the chapter,

we have stated that on a very conservative basis the same may rise by about 5 per cent to Rs 200 crores in 1978-9. We have recommended later in the same chapter that the re-organized societies at the base level should be placed in a position to handle by 1978-9 short-term credit business of Rs 120 crores. i.e., 60 per cent of the credit requirements in that year, with credit support to the extent of Rs 95 crores from the state and central co-operative banks and Rs 25 crores from commercial banks. We may follow the same basis to estimate the shortterm credit requirements in each block in 1978-9 and the level of such business that may be handled by the pacs in the block in 1978-9. At the rate of one society for the short-term credit business of Rs 2 lakhs, the number of societies that will be necessary in each block can also be worked out. This of course presupposes that there will be uniform and even growth and no regional imbalances in the dispensation of agricultural credit in the state. While the removal of regional imbalances in the dispensation of credit is very much necessary and should be the objective, it may not in practice be feasible to totally remove the same for various reasons, the most important being the strength of the intermediate level institutions and their capacity to provide financial support to the base level institutions. In view of this position, the number of pacs that may be retained in a block will vary between the number of such institutions which the block can support (i) on the basis of the gross cropped area and (ii) in relation to the projected level of credit business in 1978-9, depending on the location of the block. To facilitate our block-wise analysis, therefore, we give in Annexure 73 a block-wise statement showing the number of pacs, dormant societies, gross cropped area, the number of societies which each block can support on the basis of gross cropped area, the estimated short-term credit requirements in the block in 1978-9, the level of credit business that may be handled by the primaries in the block in 1978-9 and the number of societies which each block can support in relation to such business.

9.04 Of the 232 blocks in the state, 175 blocks have excess societies, i.e., more than the number that should exist on the basis of the optimum cropped area to be covered by each society. If, however, the number of institutions necessary for a block is related to the projected level of short-term credit business in 1978-9, the number of blocks with excess societies will

rise to 181. An '@' mark is put against the names of these 181 blocks in Annexure 73 to facilitate ready reference. Besides, a separate district-wise list of these blocks is given in Annexure 74. The position is summarized in the table given below:

Blocks with excess societies in relation to expected level of loan business in 1978-9

NTA		_ TA		AZ		SA	Z
District	No. of blocks	District	No. of blocks	District	No. of blocks	District	No. of blocks
Ajmer Alwar Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Pali Sawai Madhopur Tonk	6 13 13 10 2 1 15 6 7 8 10 3	Banswara Chittorgarl Dungarpur Sirohi Udaipur		Barmer Bikaner Churu Jaisalmer	3 1 1 3	Jalore Jhunjhu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar	
Tota	al 94		47		8		32

The zone-wise position is as under:

Zone	Total No. of blocks	No. of blocks with excess societies	
Normal			
(a) NTA	119	94	
(b) TA	48	47	
Arid	22		
Semi-arid	43	32	
Total	232	181	

All the blocks in 10 districts, viz., Bharatpur, Jhalawar and Sawai Madhopur (NTA), Chittorgarh, Dungarpur, Sirohi and Udaipur (TA), Jaisalmer (AZ) and Jhunjhunu and Sikar (SAZ), have excess societies.

9.05 In Annexure 74, the 181 blocks with excess societies have been classified in two categories, viz., (a) blocks wherein the number of dormant societies is less than the number considered excessive in each block and (b) blocks in which the number of dormant societies is more than the number of societies which is considered excessive. Of the 181 blocks, 123 fall in category (a) and 58 in category (b). In respect of blocks in category (a), the re-organization of primary structure may be on the basis of weeding out first all the dormant societies on the assumption

that they are evenly distributed over the entire block. If, however, in a given area with a potential loan business of Rs 2 lakhs, all the existing societies are dormant, a new society will have to be registered if the financial position of all the dormant societies is beyond repair. Otherwise, one of the dormant societies may have to be revived with a wider jurisdiction. Since the number of dormant societies in (a) category blocks is less than the number considered excess, the re-organization will include weeding out not only the dormant institutions but also some non-viable/marginally functioning institutions. In fact, 8 blocks in this category do not have a single dormant institution. To facilitate ready reference, an asterisk mark (\*) is put against the names of these blocks in Annexure 74. In these 8 blocks, the societies to go out will have to be selected from among the functioning institutions. We suggest that the societies to be retained in these blocks may be those as have relatively low overdues and lower bad and doubtful assets and the area of each such society may be extended to the areas of adjoining societies which have to be weeded out. Similar procedure may also be adopted in blocks in which, apart from dormant institutions, some non-viable/marginally functioning institutions will have to be dispensed with.

9.06 In the case of 58 blocks in category (b), while some dormant institutions equivalent approximately to the number of excess societies in each case may have to be weeded out, it may be necessary as in the above case to organize new societies if none of the remaining dormant societies can be revitalized. We suggest that the dormant societies selected for revitalization may be such as have relatively lower level of overdues as also a lower proportion of bad and doubtful assets vis-a-vis the owned funds. Two blocks other than the above 181 blocks, viz., Bagidora in Banswara district and Uniara in Tonk district. can support the existing number of societies, majority of which are, however, dormant. In these two blocks it may not be advisable to start altogether new societies and, therefore, some of the dormant societies may have to be revitalized. The blocks in category (b) include also all the three blocks in Jaisalmer district. The district has 102 pacs, of which 95 are dormant. The district can, however, support only 32 societies. Thus. there are 70 excess societies. The re-organization suggested for the two blocks one each from Banswara and Tonk districts may hold good for Jaisalmer district also.

9.07 It will be advantageous to draw the whole plan with reference to a map for the area of each block showing the location of the existing societies inclu'ling the dormant ones and that of the societies to be retained with their respective jurisdiction. We recommend that this should be attempted by the cen-

tral bank of the district in collaboration with the Assistant Registrar of Co-operative Societies with necessary guidance from the RSCB and the RCS.

9.08 The blocks which can support additional societies in relation to the projected level of loan business at the primary level in 1978-9, number 49. A list of these blocks with the number of additional societies required is contained in Annexure 75. The district-wise position is tabulated below:

District	Total No. of blocks in the district	No. of blocks in which additional societies are required		No. of additional societies required
.(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Normal Zone (NTA)				
Ajmer	8	2	2	11
Alwar	14	ī	$\overline{\overline{2}}$	4
Bhilwara	11	2 1 2 8 2 4 2 2 24	2 2 5 11	4
Bundi	4	$\tilde{2}$	11	18
Ganganagar	9	8	<u>90</u>	369
Jaipur	17	2	12	19
Kota	11	4	3	35
Pali	10	2	19	24
Tonk	6	2	9	7
Sub-total	90	24	153	491
Arid Zone				
Barmer	8	5	28	132
Bikaner	8 4	5 3 6	53	28
Churu	ż	6	90	84
Sub-total	19	14	171	244
Semi-arid Zone				
Jalore	7	3	64	99
Jodhpur	ģ	3 5 3	60	72
Nagaur	1Í	3	66	17
Sub-total	27	11	190	188
Total	136	49	514	92 <b>3</b>

From the above table, it will be seen that in the 49 blocks listed in Annexure 75, 923 more societies can be supported on the basis of the loan potential. Besides, 514 dormant societies in these blocks will have to be revitalized. Bulk of the new societies required (801 out of 923) are, however, accounted for by 33 blocks in the district of Ganganagar and six districts from the arid and semi-arid zones. These 33 blocks have also 451 dormant institutions. However, the above position emerges on the assumption that the primary societies in each block in the state will in 1978-9 meet 60 per cent of the short-term credit needs. As already indicated, the realization of this objective

will largely depend on the credit support that may be forthcoming to the pacs in their area from the concerned ccbs. At least five of the fifteen central banks in whose jurisdiction the registration of new societies may be necessary, have been identified by us in Chapter III as not having even the minimum level of efficiency. These are Barmer, Bikaner, Churu, Jalore and Nagaur central banks. We have proposed that these banks may be allowed continued existence subject to a review of their performance in 1978-9 on the condition that the Barmer and Bikaner banks should take up the level of their shortterm loan business to Rs 150 lakhs each by 1978-9 and that the other three banks, viz., Churu, Jalore and Nagaur, should increase their such business to at least Rs 100 lakhs each by that year. Even if these five banks satisfy the above condition, the primaries in the areas of at least four banks (i.e., barring Bikaner) will not be in a position to meet 60 per cent of the short-term credit needs for want of adequate credit support from the concerned banks, despite introduction of commercial banks to shoulder a part of their responsibility, as can be seen from the table given below.

**Rs** Crores

District	Estimated short-term credit	Credit that will have to be met by primaries in	Credit sup expected f	
	potential in 1978-9	the district if they meet 60% of the credit needs	the com- mercial banks	the central bank of the district
Barmer Bikaner Churu Jalore Nagaur	12.28 4.92 9.65 9.03 10.12	7 37 2 95 5.79 5.42 6.07	2.60 1.20 2.40 1.60 2.20	4.77 1.75 3.39 3.82 3.87

Thus, while with concerted efforts the Bikaner bank may be in a position to provide the needed credit support to the primary societies in its area, the societies in the other four districts are not likely to receive the required financial assistance from the concerned central bank. In view of this position, we are of the opinion that the question of organizing 332 new societies in 17 blocks of the districts of Barmer, Churu, Jalore and Nagaur may not arise at least till the end of the Fifth Five Year Plan. We recommend, therefore, that in so far as the 17 blocks in the above four districts are concerned, the existing number of pacs in each block may be deemed as adequate and that the efforts for re-organization of primary societies in these blocks may be restricted to revitalization of the existing dormant societies to the extent possible by 30 June 1977.

163

9.09 As regards the 32 blocks in the remaining 11 districts, we are of the view that the question of organizing 591 new societies in these blocks in the next four years cannot be altogether ruled out as the concerned central banks can, with strenuous efforts, manage to render the necessary credit support in 1978-9 to the primary societies in their respective districts. However, even in the case of these 32 blocks, we would suggest that during the first one or two years, the efforts may be concentrated on revitalizing the existing dormant institutions and the question of organizing additional societies may be considered thereafter depending on the increase in the support from the cfas.

### Over-all picture

9.10 In the above paragraphs, we have suggested that while the area of a primary credit society may broadly cover 2000 hectares of land under cultivation in the normal zone and 5000 hectares of land in the arid and semi-arid zones, the actual number of societies to be retained in a block will have to be linked to the projected level of short-term credit business that is expected to be handled by the primary level institutions in the block by 1978-9. On this basis, the number of excess societies in 181 blocks works out to 2664 and the number of additional societies required in 49 blocks is 923. Two blocks, viz., Bagidora in Banswara district and Uniara in Tonk district, have neither excess societies nor organization of new societies in the blocks is necessary. The list of 181 blocks is contained in Annexure 74 and that of 49 blocks in Annexure 75. The total number of societies that should be retained in the state on this basis will work out to 6000 as under:

Existing number of societies Less: Excess societies in 181 blocks	7741 2664
Add: Additional societies necessary in 49 blocks	5077 923
	6000

However, we have suggested that organization of 332 new societies in 17 blocks from the districts of Barmer, Churu, Jalore and Nagaur may not be necessary. To facilitate ready reference, an asterisk mark (\*) is put against the names of these 17 blocks in Annexure 75. Thus, the total number of societies that may emerge in the state in 1978-9 will be 5668 (6000-332). This is inclusive of 591 new societies which may have to be registered in 32 blocks as indicated in paragraph 9.09.

9.11 Besides, we have recommended in Chapter VII that steps may be initiated to organize special types of societies by amalgamating/by-passing some of the existing societies in six blocks in

164

the tribal area, viz., two each from the districts of Banswara and Dungarpur and one each from the districts of Chittorgarh and Udaipur. After re-organization of the existing societies into viable units, each tribal block in these four districts will support, on an average, 12 societies in Banswara district, 20 societies in Chittorgarh district and 10 societies each in Dungarpur and Udaipur districts. If special types of societies are organized in six tribal blocks in these four districts, the number of 'Adimiati Seva Samitis' in each such block will be 50 per cent of the number of viable societies which the block can support. Thus, organization of special societies in tribal blocks will result in reduction in the total number of societies by 12 (6 x 2) in Banswara district, 10 in Chittorgarh district, 10 (5 x 2) in Dungarpur district and 5 in Udaipur district. The number of societies will thus be less by 37. By deducting this number from the total number of societies that can be retained in the state at 5668 as worked out in paragraph 9.10 above, we feel that it will be sufficient if the programme of re-organization is pushed through with vigour to reduce the number of pacs in the state from 7741 as on 30.6.74 to 5631 (5668-37) or, say, about 5600 by 1978-9 all over the state inclusive of the special societies in the tribal belt. The district-wise position is indicated in Annexure 76.

9.12 On the recommendations of the National Commission on Agriculture, the GOI have advised the state governments to organise a few farmers service societies in each state on an experimental basis. Two models have been suggested in this behalf; one which will cover the entire area of a block and the other to cover an area with approximately 10000 rural population. As the former society will cover a wide area, it will have an appropriate number of branches for effective service to, and the convenience of, farmers, whereas the latter having a limited jurisdiction will have no branches. Each of these societies will have a highly qualified MD, whose salary and other allowances are expected to be met for an initial period of at least three years by the financing bank. The commercial banks have agreed to do so in respect of the societies that may be financed by them. There is no objection to a central bank undertaking to finance a farmers service society provided it agrees and can afford to meet the cost of the MD. The RBI does not consider a ccb as capable of shouldering the responsibility unless it has been paying a minimum dividend of 5 per cent. Each farmers service society must have at least three technical personnel whose cost will be borne by the government on a tapering basis for a period of five years. The technical staff is intended to provide guidance to the members of the societies and must be under the exclusive control of the MD. The managing committee of the farmers service society should also provide for a

majority for the representatives of small farmers. The idea is that the interest of the small farmers should receive the necessary attention. The society is expected to provide not only short and medium-term agricultural credit, but also long-term development credit which is at present provided by the land development banks. It will also undertake supply of agricultural inputs and distribution of consumer goods as also the marketing of the members' agricultural produce. With a view to giving a society scope to develop its business to a large scale, so that it may become a viable unit within the course of five years, it has to be given exclusive jurisdiction over its area of operation, whether it is a block-level society or a society covering smaller area. It follows, therefore, that the pacs within the area of the farmers service society must be amalgamated with it or liquidated. In the meantime, a decision has to be taken to starve the other societies of fresh finance by the ccb or the commercial bank. These farmers service societies have two distinctive features. Firstly, they will integrate credit not only with supplies, but also with technical guidance and services. Secondly, the societies will have a distinct bias in favour of small farmers who have so far not received adequate attention from the institutional credit agencies as well as the extension departments.

9.13 In Rajasthan steps have already been initiated for organization of a farmers service society with jurisdiction of less than a block in Kotri block of Bhilwara district. The society is proposed to be financed by the Bank of Baroda. We strongly recommend that the state government may initiate steps to organise at least three more farmers service societies in the state, one each in the non-tribal area and the arid and semiarid zones. Organization of such a society in the tribal area may not be necessary as we have proposed special types of societies for the tribals. We have already recommended that in 91 blocks in the state the commercial banks may be invited to finance pacs. Since none of the central banks in the state has been paying a dividend of five per cent or more, the proposed farmers service societies will have to be organized in the blocks in which the commercial banks will be invited to finance pacs. Organization of farmers service societies in the state may be an integral part of the programme of re-organization of primary credit structure suggested by us.

9.14 In order to ensure that the programme of re-organization of the primary credit structure is completed in good time, we would urge the GOR to adhere to the following time schedule:

(i) Identification of societies to be weeded out should be completed by 31.12.75 by the RCS in consultation with the

166

concerned ccbs. After obtaining approval of the state government to the programme, necessary instructions to the concerned institutions should be issued by the Registrar by that date.

(ii) The societies so identified should be allowed six months' time, i.e. 1.1.76 to 30.6.76, to go into voluntary liquidation.

(iii) If the societies fail to even initiate action within the stipulated time, the Co-operative Department should use their statutory powers to bring about the required re-organization and central banks should deny fresh finance to such institutions.

(iv) The entire programme of re-organization including revitalization of dormant institutions, where necessary, should be completed by 30.6.77.

(v) The question of organization of additional societies wherever warranted, should be considered during the year 1977-8 and, if necessary, in 1978-9.

(vi) The organization of special societies in six tribal blocks should be taken up in a phased manner from 1975-6 onwards and completed in three years, i.e., by 30.6.78.

#### CONCLUDING REMARKS

9.15 The above block-wise analysis brings out that the total number of pacs in the state may be about 5600 as against 6000 estimated by us earlier in Chapter IV on the basis of broad analysis for the entire state. The short-fall arises because it may not be necessary to organize additional pacs in the districts of Barmer, Churu, Jalore and Nagaur as we expect that for want of adequate credit support from the concerned central banks. the primaries in these districts may not be in a position to meet 60 per cent of the short-term credit needs by 1978-9. At the same time, in some prosperous districts like Alwar, Bundi, Jhalawar and Kota, these institutions at the base level may be in a position to take up the level of the short-term credit business in 1978-9 even to more than 60 per cent of the credit potential. Thus, the short-fall in meeting credit needs to the projected level in the above four relatively less developed districts may be more than compensated by better performance in some prosperous districts. We, therefore, do not consider it necessary to revise the target of Rs 120 crores fixed by us earlier for the short-term credit business to be handled in 1978-9 by the pacs for the state as a whole. It follows, however, that some regional imbalances in the dispensation of short-term agricultural credit will continue in 1978-9. But they will at least be narrowed down. Besides, we hope that with the imple-

## 168 RE-ORGANIZATION OF PRIMARY STRUCTURE

mentation of the plan of re-organization of primary credit structure on the lines suggested by us and the steps that will be taken to strengthen the weak central banks, the relatively less developed areas in the state will be provided with sufficiently strong institutional structure which in turn will facilitate removal of regional imbalances in the dispensation of agricultural credit, in course of time.

#### CHAPTER X

# OVERDUES IN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

10.01 In Chapter VI we have estimated that the co-operative credit institutions and the commercial banks may be able to handle short-term agricultural production credit of the order of Rs 130 crores of which Rs 120 crores are expected to flow through pacs financed in some areas of the state by commercial banks in addition to the ccbs and the RSCB. We have also emphasized in another chapter the need for re-organizing the pacs into strong and viable units each employing a full-time paid secretary and if necessary, complementary staff because without a competent unit at the base level it may not be realistic to expect a quick growth in the provision of credit. In fact, it may even be unwise to bring about a rapid expansion without satisfactory arrangements for integrating credit with inputs and services and for efficient supervision over the end use of credit. Besides, the full-time paid secretaries will be in a position to produce a better recovery performance. Credit institutions depending on borrowings from outside in the form of loans or deposits cannot hope to take rapid strides towards meeting the credit gaps unless they can sustain the confidence of the outside creditors by their satisfactory record of recovery of the dues. The smooth flow of the credit channel can get blocked by overdues some of which may be for reasons beyond the control of the borrowers. We propose to state the factual position in regard to the position of overdues at the different levels of the co-operative credit structure before we try to analyse the causes of the overdues and suggest measures to solve the problem. It may be necessary to adopt short-term as well as long-term measures in that behalf so as to create conditions favourable for the growth of institutional credit for agriculture. Fortunately for us this matter has been examined at length by the Overdues Study Team. We have drawn extensively on the report of the Team, which was submitted in 1974, in making our own recommendations about the appropriate measures necessary to keep the overdues under control.

170 OVERDUES IN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

#### Magnitude of overdues

10.02 The magnitude of the problem of overdues in Rajasthan will be evident from the following table:

Rs Lakhs

Item 1968-9 1969-70 1970-71 1971-2 1972-3 1973-4 Primary level (i) Overdues 555.65 764.98 1032.83 1458.47 1144.36 1261.25 (ii) % of overdues to 31 36 43 38 outstandings 44 63 (iii) Owned funds 535.34 632.54 728.03 786.29 875.29 1069.94 143.44 179.84 200.70 (iv) Deposits 117.79 121.55 130.30 (v) Internal resources (iii)+(iv)653.13 754.09 858.33 929.73 1055.13 1270.64 Central bank level (i) Overdues 623.40 862.40 1088.52 1561.28 1128.90 1344.66 (ii) % of overdues to demand 30 38 42 57 42 38 (iii) Owned funds 471.87 549.05 624.48 702.11 787.60 877.63 (iv) Deposits 585.15 681.73 821.12 961.12 1258.80 1558.98 (v) Internal resources 1057.02 1230.78 1445.60 1663.23 2046.40 2436.61 (iii) + (iv)

The overdues at the level of pacs in the state on 30.6.69 were within the internal resources of the societies comprising their owned funds and 'deposits. But due to continued deterioration thereafter up to 1971-2 and in spite of some improvement in 1972-3, the overdues at the end of June 1973 exceeded the internal resources of these institutions by Rs 89.23 lakhs. In some districts, the excess was so great that even the concerned central banks found it difficult to absorb the same at In 1973-4, the overdues increased further to their levels. Rs 12.61 crores but were absorbed by the internal resources of the primaries which had increased to Rs 12.71 crores in that year. For the state as a whole, the overdues at the central bank level exceeded the owned funds of the banks throughout the period 1968-9 to 1973-4. In some banks the bulk or all of their internal resources were locked up in overdues thereby affecting greatly their ability to take up increased lending programmes. Such a state of affairs, if allowed to continue will leave little hope for the co-operative credit institutions for taking up the loans for short-term agricultural purposes to the levels envisaged by us.

#### Types of default

10.03 Default in repayment of his dues in time by a borrower may be due to his reluctance or his inability on account of

circumstances beyond his control such as failure of crops caused by natural calamities. In the latter case, he is entitled for relief under the stabilization arrangements which were introduced in the co-operatives all over the country following the recommendations of the Survey Committee. It is possible, however, that for one reason or another, such as failure to pay interest on the outstanding loan, delay in the declaration of annewari by the state government and unwillingness of the societies or central banks to provide the facility, loans for converting the short-term dues into medium-term loans might have been denied to those who were otherwise eligible for the same. We may, therefore, distinguish between defaulters of the latter category and those in the former. While there may be a case on the one hand to provide relief, even though delayed, to such defaulters as had not received earlier the conversion facility under the stabilization arrangements so as to open the line of credit to them, it is necessary on the other hand to pursue relentlessly the action for recovery against those whose defaults are wilful.

10.04 A non-wilful defaulter has been defined by the Overdues Study Team and the Maharashtra Study Team as one who could not repay his dues for reasons beyond his control and in whose case the stabilization assistance which was introduced to meet such a contingency was unfortunately not extended. We have no reason to take a different view in the matter. The programme for rehabilitation of non-wilful defaulters implemented in Maharashtra during April-June 1973 in terms of the recommendations contained in the Interim Report of the Maharashtra Study Team is given in brief in the following paragraphs.

#### Maharashtra Study Team

10.05 The Maharashtra Study Team observed that there had been widespread failure of crops in the state in 1970-71, 1971-2 and 1972-3. If a cultivator with holdings in a village affected by natural calamity in 1970-71 had not been given the benefit of conversion, he would have continued to be a defaulter in 1971-2 and perhaps also in 1972-3. Similar might be the case of a borrower affected in 1971-2. Again, on the same analogy, a borrower in 1969-70 might have perhaps repaid his loan, but for the crop failure in that year. The Team was of the view that these cases might deserve relief in the form of conversion of the overdue loans, and recommended that relief should be confined primarily to those members whose cultivated holdings were situated in villages affected by natural calamity in any one of the four years between 1969-70 and 1972-3 and who had defaulted to the pacs on any date

### 172 OVERDUES IN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

from 31.10.69 to 30.6.72, the intention being that defaults in respect of agricultural loans borrowed in 1969-70 to 1971-2, need alone be covered under the programme. Defaults prior to October 1969 were excluded as the concerned cultivators had quite a few normal years since then. Defaults in 1972-3 were excluded as it was presumed that, wherever necessary, they would be taken care of under the normal stabilization arrangements. The Maharashtra Study Team suggested exclusion of the following categories of defaulters:

- (i) those who had taken a loan for sugarcane, banana cultivation, orchard or plantation crops in conjunction with other crops, provided the income from the former was at least 75 per cent of their total agricultural income;
- (ii) those who were income-tax or agricultural income-tax assessees; and
- (iii) those who had deceived the societies by showing fictitious acreage or crops.

10.06 The Team felt that no discrimination need be made against such cultivators as had one or two normal years during the three years preceding 1972-3 in view of the widespread and acute scarcity conditions in the affected villages. However, since these cultivators had the benefit of one or two normal years, there would be sufficient justification if, as part of the rehabilitation programme, they were required to make partial repayment towards the principal amount under default, besides paying interest in full, depending on the number of normal years that intervened during the period 1969-70 to 1971-2.

10.07 The relief to non-wilful defaulters suggested by the Maharashtra Study Team was as under:

- (i) If 1972-3 was a normal year the defaulter might be required to pay the interest in full and 25 per cent of the principal amount, if only one of the preceding three years was a normal year.
- (ii) If two out of the three preceding years in addition to 1972-3 were normal years, he should pay the interest in full and 50 per cent of the principal amount under default.
- (iii) The part payment towards principal amount at 25 per cent, or 50 per cent as the case may be together with interest should not exceed the repaying capacity assumed at 58.33 per cent of the value of gross produce.
- (iv) If all the preceding three years were bad years and if only 1972-3 was a normal year, the member need pay only the interest in full.
- (v) If, however, the year 1972-3 was also a scarcity year, irrespective of the preceding three years being scarcity years or otherwise, the defaulter might not be required to pay any amount towards principal or interest. While the principal amount of the loan might be converted into a medium-term loan of three or five years, interest be collected in full in the year 1973-4.

10.08 In pursuance of the recommendations of the above Team, the Commissioner for Co-operation, Maharashtra, issued a set of instructions in April 1973, in terms of which Taluka/Block Level Committees were set up to screen the cases of all defaulter-members of pacs with a view to bringing only the non-wilful defaulters within the purview of the scheme for rehabilitation. The period of rehabilitation loan was limited to three or five years depending on the repaying capacity of the concerned cultivator which was assumed at 58.33 per cent of the value of gross produce. The idea was to keep the burden of instalment of rehabilitation loan and the fresh finance for cultivation as also the burden of interest thereon within the repaying capacity of the rehabilitated borrower. Acutal adjustments at the society level were passed on the basis of rehabilitation order for each eligible defaulter passed by the Taluka/ Block Level Committee. It was found that about 4.58 lakh defaulters forming 43 per cent of the total defaulters at 10.75 lakhs as on 30.6.72 at the primary level in Maharashtra accounting for overdues amounting to Rs 36 crores, i.e., nearly 50 per cent of the total overdues at Rs 74 crores, were non-wilful and were eligible for relief.

#### Recommendations of the Overdues Study Team

10.09 The overdues Study Team observed that as in Maharashtra the borrowers in other parts of the country, especially in states like Andhra Pradesh, Bihar and Rajasthan, though affected by natural calamities, were denied stabilization loans for one reason or another. Besides, relief in the second consecutive year of calamity was, by and large, never given. With a view, therefore, to clearing the backlog of overdues to a sizeable extent and also re-opening a line of credit which would facilitate production efforts, the Team recommended that all-defaulters with cultivated holdings in villages affected by natural calamity in one or more years during the three-year period 1970-71 to 1972-3 should be considered as eligible for relief under the rehabilitation programme, with the exception of the following cultivators:

- (a) those who had deceived the society by showing false landholdings or crops with a view to securing more credit than they would be otherwise eligible for;
- (b) those who had obtained loans for sugarcane, banana, orchard or plantation crops in conjunction with other crops provided the income from the former was 75 per cent or more of their gross agricultural income; and
- (c) those whose gross agricultural income was above Rs 5000, i.e., big farmers whose capacity to withstand frequent crop failures, in a comparative sense, could be deemed as much greater than others.

10.10 Assuming the repaying capacity of the defaulter eligible for relief at 58.33 per cent (60 per cent for the sake of

administrative convenience) of the value of gross produce, the nature and extent of relief suggested by the Overdues Study Team was as under:

(i) Default under one loan --

The loan under default might be converted into a three-year rehabilitation loan.

(ii) Default under two loans -

A short-term and a medium-term loan

A six-year rehabilitation loan might be granted which would accommodate the aggregate burden within the borrower's repaying capacity.

(iii) Default under three loans-

The default might be in respect of three loans, viz., a conversion loan, a short-term loan and a medium-term loan, the latter two having been borrowed in the second year of natural calamity. Fifty per cent of the conversion loan (the earliest loan in point of time) might be written off by making use of the 'Agricultural Credit Relief Fund' and the aggregate of the balance of this loan and the remaining two loans might be re-scheduled as a seven-year loan.

(iv) Default under four loans-

The contingency would arise when the calamity was for three successive years and the borrower was given conversion facilities in the first and second year but not in the third year and was, therefore, a defaulter in respect of not only two conversion loans but also a short-term loan and a medium-term loan, the latter two loans having been borrowed in the third successive year of natural calamity. The first conversion loan and 50 per cent of the second conversion loan might be written off by utilizing assistance from the Relief Fund. The balance of overdue loans might be re-scheduled as a seven-year loan.

10.11 Repayment of part of the principal amount under default was envisaged by the Overdues Study Team prior to the conversion of balance overdue amount into a medium-term loan. The Team recommended part repayment towards the principal amount under default, besides payment of interest in full, depending on the number of normal years that intervened during the period 1970-71 to 1972-3. The relief to non-wilful defaulters as suggested by the Overdues Study Team has been indicated in paragraph 10.10 above. It has also recommended that penal interest should be waived on all overdue loans eligible for inclusion in the rehabilitation programme.

## Incidence of drought in Rajasthan

10.12 A statement showing the district-wise position of the number of villages affected by natural calamity in Rajasthan in each of the years 1968-9 to 1972-3, is given in Annexure 77. It will be seen therefrom that in 1968-9 scarcity conditions were widespread inasmuch as the *annewari* declared was below 6 annas in respect of over 90 per cent of the villages in the arid zone, over 70 per cent in the semi-arid zone and the tribal area and over 30 per cent in the non-tribal area.

174

The severity of drought was relatively less in 1969-70. In 1970-71 the crop conditions were near normal throughout the state. The position continued in 1971-2 in the districts of the non-tribal area and the semi-arid zone, but the number of villages with *annewari* below 6 annas in that year exceeded 40 per cent of the total in the tribal area and the arid zone. The scarcity conditions were widespread throughout the state in 1972-3. Besides, the crops in a large number of districts in the normal zone were heavily damaged in the year 1973-4 due to heavy rains, floods or severe cold wave.

### . Relief under stabilization arrangements

10.13 The Overdues Study Team which examined, inter alia, the delays in granting relief under the stabilization arrangements in the various states had observed that in Rajasthan there was a time lag of four to six months between the actual occurrence of natural calamity and the certification/declaration of *annewari* and a further delay of two to three months or even more on the part of credit institutions in completing other procedural formalities. In the context of denial of conversion loans, the Team observed as under:

In the case of Maharashtra, as reported by the Maharashtra Study Team, a sizeable part of the default in the state at the primary level was due to denial of stabilization loans. The position had been somewhat similar in quite a few other states also. This would be evident from the fact that quite a few central banks, especially in the states of Bihar, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh, did not even apply for any conversion limits from the Reserve Bank, although a sizeable percentage of villages in their areas was affected by natural calamity in 1971-2 and 1972-3. (page 137).

The fact that all those who approached for relief in a famine year did not receive relief under the stabilization arrangements in Rajasthan was established during the on-the-spot studies of 104 pacs (Please see Section II of Chapter IV).

10.14 Besides, a large number of borrowers affected by natural calamity may not have approached their society for conversion of their short-term loans because of their inability to pay interest on the loans due or because the society itself was dormant.

10.15 In the light of the famine conditions that affected different parts of Rajasthan during the period 1968-9 to 1973-4 and the observations made in paragraphs 10.13 and 10.14 above, we, in agreement with the Maharashtra Study Team and the Overdues Study Team, recommend that relief is called for in the case of all such defaulters as were affected by famine and whose defaults are on account of denial of stabilization loans to them for one reason or another. However, with a view to ensuring that the benefit of relief accrues only to those for whom it is intended and not to wilful defaulters, it will be necessary to fix some objective criteria, in the manner suggested by the previous two Study Teams but with some variations to suit the local conditions for clearly defining a nonwilful 'defaulter.

## Criteria for defining non-wilful defaulters

10.16 In Rajasthan, the crop conditions were normal in 1970-71 throughout the state as also in 1971-2 in twelve districts of the non-tribal area and five districts of the semi-arid zone. About forty per cent of the villages were affected by natural calamity in 1971-2 in nine districts comprising the arid zone and the tribal area. Thus, cultivators affected by natural calamity in 1968-9 and/or 1969-70 had, by and large, received the advantage of one or two normal years, i.e., in 1970-71 and/or 1971-2. The incidence of drought was widespread in 1972-3 throughout the state and the crops in seventeen districts in the normal zone were extensively damaged by heavy rains, floods or severe cold in 1973-4. We, therefore, recommend that all defaulters with cultivated holdings in villages affected by natural calamity in one or more years, i.e., where the annewari declared is 6 annas or less, during the three-year period 1971-2 to 1973-4 should be considered as non-wilful and eligible for relief under a rehabilitation programme provided their defaults occurred during the period October 1971 to June 1974 with the exception of the following cultivators:

- (a) those who have either deceived the society by showing false landholdings or crops with a view to securing more credit than they would have been otherwise eligible for or have been issued fresh finance although they were in default to their society;
- (b) those who obtained loans for sugarcane, banana, orchard or plantation crops in conjunction with other crops provided the income from the former is at least 75 per cent of their gross agricultural income;
- (c) those whose gross agricultural income is above Rs 5000 per annum; and
- (d) those who are income-tax or agricultural income-tax assessees.

10.17 While the exclusion of defaulters falling in categories (a) to (c) in the above paragraph is on the lines of the recommendations of the Overdues Study Team, we feel that disqualification as at (d) should be added on the lines of the recommendations of the Maharashtra Study Team with a view to denying relief to those who no doubt have small holdings but in actual fact are having non-agricultural income of taxable level and are relatively affluent.

## Nature and extent of relief

10.18 The extent of relief may be the same as recommended by the Overdues Study Team (paragraph 10.10 above). Part payment towards the principal amount in default as also payment of overdue interest may also be insisted upon as suggested by the above Team if the year 1974-5 is a normal year for the cultivator to be covered by the rehabilitation programme. If the year 1974-5 is a calamity year, the overdue interest may be recovered in the subsequent year, i.e., 1975-6. Besides, as suggested by the Overdues Study Team, penal interest may be waived on all overdue loans eligible for inclusion in the rehabilitation programme. Accordingly, the nature and extent of relief suggested by us in this behalf will be as given in the following paragraphs.

10.19 The nature and extent of relief depends on the number and quantum of loans defaulted by a member. Loans borrowed for non-agricultural purposes should, however, be excluded. The relief required under different situations will be as under:

### (i) Default under one loan

If the default is in respect of only one short-term loan, the amount may be converted into a three-year medium-term (rehabilitation) loan. The annual repayments in respect of this loan together with the short-term loan for current agricultural operations will be well within the borrower's repaying capacity.

## (ii) Default under two loans

A member might have borrowed a short-term as well as a medium-term loan in a year and if that year was affected by natural calamity and if the member was not granted conversion under the normal stabilization arrangements, the default might be subsisting under both the loans. From the illustration given in Annexure 78, it will be seen that a six year rehabilitation loan will be required to accommodate within the repaying capacity, the aggregate burden in respect of these two loans as well as the short-term loan for current agricultural operations.

## (ii) Default under three loans

Even if a member was granted conversion for the short-term loan in the first year of natural calamity, he might have been denied rephasement of such loan in the second successive year of natural calamity. In that case the default might be in respect of three loans, viz., a conversion loan, a short-term and a medium-term loan, the latter two having been borrowed in the second year of natural calamity. Since the burden is in respect of three loans, a longer period of repayment will be required. Besides, it will be seen from the illustration given in Annexure 79, that 50 per cent of the conversion loan, the earliest loan in point of time, has to be written off and the aggregate of the

### 178 OVERDUES IN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

balance of this loan and the remaining two loans can then be re-scheduled as a seven-year loan which will keep the annual repayments within the repaying capacity.

### (iv) Default under four loans

If the calamity was for three successive years, default might have occurred if the borrower was not granted conversion for the short-term loan in the third year. Theoretically, therefore, the default could be in respect of four loans, viz., (1) short-term loan originally converted in the first year of natural calamity and subsequently rephased in the second year of natural calamity, (2) another short-term loan converted in the second year of natural calamity, (3) the third short-term loan not converted in the third year of calamity and (4) a normal medium-term loan. We have already seen that a part of the first conversion loan has to be written off when the default is in respect of three loans. Therefore, in the case of default under four loans, the write off has to be for (i) the first conversion loan and (ii) 50 per cent of the second conversion loan. If this is done, the balance of overdue loans can be re-scheduled as a seven-year loan as in Annexure 79.

10.20 The illustrations given above are in respect of defaulters other than big farmers. These are theoretical illustrations which assume maximum possible defaults under different situations. In a very large majority of cases default is not likely to be more than under one or two loans at the most (as indicated subsequently in paragraph 10.26), and can well be accommodated, without any write off, within the maximum period of seven years, as repayment of part of the principal under default is also envisaged under certain conditions. The big farmers, i.e., whose gross agricultural income exceeds Rs 5000 per annum have been totally excluded from the purview of the rehabilitation programme as indicated in paragraph 10.16.

. . .

# Part payment of overdue loan as a precondition for relief

10.21 In most parts of the state the current year (1974-5) has been a normal year. One or two of the preceding three years might have been normal years in the case of some of the defaulters. Such of those as are eligible for inclusion under the rehabilitation programme, but have enjoyed the benefit of normal year or years during the three years preceding 1974-5 should be required to repay a part of the principal amount as detailed below and then only the balance of overdue loans should be converted:

(i) If the year 1974-5 is a normal year, the defaulter should pay at least 25 per cent of the principal amount under default provided one or two of the preceding three years (1971-2 to 1973-4) were normal years. The aggregate of the payment so required in respect of principal together with the overdue interest should not, however, exceed 60 per cent of the value of gross produce. If it exceeds, that part of the excess should be reduced from the principal amount required to be paid by the defaulter and the balance converted as a rehabilitation loan. We have given in Annexure 80 the details of the part payments towards the principal of overdue loans that may be required to be made by the defaulter. It will be seen therefrom that if the default is in respect of two loans, he can repay 25 per cent of the amount under default as part payment in 1974-5 as the burden in respect of repayment of both the part principal and the overdue interest will be well within is repaying capacity. If the default is in respect of three loans, the part payment can be only up to 17.2 per cent of the overdue loans. The repayment of part of the principal will be further reduced to 12.2 per cent of the overdue loans if the default is in respect of four loans. In other words, the governing consideration should be that part repayment should be limited to either 25 per cent of the principal amount under default or the balance of repaying capacity available, after providing for payment of overdue interest in full, whichever is less. If part payment towards the principal amount in default is effected in 1974-5 on the lines indicated in Annexure 80, it will further be noted that the annual repayment schedule fixed for the rehabilitation loan indicated in Annexures 78 and 79 can be reduced by at least one year in all cases as part recovery effected can be more than the annual instalment or in such cases there may be either no need to write off at all or the write off can be reduced correspondingly. Thus, in the case of defaults in respect of three loans given in Annexure 79, there is no need to write off 50 per cent of the first conversion loan as part repayment by the defaulter will be 60 per cent of the short-term loan. Similarly, in the case of defaults under four loans where the write off needed is in respect of the first conversion loan and 50 per cent of the second conversion loan, the write off of the first conversion loan alone will be adequate as part repayment in that case also will be more than 50 per cent of the second conversion loan.

(ii) If the year 1974-5 is, however, a calamity year the defaulter need not be asked to repay any part of the overdue loan.

### Relief in respect of overdue interest

10.22 The issue is whether the payment of overdue inte from the date of default to the date of granting of rehabilitation loan should be a condition for the relief. The size of the burden in this regard will depend on the number of loans under default and the ability to repay this will depend on the fact whether the year 1974-5 is a normal year or not. It has been worked out and indicated in Annexure 80 that the interest burden will form 33.33 per cent of the value of gross produce, if the default was in respect of two loans, 38.33 per cent for three loans and 40 per cent for four loans and as such can be paid. The defaulter shall, therefore, pay the overdue interest in full if the year 1974-5 is a normal year irrespective of whether the previous years were good or bad. If, however, the year 1974-5 is a calamity year, he need pay the overdue interest only in the subsequent year, i.e., 1975-6.

10.23 As all these are overdue loans, the societies may have charged penal interest. We recommend that on all overdue loans eligible for inclusion under the rehabilitation programme, penal interest should be waived. Such a waiver will not affect the profits of the society as the income by way of penal interest is only a contingent income and the society does not forgo any part of its normal margin.

## Estimate of non-wilful default

10.24 On the basis of norms recommended for relief under the rehabilitation programme for non-wilful defaulters, an attempt has been made to make a rough estimate of the amount that will qualify for inclusion within the purview of this programme. Accordingly, in Annexure 81, estimates have been made district by district. We have made these estimates, in the absence of district-wise data about the incidence of drought in 1973-4, with reference to the overdues up to three years as on 30.6.73 at the level of pacs and the proportion of villages affected by natural calamity to the total number of villages in each of the three years 1970-71, 1971-2 and 1972-3. Here again as period-wise break-up of overdues at primary level as on 30.6.73 was not available district-wise, we have bifurcated them period-wise in the same proportion of the period-wise break-up of the overdues of the respective ccbs as on that date. These estimates indicate that non-wilful default may account for about Rs 2.60 crores forming 22 per cent of the total

Zone	Overdues at	Estimated	Rs Crores
	primary level	non-wilful	Percentage of
	as on 30.6.73	default	col. 3 to 2
(1) Normal	(2)	(3)	(4)
(a) NTA	7.53	1.17	15
(b) TA	1.53	0.54	35
Arid	0.90	0.35	40
Semi-arid	1.48	0.54	36
Total	11.44	2.60	22

overdues at 11.44 crores as on 30.6.73. The break-up of the above estimate zone-wise is as under:

#### Financial arrangement

10.25 When, as a measure of relief, non-wilful defaults are converted into medium-term loans (rehabilitation loans) with a view to enabling the non-wilful defaulters to become eligible to receive fresh production credit from the primary societies. the ccbs will have to grant similar facilities to the societies as a bulk of the default at the primary level is borne by the central banks. This will mean that overdues in respect of short-term loans which generally form a major portion of the total overdues will be converted into medium-term loans or even long-term (seven-year) loans. As a result, the term lendings/investments of a ccb may far exceed its term re-sources. Besides, the involvement of a ccb in short-term agricultural loans out of its own resources will inevitably stand reduced and consequently the bank may find it difficult to maintain adequate non-overdue cover for its borrowings from the apex bank. To meet such a situation, the Overdues Study Team made the following recommendations:

... the Reserve Bank may take a liberal view of the share capital requirements of such of those central banks as are providing sizeable relief to nonwilful defaulters, since due to such relief a large number of members would become eligible for fresh credit and for sustaining the lending programme, and for making good the shortfall in term resources consequent to the conversion of short-term overdue loans into medium-term loans, the share capital base of the banks might need considerable augmentation. The period of retirement of share capital loan may, however, be limited to the period of repayment allowed for rehabilitation loans.... (page 239)

The state governments may also come to the rescue of the central cooperative banks wherever rehabilitation loans on a fairly large scale are required to be granted. The state governments, where their resources permit, may provide loans or loan-cum-deposits to the central co-operative banks for periods corresponding to the rehabilitation loans granted by them to the societies. (pages 149-150)

We endorse the above recommendations for implementation in this behalf in Rajasthan.

10.26 As regards relief by way of partial write off in the event of non-wilful defaults comprising three or four loans, the same are expected to be met by way of grants-in-aid to the pacs from the 'State Agricultural Credit Relief Fund'. For this purpose, the Overdues Study Team recommended that the 'State Agricultural Credit (Relief and Guarantee) Fund' might be called the 'State Agricultural Credit Relief Fund' and the same be earmarked for writing off loans under certain circumstances. The balance to the credit of this Fund in Rajasthan as on 31.3.72 was Rs 5.85 lakhs. Judging from the number of cases of defaults under three or four loans noticed during the course of on-the-spot studies of 104 functioning pacs, the need for extension of relief by way of partial write off to non-wilful defaulters in Rajasthan will be in a very few cases as may be seen from the table below:

Zone	No. of societies	No. of defaulters as on 30.6.73	No. of defaulters accounting for defaults under three or more loans
Normal	_		
(a) NTA (b) TA	48 20	3383 1620	122 99
Arid	16	489	33
Semi-arid	20	754	29
Total	104	6246	283

Besides, the proportion of defaulters under three or four loans to total defaulters for the state as a whole may be far less than as observed in the case of 104 societies selected for the study as the select societies were functioning institutions and had, by and large, issued various types of loans unlike the societies in general. Further, not all such defaulters will be non-wilful on the basis of criteria suggested in paragraph 10.16. Thus, it can be concluded that extension of relief by way of partial write off in respect of defaulted amounts to nonwilful defaulters in cases of defaults under three or four loans, may not pose any problem from the financial point of view.

## Follow-up action

10.27 The main purpose of recommending a rehabilitation programme for non-wilful defaulters is to ensure that their defaults are cleared and thereby they are in a position to obtain fresh finance in time from 1975-6 onwards. Quick action has, therefore, to be initiated for identifying such defaulters, ascertaining their defaults, determining their repaying capacity, the repayment to be made by them and also the period and instalments of the rehabilitation loans. This work can be entrusted to small screening committees at the block level comprising concerned inspector of the central bank (apex bank in Jaisalmer District), a non-official and an experienced manager of a primary credit society in the area. The work of the screening committees may be supervised by the Assistant Registerar of Co-operative Societies of the district and the Executive Officer of the ccb. The RSCB can test check a few cases with a view to ensuring that the rehabilitation loans are sanctioned to genuine non-wilful defaulters after ensuring recovery of interest and part principal, as the case may be. The work will have to commence by May 1975 and completed before the end of June 1975. It will have also to be ensured that none of the wilful defaulters gets the benefit of the rehabilitation facilities intended for non-wilful defaulters.

10.28 The ccbs and the RSCB may have to review every year the progress in collection of dues from the non-wilful defaulters. Cases where 'defaults occur despite crop conditions being normal, will have to be viewed seriously and in such cases the rehabilitation loan should be foreclosed and the entire balance due from such defaulters be treated as overdue and coercive action launched for the immediate recovery thereof.

10.29 The rehabilitation programme is not a recurring programme. It is to be viewed as the final chance to institutions and individuals to clear the backlog of overdues, which can be deemed as non-wilful, so that the line of credit is opened for supporting agricultural development programmes. This being so, prompt relief will have to be provided to such class of defaulters if they are affected by natural calamities, in future. It is in this context, the need for adopting the recommendations of the Overdues Study Team regarding arrangements for provision of prompt and adequate relief from the stabilization funds in the event of crop failure, assume importance. We recommend that recommendations of the Overdues Study Team contained in Chapters III and IV of their report should be adopted by the co-operatives as also the GOR as suggested by the RBI.

# Wilful defaults

10.30 As estimated earlier, over three-fourths of the overdues at the primary level as on 30.6.73 in Rajasthan represented wilful defaults, Besides, on-the-spot studies of 104 pacs revealed a number of cases of 'ghost' acreages, financing of defaulters, defaults by members on the managing committees and recovery by adoption of dubious methods. In view of this position, prompt and effective action will be necessary for

recovery of wilful defaults with a view to arresting and bringing down the level of overdues of co-operative credit institutions.) A statement showing the position of awards obtained and those disposed of during 1972-3 and the number of pending awards/execution petitions in various districts of Rajasthan as on 30.6.73 is given in Annexure 82. It will be observed therefrom that the managements of societies were, by and large, reluctant to resort to coercive action even in cases where the defaults have been wilful. According to the practice obtaining in Rajasthan at present, on the intimation of default from a society the officer authorized (till 8.2.74, only Assistant Registrar of Co-operative Societies and Executive Officer of the bank belonging to the cadre of Assistant Registrar of Cooperative Societies and now district Collectors and Managers of ccbs also) under sections 117 and 118 of the Rajasthan Co-operative Societies Act, 1965 issues a notice for payment within 7 days to the defaulter and if no payment is received nor the notice is challenged, the award for recovery of the amount is issued. In case, an objection is raised by the defaulter, an arbitration case is filed in the court of the Assistant Registrar of Co-operative Societies. In actual practice, most of the cases have to be referred for arbitration which is time consuming. After the award is passed a demand notice is served on the defaulter to make payment within 7 days failing which his immovable and/or movable property can be attached and brought to auction. The Assistant Registrar acts as a recovery officer while the Loan Inspectors, Co-operative Extension Officers perform the duties of sale officers in addition to their normal duties. Obviously this results in delay in the disposal of awards. A statement showing the action taken for recovery of overdues during the year 1973-4 in eleven central banks is given as Annexure 83. In short, the coercive procedure in vogue in the state at present does not ensure prompt disposal of loan recovery cases and execution of awards.

10.31 In the above context, the Overdues Study Team had observed that lack of will and discipline among cultivators to repay was the principal factor responsible for the prevalence of overdues in the co-operatives. It has, therefore, suggested a series of additional legislative and administrative measures which can be adopted for ensuring prompt recovery of overdues and in arresting their upward trend. The measures suggested by the Team are given in <u>Annexure 84</u>. Some of the important measures are given below in brief:

(i) incorporation of a provision in the Co-operative Societies Act in terms of which the entire board of directors of a central bank and the managing committee of a society should stand automatically disqualified if the amount of default and/or the number of defaulters exceeded a certain percentage, for a continuous period of two years;

(ii) incorporation of a provision in the Act on the lines of Section 101 of the Maharashtra Co-operative Societies Act 1960 (extract furnished in Annexure 85) empowering the Registrar to issue, even on his own motion, certificates of recovery of dues in respect of loans issued for the raising of crops, as arrears of land revenue and also of a provision enabling the central banks to initiate action on their own against the defaulter-members of primary societies if the latter were reluctant to do so;

(iii) strengthening the staff of the Department to ensure speedy disposal of arbitration cases and execution of awards (Our recommendations in this behalf are contained in Chapter XI on 'Administrative and Operational Arrangements');

(iv) recovery of dues through sale proceeds of agricultural commodities. (In this context, we specifically urge on the GOR to revive its proposal for ensuring automatic recovery through regulated markets/mandis);

(v) denial of fresh finance to defaulters and their sureties;

(vi) denial of voting rights in general meetings to defaulters and their sureties;

(vii) incorporating a provision in the Act to limit the membership of primary societies to only one adult member from a rural household;

(viii) setting up of a State Farming Corporation by the state government fully owned by it to counter the difficulties faced by the co-operative institutions while taking possession of and arranging the sale of lands brought to auction by bidding in the auctions for an amount which will settle the dues of the societies/ccb together with interest; and

(ix) the state governments should refrain from making any statements or passing any instructions to their officers which may give impression that repayment of the loans can be held back. Immediate action for the implementation of the recommendations at items (i) to (iv) and (viii) above is necessary on the part of the GOR. The RBI has advised all the state governments to give effect to the recommendations of the Overdues Study Team. We would urge on the GOR to implement these recommendations without any further delay.

### 186 OVERDUES IN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

10.32 We also suggest that the amendment to the State Act enabling the ccbs to initiate action on their own against defaulter members of pacs be extended to commercial banks as they will be taking up financing such societies. Besides, the proposed State Farming Corporation should help commercial banks also in realizing their 'dues in respect of agricultural loans issued by them directly or through the societies. Suitable provisions may be made in the relevant State Act for the purpose.

### CONCLUDING REMARKS

10.33 Finally, we have to point out that, the suggestions made by us in earlier chapters to ensure institutional arrangements for provision of adequate credit in support of the state government's efforts for maximizing agricultural production, will not be fruitful if these institutions are saddled with heavy overdues. For the high levels of overdues have in the past led even sound institutions to stagnancy. The adoption of our suggestions in this chapter have, therefore, to be viewed as a package along with our recommendations on institutional arrangements and suitable action initiated for their implementation simultaneously.

#### CHAPTER XI

### ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

11.01 THE infrastructure suggested by us for providing agricultural credit in the state will not achieve the desired results unless it is supported by suitable administrative arrangements to ensure extensive use of credit for modernizing agriculture, effective supervision over the end-use of credit, prompt recovery of dues and finally coercive action against wilful defaulters. Some of these arrangements will be necessary within the credit structure while others in the Co-operative and other concerned departments of the state government. Besides, in the context of increase in the operations of agricultural credit institutions to the extent proposed by us, certain operational problems will also arise. In this chapter, therefore, we have considered them in some detail and given our recommendations. The chapter is divided into two sections, the first deals with administrative matters and the second with operational matters.

#### SECTION I

#### Administrative Arrangements

### Secretaries of pacs

11.02 We have in the earlier chapters recommended certain institutional arrangements for meeting substantially, if not fully, the large credit gaps that exist in the state in the sphere of agricultural credit. These arrangements envisage for the commercial banks and the RSCB the role of cfas along with the ccbs. We envisage re-organization of the pacs in such a way as to have eventually about 5600 societies, each capable of reaching a loan business of at least Rs 2 lakhs and having a full-time paid secretary so as to ensure integration of credit with supplies of inputs and services needed by the farmers. It is essential that the services of the secretaries are available right from the time the re-organized societies come into existence and to ensure that these secretaries remain in the service of the societies. It is important that the business of each of the societies reaches the minimum level of Rs 2 lakhs before the end of the Fifth Five Year Plan, i.e., in the next four years ending on 31.3.79 so that the societies do not have to depend on external assistance for paying the salaries of the secretaries and meeting their other expenses. We have every reason to believe that with the kind

of response we expect from the commercial banks and the cooperative credit institutions and the active support of the state government, it should not be difficult for the societies to fulfil these expectations. However, while the minimum credit business of Rs 2 lakhs required for attaining viability will be reached in four years from 1975, the secretaries will have to be in position in the re-organized societies, if possible, right from that year itself. We have mentioned in Chapter IV that 3305 societies had full-time paid secretaries. The balance 2295 secretaries will have to be recruited and trained as quickly as possible. This may not be feasible as the recruitment of such a large number may not be possible and their training much more difficult in a single year. The programme may have, therefore, to be spread over to at least two years, i.e., 1975 and 1976. In this connexion the experience gained by the GOR in implementing the scheme of employment and training of managers of pacs under 'Half a Million Job Programme' during the year 1973-4 may be useful in undertaking the recruitment and training of the secretaries on the scale envisaged above. Salient features of the scheme are given in the following paragraph.

11.03 The scheme under 'Half a Million Job Programme' had proposed recruitment and training of 2000 managers. The candidates were selected by a district level committee constituted in each district and headed by the chairman of the concerned ccb. For the purpose of training, four additional centres were established under the supervision and control of the Co-operative Training Board and arrangements were made for conducting special courses of 15 days duration for a batch of 80 trainees in each course. Under the scheme, as against the target of 2000 managers, 1700 candidates could be selected of which only 1320 joined the societies. Of these, 1224 candidates received training before joining the societies and the remaining 96 joined without training. The district-wise position of the number of managers who joined the societies in 1973-4 and were in position as on 31.7.74 is given in Annexure 86. (None of the candidates was posted in Jaisalmer district). Information in respect of managers in position as on 31.7.74 was not available in respect of 9 districts. In the districts of Sirohi, Jodhpur and Nagaur all the managers who had joined in 1973-4 had left the job by 31.7.74. Almost similar position was observed in Bundi and Churu districts. The total expenditure on the scheme was of the order of Rs 9.27 lakhs, of which Rs 8.14 lakhs were spent for payment of stipend to the trainees.

### Cost of secretaries

11.04 In the light of the above experience, the recruitment of about 1000-1200 secretaries for two years will have to be made with greater care to make sure that the selected candidates stick

188

to their jobs. It may even be necessary to insist on a bond from every candidate selected and sent for training and a cash security deposit on his appointment as secretary of a society. Assuming, therefore, that there will be 4455 societies with fulltime paid secretaries as on 31.3.76 and 5600 societies as on 31.3.77, not all the 5600 societies which we have proposed will have to pay for their secretaries right from the year 1975. Further, some of them may be in position for half of each of the years 1975-6 and 1976-7. We may for the sake of calculating the total cost in a year assume that there may be:

3305 secretaries for the full year 1975 and

1150 for 6 months of 1975

4455 for the full year 1976 and

1145 for six months of 1976 and all the

5600 secretaries for the full year 1977.

If the total emoluments of a secretary are assumed at Rs 3000 in a full year, the expenditure on the secretaries will be as follows:

Year	Expenditure (Rs lakhs)
1975	116.40
1976	150.83
1977	168.00
1978	168.00

### Cadre for secretaries

11.05 In the arrangements that obtain now, each society is treated as an independent entity for the purpose of meeting the cost of a full-time paid secretary. A managerial subsidy under the Plan schemes is available from the government for a period of three years on a tapering basis to a society appointing a paid With widely varying natural conditions and the secretary. financial position of the institutions providing agricultural credit, it will not be realistic to expect that each and every society will be able to develop its loan business to the level of Rs 2 lakhs in a short period of, say, one or two years for which managerial subsidy on a tapering basis is available. Some societies with an already high level of business and situated in a relatively developed agricultural area may be able to attain that level in two years or even less, whereas some others not so favourably situated may need four years to attain that level. Where each society is on its own in the matter of meeting the salary of the secretary, the societies belonging to the latter category will find it difficult to retain the secretary after a year or two when the income from business together with the reduced subsidy will be inadequate for meeting the cost of the secretary.

Such a situation is not conducive for the continuance of the This may have been one full-time secretaries in the societies. of the reasons why a number of secretaries recruited under the 'Half a Million Jobs Programme' left the societies soon. This is perhaps also the reason why the number of societies having full-time paid secretaries is low. The present arrangement under which each society is on its own may, therefore, have to make room for another in which it will be possible to pool the income from all the societies not only in one district, but all over the state, so that the more prosperous and affluent societies are made to bear the burden to some extent of the less developed ones. This will be possible if the secretaries of all the societies in the state belong to one common cadre and are paid from a common fund. All for one and one for all is an essential co-operative principle and we feel that a common cadre for the secretaries of pacs in the state will be an embodiment of that principle. Besides, creation of a common cadre will also ensure manning of institutions by qualified persons and will provide security of service and promotional opportunities to the employees guaranteeing their continuance in the employment. 11.06 A common cadre for secretaries of primary societies was introduced in Maharashtra in 1971 in each district under the control of what was known as District Supervision Co-operative Society. The income of each of the supervision societies was derived primarily from the fees levied on pacs at a given percentage of their maximum outstanding loans and to some extent from contributions from the central bank con-The whole arrangement was reviewed by the Evalucerned. ation Committee for Secretaries Caderization Scheme (Kore Committee) 1973 appointed by the Government of Maharashtra. The relevant recommendations of this Committee are given as Annexure 87 for ready reference. The Committee noted that each supervision society being independent of the other, there were some which had surpluses while others were unable to meet the cost of the secretaries from the income from the societies and the banks had to face deficits. The above arrangement according to the Committee did not allow the pooling of the resources. In the words of the Committee:

... it would have been in the fitness of things that surpluses arising from affluent districts should have been used to subsidise losses in lesser developed areas so as to balance out the differences in development in various areas and afford a better opportunity of a more balanced development. (page 15)

The Kore Committee suggested, therefore, the replacement of the district level cadre fund by a fund at the state level so that the deficits in one district could be met out of the surplus in another. The Committee's recommendations have since been accepted in Maharashtra and implemented by the government and the co-operatives. We would strongly recommend a similar arrangement for the secretaries of pacs in Rajasthan.

11.07 With the acceptance of the above suggestion, it is necessary to see whether the total cost of the secretaries as indicated in paragraph 11.04 can be met out of the fees levied on the societies on the basis of their loans to individuals. If the cost to the ultimate borrower is not to be very high, the fees will have to be reasonably low. We feel that there should be no difficulty in charging the societies towards the cost of a fulltime paid secretary a fee of 1.50 per cent on the maximum of short and medium-term agricultural loans outstanding against individuals during the previous year. The societies are expected to operate on a margin of at least 2 per cent. In that case the balance of 0.50 per cent will be available to them for meeting the other expenses. With a view to facilitating recoveries, it will be better if the central banks recover the fees from the societies along with the loans issued to them. Since there is a difference of at least 10 per cent in the loans outstanding at the level of the societies and of the banks because of the internal resources of the societies and since the banks do not issue loans to societies in respect of their defaulter-members. there may be a gap of as much as 25 per cent in the loans issued by the banks to the societies and the loans outstanding of the latter against their individual members. Therefore, for the purpose of facility of collection, the fees may be levied at 1.75 per cent on the loans issued by the central bank to the societies for short and medium-term agricultural purposes during the year. We may now examine whether the income thus realized will be adequate to cover the annual costs estimated in paragraph 11.04 above and if that is not so, the manner in which the deficit may be made good.

11.08 In Chapter VI we have indicated that the loans issued by the ccbs to pacs during 1974-5 could be placed at Rs 35 crores as against their estimated outstandings against individual members of Rs 45 crores at the end of June 1975. The latter figure was expected to rise to Rs 95 crores in 1978-9 at the rate of Rs 12 crores per annum, beginning 1975-6. In addition, the commercial banks are likely to provide Rs 25 crores through pacs. Thus the 5600 pacs may have outstanding loans of Rs 120 crores by the end of 1978-9 as under:

**Rs** Crores

Veez		Source	
Year	Co-operative banks	Commercial banks	Total
1975-6	57	6	63
1976-7	69	12	81
1977-8	82	18	100
1978-9	95	25	120

On the basis of the above outstanding loans and the assumption that the loans issued by banks would be lower than the former by 25 per cent, the loans issued to primary societies year by year and the income from fees at 1.75 per cent will be as under:

**Rs** Crores

Year	Loans issued	Income
1975-6	47	0.83
1976-7	61	1.07
1977-8	75	1.31
1978-9	90	1.58

11.09 It will be seen from the above that the income from the fees levied on the above scale will not be sufficient to meet the costs as estimated in paragraph 11.04 in any year. We recommend that the gap may be made good partly by the financing banks and partly by the state government, the former's contribution being limited to 0.25 per cent of the loans issued by them during the year to the societies and the balance by the government. On this basis the respective shares of the societies, the banks and the government will be as under:

Rs I	akhs
------	------

Year	Total	Contribution from			
Icar	cost	Societies	Banks	Government	Total
1975-6	116.40	82.25	11.75	22.40	116.40
1976-7	150.83	106.75	15.25	28.83	150.83
1977-8	168.00	131.25	18.75	18.00	168.00
1978- <del>9</del>	168.00	157.50	22.50	•••	180.00

However, the commercial banks financing pacs in pursuant to our recommendations may, instead of making a contribution to the fund at the rate of 0.25 per cent of loans issued by them to the societies, recover from the latter a fee for transfer to the fund at 2 per cent of the loans issued by them to the societies provided, to compensate for the extra burden on the societies, the banks lend to the societies at a rate of interest which is lower by 0.25 per cent than the rate they would have otherwise charged to the societies.

11.10 Thus on the scales of contributions suggested by us, the caderization scheme will not only become self-sufficient and independent of government assistance but there will be surplus in the last year of the Fifth Plan. The government may have to make a provision in the Plan for Rs 69.23 lakhs to meet their share in the scheme. The self-sufficiency in the last year of the Plan will obviously depend on the projected lending programmes being achieved. For this purpose it will be necessary to ensure the appointment of a full-time paid secretary for each of the societies, which is vital for expanding the effective coverage to include small and marginal farmers in particular, improving the quality of loans, providing services, supervizing the end-use of credit and above all for timely recovery. The outlay incurred in the initial years on the appointment of full-time paid secretaries will be justified by the achievements in the years to come. If, for some reasons the progress in the loaning does not materialize, we suggest that the state government may come forward to assist the societies for some more time or for larger amounts than assumed, instead of allowing the operations of the societies to degenerate for want of the services of a full-time paid secretary.

### State and District Cadre Societies

11.11 The arrangements suggested above are on the lines already in vogue in Maharashtra. Keeping that model in view we recommend broadly as follows for Rajasthan:

- (i) The state government may constitute a state cadre of staff for providing every re-organized society an independent and full-time paid secretary. The cadre will consist of secretaries newly appointed and trained and also of those who have been screened and found suitable from among the secretaries who are already in the employ of the societies.
- (ii) A State Cadre Co-operative Society and a District Cadre Co-operative Society for each district with constitution and functions outlined below may be organized for the administration of the cadre.
- (iii) Contributions at the rate of 1.75 per cent of the loans borrowed by a society during the year from the cfa (2 per cent in the case of borrowings from commercial banks) may be recovered from the former and credited to the State Caderization Fund to be maintained by the RSCB.
- (iv) The central banks and the RSCB where it is acting as a cfa will contribute at the rate of 0.25 per cent of the short and medium-term loans issued by them to the societies. Their contributions will be credited to the above Fund.
- (v) The cost of the paid secretaries will be a charge on the above Fund.
- (vi) It may be necessary to amend the Co-operative Societies Act to facilitate the constitution of the state and district cadre societies, the employment of all the secretaries by the former society and the contributions to the Fund by the financing banks and beneficiary societies. The byelaws of the banks and the societies may also need amendments.

# 194 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

- (vii) Although the secretaries will be the employees of the state society, they may not ordinarily be transferred outside their respective districts.
- (viii) The constitution of the board of management of the State Cadre Co-operative Society may be as under:

(1)	Chairman, RSCB	••	••	••	Ex-officio Chairman
(2)	RCS, Rajasthan	••	••	• •	Ex-officio Vice-Chairman
(3)	Two non-officials fro directors representing divisions other than th by the chairman, to 1 the RSCB	ccbs i e one re	from eprese	the . nted	Members
(4)	Two representatives of to be nominated by G	comme OR	rcial 1	banks	Members
(5)	MD, RSCB	••	••	••	Ex-officio Member- Secretary
nag	e constitution of the gement of the District Ca ciety may be as under:	board dre Co	d of -opera	ma- ative	
(1)	The Chairman of the c	cb	••	••	Ex-officio Chairman
(2)	The Deputy Registrary trar of Co-operative district	Assista Societie	nt Re s of	egis- the	Ex-officio Vice-Chairman
(3)	Two directors on the b of the ccb representing nated by the board of t	pacs to	be no	tors mi-	Members
(4)	Two representatives of district other than those bers of the board of the	e who a	are m	the em-	Members
(5)	A nominee of the RSCI	B	••	••	Member
(6)	Two representatives banks of which, one will of the district*	of co be the l	mmer lead b	cial ank	Members
(7)	The Manager, ccb	••	• • -	••	Ex-officio Member- Secretary

\*The members at Sr. Nos. 4 and 6 will be nominated by government.

- (x) The state society will formulate rules for the selection, appointment, punishment, etc., of the secretaries and give general directions to the district societies which shall be binding on them. The management of the Fund will also be the duty of the state society.
- (xi) The district society may control appointment, transfers, etc., of the secretaries within the district and manage that portion of the Fund which is made available to it by the state society. The former will have to work within the directions given by the latter. The district society may screen the existing paid secretaries in the district to assess their suitability to join the new cadre.
- (xii) The transfers of secretaries attached to the societies financed by commercial banks will be effected with the concurrence of the respective commercial bank. If a commercial bank finds it necessary to appoint a better qualified and more highly paid secretary for any society financed by it, the bank may seek prior approval of the state level society and, if such approval is given, the secretary will be treated as an ex-cadre employee and the concerned society will be outside the purview of the caderization scheme till such secretary continues with the society.
- (xiii) The executive powers for day-to-day administration of the state as well as district society will vest in the member-secretary of the concerned society. However, removal and dismissal of employees and inter-district transfers will be made by the board of management of the state society on the recommendation of the board of management of the district society.
- (xiv) The secretariat of the district society will be under the control of the Member-Secretary.
- (xv) Three to four employees may be provided to the secretariat by the concerned ccb. Their salaries may be met by the concerned banks at least up to 1978-9, but thereafter can be met from the Fund. The office of the secretariat will be located in the concerned ccb for which it may not recover any rent. The stationery, etc., will be a charge on the Fund.
- (xvi) The contributions recovered from the societies should be passed on by the central bank/commercial bank either to the account of the district society with the concerned central bank or the Fund with the RSCB according to the instructions of the state society.

### 196 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

- (xvii) In the matter of evaluation of the work of the secretary of a primary society annual confidential report or a special report recorded by the board of management of the primary society shall be a primary document. The adverse remarks, if any, should be brought to the notice of the concerned employee. If the management of a primary society is not satisfied with the work of the secretary, it should have the right to move the district society for suitable/disciplinary action against the erring secretary or for his transfer. However, to avoid the possibility of miscarriage of justice against the secretary, the confidential reports should be revisable by the district society and there should be a built-in provision for appeal against the adverse remarks noted in the confidential reports by the boards of management of the primary societies.
- (xviii) The central banks may sanction with the approval of the state society cash credit accommodation to the district societies for payment of monthly salary bills of the secretaries, if there is a short-fall in the funds to the credit of district societies.

# Arrangements for training

11.12 With a view to equipping the secretaries to discharge their various responsibilities efficiently, it is necessary to have training courses for them of a longer duration, say, 3 months. The facility for training may be extended also to those secretaries who are already in the employment of the pacs who have not been trained but have been screened and found suitable.

## Avenues for promotion

11.13 The arrangement for training will equip a secretary for his job and the creation of a 'common cadre' suggested by us in paragraph 11.11 will create a sense of security in his mind. However, this will not be enough attraction for an employee to stick to the job unless he has prospects of promotion. We would, therefore, suggest exploring the possibility of adopting more than one grade in suitable time scale for the secretaries, by classifying the societies into two categories depending on their business turnover as under:

Gi	rade	Eligibility of a primary society to have a secretary in the grade
п		Primary society having not more than Rs 2 lakhs of loans outstanding and Rs 1 lakh of other business
1		Primary societies having plan outstanding (short and medium-term) between Rs 2 lakhs and Rs 5 lakhs and turnover of other business below Rs 10 lakhs

If this is done then it will provide for avenues of better time scale within the cadre itself. Besides, with a view to giving him opening for furthering his career, secretaries may be made eligible for promotion/appointment as assistant inspectors in the central banks subject to their fulfilling the educational qualifications for the post. In this connexion, we understand that a Committee On Common Cadres of the services of cooperative institutions appointed by the GOR sometime in 1966 under the Chairmanship of Shri Shobha Ram, a member of our Team, had reportedly suggested integration of services of the secretaries of pacs and assistant inspectors of ccbs. Our recommendation is in conformity with the suggestion of the Besides, with a view to Committee On Common Cadres. attracting talented persons in the employment of pacs. we suggest that the state government in their recruitment to various subordinate services may give preference to the secretaries of pacs by giving due weightage to their service as secretaries.

### Personnel for large-sized societies in tribal areas

11.14 While discussing the institutional arrangements for tribal areas in Chapter VII we have recommended establishment of large-sized multi-purpose societies disbursing not only agricultural loans but also providing loans to tribals for their social needs, undertaking distribution of inputs, domestic requirements and arranging for marketing of agricultural and forest produce. We have suggested that these societies, to start with, may be organized on an experimental basis in six blocks from the four tribal districts (Sirohi district is excluded) so as to We have a comparative assessment of their performance. have recommended that each such society will be served by three full-time paid employees in addition to the secretary. The three employees are expected to provide guidance to the tribals in agriculture and allied activities like dairy, poultry, etc. These three employees can be taken from the different departments of the state government dealing with these activities so as to draw on their expertise for the benefit of the society. The cost of these three employees may be met by the GOR. Keeping in view the complexity of the organization of such a society and more onerous responsibilities, we suggest appointment of a person as secretary with higher qualifications as also higher emoluments. If this warrants taking a person from outside the cadre of secretaries, this may be done, the GOR bearing the extra cost involved over and above that which will be met out of the fees collected in proportion to the loans issued. The state government may provide for this expenditure in their Tribal Sub-Plan.

# Special Recovery Officers

11.15 While discussing the arrangements for coercive action for recovery in Chapter X we have referred in paragraph 10.30 to the present arrangements in vogue in Rajasthan and observed that these do not ensure prompt disposal of loan recovery cases and execution of awards. The main reason is that the Executive Officer of a central bank, Loan Inspectors. etc., who are empowered under the Act to attend to such cases have to do so in addition to their regular work in the bank/Department and have not, therefore, been able to do justice to the recovery work which is more unpleasant and also time consuming. The question of the appointment of special recovery officers for prompt execution of the co-operative decrees has, therefore, to be considered from the point of effective action against wilful defaulters and keeping down the level of overdues. The strength of such officers will depend on the number of cases to be attended to by them and hence it becomes necessary to make a rough estimate of the number of decrees that these officers will have to execute in the coming years. The number of defaulters at the level of pacs as on 30.6.74 is 3.77 lakhs. Assuming that the proportion of the number of wilful defaulters to the total defaulters corresponds to the estimated proportion of wilful defaults to total defaults, about three-fourths of the estimated number of total defaulters or roughly 2.75 lakhs can be deemed as wilful defaulters. In a large number of these cases coercive action will be necessary. Presently, the number of cases covered by coercive action is not large. This is because, the managements of the societies are reluctant to resort to such a step, but with the implementation of the measures suggested for recovery of overdues, particularly adopting of the procedure for summary disposal of loan recovery cases as in Maharashtra and the vesting of powers in higher financing agencies to proceed against the individual defaulters of primaries directly. the number of cases referred for coercive action will sharply increase and correspondingly there will be an increase in the awards due for execution. On a rough estimate, we feel that at least 50 per cent of the total number of wilful defaults will come up to the execution stage in the next two to three years. Already the meagre number of awards due for execution is not being promptly handled by the concerned staff mainly because they are busy with their normal routine. In such circumstances, if no special arrangements are made for the execution of awards, the financing institutions will lose faith in coercive action and this may give rise to a feeling of helplessness among the lending agencies, destroy their confidence and thus eventually

lead to shrinkage of credit facilities. In the light of this position we consider it absolutely essential that a cadre of special recovery officers should be created by the GOR on the lines of arrangements existing in Maharashtra.

11.16 In Maharashtra. Revenue Officers of the rank of Tehasildars/Naib Tehasildars are drafted to constitute the cadre of special recovery officers. These officers are placed on duty with each central bank specifically for executing the decrees of the co-operatives. The number of officers to be posted in each district is decided by the concerned central bank with reference to the number of awards for execution. The bank then makes its proposal in this behalf to the Co-operation Department. After scrutiny and approval of the proposal, the Co-operation Department with the help of the Revenue Department makes arrangements for posting the officers with the banks. In fact, once the officers are posted, they continue with the banks year after year although their strength is reviewed every year. The salary of these officers is first met by the government. At the end of every financial year, a district-wise review is made to assess the short-fall between the recovery charges credited by these officers to the government treasury and the expenditure on their salaries, etc. If the recovery charges do not cover their salaries and travelling allowance, etc., the shortfall is met by the concerned central bank. But since the strength of these officers is decided by the bank itself, th erecovery charges generally cover the salaries, allowances, etc., of these officers. The office accommodation, vehicle, stationery, etc., and the services of a peon are provided by the concerned central bank. Thus, the Maharashtra system is self-supporting and can be adopted with advantage in Rajasthan.

11.17 In Maharashtra, on an average, one recovery officer is posted for handling execution of 300 awards involving about Rs 1.50 lakhs annually and in that case his salaries, etc., can be met from the recovery charges. In the case of Rajasthan, however, the average size of loan is less than one-half of the Maharashtra average and, therefore, posting of a special recovery officer will be economic if he is to handle about 750 cases involving the recovery of about Rs-1.50 lakhs. Besides, the services of these special recovery officers may be made available to the commercial banks for recovery of their dues. The deficit in the cost of recovery officers, if any, may be borne by the concerned central bank and the commercial banks financing societies in the district in proportion to the amounts recovered by the recovery officers for the respective agencies, Alternatively, the commercial banks may form a consortium for the purpose of posting special recovery officers for recovery of their dues and share the deficit, if any.

### 200 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

11.18 The quick execution of awards greatly helps in creating a favourable climate for prompt repayments which is so essential for arresting the rising trends and levels of overdues. The problem of overdues in Rajasthan is acute. A solution to this problem is a must for ensuring quick development of the business of the agricultural credit institutions which we have envisaged during the next four years. We recommend, therefore, that a cadre of special recovery officers by drafting the officers of the rank of Assistant Registrar of Co-operative Societies should be created on the lines indicated above with a view to ensuring prompt recovery of dues covered by coercive action.

### Key Personnel for central banks

11.19 Our assessment in the earlier chapters has shown that almost all the ccbs in the state will have to make concerted efforts to reach the level of loan business of at least Rs 2 crores each so as to function as a viable unit and ensure further development to fulfil the role assigned to them in meeting adequately the credit needs of agricultural production. Sustained growth of an institution depends very much on the personnel-at the helm of its affairs for it is they who translate the policies of their managements and the state government into practice. The competence of key personnel in a central bank is an important factor to ensure its development.

11.20 It has long been recognized that the manager, the Chief Accountant and the Executive Officer would form the key personnel in a central bank. In Rajasthan, managers of some of the bigger ccbs are on deputation from the Co-operative Department while those in other central banks are in their own employment. We understand that the need for deputing government officials of the rank of the Deputy Registrar to some big banks as their managers arose as the managerial efficiency in these banks was observed to be far from satisfactory. The Chief Accountants, or to be precise the officials in charge of maintenance of accounts, as they are not necessarily designated as Chief Accountants, are the employees of the concerned banks. Barring a few small banks, their Executive Officers are departmental officers of the rank of Assistant Registrar, on deputation. Consequently, the powers of appointment, transfer, punishment, etc., in respect of these officers continue to be vested in the Co-operative Department. Similarly, they have no avenues of promotion in the concerned bank or the co-operative banking sector as these take place on the basis of their service rules in their parent department. The control over these officers by the Department inevitably results in frequent changes in the incumbents to these posts

and adversely affects the smooth functioning of the banks. The same is true as regards the managers on deputation from the Co-operative Department. Thus, it is likely that the existing key personnel of the ccbs find it difficult to get actively involved in the progress of the institutions for which they work. In such a situation the need for common cadre of key personnel for the ccbs in our opinion, is imperative.

11.21 The above position is well recognized by the concerned authorities in the state government and also by the state cooperative bank. It is for this reason that a Committee On Common Cadres was appointed by the GOR as referred to by us in paragraph 11.13 above. However, no follow-up action appears to have been taken. The question has to be viewed from another angle. If these key personnel are to be effective and efficient, they necessarily have to be well qualified and experienced and, therefore, well paid. The smaller ccbs functioning in comparatively less developed districts need them the most but cannot afford to maintain them. It is for this reason that it is not possible for the state government to provide its officers to the smaller banks. From this angle also, creation of a 'common cadre of key personnel' for central banks appears a necessity.

11.22 The most suitable agency to maintain such a cadre is obviously the state co-operative bank. The bank can create a fund, say, 'Key Personnel Cadre Fund' to meet the establishment costs of the common cadre. The cadre should comprise two grades, viz., Grade I for Managers and Grade II for Chief Accountants/Executive Officers. Assuming that even the district offices of the RSCB, in which it will function as a cfa will have the above key personnel, the number of officers required will be 26 in Grade I and 52 in Grade II. Making due allowance for the leave reserves, the strength may have to be 30 in Grade I and 60 in Grade II. At the total cost of Rs 1500 per officer in Grade I and Rs 1000 per officer in Grade II per month, the total annual expenditure for maintaining the common cadre will be Rs 12.60 lakhs, say, Rs 13.00 lakhs.

11.23 For meeting the above expenditure, the RSCB may collect contributions to the 'Key Personnel Cadre Fund' from all ccbs and its district offices at the rate of 0.25 per cent per annum on the short-term agricultural loans borrowed by the latter from it. In 1974-5, the short-term agricultural loans issued by the RSCB are estimated to touch the level of Rs 35 crores and it is expected that in the next few years the annual growth may be of the order of Rs 12 crores. On this basis

#### 202 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

the total contributions recoverable during the next four years and the expected deficits will be as under :

#### Rs Lakhs

Year	Expected level of short-term agricultural loans issued by the apex bank	Total contri- butions to 'Common cadre fund' @ 0.25% of col. (2)	Annual expen- diture for maintaining the common cadre	Deficit ()/ Surplus(+)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
1975-6 1976-7 1977-8 1978-9	47,00.00 59,00.00 72,00.00 85,00.00	11.75 14.75 18.00 21.25	13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00	1.25 +1.75 +5.00 +8.25

Thus, the contributions receivable in the 'Key Personnel Cadre Fund,' can be expected to cover the cost of maintaining the cadre excepting in the first year when the deficit will be around Rs 1 lakh. The RSCB may meet the deficit in the fund. The RSCB can meet this deficit as its profits were around Rs 15 lakhs until 1972-3 which had increased to Rs 26.35 lakhs in the year 1973-4. If the anticipated increase in the business materializes, the bank may even reduce the fees from 0.25 per cent of the loans to a percentage which will meet the cost of the cadre. The charge should not be made to give to the bank an additional source of income.

11.24 The personnel needed in the common cadre will not be immediately available. For this purpose, to start with, the posts may be filled by selection from amongst the existing officers of the central/apex banks, and/or by throwing the posts open to departmental officers including senior inspectors with experience as also to audit staff of suitable level. The short-fall, which will be sizeable initially, may be filled by taking Deputy/Assistant Registrars and officers of corresponding level from the audit wing of the Co-operative Department on deputation. Simultaneously, a suitable number of young people with good academic background may be recruited on a 75:25 basis from outside and amongst the staff of the co-operative banks as management trainees in the common cadre for the next three years and their proper training ensured so that on completion of their probation period of, say, two years they can replace the deputationists in the course of the next three to five years.

11.25 We understand that a beginning has already been made in the recruitment of management trainees by the RSCB and at present they have two such trainees under training. Assuming that 30 such trainees are required to fill in the existing gap, a phased programme of their recruitment spread over three years may be drawn. If then management trainees are recruited in each of the years 1975-6, 1976-7 and 1977-8 and the period of probation and training in each case is kept at two years, the number of management trainees will be 10 in 1975-6, 20 in 1976-7, 20 in 1977-8, 10 in 1978-9 and nil in 1979-80. If their annual emoluments during the training period are assumed at Rs 10000 per trainee, the cost will be Rs I lakh in 1975-6, Rs 2 lakhs in 1976-7 and 1977-8 and again Rs I lakh in 1978-9, i.e., a total of Rs 6 lakhs. We recommend that the cost may be shared equally between the GOR and the RSCB. The efficiency of the co-operative banking structure should be also the concern of the state government as the structure is an important instrument for the development of agriculture in the state.

11.26 The cadre for the key personnel of the ccbs recommended by us will have to be appointed and maintained on the staff of the RSCB. While there may be a separate Key Personnel Cadre Committee appointed to administer the cadre, the staff will have to be appointed by the apex bank as the proposed Committee will not have a separate legal entity as an employer. The problem can be solved by establishing a separate co-operative society for the purpose like the State Cadre Co-operative Society we have suggested for the secretaries of pacs. Alternatively, this society itself can be entrusted to look after the cadre for the key personnel of the ccbs. We, however, do not think that either of the step is necessary or desirable and think that the best solution lies in making the key personnel cadre a part of the staff of the RSCB itself.

11.27 The powers relating to selection, appointment, transfer, punishment, etc., of the officers of the key personnel cadre may be vested in a State Key Personnel Cadre Committee to be nominated by the state government. The constitution of the committee can be as under :

(i) Chairman, RSCB (ii) Special Secretary	to the GOR, Co-ope	Chairman erative
Department		-Member
(iii) RCS, Rajasthan		-Member
(iv) Two directors of th	e RSCB representing the	ccbs,
to be nominated by	the former bank	-Members
(v) MD, RSCB		-Member-Secretary

11.28 We do not think that the appointment of key personnel from the cadre maintained by the apex bank will mean any encroachment on the autonomy of the ccbs. The officers will be borne on the staff of the apex bank but will have to work under the immediate control of the boards of directors of cen-

### 204 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

tral banks. Professionalization in the management of banks has assumed considerable importance now and we feel that the best way of achieving it is through a cadre maintained by the apex bank which itself is a federation of the central banks. The constitution of the cadre will be in the interest of the personnel themselves who will have better promotional opportunities with a wider field for employment. We, therefore, strongly recommend that the state government and the banks should take early action to constitute the .cadre on the lines suggested by us. It may be necessary to give a legal framework for this purpose by amending the Co-operative Societies Act.

### Inspectors | assistant inspectors in central banks

11.29 Various committees in the past have suggested that financial supervision over affiliated societies should be the responsibility of the ccbs. In this connexion, the relevant observation of the Overdues Study Team is quoted below:

... We, therefore, endorse the view expressed by the various committees cited in the earlier paragraph that financial supervision should be the responsibility of the central co-operative banks and hence the control over supervisory staff should vest in the banks... Unless this is done, the managements can rightly disown responsibility for the poor performance in the recovery of dues. In fact, a complaint is often made that supervisors not working under the direct control of the managements cannot be disciplined by them to co-operate in the timely recovery of dues from primary credit societies and their members. (page 161)

In Rajasthan the Assistant Registrar is the district officer in charge of the Co-operative Department. Below him, there are inspectors posted at the block level designated as Cooperative Extension Officers and below them are the assistant inspectors entrusted with the responsibility of exercising supervision over pacs. The control of the assistant inspectors was transferred to the ccbs in 1965 and they have since then been working under the control of the Executive Officers of the central banks who in turn, in many cases, are government officers on deputation. Between the two, there are loan inspectors in each bank. Most of the loan inspectors in the central banks are on deputation from the Co-operative Department. While the concerned central bank pays the salaries of the loan inspectors with deputation allowance, the salaries of assistant inspectors are paid by the state government, but their T.A., D.A., for the tours undertaken are borne by the concerned ccb.

11.30 The loan inspectors being in most cases on deputation, do not work under the control of the concerned central banks inasmuch as the powers relating to their appointment, transfer, punishment, etc., are vested in the state government. The transfer of operational control in respect of assistant inspectors to ccbs is nominal inasmuch as the above position existed in their case also. 11.31 The recruitment of inspectors/assistant inspectors is done by the state government. A large number of sanctioned posts of assistant inspectors are lying vacant as can be seen from the position in respect of four banks in October 1974 given below:

Name of the bank	Assistant	Inspectors	Average effective charg		
	Sanctioned strength	In position	- of societies per Assistant Inspector		
Banswara	12	6	38		
Dungarpur	12	8 .	23		
Udaipur	26	17	33		
Chittorgarh	13	8	39		

Thus, the average charge of societies per assistant inspector is above 20 in Dungarpur bank and well above 30 in the case of the other three banks. Even if the sanctioned strength of the assistant inspectors is in position, the charge of societies per assistant inspector works out to above 15 in the case of Banswara, Udaipur and Chittorgarh banks. The short-fall in the strength is stated to be due to the inability of the state government to provide adequate number of assistant inspectors.

11.32 There is yet another aspect connected with the practice of providing supervisory staff to the banks by the state government which needs consideration. The loan inspectors are mostly employees of the state government on deputation with the respective banks and their salaries, inclusive of deputation allowance, compare unfavourably with the salaries drawn by the banks' employees in the corresponding grade since the employees of the banks are entitled to dearness allowance linked to the cost of living index. In fact, the clerical staff of the banks is, by and large, drawing higher emoluments vis-a-vis those drawn by the loan inspectors. The disparity in the case of assistant inspectors who are not entitled to a 'deputation allowance is more pronounced. Above all, the supervisory staff provided by the Department being not in the regular cadre of the banks, and also transferable to other districts, have no prospects of promotion in the concerned ccb. The above position has resulted in creating a sense of frustration among them which may be the main reason for general laxity in supervision over the societies.

11.33 A similar situation as indicated above obtained in Gujarat over a decade ago. However, in order to vest in the central banks effective control over the field staff, the concerned staff was transferred to the banks and the extra expenditure incurred by the central banks as a result of such a transfer was met by the state government by providing subsidy for the

first three years. This arrangement, if introduced in Rajasthan will not prove burdensome to the ccbs as their business is expected to rise substantially in the coming years. We recommend, therefore, that the entire inspectorial staff, i.e., loan inspectors and assistant inspectors should be transferred to the cadre of the respective ccbs with a view to vesting direct control over them in the managements of the banks. While doing so, inspectors/assistant inspectors may be given an option to revert to their parent department, if they so desire. Such a step will not only involve the said staff in the development of the bank, but also ensure effective financial supervision over the affiliated societies.

### State co-operative bank

11.34 We have recommended that the RSCB should assume the role of a cfa in two districts in addition to Jaisalmer district. As indicated in Chapter I, its role in Jaisalmer district could be deemed as insignificant, although stagnancy of almost all the societies in the district is the major cause therefor. But such a situation is not likely to continue for long as we have suggested a massive programme for the re-organization of the primary structure all over the state. In view of this position, we suggest that the RSCB should convert the head office of each of the two erstwhile ccbs, viz., Dungarpur and Sirohi as a district office and arrange to open new branches in addition to the existing branches of the transferor banks with a view to catering effectively to the needs of affiliated societies and facilitating mobilization of deposits. Similar action may also be taken in the case of the existing branch of the RSCB in Jaisalmer district. As we have indicated earlier, three key personnel from the common cadre will have to be posted in each such district. These officers should not be burdened with routine banking matters but should be required to devote more of their time for developmental and promotional aspects.

11.35 With the RSCB undertaking the role of a cfa in three districts including Jaisalmer and with the expected stepping up of the loan business in these districts as also in the case of other ccbs, it will be necessary for the RSCB to strengthen and tighten its supervision over them. We, therefore, recommend that as suggested in Chapter II the RSCB may open its regional offices, to start with at Jodhpur and Udaipur and later at Bikaner and Kota. The regional officers should pay regular visits to the central banks/district branches of the RSCB and carry out their regular inspections and ensure observance of financial discipline on their part.

11.36 We have recommended in paragraph 11.34 above that head offices of the erstwhile ccbs in Dungarpur and Sirohi as also the branch of the RSCB at Jaisalmer may be converted

into district offices of the RSCB. At the same time with a view to ensuring expeditious disposal of credit limit applications from the co-operative institutions in the respective districts suitable powers will have to be delegated to local people by the apex bank in this behalf. In this connexion we suggest that for the purpose of sanctioning such limits on the usual terms and conditions as also to ensure involvement of local non-official leadership to a certain extent in the working of the district offices, a small advisory committee of five members consisting of two non-officials may be formed. The other members may be the Assistant RCS of the district, officer-incharge of the proposed regional office of the area and the officer-in-charge of the district office who will also be the convenor.

## Co-operative Department

11.37 We have suggested creation of the posts of special recovery officers in the various ccbs. This recommendation has been made to ensure that high levels of overdues should not prove an obstruction to the implementation of the credit plan proposed by us. Simultaneously, it will be necessary to post an officer at the district level under the control of the RCS to supervise and co-ordinate the recovery work. In Maharashtra a separate post of an Assistant Registrar of Cooperative Societies (Recovery) has been created in each district. From the above viewpoint we suggest a similar arrangement in Rajasthan also for consideration of the state government. The work of disposal of loan recovery cases should be vested in the Assistant Registrar (Recovery) who should transfer the awards passed to the Special Recovery Officers promptly for execution.

### Arrangement for audit

11.38 Audit of accounts of a society at least once a year is a statutory responsibility of the RCS. To assist the Registrar in this behalf there is an audit cell in his office headed by the Chief Auditor who is a senior officer of the Rajasthan Accounts Service and is posted by the Finance Department of the GOR. All the powers of the Registrar under the Act in regard to the audit of accounts of the apex, central and primary societies are delegated to the Chief Auditor who is assisted by special auditors of the rank of Assistant Registrars. The posts of special auditors are filled by direct recruitment as also by promotion from amongst the inspectors of co-operative societies of the audit as well as the executive wings. The posts of special auditors and assistant registrars of co-operative societies are inter-changeable. Special auditors conduct test audits of societies and their duties are mainly of a supervisory

#### 208 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

nature. The state is divided into eight zones and each zone is under the charge of a special auditor. The special auditors are assisted by Inspectors of Audit who are required to audit the accounts. These posts are also filled in either by promotion of assistant inspectors or by direct recruitment.

11.39 Due to increased activities of the apex societies, district level societies/banks, the government have introduced a system of concurrent audit with a view to detecting and rectifying promptly the irregularities which might have been committed by the institutions. The concurrent audit in the apex bank as well as the ccbs is done by the Inspector of Audit (grade I). Although the Rajasthan Co-operative Societies Rules provide for the audit of accounts by chartered accountants, etc., approved by the Co-operative Department, this has not been given effect to in practice.

11.40 The rates of audit are given below:

#### 1 Primary Agricultural Credit Societies

Nil for first Rs 5000 of the working capital 1/4 per cent for the next Rs 10,000 of the working capital 1/10 per cent for the next Rs 10,000 of the working capital 1/20 per cent for the next Rs 25,000 of the working capital 1/30 per cent for the next Rs 50,000 of the working capital 1/75 per cent for the next Rs 50,000 of the working capital 1/100 per cent for the rest of the working capital 1/100 per cent for the rest of the working capital N.B. The amount of audit fee is subject to a minimum of Rs 15 and maximum of Rs 150

### 2 Apex and Central Co-operative Bank

Rs 50 for the first Rs 1.00 lakh of the working capital Rs 40 for the next Rs 1.00 lakh or part thereof of the working capital Rs 30 for the next Rs 1.00 lakh or part thereof of the working capital Rs 20 for the next Rs 1.00 lakh or part thereof of the working capital Rs 15 for the rest of the working capital

N.B. The amount of audit fee is subject to a maximum of Rs 700 and Rs 600 in respect of apex bank and central co-operative bank respectively

It is reported that the audit staff is inadequate and, therefore, the audit work is not attended to promptly. The Department finds it difficult to strengthen the staff as the present audit fees are reportedly not adequate to meet the expenditure on the audit establishment. The ceilings on the audit fees and the scales appear to be somewhat low and need revision in view of the rise in prices and costs. We have not examined this matter in detail as it does not directly relate to our terms of reference. We, however, recommend that this may be done independently. We also suggest that audit of some institutions may be entrusted to chartered accountants who can be approved for the purpose by the Chief Auditor. We would emphasize, however, the need for timely audit of the co-operative credit agencies, particularly when we have envisaged a rapid expansion of their business. If this requires strengthening of the audit staff, there seems to be no reason why a substantial part of the increased cost should not be borne by the co-operatives themselves.

## Personnel in Registrar's office

11.41 Most of the recommendations made by us in this report are to be implemented by the RCS and he has further to ensure the implementation of other recommendations also. We are aware that this will obviously increase his responsibilities substantially. This will, therefore, necessitate strengthening the Registrar's office at the head-quarters with a suitable complement of senior officers and supporting staff to enable him to discharge his onerous responsibilities. We, however, do not make any specific recommendations in this regard but would urge on the government that the matter may be given careful consideration.

#### SECTION II

### OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

11.42 Our analysis will not be complete without consideration of certain operational matters which have a bearing on our terms of reference. Our views on these matters are contained in the following paragraphs.

#### Interest margin

11.43 During our discussions with the officials and nonofficials from the various regions of the state, a suggestion was made that we should consider the question of sharing of interest margins by the three-tiers of the co-operative credit structure. In Maharashtra, a margin of 3 per cent is retained at the primary level in respect of short-term agricultural loans, 1.75 per cent at the central bank level and 0.25 per cent by the apex bank. This is in conformity with the principle that the highest margin should be available to the organization at the lowest level. This is partially true in Rajasthan also inasmuch as the margin retained at the primary level at present is 2 per cent, at the level of central banks 1.81 per cent and at the apex level 1.19 per cent, exclusive of the recent interest tax burden. However, the primary societies provided with a paid secretary are required to part with three-fourths of the margin available to them to the district supervision fund. The central banks and the state co-operative bank are contributing at the rate of 0.25 per cent and 0.19 per cent respectively to

### 210 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

this fund. Thus, the effective margin available to the central banks and the state co-operative bank works out to 1.56 per cent and 1.00 per cent respectively.

11.44 In the light of the above position the question is whether any one of the institutions should forgo a portion of its margin in favour of any of the other two tiers. We have already proposed that the primary societies should contribute at the rate of 1.75 per cent of the loans borrowed by them from central banks to the 'state caderization fund' to be created for supporting a cadre of secretaries of the primaries. This in effect means parting with a margin of not more than 1.50 per cent on all the loans outstanding against individual members as the former are generally 75 per cent of the latter as indicated earlier. The present margin of 2 per cent will thus leave 0.50 per cent to the societies on all the outstanding loans which will come to Rs 1000 only on the total loan business of Rs 2 lakhs for meeting the other expenditure on audit fees, board and general meetings, rent, stationery, postage, etc. No account need be taken of the liability to pay dividend on shares after meeting the obligations towards reserves as these are expected to be met out of the earnings on the owned funds for which the society does not have to incur any cost. Even then the amount of Rs 1000 may not be considered adequate to meet the expenditure on the items listed above and hence we feel that the margin that is allowed at present to the societies may be raised from 2 per cent to  $2\frac{1}{2}$  per cent so that the society gets an extra income of Rs 2000 when the loan business reaches Rs 2 lakhs. In all the above calculations, the income from the non-credit activities which the societies are expected to undertake has been ignored because the experience generally is that this income is just adequate to meet the extra expenditure the society may have to incur in engaging additional staff on part-time or whole-time basis.

11.45 The central banks in Rajasthan are having relatively insignificant non-agricultural loan business (which gives higher income to compensate for the lower rates charged on agricultural loans) vis-a-vis the position obtained in Maharashtra and yet the banks in the latter state are enjoying a margin of 1.75 per cent on their short-term agricultural loan business. The central banks in Rajasthan, therefore, have a prima facie case for even a higher margin than their counterparts in Maharashtra. We, however, suggest a margin of 2 per cent inclusive of 0.25 per cent contribution they are expected to make to the caderization fund.

11.46 The RSCB is retaining a margin of 1.19 per cent out of which it contributes 0.19 per cent towards the cost of secretaries of pacs, etc. We have not envisaged any such contribution

in our proposal in this behalf. Further, we feel that the bank may be able to cut further in its net margin of 1 per cent by at least 0.25 per cent and retain a margin of 0.75 per cent on its advances to central banks for the following reasons. Two more central banks are to be merged with it as per our recommendations. The Kerala Study Team had calculated saving of 0.25 per cent if all the central banks in the state were merged with the apex bank. A similar saving should be possible in the case of the RSCB in respect of business from the districts where it will be functioning as a cfa. We have also recommended government contribution to share capital at the rate of Rs 10 lakhs per central bank merged. This will augment the bank's income automatically. Further, the short-term agricultural loans provided by it directly or through its branches are expected to rise at the rate of Rs 12-13 crores per annum. Taking into account all these aspects a reduction in the margin by 0.25 per cent should not result in any drastic fall in the bank's income and profitability. We will have, however, no objection to the bank charging a penal rate of interest at 1 per cent above the normal rate on all defaulted amounts. Besides, the bank will be free to pass on the incidence of the central tax on interest up to 1 per cent on all loans to central banks.

11.47 We recommend, therefore, that the normal margin retained (exclusive of interest tax liability) should be 0.75 per cent at the level of the RSCB, 2 per cent at the level of the ccbs and 2.50 per cent at the level of primary societies. The aggregate margins will thus be 5.25 per cent over and above the existing effective lending rate of 7 per cent on short-term agricultural loans from the RBI. Thus the rate to the ultimate borrower may be as much as 12.25 per cent exclusive of the burden they may have to bear of the central tax on the state co-operative bank. The rate to the farmer on short-term loans will be thus about 13.25 per cent and on medium-term loans 13.75 per cent inclusive of the tax. The lending rate to the ultimate borrower will thus be higher by 0.25 per cent than what is being charged at present which we do not consider as unjustified as this is necessary to ensure the efficiency of the co-operative credit structure at all levels.

#### Deposit mobilization

11.48 We have indicated in Chapter VI that the share of the co-operatives, i.e., excluding the commercial banks, in meeting credit needs of short-term agricultural production for the state as a whole will rise by 30.5 per cent, i.e., from 17 per cent in 1973-4 to 47.5 per cent in 1978-9. For achieving the increase envisaged every ccb will have to make earnest efforts to mobilize

additional deposits at a rate much higher than hitherto so as to be in a position to absorb overdues and improve their capacity to raise funds from the higher financing agencies. Normally for a lending programme of Rs 1 crore, a central bank should have owned funds of Rs 15 lakhs and total deposits of Rs 40 lakhs so as to ensure that after setting apart about one-third of the deposits for maintaining optimum liquid assets, its own involvement in the loan business is around Rs 40 lakhs or 40 per cent of the total loan business. The involvement of the central banks in Rajasthan out of their internal resources in short-term agricultural loans outstanding against societies is, however, low vis-a-vis the all-India position. As on the last Friday of December 1973, while such involvement in the case of all central banks in the country was 48 per cent, the same in the case of central banks in Rajasthan was lower at 26 per cent. The banks in Rajasthan have, therefore, to go a long way in deposit mobilization to maintain their involvement in the short-term agricultural loans at 40 per cent particularly when such loans are to increase from Rs 35 crores at present to Rs 95 crores in 1978-9. Besides, a central bank is expected to meet not only the short-term agricultural credit needs but also the medium-term agricultural and other non-agricultural credit needs of affiliated societies. Experience has shown that if a bank is to serve adequately the various sectors of co-operative activity in addition to meeting the short-term agricultural credit needs, it may be necessary for it to mobilize deposits twice the amount it may have to find for sustaining the short-term agricultural credit business. To continue with the above example, for attaining a business of Rs 100 lakhs in short-term agricultural loans, the bank may have to mobilize deposits of the order of Rs 80 lakhs so that after allowing for statutory and optimum liquid assets at 35 per cent, the loanable deposits will amount to Rs 52 lakhs of which Rs 40 lakhs may be invested in short-term agricultural loans and the balance of Rs 12 lakhs in loans for other purposes.

11.49 On the basis of the above assumptions, we have attempted an estimate of the deposits that each ccb and the RSCB for the districts where it is to function as a cfa will have to mobilize to support the short-term agricultural credit and other business in the year 1978-9. The short-term agricultural loan business of a central bank in the state is put at 90 per cent of the level of such business which the primaries, other than those that are to receive accommodation from the commercial banks, are expected to handle in 1978-9. The position in this behalf, district-wise, is shown in Annexure 88. The Annexure also indicates the following:

- (i) the size of deposits needed to attain the level of short-term agricultural credit,
- (ii) the size of the total deposits needed to support, in addition, the other activities in the co-operative sector,
- (iii) the annual growth rate to be maintained to reach the level of deposits under (i) above, and
- (iv) the annual growth rate to be maintained to reach the level of deposits under (ii) above.

While each central bank must strive hard to achieve the higher of the two growth rates, it must at least maintain the lower growth rate to ensure that the affiliated primary societies handle in 1978-9 the projected level of short-term credit business. The Annexure referred to above includes also the estimates for the Jaisalmer, Dungarpur and Sirohi districts wherein the RSCB will be functioning as a cfa.

11.50 From Annexure 88 it will be observed that the RSCB can manage to ensure adequate involvement at least in shortterm credit business in the districts of Dungarpur, Sirohi and Jaisalmer from out of the deposits mobilized in the respective districts by maintaining annual growth rates of less than 20 per cent in the case of Dungarpur and Sirohi districts and of 28 per cent in Jaisalmer district. Of the remaining twentythree ccbs, four banks, viz., Ajmer, Jhalawar, Kota and Udaipur can, by 1978-9, reach the ideal level of total deposits to support all types of loans by maintaining annual growth rate of 25 per cent or below in each case. Eleven other banks can ensure adequate involvement in short-term credit business by maintaining annual growth rate of less than 20 per cent in each case but all of them will have to strive to achieve growth rates between 25 per cent and 40 per cent to support other types of activities. These banks are Alwar, Bharatpur, Bhilwara, Bundi, Ganganagar, Jaipur and Pali (NTA), Banswara and Chittorgarh (TA), Bikaner (AZ) and Jodhpur (SAZ). We have to emphasize that these banks must make an all-out attempt to mobilize deposits at the higher rate with a view to supporting adequately not only the short-term agricultural loan business but also other type of loans. Two other banks, viz., Tonk and Sikar can hope to support the projected shortterm credit business by maintaining annual growth rate of around 30 per cent. The Sawai Modhopur bank, however, will have to achieve a growth rate of 39 per cent annually for this purpose alone. The commercial banks have maintained in the last few years a deposit growth at 15 per cent annually. Many co-operative banks have succeeded in achieving a higher growth rate at 20 per cent. Although, the growth rate

### 214 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

needed in the case of almost all the central banks in Rajasthan has to be of a much higher order, we feel that this is not impossible of achievement. This is largely because of the fact that in most cases the base itself is very low.

11.51 This leaves out five banks, viz., Barmer, Churu, Jalore, Jhunjhunu and Nagaur. These banks will have to maintain a growth rate between 43 and 58 per cent if the affiliated primaries are to meet 60 per cent of the short-term credit needs by 1978-9. This seems to be a very tall order. In view of this, we have already indicated in Chapter IX that the pacs in these districts may not be in a position to take up their short-term business to the projected level by 1978-9 for want of adequate support from the concerned central banks. It is for this reason that we have recommended in Chapter III that these banks may be allowed to continue even if they maintain annual growth rate of at least 25 per cent in mobilizing additional deposits so as to handle a short-term credit business of at least Rs 150 lakhs in the case of Barmer and of Rs 100 lakhs in the case of Churu, Jalore, Jhunjhunu and Nagaur banks. The performance of these banks will be under constant review as recommended by us in Chapter III and any short-fall in their achieving the expected level of performance will justify their amalgamation with the RSCB as proposed by us.

11.52 The deposits of the RSCB had increased by 19 per cent in 1971-2 and also in 1972-3 and by 24 per cent in 1973-4. This rate of growth was comparable to that of the commercial banks. But it has to be noted that the level of deposits of the bank at the end of 1970-71 was as low as Rs 3.40 crores. The RSCB will have to shoulder a greater responsibility in the context of the large growth of short-term agricultural credit envisaged by us for the state as a whole. Besides, it has to function as a cfa in three districts. We recommend, therefore, that the bank should maintain an annual growth rate of at least 20 per cent in its deposits not only in the city of Jaipur but also in the three districts in which it is to function as cfa.

11.53 We have in the above paragraphs observed that the state and central co-operative banks will have to make concerted efforts in increasing their deposits and build up their internal resources to sustain the increased loan business expected of them during the Fifth Five Year Plan period. The primary responsibility in this behalf must rest with the banks themselves. It is important in this context for the banks to realize first of all that they cannot hope to meet the aspirations of the farming community whom they are expected to serve depending primarily on borrowings from the state-

co-operative bank and the Reserve Bank. We have, therefore, tried to bring home this point to the managements of the banks by giving an indication of the levels of deposits which each bank will have to attain if it has to meet the short-term agricultural credit and other needs as projected for it in the last year of the Fifth Plan. We would, therefore, emphasize first the need for a change in the approach of the managements to this aspect and once this is accomplished, they have to apply themselves to the task in a systematic manner. The most important thing in this context is to improve the image of the banks as true banking institutions providing not only a variety of deposits to attract different types of depositors but also a variety of banking facilities and services, e.g., collection of bills, inland remittances, safe deposit vaults, etc. Further, the banks will also have to show a greater aggressiveness in their branch expansion programmes. They have to throw their net over an extensive area to catch the deposits from the public. Finally, it goes without saying that the staff of the banks will show the greatest respect and courtesy to the depositing public, because in these days of keen competition among the banks for deposits from the public, the courtesy and service which may not cost anything at all go a long way towards attracting the depositors and retaining their custom.

11.54 While the banks have to do their best in mobilizing the deposits of the public by improving the quality of their services, we think that the state government can help considerably in improving the image of the banks in the public eye. We are referring in this context in the next paragraph to the urgency of extending the facility of deposit insurance to the deposits with the co-operative banks. The responsibility of the government cannot, however, be considered to be over by passing the necessary legislation. The public image will im-prove not merely by bringing the co-operative banks within the purview of the DIC. The support of the government has to be more positive in that they should recognize the co-operative banks for receiving deposits from the public corporations and semi-government and government bodies. The image of these banks in the public eye cannot be bright if the government themselves are not prepared to recognize them for the purpose of receiving deposits from the institutions and bodies under their control. We understand that there are several restrictions, statutory and administrative, on these institutions keeping their funds with the state and/or central banks. It is reported that the GOR have since passed orders removing some of the disabilities and we are confident that the state government will remove expeditiously the constraints and restraints in this behalf because in the expansion of deposit resources of the

co-operative banks lies the hope for the rapid expansion of agricultural production credit and in turn for increasing agricultural production in the state.

# Deposit insurance

11.55 The co-operative banks in the state are at disadvantage vis-a-vis the commercial banks in the matter of mobilization of deposits, as the deposits of the latter banks have the benefit of the facility of deposit insurance provided by the DIC. Extension of this facility to cover the deposits of co-operative banks will greatly help the efforts of these banks in the field of deposit mobilization. The RBI has already advised the state government the amendments that are necessary to the State Co-operative Societies Act so that the co-operative banks in the state can be deemed as 'eligible banks' under the Deposit Insurance Act and the insurance cover extended to their deposits. We understand that the matter is under the consideration of the Government. We urge the government to expedite action for amendment of the State Act on the lines indicated by the RBI so as to ensure that the facility of deposit insurance is extended to co-operative banks in the state as early as possible and their programmes for the mobilization of deposits are given the needed support.

# Lending policies

11.56 As pointed out in Chapter IV, the on-the-spot studies of pacs taken up at our instance reveal that many ccbs have adopted only two scales of finance, one for single crop areas and the other for double crop areas. In the 'Manual on Production-Oriented System of Lending' published by the RBI, it has been suggested that the ccbs should adopt a separate scale of finance for each of the crops grown in their area. It has been proposed therein that the scale of finance for each crop should have two components, i.e., 'A' component to be disbursed in cash and 'B' component to be released in the form of inputs. The components should be fixed taking into account the cultivation expenses for the crop provided care is taken to ensure that the 'A' component does not exceed one-third of the value of average gross produce. In essence it has to be ensured that the cultivation of a crop does not suffer on account of inadequate finance nor over-finance is sanctioned for such cultivation as in either case it is likely to lead to defaults. While in view of the conditions obtaining in Rajasthan it may not be worthwhile to adopt scales of finance separately for each of the low-value food crops like Bajra, Maize and Jowar, we emphasize the need for the central banks adopting separate scale of finance for each of the high-value crops like sugarcane, vegetables, etc., and also for the high yielding rabi crops. The necessary lead in this

regard will have to be provided by the RSCB. Simultaneously, we suggest that the ccbs, including the proposed district offices of the RSCB, should maintain a suitable register for indicating the crop-wise short-term agricultural loans issued by them to the societies. This information will enable the managements to know whether the credit needs of the important crops in the district are being met and, if not, re-orient their lending policies suitably in a periodical review.

11.57 We observe that the central banks in the state are, by and large, not evincing adequate interest in the disbursement of medium-term loans for agricultural purposes. Such loans help a cultivator in enlarging his productive assets and in turn the production from his holdings. We suggest that the state and central banks should give due attention to meeting the mediumterm agricultural loan requirements, particularly for identifiable productive purposes. As a beginning the RSCB may undertake a survey to locate the areas, particularly in command areas of the canal irrigation projects, where the lendings for identifiable productive purposes can be undertaken on a large scale.

11.58 The studies of pacs undertaken at our instance have indicated that there was a general laxity in supervision over the indebted societies resulting in inadequate scrutiny of credit limit statements, non-maintenance of up-to-date land registers as also resort to dubious methods for recovery of dues, etc. This is indicative of the managerial inadequacies. In this connexion, we have already suggested streamlining the administrative arrangements for management of societies and supervision over them. Here we will like to emphasize that our suggestion regarding the transfer of services of loan inspectors and assistant inspectors to the concerned central banks may be given immediate effect with a view to making effective the supervision arrangements over the indebted institutions. For that purpose it may also be necessary to increase the strength of loan inspectors/assistant inspectors in a phased manner so as to ensure that not more than fifteen societies are under the charge of an assistant inspector and the work of not more than two/three assistant inspectors is controlled by a loan inspector. The bank should take disciplinary action against the erring staff responsible for malpractices of the nature indicated above.

#### Review of action on the recommendations

11.59 Finally, we recommend that to review the progress in implementation of the various recommendations a high-power state level committee should be set up by the GOR. Besides reviewing the progress, this committee may also resolve the problems that may arise from time to time in the implementation

## 218 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

of the recommendations. The important items for periodical review should be (i) working of the ccbs, (ii) re-organization of primary credit structure, (iii) progress in the issue of agricultural finance by both, co-operative and commercial banks, (iv) setting up of special type of societies in the tribal areas. (v) financing of sheep breeding activities and marketing arrangements for sheep products and (iv) establishment of common cadres of personnel at various levels. The Chief Secretary to the GOR may be the Chairman of the state level committee and its other members may include representatives of the Reserve Bank's ACD and the Department of Banking Operations and Development, the Joint Secretary in the Union Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation (Department of Rural Development), the Chairman-RSCB, a representative of the commercial banks financing agriculture through pacs in the state, the Agricultural Production Commissioner, the Special Secretary, Cooperative Department, and the RCS, Rajasthan. The RCS may be the convenor of the committee.

### CONCLUDING OBSERVATIONS

11.60 We have endeavoured to draw in the eleven chapters of this report a blueprint for institutionalizing the provision of agricultural credit in Rajasthan with a view to ensuring that at least 60 per cent of the credit requirements of short-term agricultural production in the state in 1978-9 are met by viable pacs with active financial support from the co-operative and commercial banks. It has been often emphasized that what is important to the cultivator is the timeliness and adequacy of credit. Without either of these, he is driven to moneylenders resulting in dual allegiance on his part which is detrimental to the interests of the credit institutions. We, therefore, regard the implementation of our directions for re-organization and revitalization of the co-operative credit institutions at the base level as the first and foremost need as any hesitancy in this regard will, despite best of efforts in other directions, perpetuate the legacy of the past, viz., the hold of private agencies resulting from the crisis of confidence of the cultivators in the credit institutions of their own.

11.61 This should not be, however, taken to mean that our other recommendations are of lesser importance. For, without adequate financial support from, and closer supervision by, the superstructure, the primaries though revitalized/re-organized may again revert to stagnancy in which they are at present. Each of our recommendations should, therefore, be viewed as complementary to each other and all our recommendations should be considered for implementation as a package. The experience of other committees in the past has shown that

#### CONCLUDING OBSERVATIONS

recommendations which either involve financial commitments on the part of the government or do not have popular response, are by-passed or diluted before implementation. The lack of financial and administrative assistance from the government and adequate legislative support to the infrastructure envisaged by us will undoubtedly cause a sense of frustration among those responsible for creation of such a structure. This should not happen at any cost as otherwise the enthusiasm for ensuring development will weaken. We, therefore, urge on the non-official leadership controlling the state and central banks, the officials involved in the movement and the concerned authorities in the state government to carefully weigh each of our recommendations, keeping in view the integrated approach, chalk out a time-bound programme and ensure its implementation wholeheartedly.

# SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

### Chapter I-Agricultural situation in the state

1 Agriculture in Rajasthan especially in the western part is a struggle against inhospitable nature on account of unfavourable natural factors like poor soils, scanty and erratic rainfall, poor irrigation facilities and such other inadequacies. From the view point of geophysical and climatic conditions with which the prospects for the development of agriculture are closely linked, the state can be divided into three zones, viz., the normal zone (17 districts), the arid zone (4 districts) and the semi-arid zone (5 districts). Further, taking into account the concentration of the tribals and the need to adopt a special approach to deal with their problems, the seventeen districts in the normal zone can be sub-divided into two groups, viz., the non-tribal area (12 districts) and the tribal area (5 districts).

2 The average size of holdings is small in the tribal area, medium in the non-tribal area but large in the semi-arid zone and the largest in the arid zone. Although the cropping pattern in the state is dominated by low-value foodgrain crops the trend seems to be in the direction of high-value crops like high yielding wheat, groundnut and cotton which has a bearing on credit requirements. Besides irrigational and agricultural development programmes have been initiated for extension of canal irrigation, maximum conservation of water resources, adoption of suitable dry farming techniques and other modern methods of cultivation, development of mixed farming and arresting the advance of the desert. These efforts for maximizing agricultural production in turn call for adequate credit support from credit institutions operating in the state.

### Chapter II—Rajasthan State Co-operative Bank

3 The Agricultural Credit Stabilization Fund maintained by the RSCB stood at Rs 201.22 lakhs on 30.6.74. Stabilization arrangements have special significance to Rajasthan as large parts of the state are susceptible to frequent droughts and famines. The ccbs have to ensure a minimum involvement of 15 per cent in the conversion loans supplemented by assistance from the stabilization fund of the apex bank so as to be eligible to draw on the National Agricultural Credit (Stabilization) Fund maintained by the RBI, whenever such a need arises. In this context the RSCB will have to take steps to build up its stabilization fund to the level of Rs 314 lakhs by 1978-9. 4 The RSCB's deposits are no doubt increasing progressively, but their present level cannot be considered adequate to sustain a higher lending programme which is essential in the context of the various programmes of development of agriculture and allied activities envisaged in the Fifth Plan. The bank should, therefore, aim at 20 per cent annual growth rate in the deposits so that they may reach the level of Rs 15 crores in 1978-9, i.e., the last year of the Fifth Plan. For this purpose, the bank has to look primarily to the ccbs as feeders for its deposits and, therefore, involve itself actively in the deposit mobilization by the ccbs. We strongly recommend that the RSCB should pay special attention to this aspect and supervise the action on the part of the ccbs in the direction of mobilizing deposits in their areas.

5 The RSCB's dependence on external borrowings for its lending programmes has been somewhat excessive which makes its position vulnerable in the years of scarcity. The bank should aim at keeping its borrowings to less than 60 per cent of the total loans and advances by ensuring the growth of its deposits annually as much as proposed by us above.

6 With a view to strengthening supervision over the central banks and other indebted institutions, we recommend that the RSCB may establish regional offices in a phased manner. Priority may be given for opening such offices at Jodhpur and Udaipur with a view to supervising and guiding the operations of the institutions in the comparatively less developed areas. The other two regional offices may be opened at Bikaner and Kota to control and guide the credit institutions operating in the areas of the two command area development projects in the state.

7 The share of the less developed areas, i.e., the arid and semiarid zones and the tribal area, in the business of the RSCB was about one-fourth of its total loan business. The development of business of an apex institution is conditioned by the financial strength of the lower two tiers viz., the ccbs and the pacs and hence the RSCB as an apex institution should accept the situation as a challenge and shoulder greater financial and administrative responsibility in improving the operational efficiency and internal resources of the institutions in these areas.

### Chapter III—Central Co-operative Banks

8 In the matter of justification for continuance of a ccb, the most important consideration is that of viability and allied with it is the question of efficiency of the central bank. Banks which are not likely to attain viability within a reasonable period and are also inefficient may probably not continue to function as independent entities but make room for other institutional agencies. 9 More than a decade ago, the erstwhile SAC suggested that a viable central bank should have minimum loan business of Rs 1 crore and working capital of about Rs 1.20 crores. Since then there has been a considerable increase in the costs of inputs and services and also in the establishment expenditure, the former leading to an automatic increase in the loan business and the latter leading to increase in the costs of operation. Taking these aspects into account but simultaneously considering the poor achievements of banks in Rajasthan, we feel that a ccb in the state may be deemed to be viable if its loans outstanding exceed Rs 150 lakhs and potentially viable if the loans exceed Rs 100 lakhs.

10 The Kerala Study Team is of the view that besides the consideration of viability, a ccb can justify its claim to continued existence if it satisfies the three criteria, viz., (i) adequate mobilization of resources, (ii) responsiveness to local needs, and (iii) better recovery performance. We have made an attempt to translate the three broad criteria mentioned above into some objective criteria for assessing the relative performance of the central banks in Rajasthan by rating the banks with reference to ten major aspects of their business. The marks allotted are higher as the performance of the banks is better. All the indicators have been assumed to be equally important, although some of them are more important than others justifying different weights to different indicators. We, however, feel that the rating may be rough index of the relative performance of the different banks in the state.

11 Ten central banks, viz., Banswara, Dungarpur and Sirohi (TA), Barmer, Bikaner and Churu (AZ) and Jalore, Jhunjhunu, Nagaur and Sikar (SAZ), with 20 per cent or less marks can be rated as inefficient.

12 While strictly speaking the above ten banks, eight of which are not even potentially viable as per the norms adopted by the Fifth Plan Working Group, may be deemed to have no justification to continue, some allowance can be made for the existing low level of achievement and adverse natural conditions prevailing in some parts of Rajasthan and their cases considered sympathetically. Assuming that the banks in question will have to mainly depend on short-term agricultural loan business for attaining viability as the other types of business may be, in their cases, negligible the cases of the ten central banks for continued existence may be examined on the basis of the following:

(i) Whether there is potential in the district for the bank to reach a level of business of Rs 150 lakhs assuming that not more than 50 per cent of the short-term credit requirements in the district could be met by the concerned bank.

- (ii) Whether the deposits with the bank will reach the level of Rs 60 lakhs at the end of 1978-9 (assuming an annual growth rate of 25 per cent) necessary to sustain a credit business of Rs 150 lakhs.
- (iii) Whether the deposits will reach at least Rs 40 lakhs at the end of 1978-9 for sustaining a credit business of Rs 100 lakhs.

13 In our opinion, Dungarpur and Sirohi central banks are unlikely to attain the level of business of Rs 150 lakhs necessary to function as viable units, in view of the lack of adequate potential in the districts they serve and have, therefore, no justification to continue. We therefore, recommend that these two banks may be amalgamated with the RSCB. However, in order to ensure that the latter bank is not laden with any unrealizable assets of the amalgamated units, it should take over on an 'outright' basis only the realizable assets and equivalent liabilities of the central banks. The unrealizable assets of the central banks should be taken over on 'collection' basis and corresponding liabilities repaid on pro-rata basis. The amalgamations on the lines suggested can be brought about by amending sections 16 and 17 of the Rajasthan Co-operative Societies Act suitably. We, therefore, recommend that the GOR may take action to amend the act to facilitate the amalgamations and consult the Reserve Bank before drawing up a scheme of amalgamation on the proposed lines.

14 We suggest that the managements of the Banswara, Barmer, Bikaner and Sikar central banks should make concerted efforts towards mobilization of additional deposits so as to ensure an annual growth rate of 25 per cent as also for increasing the level of their loan business to Rs 150 lakhs in 1978-9 and later to Rs 200 lakhs. The state government may review the position of these banks in 1978-9 to decide whether any or all of them had justified their existence. The cases of banks which fail to reach the desired level of business in 1978-9 may be considered for amalgamation with the RSCB on the lines proposed in recommendation number 13.

15 We understand that the concerned authorities in the state government and of the RSCB are formulating jointly a programme for deposit mobilization by the central banks with a view to enabling these institutions to handle a higher level of business during the year 1975-6, with special attention to such banks as had meagre business. In view of this position, it may not be difficult for Jalore and Nagaur central banks to ensure an annual growth rate of 25 per cent in their deposits. For the same reason, we would allow Churu and Jhunjhunu central banks a continued existence on the presumption that special efforts will be made in their cases to ensure that each bank achieves a level of deposits of Rs 40 lakhs by 1978-9. We, therefore, recommend that the managements of the Churu central bank from the arid zone and the Jalore, Jhunjhunu and Nagaur central banks from the semi-arid zone should make concerted efforts for mobilization of additional deposits so as to ensure that the total deposits of each bank reach the level of at least Rs 40 lakhs by 1978-9. Simultaneously, steps may be taken to progressively increase the level of loan business of each of the four banks to Rs 100 lakhs in 1978-9. While arrangements for providing the needed guidance to these banks may be made on the lines suggested in the next recommendation, the GOR may, as suggested in recommendation number 14, review the position of these banks in 1978-9 with a view to initiating action for amalgamation with the RSCB of such banks as fail to achieve the expected level of business.

The matter of achieving improved performance cannot 16 be left entirely to the managements of the Churu, Jalore, Jhunjhunu and Nagaur central banks. Special attention will have to be bestowed on them and necessary guidance provided from time to time. Appointment of an administrator by the state government for each of these four banks after superseding their boards of directors is not favoured as such a step will result in depriving the involvement of local support which is very necessary for these banks to achieve an improved performance. We, therefore, recommend that the GOR may nominate as a director the MD of the RSCB on the boards of each of these four banks to guide them in their affairs. Consequently, the GOR may withdraw its administrator and arrange for vesting the management of the Nagaur central bank in an elected board of directors.

17 With a view to toning up the operational efficiency of the above four banks, we recommend that the services of suitable officers of the RSCB should be placed at the disposal of these banks to function as key officers and the bank may also agree to meet their cost.

18 The RSCB should apply its mind to issues like recruitment of some additional staff and training the existing personnel so that it will be equipped to shoulder the additional responsibility once decisions to amalgamate the Dungarpur and Sirohi banks with it and to participate in the managements of the Churu, Jalore, Jhunjhunu and Nagaur banks, are taken.

19 As a compensation for the loss of income from the loan business of Rs 50 lakhs, we recommend that the GOR may contribute Rs 15 lakhs each to the share capital of the Churu, Jalore, Jhunjhunu and Nagaur banks by borrowing from the Reserve Bank's LTO Fund. This should give them a minimum income of Rs 1 lakh per annum assuming that at least Rs 10 lakhs out of it remain in their business. We recommend further that the contribution should be made in lump sum in one year and that for this purpose the RBI may consider relaxing its normal conditions governing the grant of loans from its LTO Fund.

20 We recommend that the RBI may consider sanctioning limits to the RSCB for financing societies in the districts of Dungarpur and Sirohi against government guarantee. Further, the GOR may make an additional contribution of Rs 20 lakhs to the share capital of the apex bank by borrowing from the LTO Fund. Simultaneously, the RSCB should make special efforts to take the level of loans in these relatively backward districts to at least Rs 100 lakhs in each case by 1978-9; if not more.

21 The efficiency of eight other central banks with rating between 20 per cent and 35 per cent, viz., Bhilwara, Bundi, Jaipur, Jhalawar, Pali, Sawai Madhopur and Tonk from the non-tribal area and Jodhpur from the semi-arid zone, would have to be toned up considerably if they have to justify their continued existence. Five of these banks, viz., Bundi, Pali, Sawai Madhopur, Tonk and Jodhpur, had a loan business of less than Rs 150 lakhs each. The scope of business for them, as evidenced by the large credit gaps, is considerable. There is no reason why they should not be able to take the level of the loans to over Rs 250 lakhs by 1978-9. If they fail to reach even Rs 200 lakhs in that year, we suggest that their performance should again be reviewed so as to determine whether it would be advisable to merge any one of them with the RSCB.

22 Our above recommendations are in keeping with the authoritative views of the All-India Rural Credit Review Committee as well as the Banking Commission and, therefore, we hope that they will be accepted by all concerned without any reservation and implemented as quickly as possible.

# Chapter IV—Primary Agricultural Credit Co-operative Societies

23 The study in depth of nineteen pacs undertaken at our instance to ascertain the reasons for low coverage of cultivating families and lower borrowing membership, reveals that small farmers with holdings below 5 acres as also *harijans* and girijans have, by and large, not been encouraged to join the society of their area as members. This confirms the findings of similar studies conducted elsewhere that even the co-operatives whose primary objective is to help men of small means or the neglected sections of the community, tend to give attention to the more affluent sections of the society. The RBI insists on at least 20 per cent of the borrowings from the apex bank to be advanced as loans to small farmers. The proportion may

have to be fixed for each society individually, taking into account the relative importance of small farmers, *harijans* and *girijans* in the area of its operations.

24 The above study as also on-the-spot studies of 104 pacs in the state have brought out that the extent of coverage of rural families in the area of a society is closely linked to its ability to provide credit facilities with inputs and services and that the societies with independent full-time paid secretaries serve the clientele and the needs of their area better vis-a-vis the societies with part-time or honorary secretaries. The Fifth Plan Working Group has recommended that a society to be able to employ a full-time paid secretary should have a minimum credit business of Rs 2 lakhs. The above recommendation of the Working Group has been reiterated by the GOI and the ACB. It is now agreed that the pacs in every state should be so re-organized as to have ultimately only societies as have a potential loan business of at least Rs 2 lakhs. We are in full agreement with the above decisions and would urge on the government and the non-official co-operative opinion in the state to co-operate wholeheartedly in their implementation.

25 The poor achievements of the pacs in Rajasthan are indicative of the fact that the societies in the state may have a wider jurisdiction than their counterparts in the relatively more developed states like Gujarat and Maharashtra so that their number is kept down to a level which will ensure viability for each of the societies. We recommend, therefore, that a society in the normal zone may have within its jurisdiction approximately 2000 hectares of land under cultivation and a society in the arid and semi-arid zones approximately 5000 hectares. A much wider coverage has been suggested for the societies in the latter zones, because of the admittedly poor agricultural prospects in them.

26 On the basis of the above norms, the excess number of societies in majority of the districts in the state comes to 2395 and the short-fall in three districts aggregates 422, most of the short-fall being accounted for by the Ganganagar district. For the state as a whole the optimum number of societies will be 5768 as against the existing number of 7741 which includes 2236 dormant societies. The number and the percentage of dormant societies have varied from year to year. Dormancy may not necessarily mean that the societies have to be taken into liquidation. We, therefore, feel that in the programme of re-organization of societies which may be drawn up keeping in view the above broad guidelines, the dormant societies may not necessarily be taken into liquidation. It is only such of them as have their owned funds eroded completely or as have very

low borrowing membership that may be left out and marked for liquidation. The others may be retained if their area of operation conforms to the norms indicated above or amalgated with a neighbouring society to make the total area conform to the norms suggested by us.

27 Three districts can, as per the norms suggested by us, have a total of 422 additional societies. We feel that as far as possible no new societies may be organized in these districts during 1975-6 and 1976-7 except perhaps in RCP area. The question may be reviewed in 1977-8.

28 In drawing the plans of re-organization in other districts, it would be better to make an assessment block-by-block and identify the societies to be retained taking into account the cropped area, their geographical location and their financial position. A study similar to the above has been conducted in four districts of Karnataka by an officer of the RBI which may make the findings of the study available to the GOR for guidance in the matter.

29 The whole process of re-organization need not be postponed till the societies which may have to go out of existence, are taken into liquidation as that is a very time consuming process. In this connexion, we endorse the recommendation made by the Overdues Study Team that the better alternative is to allow such societies a slow and natural extinction. Such societies should be denied fresh credit by central banks and the area of an adjoining society extended to cover their area for meeting the credit requirements of non-defaulters and new members from the area.

30 The figure of optimum number of societies at 5768 arrived on the basis of rough norms adopted by us need not be taken as the firm and final figure. The block-wise examination which we have proposed will give the correct figure. In view of the urgency of the matter, we recommend that the examination should be accorded the highest priority by the government and the co-operative banks so that the blueprint for action is ready for the whole state latest by December 1975.

31 We emphasize that the achievement of the minimum level of business by the societies will not be possible unless they are given a wider area of operation proposed by us and unless, in particular, the societies have a trained full-time paid secretary.

32 We recommend that each one of the re-organized societies may receive government contribution to its share capital at the rate of Rs 10000 per society, if it has not received such contribution. As at the end of June 1974, the societies in the state had received government contribution to share capital amounting to Rs 2.16 crores. Assuming that the number of societies to be retained is 6000, the balance contribution will come to Rs 3.84 crores. We recommend that the GOR should make the necessary provision in their budgets for 1975-6 to 1977-8 for the amount so that in the last year of the Plan all the societies will have received the required contribution. We also recommend that the RBI may sanction corresponding loans to the GOR out of its LTO Fund.

33 In view of the need for each society having a full-time paid secretary we recommend that about 1000 secretaries may be recruited and trained annually in the next two years or so. Besides, to ensure that the secretaries take sustained interest in their work and maintain efficient standards, they will have to be provided with avenues for improving their prospects.

34 The re-organized societies proposed by us will be multipurpose in character and their operations. Additional functional societies for disbursement of credit for activities allied to agriculture will create problems of security and adversely affect the prospects of multi-purpose societies attaining viability as quickly as possible. Apart from this, there will be the question of the functional credit societies themselves becoming viable. In the light of conditions obtaining in Rajasthan, we recommend that in future no separate functional credit societies be organized for dairying, etc., and that those that may have been organized already be merged with re-organized multipurpose pacs.

35 From the view point of improving the viability prospects of the re-organized pacs, we recommend that they may handle longterm agricultural credit so that they get one more line of business and avenue for income. A beginning can be made to give effect to the recommendation which was also made by the T. A. Pai Group, as also by the ACB, by entrusting the responsibility for long-term credit to as many societies as possible in the areas of the 13 pldbs in the state which have little prospect of becoming viable.

36 For the above purpose, only societies re-organized on the lines suggested by us will obviously have to be selected. Besides, the managers of the societies will have to be given the necessary training. We suggest that the GOR may examine the whole question further in consultation with the RRSBVB.

# Chapter V—Agricultural Finance by Commercial Banks

37 The commercial banks operating in Rajasthan have a wide network of rural and semi-urban branches. Their success in the mobilization of deposits even from the less developed districts in the state is praiseworthy. The lower credit-deposit ratios in respect of most of the districts and also for the state as a whole indicate that there is scope for these banks to expand their loan portfolio within the state without drawing on funds from elsewhere. In the predominantly agricultural state like Rajasthan where the co-operative credit structure is weak, we feel that the commercial banks have a very large scope in the sphere of agricultural credit.

Chapter VI—Credit Potential and Future Lines of Development 38 The Fifth Plan Working Group estimated the credit needs for sao for the entire country at Rs 3000 crores in 1978-9 on the basis of Rs 250 per hectare for irrigated lands and Rs 125 per hectare for dry lands. Large parts of Rajasthan, especially the arid, semi-arid and tribal districts, account for low-value food crops. We, therefore, suggest that the most appropriate norms in respect of the unirrigated lands in the arid and semiarid districts and the six districts of Ganganagar, Jaipur, Pali, Dungarpur, Sirohi and Udaipur should be as under:

Districts	Norm in respect of unirrigated lands per hectare
Ganganagar, Jaipur and Pali (NTA), Dungarpur, Sirohi and	Rs
Udaipur (TA), and Jalore (SAZ)	100
Barmer, Bikaner, Churu and Jaisalmer (AZ), Jhunjhunu, Jodhpur, Nagaur and Sikar (SAZ)	75

In respect of the unirrigated areas in the remaining 11 districts as also all irrigated areas, the norms suggested by the Working Group may apply.

39 On the above basis, the total short-term credit requirements for the state work out to Rs 193.60 crores or, say, Rs 190 crores. The area under irrigation in the state is expected to go up by about 5 lakh hectares by 1978-9. Besides, if the price increase of fertilizers is taken into account, the estimate of credit potential in 1978-9 may as well exceed Rs 270 crores. However, we have, on a conservative basis, placed the same at Rs 200 crores only.

40 Since defaulters cannot be financed by any alternative credit agency and they will be entitled for fresh short-term loans at least to the extent of their defaults after the same are cleared, the pacs in the state can be deemed to have met short-term credit requirements in 1973-4 to the extent of the aggregate of short-term loans issued during 1973-4 and the overdues in respect of such loans as on 30.6.73. On this basis, the pacs in the state can be deemed to have met short-term credit needs

to the extent of Rs 33 crores or 17 per cent of the existing credit potential at Rs 190 crores in 1973-4. The relevant amount and percentage are expected to rise to Rs 45 crores and 24 respectively in 1974-5.

41 The above tempo of development can be maintained if the measures suggested by us subsequently for tackling the problem of overdues and for improving the image and operational efficiency of the co-operative credit institutions, are implemented. We suggest, therefore, that the managements of the co-operative credit institutions, particularly of the state and central banks and the concerned authorities of the state government should together strive to achieve an annual growth of about Rs 12 crores in short-term lendings by the institutions so that they may meet the short-term credit needs to the extent of Rs 95 crores in 1978-9, i.e., Rs 50 crores over and above the level of Rs 45 crores expected to be reached in 1974-5.

42 Even after the realization of the above target, the share of the co-operatives in meeting short-term credit needs will rise from 17 per cent in 1973-4 to 47.5 per cent of the credit potential at Rs 200 crores in 1978-9 leaving a large credit gap to be filled. The only other institutional source available is that of the commercial banks and we feel that they will have to be involved to a much greater extent than at present.

43 During the years 1973 and 1974, the commercial banks maintained an annual growth rate of over 17 per cent in mobilization of additional deposits in Rajasthan. Assuming a growth rate of at least 15 per cent per annum the banks may be able to mobilize additional deposits of the order of about Rs 182 crores by the end of June 1978. Out of this they may be in a position to allocate additional Rs 52 crores for priority sectors by 1978-9. We suggest that of this additional amount of Rs 52 crores, the banks may invest about 50 per cent, or at least Rs 25 crores, in meeting the short-term credit needs of farmers through pacs in the state.

44 Thus, in our opinion, the co-operative credit institutions at primary level in the state with financial assistance from the co-operative and commercial banks together should be, by the end of the Fifth Plan, in a position to meet short-term agricultural credit needs to the extent of Rs 120 crores or 60 per cent of the credit requirements at Rs 200 crores. Their efforts would have to be pursued thereafter for filling the remainder of the credit gap.

45 The T. A. Pai Group suggested that in future the commercial banks might, instead of opening rural branches below the *mandi* level, consider operating through farmers service societies/ re-organized viable pacs. The GOI have since accepted the suggestion. The representatives of the commercial banks operating in Rajasthan also wholeheartedly welcomed the proposal of financing pacs in select compact areas. We recommend, therefore, that the scheme of financing of pacs by the commercial banks should be extended to Rajasthan so that the banks can take up their short-term lendings for agricultural production through this medium to the level of Rs 25 crores by the end of the Fifth Plan, i.e., in 1978-9. The RBI has issued detailed guidelines to commercial banks for financing pacs. We expect the commercial banks, the co-operative banks, the societies and the RCS to bear them in mind in the transfer and financing of the societies by the commercial banks.

46 For extending credit support of Rs 25 crores through pacs by 1978-9 as proposed above, the branches of the commercial banks are expected to adopt about 10 viable primary societies each in a compact area having a potential loan business of about Rs 20 lakhs, i.e., roughly Rs 2 lakhs per society. This means the commercial banks will have to adopt about 125 such areas in the state by 1978-9. We suggest that roughly 30-40 areas may be selected annually during the next three/four years commencing from 1975-6.

47 For carving out areas for ceding to the commercial banks, we propose that all blocks with credit gaps exceeding Rs 60 lakhs in amount and in percentage (of the credit potential) 75, may be selected for introduction of the scheme of financing pacs by the commercial banks. The extent of influence of the commercial banks in the above blocks may be as under:

- (a) Where the credit gap exceeds Rs 160 lakhs, to the extent of Rs 60 lakhs which could be handled through three branches in the block.
- (b) Where the gap exceeds Rs 110 lakhs, but is less than Rs 160 lakhs, to the extent of Rs 40 lakhs which could be handled by two branches in the block.
- (c) Where the gap exceeds Rs 60 lakhs, but is less than Rs 110 lakhs, to the extent of Rs 20 lakhs which could be handled by one branch in the block.

48 The number of blocks in category (a) are 13, in category (b) 14 and in category (c) 65, i.e., in all 92 blocks in 23 districts. The scheme may not be introduced in the remaining three districts, viz., Dungarpur and Udaipur (TA) and Jaisalmer (AZ), as the amount of credit gap is below Rs 60 lakhs in each block in these districts. Similarly, we suggest that the Kota district may be excluded from the purview of the scheme as it has only one block with a credit gap exceeding Rs 60 lakhs. Thus, the total number of branches of commercial banks that could be entrusted with the responsibility in the state will be 131 in 91 blocks of 22 districts—39 in category (a), 28 in category (b) and 64 in category (c). At the rate of Rs 20 lakhs per branch, the credit potential will be Rs 26.20 crores out of a total of Rs 200 crores estimated on the *ad hoc* basis in recommendation 39 above.

49 Of the 22 districts in which the scheme is proposed for introduction, the required number of branches of commercial banks are not available in five districts, viz., Ganganagar, Barmer, Jalore, Jodhpur and Nagaur. The short-fall is to the extent of 19 branches in 14 blocks. We recommend that in these blocks, the Reserve Bank's Department of Banking Operations and Development may allocate suitable centres to the commercial banks for opening the required number of branches so as to ensure the introduction of the scheme in all the identified 91 blocks in the state by 1978-9. In the next one or two years, the scheme can be introduced in blocks where the branches of commercial banks already exist.

50 The actual allocation of areas in each block should be done in the District Level Committee in which both the commercial and co-operative banks may be represented. The Collector of the district may act as Chairman. The allocation should be placed before the State Level Committee for ratification. Once the allocation is finalized no one should be allowed to alter it unilaterally.

51 Our recommendations would enable the commercial banks to lend through pacs in 91 blocks out of a total of 232 blocks in the state. Even in the 91 blocks, the banks would cover not the entire area of the block, but only a portion. Thus the commercial banks will be free to lend directly to farmers in a substantial portion of the state and we expect that with the removal of the several difficulties in the way of direct lending with the passing of the legislation on the lines recommended by the Talwar Committee, their role will expand considerably in future. The short-term loans presently advanced by the commercial banks are very meagre and are less than Rs 1 crore. We feel that it may not be difficult for the banks to step up this figure to Rs 10 crores considering the vast areas where they will be providing agricultural loans directly to the farmers. Even in these areas, i.e., other than the areas in the 91 blocks in which they will be financing the pacs, the commercial banks may, if they so desire, provide finance through pacs in additional compact areas provided the areas are selected in consultation with the state government and

with the approval of the state and district level committees. If this additional finance of Rs 10 crores is made available by the commercial banks, the total short-term credit provided through the commercial and co-operative banking systems will amount to Rs 130 crores or roughly two-thirds of the credit potential estimated at Rs 200 crores by 1978-9.

52 We recommend that the commercial banks may not as far as possible lend directly to farmers residing within the jurisdiction of the societies financed by them. Such of these farmers who are already receiving credit facilities may be persuaded to join the society of the area within a reasonable period of time after which the financial accommodation to them may even be stopped if they do not want to join the society.

53 We have proposed amalgamation of the Dungarpur and Sirohi banks with the RSCB. We recommend that the RCS should initiate necessary steps so as to ensure that the Dungarpur and Sirohi banks are amalgamated with the RSCB and the branches of the former banks function as the branches of the latter bank. The whole process should be completed as early as possible, preferably before the end of June 1976. Simultaneously, we recommend that the RSCB should take steps for training of the staff of the ccbs to be taken over by it and, if necessary, arrange for the recruitment and training of the additional staff so as to ensure that the offices/branches of the transferor banks are manned by efficient personnel to handle additional responsibilities devolving on them. Similar action would be necessary in respect of its branch at Jaisalmer.

54 We recommend that the RBI may consider permitting the RSCB to open its branches in the districts of Dungarpur and Sirohi as also in the district of Jaisalmer.

55 We suggest that the RSCB should not overburden itself with new responsibilities and, therefore, recommend that during the next 3-4 years the bank should not enter into other areas for financing the pacs by-passing the concerned ccbs.

# Chapter VII—Problems of and Institutional Arrangements for Tribals

56 A major factor contributing to the slow economic progress of tribals is the inadequate development of institutional arrangements for provision of credit, supplies and services to them. With a view to finding a solution in this behalf, a study was undertaken at our instance to determine the problems of tribal areas and of institutions functioning in such areas in Rajasthan. The special features of the tribals in the state as revealed by the study are as under:

- (i) All the twenty-two identified tribal blocks are geographically in a contiguous and compact area in the hilly terrain of southern Rajasthan.
- (ii) The tribals are not migratory.
- (iii) Most of them are landholders. Ninety per cent of the economic activities of the tribals relate to agricultural operations.
- (iv) The recent degradation of the forests in the tribal area has seriously cut down the income of tribals from minor forest produce.
- (v) The tribals, by and large, are not engaged in subsidiary occupations like cattle breeding and sheep and goat rearing. The latter activity is not being undertaken due to the considerations of status. They derive their subsidiary income mainly from wages as casual labourers in the off season.
- (vi) The moneylender or moneylender-cum-merchant/trader, viz., the Mahajan or Kalal plays a key role in the economic life of the tribals. The basic necessities of life like foodgrains, cloth and shelter are often obtained by them from him in exchange of their produce. The tribals also approach him for cash loans to meet the cost of social functions like child birth, marriage, etc., or purchase of ornaments.

The study thus brought out the necessity for an institutional structure at the base level which can extend credit, supply seeds, fertilizers and other inputs as also consumer goods to tribals, undertake marketing of their agricultural produce and persuade them to undertake subsidiary occupations like cattle breeding and sheep and goat rearing. Besides, the base level institution should be capable of undertaking activities like contracts for collection of wood, fodder and other minor forest produce with a view to providing employment during the off season.

57 In the draft Sub-Plan for the Tribal Areas (1974-9) prepared by the GOR, the indebtedness of tribals to moneylenders has been estimated on an average at Rs 600 per tribal household. The study revealed that the tribals approach the moneylender or trader-cum-moneylender for all types of credit requirements including for social obligations as also for purchase of domestic requirements like foodgrains, cloth, etc. The loans carry exhorbitant rates of interest. The repayment is mostly insisted in the form of agricultural produce which is valued at a price far below the ruling market price. Thus the tribal can hardly manage to pay the interest and consequently there is no repayment towards the principal amount.

58 The study brought out clearly that the credit and marketing institutions operating in the tribal area of Rajasthan are so weak as to offer practically no resistance to the exploitation the tribals have been subjected to by the moneylenders or moneylenders-cum-traders.

59 A co-operative society exclusively for tribals has to be ruled out firstly because it will affect adversely the process of integration of the tribals with the main stream of the society and secondly the existing pacs will have difficulty in becoming viable units if their business is confined to non-tribals if the latter are small minority in the total population of the area. On the other hand, if the society is exclusively for tribals, it will have difficulty in attaining viability. From the social as well as economic point of view, therefore, it will be preferable to have only one unit catering to the needs of all the people in the area, i.e., both tribals and non-tribals. However, it may be necessary to provide for a majority of the tribals on the managing committee of the society as also for their being elected to the posts of Chairman/Secretary/Treasurer of the society. Besides, it should be possible to confine certain benefits and privileges to the tribals, e.g., capital subsidies, preferential rate of interest, etc.

60 Tribals generally have restricted alienable rights in the land and as the records of lands in tribal areas are poorly maintained, the land development banks have not been able to provide enough credit to tribals. Besides, it will be better if a comprehensive view of the credit needs of the tribal-farmers is taken with a view to tailoring the periods of the loans for the different purposes according to the total income and repaying capacity of the tribal. It follows logically, therefore, that a co-operative society in the tribal area should handle long-term loans along with short-term and mediumterm loans. We feel that it will be advisable for the RRSBVB to by-pass pldbs and route the long-term loans through the Adimjati Seva Samiti (whose organization is proposed later) treating it as primary bank. Simultaneously, immediate steps are necessary on the part of the GOR for updating the land records in the tribal area, in particular of the blocks proposed to be covered by the Adimiati Seva Samitis.

61 A co-operative society in the tribal area must take note of the needs and obligations of the tribals and devise methods of operation which will minimise or obviate the need to approach the moneylender or moneylender-cum-trader/merchant. At the same time, it should be recognized that no institution can hope to meet extravagance in domestic expenditure or in the various types of ceremonies. The realization to be modest in such expenditure can come through education and reforms in social practices which cannot be the responsibility of credit agencies. The burden of responsibility in this behalf has to be shouldered by the state government in the tribal or social welfare departments and also by social organizations which devote themselves to the economic and social uplift of the tribals.

62 The above society should have a consumer stores wing to deal with not more than a dozen essential items required by the tribals. This will not only ensure control over the stocks but also keep the investment of funds to the minimum besides ensuring a quick turnover of the funds. The credit limit for the purpose can be to the extent of the 'A' component (cash component) under the crop loan system. If 'A' component in the scale of finance is Rs 100 per acre, the tribal borrower may not be advanced in cash more than Rs 25 and the balance may serve as his entitlement to purchase consumer goods from the society. This sort of supply of credit in kind should be treated as credit for agricultural operations and be reimbursable from the credit limit sanctioned by the RBI for short-term agricultural purposes. While this will be possible only in respect of tribals who are cultivating land, in the case of a mere labourer, the society has to think of such consumption credit out of its own resources as supplemented by the ccb or the commercial bank. Individual limits for nonagriculturists will have to be fixed cautiously and it may be advantageous to require an agriculturist to stand surety to such borrowers.

63 The possibility of institutionalizing the present tribal custom of mutual help-Narota as is known among the adivasis of Rajasthan-should be explored in so far as expenses in connexion with social obligations in birth, marriage, etc., are concerned. The tribal can be saved from going to the moneylender or merchant for the purpose, if the society itself has the necessary arrangements to accommodate him. The society may give him loan at a certain multiple of the amount to the credit of his thrift deposit account on which an attractive rate of interest could be allowed. The rate of interest on the loan should not be too low and out of tune with the rate to which the tribal is accustomed in respect of his present borrowings from the moneylender. While the provision of refinance to the society for the purpose should be regarded as a legitimate responsibility of the cfa, no refinance will be available from the RBI as this will not be a purpose recognized under the **RBI** Act.

64 It is contended that unless the tribal is set free first from the clutches of the moneylender, it will be futile to expect any improvement in his economic condition. But the problem is not peculiar to tribals only as other backward sections of the society are also indebted to moneylenders/merchants. Any measures to write off the debts of tribals or to re-schedule them may not achieve the desired results as the moneylender will have his own ways of recovering them as he has in securing the rate of interest he wants on the loans he advances despite restrictions imposed by the moneylending legislation. There is also no guarantee that a tribal freed from his existing debts will not indulge in extravagance and incur fresh debts. The real solution of the problem lies in raising the level of income of the tribal primarily from agriculture and allied activities and from minor forest produce as also in bringing about certain social reforms.

65 The co-operative society for the tribals should, therefore, integrate credit with supplies of inputs of modern agriculture, arrange technical guidance to facilitate adoption of modern methods of cultivation by the tribal and also the marketing of minor forest produce as well as the products of his agriculture and other allied activities. The cumulative effect may be to increase the incomes of the tribals which will not only provide the necessary wherewithal to pay off the existing debts but obviate the need to resort to borrowing from the moneylender, particularly when the society arranges to provide domestic requirements as also loans for meeting the outlay on social functions. Thus, we suggest that the society should undertake the following important activities and functions amongst others:

- (i) provision of short, medium and long-term credit for agricultural purposes;
- (ii) provision of inputs of agriculture like seed, fertilizer, insecticide, agricultural implements and machinery;
- (iii) provision of essential domestic requirements like foodgrains, cloth, salt, sugar, vegetable oil, kerosene, matches, tobacco, etc., against the members' entitlement under the cash component of the scale of finance or against a limit specifically sanctioned for meeting their consumption needs;
- (iv) provision of technical advice and guidance needed for modernizing agriculture and allied activities;
- (v) marketing of agricultural produce or products of allied activities like dairying, poultry keeping, etc;
- (vi) marketing of minor forest produce;

- (vii) provision of credit for expenses incurred to meet certain social obligations in birth, marriage, or death ceremonies, the quantum of such credit being related to the members' thrift deposits collected continuously;
- (viii) undertaking where possible forest or other labour contracts which will provide employment and additional income to members;
  - (ix) mobilization of deposits from members and others; and
- (x) undertaking such other activities which are incidental to the above functions.

The society of the above type will have to serve a much 66 wider area of operations so that the business generated from the members in the area gives sufficient income to pay not only for a more competent manager/managing director, but also a large complement of staff to provide technical guidance, handle agricultural inputs and consumer goods and market agricultural and minor forest produce. We suggest that it may be advisable to have a society which is bigger than a society considered viable as per the standards suggested by us but not as big as to cover the whole block as has been envisaged in the draft Sub-Plan for the Tribal Areas. The ideal jurisdiction of such society may be about 10000 rural population (2000 families) or 4000 hectares of land so that the effective coverage at 40 per cent may be 800 borrowing members owning and cultivating together about 1600 hectares of land. A coverage of 40 per cent can reasonably be reached within a period of 4 or 5 years ultimately taking the loan business to Rs 10 lakhs.

67 We are of the view that the future pattern of re-organization of the societies in the tribal belt in the state may be in the direction of the societies with jurisdiction and functions as above and, therefore, suggest that about forty such special type of societies may be organized in a phased manner over the next three years commencing from 1975-6 at the rate of 10-15 societies per annum in six blocks, two each from the districts of Banswara and Dungarpur, and one each from the districts of Udaipur and Chittorgarh. For the purpose of identification, these societies may be called Adimiati Seva Samitis or 'Tribal Service Societies'. Organization of such societies in other blocks of the tribal belt may be taken up after 1978-9, i.e., after watching the results. However, for these blocks, there will have to be a minimum programme and, therefore, efforts should be made to revitalize such of the existing societies as will be able to reach a loan business of at least Rs 2 lakhs and within the competence and capacity of a full-time manager each such society may undertake first three functions listed in recommendation 65 above.

68 We have recommended organization of special type of societies with area of less than a block in the tribal area mainly to (i) obviate the need for the society to open branches which in turn will help to solve the problem of finding the necessary trained staff and (ii) minimize the problems of amalgamation and liquidation of the existing societies. At the same time, with the increase in business, even such a society may eventually find it necessary to open branches. But we presume that the aspects of economy and managerial competence will be given due consideration before the branches are opened. Thus, there can be flexibility regarding the special society in the tribal area having branches or serving a larger area. If. therefore, the concerned authorities in the state government are confident of tackling the problems of managerial competence and amalgamation/liquidation of the existing societies, we have no objection to the GOR organizing the block-level society proposed in the draft Sub-Plan for one or two tribal blocks provided each society has at least 10 branches and a full complement of trained staff to serve the members effectively.

69 We recommend that due allowance must be made for the longer gestation period needed by a society meant to serve the tribal community and the continuance of the staff subsidy almost indefinitely, if that becomes necessary. The minimum staff proposed by us for the *Adimjati Seva Samiti* should not be reduced merely on the ground that the society cannot sustain that staff strength. Similarly, the strength of staff in the remaining societies in the tribal area may have to be on a more liberal basis than the societies in the non-tribal areas.

70 The Adimjati Seva Samiti proposed by us is to take up variety of functions which will not be possible unless it has a fairly satisfactory capital base. It is unrealistic to expect a tribal to contribute adequately to the share capital of the society. Even for his own borrowings he may contribute only 5 per cent towards the share capital. As in the case of the SFDA, the Tribal Development Authority, by whatever name called, may grant loans to individual tribals to enable them to contribute to the share capital of the society. Alternatively, the state government may participate in the share capital of the Adimjati Seva Samitis by borrowing from the LTO Fund. Keeping in view the existing pattern of share capital contribution, we feel that the state government may have to be somewhat liberal in their contribution to the share capital of the societies meant primarily for the tribals. Correspondingly, the RBI may also take a more sympathetic view of the needs of these societies in dealing with the applications of the state government for loans from the LTO Fund.

71 As regards the institutional set-up at the higher levels we feel that it will be advisable to have two or more distinct organizations undertaking the functions of credit on the one hand and supply and marketing on the other hand, although at the base level there will be only one institution undertaking both the credit and non-credit activities. The higher level credit institution should be in a position to undertake all banking functions including acceptance of deposits from the public, otherwise it may have to rely solely on outside borrowings. Further, it is not advisable to combine banking and trading at the higher level.

72 Of the 22 blocks with heavy concentration of tribal population, only 10 are served by a primary marketing society each. But the business of these societies as also the district level marketing societies operating in the tribal area relates to the distribution of fertilizers and sugar and that business, in most cases, is also meagre. In view of this position the existing marketing organizations operating in the tribal area in the state cannot be counted upon to provide adequate support to the Adimjati Seva Samitis/viable primary societies in their non-credit business. We, therefore, recommend organization of a Tribal Development Corporation for the tribal area in Rajasthan to co-ordinate and support the non-credit business of the primary societies like the provision of inputs of agriculture and domestic consumption goods and marketing of agricultural and forest produce. The Corporation should be registered under the Co-operative Societies Act and its membership may be open to the marketing and primary societies operating in the tribal area. The Corporation should function as a commercial organization. It may open branches at suitable centres or operate through the existing marketing societies to serve effectively the affiliated primary societies. The GOR should provide the requisite financial and administrative support to the Corporation.

73 Development of tribals may be viewed as an integrated project, the execution of which has to be carefully planned and supervised to the minutest detail and for this purpose it will be advisable to set up a Tribal Development Authority for each district from the tribal area whose responsibility it should be to draw up a programme of action and supervise its implementation. The Authority can be registered under the Societies Registration Act and the government grants and subsidies may be routed through it. It should have a whole-time Executive Director with the minimum supporting technical and other staff. On its governing council, besides the various departments of the state government, various credit and other business organizations should be represented. The entire expenditure of the Authority will have to be borne by the state government for which provision should be made in the Tribal Sub-Plan.

# Chapter VIII—Problems of and Institutional Arrangements for Drought-Prone Areas

74 Agriculture proper in the arid and semi-arid zones will continue to be unstable so long as suitable dry farming techniques are not developed. From the view point of viability of primary credit institutions operating in the arid and semiarid zones steps are, therefore, necessary for stabilizing and upgrading the economy of farmers by inducing them to take up suitable ancillary occupations and ensuring adequate credit and other necessary support therefor. Sheep breeding is an important activity which can help substantially in stabilizing and increasing the income of farmers, particularly belonging to the economically weak category in the state.

75 With a view to suggesting institutional arrangements for credit for sheep breeding and goat rearing activities in the state and for organized marketing of wool and mutton a study was undertaken at our instance. The study revealed that there is a demand for loans for purchase of sheep units and that the co-operative credit agencies are keen to take up the activity provided adequate reimbursement for the purpose becomes available from the RBI, and institutional arrangements are guaranteed for organized marketing not only to effect recoveries but also to assure a fair return to the farmer. However, it is reported that there is already an over exploitation of grazing areas and, therefore, the policy in respect of loans for purchase of sheep units should not result in increasing the sheep population. The credit support may be in respect of quality or high-yielding stock. We suggest, therefore, that the district level credit agency should draw its annual lending programme for the purpose in close collaboration and consultation with the concerned District Sheep and Wool Officer of the Directorate of Sheep and Wool.

76 The flock owners from the arid and semi-arid zones, by and large, face the problem of fodder during November to June when there is failure of rains which is quite frequent. In the event of such calamity they need finance either for purchase of fodder, etc., or alternatively some cash assistance to migrate the sheep flock temporarily. A short-term finance for a period of say 8 months can be considered to the sheep breeders who are required to migrate their flocks.

77 A medium-term loan of Rs 3000 for purchase of sheep unit can be repaid in five annual instalments out of the income generated from the sheep unit purchased by the farmer. The repayment of medium-term loan may not be insisted in equal annual instalments, but the total burden can be in an ascending order proportionate to the increase in the gross income of the breeder. As for security of loan, we are of the view that medium-term loans for purchase of sheep upto Rs 3000 may be extended to economically weak farmers without insistence on mortgage or charge on land on the basis of joint and several liability of a group of not less than 5 farmers. The facility to take a term loan of that order to a farmer who is prepared to mortgage his land should, however, continue.

78 We have considered a multi-purpose society as a better alternative to functional credit society. Besides helping to solve the problem of the borrower in offering security to different institutions, the financing of sheep breeding business will help widen the effective coverage of the pacs, improve their business and prospects of viability. As regards the district level institutions, the pacs can obtain financial accommodation from the concerned central bank or a branch of the state co-operative bank/commercial bank, as the case may be.

79 The institutional arrangements for marketing of wool may be undertaken by combining the organization and expertise already available under the government scheme with the experience of cotton marketing, particularly in Broach distriot of Gujarat. The jurisdiction of a wool marketing society will have to be wider, as the quantity of wool produced in each district in Rajasthan is much lower than that of cotton produced in the Broach district. We, therefore, suggest that to ensure viability, the sheep and wool marketing society in Rajasthan may serve the whole district.

80 Such a society will need strong capital base. The owned funds of the society may have to be of the order of Rs 7 lakhs. The membership may be kept open to the state government, the pacs, other co-operative institutions and individual sheep breeders in the district. Initially, the state government may have to contribute bulk of the share capital. Since on the organization of the marketing society, the government scheme for purchase of wool will be withdrawn from the district, the budget provision made in that behalf for the district can perhaps be diverted for contributing to the share capital of the marketing society.

81 The managing committee of the marketing society may be nominated for the first two years. The chairman of the society can be an officer of suitable rank from the Sheep and Wool Directorate and the Deputy/Assistant Registrar of Cooperative Societies and the Manager of the central bank may be among the directors. Other directors should be sheep farmers representing the affiliated primary societies. The MD may be an officer on deputation from the Directorate. The state government may place on deputation such other minimum staff from the Sheep and Wool and Co-operative Departments as is necessary to ensure efficient functioning of the society.

82 Collection of wool can be made by the existing extension centres of the Directorate and as the staff attached to these centres is at present engaged in the purchase of wool for about four months in a year, one-third of the annual salary of the staff of the centres may, therefore, be reimbursed by the marketing society to the state government. The marketing society can, in addition, open its own purchase centres in a phased manner. Good working primary societies with godown facilities may be authorised to collect wool. The society may maintain mobile grading units.

83 The collection of wool should not be on an outright purchase basis. On tendering the wool, the farmer may be entitled to an advance say up to 75 per cent of the market price of the wool. The society may arrange to ensure quick turnover by resorting to bulk sales to single parties or holding auctions as often as necessary. On realization of sale proceeds, the society should be entitled to certain commission on turnover for meeting its management and other expenses. The balance of sale proceeds may be distributed as the final payment to the farmers.

84 The first and final payments may be made through the primary societies even to non-borrowers and non-members to ensure that the benefits accrue to the sheep farmers only. The primary societies can be permitted to make adjustments from the payments towards loan dues.

85 The marketing society may deduct compulsorily 3 to 5 per cent of the total sale proceeds towards deposits which may be utilized in its own business. These deposits may be allowed to be adjusted towards the provision of fodder or premixed feed which the society may arrange. Sheep farmers for whom temporary migration of the flock is inevitable, may be allowed withdrawal of their deposits in part or full at the time of migration.

86 A Mortality Fund may be created and the marketing society may make another nominal deduction, say, at 1 per cent of the sale proceeds for the purpose. This fund may be maintained by the central bank. The bank itself can make small contribution to the fund annually out of its distributable profits. The state government may sanction grants-in-aid on matching basis to the credit of the fund which may be drawn upon to provide partial or full relief in the repayment of medium-term loan instalment/s of a sheep farmer who is affected by large-scale mortality of his sheep flock (at least to the extent of 50 per cent) not on account of mis-management but because of occurrence of an epidemic. On receipt of application, the central bank may arrange for an on-the-spot enquiry by a team comprising the concerned inspector of the bank and extension officer of the Directorate. The extent of relief may be decided on the basis of the enquiry report.

87 A similar procedure as in the case of wool can be adopted for collection and sale of animals to be disposed of for mutton purposes. The disposal of animals will have to be by transporting live animals for sale in the markets at Delhi, Ahmedabad and Bombay until such time a slaughter house is established, the establishment of which, for obvious reasons, cannot be considered until the district level marketing societies for various districts stabilize their position.

88 The RBI may consider extending financial accommodation for purchase of sheep units in respect of all sheep farmers.

89 The RBI may be approached for reimbursement facilities through the normal channel, viz., the state and central banks, for financing collection, grading and marketing of sheep and wool by the district marketing societies.

90 The GOR may consider sanctioning management subsidy to the marketing society or alternatively place the staff on duty and bear their salaries initially for the first three years.

91 In view of the non-availability of an infrastructure in the case of goat rearing activities, we offer no suggestions regarding institutional credit arrangements for financing goat rearing.

92 We recommend that the GOR and the RSCB may provide broad guidelines and induce the ccbs operating in the arid and semi-arid zones to identify areas and explore the possibility of dispensing credit for sheep breeding on the lines suggested by us.

93 We suggest that a beginning may be made for institutionalizing marketing by organizing district level sheep and wool marketing societies for two/three districts from the arid and semi-arid zones. Involvement of the pacs in the arrangements for marketing of sheep products and their close liaison with the proposed district marketing society is very necessary and should on no account be overlooked.

# Chapter IX—Block-wise Plan of action for reorganization of primary co-operative credit structure

94 In drawing the final plan of action for re-organization of societies, the actual number of societies to be retained in an area would depend not only on the cropped area, but also on the potential business of at least Rs 2 lakhs to be reached in

1978-9. At the same time, an account has to be taken of such factors as facility of communications and the financial position and operational efficiency of the concerned societies.

95 Of the 232 blocks in the state, 175 blocks have excess societies, i.e., more than the number of societies that should exist, on the basis of the optimum cropped area to be covered by each society.' If the number of institutions is related to the projected level of short-term business; the number of blocks with excess societies will be 181, i.e., six more than on the above basis.

96 The 181 blocks with excess societies may be classified in two categories, viz., (a) blocks wherein the number of dormant societies is less than the number considered excessive in each block and (b) blocks in which the number of dormant societies is more than the number of societies which is considered excessive. On these basis 123 blocks fall in category (a) and 58 in category (b).

97 In respect of blocks in category (a) the re-organization of primary structure may be, on the basis of weeding out first all the dormant societies on the assumption that they are evenly distributed over the entire block and thereafter some non-viable/marginally functioning societies. In the case of such of these blocks as do not have a single dormant institution, the societies to be retained may be those as have relatively low overdues and lower bad and doubtful assets and the area of each such society may be extended to the area of adjoining societies which have to be weeded out. Similar procedure may be adopted in other blocks in which, apart from the dormant institutions, some non-viable/marginally functioning institutions may have to be dispensed with.

98 In the case of blocks in category (b), dormant societies equivalent approximately to the number of excess societies in each case may have to be weeded out and the remaining dormant societies revitalized. If none of the dormant societies can be revitalized, it may be necessary to organize new societies. The same principle may apply in respect of the two other blocks wherein the existing number of societies equal the number of societies that can be supported by the blocks and a majority of the former are, however, dormant.

99 We recommend that the concerned ccbs and the Assistant Registrars of Co-operative Societies should jointly draw a plan with reference to a map for the area of each block showing the location of the existing societies including the dormant ones and that of the societies to be retained with their respective jurisdiction. The necessary guidance in this regard may be provided by the RSCB and RCS.

100 Forty-nine blocks in the state can support 923 additional societies on the basis of loan potential. Besides, 514 dormant societies in these blocks will have to be revitalized. However, the need for organization of new societies in these blocks will largely depend on the credit support that may be forthcoming to the pacs in the area from the concerned ccbs. It is likely that such credit support may not forthcome in 17 blocks of the districts of Barmer, Churu, Jalore and Nagaur at least till the end of Fifth Five Year Plan. These 17 blocks account for 332 additional societies. Insofar as these blocks are concerned, we recommend that the existing number of societies in each block may be deemed as adequate and that the efforts for re-organization may be restricted to revitalization of the existing dormant societies to the extent possible by 30 June 1977.

101 In the case of remaining 32 blocks, the question of organizing 591 new societies in these blocks in the next four years cannot be ruled out as the concerned ccbs can, with strenuous efforts, manage to render the necessary credit support to primary societies in their respective districts. However, even in the case of these 32 blocks, we would suggest that during the first one or two years, efforts may be directed towards revitalizing the existing dormant societies and the question of organizing additional societies may be considered thereafter depending on the increase in the support from the cfas.

102 On the above basis, the number of societies that may emerge in the state in 1978-9 will be 5668, i.e., 6000 on the basis of projected level of credit business at primary level in 1978-9 for the state as a whole less 332. Besides, organization of special types of societies in six tribal blocks in pursuant to our recommendations will reduce the number of societies in these blocks by 37 (12 in Banswara district, 10 in Chittorgarh district, 10 in Dungarpur district and 5 in Udaipur district). We suggest, therefore, that the programme of re-organization of the primary credit structure should be pushed through with vigour to reduce the number of pacs from 7741 as on 30.6.74 to 5631 (5668—37) or, say, about 5600 by 1978-9 all over the state inclusive of the special societies in the tribal belt.

103 In Rajasthan steps have already been initiated for organization of a farmers service society with jurisdiction of less than a block in Kotri block of Bhilwara district. The society is proposed to be financed by the Bank of Baroda. We recommend that the state government may initiate steps to organize at least three more farmers service societies in the state, one each in the non-tribal area and the arid and semiarid zones. Organization of such a society in the tribal area may not be necessary as we have proposed special types of societies for the tribals. We have already recommended that in 91 blocks in the state the commercial banks may be invited to finance pacs. Since none of the central banks in the state has been paying a dividend of 5 per cent or more, the proposed farmers service societies will have to be organized in the blocks in which the commercial banks will be invited to finance pacs. Organization of farmers service societies in the state may be an integral part of the programme of re-organization of primary credit structure suggested by us.

104 With a view to ensuring completion of programme of reorganization in good time, we would urge on the GOR to adhere to the following time schedule:

- (i) Identification of societies to be weeded out should be completed by 31.12.75 by the RCS in consultation with the concerned ccbs. After obtaining approval of the state government to the programme, necessary instructions to the concerned institutions should be issued by the Registrar by that date.
- (ii) The societies so identified should be allowed six months time, i.e., 1.1.76 to 30.6.76, to go into voluntary liquidation.
- (iii) If the societies fail to even initiate action within the stipulated time, the Co-operative Department should use their statutory powers to bring about the required re-organization and central banks should deny fresh finance to such institutions.
- (iv) The entire programme of re-organization including revitalization of dormant institutions, where necessary, should be completed by 30.6.77.
- (v) The question of organization of additional societies, wherever warranted, should be considered during the year 1977-8 and, if necessary, in 1978-9.
- (vi) The organization of special societies in six tribal blocks should be taken up in a phased manner from 1975-6 onwards and completed in three years, i.e., by 30.6.78.

# Chapter X—Overdues in Co-operative Credit Institutions

105 Credit institutions depending on borrowings from outside in the form of loans or deposits cannot hope to take rapid strides towards meeting the credit gaps unless they can sustain the confidence of the outside creditors by their satisfactory record of recovery of the dues. The smooth flow of the credit channel can get blocked by overdues some of which may be for reasons beyond the control of the borrowers. While there may be a case on the one hand to provide relief, even though delayed, to such defaulters as had not received earlier the conversion facility under stabilization arrangements and, therefore, could be deemed as non-wilful, on the other hand it is necessary to pursue relentlessly action for recovery against those whose defaults are wilful.

106 We recommend a programme of rehabilitation by way of relief in respect of short and medium-term agricultural loans for non-wilful defaulters, not only to rehabilitate such defaulters, but also to re-open the line of credit to the cooperative credit institutions. It is estimated that non-wilful defaults in the state may account for about Rs 2.60 crores forming 22 per cent of the total overdues at the primary level at Rs 11.44 crores as on 30.6.73.

107 All defaulters with cultivated holdings in villages affected by natural calamities in one or more years, i.e., where the *annewari* declared is 6 annas or less, during the three-year period 1971-2 to 1973-4 should be considered non-wilful and eligible for relief under the rehabilitation programme provided their defaults occurred during the period October 1971 to June 1974 with the exception of the following cultivators:

- (a) those who have either deceived the society by showing false landholdings or crops with a view to securing more credit than they would have been otherwise eligible for or have been issued fresh finance although they were in default to their society;
- (b) those who obtained loans for sugarcane, banana, orchard or plantation crops in conjunction with other crops provided the income from the former is at least 75 per cent of their gross agricultural income;
- (c) those whose gross agricultural income is above Rs 5000 per annum; and
- (d) those who are income-tax or agricultural income tax assessees.

108 The nature and extent of relief that may be extended to the non-wilful defaulters is indicated below:

(i) Default under one loan

The loan under default may be converted into a three-year medium-term (rehabilitation) loan.

(ii) Default under two loans
 A six-year rehabilitation loan may be granted which will accommodate the aggregate burden in respect of two loans within the repaying capacity of a borrower.

## (iii) Default under three loans

Fifty per cent of the conversion loan, the earliest loan in point of time, may be written off and the aggregate of the balance of this loan and the remaining two loans may be rescheduled as a seven-year loan.

## (iv) Default under four loans

The first conversion loan and fifty per cent of the second conversion loan may be written off. The balance of overdue loans may then be re-scheduled as a seven-year loan.

109 Such of the non-wilful defaulters who are eligible for inclusion under the rehabilitation programme but have enjoyed the benefit of normal year or years during the three years preceding 1974-5 should be required to repay a part of the principal amount as below and then only the balance of overdue loans should be converted.

- (i) / If the year 1974-5 is a normal year, the defaulter should pay at least 25 per cent of the principal amount under default provided one or two of the preceding three years 1971-2 to 1973-4 were normal years. The governing consideration should be that repayment should be limited to either 25 per cent of the principal amount under default or the balance of repaying capacity (60 per cent of the value of gross produce) available, after providing for payment of overdue interest in full, whichever is less.
- (ii) If the year 1974-5, however, is a calamity year, the defaulter need not be asked to repay any part of the overdue loan.

110 The defaulter should pay the overdue interest in full if the year 1974-5 is a normal year irrespective of the previous years being good or bad. If, however, the year 1974-5 is a calamity year, he need pay the overdue interest only in the subsequent year, i.e., 1975-6.

111 Penal interest should be waived on all overdue loans eligible for inclusion in the rehabilitation programme.

112 When, as a measure of relief, non-wilful defaults are converted into medium-term loans (rehabilitation loans) the short-term overdues which generally form a major portion of the total overdues will be converted into medium-term or even long-term (seven-year) loans. As a result, the term lendings/investments of a ccb may far exceed its term resources. This will inevitably reduce own involvement of a ccb in shortterm loans and consequently the bank may find it difficult to maintain adequate non-overdue cover for its borrowings from the apex bank. To meet such a situation we endorse the recommendations of the Overdues Study Team in regard to taking a liberal view by the RBI of the share capital requirements of such banks and the period of retirement of the share capital linked to the period of repayment of rehabilitation loans as also the state government providing loans to the ccbs for periods corresponding to the rehabilitation loans.

113 The relief by way of partial write off in the event of non-wilful defaults comprising three or four loans are expected to be met by way of grant-in-aid from the 'State Agricultural Credit Relief Fund'. The number of defaulters under three or four loans may be far less and not all such defaulters will be non-wilful on the basis of criteria suggested by us. It can, therefore, be concluded that extension of relief by way of partial write off may not pose any problem from the financial point of view.

114 Quick action has to be initiated with a view to providing relief to the non-wilful defaulters as well as fresh finance for the year 1975-6. This work can be entrusted to the small screening committees to be set up at the block level comprising concerned inspector of the central bank, a non-official and an experienced manager of a primary society in the area. The work of these committees may be supervised by the Assistant RCS of the district and the Executive Officer of the ccb. The RSCB can test check a few cases with a view to ensuring that the rehabilitation loans are sanctioned to genuine non-wilful defaulters after ensuring recovery of principal and interest, as the case may be.

115 The ccbs and the RSCB may review every year the progress in collection of dues from the non-wilful defaulters. Cases where defaults occur despite crop conditions being normal, will have to be viewed seriously and in such cases the rehabilitation loan should be foreclosed and the entire balance due from such defaulters be treated as overdue and coercive action launched for the immediate recovery thereof.

116 The rehabilitation programme is not a recurring programme and is to be viewed as the final chance to institutions and individuals to clear the backlog of overdues, which can be deemed as non-wilful. This being so, prompt relief will have to be provided to such class of defaulters if they are affected by natural calamities in future. The recommendations of the Overdues Study Team regarding arrangements for provision of prompt and adequate relief contained in its Chapters III and IV should, therefore, be adopted. 117 Simultaneously, prompt and effective action will be necessary for recovery of wilful defaults with a view to arresting and bringing down the level of overdues of co-operative credit institutions. In this connexion a series of additional legislative and administrative measures have been suggested by the Overdues Study Team which may be implemented without any further delay for ensuring prompt recovery of overdues and in arresting their upward trend.

118 The recommendation of the Overdues Study Team regarding amendment to the State Act enabling the ccbs to initiate action on their own against defaulter members of pacs may be extended to commercial banks as they will be taking up financing such societies. Besides, the proposed State Farming Corporation, establishment of which has been recommended by the Overdues Study Team, should assist commercial banks in realizing their dues in respect of agricultural loans issued by them directly or through the societies and suitable provisions may be made in the relevant State Act for the purpose.

119 The adoption of our recommendations for tackling the problem of overdues are to be viewed as a package along with our recommendations on the institutional arrangements and suitable action initiated for their implementation simultaneously.  $= \neq =$ 

# Chapter XI-Administrative and Operational Arrangements

120 We have proposed re-organization of pacs in the state in such a way as to have eventually about 5600 societies. It is essential that the services of a full-time paid secretary are available right from the time the re-organized societies come into existence. At present there are 3305 societies in the state each of which is served by a full-time secretary. Thus, the balance 2295 secretaries will have to be recruited and trained as quickly as possible. The programme may be spread over at least two years, i.e., 1975 and 1976. The recruitment of about 1000 to 1200 secretaries for the next two years will have to be made with care to ensure that the selected candidates stick to the job. It may even be necessary to insist on a bond from every candidate selected and sent for training and cash security deposit on his appointment as secretary of Assuming, therefore, that there will be 4455 a society. societies with full-time paid secretaries as on 31.3.76 and 5600 societies as on 31.3.77, the expenditure on the secretaries may be as follows:

Year	Expenditure
1975	116.40
1976	150.83
1977	168.00
1978	168.00

Rs Lakhs

121 With widely varying natural conditions and the financial position of the institutions providing agricultural credit, it will not be realistic to expect that each and every society will be able to develop its loan business to the level of Rs 2.00 lakhs in a short period of one/two years for which managerial subsidy on a tapering basis is available. The present arrangement under which each society is on its own may, therefore, have to make room for another in which it will be possible to pool the income from all the societies not only in one district, but all over the state so that the more affluent and prosperous societies are made to bear the burden of maintaining independent secretaries, to some extent, of the less developed ones. This will be possible if the secretaries of all the societies in the state belong to one common cadre and are paid from a common fund. We recommend for introduction in Rajasthan a common cadre for secretaries of pacs in the state on the lines of the arrangement in vogue in Maharashtra wherein the district level cadre funds have been recently replaced by a state level fund so that the deficit in one district can be met out of the surplus in another.

122 On the basis of the projected outstanding loans at the primary level and the income from fees at 1.75 per cent of the loans issued to the societies by the cfas, the total income for the state as a whole is expected to be as under:

	Rs Crores
Year	Income
1975-6	0.83
1976-7	1.07
1977-8	1.31
1978-9	1.58

Thus the income from the fees levied will not be sufficient to meet the cost as estimated in recommendation 120 above in any year. We recommend that the gap may be made good partly by the financing banks and partly by the state government, the former's contribution being limited to 0.25 per cent of the loans issued by them during the year to the societies and the balance by the state government. However, the commercial banks financing pacs in pursuant to our recommendations may, instead of making a contribution to the fund at the rate of 0.25 per cent of loans issued by them to the societies, recover from the latter a fee for transfer to the fund at 2 per cent of the loans issued by them to the societies provided, to compensate for the extra burden on the societies, the banks lend to the societies at a rate of interest which is lower by 0.25 per cent than the rate they would have otherwise charged to the societies. On this basis, the government may have to make a provision in the Plan for Rs 69.23 lakhs to meet their share in the scheme till the scheme becomes selfsufficient in 1978-9. The self-sufficiency of the scheme in that year will obviously depend on the projected lending programmes being achieved. If, for some reasons, the progress in the loaning does not materialize, we suggest that the state government may come forward to assist the societies for some more time or for larger amounts than assumed, instead of allowing the operations of the societies to degenerate for want of the services of a full-time paid secretary.

123 As regards the management of the cadre of secretaries as also the state caderization fund, we have proposed the organization of district cadre co-operative societies and a state cadre co-operative society with functions and constitution of their boards of management as detailed in paragraph 11.11 of Chapter XI.

124 With a view to equipping the secretaries to discharge their various responsibilities efficiently, it is necessary to have training courses for them of a longer duration, say, three months. The facility for training may be extended to those secretaries who are already in the employment of the pacs and who have not been trained but have been screened and found suitable.

125 The creation of a common cadre as proposed by us will create a sense of security in the minds of the secretaries. However, this will not be enough attraction for an employee to stick to the job unless he has prospects of promotion. We, therefore, suggest exploring the possibility of adopting more than one grade in suitable time scale for the secretaries, by classifying the societies into two categories depending on their business turnover. Besides, with a view to giving them an opening for furthering their career even outside the cadre, the secretaries may be made eligible for promotion/appointment as assistant inspectors in the central banks subject to their fulfilling the educational qualifications for the post. Further, with a view to attracting talented persons in the employment of pacs, we suggest that the state government in their recruitment to various subordinate services may give preference to the secretaries of pacs by giving due weightage to their services as secretaries.

126 We have suggested organization of special type of societies, to start with, on an experimental basis in six tribal blocks in the state and each such society may be served by three full-time paid employees in addition to the secretary. The cost of other three employees may be met by the GOR. Keeping in view the complexity of the organization of such a society and more onerous responsibilities we suggest appointment of a person as secretary with higher qualifications as also higher emoluments. The extra cost of such a secretary will have to be borne by the GOR. The state government may provide for this expenditure in their Tribal Sub-Plan.

127 We have placed the total number of wilful defaulters in the state roughly at 2.75 lakhs. With the implementation of the measures suggested for recovery of overdues, particularly adopting the procedure for summary disposal of loan recovery cases as in Maharashtra and vesting powers in the higher financing agencies to proceed against individual defaulters of primaries directly, the number of cases referred for coercive action may sharply increase and correspondingly there will be an increase in the awards due for execution. On a rough estimate, we feel that at least 50 per cent of the total number of cases of wilful defaults will come to the stage of execution of awards in the next two to three years. Already the meagre number of awards due for execution is not being promptly handled by the concerned staff mainly because they are busy with their normal routine. In the light of this position, we consider it absolutely essential that a cadre of special recovery officers should be created by the state government on the lines of the arrangement existing in Maharashtra. However, in Rajasthan the posting of a special recovery officer will be economic if he is to handle about 750 cases involving the recovery of about Rs 1.50 lakhs. We recommend, therefore, that a cadre of special recovery officers by drafting the officers of the rank of Assistant Registrar of Co-operative Societies, should be created with a view to ensuring prompt recovery of dues covered by coercive action. The services of the special recovery officers may be made available to the commercial banks for recovery of their dues. The deficit in the cost of recovery officers, if any, may be borne by the concerned central bank and the commercial banks financing societies in the district in proportion to the amounts recovered by the recovery officers for the respective agencies. Alternatively, the commercial banks may form a consortium for the purpose of posting special recovery officers for recovery of their dues and share the deficit, if any.

128 We envisage that almost all the ccbs will have to make concerted efforts to reach the level of loan business of at least Rs 2 crores so as to function as a viable unit and ensure further development to fulfil the role assigned to them in meeting adequately the credit needs of agricultural production. Sustained growth of an institution depends very much on the personnel at the helm of its affairs for it is they who translate the policies of their managements and the state government into practice. The existing key personnel of the central banks in the state in most cases find it difficult to get actively involved in the progress of the institutions for which they work as, by and large, they are on deputation from the state government and consequently have no avenues of promotion in the concernecbank or the co-operative banking sector. In such a situation, the need for common cadre of key personnel for the ccbs in our opinion is imperative. If these key personnel are to be effective and efficient they necessarily have to be well qualified and experienced and, therefore, well paid. The smaller ccbs functioning in comparatively less developed districts need them the most, but cannot afford to maintain them. From this angle also, the creation of a common cadre of key personnel for ccbs, appears a necessity. We suggest that the most suitable agency to maintain such a cadre is the state co-operative bank. The cadre should comprise two grades, viz, Grade I for Managers and Grade II for Chief Accountants/Executive Officers. Even the district officers of the RSCB, in which it will function as a cfa should have the key personnel from this cadre.

129 For meeting the expenditure of the common cadre of key personnel, we suggest that the RSCB may collect contributions to the 'Key Personnel Cadre Fund' from all the ccbs and its district offices at the rate of 0.25 per cent per annum on the short-term agricultural loans borrowed by the latter from it. The contributions received in the fund can be expected to cover the cost of maintaining the cadre excepting in the first year when the deficit will be around Rs 1 lakh. We recommend that the RSCB may meet this deficit from its present income.

130 The personnel needed in the common cadre will not be immediately available. We, therefore, suggest that to start with the posts may be filled in by selection from amongst the existing officers of the central/apex banks and/or by throwing the posts open to departmental officers including senior inspectors with experience as also to audit staff of suitable level. The short-fall, which may be sizeable initially, may be filled by taking Deputy/Assistant RCSs and officers of corresponding level from the audit wing of the Co-operative Department on deputation.

131 Simultaneously, a suitable number of young people with good academic back-ground may be recruited on a 75:25 basis from outside and amongst the staff of the co-operative banks as management trainees in the common cadre for the next three years and their proper training ensured so that on completior of their probation for, say, two years, they can replace the deputationists in the course of the next three to five years This will involve an additional cost of about Rs 6 lakhs. We recommended that the cost may be shared equally between the GOR and the RSCB. 132 While there may be separate key personnel cadre committee appointed to administer the above cadre, we suggest that the personnel in the cadre should be a part of the staff of the RSCB itself. The functions and constitution of the key personnel cadre committee may be as indicated in paragraph 11.27 of chapter XI.

133 We strongly urge on the state government and the state and central co-operative banks to take early action to constitute the cadres as proposed by us. It may be necessary to give a legal framework for this purpose by amending the Co-operative Societies Act.

134 The supervisory staff provided by the Department being not in the regular cadre of the ccbs, and are also transferable to other districts, have no prospects of promotion in the concerned ccb. This, as also the lower salary of the staff vis-a-vis those in the regular employment of the banks, has created a sense of frustration among them which may be the main reason for the general laxity in supervision over the societies. We recommend, therefore, that the entire inspectorial staff, i.e., loan inspectors and assistant inspectors should be transferred to the cadre of the respective ccbs with a view to vesting direct control over them in the managements of the banks. While doing so, inspectors/assistant inspectors may be given option to revert to their parent department, if they so desire. Such a step will not only involve the said staff in the development of the bank, but also ensure effective financial supervision over the affiliated societies.

135 We suggest that the RSCB should convert the head office of each of the two ccbs, viz., Dungarpur and Sirohi, proposed to be amalgamated with it, as its district office and arrange to open new branches in addition to the existing branches of the transferor banks with a view to catering effectively to the needs of affiliated societies and facilitating mobilization of deposits. Similar action may be taken in the case of the existing branch of the RSCB in Jaisalmer district.

136 With a view to ensuring expeditious disposal of credit limit applications from the co-operative institutions in the above three districts, we suggest that for the purpose of sanctioning such limits on the usual terms and conditions as also to ensure involvement of local non-official leadership to a certain extent in the working of the district offices, a small advisory committee of five members consisting of two non-officials may be formed. The other members may be the Assistant RCS of the district, the officer-in-charge of the proposed regional office of the RSCB in the area and the officer-in-charge of the bank's district office who may also be the convenor. 137 We suggest that it will be necessary to post an officer at the district level under the control of the RCS to supervise and co-ordinate the recovery work. We recommend that a separate post of an Assistant RCS (Recovery) may be created in each district. The work of disposal of loan recovery cases should be vested in this officer who should transfer the awards passed to the special recovery officers promptly for execution.

138 Although the Rules under the Co-operative Societies Act provide for the audit of accounts by chartered accountants, etc., approved by the Department, this has not been given effect to in practice. We suggest that the audit of some institutions may be entrusted to chartered accountants who can be approved for the purpose by the Chief Auditor. We also emphasize the need for timely audit of the co-operative credit agencies, particularly when we have envisaged a rapid expansion of their business. If this requires strengthening the audit staff, there seems to be no reason why a substantial part of the increased cost should not be borne by the co-operatives themselves.

139 Most of our recommendations may have to be implemented or their implementation ensured by the RCS. This will necessitate strengthening the Registrar's Office at headquarters with a suitable complement of senior officers and supporting staff to enable him to discharge his onerous responsibilities. We have, however, not made any specific recommendation in this regard but would urge on the government that the matter may be given careful consideration.

140 We recommend that the normal interest margin retained (exclusive of interest tax liability) should be 0.75 per cent at the level of the RSCB, 2 per cent at the level of the ccbs and 2.50 per cent at the level of primary societies. The aggregate margins will thus be 5.25 per cent over and above the existing effective lending rate of 7 per cent on short-term agricultural loans from the RBI. Thus the rate to the ultimate borrower inclusive of the tax liability will be above 13.25 per cent in respect of short-term loans and 13.75 per cent on medium-term loans. The lending rate will thus be higher by 0.25 per cent than what is being charged at present which we do not consider as unjustified as this is necessary to ensure the efficiency of the co-operative credit structure at all levels.

141 For achieving the projected level of business, every ccb will have to make earnest efforts to mobilize additional deposits at a rate much higher than hitherto so as to be in a position to absorb overdues and improve their capacity to raise funds from the higher financing agencies. We have to emphasize that all the ccbs must make an all out attempt to mobilize deposits at the higher growth rates proposed by us with a view to supporting adequately not only the short-term agricultural loan business but also the other types of loans. Although the growth rate needed in the case of almost all the ccbs has to be of a much higher order vis-a-vis the growth rate required to be maintained by the commercial banks, we feel that this is not impossible of achievement largely because in most cases the base itself is very low. We would, however, emphasize that the most important thing in this context is to improve the image of the banks as true banking institutions providing not only a variety of deposits to attract different types of depositors, but also a variety of banking facilities and services. Further, the banks will have to show a greater aggressiveness in their branch expansion programmes. Above all, the staff of the banks will have to show the greatest respect and courtesy to the depositing public as these go a long way towards attracting the depositors and retaining their custom.

142 The image of the ccbs in the public eye cannot be bright if the state government themselves are not prepared to recognize them for the purpose of receiving deposits from the institutions and bodies under their control. We understand that there are several restrictions, statutory and administrative, on these institutions keeping their funds with the state and/or central banks. It is reported that the GOR have since passed orders removing some of the disabilities and we are confident that the state government will remove expeditiously the constraints and restraints in this behalf because in the expansion of deposit resources of the co-operative banks lies the hope for the rapid expansion of agricultural production credit and in turn for increasing agricultural production in the state.

143 We urge the state government to expedite action for amendment of the State Act on the lines indicated by the RBI so as to ensure that the facility of deposit insurance is extended to co-operative banks in the state as early as possible and their programmes for the mobilization of deposits are given the needed support.

144 While in view of the conditions obtaining in Rajasthan it may not be worthwhile to adopt scales of finance separately for each of the low-value food crops, we emphasize the need for the ccbs adopting separate scale of finance for each of the high-value crops as also for the high-yielding *rabi* crops. The necessary lead in this connexion will have to be provided by the RSCB. 145 We suggest that the ccbs including the proposed district. offices of the RSCB should maintain a suitable register for indicating the crop-wise short-term agricultural loans issued by them to the societies. This information will enable the managements to know whether the credit needs of the important crops in the district are being met and, if not, re-orient their lending policies suitably in a periodical review.

146 We feel that the state and central banks will have to give due attention to meeting the medium-term agricultural loan requirements, particularly for identifiable productive purposes. As a beginning, the RSCB may undertake a survey to locate the areas, particularly in the command areas of the canal irrigation projects, where the lendings, for identifiable productive purposes can be undertaken on a large scale.

147 We suggest that the state/central banks should take disciplinary action against the erring staff responsible for malpractices like book adjustments; 'ghost' acreages, financing of defaulters, etc.

149 We regard the implementation of our recommendations for re-organization and revitalization of the co-operative credit institutions at the base level as the first and foremost need. This should not be, however, taken to mean that our other recommendations are of a lesser importance. For, without adequate financial support from, and closer supervision by, the superstructure, the primary societies though revitalized/ re-organized may again revert to a stagnancy in which they are at present. Each of our recommendations should, there-

#### SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

recommendations be considered for implementation in a package. We, therefore, urge on the non-official leadership controlling the state and central banks, the officials involved in the movement and the concerned authorities in the state government to carefully weigh each of our recommendations, keeping in view the integrated approach, chalk out a time-bound programme and ensure its implementation wholeheartedly.

Chairman	: C. D. Datey
Members	: G. S. Shaktawat Shobha Ram R. C. Sood V. I. Rajagopal
	B. K. Zutshi D. Aurora R. Srinivasan P. N. Khanna
Member-Secretary	: R. R. Pradhan

Mount Abu 30 April 1975

260

District-wise Position of rural and urban Population as also the Population of Scheduled Tribes Thousands

Distric	t		Population	н <sup></sup>	Popula-
		Rural	Urban	Total	— tion of Scheduled Tribes
Norma	ll Zone		-	<u></u>	
(a) N	ľ <b>A</b>				
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 7 8 9 10 11 12	Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota	716 1264 1285 939 387 1164 1736 563 869 862 1051 \$17 11353	432 127 205 116 98 230 746 59 275 108 142 109 2647	1148 1391 1490 1055 485 1394 2482 622 1194 970 1193 626 14000	15 111 44 98 87 2 276 64 166 46 270 71 1250
(b) TA	L.				
13 14 15 16 17	Banswara Chittorgarh Dungarpur Sirohi Udaipur Sub-total	621 847 499 348 1582 3897	34 98 31 76 222 461	655 945 530 424 1804 4358	477 185 338 91 607 1698
Arid Zo	one			,	
18 19 20 21	Barmer Bikaner Churu Jaisalmer Sub-total	719 336 616 143 1814	56 237 259 24 576	775 573 875 167 2390	45 4 4 7 60
Semi-ar	id Zone				
22 23 24 25 26	Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar Sub-total	638 767 785 1107 865 4162	30 162 368 155 178 893	668 929 1153 1262 1043 5055	53 16 24 2 26 121
	Total	21226	4577	25803	3129

1

Normal Zone (a) NTA  1 Ajmer  2 Alwar  3 Bharatpur  4 Bhilwara  5 Bundi  5 Bundi  6 Ganganagar  7 Jaipur  8 Jhalawar  9 Kota  10 Pali  11 Sawai Madhopur  12 Tonk  13 Banswara  14 Chittorgarh  15 Dungarpur  16 Sirohi  17 Udaipur  17 Udaipur  18 Barmer  19 Bikaner  19 Bikaner  19 Bikaner  20 Churu  21 Jaisalmer  20 Churu  21 Jaisalmer  20 Churu  21 Jaisalmer  23 Jhunjhunu  24 Jodhpur  25 Nagaur  26 Nagaur  27 Nagaur  27 Nagaur  28 Nagaur  29 Nagaur  20 Nagaur	Zone	Name of District
<ul> <li>Alwar</li> <li>Bharatpur</li> <li>Bhilwara</li> <li>Bundi</li> <li>Ganganagar</li> <li>Jaipur</li> <li>Jhalawar</li> <li>Kota</li> <li>Pali</li> <li>Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>Tonk</li> <li>Banswara</li> <li>Chittorgarh</li> <li>Bungarpur</li> <li>Sirohi</li> <li>Udaipur</li> <li>Arid Zone</li> <li>Barmer</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Jaisalmer</li> <li>Semi-arid Zone</li> <li>Jaisalmer</li> <li>Jodhpur</li> <li>Nagaur</li> </ul>	Normal Zone	
<ul> <li>Bharatpur</li> <li>Bhilwara</li> <li>Bundi</li> <li>Ganganagar</li> <li>Jaipur</li> <li>Jhalawar</li> <li>Kota</li> <li>Pali</li> <li>Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>Tonk</li> <li>Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>Tonk</li> <li>Banswara</li> <li>Chittorgarb</li> <li>Dungarpur</li> <li>Sirohi</li> <li>Udaipur</li> <li>Arid Zone</li> <li>Barmer</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Churu</li> <li>Jaisalmer</li> <li>Semi-arid Zone</li> <li>Jalore</li> <li>Jalore</li> <li>Jalore</li> <li>Johpur</li> </ul>	(a) NTA	1 Ajmer
<ul> <li>4 Bhilwara</li> <li>5 Bundi</li> <li>6 Ganganagar</li> <li>7 Jaipur</li> <li>8 Jhalawar</li> <li>9 Kota</li> <li>10 Pali</li> <li>11 Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>12 Tonk</li> <li>13 Banswara</li> <li>14 Chittorgarh</li> <li>15 Dungarpur</li> <li>16 Sirohi</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> <li>Arid Zone</li> <li>18 Barmer</li> <li>19 Bikaner</li> <li>20 Churu</li> <li>21 Jaisalmer</li> <li>22 Jalore</li> <li>23 Jhunjhunu</li> <li>24 Jodhpur</li> <li>25 Nagaur</li> </ul>		2 Alwar
<ul> <li>5 Bundi</li> <li>6 Ganganagar</li> <li>7 Jaipur</li> <li>8 Jhalawar</li> <li>9 Kota</li> <li>10 Pali</li> <li>11 Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>12 Tonk</li> <li>13 Banswara</li> <li>14 Chittorgarh</li> <li>15 Dungarpur</li> <li>16 Sirohi</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> <li>18 Barmer</li> <li>19 Bikaner</li> <li>19 Bikaner</li> <li>20 Churu</li> <li>21 Jaisalmer</li> <li>23 Jhunjhunu</li> <li>24 Jodhpur</li> <li>25 Nagaur</li> </ul>		3 Bharatpur
<ul> <li>6 Ganganagar</li> <li>7 Jaipur</li> <li>8 Jhalawar</li> <li>9 Kota</li> <li>10 Pali</li> <li>11 Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>12 Tonk</li> <li>13 Banswara</li> <li>14 Chittorgarh</li> <li>15 Dungarpur</li> <li>16 Sirohi</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> <li>18 Barmer</li> <li>19 Bikaner</li> <li>20 Churu</li> <li>21 Jaisalmer</li> <li>22 Jalore</li> <li>23 Jhunjhunu</li> <li>24 Jodhpur</li> <li>25 Nagaur</li> </ul>		4 Bhilwara
<ul> <li>Jaipur</li> <li>Jhalawar</li> <li>Kota</li> <li>Pali</li> <li>Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>Tonk</li> <li>Tonk</li> <li>Banswara</li> <li>Chittorgarh</li> <li>Dungarpur</li> <li>Sirohi</li> <li>Udaipur</li> <li>Krid Zone</li> <li>Barmer</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Ghuru</li> <li>Jaisalmer</li> <li>Johpur</li> </ul>		5 Bundi
8 Jhalawar 9 Kota 10 Pali 11 Sawai Madhopur 12 Tonk 13 Banswara 14 Chittorgarh 15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi 17 Udaipur 18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 19 Bikaner 19 Bikaner 19 Bikaner 19 Bikaner 19 Jaisalmer 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur		6 Ganganagar
<ul> <li>9 Kota</li> <li>10 Pali</li> <li>11 Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>12 Tonk</li> <li>13 Banswara</li> <li>14 Chittorgarh</li> <li>15 Dungarpur</li> <li>16 Sirohi</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> <li>Arid Zone</li> <li>18 Barmer</li> <li>19 Bikaner</li> <li>19 Bikaner</li> <li>20 Churu</li> <li>21 Jaisalmer</li> <li>23 Jhunjhunu</li> <li>24 Jodhpur</li> <li>25 Nagaur</li> </ul>		7 Jaipur
10 Pali 11 Sawai Madhopur 12 Tonk 12 Tonk 13 Banswara 14 Chittorgarh 15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi 17 Udaipur Arid Zone 18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur		8 Jhalawar
11 Sawai Madhopur 12 Tonk 13 Banswara 14 Chittorgarh 15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi 17 Udaipur Arid Zone 18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur		9 Kota
12 Tonk (b) TA 13 Banswara 14 Chittorgarh 15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi 17 Udaipur Arid Zone 18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur		10 Pali
<ul> <li>(b) TA</li> <li>13 Banswara</li> <li>14 Chittorgarh</li> <li>15 Dungarpur</li> <li>16 Sirohi</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> <li>Arid Zone</li> <li>18 Barmer</li> <li>19 Bikaner</li> <li>20 Churu</li> <li>21 Jaisalmer</li> <li>23 Jalore</li> <li>23 Jhunjhunu</li> <li>24 Jodhpur</li> <li>25 Nagaur</li> </ul>		11 Sawai Madhopur
14 Chittorgarh 15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi 17 Udaipur Arid Zone 18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur		12 Tonk
15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi 17 Udaipur Arid Zone 18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer Semi-arid Zone 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur	(b) TA	13 Banswara
16Sirohi17UdaipurArid Zone1818Barmer19Bikaner20Churu21JaisalmerSemi-arid Zone2223Jhunjhunu24Jodhpur25Nagaur		14 Chittorgarh
17 Udaipur Arid Zone 18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer Semi-arid Zone 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur		15 Dungarpur
Arid Zone18Barmer19Bikaner20Churu21JaisalmerSemi-arid Zone22Jalore23Jhunjhunu24Jodhpur25Nagaur		16 Sirohi
19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer Semi-arid Zone 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur		17 Udaipur
20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer Semi-arid Zone 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur	Arid Zone	18 Barmer
21 Jaisalmer Semi-arid Zone 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur		19 Bikaner
Semi-arid Zone22Jalore23Jhunjhunu24Jodhpur25Nagaur		20 Churu
<ul><li>23 Jhunjhunu</li><li>24 Jodhpur</li><li>25 Nagaur</li></ul>		21 Jaisalmer
24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur	Semi-arid Zone	22 Jalore
25 Nagaur		23 Jhunjhunu
		24 Jodhpur
		25 Nagaur
26 Sikar		26 Sikar

ANNEXURE 2 Classification of Districts in the State according to Principal Zones

Distant	<b>.</b>	Percentage to state total					
District	Average size of holding (hectares)	Holdings	Area				
Normal Zone	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• •					
(a) NTA	· .						
<ol> <li>Ajmer</li> <li>Alwar</li> <li>Bharatpur</li> <li>Bhilwara</li> <li>Bundi</li> <li>Ganganagar</li> <li>Jaipur</li> <li>Bhalawar</li> <li>Kota</li> </ol>	2.95 2.41 2.25 2.80 3.67 8.96 3.93 3.51 4.27	4.42 5.83 7.88 5.47 1.68 4.26 6.82 2.82 3.95	2.39 2.58 3.25 2.81 1.13 6.99 4.96 1.81 3.09				
10 Pali 11 Sawai Madhopur 12 Tonk	5.14 2.80 4.46	4.15 5.17 3.05	3.91 2.66 2.49				
Non-tribal area	3.75	55.50	38.07				
(b) <b>TA</b>							
<ol> <li>Banswara</li> <li>Chittorgarh</li> <li>Dungarpur</li> <li>Sirohi</li> <li>Udaipur</li> </ol>	2.53 3.27 2.13 3.22 1.37	2.56 4.18 2.15 1.76 8.15	1.19 2.51 0.84 1.04 3.27				
Tribal area	2.57	18.80	8.85				
Arid Zone							
<ol> <li>Barmer</li> <li>Bikaner</li> <li>Churu</li> <li>Jaisalmer</li> </ol>	19.71 22.01 14.72 25.14	2.85 1.29 2.73 0.56	10.28 5.20 7.37 2.53				
Arid zone	18.63	7.43	25.38				
Semi-arid Zone	<u></u>	<u></u>					
<ol> <li>22 Jalore</li> <li>23 Jhunjhunu</li> <li>24 Jodhpur</li> <li>25 Nagaur</li> <li>26 Sikar</li> </ol>	8.95 4.72 12.82 8.52 4.67	2.56 2.71 3.67 4.75 3.57	4.18 2.35 8.63 7.42 3.06				
Semi-arid zone	8.11	17.26	25.64				
27 Colonisation area	1.10	1.01	2.06				
State	5.45	100.00	100.00				

# ANNEXURE 3 District-wise Position of average Size of Holding and Percentage of Holdings and Areas to State total

265

				Distr	rict-wise	Positi			EXURE nd Prodi		of Prin	cipal	Crops i	n 1972	2-3		Area in interior in		
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·									Foo	d Crops	3							
<b>.</b> .	-	Baj	ra	Jowa	nr	Maiz	e	Whe	at	Barle	ÿ	Ric	e	Gra	m	Τι	IL.	Othe	rs@
Dis	trict -	Агеа	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5a)	(5b)	(6a)	(6b)	(7a)	(7b)	(8a)	(8b)	(9a)	(9b)	(10a)	(10b)
Nor	mal Zone		•																
(a)	NTA																		
1	Aimer	59	22	99	2	50	13	21	21	23	23			4	2			17	
2	Alwar	168	77	22	10	13	5	94	168	46	70		_	140		5	4	11	2
3	Bharatpur	146	98	28	12			152	236	23	31	6	2	127	166	4	1	15	12
4	Bhilwara	1	• • •	20		125		46	40	30	25			9	4		—	9	
5	Bundi		—	47		24	30	76	82	7	8	11	11	38	19		_	6	1 2 8
6	Ganganagar		47	6		1	1	203	283	55	32	15	30	444			—	85	8
7	Jaipur	284	153	30		26	12	95	142	90	122		—	60	40	3	1	123	22
8	Jhalawar	3	1	137	73	38	36	43	44	1	1	3	2	22	13	3	1	13	4
9	Kota	2	::	187	91	19	21	176	195	4	4	8	15	94			-	22	32
10 11	Pali Sawai	164	16	38	1	28	12	45	53	20	21			9	6			20	••
	Madhopur	136	69	53	27	· 4	2	103	120	30	33	6	3	92	56	2		36	12
12	Tonk	38		123		25	16	59	45	30			-	32			•••	30 8	3
.~	Sub-total	1144		790		353	259	1113	1429	359		49	63	1071	758	17	7	365	98
(b)	ТА					, , ,													
13	Banswara	—		3	1	75	71	15	15	1	1	40	9	14	8	10	3	23	3
14	Chittorgarh			48		103		74		4	4	3	í	18		2		28	12
15	Dungarpur	1		1		54		13	13	2	i	29	5	7	4	2	i	19	5
16	Sirohi	43		4		21	18	22		3	3			2	i	2		27	ĭ
17	Udaipur	1	• •	21	3	194		33	32	22	23	15	2	4		3		24	2
	Sub-total	45	4	77	28	447	401	157	170	32	32	87	17	45		19		121	23

	Total	5234	864	976	304	801	661	1396	1749	433	489	136	80	1204	. 803	36	13	1942	190
	Sub-total	2070	228	104	5	1	1	112	134	39	57			37	16			739	36
Sen 22 23 24 25 26	hi-arid Zone Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar	386 226 641 554 263	60 21 15 95 37	1 1 18 84	··· ·· 5		 1	45 11 22 17 17	53 16 24 18 23	2 10 1 9 17	2 13 1 10 -31			7 21  9	5 4 			38 118 175 283 125	7 4 18
	Sub-total	1975	135	5				14	16	3	2			51	8			717	33
Ari 18 19 20 21	d Zone Barmer Bikaner Churu Jaisalmer	1174 232 459 110	99 1 35 NA	$\frac{3}{1}$	· · · 			$\frac{13}{1}$	$\frac{15}{1}$	1 	<u>1</u> <u>1</u>			$\frac{1}{50}$	 			29 269 419	
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5a)	(5b)	(6a)	(6b)	(7a)	(7b)	(8a) ·	(8b)	(9a)	(9b)	(10a)	(10b)

@ Includes small millets, kharif and rabi pulses.

	Sesar	num		pe &	Lin	seed		ound- nut	Sug	gar- ne	Chi	llies	Co	tton	То	bacco	Others +	
District	Area	Produ- ction			Area	Produ- ction						Produ-	Area	Produ- ction	Area	Produ- ction		Produ- ction
	(11a)	(11b)	(12a)	(12b)	(13a)	(13b)	(14a)	(14b)	(15a)	(15b)	(16a)	(16b)	(17a)	(17b)	(18a)	(18b)	(19a)	(19b)
Normal Zone (a) NTA																		
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Sub-total	2 2 2 2 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 4 	9	25 1 39 10 4 25 16	15 16  14 7 2 1 17 6	1 4 2 5 6 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2	265 288 16 47 35 37 55	$ \begin{array}{c} 2 \\ -2 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ \end{array} $	1  1 1 1  1						
(b) TA 13 14 15 16 17 Sub-total	12	3 7 1 1 2	! !	7 5	3		8 45 	$\frac{31}{5}$	1 3 1 	34 221	1 2 1 	-	35 23 5 1 14 78	4 1 8		1	1 2 1 2 6	 1 1  2

ANNEXURE 4 (Contd.)

(11a) (11b) (12a) (12b) (13a) (13b) (14a) (14b) (15a) (15b) (16a) (16b) (17a) (17b) (18a) (18b) (19a) (19b)

-

Arid Zone																		
18	14		1	1	_			_	—	—	—	—		_		—	1	• • •
19	4	••	4	••	<u> </u>	—		_		—	—	_	—					—
20 21	-	<u></u>	_	_			_	_	_	_	_	_			_		_	_
Sub-total	19		5	1	<u> </u>				-	<u> </u>	_		<u> </u>				1	
Semi-arid Zone																		
22	35	2	30	25	_		_	_		1	1	1	2	1			—	
22 23 24 25 26	45	_	3	5	—	-		—		—	_							-
24	45 69	5	1	1			8	4	_	1	4	3	7	1				_
26	_	_	3	2	_		4	2	•••	·⊷ 1	i			_	1	1		_
Sub-total	149	8	37	33			12	6	••	3	7	5	10	3	1	1	. —	
. Total	454	27	293	215	55	14	259	125	34	1350	32	13	343	287	6.	4	14	10

+ Includes castor seed, potato, ginger, sunhemp.

Production of main Crops in Rajasthan during 1968-9 to 1973-4

Crops	1968–9	1969–7 <b>0</b>	1970–71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4
Food Crops						
Bajra	4.48	8.01	26.76	13.63	8.64	21.81
Jowar	2.01	3.92	5.73	2.53	3.04	3.86
Maize	4.23	5.17	9.30	7.51	6.61	3.43
Wheat	11.75	12.58	19.51	18.89	17.49	17.39
Barley	5.75	5.10	7.64	5.75	4.89	5.92
Rice	0.57	0.99	1.35	1.59	0.80	1.18
Gram	5.15	7.73	11.95	8.84	8.03	7.19
Ion-food Crops Sesamum	0.22	0.21	1.14	0.81	0.27	0.59
					2.15	
Rape & Mustard	0.55	0.83	2.47	1.23		1.12
Linseed	0.12	0.14	0.26	0.30	0.14	0.26
Groundnut	0.62	0.99	1.42	1.59	1.25	1.41
Sugarcane	5.24	6.76	12.34	12.03	13.50	19.40
Chillies	0.13	0.12	0.21	0.23	0.13	••
Cotton (lakh bales)	1.72	1.19	2.29	3.93	2.87	2.84

Data of irrigated area from different sources and unirrigated areas in 1972-3

District –		Area irrig	ated by		Total
District –	Canals	Tanks	Other sources	unirrigated area	
Normal Zone		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
(a) NTA 1 Aimer		3.8	60.5	0.2	64.5
<ol> <li>Ajmer</li> <li>Alwar</li> <li>Bharatpur</li> <li>Bhilwara</li> <li>Bundi</li> <li>Ganganagar</li> <li>Jaipur</li> <li>Jhalawar</li> <li>Kota</li> <li>Pali</li> <li>Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>Tonk Sub-total</li> </ol>	33.4 71.9 553.2 0.2 112.7 32.2 9.3 812.9	5.8 5.8 11.9 20.4 11.1 6.3 0.7 3.7 3.7 3.4 3.2 4.8 75.1	60.3 115.4 88.3 97.0 25.2 0.7 235.7 35.9 31.7 80.3 71.3 49.8 891.8	19.4 0.4 0.2 2.3 0.2 2.6 - 0.3 0.1 25.9	64.3 121.1 152.9 117.8 108.4 556.2 242.2 37.1 150.7 83.8 107.0 64.0 1805.7
- (b) TA					
<ul> <li>13 Banswara</li> <li>14 Chittorgarh</li> <li>15 Dungarpur</li> <li>16 Sirohi</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> <li>Sub-total</li> </ul>	0.4	6.1 10.8 2.6 3.5 6.5 29.5	6.9 82.7 9.3 34.6 77.9 211.4	3.1 0.8 0.3 0.2 0.6 5.0	16.2 94.3 12.7 38.3 85.1 246.6
Arid Zone					
18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer Sub-total	5.5		13.6 0.1 0.2 0.1 14.0	0.1	13.7 5.7 0.2 0.1 19.7
Semi-Arid Zone					
22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur 26 Sikar Sub-total	0.3	1.0   1.0	69.6 22.4 28.3 26.3 49.6 196.2		70.6 22.4 28.3 26.3 49.9 197.5
Total	819.1	105.6	1313.4	31.0	2269.5

Thousand Hectares

# Area irrigated by Canals in 1972-3 and the expected increase by the end of 1978-9

#### Thousand Hectares

		Deschie	Area uno	ler irrigation
	Project	Beneficiary districts	In 1972-3	Expected by the end of 1978-9
1	Rajasthan Canal Project @	Ganganagar, Bikaner and Jaisalmer	. 167	420
2	Chambal Project	Kota, Bundi	174	174
3	Bhakhra Project	Ganganagar	231	231
4	Medium Schemes Completed upto end of IV Plan		145	145
5	Minor Schemes		102	134
6	New large and medium scheme	5		
	(i) Mahi Project@@	Banswara	—	<b>→</b>
	(ii) Gurgaon Canal	Bharatpur		25
	(iii) Meja feeder and Jaitpura Project	Bhilwara	_	9
	(iv) Bhimsagar and Kali Sindh Project	Jhalawar	-	11
	(v) Gopalpura Project	Kota	—	2
	(vi) Sai Diversion Project	Pali	—	6
	(vii) Jakham Project	Udaipur	<b>—</b>	21
	Total		819	1178

@ On completion, the project expected to irrigate an area of 11.63 lakh hectares.

@ @ The project not expected to be completed by the end of the V Plan.

Normal (a) NT	District	Sir Special tube wells	nking of State tube	tube well	S	Old - wells	Pump	
(a) NT		Special tube	State		s			
(a) NT		tube		Madium			Pump	
(a) NT	Zone		wells	duty tube wells	Low duty tube wells	propo- sed to be re- novated	sets to be in- stalled	
. ,	Lone							
1	A							
	Bunđi	—			250	200	400	
2	Chittorgarh (other than tribal blocks)				150	450	650	
3	Ganganagar		<b></b> ·	200	_		_	
4	Jhalawar				150	200	_	
5	Kota		_		350	250	650	
6	Pali@	50	<u>.</u>	50	100	650	1200	
	Sub-total	50	_	250	1000	1750	2900	
(b) TA								
7	Banswara*	_			300	500	1000	
8	Chittorgarh* (tribal tehsil of Pratapgarh)	_		_	50	150	200	
9		_			700	1000	2750	
10	Udaipur* (in tribal blocks)				200	600	650	
	Sub-total				1250	2250	4600	
Arid Z	one –							
11	Barmer@		20			_	<u></u>	
12	Bikaner@		25	—				
13	Churu@		15					
14	Jaisalmer@		40		<del>_</del>			
	Sub-total		100					
Semi-a	id Zone							
15	Jalore@	40		20	100	400	3200	
16	Jodhpur@	100		300		600 500	3000	
17	Nagaur@	50		150	100	500	3200 9400	
	Sub-total	190		470	100	1500		
	Total	240	100	720	2350	5500	16900	

Programme of sinking new Wells/Tube Wells, renovation of old Wells and installation of Pumpsets proposed to be undertaken during the Period of Fifth Five-Year Plan

@ Under Drought Prone Areas Programme.

\* Under Tribal Areas Development Programme.

Statement showing Sanction and Utilization of Reserve Bank of India Credit Limits (Short-term and Medium-term agricultural) during the Years 1968-9 to 1973-4 Rupees Lakhs

7	Deel		Short-term (agricultural)							
Zone	Bank	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)			
Normal Zone (a) NTA	1 Ajmer	30.00 (20.40-68)	35.00 (26.90-77)	35.00 (24.75-71)	55.00 (34.00-62)	45.00 (38.99-87)	60.00 (44.00-73)			
(4) 1(1)	2 Alwar	75.00 (65.20-87)	90.00 (90.00-100)	135.00 (135.00-100)	160.00 (146.00-91)	(126.00-84)	230.00 (205.15-89)			
	3 Bharatpur	150.00 (140.00-93)	185.00 (185.00-100)	250.00 (242.50-97)	280.00 (248.00-89)	225.00 (200.00-88)	310.00 (299.00-96)			
	4 Bhilwara	20.00 (20.00-100)	45.00 (38.90-86)	45.00 (44.00-98)	55.00 (38.25-70)	50.00 (18.00-36)	60.00 (51.50-86)			
	5 Bundi	20,00 (18,00-90)	25.00 (25.00-100)	25.00 (25.00-100)	25.00 (25.00-100)	70.00 (44.90-64)	(94,48-90)			
	6 Ganganagar	55.00 (54.92-100)	100.00 (69.47-69)	100.00 (78.75-79)	110.00 (85.00-77)	90.00 (87.20-97)	(91.00-73)			
	7 Jaipur	75.00 (58,70-78)	90.00 (74.30-83)	90.00 (67.00-74)	50.00 (50.00-100)	50.00 (50.00-100)	85.00 (77.00-91)			
	8 Jhalawar	55.00 (54.50-99)	65.00 (56.50-87)	75.00 (60.00-80)	55.00 (55.00-100)	50.00 (50-00,100)	100.00 (95.00-95)			
	9 Kota	99.00 (98.90-100)	175.00 (158.50-91)	175.00 (175.00-100)	200.00 (198.40-99)	230.00 (180.00-78)	300.00 (264.00-88)			
	10 Pali	25.00 (18.00-72)	30.00 (23.00-77)	30.00 30.00-100)	()	()	60.00 (51.50-86)			
	11 Sawai Madho	opur 40.00 (40.00-100)	50.00 (47.51-95)	50.00 (49.50-99)	50.00 (45.20-94)	50.00 (42.00-84)	70.00 (67.00-96)			
	12 Tonk	25.00 (25.00-100)	45.00 (35.00-78)	40.00 (40.00-100)	40.00 (39.50-99)	60.00 (45.10-75)	60.00 (50.00-83)			

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
(b) <i>TA</i>	13 Banswara	20.00 (5.00-25)	()	()	()	()	35.00 (24.80-70)
	14 Chittorgar		60.00 (50.00-83)	60.00 (59.90-100)	`60.00´ (39.00-65)	60.00 (40.20-66)	65.C0 (58.80-90)
	15 Dungarpu		12.00 (6.00-50)	12.00 (3.93-33)	()	()	20.00 (15.00-75)
	16 Udaipur	35.00 (35.00-100)	¥5.00 (35.90-80)	45.00 (13.10-29)	55.00 (18.20-33)	50.00 (21.00-42)	60.00 (51.50-85)
	17 Sirohi	13.00 (8.49-65)	13.00 (7.69-59)	10.00 (4.70-47)	()	()	10.00 (9.90-99)
Arid Zone	18 Barmer	23.00 (23.00-100)	23.00 (13.00-57)	20.00 (20.00-100)	()	()	30.00 (29.85-100)
	19 Bikaner	( <u></u> _)	()	()	()	( <u> </u>	15.00 (7.50-50)
	20 Churu	15.00 (12.90-86)	15.00 (14.91-99)	15.00 (§.00-53)	10.00 (7.90-79)	()	13.00 (13.00-100)
Semi-arid Zone	21 Jalore	12.50 (12.50-100)	12.50 (10.75-86)	12.50 (3.50-28)	()	)	20.00 (19.92-100)
	22 Jhunjhuni		()	()	( <u> </u>	()	()
	23 Jodhpur	()	`10.00 (10.00-100)	10.00 (10.00-100)	10.00 (10.00-100)	45.00 (35.20-78)	()
	24 Nagaur	30.00 (27.90-93)	40.00 (39.99-100)	40.00 (33.00-83)	30.00 (30.00-100)	30.00 .()	()
	25 Sikar	15.00 (15.00-100)	15.00 (13.25-88)	15.00 (14.65-98)	15.00 (15.00-100)	15.00 (10.00-66)	35.00 (28.35-81)

	Medium-term (agricultural)								
	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1973	1974			
	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)			
1.	2.50 (1.58-63)	4.00 (4.00-100)	4.00 (3.10-78)	10.00 (4.46-45)	14.00 (10.19-73)	20.00 (17.29-86)			
2	6.00 (6.00-100)	8.00 (7.71-96)	8.00 (3.90-49)	10.00 (1.40-14)	10.00 (8.69-87)	11.00 (7.97-72)			
3	12.00 (10.65-89)	18.00 (11.24-62)	10.00 (10.00-100)	15.00 (10.00-67)	10.00 (9.64.96)	15.00 (6.72-45)			
4	()	1.50	1.50 (0.51-34)	()	10.00 (8.77-88)	13.00 (10.10-78)			
5	()	1.00 (0.21-21)	()	()	()	()			
6	()	()	()	3.00	()	()			
7	5.00 (5.00-100)	()	()	( <u> </u>	()	()			
8	4.00 (4.00-100)	6.00 (3.28-55)	()	()	2.00	2.00 (2.00-100)			
9	8.00 (6.80-85)	8.00 (3.89-49)	8.00	5.00 (— —)	3.50 (2.75-79)	3.50 (3.50-100)			
10	()	()	()	()	()	()			
11	8.00 (4.61—58)	8.00 (5.74—72)	()	3.00 ()	 ()	()			
12	1.00 (— —)	1.50 (1.50-100)	1.50 ()	1.50 ()	1.00 ()	1.00 (1.00-100)			

	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
13	()	()	()	(-)	()	(-)
14	9.00 (6.17-69)	9.00 (8.06-90)	9.00 (7.46-83)	5.00 (3.35-67)	5.00 (5.00-100)	3.00
15	2.00 (2.00-100)	1.00 (0.96-96)	(7.40-83) ()	(3.35-07)		(3.00-100)
16	3.00	3.00	3.00	()	() 12.00	() 13.00
17	(2.36-79) 1.00 (0.23-23)	(2.88-96) 1.00 (0.19-19)	(1.00-33) ()	() ()	(12.00-100) ()	(12.00-92) 1.00 ()
18	5.00 (1.97-39)	4.00	(-)	<u> </u>	( <b>—</b> )	2.00
19	(1.97-39)	()	()			(1.65-83)
20	( <u> </u>	() ()	() ()	() ()	() ()	()  ()
21	3.00 (3.00-100)	( — )	(-)	( - )		· — 、
22	(3:00-100)	()	()		()	()
23		()	()	3.00	()	()
24	() 5.00	2.00	() 4.00	()	()	()
25	(5.00-100) 1.00 (1.00-100)	(2.00-100) 2.00 (0.40-20)	(0.73-18) 2.00 (1.32-66)	() 4.00 ()	() ()	() ()

N.B. 1 Medium-term (agricultural) credit limits are being sanctioned for the calendar year from 1973.

2 Figures in brackets indicate maximum outstandings and percentage to limit sanctioned.

277

Involvement of the Rajasthan State Co-operative Bank in short-term Loans

Rupees Lakhs

	Danla	AS OIL.	30-6-1973		As on 30-6-1974			
	Bank	Outstan the lev		Invol- vement of the		dings at evel of	Involve- ment of - the	
		RSCB	R.B.I.	RSCB	RSCB	R.B.I.	RSCB	
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	
Norm	al Zone							
(a) N								
4	2 Alwar 3 Bharatpur 4 Bhilwara 5 Bundi 6 Ganganagar 7 Jaipur 8 Jhalawar 9 Kota 9 Pali	$\begin{array}{c} 15.00\\ 149.00\\ 224.77\\ 20.00\\ 55.00\\ 77.00\\ 65.00\\ 65.00\\ 137.49\\ 24.40\\ 50.00 \end{array}$	5.00 126.00 200.00 18.00 40.00 77.00 50.00 50.00 121.00 42.00	10.00 23.00 24.77 2.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 16.49 24.40 8.00	55.58 198.75 75.37 55.00 63.00 79.25 114.50 110.00 176.90 70.40 82.35	147.15 28.00 39.70 60.48 75.00 65.00 69.95	12.88 51.60 47.37 15.30 2.52 4.25 49.50 40.05 2.90 35.40 27.35	
12		27.90	17.90	10.00	54.99	41.70	13.29	
	Sub-total	910.56	746.90	163.66	1136.09	833.68	302.41	
(b) T. 13 14 15 16 17	Banswara Chittorgarh Dungarpur Sirohi	17.05 35.13 6.20 5.50 10.00 73.88	14.50  14.50	17.05 20.63 6.20 5.50 10.00 59.38	40.40 58.95 33.36 7.54 46.80 187.05	21.50 48.35 12.35 6.00 29.55 117.75	18.90 10.60 21.01 1.54 17.25 69.30	
Arid Z	'one							
18 19 20	Barmer Bikaner	18.00 7.33 11.40 36.73	  	18.00 7.33 11.40 36.73	50.00 14.38 28.05 92.43	20.00 5.00 13.00 38.00	30.00 9.38 15.05 54.43	
Semi-a	rid Zone	`						
21 22 23 24 25	Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar Sub-total	10.00 7.50 20.00 30.50 15.00 83.00	10.00 10.00 20.00 <b>781.40</b>	10.00 7.50 10.00 30.50 5.00 63.00	28.01 21.88 39.00 25.07 58.90 172.86	11.35  21.50 32.85	16.66 21.88 39.00 25.07 37.40 140.01 <b>566,15</b>	

# Deficits in non-overdue cover for Borrowings from Reserve Bank of India and Defaults to the Rajasthan State Co-operative Bank by the Central Co-operative Banks in respect of short-term Loans

\_\_\_\_\_

.....

Rupees Lakhs

		Deficits in non-overdue cover during the year								
	I Zone TA Ajmer Alwar Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota	1968-9		1969-70		1970-71		1971-2		
	Bank	Max.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.	Min.	
(1)		(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5a)	(5b)	
rmal	Zone									
NT	A									
1	Ajmer	9.78	9.78	2.39	2,39			5.77	5.77	
2	-	3.26	3.26		_	_		66.43	46.59	
3	Bharatpur	_	—		—	18.31	18.31	102.57	34.58	
4	Bhilwara	2.52	0.04	4.61	0.75	19.61	5.52	24.47	0.03	
5	Bundi	12.29	3.37	_				2.24	2.24	
6	Ganganagar	10.61	0.85	-		9.74	1.13	1.81	1.81	
7	Jaipur		<del></del>	<u> </u>		—		31.20	16.28	
8	Jhalawar	<b></b>		-			—	18.05 <sup>,</sup>	8.27	
9	Kota	39.14	31.93	<u>`</u>			—	37.81	18.54	
10	Pali	8.97	8.97			24.55	1.16	3.17	2.35	
11	Sawai Madhopur	21.55	13.97	_		0.12	0.09	5.25	5.25	
12	Tonk -					_		2.96	2.96	

			ANNEXU	RE 11 (C	ontd.)				
(1)		(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5a)	(5b)
(b) TA									
13	Banswara	3.83	3.41	(N	L)	N	L)	()	IL)
14	Chittorgarh	20.02	6.42	15.44	2.12	15.02	7.62	6.98	3.80
15	Dungarpur	6.90	1.26	0.75	0.75	0.17	0.05	2.00	2.00
16	Sirohi	5.05	0.22	5.46	0.05	2.52	2.31	1.49	0.38
17	Udaipur	-	—	4.38	0.02	8.56	0.10	1.65	1.65
Arid Zo	one								
18	Barmer	23.00	23.00	0.13	0.04	15.75	7.75	0.39	0.36
19	Bikaner	(N	íl) <sup>-</sup>	(N	ſL)	1)	IL)	0	NL)
20	Churu	12.90	9.96	14.90	8.91	8.00	0.06	4.90	0.07
Semi-ai	rid Zone								
21	Jalore	_		0.20	0.20	3.12	2,62	()	IL)
22	Jhunjhunu	()	NL)	(1	IL)	(N	L)	1)	IL)
23	Jodhpur	(ľ	IL)	—	—				
24	Nagaur	16.97	16.96	22.21	17.39	28.50	14.55	17.50	7.50
25	Sikar			10.96	8.18	12.68	0.63	14.81	2.85

	<b>Deficits in</b>	Deficits in non-overdue cover during the year					o. of default	ts to the Ra	jasthan			
	1972	-3	1973-4			State Co-operative Bank during the year						
	Max.	Min.	Max.	Min.	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4		
	(6a)	(6b)	(7a)	(7b)	(8a)	(8b)	(8c)	(8d)	(8e)	(8f)		
1 2	29.57 4.48	29.57 4.48	13.30 30.50	13.30 11.01		5	1	6	1			
3 4 5	4.19 1.62	0.62 1.62	 27.94	 10.91	2	 9 5	<u> </u>	4 4 11	$\frac{14}{4}$	- 1		
6 7 8	11.67	9.69	7.29 26.95 111.54	7.14 22.90 36.42	2	5 3 4	1 11 5	7 14	4 5			
9 10 11 12	— (N 0.64 18.40	L) 0.22 10.71	4.24 29.67 20.86	4.24 2.22 11.26	<u>3</u>	<u>4</u> <u>-1</u>	7	7	4 1 3			
12	10.40	10.71	20.00	11.20	8	31	40 _	53	36	1		
13 14 15 16 17	(N 23.39 (N (N	1.70 L)	21.10 4.70 —	2.52 4.70 —		1 5 5 1	6 1 4 4 3	$     \frac{4}{3}     \frac{4}{-1}     11 $	$\frac{2}{1}$			
				-	4	12	18		4	1		
18 19 20	(N (N 2.65		1.21 4.04	1.21 4.04	1 2 3	2 5 7	4 3 3 10	4 2 3 9	5 2 7	.7		

			ANI	<b>NEXURE</b>	11 (Cont	d.)				
	(6a)	(6b)	(7a)	(7b)	(8a)	(8b)	(8c)	(8d)	(8e)	(8f)
21 22 23 24 25	(NL) (NL) 0.36 —	0.22 	(NI (NI (NI		$\frac{3}{2}$	6 3 4 5 21	3 4 2 12 23	4 4 1 10 10 29	$\frac{1}{1}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{6}$ 10	1 
				Total	20	71	91	102	57	3

Abstract	
----------	--

	No. of Banks											
Year	with d		defaulting t	o apex ban	k	·						
	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ	Total	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ	l otal		
968-9 969-70 970-71 971-2 1972-3 1973-4	8 2 5 12 7 9	4 4 4 4 1 2	2 2 2 2 1 2	1 3 2 1	15 11 14 20 10 13	4 7 8 7 8 1	2 4 5 3 3 1	2 2 3 3 2	2 5 5 5 4 1	10 18 21 18 17 3		

(NL) No limits sanctioned

\* No limits sanctioned. Outstandings in respect of previous year's limit.

Trends in the growth of Owned funds, Deposits, Lendings, Overdues of the Central Co-operative Banks during the period 1968-9 to 1973-4

1	Ru	pees	Lakhs
---	----	------	-------

	Item	1968-9	1969 <b>-70</b>	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4
-	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
1	(i) No. of banks (ii) No. of branches	25 94	25 102	25 <sup>-</sup> 118	25 128	25 135	25 148
2	(i) Share capital (ii) Of which from	414.28	475.24	536.82	600.92	659.92	757.83
3	Government Owned funds	102.86 471.87	115.86 549.05	136.86 624.48	176.86 702.11	209.86 787.60	223.86 877.63
4	(i) Total deposits (ii) Of which from	585.15	681.73			1258.80	
5	societies Outstanding bor-	243.89	274.19	307.33	326.30	429.01	531.75
6	rowings (i) Total loans			1616.87			-
	issued (ii) Of which agricultural			2102.23 1698.25			
7	(i) Total loans outstanding	1912.18	2244.69	2467.82	2368.74	2883.45	3666.52
	(ii) Of which medium-term (conversion)	••	475.60	355.08	274.54	497.87	630.91
8	Overdues	623.40	862.40	1088.52	1561.28	1128.90	1344.66
9	Percentage of overdues to demand	30	38	42	57	42	38
10	Profit/loss						
	(a) (i) No. of banks at profit	24	24	24	21	, 21	20
	(ii) Amount	19.24	21.24	21.97	16.17	17.74	15.32
	(b) (i) No. of banks at loss	1	- 1	1	4	4	5
	(ii) Amount	0.38	0.13	0.05	1.37	2.04	6.14

Important Financial Particulars of the Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan for 4 years ended 1973-4

Rupees	La	kl	1
--------	----	----	---

	Deel	N	No. of branches including H. O.				Share Capital					
	Bank	30.6.71	30.6.72	30.6.73	30.6.74	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4			
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(2d)	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	(3d)			
lormal	Zone											
a) N7	Γ <b>A</b>											
1	Ajmer	11	11	11	11	15.51	22.61	25.53	33.41			
2	Alwar	6	8	10	10	51.87	60.29	63.08	72.36			
3	Bharatpur	11	11	11	13	69.01	85.27	88.78	100.75			
4	Bhilwara	7	7	8	10	21.04	26.76	31.94	36.98			
5	Bundi	5	5	6	6	15.44	16.16	33.92	39.59			
6	Ganganagar	8	8	8	9	27.10	29.22	32.48	38.24			
7	Jaipur	8	9	9	9	35.81	36.34	36.99	39.81			
8	Jhalawar	9	11	11	11	23.76	24,21	24.42	29.57			
9	Kota	13	13	13	14	51.49	64.05	67.04	73.47			
10	Pali	10	10	10	10	21.53	21.62	21.80	25.10			
11	Sawai Madhopur	5	5	5	5	19.85	19.84	19.83	19.84			
12	Tonk	8	8	8	8	18.15	21.07	22.29	25.77			
	Sub-total	101	106	110	116	370.56	427.44	468.10	534.89			

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(2d)	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	(3d)
(b) TA	A								
13	Banswara	3	3	3	3	7,50	7.76	7.95	11.49
14	Chittorgarh	5	5	5	. 6	23.69	24.28	24.79	26.33
15	Dungarpur	3	3	5	6	7.57	7.60	8.01	11.10
16	Sirohi	3	4	4	4	5.30	5.41	5.43	6.32
17	Udaipur	5	5	6	7	20.43	24.65	34.78	43.77
	Sub-total	19	20	23	26	64.49	69.70	80.96	99.01
Ariđ Za	one	<u></u>						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
18	Barmer	2	3	3	· 4	17.36	17.49	17.62	19.24
19	Bikaner	1	1	1	1	6.48	6.73	7.01	8.83
20	Churu	2	2	2	3	9.59	9.67	9.77	12.57
	Sub-otal	5	. 6	6	8	33.43	33.89	34.40	40.64
Semi-ar	rid Zone				· · · · ·		· ·		
21	Jalore	3	3	3	4	8.93	8.97	9.16	10.56
22	Jhunjhunu	3	3	3	3	7.59	7.61	. 7.65	8.55
23	Jodhpur	3	4	4	4	18.09	19.09	24.76	25.99
24	Nagaur	5	6	6	6	22.60	22.77	22.83	22.95
25		4	5	. 5	6	11.13	11.45	11.96	15.24
	Sub-total	18	21	21	23	68.34	69.89	76.36	83.29
<b></b>	Total	143	153	160	173	536.82	600.92	659.82	757.83

	Of Col	. 3 Governme	ent contribution	Reserves					
	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	
	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(4d)	(5a)	(5b)	(5c)	(5d)	
1	0.50	5.50	5.50	7.50	10.12	12.24	14.61	13.26	
2	17.50	22.50	22.50	25.50	5,89	6.99	9.87	11.21	
3	24.50	34.50	34.50	39.50	13.53	16.90	17.07	17.07	
4	6.06	11.06	16.06	16.06	4.02	5.77	8.33	5.32	
5	3.50	3.50	18.50	18.50	2.96	2.97	3.01	3.01	
6	2.50	2.50	2.50	4.50	4.78	5.26	7.16	7.68	
7	6.50	6.50	6,50	6.50	4.48	4.48	4.41	3.79	
8	5.75	5.75	5.75	5.75	2.30	2.28	2.28	2.28	
9	14.77	24.77	24.77	24.77	8.05	8.51	10.56	10.62	
10	4.75	4.75	4.75	4.75	3.60	3.60	7.00	2.58	
11	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.28	3.23	3.23	3.23	
12	5.23	7.23	7.23	7.23	1.26	1.31	1.46	1.64	
	94.56	131.56	151.56	163.56	64.27	73.54	88.99	81.69	

•

ANNEXURE 13 (Contd \_

	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(4d)	(5a)	(5b)	(5c)	(5d)
13	1.02	1.02	1.02	1.02	1.41	1.40	2.51	1.22
14	7.03	7.03	7.03	7.03	2.67	2.67	3.28	3.46
15	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	0.44	0.43	0.45	0.27
16	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.41	0.50	0.51	1.18
17	4.65	7.65	15.65	17.65	0.76	3.61	4.77	5.24
	16.70	19.70	27.70	29.70	5.69	8.61	11.52	11.37
18	8.00	8.00	8.00	8.00	0.69	0.86	1.06	1.07
19	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	0.47	0.53	0.60	2.79
20	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00 .	0.44	1.11	1.11	2.23
	13.00	13.00	13.00	13.00	1.60	2.50	2.77	6.09
21	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	0.29	0.28	0.28	0.28
22	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	3.67	3.68	3.67	7.04
23	1.00	1.00	6.00	6.00	9.17	9.17	13.02	8.02
24	5.50	5.50	5.50	5.50	2.66	2.70	6.82	2.73
25	3.10	3.10	3.10	3.10	0.31	0.71	0.71	2.58
	12.60	12.60	17.60	17.60	16.10	16.54	24.50	20.65
	136.86	176.86	209.86	223.86	87.66	101.19	127.78	119.80

			ANNEAUK	E 13 (Conta.)				
			Der	osits				
	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-74	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4
<u> </u>	(6a)	(6b)	(6c)	(6d)	(7a)	(7b)	(7c)	(7d)
1	25.63	34.85	40.14	46.67	65,24	86.18	113.37	115.01
2	57.76	67.28	72.95	83.57	34.50	44.18	59.52	98.61
3	82.54	102.17	105.85	117.82	72.00	85.53	96.93	111.65
4	25.06	32.53	40.27	42.30	30.24	34.13	52.91	83.41
5	81.40	19.13	36.93	42.60	18.94	24.12	37.47	40.05
6	31.88	34.48	39.64	35.92	79.79	91.84	126.42	197.11
7	40.29	40.82	41.40	43.60	51.73	73.97	93.65	95.67
8	26.06	26.49	26.70	31.85	38.47	46.55	62.95	83.61
9	59.54	72.56	77.60	84.09	135.64	127.25	164.61	187.69
10	25.13	25.22	28.80	27.68	20.03	25.39	36.87	55.94
11	23.13	23.07	23.06	23.07	20.26	18.90	20.42	27.51
12	19.41	22.38	23.75	27.41	22.68	22.79	24.43	28.99
Sub-total	434.83	500.98	557.09	605.58	589.52	680.83	889.55	1125.25

ANNEXURE 13 (Contd.)

	624.48	702.11	787.60	877.63	821.12	961.12	1258.80	1558.98
	84.44	86.43	100.86	103.94	88.14	91.58	112.23	138.30
25	11.44	12.16	12.67	17.82	10.28	11.90	17.00	25.80
24	25.26	25.47	29.65	25.68	22,28	17.42	16.97	/ 17.03
23	72.26	28.26	37.78	34.01	44.32	48.25	58.02	72.62
22	11.26	11.29	11.32	15.59	4.60	6.09	7.37	8.13
21	9.22	9,25	9.44	10.84	6.66	7.92	12.87	14.72
	35.03	36.39	37.17	46.73	24.19	35.95	55.49	67.64
20	10.03	10.78	10.88	14.80	5.76	6.48	8.40	12.91
19	6.95	7.26	7.61	11.62	8.49	13.23	16.51	25.75
18	18.05	18.35	18.68	20.31	9.94	16.24	30.58	28.98
	70.18	78.31	92.48	110.38	119.27	152.76	201.53	227.79
17	21.19	28.26	39.55	49.01	32.57	52.19	75.10	80.33
16	5.71	5.91	5.94	7.50	11.74	17.02	18.63	22.05
15	8.01	8.03	8.46	11.37	12.48	14.33	27.93	33.16
14	26.36	26.95	28.07	29.79	40.10	44.85	54.33	65.15
13	8.91	9.16	10.46	12.71	22.38	24.37	25.54	27.10
(1)	(ба)	(6b)	(6c)	(6d)	(7a)	(7b)	(7c)	(7d)

~

•

		Borro	owings		Working Capital					
	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4		
	(8a)	(§b)	(8c)	(8d)	(9a)	(9b)	(9c)	(9d)		
1	49.93	54.44	78.04	112.38	150.79	188.60	247.93	292.6		
2	149.42	150.36	200.43	219.77	255.90	278.56	352.10	430.6		
3	257.72	248.32	288.97	381.10	448.92	462.50	521.39	643.3		
4	70.81	52.32	56.30	91.65	<b>Í</b> 34.46	128.31	161.49	233.0		
5	50.89	50.20	73.73	82.66	93.63	99.46	155.08	177.6		
6	65.98	42.18	80.64	81.59	192.94	195.07	269.84	347.0		
7	95.14	61.03	74.89	125.62	200.39	187.91	227.35	274.6		
8	81.06	58.89	70.42	113.70	151.34	136.02	167.34 ·	236.5		
9	135.78	155.88	157.11	201.20	343.92	376.32	420.20	502.4		
10	59.98	46.75	52.40	75.37	112.25	104.40	125.13	168.9		
11	51.84	41.30	51.86	83.19	104.41	91.33	104.80	145.0		
12	\$5.15	31.43	48.21	72.16	101.88	81.84	103.16	134.7		
	1123.70	993.10	1233.00	1640.39	2290.83	2330.32	2855.81	3586.0		

ANNEVIDE 12 (Could)

(1)	(8a)	· (8b)	(8c)	(88)	(9a)	(95)	(9c)	(9d)
13	18.78	13.98	20.78	44,37	58.08	57 07	70.96	00.40
14	77.37	58.35	56.92	84.65	152.21	57.07 137.96	70.86 147.98	90.68
15	17.74	11.99	11.31	34.73	40.68	37.46	51.04	187.92 83.32
16	16.63	13.11	14.30	12.24	35.60	37.40	42.22	83.32 45.49
17	41.01	44.11	70.98	96.38	103.37	135.53	42.22	239.96
	171.53	141.54	174.29	272.37	389.94	405.61	510.13	647.37
18	54.10	43.48	39.85	50,00	88.53	85.69	93.72	103.56
19	17.32	17.16	19.55	24.80	34.62	39.68	46.07	64.71
20	23.45	17.84	22.34	39.57	42.83	39.32	46.31	72.61
	94.87	78.48	81.74	114.37	165.98	164.69	186.10	240.88
21	31.42	22.45	23.94	35.95	52.17	42.83	49.65	65.84
22	14.57	9.48	13.03	24.12	33,08	29.48	34.16	50.07
23	59.25	58.49	76.02	76.23	139.10	143.68	· 185.46	196.40
24	92.68	57.92	57.36	39.03	146.10	107.46	108.25	. 84.67
25	28.85	26.10	28.28	64.70	53.93	52.63	64.34	113.83
	226.77	174.44	198.63	240.03	424.38	376.08	441.86	510.81
	1616.87	1387.56	1687.66	2267.16	\$271.13	3276.70	3993.90	4985.69

		Loans issued during the year											
	<u>-12</u>	Total			Sho	ort-term a	gricultu	al	Media	ım-term :	agricultur	al	
	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	
	(10a)	(10b)	(10c)	(10d)	(11a)	(11b)	(11c)	(11d)	(12a)	(12b)	(12c)	(12d)	
1	124.40	137.70	218.55	156.23	59.40	47.60	43.20	123.01	6,00	9.90	18.40	33.22	
2	198.78	83.20	300.19	246.92	180.20	54.30	169.20	232.61	12.60	10.40	18.30	14.31	
3	356.89	170.38	334.17	477.23	309.20	133.30	260.10	208.61	22,80	18.40	20,20	268.62	
4	66.49	62.99	93.82	163.28	48.20	18.80	33.80	145.85	0.40	4.00	9.00	17.43	
5	38.17	52.81	119.89	138.43	35.00	43.50	82.10	133.57	0,20	0.10		4.86	
6	130.61	126.01	194.05	232.81	107.30	103.50	163.90	232.81	_	-	_	_	
7	91.96	65.74	111.51	181.13	77.90	40.20	71.20	171.49	0.20			9.64	
8	82.66	22.57	73.08	154.59	77.50	15,80	66.60	154.59	1.40			—	
9	280.74	329.53	369.04	388.40	235.80	181.20	260.60	374.48	1.70	4.40	2.50	13.92	
10	52.22	16.89	54.56	105.33	22.18	2.01	28.14	105.33	_	_	_	_	
11	71.67	35.89	53.53	92.48	68.10	34.80	52.60	91.29	0.20	0.50	,	1.19	
12	83.16	39.26	80.55	97.22	72.60	36.70	54.50	93.51	0.80	0.30	0.20	3.71	
	1577.75	1142.97	2002.94	2434.05	1293.38	711.71	1285.94	2067.15	46.30	47.80	68.60	366.90	

17	(10a)	(10b)	(10c)	(10d)	(11a)	(11b)	(11c)	(11d)	(12a)	(12b)	(12c)	(12d)
13	19.66	14.00	29.49	62.70	13.90	4.00	17.80	50.61				12.09
14	93.96	57.55	103.72	93.84	70.62	40.67	58.31	90.90	13.67	·7.62	7.42	2.94
15	8.31	10 66	34.00	81.11	5.40	2.70	13.90	54.46	1.10			26.65
16	8.52	3.58	15.61	17.41	6.30	2.80	14.00	16.90	0.20	—	0.20	0.51
17	33.31	77.54	175.80	140.30	14.40	39.90	29.70	124.12	7.50	13.60	36.20	16.18
	163.76	163.33	358.62	395.36	110.62	90.07	133.71	336.99	22.47	21.22	43.82	58.37
18	32.10	26.19	24.64	83.46	11.00	3.60	18.00	83.41	0.20			0.05
19	6.70	7.78	12.31	30.13	6.30	7.50		26.15	0.20			3.98
20	9.24	7.43	5.51	56.76	9.20		- 5.00	47.01				9.75
20	48.04	41.40	42.46	170.35	26.50	15.10		156.57	0.20			13.78
<u></u>					<u></u>		<del></del> .					<u> </u>
21	9.24	18.33	13.57	41.53	8.53	5.59	10.55	41.53	0.20	<u> </u>	0.22	—
22	6.58	5.12	7.90	30.68	4.40	4.30	5.30	29.51	0.10		—	1.17
23	195.08	86.78	188.20	129.42	48.00	42.00	28.40	129.42	· _ ·	0.50	3.70	_
24	76.23	18.49	2.47	20.52	58.00	5.30	_	20.31	0.90	0.30	·	0.21
25	25.55	20.33	29.04	93.03	19.00	16.10	17.00	91.63	2.30	1.20	4.60	1.40
	312.68	149.05	241.18	315.18	137.93	73.29	61.25	312.40	3.50	2.00	8.52	2.78
	2102.23	1496.75	2645.20	3314.94	1568.43	890.17	1505.20	2873.11	72.47	71.02	120.94	441.83

	Loans Outstanding											
		Tota	al		Short-term sgricultural							
	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4				
	(13a)	(13b)	(13c)	(13d)	(14a)	(14b)	(14c)	(14d)				
1	100.99	128.66	168.39	219.58	70.05	78.47	52.29	115.34				
2	203.06	224.90	270.65	353.00	174.59	185.10	173.00	264.88				
3	352.15	376.67	431.65	537.51	283.71	297.90	341.70	213.34				
4	99.81	92.19	113.38	155.72	69.75	53.29	62.11	118.68				
5	71.38	71.60	109.18	117.30	38.02	38.53	67.36	94.71				
6	131.58	143.07	174.19	219.29	103.97	126.52	157.55	215.79				
7	150.14	133.24	156.31	201.76	107.75	91.19	113.02	173.95				
8	121.78	102.70	120.26	177.31	100.57	82.44	105.25	170.22				
9	264.47	285.08	313.18	359.34	216.56	235.91	271.67	326.06				
10	88.12	75.92	83.31	115.57	48.67	42.13	57.25	101.05				
11	80.01	67.70	81.52	106.83	63.46	54.04	70.80	98.75				
12	81.81	63.70	83.89	109.30	68.10	55.09	54.88	88.02				
	1754.30	1765.43	2105.91	2672.51	1345.20	1340.61	1526.88	1980.79				

	(13a)	(13b)	(13c)	(13d)	(14a)	(14b)	(14c)	(14d)
3	40.22	31.13	40.96	60.47	25.93	20.85	27.37	41.84
4	97.87	58.69	104.63	134.07	70.62	40.47	53.31	108.80
5	30.13	23.41	35.42	60.04	12.73	10.36	17.84	25.44
6	20.96	19.53	28.61	30.90	9.79	9.70	17.84	24.67
7	74.33	96.13	153.47	185.08	25.03	40.06	34.63	104.78
	263.51	228.89	363.09	470.56	144.10	121. <b>4</b> 4	155.99	305.53
8	67.28	62.92	59.94	75.17	21.67	21.71	28.44	64.35
9	26.99	24.39	28.17	36.76	10.24	10.99	9.09	24.08
20	34.66	29.55	34.15	54.80		13.18	17.42	37.95
	128.93	116.86	122.26	166.73	49.79	45.88	54.95	126.38
21	44.84	33.04	34.56	41.89	10.83	7.44	14.65	27.55
22	21.82	19.69	19.76	35.24	11.60	10.74	11.11	27.55
23	95.65	84.83	110.30	132.82	64.47	61.23	. 35.79	85.89
24	122.69	82.75	79.36	59.30	63.21	36.85	34.67	35.16
25	39.08	37.25	47.21	87.47	23.96	23.45	26.65	74.32
	321.08	257.56	291.19	356.72	174.07	139.71	122.87	252.80
	2467.82	2368.74	2882.45	3666.52	1713.16	1647,64	1860.69	2665.50

			Lo	ans Outstanding	(contd.)		•	_			
,		Medium-term	agricultural		Medium-term conversion						
	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4			
	(15a)	(15b)	(15c)	(15d)	(16a)	(16b)	(16c)	(16d)			
1	10.68	16.66	31.89	104.24	16.64	<sup>.</sup> 10.87	59.92	44.53			
2	18.65	27.29	36.64	88.12	3.57	3.17	53.76	43.40			
3	47.96	59.78	54.81	334.17			20.75	267.62			
4	4.60	6.21	11.37	37.04	12.25	9.33	17.83	11.88			
5	2.33	1.80	1.55	22.59	7.84	4.44	10.12	6.75			
6	2.88	1.43	0.50	3.50	6.36	5.56	4.16	3.00			
7	11.84	9.27	6.26	27.81	13.85	11.44	13.95	10.04			
8	8.03	6.90	4.48	7.09	10.46	9.10	6.83	3.80			
9	10.90	10.19	9.49	33.28	17.51	12.21	18.28	11.90			
10	3.10	2.74	2.22	14.52	36.10	30.80	23.59	13.30			
1	13.34	10.97	8.42	8.08	2.05	1.46	1.28	1.03			
12	2.08	1.68	1.26	21.28	8.27	3.64	25.42	17.04			
	136.41	154.92	168.89	691.72	134.90	102.02	255.89	434.29			

ANNEXURE 13 (Contd.)

	216.99	226.77	266.24	1001.02	355.08	274.54	497.87	630.91
	27.99	21.35	26.05	103.92	105.12	77.79	119.95	78.64
25	5.33	5.14	8.57	13.15	8.53	5.75	6.79	4.51
24	11.72	8.04	7.88	24.14	42.02	33.01	31.84	18.01
23	3.82	2.51	5.84	46.93	24.85	15.26	61.07	42.15
22	0.59	0.50	0.48	5.36	6.20	4.37	4.59	3.21
 21	6.53	5.16	3.28	14.34	23.52	19.40	15.66	10.76
	13.47	11.08	7.92	40.35	62.22	55.86	54.66	31.41
20	3.10	2.10	2.03	16.85	•.13.19	13.64	13.93	13.71
19	2.05	1.55	1.55	12.68	12.27	9.61	14.28	8.16
18	8.32	7.43	4.34	10.82	36.76	32.61	26.45	9.54
	39.12	39.42	63.38	165.03	52.84	38.87	67.37	86.57
17	12.66	21.50	51.57	80.30	27.32	20.41	39.21	29.82
6	2.86	2.44	1.10	6.23	7.24	6.44	8.29	5.13
5	6.91	5.39	4.48	34.60	8.54	6.49	8.42	31.06
4	13.66	7.62	4.39	25.27	3.92	3.33	5.07	4.11
3	3.03	2.47	1.84	18.63	5,82	2,20	6.38	16.45
	(15a)	(15b)	(15c)	(15d)	(16a)	(16b)	(16c)	(16d)

	Loa	ans Outsta	nding ( <i>Con</i>	td.)		Overdues	•		Pro	fit/Loss (-	—) (Rs 000	))
		Othe	rs									
	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	· 1973-4
	(17a)	(17b)	(17c)	(17d)	(18a)	(18b)	` (18c)	(18d)	(19a)	(19b)	(19c)	(19d)
1	12.62	22.66	24.29		44.91	64.18	52.98	85.08	90	195	226	169
2	6.25	9.34	7.25	-	(53) <b>5</b> 1.37	(42) 90.17	(57) 40.69	(54) 49.10	130	220	220	222
3	20.48	18.99	14.39		(39) 78.43	(15) 322.46	(66) 163.54	(23) 168.91	428	427	556	86
4	13.21	23.36	22.07	-	(30) 44.98	(38) 58.71	(60) 45.95	(32) 48.37	78	82	62	78
5	23.19	26.83	30.15	_	(33) 34.91	(57) 22.66	(63) 21.54	(33) 25.09	82 .	30	60	106
6	18.37	9.56	11.98		(17) 77,99	(26) 103.56	(38) 72.29	(17) 71.35	175	70	85	51
7	16.70	21.34	23.08		(26) 85.43	(35) 94.54	(63) 66.09	(31) 98.45	31	() 48	() 85	(—)282
8	2.72	4.26	3.70	_	(42) 54.41	(54) 85.33	(61) 51.92	(47) 64.34	54	. 3	4	15
9	19.48	26.77	13.74		(42) 98.17	(51) 163.02	(69) 128.00	(41) 126.88	176	147	170	233
10	0.25	0.25	0.25	—	(22) 53.98	(35)	(41) 38.52	(30) 68.93	114	33	32	36
11	1.16	1.23	1.02		(50) 35.46	(63) 38.70	(70) 31.13	(51) 51.57	56	48	() 18	() 55
12	3.36	3.29	2.33	-	(45) 30,58	(45) 40.02	(45) 31.58	(45) 31.14	61	49	21	2
	137.79	167.88	154.25	_	(29) 690.62	(36) 1138.76	(45) 744.23	(35) 889.21	1475	1256	1333	661

	182.59	219.79	257.65		1088.52	1561.22	1128.90	1344.66	2192	1480	1570	918
	13.90	18.71	22.32		153.09	155.73	148.99	177.93	262	() 22	() 49	() 109
25	1.26	2.91	5.20	_	23.98 (44)	28.22 (50)	16.98 (56)	39.96 (45)	5	6	10	1
24	5.74	4.85	4.97	—	47.17 (55)	63.02 (94)	73.92 (56)	49`.02́ (55)	142	(—) 55	(—) 50	.(—) 172
23	2.51	5.83	7.60	·	41.34 (45)	29.55 (35)	30.69 (35)	42.18 (45)	91	51	. · 28	145
22	3.43	4.08	3.58	—	14.18 (63)	16.80 (59)	10.62 (63)	22.77 (61)	(—) 5	(—) 27	(—) 51	() 84
21	0.96	1.04	0.97		26.42 (53)	18.14 (62)	16.78 (54)	24.00 (40)	29	3	14	1
	3.45	4.04	4.73		72.91	86.81	78.19	77.25	134	81	21	64
20	0.49	0.63	0.77		21.67	25.16 (94)	24,65 (68)	34.63	47	27	16	75
19	2.43	2.24	3.25		15.52	18.18 (78)	20.72	15.20	1	· 1	1	10
18	0.53	1.17	0.71	_	35.72 (34)	43.47 (57)	32.82 (79)	27.42 (34)	86	53	4	() 21
	27,45	29.16	76.35	-	171.90	179.98	157.49	200.27	321	165	265	302
17	9.32	14.16	28.06		42.04 (52)	53.08 (54)	51.46 (57)	63.79 (45)	57	31	83	.159
16	1.07	0.95	1.38	. —	17.43	19.63 (55)	13.80 (82)	23.66 (63)	7	(—) 7	13	57
15	1.95	1.17	4.68	—	21.01 (66)	20.08	16.72 (71)	18.30 (28)	31	2	24	3
14	9.67	7.27	36.86		64.49 (50)	61.05 (46)	54.64 (49)	62.85 (48)	182	117	102	58
13	5.44	5.61	5.37	—	26.93 (54)	26.14 (56)	20.87 (65)	31.67 (44)	44	22	43	25
	(17a)	(17b)	(17c)	(17d)	(18a)	(18b)	(18c)	(18d)	(19a)	<b>(</b> 19b)	(19c)	(19d)

Figures in brackets indicate percentage of overdues to demand

Position of Viability/Potential Via	ability of	Banks
-------------------------------------	------------	-------

	Bar	nk	Positio	n as on 30	-6-1974	Viable	Poten- tially	Non- viable
	Du	IK	Owned Funds	Deposits	Total Loans		viable	VIAUIC
	(1)		(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
No	rmal	Zone						
(a)	NT	' <b>A</b>						
()	1	Aimer	46.67	115.01	219.58	Yes		
		Alwar	83.57	98.61	353.00	Yes	•	•
	2	Bharatpur	117.82	111.65	537.51	Yes	•	•
	Ă	Bhilwara	42.30	83.41	155.72	Yes	•	•
	5	Bundi	42.60	40.05	117.30	Yes	•	•
	6	Ganganagar	35.92	197.11	219.29	Yes	•	•
	234 567	Jaipur	43.60	95.67	201.76	Yes	•	•
	8	Jhalawar	31.85	83.61	177.31	Yes	•	•
	õ	Kota	84.09	187.69	359.34	Yes	•	•
	10	Pali	27.68	55.94	115.57	Yes	•	•
	11	Sawai	23.07	27.51	106.83	Yes	•	•
		Madhopur					•	•
	12	Tonk	27.41	28.99	109.30	Yes	•	•
(b)	ΤА							
(-)	13	Banswara	12.71	27.10	60.47			Yes
	14	Chittorgarh	29.79	65.15	134.07	Yes		
	15	Dungarpur	11.37	33.16	60.04			Yes
	16	Sirohi	7.50	22.05	30.90			Yes
	17	Udaipur	49.01	80.33	185.08	Yes	•	•
Ari	d Zo	ne						
	18	Barmer	20.31	28.98	75.17		Yes	
	19	Bikaner	11.62	25.75	36.76		•	Yes
	20	Churu	14.80	12.91	54.80	•		Yes
Sen	ni-ari	id Zone						
	21	Jalore	10.84	14.72	41.89			Yes
	22	Jhunjhunu	15.59	8.13	35.24			Yes
	23	Jodhpur	34.01	72.62	132.82	Yes	•	•
	24	Nagaur	25.68	17.03	59.30	•	•	Yes
	25	Sikar	17.82	25.80	87.47		Yes	

Position of Viability/Potential Viability of Banks
--

	Rupees	La	khs
--	--------	----	-----

		Abstract	
	Viable	Potentially viable	Non-viable
NTA TA AZ SAZ	12 2 1	1 1	3 2 3
Total	15	2	8

Rating of Central Banks in Rajasthan with reference to various standards

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Sr. No.	Size of Owned Funds	Rat- ing	Size of Deposits	Rat- ing
1 2	Less than Rs 10 lakhs Above Rs 10 lakhs	10	Less than Rs 25 lakhs Above Rs 25 lakhs	10
-	but less than Rs 25 lakhs	25	but less than Rs 50 lakhs	25
3	Above Rs 25 lakhs but less than Rs 50 lakhs	35	Above Rs 50 lakhs but less than Rs 75 lakhs	35
4	Above Rs 50 lakhs but less than Rs 75 lakhs	50	Above Rs 75 lakhs but less than Rs 125 lakhs	50
5	Above Rs 75 lakhs		Above Rs 125 lakhs	50
6	but less than Rs 100 lakhs Above Rs 100 lakhs	75 100	but less than Rs 200 lakhs Above Rs 200 lakhs	75 100
Sr. No.	Size of Working Capital	Rat- ing	Size of Loans Outstanding	Rat- ing
1	Less than Rs 50 lakhs	10	Less than Rs 50 lakhs	10
2	Above Rs 50 lakhs but less than Rs 75 lakhs	25	Above Rs 50 lakhs but less than Rs 75 lakhs	25
3	Above Rs 75 lakhs		Above Rs 75 lakhs	
4	but less than Rs 125 lakhs Above Rs 125 lakhs	35	but less than Rs 125 lakhs Above Rs 125 lakhs	35
	but less than Rs 200 lakhs	50	but less than Rs 200 lakhs	50
5	Above Rs 200 lakhs	75	Above Rs 200 lakhs but less than Rs 500 lakhs	75
6	but less than Rs 500 lakhs Above Rs 500 lakhs	100	Above Rs 500 lakhs	100
Sr. No.		Rat- ing	Percentage of Overdues to Demand for two out of three Years (1970-71 to 1972-3)	Rat- ing
1	Less than Rs 20 lakhs	10	More than 60	10
2	Above Rs 20 lakhs but less than Rs 50 lakhs	25	More than 50 but less than 60	25
3	Above Rs 50 lakhs	25	More than 40	
	but less than Rs 75 lakhs	35	but less than 50	35
4	Above Rs 75 lakhs but less than Rs 125 lakhs	50	More than 30 but less than 40	50
5	Above Rs 125 lakhs		More than 20	
	but less than Rs 200 lakhs	75	but less than 30	75
6	Above Rs 200 lakhs	100	Less than 20	100

# ANNEXURE 15 (Contd.)

Sr. No.	No. of Years of Default to the Apex Bank in the last 5 Years (1968-9 to 1972-3)	Rat ing	Range of Net Profit	Rat- ing
1	All the five years	10	Nil or loss	10
23	Four years	25 35	Rs 10,000 or less	15
ა	Three years	33	More than Rs 10,000	20
4	Two years	50	but less than Rs 25,000 More than Rs 25,000	20
4	Two years	50	but less than Rs 75,000	35
5	One year	75	More than Rs 75,000	55
-			but less than Rs 1.50 lakhs	50
6	None	100	More than Rs 1.50 lakhs	
			but less than Rs 2.50 lakhs	75
			Above Rs 2.50 lakhs	100
				100
Sr. No.	Rate of Dividend	Rat- ing	Extent of Credit Gap	Rat- ing
No.	Nil	ing 10	Extent of Credit Gap 90 per cent and above	Rat-
No.		ing	Extent of Credit Gap 90 per cent and above More than 80 per cent	Rat- ing
No.	Nil	ing 10	Extent of Credit Gap 90 per cent and above	Rat- ing 10
No.	Nil Less than one per cent	ing 10	Extent of Credit Gap 90 per cent and above More than 80 per cent but less than 90 per cent	Rat- ing 10
No.	Nil Less than one per cent Above one per cent but less than two per cent Above two per cent	ing 10 25 35	Extent of Credit Gap 90 per cent and above More than 80 per cent but less than 90 per cent More than 70 per cent but less than 80 per cent More than 70 per cent	Rat- ing 10 25 35
No.	Nil Less than one per cent Above one per cent but less than two per cent Above two per cent but less than three per cent	ing 10 25	Extent of Credit Gap 90 per cent and above More than 80 per cent but less than 90 per cent More than 70 per cent but less than 80 per cent More than 70 per cent but less than 75 per cent	Rat- ing 10 25
No.	Nil Less than one per cent Above one per cent but less than two per cent Above two per cent but less than three per cent Above three per cent	ing 10 25 35 50	Extent of Credit Gap 90 per cent and above More than 80 per cent but less than 90 per cent More than 70 per cent but less than 80 per cent More than 70 per cent but less than 75 per cent More than 65 per cent	Rat- ing 10 25 35 50
No.	Nil Less than one per cent Above one per cent but less than two per cent Above two per cent but less than three per cent	ing 10 25 35	Extent of Credit Gap 90 per cent and above More than 80 per cent but less than 90 per cent More than 70 per cent but less than 80 per cent More than 70 per cent but less than 75 per cent	Rat- ing 10 25 35

Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to Owned Funds as on 30.6.1973 (Rupees lakhs)

				·		(KI	ipees la	KNS)
				Size of C	wned F	unds (Ra	ting)	
Sr. No.	Bank	Less than 10 (10)		Between 25 and 50 (35)	50 and - 75		100	Rat ing
(1)	(2)	(3) .	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Norr	mal Zone							
(a) N	NTA							
1	Ajmer			40.14	••			35
2	Alwar		•	•	72.95	•		50
3	Bharatpur	•		10. 27	•	•	105.85	
4 5	Bhilwar <b>a</b> Bundi	•	•	40.27 36.93	•	•	•	35 35
5		•	•	30.93	٠	•	•	35
7	Ganganagar Jaipur	•	•	41.40	•	•	•	35
8	Jhalawar	• •		26.70	•	•	:	35 75
- 9	Kota	÷	:			77.60		75
10	Pali			28.80		•		35
11	Sawai Madhopur	•	23.06	۰.	•	•	•	25
12	Tonk	•	23.75	•	•	•	•	25
(b)	ТА							
13	Banswara		10.46					25
14	Chittorgarh	•	10.40	28.07	•	:	:	35
15	Dungarpur	8.46			•	•		10
16	Sirohi	5.94			•		•	10
17	Udaipur			39,55	•	•	•	35
Arid	Zone							
18	Barmer		18.68					- 25
19	Bikaner	7.61		•				10
20	Churu	•	10.88	•	•	•	•	25
Sem	i-arid Zone							
21	Jalore	9.44						10
22	Jhunjhunu		11.32	•		•		25
23	Jodhpur	•		37.78		•	•	35
24	Nagaur	•		29.65	•	•	•	35 25
25	Sikar	•	12.67	•	•	•	•	23

### Abstract

			No. of B	anks	
Rating	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	Total
10	·	2	1	1	4
25	2	1	2	2	7
35	7	2		2	11
50	1				1
75	Ĩ		_	_	1
100	1				1

Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to Size of Deposits as on 30.6.1973 Rupees Lakhs

							-	
				Size of Depe	osits (Rating)			
Sr. No.	Bank	Less than 25	Between 25 and 50	Between 50 and 75	Between 75 and 125	Between 125 and 200	Above 200	Rating
		(10)	(25)	(35)	(50)	(75)	(100)	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Norm	nal Zone							
(a) 1	NTA							
1	Ajmer		•		113.37	•	•	50 35
2	Alwar	•	•	59.52	96.93	•	•	35
3 4	Bharatpu <b>r</b> Bhilwa <b>ra</b>	•	•	52.91	96.93	•	•	50
5	Bundi	•	37.47	52.91	•	•	•	25
6	Ganganagar	•		•	•	126.42	•	75
7	Jaipur		•	•	93.65	· . •	•	50
8	Jhalawar	•	•	62.95	• •		•	35
9 10	Kota Pali	•	36.87	•	•	164.61	•	75
11	Sawai Madhopur	20.42	30.07	.•	•	. •	•	25
12	Tonk	24.43	•	•	•	•	•	50 35 25 75 35 75 25 10 10
(b) <sup>·</sup>	ТА							
13	Banswara		25.54					25
14	Chittorgarh	•		54.33		•		35
15	Dungarpur		27.93	•	•	•	•	25
16 17	Sirohi Udaipu <b>r</b>	18.63	. •	•	75.10	•	•	25 35 25 10 50
		•	•	•	75.10	•	•	50

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
18 19	Zone Barmer Bikaner	16.51	30.58	:	:	•	:	25 10
	Churu arid Zone	8.40	•	•	•	•	•	10
21 22 23	Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur	12.87 7.37		58.02	• •		•	10 10 35
24 25	Nagaur Sikar	16.97 17.00		•	•	•	•	10 10

Abstract .

Dating		No	o. of Ba	nks	
Rating	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	Total
10 25 35 50 75 100	2 2 3 3 2	1 2 1 1 	2 1 — —	4 1 	9 5 5 4 2

Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to Working Capital (comprising Owned Funds + Deposits + Borrowings) as on 30.6.1973

Rupees Lakhs

				Size of Workin	ng Capital (Rat	ting)		
Sr. No.	Bank	Less than 50 (10)	Between 50 and 75 (25)	Between 75 and 125 (35)	Between 125 and 200 (50)	Between 200 and 500 (75)	Above 500 (100)	– Rating
(1)	(2)	(10)	(23)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			(100)	(0)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(0)	(9)
Jorma	al Zone					-		
a) N	TA							
	Ajmer					247.93		75
	Alwar	•			•	352.10		75
3	Bharatpur	•			•	•	521.39	100
	Bhilwara	•	•	•	161.49	•		50
	Bundi	•	•	•	155.08	• • • • • •	•	50
07	Ganganagar	•	•	•	•	269.84	•	75
0	Jaipur Jhalawar	•	•	•	1 (7) 24	227 - 35 ·	•	75
	Kota	•	•	•	167.34	420.20	•	50 75
	Pali	•	•	•	125.13	420.20	•	50
	Sawai Madhopur	•	•	104.80	125.15	• .	•	35
12	Tonk	•	•	103.16	•	•	•	35
b) Т	A							
	Banswara		70.86			,		25
	Chittorgarh	•		•	147.90	•	•	50
	Dungarpur		51.05	•		•	•	25
16	Sirohi	42.22			•	•	•	ĩõ
17	Udaipur		•	•	198.11	•	•	50

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Arid	Zone				•			
· 18	Barmer			93.72			•	35
<b>19</b> ]	Bikaner	46.07	•	•		•		10
20 (	Churu	46.31		•			•	10
Semi-	arid Zone							
21	Jalore	46.95			•	•	•	10
22	Jhunjhunu	34.16	•	•	•	•		10
23	Jodhpur				185.46		<u>.</u>	50
24	Nagaur			108.25		•		35
	Sikar		64.34	•	-, ·	•	•	25

•

.

-

D	No. of Banks									
Rating	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ	Total					
10 25 35 50 75 100		$\frac{1}{2}$	2 1 	2 1 1 1 	5 3 4 7 5 1					

Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to Loans Outstanding as on 30.6.1973

		Size of Loans Outstanding (Rating)								
Sr. No,		Less than 50	Between 50 and 75	Between 75 and 125	Between 125 and 200	Between 200 and 500	Above 500	Rating		
		(10)	(25)	(35)	(50)	(75)	(100)			
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)		
Norm	al Zone									
(a) 1	NTA									
1	Ajmer				168.39			50		
2	Alwar			•	•	270.65	•	75 75		
3	Bharatpur	•	•		•	431.65		75		
4	Bhilwara		•	113.38	•	•	•	35		
2	Bundi	•	•	109.18	171 10	•	•	35		
7	Ganganagar Jaipur	•	•	•	174.19	•_	•	50		
8	Jhalawar	•	•	120.26	156.31	•	• ·	50 35		
ğ	Kota	•	•	120.20	•	313.18	•	5.9 75		
10	Pali	•	•	83.31	•	515.10	•	35		
11	Sawai Madhopur		•	81.52	•	•	•	35		
12	Tonk	•	•	83.89	•	•	•	35 35		
(b) <sup>7</sup>	ГА									
13	Banswara	40.96						10		
14	Chittorgarh		•	104.63	•	•	•	35		
15	Dungarpur	35.42		•	-		•	10		
16	Sirohi	28.61	•	•	•	•	•	10		
17	Udaipur	•	•	•	153.47	•	•	50		

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Arid	Zone							
18	Barmer	•	59.94		•	•	•	25
19	Bikaner	28.17	•	•	•	•	•	10
20	Churu	34.15	•	•	•	•	•	10
Semi-	arid Zone							
21	Jalore	34.56	•	•	•	-	•	10
22	Jhunjhunu	19.76	•	•	•	•	•	10
23	Jodhpur	•		110.30	•	•	•	35
	Nagaur	•	•	79.36	•	•	•	35
25		47.21	•	•	. •	•	•	10

Abstract	

Rating		No.	of Ban	ks	
Kaung	NTA	ТА	AZ	SAZ	Total
10 25 35 50 75 100	6 3 3	3 1 1	2 1 	$\frac{3}{2}$	8 1 9 4 3

Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to size of short-term agricultural Loans issued in 1972-3 Rupees Lakhs

Size of short-term agricultural Loans issued (Rating) Sr. Bank Less than Between 20 Between 50 Between Between Above Rating No. 20 and 50 and 75 75 and 200 125 and 125 200 (10) (25) (35) (50) (75) (100)(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (8) (9) (7) Normal Zone . . (a) NTA Aimer 43.20 25 169.20 2 Alwar 75 3 Bharatour 260.10 100 33.80 Bhilwara 4 25 5 Bundi 82.10 50 75 35 35 6 Ganganagar 163.90 7 Jaipur 71.20 8 Jhalawar 66.60 ۰, 9 Kota 260.60 100 Pali 28.74 10 25 . ٠ Sawai Madhopur 11 52.60 35 • . 12 Tonk 54.50 35 (b) TA 13 Banswara 17.80 10 72.20 Chittorgarh 14 35 13.90 15 Dungarpur 10 16 Sirohi 14.00 10 Udaipur 17 29.70 25

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
						Ň		
Arid Zo	one							
. 18	Barmer	18.00	•		-		•	10
19	Bikaner	1.30	•		•	•	•	10
20	Churu	5.00	•	•	•	•	•	10
Semi-ari	id Zone							
21	Jalore	10.55	•			•	•	10
22	Jhunjhunu	5.30	•		•	•	. •	10
23	Jodhpur		28.40		•	•	•	25
24	Nagaur	•	· • ·		•	•	•	10
	Sikar	17.00			•			10
· · · · · ·	the second s							
				Abstract				

bstract	

10 25	No. of Banks					
	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	Total	
25 35 50	3 4 1 2 2	3 1 1 	3 	4	10 5 5 1 2 2	

•

### Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to Recovery Performance

		Percentage of Overdues to Demand for 2 out of 3 Years (Rating)							
Sr. No.		More than 60 (10)	Between 60 and 50 (25)	Between 50 and 40 (35)	Between 40 and 30 (50)	Between 30 and 20 (75)	Less than 20 (100)	Rating	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	
Normal (a) NT.									
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	Ajmer Alwar Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Pali Sawai Madhopur Tonk	70-63-50	57-42-53 63-57-33 61-54-42 69-51-42	- - - 45-45-45	66-15-39 66-38-30 63-35-26 41-35-22 45-36-29	38-26-17	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	25 50 25 75 50 25 50 10 35 50	
(b) TA 13 14 15 16 17	Banswara Chittorgarh Dungarpur Sirohi Udaipur	71-64-66 82-55-60	65-56-54 : 57-54-52	49-46-50	• • •			25 35 10 10 25	

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Arid Zo	one							
18	Barmer	•	79-57-34	•	•	•		25
19	Bikaner	63-78-51	•	•	•	•	•	10
20	Churu	68-94-52	•	•	•	•	•	10
Semi-ar	id Zone							
21	Jalore	•	54-62-53	•	. •			25
22	Jhunjhunu	63-59-63	•	•	ac <sup>1</sup> ac 10	•		10 50
23	Jodhpur	•	56-94-55	•	35-35-45	•	•	50
24 25	Nagaur Sikar	•	56-50-44	•	•	•	•	25 25
23	Sikai	•	20-20-44	•	•	•	•	25

Abstract									
		No. o	f Banks						
Rating	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	Total				
10 25 35 50 75 100	1 4 1 5 1	2 2 1 	2 1 	$\frac{1}{3}$	6 10 2 6 1				

		Years of Default in the last Five Years								
Sr. No.	Bank	ank All the five Four years years (10) (25)		Three years	Two years	One year	None	Rating		
10.				(35)	(50)	(75)	(100)			
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)		
ormal	Zone									
) NT	'A									
1	Ajmer					1970-71 <sup>`</sup>		75		
2	Alwar	68-9 to 72-3		•		•		10		
3	Bharatpur	•			71-2/72-3	•	•	50		
4	Bhilwara Bundi	(0 0 is 72 1	•	68-9/71-2/72-3		•	•	35		
6	Ganganagar	68-9 to 72-3	•	•	69-70/70-71	•	•	10 50		
7	Jaipur	68-9 to 72-3	•	, <b>•</b>	07-70/70-71	•	•	10		
8	Jhalawar		69-70 to 72-3				•	10 25		
9	Kota	•	•	•		1972-3		75		
10	Pali	68-9 to 72-3	•		•	•	•	10		
11	Sawai Madhopur	•	•	69-70/70-71/ 72-3	•	• .	•	35		
12	Tonk			12-3	69-70/70-71			50		
) TA		•	•	•	0, 10,10 11	•	•	50		
13	Banswara	68-9 to 72-3		:				10		
14	Chittorgarh	00-910 72-3	•	•	68-9/70-71	•	•	10 50		
15	Dungarpur	68-9 to 72-3	•	•	00-3/70-71	•	•	10		
16	Sirohi	•	69-70 to 72-3	•	•	•	•	25		
17	Udaipur	•	•	68-9/69-70/ 70-71	•	•	•	25 35		

ANNEXURE 22 Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to Defaults to the State Co-operative Bank

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	,5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Arid Za	one							
18 19 20	Barmer Bikaner Churu	68-9 to 72-3 68-9 to 72-3 68-9 to 72-3	:		:	•	• • •	10 10 10
Semi-ar	id Zone							
21 22 23 24 25	Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar		69-70 to 72-3 69-70 to 72-3	•		•		25 25 10 10 10

Abstract
----------

Deting	No. of Banks				
Rating	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	Tota
10	4	2	3	3	12
25 35	1	1	<b></b>	2	4
50	23	1		_	3 4
75	2	_			ż
100	—		—		

Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to the Amount of Profit/Loss for the Year 1972-3

Rupees I	Lakhs
----------	-------

	. Bank	Size of Net profit							
Sr. No.		Nil or loss	0.10 or below	Between 0.10 and 0.25	Between 0.25 and 0.75	Between 0.75 and 1.50	Between 1.50 and 2.50	Above 2.50	Rating
		(10)	(15)	(20)	(35)	(50)	(75)	(100)	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Norm	al Zone								
a) N	TA								
1	Ajmer			•	•		2.26	•	75
2	Alwar		•	•	•	•	2.20	•	75
3	Bharatpur	•	•	•	<b>• * •</b>	•	•	5.56	100
4	Bhilwara Bundi	•	•	•	0.62 0.60	•	•	•	35
6	Ganganagar	•	•	•	0.00	0.85	•	•	35 50
7	Jaipur	() 0.85	•	•	•	0.05	•	•	10
8	Jhalawar	( )0.00	0.04	•	•	•	•	•	15
9	Kota			•		•	1.70	•	75
10	Pali			•	0.32		••	•	35
11	Sawai Madhopur	() 0.18	•		•		•	•	10
12	Tonk	•	•	0.21	•	•	•	•	20
ъ) .	ГА								
13	Banswara			•	0.43			-	35
14	Chittorgarh				•	1.02	•		50
15	Dungarpur	•		0.24	•		•	•	20
16	Sirohi	•		0.13	•		•	•	20
17	Udaipur	•	٠	•	•	0.83	•	•	50

(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Zone								
Barmer	•	0.04	•	•	-	•	•	15
Bikaner	•	0.01	•	•	•		•	15
Churu	•	•	0.16	•	•	•	•	20
arid Zone								
Jalore	•	•	0.14	•	•	•		20
Jhunjhunu	() 0.51		•	•	•	•		10
Jodhpur	•		•	0.28	•	•		35
Nagaur	(—) 0.50	•	•	•	•	•		10
Sikar		0.10	•	•	•	•	•	15
	Zone Barmer Bikaner Churu arid Zone Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur	Zone Barmer . Bikaner . Churu . arid Zone Jalore . Jhunjhunu () 0.51 Jodhpur . Nagaur () 0.50	Zone Barmer . 0.04 Bikaner . 0.01 Churu arid Zone Jalore Jhunjhunu (	Zone Barmer . 0.04 . Bikaner . 0.01 . Churu . 0.16 arid Zone Jalore . 0.14 Jhunjhunu (	Zone Barmer . 0.04 Bikaner . 0.01 Churu . 0.16 . arid Zone Jalore 0.14 . Jhunjhunu () 0.51 Jodhpur 0.28 Nagaur () 0.50	Zone Barmer . 0.04 Bikaner . 0.01 Churu . 0.16 arid Zone Jalore 0.14 Jhunjhunu () 0.51 Jodhpur 0.28 . Nagaur () 0.50	Zone         Barmer       0.04       .       .       .         Bikaner       0.01       .       .       .         Bikaner       0.01       .       .       .         Churu       .       0.16       .       .         arid Zone       .       .       0.14       .       .         Jalore       .       .       0.14       .       .       .         Jalore       .       .       0.14       .       .       .         Jodhpur       .       .       0.28       .       .         Nagaur       () 0.50       .       .       .       .	Zone         Barmer       0.04       .

		1	Abstract	t	
Rating		No	o. of Ba	inks	
Kating	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	Total
10	2		_	2	4
15	1		2	1	4
20	1	2	1	1	5
35	3	1	_	1	5
50	1	2	_	_	3
· 75	3			_	3
100	1		. <del></del>	_	1

Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to the Rate of Dividend declared for the Year 1972-3

				Rate	e of Dividend d	eclared		
Sr. No.	Bank	Nil (10)	Less than one per cent (25)	Between one and two per cent (35)	Between two and three per cent (50)	Between three and five per cent (75)	Five per cent and above (100)	- Rating
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Norm	al Zone							
(a) 1 1 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	ITA Ajmer Alwar Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Pali Sawai Madhopur Tonk	• • • • • • • • • • •		·2 · · ·		3 <del>3</del>		10 35 10 10 75 10 10 10 10 10
(b) 7 13 14 15 16 17	TA Banswara Chittorgarh Dungarpur Sirohi Udaipur	• • • •		· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		• • • •	• . • • •	10 10 10 10 10

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Arid	Zone							
18	Barmer	•		•	•			10
19	Bikaner		•	•	•	•	•	10
20	Churu	•	•	•	•	•	•	10
Semi-	arid Zone							
21	Jalore							10
22	Jhunjhunu				•		-	10
23	Jodhpur	· •	•			•		10
24	Nagaur		•	•	•		•	10
25	Sikar	• .	•		•	•	•	10
	·					······		

Datina		N	o. of Ba	anks	
Rating	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	Total
10	10	5	3	5	13
25 35	1	_		_	1
50		_	_	_	-
75 100	1		· <u> </u>		1

Abstract

## Rating of Central Co-operative Banks in Rajasthan with reference to the Credit Gaps in the District

				Extent of	Credit Gap			
Sr. No	Bank	90 per cent and above	Between 90 and 80 per cent	Between 80 and 75 per cent	Between 75 and 70 per cent	Between 70 and 65 per cent	Less than 65 per cent	Rating
		(10)	(25)	(35)	(50)	(75)	(100)	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Norn	nal Zone							
(a)	NTA							
1	Ajmer	•		•	74	•	•	50
2	Alwar	•	•	•	74	<i>:</i>	•	50
3 4	Bharatpur Bhilwara	•	80	•	•	67	•	75
- 5	Bundi	•	00	•	73	•	•	25 50
6	Ganganagar	ġġ	•	•		•	•	10
7	Jaipur		84				•	25
8	Jhalawar		•			•	61	100
9	Kota	•		•	•	•	52	100
10 11	Pali Sawai Madhopur	•	82	•	•	.•	•	25
12	Tonk	•	86 80	•	•	•	•	25 25
	-	•	00	•	•	•	•	43
	ГА							
13	Banswara	•	82		•		•	25
14 15	Chittorgarh	•	83	•	-i-			25
16	Dungarpur Sirohi	91	•	•	73	•	•	50
17	Udaipur	71	•	79	•	•	•	10 35

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
Arid	Zone							
18	Barmer	93						10
19	Bikaner	94				•		10
20	Churu	93			•			10
Semi-	arid Zone							
21	Jalore	96				•	•	10
22	Jhunjhunu	91		•	•	•		10
23	Jodhpur	91	•			•	•	10
24		93		•	•		•	10
25	Sikar		83	•	•	•	•	25

A hote	~
Abstr	a

D = 4 - = =	No. of Banks								
Rating	NTA	TA	AZ	SAZ	Total				
10	1	1	3	4	9				
25	5	2		1	8				
35	_	1	<u> </u>		1				
50	3	1			4				
75	1			_	1				
100	2	_	_	<u> </u>	2				

					Rati	ng under	different l	heads				
Sr. No.	Bank	Owned Funds	Deposits	Working Capital	Total Loans Outstand- ing	Short- term Loans issued	Recovery Perfor- mance	All Defaults	Net Profit	Dividend declared	Credit Gap	Total
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Norm	al Zone				•							
(a) l	NTA											
1	Ajmer	35	50	75	50	25	25	75	75	10	50	470
2	Alwar	50	35	75	75	75	50	10	75 <sup>·</sup>	35	50	530
3	Bharatpur	100	50	100	75	75	50	50	100	10	75	685
4	Bhilwara	35	35	50	35	25	25	35	35	10	25	310
5	Bundi	35	25	50	35	50	75	10	35	10	<b>50</b> <sup>.</sup>	375
6	Ganganagar	35	75	75	50	75	50	50	50	75	10	545
7	Jaipur	35	50	75	50	35	25	10	10	10	25	325
8	Jhalawar	35	35	50	35	35	25	25	15	10	100	365
9	Kota	75	75	75	75	100	50	75	75	10	100	710
10	Pali	35	25	50	35	25	10	10	35	10	25	260
11	Sawai Madhopur	25	10	35	35	35	35	35	10	10	25	255
12	Tonk	25	10	35	35	35	50	50	20	10	25	295

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	<b>'10)</b>	(11)	(12)	(13)
<b>(</b> b)	TA											
13	Banswara	25	25	25	10	10	25	10	35	10	25	200
14	Chittorgarh	35	35	50	35	35	35	50	50	10	25	360
15	Dungarpur	10	25	25	10	10	10	10	20	10	50	180
16	Sirohi	10	10	10	10	10	10	25	20	10	10	125
17	Udaipur	35	50	50	50	25	25	35	50	10	35	365
Arid	Zone								<b>.</b>			
1`8	Barmer	25	25	35	25	10	25	10	15	10	10	190
19	Bikaner	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	15	10	10	105
20	Churu	25	10	10	10	10	10	10	20	10	10	125
Semi-	arid Zone											
21	Jalore	10	10	10	10	10	25	25	20	· 10	10	140
22	Jhunjhunu	25	10	10	10	10	10	25	10	10	10 ·	130
23	Jodhpur	35	35	50	35	25	50	10	35	10	10	295
24	Nagaur	35	10	35	35	10	25	10	10	10	10	190
25	Sikar	25	10	25	10	10	25	10	15	10	25	165
							3					

### Position of Ten Central Banks — Criterion (i), i.e., whether there is Potential in the District to reach a level of Credit Business of Rs. 150 lakhs assuming that 50 per cent of the existing short-term Credit Requirements in the District could be met by the concerned Bank

	Name of the Central Bank	Production credit requirements	50% of column (2)	Whether criterion fulfilled (Yes/No)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
1	Banswara	310.0	155.00	Yes
2	Dungarpur	165.0	82.50	No
3	Sirohi	250.00	125.00	No
4	Barmer	1170.00	585.00	Yes
5	Bikaner	468.00	234.00	Yes
6	Churu	920.00	460.00	Yes
7	Jalore	860.00	430.00	Yes
8	Jhunjhunu	410.00	205.00	Yes
9	Nagaur	964.00	482.00	Yes
10	Sikar	524.00	262.00	Yes

	Abstract										
Criterion (i)	TA	AZ	SAZ	Total							
Fulfilled	1	3	4	8							
Not fulfilled	2		_	2							

Criteria (ii) and (iii), i.e., whether the Banks will be in a Position to reach a Level of Deposits of Rs 60 lakhs or at least Rs 40 lakhs at the end of 1978-9 (assuming an annual Growth Rate of 25 per cent) necessary to sustain a Credit Business of Rs 150 lakhs or at least Rs 100 lakhs respectively

#### Rupees Lakhs

	ame of the ntral Bank	Total deposits as on 30.6.74	Expected level of deposits as on 30.6.79 assuming an annual growth rate of 25 per cent	Whether criterion (ii) fulfilled (Yes/No)	If not, whether criterion (iii) fulfilled (Yes/No)
·	(1)	(2)	, (3)	(4)	(5)
ł	Banswara	27.10	83.03	Yes	
2	Dungarpur	33.16	101.02	Yes@	
3	Sirohi	22.05	67.50	Yes@	
4	Barmer	28.98	88.42	Yes	-
5	Bikaner	25.75	78.60	Yes	_
6	Churu	12.91	39.40	No	No
7	Jalore	14.72	45.53	No	Yes
8	Jhunjhunu	8.13	24.88	No	No
9	Nagaur	17.03	51.97	No	Yes
10	Sikar	25.80	78.74	Yes	

@These banks do not satisfy criterion (i)

Criterion (ii)	ТА	SAZ	Total		
Fulfilled	3	2	1	6	
Not fulfilled		1	3	4	
Criterion (iii)					
Fulfilled	-	-	2	2	
Not fulfilled	-	1	1	2	

			Aı	nount &	Members	hip in L	akhs
	Item	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1973-4
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
1	(i) Number of						
•	societies	9691	8042	7808	7727	7699	7741
	(ii) Of which						
	dormant	2542	1976	1924	3786	2891	2236
2	(iii) % of dormant Membership	26	25	25	49	38	29
2	(i) Total	11.80	12.34	12.71	12.88	13.53	15.00
	(ii) Of which borro-	11.00	12.51	12.71	12.00	10,00	10.00
	wed during the						
	year	5.13	5.40	5.53	4.29	5.40	7.22
	(iii) % of borrowing	42			~ ~ ~	40	40
•	members to total		44 600.34	44 695.06	33 750.80	40 022 29	48 1017.08
3	Share Capital (Government)	504.84 79.89	100.96	124.89	148.67	176.37	215.60
4	Reserve & other fund		32.20	32.97	35.49	42.91	52.86
5	Deposits	117.79	121.55	130.30	143.44	179.84	200.70
6	Borrowings	1840.55	2167.92	2406.13	2311.04	2739.83	3329.56
7	Working Capital	2493.67	2922.00	3801.47	3851.72	4487.81	5385.28
8	Loans advanced	1455.54	1385.40	1633.44	974.13	1604.33	2549.37
.9	Loans outstanding	1787.50	2117.76	2367.47	2311.21	2675.19	3282.20
10	Overdues out of	555.65	764 08	1032.83	1459 47	1144 36	1261 25
11	loans outstanding % of overdues to	333.03	704.90	1052.85	1420.47	1144.50	1201.25
11	loans outstanding	31	36	44	63	43	38
12	Societies having full-						
	time secretaries	1819	2305	2706	2709	2744	3305
13	Societies in profit		5 4 3 4	5420	21.52	4076	4515
	(i) Number	5947	5420	5439	3153	4076 63.14	4515
1.4	(ii) Amount	45.73	55.14	61.92	58.09	03.14	01.00
14	Societies in loss (i) Number	2161	1466	1448	789	732	989
	(ii) Amount	11.77	11.95	12.03	12.66	15.05	19.43
15	Average per society						
	(i) Membership	122	153	163	167	176	194
	(ii) Loans advanced	15019	17227	20920	12607	20838	32939
	(iii) Share capital	5209	7466	8902	9717	10812	13141 2593
	(iv) Deposits	1215 25732	1511 36334	1669 48687	1856 49848	58291	69301
16	(v) Working Capital Average per member	23132	50554	40007	47040	204/1	0/001
10	(i) Loan	123	112	128	76	118	170
	(ii) Loan advanced						
	per borrowing		•	<b>a</b> c <b>-</b>		207	252
	member	284	257	295	227	297	353
	(iii) Loans Out-	151	171	186	179	198	219
	standing	151 10	10	100	119	13	13
	(iv) Deposits (v) Share Capital	43	48	55	58	62	68
17	% of families covered	38	40	35	34	35	41
18	% of families covered % of villages covered	90	92	93	94	94	95

Trends in the Growth of Owned Funds, Deposits, Lendings, Overdues, etc, of Primary Agricultural Credit Societies during the Period 1968-9 to 1973-4

District		Total No. of	Of col. 2, dormant	% of col. (	3)	Membe	rship
			Societies	to col (2)		Borrow- ing	% of col.(6) to col.(5)
(1)	<u> </u>	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Normal	Zone						
(a) NI	A						
1	Ajmer	284	22	8	69537	29078	41
2	Alwar	454	28	6	100370	78160	78
3	Bharatpur	558	69	12	143892	86912	61
4	Bhilwara	272	56	21	63381	32639	- 51
5	Bundi	139	28	20	31312	20679	65
6	Ganganagar	415	101	24	78018	37826	49
7	Jaipur	628	161	26	111282	4086 <b>9</b>	37
8	Jhalawar	217	20	9	45167	28845	64
9	Kota	329	15	6	82710	64993	78
10	Pali	330	123	37	61156	17539	28
11	Sawai Madhopu	r 427	148	35	91228	38354	42
12	Tonk	214	28	13	42718	30394	71
	Sub-total	4267	799	19	920771	506268	55
b) TA 13	Banswara	209	85	41	40968	18646	46
14	Chittorgarh	311	93	30	60447	31984	53
15	Dungarpu <b>r</b>	180	48	27	36677	19548	54
16	Sirohi	135	59	44	15712	5052	31
17	Udaipur	549	151	28	91480	38399	42
	Sub-total	1384	436	170	245284	113629	46
Arid Zor 18	ne Barmer	250	38	15	51813	18811	37
19	Bikaner	125	65	52	22920	5330	22
20	Churu	209	111	53	· 38132	12834	34
21	Jaisalmer	102	95	93	4620	12834	3
	Sub-total	686	309	95 45	117485	37095	32
emi-ari	t Zone						
22	Jalore	219	117	53	28595	9019	31
23	Jhunjhunu	248	144	58	32612	12114	36
24	Jodhpur	263	84	32	51111	13134	25
25	Nagaur	377	249	66	58114	5319	9
26	Sikar	297	98	33	46227	25404	54
	Sub-total	1404	692	49	216659	64990	30
	Total	7741	2236	29 1	500199	721982	48

Position of the Primary Agricultural Credit Societies as on 30.6.1974

Rupees Lakhs

	Vill	ages	Shar	e capital			Loa	ans
	In the District	Served	Total	Total Of which Govt.			No. of Societies advanc- ing	Amount advanc- ed
	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)
1	950	950	62.81	13.10	15.06	331.42	203	117,02
2	1853	1851	79.56	16.53	16.41	470.95	295	223.29
3	1838	1806	126.57	17.46	34.37	753.02	351	272.80
4	1500	1500	36.36	13.61	5.80	213.25	5 186	108.80
5	718	718	44.60	7.07	5.22	171.64	109	110.38
6	1538	1538	64.86	18.42	5.72	319.44	237	195.51
7	2694	2664	56.38	11.89	12.10	310.21	252	151.95
8	1423	1423	41.78	11.17	10.34	237.16	197	140.37
9	1860	1792	121.76	16.46	30.77	550.39	295	355.08
0	826	826	37.18	9.38	5.18	201.66	165	89.79
11 1	1523	1511	36.05	7.97	5.52	202.42	206	87.64
2	1002	1002	26.79	7.21	4.71	153.56	135	85.54
	17725	17581	734.70	150.26	151.20	3915.12	2631	1938.17
3	1426	1180	16.19	0.80	3.09	98.90	124	39.89
4	2102	1880	38.43	13.09	10.64	199.67		73.82
5	816	816	13.57		2.76	86.83		56.88
6	417	408	9.68		1.19	53.17		15.26
7	3083	2917	49.96		9.22	266.78		94.29
	7844	7201	127.43	35.46	26.90	705.35	826	280.14
8	822	728	20.72	4.96	3.27	107.26	129	57.00
9	525	502	9.64	2.38	2.52	47.62	47	17.70
20	843	838	14.77	2.91	1.31	75.47	81	42.87
21	485	228	1.26	—	1.37	7.49	2	0.60
	2675	2296	46.39	10.25	8.47	237.84	259	118.17
22	591	575	14.31	2.99	3.10	67.34	87	32.56
23	693	557	12.95	3.56	2.11	55.79		29.31
24	716	716	34.41	6.30	3.28	173.19		57.05
25	1199	1049	25.46	2.08	2.56	112.73	53	16.31
26	798	766	21.04	4.69	3.08	117.92	133	77.66
	3997	3663	108.17	19.62	14.13	526.97	246	212.89
	32241	30741 ]	016.69	215.59	200.70	5385.28	4166	2549.37

Rupees Lakhs

	Loans	Loans	(11) (12)	ing tary	Pro	ofit	L	oss	ties
	out- standing	Overdue	% of column to (16)	Societies having full-time Secretary	No. of Socie- ties	Amount	No. of Socie- ties	Amount	No. of Societies without profit
	(16)	(17)	(18)	(19)	(20)	(21)	(22)	(23)	(24)
1	212.87	80.47	38	237	225	4.44	36	0.48	22
· 2	304.57	63.90	21	263	369	7.46	57	0.80	28
3	516.11	178.75	35	447	354	9.71	135	2.21	69
4	114.78	39.06	34	164	181	2.92	35	0.69	56
5	86.19	35.13	42	97	107	3.48	4	0.40	28
6	203.51	69.85	34	175	269	4.23	45	0.33	101
7	172.53	58.59	34	203	326	4.91	141	1.27	161
8	158.58	52,52	33	178	107	1.49	90	1.06	20
9	367.04	120.62	33	304	274	8.52	40	0.72	15
10	104.76	93.30	89	93	, 191	3.77	16	0.82	123
11	103.68	47.76	46	158	· 239	3.69	40	1.38	148
12	98.25	26.83	27	157	138	1.77	48	0.58	28
	2442.87	795.78	33	2476	2780	45.08	687	10.74	799
13	52.92	27.90	53	36	103	1.75	21	0.68	85
14	111.19	50.53	45	108	204	4.01	14	0.61	93
15	49.84	19.76	40	76	118	2.19	14	0.34	48
16	29.04	24.08	83	19	. 68	1.13	8	0.38	59
17	148.78	67.51	45	219	326	3.83	72	1.80	151
	391.77	189.78	49	458	819	12.91	129	3.81	436
18	63.42	25.67	40	56	192	1.30	20	0.38	38
19	28.26	12.54	44	13	35	0.50	25	0.40	65
20	47.44	20.33	43	20	77	0.83	21	0.13	111
21	2.94	2.94	100	5	4	0.05	3	0.03	95
	142.06	61.48	44	94	308	2.94	69	0.96	309
22	37.74	21.13	56	41	80	1.12	22	0.45	117
23	32.28	20.15	62		91	0.63	13	0.57	144
24	99.70	39.09	39	125	145	3.68	34	1.58	84
25	60.70	44.12	73	50	118	3.04	10	0.88	249
26	75.08	18.72	25	6	174	1.41	25	0.46	98
	403.02	183.04	45	222	610	9.92	104	3.94	692
	3282.20	0(1 07	38	3250	4515	81.86	989	19.43	2236

Zone-wise Position of Cultivating Families covered, indebted and defaulting Membership, Cultivated Holdings, etc. as on 30.6.1973

Zone	No. of	No. of	Populatio			Memb	ership as o	n 30.6.197	3
	Societies visited	Villages served	of Villages served (1971 census)	Families in the Villages	Agricul- tural	Non-agri- cultural	Total ,	Indebted	Defaulting
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Normal zone (a) NTA (b) TA Arid Zone Semi-Arid Zone	48 20 16 20	354 100 34 50	245939 62281 60199 93426	40909 11736 8034 15009	15680 5107 2433 4748	380 157 378 142	16060 5264 2811 4890	10849 3996 1433 2633	3387 1620 592 772
Total	104	538	461845	75688	27968	1057	29825	18911	6371
Zone	No. of Mem-	Cultivat	Cultivable Land in the Villages (acres		s (acres) Land cultivated by Members (acres)			acres)	
	bers who borrowed during 1972-3	Total	Irrigat	ed I	Unirrigated	Total	Irri	gated	Unirrigated
(1)	(11)	(12)	(13	)	(14)	(15)	(1	6)	(17)
Normal Zone (a) NTA (b) TA Arid Zone Semi Arid Zone	8021 2685 568 1542	363237 60954 176798 206420	12769 211 1528 311	19 31	235543 39835 161517 175233	162197 29795 83496 81678	10 100	095 101 028 039	97202 19694 73458 67639
Total	12816	807409	1952	31	612128	357166	99]	163	258003

	Society vis	ited		No. of Rural Families in the Area of the Society				
Zone	District		Name	S.T./S.C.	others	Total		
(la)	(1b)		(1c)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)		
Normal								
a) NTA	Ajmer	1	Laxminath Kast- karan VKRSS	183	1157	1340		
	Alwar	2	Kotkasim Pratha- mik VKRSS	398	1570	196		
	Bharatpur	3	Nadbai VBSS	954	2111	306		
	Bhilwara	4	Rased GSS	134	319	45:		
	Bundi	5	Pholai GSS	217	403	620		
	Ganganag	ar 6	Chailanwali GSS	322	524	84		
	Jaipur	7	Jaitpura GSS	40	355	39:		
	-do-	8	Kalwar VKRSS	388	1612	2000		
	Kota	9	Nayagaon GSS	213	442	65		
	-do-	10	Dhakarkheri GSS	138	265	403		
	-do-	11	Undwa GSS	256	427	683		
	Pali	12	Koshelao VBSS	173	733	906		
	-do-	13	Nadol GSS	217	892	1109		
b) TA	Sirohi	14	Bhooteshwar GSS	153	200	353		
	-do-	15	Moras GSS	375	40	41		
rid	Churu	16	Chandgothi GSS	46	371	417		
emi-arid	Jalore	17	Jagnath GSS	197	800	997		
	Jodhpur	18	Dhawa GSS	90	916	100		
	-do-	19	Bhopalgarh VBSS	445	1585	2030		

Growth of Membership and Borrowing Membership, Classification of Membership and Borrowing Membership into Scheduled Tribes/Castes and others and Coverage, etc., of the Nineteen Societies covered by the Study relating to Coverage

			lembe on 3	rship ) June	a	Merr s on 36	ibershi ) June	Borrowing Membership in			
	1970	1971	1972	1973	S.T./ S.C.	Oth- ers	To- tal	1969 -70	1970 -71	1971-2	1972-3
-	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	(3d)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5a)	(5b)	(5c)	(5d)
1	498	494	485	479	14	481	495	296	312	294	287
2	778	764	767	832	156	811	967	422	274	365	444
3	574	442	502	504	157	424	581	214	385	390	180
4	260	256	268	281	96	209	305	205	172	113	79
5	207	207	212	221	76	206	282	141	159	160	170
6	76	76	79	193	61	175	236	15	76	77	120
7	299	304	305	336	39	342	381	291	296	297	329
8	472	476	476	478	126	413	539	307	232	267	289
.9	321	344	355	405	139	326	465	239	291	306	354
10	184	219	230	251	85	213	298	109	146	151	160
11	298	296	271	267	87	195	282	169	156	163	163
12	434	454	456	456	93	374	467	260	275	242	18
13	233	238	238	253	95	208	303	79	139	117	113
14	63	67	67	74	28	81	109	_	22	17	11
15	52	52	52	53	53	1	54	51	47	41	4
16	99	99	99	105	16	5 147	163	-			
17	204	218	227	242	50	222	272	98	111	122	120
18	332	348	360	375	55	5 325	380	310	326	337	35
19	512	549	548	551	41	566	607	376	365	405	37:

		Borrowi rship in		<u> </u>			tage of		
		Others	Total	to .	to	to	to	col.6b to col.4b	to
	(6a)	(6b)	(6c)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)
1	6	247	253	-8	42	37	43	51	51
2	53	373	426	40	52	49	34	46	44
3	109	288	397	16	20	19	69	68	68
4	55	112	167	72	66	67	57	54	55
5	57	147	204	35	51	45	75	71	72
6	27	90	117	19	30	28	44	51	50
7	39	339	378	98	96	96	100	99	99
8	119	379	498	32	26	27	94	92	92
9	124	272	396	. 65	74	71	89	83	85
10	56	162	218	62	80	74	55	76	73
11	61	97	158	34	46	51	70	50	56
12	70	194	264	54	51	52	75	52	57
13	80	97	177	44	23	27	84	47	58
14	11	33	44	18	41	31	39	41	40
15	43	1	44	14	3	13	81	100	82
16	15	39	54	35	40	39	94	27	33
17	45	113	158	25	28	27	90	51 -	58
18	54	302	356	61	35	38	98	93	94
19	39	383	422	9	36	30	95	68	70

## Classification of Rural Families, Membership and Borrowing Membership as on 30 June 1974 according to the Size of Holdings in respect of the Societies covered by the Study relating to Coverage

	Society	VISI	ied		Below	w 5 acres			5	- 10 acres	5	10 acres and above			
Zone	District		Name			f No. of Borrow- ing Members	to		Mem- bers	f No. of Borrow- ing Members	col.3b to			No. of Borrow- ing Members	col.4t
(1a)	(1b)		(1c)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(2d)	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	(3d)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(4d)
Normal															
a) NTA	Ajmer	1	Laxminath Kastkaran VKRSS	406	118	37	29	134	110	77	82	142	118	112	83
	Alwar	2		376	215	131	57	219	155	106	71	300	210	147	70
	Bharatpur	3	Nadbai VBSS	1862	267	214	14	557	211	209	38	388	46	41	12
	Bhilwara	4	Rased GSS	259	183	88	71	116	74	49	64	78	48	30	62
	Bundi	Ş	Pholai GSS		12	1		.:	74	51			170	141	_
	Ganganagar	6	Chailanwali GS Jaitpura GSS	S — 58	55	54	95	91 162	11 155	5 154	12 96	771 168	225 166	112	29 99
	Jaipur -do-	8	Kalwar VKRSS	830	55 42	41	93 5	491	135	104	26	557	248	231	45
	Kota	ŝ	Nayagaon GSS	108	42 65	52	60	151	139	122	<sup>20</sup> 92	242	233	222	43 96

(1a)	(1b)		(1c)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(2d)	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	(3d)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(4d)
	Kota	10	Dhakarkheri GSS	99	69	49	70	117	113	97	97	48	48	44	100
	-do-	11	Undwa GSS	257	101	50	39	159	115	66	72	132	92	66	70
	Pali	12	Koshelao BVSS		58	25	—	••	95	42		••	186	168	
	-do-	13	Nadol GSS	••	5	5	_	••	116	81	-	••	182	91	
(b) TA	Sirohi	14	Bhooteshwar GSS	212	53	25	25	56	20	5	36	25	14	14	56
	-do-	15	Moras GSS	321	33	r 25	10	47	10	8	21	12	11	11	92
Arid	Churu .	16	Chandgothi GSS	13	1	1	8	88	66	51	75	305	177	111	58
Semi-arid	Jalore	17	Jaganath GSS	153	10	7	7	172	24	13	14	261	123	104	47
	Jodhpur	18	Dhawa GSS	13	4	4	31	<b>`66</b>	32	32	48	906	335	317	37
	-do-	19	Bhopalgarh VBSS	576	316	234	55	279	189	115	68	143	100	71	70
								2				· .			

N.B. : Agricultural labourers, tenants, artisans, etc., who have, by and large, not been covered by societies have been excluded for the purposes of this statement

Credit and Non-Credit Business handled by the Societies covered by the Study relating to Coverage

Rupees	Lakhs
reapeed	

	Society visited '				Total lo	ans issue	d durin	g	Loans out-	Turnover of Non-credit Business in			Remarks
Zone	District		Name	1969- 70	1970- 71	1971-2	1972-3	3 1973-4	standing as on 30.6.74		1972-3	1973-4	
(1a)	(1b)		(1c)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(2d)	(2e)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)
Normal													
(a) NTA	Ajmer	1	Laxminath Kastkaran VKR	1.73	1.70	1.43	1.80	1.24	2.61	0.27	1.31	1.87 *Socie	ty owns whe
	Alwar	2	Kotkasim Prathmik VKRS	1.87	1.45	1.77	2.88	4.04	4.58	0.46	1.08	1.58 mill, 1	er, a floi tractor and
	Bharatpur	3	Nadbai VBSS	1.02	1.06	0.51	0.21	2.43	1.75	0.64	0.90	0.78 truck	
	Bhilwara	4	Rased GSS	0.90	0.81	0.24	0.30	1.01	1.13	0.08		1.00 @Soc	iety owns
	Bundi	5	Pholai GSS	0.57	0.34	0.56	0.62	0.25	0.44	Nil		0 17 wheat	thresher ar
	Ganganagar	6	Chailenwali GSS	Nil	0.31	0.60	1.88	1.63	1.38	Nil	Nil	Nil a flo	ur mill.
	Jaipur	7	Jaitpura GSS*	0.82	1.20	0.91	0.69	2.42	2.24	0.49	0.61	0.83	
	do	8	Kalwar VKRSS	Nil	Nil	0.20	0.25	1.32	1.29	0.09	0.42	0.30	
	Kota	9	Nayagaon GSS@	2.01	4.02	4.49		7.55	2.87	2.24			
	đo	10	Dhakarkheri GSS	0.94	1.59	1.19	1.47	1.74	0.42	0.79	0.76	1.30	

(1a)	(1b)		(1c)	(2a)	<b>(</b> 2b)	(2c)	(2d)	(2e)	(3)	(4a)	<b>(4</b> b)	(4c)	
	Kota	11	Undwa GSS	0.43	0.40	0.48	0.23	0.83	0.94	Nil	Nil	Nil	
	Pali	12	Koshelao VBSS	Nil	0.83	Nil	0.18	2.06	1.10	1.09	1.16	3.52	
	đo	13	Nadol GSS (F	<b>(s 300</b>	0.17	Nil	Nil	1.77	0.97	0.28	1.48	1.31	
(b) TA	Sirohi	14	Bhooteshwar GSS	Nil	0.09	Nil	0.02	0.43	0.18	Nil	0.03	0.21	
	do	15	Moras GSS	0.01	0.03	Nil	0.11	0.02	0.12	Nil	Nil	Nil	
Arid	Churu	16	Chandgothi GSS	Nil	Nil	Nil	Nil	0.50	••	Nil	0.03	0.07	
Semi-arid	Jalore	17	Jagnath GSS	0.42	0.46	0.10	0.05	0.99	0.41	0.08	Nil	0.51	
	Jodhpur	18	Dhawa GSS	0.73	1.28	0.87	1.44	1.38	1.44	Nil	0.55	0.49	
	do	19	Bhopalgarh VBSS	Nil	1.38	0.20	1.47	0.88	1.99	0.29	2.34	2.58	

ANNEXURE 35

Membership, Indebted Membership, Defaulting Members, Credit Business, Overdues, etc., for the Years 1968-9 to 1972-3

-			Total Mo	embership				Inde	bted Memb	ership	
Zone	1968-9	1969-7	0 1970	-71 1971	-2 1972	-3 196	8-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3
(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c	) (2đ	) (2e)	(3a	n)	(3b)	(3c)	(3d)	(3e)
Normal											
(a) NTA	13593	14893	1501	4 1530	5 16060	787	76	9292	9163	9238	10849
(b) TA	3629	4380						2889	3058	2590	3996
Arid	2067	2336	247	7 2619	2811	87	2	1200	1130	1315	1433
Semi-arid	3385	3939				177		2456	2880	2360	2633
Total	22674	25548	2648	5 27377	29025	1255	7	15837	16231	15503	18911
······································	<u></u>								Rupees T	housands	
Zone			Defa	ulting Mem	bers			Loai	ns issued du	iring the Y	(ear
Zone		1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	-	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3 (U)	1973-4 pto 31.3.74)
(1)		(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(4d)	(4e)		(5a) .	(5b)	(5c)	(5d)
Normal											
(a) NTA		2635	3230	3293	4298	3387		4667	3514	6331	3520
(b) TA		1173	1355	1282	1614	1620		547	442	962	578
Arid		422	696	485	558	592		094	120	139	497
Semi-arid		607	687	774	1028	772		998	567	1350	96
Total		4837	5968	5834	7498	6371		6306	4643	8782	5561

.

<b>**</b>		Outstanding	s as on			Overdues	s as on 30	.6.73	
Zone	30.6.71	30.6.72	30.6.73	31.3.74	Total	Less than 1 year	1 to 3 years	3 to 5 years	Over 5 years
(1)	(6a)	(6b)	(6c)	(6d)	(7a)	(7b)	(7c)	(7d)	(7e)
Normal									
(a) NTA	4478	5515	5886	8222	1411	358	622	203	228
(b) TA	1021	713	1083	1354	338	107	118	71	42
Arid	. 289	347	400	379	145	16	76	14	39
Semi-arid	1359	1022	1244	1640	277	14	171	54	38
Total	7147	7597	8613	11595	2171	/ 495	987	342	347

Zo	one	District 1	Name of society	Remarks
(	1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
1	Non-tribal area	Alwar	Kotkasim Prathmik VKRSS, Kotkasim	In June/July 1973, fresh ad- vances aggregating Rs 3312 were made to 7 members and previous dues amounting to Rs 2046 were shown to have been recovered from them on the same date of fresh ad- vance. In six other cases, a time lag of only one day had been maintained between re- covery of old dues and issue of fresh finance.
2	Non-tribal area	Bundi	Jamitpura GSS, Jamitpura	The total cultivated area of members was 1949 acres in 1972-3 whereas as per the credit limit statement the acreage cultivated by members aggregated to 2124 acres suggesting that some members had obtained finance by showing 'ghost' acreage.
3	Non-tribal area	Ganganagar	r Kisan VBSS, Ganguwala	On 3.8.72 (6 cases) and again on 24.6.73 (3 cases), old dues amounting to Rs 11861 in aggregate were shown to have been recovered and on the same day fresh advances aggregating Rs 13922 were made to the concerned mem- bers.
				In August 1972 and June 1973, fresh advances amounting to Rs 6819 were made to 8 members although they were in default to the society to the extent of Rs 8160.
4	• Non-tribal area	Ganganaga	r Lathanwali GSS, Lathanwali	In 5 cases the land holding of members as shown in the credit limit statement for 1972-3 was in excess of their actual land holdings as revea- led by the land record register maintained in the society. The excess ranged between 2 and 15 bighas.
				Previous dues amounting to <b>Rs 443 were</b> shown to have been recovered on 11.1.74 from Shri Gantoo Ram S/c

Instances of financing of Defaulters, Recoveries by way of Book Adjustments and 'ghost' acreages noticed during the course of on-the-spot studies

5

6

Non-tribal

Non-tribal

area

area

Jhalawar

Pali

Kundla

Kundla

Koselao VBSS,

GSS.

Asa Ram and on the same day he was given fresh finance of Rs 800. In four other cases a time lag of only one day was maintained between recovery of old dues and issue of fresh finance.

On 22.6.73, recovery of old dues aggregating to Rs 934 was shown to have been made from 5 members and on the same day fresh advances amounting to Rs 2408 were made to them.

On 28.6.73, the society made a repayment of Rs 24495 to the central bank. The repay-Koseláo ment was partly out of recoveries and partly out of deposits of Rs 13500 accepted on the same day from some members. On 29.6.73, i.e., the next day the society borrowed a short term loan of Rs 34426 from the central bank and utilised a part of it to refund the deposits accepted on previous day. As submission of dis-bursement statement for the full amount of Rs 34426 to the central bank was necessary the society had shown a disbursement of Rs 15180 to 25 members on 12.7.73 and receipt of deposits of Rs 12568 from them on the same day. The deposits accep-ted on 12.7.73 were shown to have been refunded on 20 and 21.7.73 from out of recoveries of Rs 12795 from 35 members who were defaulters. In actual fact neither the recoveries were made nor the deposits refunded. Later, i.e., on 31.7.73 the society made drawal of fresh finance of Rs 15000 from the central bank in respect of the above 35 members who were shown

in the demand statement as non-defaulters but were actually defaulters. Bulk of this drawal was utilised to make actual repayment of deposits accepted on 12.7.73.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
. 7	Non- area	Sawai Madhopur	Kherra LSS, Kherra	Shri Durgasingh S/o Ganda- ghar was advanced a fresh loan of Rs 750 on 30.7.73 although he was in default to the society to the extent of Rs 660. The default was clea- red by him on 21.11.73. In the case of one other member (Prabhu S/o Sukh Pal) the previous default of Rs 34 was recovered from out of fresh finance of Rs 160 given to him on 27.7.73.
- <b>8</b>	Non-tribal area	Sa wai Madhopur	Khilchipur LSS Khilchipur	In the case of 10 members, land holdings as shown in the credit limit statement for 1972-3 were in excess of the holding of the respective mem- bers as per land record regis- ter maintained by the society. The excess ranged between 3 and 11 bighas.
9	Tribal area	Banswara	Chokhla GSS, Chokhla	In 1972-3, the society made drawal of short-term loan of Rs 61625 from the central bank in respect of certain members who were actually disbursed Rs 32400. The balance amount was shown to have been recovered from them and utilised for repay- ment of previous dues of the society to the central bank.
10	Tribal area	Banswara	Bari Padal GSS, Bari Padal	As on 30.6.73,6 defaulters were given fresh finance of Rs 1550 and their previous overdues of Rs 1280 were shown to have been recovered on the same day. In the drawal application dated 28.6.73 to the central bank, the above 6 members were shown as non-defaulters.
11	Tribal area	Sirohi	Anadara GSS, Anadara	At least in the case of 15 mem- bers the holding as shown in the credit limit statement exceeded the holding of the respective members as per the society's land record register. The excess was upto the extent of 15 acres.
12	Tribal area	Udaipur	Changedi GSS, Changedi	On 20 July 1971, 4 members were advanced fresh loans aggregating Rs 1100 and on the same day recovery of previous dues of Rs 1026 was shown to have been made from them.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
13	Tribal area	Udaipur	Dhaneria VKRSS, Dhaneria	On 29/30.6.73, 6 members were advanced fresh loans aggregating Rs 1325 and on the same day previous dues of Rs 1261 were shown to have been recovered from them.
				In August 1972 and June 1973, five members were given fresh loans aggregating Rs 2396 although they were in default to the society to the extent of Rs 1688.
14	Arid Zone	Barmer	Meli GSS, Meli	In a few cases, recoveries were through book adjustments inasmuch as previous dues had been recovered from out of fresh loans.
15	Arid Zone	Barmer	Siwana GSS, Siwana	-do-
16	Arid Zone	Churu	Chandgothi GSS, Chandgothi	In September 1973 (2 cases) and November 1973 (3 cases), fresh advances of Rs 2400 had been made to 5 members although they were in defaults to the society to the extent of Rs 907.
				On 22.11.73, instalments of medium-term loans of 5 mem- bers aggregating Rs 1378 were recovered from out of fresh finance of Rs 2320 disbursed to them on the same day.
17	Semi-arid Zone	Jhunjhunu	Posana GSS, Posana	In the case of some members, the area under cultivation as per credit limit statement differed from the one shown in the land record register maintained by the society.
18	Semi-arid Zone	Sikar	Palsana GSS Palsana	The area of the society covered only one village, i.e., Palsana. The coverage of cultivating families was 51 per cent. As per revenue records, the total cultivable land in the village was 8278 acres. However, in 1972-3 the society had sanc- tioned credit limits for culti- vation of 9339 acres. The Sarpanch of the village ad- mitted that acreage shown in the credit limit statement in the case of majority of the members was higher than actually owned and cultivated by them.

Nor (a)	(1)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	served -					-
				1968 <b></b> 9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3
			(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
(a)	rmal	l Zone						
	NI	A .						
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	Ajmer Alwar Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Pali S. Madhopur	14 40 35 27 22 25 56 19 17 27 29	$ \begin{array}{c} 11 \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ -$	$ \begin{array}{c} 1\\ -\\ 10\\ -\\ -\\ 21\\ -\\ 2 \end{array} $	   19	40 26 13 	$ \begin{array}{c}     14 \\    $
	12	Tonk Sub-total	43 354	53	2 34	 19	103	29 114
(b)	TA 13 14 15 16 17	Banswara Chittorgarh Dungarpur Udaipur Sirohi Sub-total	19 23 29 15 14 100	6 12 15 3 13 49	4 13 10 7 34	6		6 12 25 13 14 70
	18 19 20 21	ne Barmer Bikaner Churu Jaisalmer Sub-total	10 10 8 6 34	10 7 8 6 81	10 4 8 5 27	5 2 1 8	8 8 5 21	3 7 4 5 19
Semi	i-ari	d Zone						
	22 23 24 25 26	Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar Sub-total	5 11 15 9 10 50	5 15 9 4 33	4 1 6 4 	$\frac{2}{5}$	$\frac{2}{14}$ $\frac{1}{17}$	3 5 14 4 5 31

Incidence of Natural Calamity, Conversions Granted, etc., in the areas of societies covered by on-the-spot studies

Rupees Thousands

			Amou	int due	for Co	onversio	on			
	190	6 <b>8-9</b>	190	59-70	197	70–71	197	71–2	197	/23
	No. of Mem- ber	Amo- unt	No. of Mem- ber	Amo- unt	No. of Mem- ber	unt	No. of Mem- ber	Amo- unt	No. of Mem- ber	Amo- unt
<u> </u>	(8a)	(8b)	(9a)	(9b)	(10a)	(10b)	(11a)	(11b)	(12a)	(12b)
1 2 3	200	91 	96	38	_	Ξ	493 313	183 166	482 751	375 314
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9		_	148	57					218 236	50 118
7 8 9 10	61 320	29 59	423	 135					94 20 48	20 8 28
11 12		_	174 28	65 11	_	_	209	65	416	207
	581	179	869	306			1015	414	2260	1120
13 14 15 16 17	84 	$\frac{19}{10}$ $\frac{10}{8}$ $21$	  140 217				122	 	258 71 282 190	61 12 51 49
	389	58	357	42			122	17	801	. 173
18 19 20 21	285	71	76 42	14 5			134 126	25 24	134	60 11
	285	71	118	19			260	49	205	71
22 23 24 25 26	102 465 8 131	42 351 1 17	85 25 97	68 8 67 —			16  24	4	113 164 1150 130	53 43 517 71
	706	411	207	143		_	40	7	1557	614

# ANNEXURE 37 (Contd.)

	Medi	Medium-term Conversion Loans sanctioned by Central Bank												
	19	68-9	190	59 <b>-70</b>	197	70-71	19	71-2	19	972-3				
	No. of Mem- bers	Amo- unt	No. of Mem- bers	Amo- unt	No. of Mem- bers	Amo- unt	No. of Mem- bers	Amo- unt	- No. of Mem- bers	Amo- unt				
	(13a)	(13b)	(14a)	(14b)	(15a)	(15b)	(16a)	(161	o) (17a	) (17b)				
1	200	91	96	38	—		<b></b> '	—	481 、					
2			_	_		—	493	183	682	228				
3			—		—	—	283	123						
4		—			—		-	-	163	37				
5	—		70	37		_	-		336	118				
6				—		_		<u> </u>		_				
7	—			<u> </u>	—	-		—	—					
8	61	29	<u> </u>					—	-					
9	-					-	—	—	43	28				
10	320	58	423	139	—		-	_		_				
11	—		169	63		-		—	—					
12		—	28	11	—	-	209	65	447	207				
	581	178	786	288			985	371	2152	988				
13	84	19	_	_		_	_		258	33				
14						_		_	71	12				
15	52	10				—	_	_	247	42				
16	66	7	140	41		_	122	16	190	49				
17	184	21	217	1				_						
	386	57	357	42		_	122	16	766	136				
18	285	71				_	134	25		_				
19		_	76	14			_		113	60				
20			42	5		_	126	24	70	4				
21							_							
	285	71	118	19	_		260	49	183	64				
22	102	42	85	6 <b>3</b>	_		16	4	113	53				
23			23	3			_		156	42				
24	465	341	97	67					1150	517				
25					_			_		76				
26	131	17			_	_			130	71				
20	698	400	205	133		—	16	4	1549	759				
	070	100	200					-						

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	No. of Mem- bers (18a) 200 — — — — — — — — — — — —	58-9 Amo- unt (18b) 89 — — — —	196 No. of Mem- bers (19a) 96 —	59-70 Amo- unt (19b) 38	No. of Mem- bers	70-71 Amo- unt (20b)	No. of Mem- bers	Amo- unt	<ul> <li>197</li> <li>No.</li> <li>of</li> <li>Mem-</li> <li>bers</li> </ul>	Amo- unt
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	of Mem- bers (18a) 200 — — — — — — — — — — —	unt (18b)	of Mem- bers (19a)	unt (19b)	of Mem- bers	unt	of Mem- bers		of Mem-	
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	200	• •			(20a)	(20b)				
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11		89  	96 —	38		()	(2İa)	(21b)	(22a)	(22b
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11									443	334
4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11		_			_		493	172	502	178
5 6 7 8 9 10 11				_		—	63	49		
6 7 8 9 10 11									163	37
7 8 9 10 11			70	37	—		—		<b>19</b> 6	101
8 9 10 11						_			<u> </u>	
9 10 11	~ · · `						—			
10 11	61	<b>29</b>	—		-					
11	—		_	—					43	28
	320	58	423	139	·					
12		_	169	63			—		—	
12			28	4	·		209	22	447	207
	581	176	786	281	—		765	243	1794	885
- 13									258	33
14									71	12
15	52	10	_	<u> </u>					247	42
16	39	4	140	41	_	_	122	16	90	18
17	184	21	217	1						
	275	35	357	42			122	16	666	105
- 18	234	64					134	25		
19	234		76	14					113	60
20	_		42	5		-	126	24	70	4
21				_						
	234	64	118	19			260	49	183	64
-	·····								112	53
22	102	42	85	63			16	4	11 <b>3</b> 62	55 6
23			23	3						426
	465	325	97	28					1017	420 76
<b>2</b> 5		_								66
26	131	17							125	00

-	District	Medium -term	Conversion Loans outstanding as							
1	<b>JISTICI</b>	30.6.71	30.6.72	30.6.73	30.3.74					
		(23a)	(23b)	(23c)	(23d)					
Norn	nal Zone									
(a) ]	NTA									
1	Ajmer	80	39	341	318					
2	Alwar	_		64	47					
3	Bharatpur		-	· 49	38					
4	Bhilwara	14	9	45	32					
5	Bundi	33	20	76	69					
6	Ganganagar	_	_							
7	Jaipur	—	—							
8	Jhalawar	_	—		_					
9	Kota	-		28	27					
10		254	188	152	98					
11	Sawai Madhopur									
12	Tonk	8	6	249	237					
	Sub-total	389	262	1004	866					
(Ъ)	ТА			······································						
13	Banswara			33	33					
14	Chittorgarh	_	-	12	12					
15	Dungarpur	1	1	41	163					
16	Udaipur	31	25	56	47					
17	Sirohi	8	7	1	1					
	Sub-total	40	33	143	256					
Arid	Zone									
18	Barmer	60	83	20	8					
19	Bikaner		_	68	14					
20	Churu	5	28	19	_					
21	Jaisalmer	_	—	—						
	Sub-total	65	111	107	22					
Semi-	arid Zone	**************************************			<u>.</u>					
22	Jalore	71	51	48	36					
23	Jhunjhunu	4	3	40	32					
24	Jodhpur	142	52	433	325					
25	Nagaur	—	_	76	40					
26	Sikar	6		. 66	63					
	Sub-total	223	106	663	496					

ANNEXURE 37 (Contd.)

Distribution of Members/indebted Members, etc., according to Size of holdings - 1972-3

Rupees Thousands

-	A	Culti- vated -	Borro		Inde		Defaulter members									
Size of Holdings	Agri- cultu-		Members		Members			f Loans	Loans overdue (period-wise)							
(acres)	rist Members	Area (acres)	No. of Mem- bers	Loans borr- owed		Loans outstand- ing		out- stand- ing	Total	Less than 1 year	years	2-3 years		5 years and above		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(5a)	(5b)	(6a)	(6b)	(6c)	(6d)	(6e)	(6f)	(6g)	(6h)		
Jormal Zone																
a) NTA																
Below 3 acres	1289	2182	532	209	959	274	433	89	89	16	19	15	12	27		
3-5 acres	1982	7032	508	425	1420	521-	506	163	159	36	34	29	25	35		
5-10 acres	4717	34775	2875	1556	3563	1600	937	391	375	98	99	71	53	54		
10 acres and above	6072	114122	3811	3931	4274	3224	1244	770	735	195	146	191	105	98		
Tenants and agricultural labourers	1462	_	195	132	489	192	263	54	52	13	· 10 ·	8	7	14		
Sub-total	15522	158113	7921	6253	10705	5811	3383	1467	1410	358	308	314	202	228		
(b) TA											·			<u> </u>		
Below 3 acres	1244	2349	677	129	1003	164	384	75	57	16 <sup>°</sup>	22	3	. 9	7		
3-5 acres	1397	5720	811	226	1214		501	113	86	25	20	. 13 .	· 20	8		
5-10 acres	1587	10778		426	1258		499	150	113	43	18	15	26	11		
10 acres and above	599	10948	292	171	436	202	196	102	71	20	13	12	13	13		
Tenants and agricultural labourers	280		29	10	85	19	40	11	11	3	1	1	3	3		
Sub-total	5107	29795	2685	962	3996	1083	1620	451	338	107	74	44	71	42		

				ANNEX	(URE 38	(Contd.)	)							
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(5a)	(5b)	(6a)	(6b)	(6c)	(6d)	(6e)	(6f)	(6g)	(6h)
Arid Zone							-							
Below 3 acres	3	7			2	(0.3)	1	(0.2)	(0.2)		—	(0.1)	(0.1)	-
3-5 acres	34	161	1	(0.1)	13	2	9	1	1		1	(0.2)	(0.1)	-
5-10 acres	92	<b>7</b> 69	8	2	42	8	19	4	4	—	(0.1)	1	1	2
10 acres and above	189 <b>9</b>	80861	559	137	1243	365	432	116	116	16	30	36	7	27
Tenants and agricultural labourers	157			_	30	6	28	6	6			2	(0.2)	4
Sub-total	2185	81798	568	139	1 2 3 0	381	489	127	127	16	31	39	8	33
Semi-arid Zone														
Below 3 acres	136	251	38	20	74	16	18	4	3		1			2
3-5 acres	340	1108	88	59	191	56	40	15	12	1	6	2	1	2
5-10 acres	871	6815	294	292	502	210	124	46	38	2	16	5	5	0
10 acres and above	2993	72416	1052	972	1768	946	546	281	214	10	72	60	48	4
Tenants and agricultural labourers	270			_	26	10	26	11	10	1	7	2		
Sub-total	<b>4</b> 61 <b>0</b>	80590	1472	1343	2561	1238	754	357	277	14	102	69	54	38

Note: Data in respect of one society each in Normal, Arid and Semi-arid zones not available

Action for Recovery

				_							-					Ru	pees I	Thous	ands	
Zone	Sui Cas pend	es	Ca file duri	d	Awa obtai duri	ned	per	ases ading s on	pen	ards ding ution	exec	ards uted	per	ards iding ution	sta	ards yed ring			d doui and A	
Zone	as ( 30.6	on	197		197		30. (c	6.73 ols. 34)	a	5.72		72-3	a	s on 6.73	the	year 2-3		ebts	Ass- ets	To- tal
	No. A	Amt.	No.	Amt.	No. A	Amt.	No.	Amt.	No.	Amt.	No.	Amt.	No.	Amt.	No.	Amt.	No	. Amt	•	
(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5a)	(5b)	(6a)	(6b)	(7a)	(7b)	(8a)	(8b)	(9a)	(9b)	(10a)	(10b)	(10c)	(10d)
Normal																				
(a) NTA	214	148	117	68	68	58	263	158	95	9 <b>5</b>	37	31	126	123		<del>_</del> .	160	51	65	116
(b) TA	8	5	18	15	17	14	9	6	8	14	19	23	6	5	2	1	72	11	2	13
Arid	19	7	54	15	55	14	18	8	35	7	58	11	52	10			35	6	-	6
Semi-arid	26	26	_		3	3	23	23	51	32	22	19	32	16	·		25	21	5	26
Total	267	186	189	98	143	89	313	195	189	148	116	84	216	154	2	.1	292	89	72	161

Performance of Primary Agricultural Credit Societies (selected for on-the-spot study) which served by a full-time paid Secretary

Rupees	Lakhs
Rupes	Lakus

									-	cupoos Du	
Zone		Name of the Society	Culti- vating Families in the area	Member- ship as on 30.6.73	of col.4 to col.3	No. of Members who borrowed during 1972-3		Loans issued during 1972-3	Loans out- standing as on 30.6.73	Over- dues as on 30.6.73	% of col.10 to col.9
(1) Normal		(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
(a) NTA	1	Kanechhan Kala GSS Bhilwara District	161 <b>5</b>	458	28 (39)	207	13 (20)	0.61 (1.32)	0.43	0.07	16 (24)
	2	Kisan, VBSS Ganganagar District	706	280	40 (39)	19 <b>5</b>	28 (20)	2.54 (1.32)	1.87	0.45	29 (24)
	3	Lathanwali, GSS Ganganagar District@	650	166	26 (39)	100	15 (20)	1.20 (1.32)	0.87	0.01	1 (24)
(b) TA	4	Lohariya Krishi Bahudhandi SS, Banswara District	725	345	48 (45)	253	35 (23)	0.65 (0.48)	0.42	0.10 ·	24 (31)
	5	Fatehgarh GSS Chittorgarh District	457	143	31 (45)	78	17 (23)	0.29 (0.48)	0.19	0.06	32 (31)
	6	Bhuteswar GSS Sirohi District	325	65	20 (45)	3	1 (23)	0.01 (0.48)	0.09	0.09	100 (31)
	7	Moras GSS Sirohi District	415	53	13 (45)	38	9 (23)	0.06 (0.48)	0.12	0.02	17 (31)

(1)		(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
Arid	8	Thavariya GSS Bikaner District	490	149	31 (35)	Nil	Nil (8)	Nil (0.09)	0.04	0.04	100 (36)
	9	Chandgathi GSS Churu District	750	95	13 (35)	Nil	Nil (8)	Nil (0.09)	0.06	0.06	100 (36)
	10	Chacha Bahubdhandi SS Jaisalmer District	65	29	45 (35)	Nil	Nil (8)	Nil (0.09)	0.08	0.08	100 (36)
Semi-arid	11	Jaganath GSS Jalore District	674	204	30 (33)	10	1 (10)	0.05 (0.68)	0.23	0.23	100 (22)
	12	Posana GSS Jhunjhunu District@	490	86	18 (33)	75	15 (10)	0.27 (0.68)	0.28	0.01	4 (22)
	13	Khinawasar GSS Nagaur District@	650	. 127	20 (33)	Nij	Nil (10)	Nil (0.68)	2.94	2.94	100 (22)
	14	Shri Ganesh GSS Nagaur District@	600	302	50 (33)	Nil	Nil (10)	Nil (0.68)	1.16	1.00	86 (22)
	15	Indawar GSS Nagaur District@	540	93	17 (33)	Nil	Nil (10)	Nil (0.68)	0.19	0.19	100 (22)
	16	Bayad GSS Nagaur District@	425	65	15 (33)	Nil	Nil (10)	Nil (0.68)	0.14	0.14	100 (22)
	17	Bawani GSS Sikar District	<b>2</b> 71	117	43 (33)	13	5 (10)	0.03 (0.68)	0.17	0.02	12 (22)

@ Societies did not handle non-credit business

Note: The figures in brackets indicate the relevant averages in respect of the societies selected for on-the-spot studies from the respective zones/area

	District	No. of Societies in the	No. of Societies with Loans outstanding (in rupees) as on 30.6.73								
	District	District	25,000 or below*	25,000 to 50,000	50,000 to 75,000	75,000 to 1 lakh	1 lakh to 2 lakhs	Above 2 lakhs			
No	ormal Zone										
(a)						•					
1	Ajmer			105							
	Alwar Bharatpur	455 557	164 129	105 90	50 76	63 72	61 134	12 56			
	Bhilwara	551		90 	/0	12	154				
	Bundi	139	45	30	17	17	27	3			
	Ganganagar		217	53		67	47	7			
7		628	538	61	20		9				
	Jhalawar Kota	217 329	73 43	82 53	38 60	19 64	5 93	16			
	Pali	329	163	71	36	20	32	7			
	Sawai	527	105	<i>~</i> <b>1</b>	50	20	54	1			
	Madhopur	429	339	54	22	9	5				
12	Tonk	••	••	••	••	••	••	••			
	Sub-total	3474	1711	59 <b>9</b>	319	331	413	101			
(b)	ТА		<u> </u>								
13	Banswara	208	164	36	7	_	1	_			
14	Chittorgarh	313	141	96	39	27	10	-			
	Dungarpur				•••	··. 2	•;	••			
	Sirohi	134 545	97 272	28 106	6 71	59	1 - 37				
17	Udaipur	545	212	100	/1	59	- 31				
	Sub-total	1200	674	266	123	83	49				
Ar	id Zone										
	Barmer	249	167	72	16	2	2	-			
	Bikaner				• •	••	••	••			
	Churu Jaisalmer	209 102	177 101	32 1	-						
21	Jaisaimer	102	101	1	_		_				
	Sub-total	560	445	95	16	2	2				
Ser	ni-arid Zone	;									
22	Jalore	218	168	32	7	2	9				
	Jhunjhunu	248	236	8	2	2	-				
	Jodhpur	265	161	59	25	13	7	—			
	Nagaur	297	193	49	25	i5	iś	••			
20	Sikar	271	173	47							
	Sub-total	1028	758	148	59	32	31				
	Total	6262	3588	1108	517	453	495	101			

District-wise Position of the Level of Loans outstanding at the Primary Level as on 30 June 1973

\* Includes dormant societies

District	Average size of holdings (hectares)	No. of Holdings required for Society to be viable on the basis of 2000 hectares in Normal Zone and 5000 hectares in Arid and Semi-arid Zones
Normal Zone		
(a) NTA		
<ol> <li>Ajmer</li> <li>Alwar</li> <li>Bharatpur</li> <li>Bhilwara</li> <li>Bundi</li> <li>Ganganagar</li> <li>Jaipur</li> <li>Jhalawar</li> <li>Kota</li> <li>Pali</li> <li>Sawai Madhopur</li> </ol>	2.95 2.41 2.25 2.80 3.67 8.96 3.93 3.51 4.27 5.14 2.80	678 830 889 714 545 223 509 570 468 389 714
12 Tonk Average (NTA)	4.46	448 581
<ul> <li>(b) TA</li> <li>13 Banswara</li> <li>14 Chittorgarh</li> <li>15 Dungarpur</li> <li>16 Sirohi</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> <li>Average (TA)</li> </ul>	2.53 3.27 2.13 3.22 1.37	791 612 939 621 1460 885
Arid Zone		
18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer Average (AZ)	19.71 22.01 14.72 25.14	254 227 340 199 255
Semi-arid Zone 22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur 26 Sikar Average (SAZ)	8.95 4.72 12.82 8.52 4.67	559 1059 390 587 1071 733

#### District-wise Position of Average Size of Holdings and the Average Number of Cultivators which a re-organized Society will cover

District	Total no. of Societies as on 30.6.74	Of col. 2, Dormant Societies	No. of Societies that can be supported on th basis of 2000 hectares of crop- ped area per So- ciety for Norma and Tribal Area and 5000 hectare for Arid and Sen arid Zones	deficit () e of col. 4 over col. 2 1
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Normal Zone	(-)		(.)	
(a) NTA				
1 Ajmer	284	22	184	100
2 Alwar	454	28	331	123
3 Bharatpur	558	69	330	228
4 Bhilwara 5 Bundi	272 139	56 28	178 122	94
6 Ganganagar	415	101	748	17 ()333
7 Jaipur	628	161	436	192
8 Jhalawar	217	20	165	52
9 Kota	329	15	305	24
10 Pali	330	123	293	37
11 Sawai Madho	opu <b>r</b> 427	148	284	143
12 Tonk	214	28	198	16
Sub-total	4267	799	3574	1026 (—)333
(b) TA				
13 Banswara	209	. 85	115	94
14 Chittorgarh	311 180	93 48	209 70	102 110
15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi	135	40 59	91	44
17 Udaipur	549	151	193	356
Sub-total	1384	436	678	706
Arid Zone				
18 Barmer	250	38	303	() 53
19 Bikaner	125	65	122	3
20 Churu	209	111	245	() 36
21 Jaisalmer	102	95	27	75
Sub-total	686	309	697	78 (—) 89
Semi-arid Zone	•			
22 Jalore	219	117	144	75
23 Jhunjhunu	248	144	97	151
24 Jodhpur	263	84	224	39
25 Nagaur	377	249	241	136
26 Sikar	297	98	113	184
Sub-total	1404	692	819	585
Total	7741	2236	5768	2395 ()422

÷

District-wise Position of the total Number of Societies, the Number of Dormant Societies and the Number of Societies which each District could support

District		Name of PLDB	Loans issued during 1973-4	Loans out standing a on 30.6.74 (4)	
(1)		(2)	-(3)		
Normal Zone		•			
(a) NTA					
Ajmer	1 2 3 4	Ajmer Beawar Kekri	7.12 0.18 4.54	14.40 5.20 28.82	
Alwar Bharatpur	4 5 6 7	Alwar	37.38 62.40 41.73	155.19 231.80 78.97	
Bhilwara Bundi	- 8	Bundi	41.13 0.95	87.52 15.78	
Ganganagar	9 10 11 12	Hanumangarh Nohar	7.72 5.00 0.34 6.43	33.95 19.06 9.21 19.66	
Jaipur Jhalawar Kota	13 14 15	Jaipur Jhalawar Kota	30.48 50.03 18.23	260.30 88.09 151.24	
Pali Sawai Madhopu <b>r</b>	18	Pali Sawai Madhopur	15.65 4.74 26.16	71.23 34.37 89.55	
Tonk	19 20	Hindaum Tonk	9.71 12.67	34.46 52.76	
b) TA		• •			
Banswara Chittorgarh	21 22 23	Chittorgarh	8.03 7.00 .13	24.09 26.86 15.53	
Dungarpu <b>r</b> Sirohi Udaipur	24 25	Dungarpur	.14 .95 .52	17.96 13.70 97.54	
Arid Zone		<b>F</b>			
Bikaner	27	Balotra	. 66	21.45	
Churu	28 29		.20	1.53 12.29	
emi-arid Zone					
Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur	30 31 32 33	Jhunjhunu Jodhpur	11.75 2.09 1.20 1.35	61.28 30.01 36.34 15.34	
Nagaur Sikar	34 35	Bilara Nagaur Sikar	0.62 4.09	32.79 41.47	
		Total	477.78	1929.74	

PLDB-wise loans issued during 1973-4 and outstandings as on 30.6.1974 Rupees Lakhs

ormal	Zone		
) NI	ĨA -		
1	Ajme <del>r</del>	-	Bank of Baroda
2	Alwar		Punjab National Bank
3	Bharatpur		-do-
4	Bhilwara	—	Bank of Baroda
5	Bundi		-do-
6	Ganganagar		State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur
7	Jaipur		United Commercial Bank
8	Jhalawar	_	Central Bank of India
9	Kota		-do-
10	Pali		State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur
11	Sawai Madhopur	—	Bank of Baroda
12	Tonk	_	-do-
(b) TA	-		
13	Banswara	_	Bank of Baroda
14	Chittorgarh		-do-
15	<b>D</b> unga <b>r</b> pu <b>r</b>		-do-
16	Sirohi		State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur
17	Udaipur North		-do-
	- South		Bank of Rajasthan
Arid Zo	ne		
18	Barmer		State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur
19	Bikaner	_	-do-
20	Churu		Bank of Baroda
21	Jaisalmer	—	State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur
Semi-ari	d Zone		
22	Jalore		State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur
23	Jhunjhunu	_	Bank of Baroda
24	Jodhpur	—	United Commercial Bank
25	Nagaur	—	-do-
26	Sikar		Punjab National Bank
		51	JMMARY

# ANNEXURE 45 Lead Banks for various Districts in Rajasthan

	Total No. of Centres Popula-			No. of Offices of Com- mercial Banks as on 30.6.73					Commer- ank Offi-	Average Popula- tion per Branch		
District	tion (in '000)	Rural	Semi- Urban	Urban	Rural Semi-		Urban	Total	- ces as on		(*00	
	(11 000)		Orban		Rulai	Urban		i iotai	30.6.74	31.12.74	as on 30.6.73	as on 30.6.74
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Normal Zone (a) NTA												
<ol> <li>Ajmer</li> <li>Alwar</li> <li>Bharatpur</li> <li>Bhilwara</li> <li>Bundi</li> <li>Ganganagar</li> <li>Jaipur</li> <li>Jhalawar</li> <li>Kota</li> <li>Pali</li> <li>S. Madhopur</li> <li>Tonk</li> <li>Sub-total</li> </ol>	1146 1382 1489 1054 448 1393 2478 622 1143 965 1193 626 13939	3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 1 19	4 27 22 8 8 3 2 5 6 5 4		9 16 14 18 8 22 28 13 15 13 12 5 173	13 3 17 9 3 25 12 7 7 10 11 9 126	13 9 	35 28 31 27 11 47 91 20 43 23 23 23 14 393	40 33 33 27 13 56 108 21 50 25 24 14 444	42 33 35 28 13 60 110 21 50 26 24 14 • 456	33 50 48 39 41 30 27 31 27 42 52 45 36	29 41 45 39 34 25 23 28 23 39 50 45 27
(b) TA 13 Banswara 14 Chittorgarh 15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi 17 Udaipur Sub-total	655 944 529 423 1809 4360	1 3 	1 4 2 3 2 12	  	6 16 4 6 28 60	4 9 5 7 5 30	  13 13	10 25 9 13 46 103	13 27 10 16 48 114	13 27 10 15 50 115	65 39 59 33 39 42	50 35 53 27 38 38

District-wise distribution of Commercial Bank Offices in Rajasthan as on 30.6.73, 30.6.74 and 31.12.74

359

					ANNEXU	URE 46 (	Contd.)						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Arid Zo	one												
18	Barmer	776		' 2		6	3	_	9	12	12	86	65
19	Bikaner	572	3	2	1	11	2	12	25	31	33	23	18
20	Churu	873	2	9		3	16		19	21	23	46	42
21	Jaisalmer	166	1	1	—	1	1		2	2	2	83	83
	Sub-total	2387	6	14	1	21	22	12	55	66	70	43	36
Semi-ar	id Zone												
22	Jalore	668		2		6	3		9	10	12	74	67
23	Jhunjhunu	922	5	7		12	9	—	21	23	24	44	40
24	Jodhpur	1149		3	1	11	3	21	35	41	42	33	28
25	Nagaur	1259	2	6		16	12		28	33	34	45	38
26	Sikar	1040	-	7		9	11		20	20	21	52	52
	Sub-total	5038	7	25	1	54	38	21	113	127	133	45	40
	Total	25724	41	105	7	308	216	140	664	751	774	39	34

•			Rupees Lakh		
District	Deposits	Total out- standing Advances	Credit deposit ratio		
Normal Zone			<u> </u>		
(a) NTA					
1 Ajmer	1567.07	1074.42	68.6		
2 Alwar	712.23	281.66	37.0		
3 Bharatpur	599.41	646.22	Exceeds 100		
4 Bhilwara 5 Bundi	353.23 199.18	605.28 212.06	-do- -do-		
6 Ganganagar	1875.54	830.65	44.2		
7 Jaipur	5919.00	3795.44	64.1		
8 Jhalawar	211.46	137.18	64.9		
9 Kota	1532.02	1044.69	68.1		
10 Pali	345.88	232.38	67.0		
11 Sawai Madhopur 12 Tonk	336.90 114.41	196.17 52.48	58.5 45.6		
Sub-total	13766.33	9108.63	66.2		
b) TA					
13 Banswara	149.34	77.16	51.0		
14 Chittorgarh	346.10	193.23	55.8		
15 Dungarpur	114.17	29.22	25.4		
16 Sirohi 17 Udaipur	288.91 1756.15	61.17 507.76	21.2 29.0		
Sub-total	2654.67	868.54	32.7		
Arid Zone					
18 Barmer	115.93	105.94	91.3		
19 Bikaner	1396.05	346.05	25.0		
20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer	462.99 62.64	73.61 2.39	16.0 3.2		
Sub-total	2037.61	527.99	25.9		
Semi-arid Zone					
22 Jalore	102.15	40.21	39.2		
23 Jhunjhunu	766.60	531.89	69.3		
24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur	1744.67	736.14	42.2		
25 Nagaur 26 Sikar	432.16 343.80	179.72 164.87	41.7 47.8		
Sub-total	3389.38	1652.83	48.8		
Total	21847.99	12157.99	55.6		

#### District-wise Position of Deposits of Commercial Banks, their total Advances and Credit-Deposit Ratio as on 30 June 1974

361

District-wise Position of Agricultural Loans issued and outstandings of Commercial Banks' Branches in Rajasthan

Rupees Lakhs

		Loans issued during the Period last Friday of September 1972 to last Friday of September 1973											
	District	Total		Short-t	erm	Mediu	ım-term	Other direct					
		No of Accounts	Amount	No. of Accounts	Amount	No. of Accounts	Amount	No. of Accounts	Amount				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)				
Norm	al Zone												
(a) ]	NTA												
1	Ajmer	636	29.23	232	4.14	352	16.45	52	8.64				
2	Alwar	339	29.11	49	0.78	290	28.33		_				
3	Bharatpur 6 8 1 1	493	56.66	10	0.11	483	56.55	<u> </u>					
4	Bhilwara	1029	47.96	134	0.92	844	46.16	51	0.88				
5	Bundi	366	17.27	178	4.24	187	12.99	1	0.04				
6	Ganganagar	1546	87.16	1102	8.59	444	78.57						
7	Jaipur	1732	47.16	227	4.24	1494	42.44	11	0.48				
8	Jhalawar	539	11.98	229	2.63	310	9.35						
9	Kota	619	27.61	433	11.78	185	15.81	1	0.02				
10	Pali	51	4.24	3	0.17	46	3.99	2	0.08				
11	Sawai Madhopur	295	14.33	54	0.62	219	13.23	22	0.48				
12	Tonk	42	2.07	1	0.01	40	2.01	1	0.05				
	Sub-total	7687	374.78	2652	38.23	4894	325.88	141	10.67				
(b) 🗇	ГА –												
13	Banswa a	9	0.18			9	0.18	_					
14	Chittorgarh	1609	35.22	1031	7.00	577	28.20	1	0.02				
15	Dungarpur						- (						
16	Sirohi	189	13.65	85	0.70	104	12.95						
17	Udaipu <b>r</b>	680	14.94	96	0.61	571	13.47	13	0.86				
	Sub-total	2487	63.99	1212	8.31	1261	54.80	14	0.88				

	Total	15423	556.48	4560	59.90	10651	483.85	212	12.73
	Sub-total	4915	104.76	558	12.59	4339	91.78	18	0.39
26	Sikar	1786	34.27	5	0.04	1778	34.20	3	0.03
25	Nagaur	133	11.59	9	0.20	115	11.27	9	0.12
24	Jodhpur	456	22.61	348	11.37	107	11.21	1	0.03
23	Jhunjhunu	2201	27.28	144	0.68	2052	26.39	5	Ð.21
22	Jalore	339	9.01	52	0.30	287	8.71	—	_
emi-	Arid Zone								
	Sub-total	334	12.95	138	0.77	157	11.39	39	0.79
21	Jaisalme						'		_
20	Churu	118	1.62	50	0.23	36	1.07	32	0.32
19	Bikaner	86	1.32	79	0.39	4	0.55	3	0.38
18	Barmer	130	10.01	9	0.15	117	9.77	4	0.09
rid :	Zone								
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(രി	(7)	(8)	(9)

			Loans outsta	inding on last	Friday of Sept	ember 1973		
	Тс	otal	Shor	t-term	Medium	-term	Other direct	
	No. of Accounts	Amount	No. of Accounts	Amount	No. of Accounts	' Amount	No. of Accounts	Amoun
	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)
1	1306	53.67	381	7.02	704	34.52	221	12.13
2	1428	75.72	45	0.90	1376	74.60	7	0.22
3	2855	152.07	41	0.73	2814	151.34		_
4	3365	96.63	152	1.15	3150	94.38	63 2 2	1.10
5	456	30.57	150	4.09	304	26.41	2	0.07
6	1314	99.69	561	4.83	751	94.69	2	0.17
7	6049	246.63	379	8.55	5603	226.36	67	11.72
8	1070	26.04	197	2.70	873	23.34		
9	690	42.58	339	8.65	350	33.75	1	0.18
0	539	26.56	16	0.78	520	25.57	3	0.21
1	1145	40.16	8	0.08	1116	39.59	21	0.49
2	173	6.88	2	0.20	169	<b>6.59</b> .	2	0.09
Sub-total	20390	897.20	2271	39.68	17732	831.14	389	26.38
3	208	3.95	·		208	3.95		
4 5	3023	62.54	1159	8.63	1855	53.83	9	0.08
5	2	0.04	—		2	0.04		
6	600	30.34	50	0.34	550	30.00	—	
7	2631	67.82	125	7.03	2471	57.79	35	3.00
Sub-total	6464	164.69	1334	16.00	5086	145.61	44	3.08

	Total	35291	1320.82	4204	68.47	30545	1220.20	542	32.15
	Sub-total	7875	237.67	440	12.02	7401	224.33	34	1.32
26		3159	71.70	6	0.06	3150	71.61	3	0.0
25		753	39.05	22	0.68	721	38.24	10	0.13
24		998	65.91	235	10.69	751	54.44	12	0.7
23		2553	39.62	139	0.53	2405	38.71	9	0.3
22		412	21.39	38	0.06	374	21.33	-	
	Sub-total	562	21.26	159	0.77	328	19.12	75	1.3
21		9	0.17	-	_	9	0.17	-	
20		275	7.11	71	0.39	140	5.68	64	1.0
19		126	4.03	80	0.31	39	3.48	7	0.2
18		152	9.95	8	0.07	140	9.79	4	0.0
		(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17

Distribution of Advances by Commercial Bank Branches in Rajasthan according to Size of Holdings of Borrowers

Size of Holdings	1	last Friday of a	ed during the Pe September 1972 of September 1	2	Loans outstanding as on last Friday of September 1973						
Holdings	Short-t	erm	Mediur	n-term	Short-	term	Mediu	m-term			
	No. of Accounts	Amount	No. of Accounts	Amount	No. of Accounts	Amount	No. of Accounts	Amount			
Upto 2.5 acres	400	3.42	428	10.12	578	6.58	791	17.18			
2.5 acres to 5 acres	66 <b>6</b>	4.51	921	18.76	643	3.73	3997	91.89			
5 acres to 10 acres	1137	9.85	3548	64.63	1057	10.40	9899	216.51			
Above 10 acres	2357	42.12	<b>5</b> 754	390.34	1926	47.76	15858	894.62			
Total	4560	59.90	10651	483.85	4204	68.47	30545	1220.20			

				Ru	pees Lakhs
	District	Total Demand	Recoveries	Amount overdue	Percentage of col. (4) to col. (2)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Norn	nal Zone				
(a)	NTA				
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	Ajmer Alwar Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Pali Sawai Madhopur Tonk	16.92 23.48 65.99 5.65 9.83 20.16 148.51 8.81 16.75 11.38 26.41 2.27	6.39 12.64 31.27 3.26 7.89 12.83 52.41 2.92 13.18 3.06 12.36 1.43	10.53 10.84 34.72 2.39 1.94 7.33 96.10 5.89 3.57 8.32 14.05 0.84	62.2 46.2 52.6 42.3 19.8 36.4 64.7 66.9 21.3 73.1 53.2 37.0
	Sub-total	356.16	159.64	196.52	55.2
(b) ]	ΓA		•		
13 14 15 16 17	Banswara Chittorgarh Dungarpur Sirohi Udaipur	1.76 14.09 0.12 8.18 28.62	0.22 5.55 0.05 4.20 13.71	1.54 8.54 0.07 3.98 14.91	87.5 60.6 58.3 48.7 52.1
	Sub-total	52.77	23.73	29.04	55.0
Arid 2	Zone	······································	<u></u>		
18 19 20 21	Barmer Bikaner Churu Jaisalmer Sub-total	0.97 4.06 2.66 0.13 7.82	0.68 1.68 0.52 0.02 2.90	0.29 2.38 2.14 0.11 4.92	29.9 58.1 80.5 84.6 62.9
Sami r	rid Zone				
22 23 24 25 26	Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar Sub-total	3.21 6.95 50.27 18.13 23.44 102.00	2.33 3.05 22.52 5.37 4.26 37.53	0.88 3.90 27.75 12.76 19.18 64.47	27.4 56.1 55.2 70.4 81.8 63.2
	- Total	518.75	223.80	294.95	56.9

District-wise Position of Recoverics of Commercial Banks in respect of their short-term and Investment Credit for Agriculture as on the last Friday of June 1973

District-wise Position of Cropped Area, Production Credit Requirements and Credit Gaps

						Credit Requ	irements met			
	District	Gross Cropped Area (In hectares)			Credit Require- - ments	Short-term Loans overdue at Primary	Short-term Loans issued by Primary	Total (c	Credit Gaps	Percentage of col. 5 c) to col. 3
		Irri- gated	Irri- Unirri- Total Level o			Societies during 1973-4	10101 ((			
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
Norm	al Zone									
(a) ]	NTA									
1	Ajmer	81925	286728	368653	563.22	45.28	· <b>99.66</b>	144.94	418.28	74
2	Alwar	131716	530150	66186 <b>6</b>	991.98	39.02	214.37	253.39	738.59	74
3	Bharatpur	163198	497480	660678	1029.85	151.76	191.72	348.48	686.37	67
4	Bhilwara	159429	196665	356094	644.40	35.27	92.50	127.77	516.63	80
5	Bundi	121919	122767	244686	458.26	15.15	107.94	123.09	335.17	73
6	Ganganagar	665569	832374	1497943	2496.30	60.58	195.51	256.09	2240.21	90 84
7	Jaipur	285289	586407	871696	1299.58	60.90	151.30	212.20	1087.38	84
8	Jhalawar	40096	291168	331264	464.20	38.87	140.37	179.24	284.96	61
. 9	Kota	164874	446344	611218	970.12	114.90	346.73	461.63	508.49	52
10	Pali	98621	488555	587176	735.11	40.40	89.78	130.18	604.93	82
11 12	Sawai Madhopur	110710	457230	567940	848.31	28.44	87.64	116.08	732.23	86
12	Tonk	71773	325131	396904	585.85	28.66	85.99	114.65	471.20	80
	Sub-total	2095119	<b>5</b> 060999	7156118	11087.18	659.23	1803.51	2462.74	8624. <b>44</b>	78
	ТА									
13	Banswara	16686	214154	230840	309.41	16.17	38.89	55.06	254.35	82
14	Chittorgarh	127314	290485	417799	681.39	44.09	71.29	115.38	566.01	83
15	Dungarpur	15843	124765	140608	164.37	8.94	34.85	43.79	120.58	73
16	Sirohi	47380	135666	183046	249.38	7,24	15.26	22.50	226.88	91
17	Udaipu <b>r</b>	108285	278515	386800	549.23	30.63	83.54	114.17	435.06	79
	Sub-total	315508	10343585	1359093	1953.78	107.07	243.83	350,90	1602.88	82

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	· (4c)	(5)	(6)
Arid 2 18 19 20 21	Zone Barmer Bikaner Churu Jaisalmer	18682 6138 588 152	1496888 604723 1224037 136036	1515570 610861 1224625 136188	1169.37 468.88 919.44 102.41	24.87 13.42 17.74 2.47	57.00 13.83 42.12 0.60	81.87 27.25 59.86 3.07	1087.50 441.63 859.58 99.34	93 94 93 97
	Sub-total	25560	3461684	3487244	2659.91	58.50	113.55	172.05	2488.05	94
Semi-a 22 23 24 25 26	arid Zone Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar	92476 25890 35148 34164 58046	628564 459413 1084273 1170921 506030	721040 485303 1119421 1205085 564076	859.75 409.28 901.07 963.60 524.66	5.50 9.38 27.20 55.85 10.19	32.56 29.31 57.05 16.31 77.66	38.06 38.69 84.25 72.16 87.85	821.69 370.59 816.82 891.44 436.81	96 91 91 93 83
	Sub-total	245724	3849201	4094925	3658.36	108:12	212.89	321.01	3337.35	91
	Total	2681911	13415469	16097380	19359.23	932.92	2373.78	3306.70	16052.72	83

Note: 1 For irrigated land @ Rs 250 per hectare and Rs 125 per hectare for unirrigated land but for unirrigated land 1 of infigured land (g) RS 250 per nectare and RS 125 per nectare for unirrigated land but for unirrigated land per hectare of districts namely Udaipur, Sirohi, Dungarpur, Pali, Jaipur, Ganganagar and Jalore @ Rs 100 and for Districts namely Barmer, Churu, Bikaner, Jaisalmer, Jhunjhunu, Jodhpur, Nagaur and Sikar at Rs 75
2 Figures in columns 1, 2, 3 are on the basis of Revenue Records for the year 1972-3 (Directorate of Economics and Statistics, Rajasthan, Jaipur)

Block-wise Particulars of Gross Cropped Area, Estimated Credit Requirements, Credit Gaps, etc.

Rupees Lakhs —	Area in '000 Hectares
----------------	-----------------------

		G	ross Cropp	ed area	Credit	Cred	it Require	ments met	Credit	D
	District/Block	Irri- gated	Unirri- gated	Total (2a+2b)	require- ments	Loans overdue as on 30.6.1973	Loans issued during 1973-4	Total (4a+4b)	gap (3-4c)	Percentage of col. 5 to col. 3
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
AJMI										
1	Srinagar	3	9	12	19.25	7.58	8.97	16.55	2.70	14
2	Pisangan	15	35	50	81.70	6.67	14.02	20.69	61.01	75
3	Jawaia	4	11	15	23.24	6.47	7.25	13.72	9.52	41
4	Masuda	10	69	79	111.04	6.87	7.61	14.48	96.56	87
5	Kekri	14	31	45	74.07	3.57	23.21	26.78	47.29	64
6	Bhinai	8	32	40	59.25	9.44	8.13	17.57	41.68	70
7	Kishangarh	10	75	85	118.34	1.01	16.23	17.24	101.10	85
8	Arain	18	25	43	76.33	3.67	14.24	17.91	58.42	76
	Total	82	287	369	563.22	45.28	99.66	144.94	418.28	74
ALW	'AR								· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1	Kishangarhbas	7	45	52	74.88	6.54	22.73	29.27	45.61	60
2	Tijara	7	51	58	80.50	0.34	11.99	12.33	68.17	85
3	Kotkasim	5	31	36	50.39	3.39	26.80	30.19	20.20	40
4	Govindgarh	- 9	65	74	102.98	6.52	32.56	39.08	63.90	62
5	Kathumar	34	19	53	107.44	5.25	24.21	29.46	77.98	72
6	Mandawar	5	49	54	74.27	1.35	13.75	15.10	59.17	80
7	Ramgarh	7	38	45	65.96	5.50	27.55	33.05	32.91	50
8	Umrain	7	57	64	89.12	3.64	17.98	21.62	67.50	76
9	Rajgarh	7	15	22	35.94	1.42	3.87	5.29	30.65	85
10	Reni	2	29	31	40.01	1.65	5.29	6.94	33.07	83

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
11 12	Behror Neemrana	25 2	34 34	59 36	105.94 47.60	1.50 0.46	8.65 7.32	10.15 7.78	95.79 39.82	90 84
13 14	Bansur Thanagazi	6 9	39 24	45 33	64.27 52.68	0.19 1.27	8.58 3.09	8.77 4.36	55.50 48.32	86 92
	Total	132	530	662	991.98	39.02	214.37	253.39	738.59	74
BHA	RATPUR									
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	Basseri Rajakhera Dholpur Nagarpahari Nadbai Bayana Sewar Kumbher Rupbas Bari Weir Kama Deeg	10 5 26 10 7 17 16 4 17 10 13 12	25 25 42 35 42 44 17 44 56 17 51 62 38	35 30 68 51 52 51 34 60 60 34 61 75 50	57.39 43.55 117.65 84.15 77.07 73.24 64.45 94.14 79.54 63.87 88.44 109.52 76.84	4.55 5.50 4.51 16.11 10.23 9.41 23.05 21.10 14.82 9.02 14.77 14.27	4.88 10.07 7.60 19.33 17.42 11.21 22.04 24.92 20.90 4.69 12.07 18.92 17.67	9.43 15.57 12.11 35.44 27.65 20.62 45.09 46.02 35.72 9.11 21.09 33.69 31.94	47.96 27.98 105.54 48.71 49.42 52.62 19.36 48.12 43.82 54.76 67.35 75.83 44.90	84 64 90 58 64 72 30 51 55 86 76 69 58
	Total	163	498	661	1029.85	151.76	191.72	343.48	686.37	67
BHI	LWARA			···········		·				
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Jahajpur Mandal Mandalgarh Kotri Hurda	9 19 15 17 19 10 18 16	12 33 28 18 20 17 7 22	21 52 43 35 39 27 25 38	37.69 88.41 73.15 64.52 73.18 46.66 53.68 67.21	4.53 4.28 2.33 2.38 3.83 3.09 3.14 6.09	4.76 10.76 4.63 4.54 11.69 9.29 8.37 7.57	9.29 15.04 6.96 6.92 15.52 12.38 11.51 13.66	28.40 73.37 66.19 57.60 57.66 34.28 42.17 53.55	75 83 90 89 79 73 79 80

			A	NNEXURI	E 52 (Contd.)					
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
9 10	Suwana Raipur	16 9	18 8	34 17	63.23 31.61	1.73 0.58	9.33 10.06	11.06 10.64	52.17 20.97	83 66
11	Sahara	11	14	25	45.06	3.29	11.50	14.79	30.27	67
	Total	159	197	356	644.40	35.27	92.50	127.77	516.63	80
BUN	DI									
1	Talera	46	36	82	159.87	5,18	40.98	46.16	113.71	71
23	Keshoraipatan Uindali	38 27	37	75	142.21 84.29	5.19	40.34	45.53 23.06	96.68 61.23	68 73
4	Hindoli Nainwa	11	14 36	41 47	84.29 71.89	3.56 1.22	19.50 7.12	8.34	63.55	73 89
	Total	122	123	245	458.26	15,15	107.94	123.09	335.17	73
GAN	GANAGAR									
1	Ganganagar	76	14	90	204.90	3.88	41.86	45.74	159.16	78
2	Karanpur	45	13	58	126.09	3.88	25.20	29.08	97.01	77
3	Padampur	46	29	75	143.76	1.81	28.11	29.92	113.84	79
4	Raisinghnagar	102	45	147	298.99	6.98	8.89	15.87	283.12	95
5	Suratgarh	149	97	246	468.58	11.96	35.08	47.04	421.54	90
67	Sadulshahar	69	57	126	229.81	7.20	37.30	44.50	185.31	81
8	Hanumangarh Nohar	112 51	72 343	184 394	351.36 470.84	5.09 9.67	15.09 2.31	20.18 11.98	331.18 458.86	94 97
ŝ	Bhadra	16	162	178	201.97	10.11	1.67	11.78	458.86	97 94
	Totai	666	832	1498	2496.30	60.58	195.51	256.09	2240.21	90

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	<b>(2</b> c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
<b>AIPU</b>	JR									
1	Jhotwara	14	26	40	61.11	2.12	5.07	7.19	53.92	88
2	Amber	41	11	52	113.34	2.76	7.34	10.10	103.24	91
3	Jamwa-ramgarh	25	42	67	104.74	5.98	11.63	17.61	87.13	83
4	Sanganer	19	33	52	81.26	3.59	5.02	8.61	72.65	89
5	Phagi	13	58	71	89.08	3.28	6.94	10.22	78.86	89
6	Dudu	7	65	72	82.40	1.37	14.03	15.40	67.00	80
7	Jobner	8	45	53	64.09	6.07	9.22	15.29	48.80	76
8	Govindgarh	5	17 .	22	28.93	1.52	15.17	16.69	12.24	42
9	Shahpu <b>ra</b>	13	14	27	46.86	2.37	2.07	4.44	42.42	91
10	Kotputli	16	48	64	88.00	2.90	1.41	4.31	83.69	95
11	Bairath	12	48	60	77.87	1.10	0.90	2.00	75.87	97
12	Chaksu	14	37	51	71.09	4.58	9.08	13.66	57.43	81
13	Bassi	17	30	47	72.71	7.53	20.17	27.70	45.01	62
14	Lalsot	20	37	57	87.78	3.63	9.88	- 13.51	74.27	85
15	Dausa	36	26	62	115.89	6.31	17.78	24.09	91.80	79
16	Sikrai	15	25	40	63.47	0.98	7.16	8.14	55.33	87
17	Bandikui	10	25	35	50.96	4.81	8.43	13.24	37.72	74
	Total	285	587	872	1299.58	60.90	151.30	212.20	1087.38	84

			A.	NNEXUR	E 52 (Contd	.)				
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
IHAL	AWAR									
1	Jhalrapatan	9	49	58	82.95	9.20	46.48	55.68	27.27	33
2	Khanpur	7	58	65	90.96	3.45	19.30	22.75	68.21	75
3	Bakani	4	36	40	55.39	6.08	11.81	17.89	37.50	68
4	Pirawa	4	41	45	60.76	6.85	33.04	39.89	20.87	34
5	Manoharthana	10	54	64	92.11	6.95	12.47	19.42	72.69	79
6	Dag	6	53	59	82.03	6.34	17.27	23.61	58.42	71
	Total	140	291	331	464 · 20	38.87	140.37	179.24	284.96	61
кот	A									
1	Chechat	5	44	49	67.75	10.02	21.63	31.65	36.10	53
2	Sangod	6	56	62	85.94	14.14	62.48	76.62	9.32	10
3	Sultanpur	23	37	60	104.25	14.75	35.61	50.36	53.89	52
4	Ladpura	21	21	42	78.51	9.09	44.59	53.68	24.83	32
5	Itawa	4	34	38	52.49	9.12	20.94	30.06	22.43	43
6	Baran	23	27	50	91.25	7.08	17.11	24.19	67.06	73
7	Antah	7	41	48	68.18	15.35	38.99	53.34	13.84	20
8	Atru	29	38	67	120.54	10.18	26.68	36.86	83.68	69
9	Shahbad	14	98	112	156.98	13.95	49.21	63.16	93.82	60
10	Chhabra	28	38	66	117.06	5.29	9.66	14.95	102.11	87
11	Chhipabarod	5	12	17	27.17	5.93	19.83	25.76	1.41	5
	Total	165	416	611	970.12	114.90	346.73	461.63	508.49	52

<ul> <li>2 Sapotra</li> <li>3 Hindaun</li> <li>4 Mahwa</li> <li>5 Khandar</li> <li>6 Todabhim</li> <li>7 Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>8 Malaranachor (Bonli)</li> <li>9 Bamanwas (Nadoti)</li> <li>10 Karauli</li> </ul>	11 3 13 9 12 18 6	39 33 35 68 56 78 34	30 36 48 77 68 96 40	48.79 76.26 107.02 99.24 143.17 58.09	0.48 3.10 2.15 1.55 2.15 2.48	7.60 2.04 13.50 6.74 12.62 4.35	8.08 5.14 15.65 8.29 14.77 6.83	40.71 71.12 91.37 90.95 28.40 51.26	83 93 85 91 90 88
<ul> <li>3 Hindaun</li> <li>4 Mahwa</li> <li>5 Khandar</li> <li>6 Todabhim</li> <li>7 Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>8 Malaranachor (Bonli)</li> <li>9 Bamanwas (Nadoti)</li> </ul>	3 13 9 12 18	33 35 68 56	36 48 77 68 96	76.26 107.02 99.24 143.17	3.10 2.15 1.55 2.15	2.04 13.50 6.74 12.62	5.14 15.65 8.29 14.77	71.12 91.37 90.95 28.40	93 85 91 90
<ul> <li>3 Hindaun</li> <li>4 Mahwa</li> <li>5 Khandar</li> <li>6 Todabhim</li> <li>7 Sawai Madhopur</li> <li>8 Malaranachor (Bonli)</li> </ul>	3 13 9 12	33 35 68 56	36 48 77 68	76.26 107.02 99.24	3.10 2.15 1.55	2.04 13.50 6.74	5.14 15.65 8.29	71.12 91.37 90.95	93 85 91
<ul> <li>3 Hindaun</li> <li>4 Mahwa</li> <li>5 Khandar</li> <li>6 Todabhim</li> <li>7 Sawai Madhopur</li> </ul>	3 13 9	33 35 68	36 48 77	76.26 107.02	3.10 2.15	2.04 13.50	5.14 15.65	71.12 91.37	93 85
<ul><li>3 Hindaun</li><li>4 Mahwa</li><li>5 Khandar</li></ul>	3	33	36	76.26	3.10	2.04	5.14	71.12	93
<ul><li>3 Hindaun</li><li>4 Mahwa</li></ul>		39		48.79	0.48	7.60	8.08	40.71	83
3 Hindaun						11.44			
	12 11	40	52 50	81.33 74.97	4.82	11.22	16.04	58.93	93 79
	14	27	41	69.34	1.29 3.67	5.90 2.03	7.19 5.70	62.15 75.63	90 93
1 Gangapur	13	47	60	90.10	6.75	21.64	28.39	61.71	68
WAI MADHOPUR									
Total	99	488	587	735.11	40.40	89.78	130.18	604.93	82
0 Rohat	6	29	35	44.27	4.41	32.48	36.89	7.38	17
9 Pali	10	81	91	105.36	5.51	14.22	19.73	85.63	81
8 Sojat	13	66	79	97.79	6.93	4.32	11.25	86.54	88
6 Jaitaran 7 Raipur	5	30	105 37	112.58 47.54	5.96	0.89 7.81	9.16 13.77	33.77	92 71
5 Ranistation	4 5	25 100	29	35.04	2.52 2.27	3.14 6.89	5.66 9.16	29.38 103.42	84 92
4 Desuri	6	13	19	27.10	1.00	2.83	3.83	23.27	86
3 Kharchi	26 2	56	58	62.46	6.22	10.16	16.38	46.08	74
1 Bali 2 Sumerpur	20	12 76	102	140.03	2.75 2.83	2.44 5.49	5.19 8.32	57.75 131.71	92 94
	20	12	32	62.94	2.75	2.44	6 10	67 75	
LI					()	(,	(,	(-)	
(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)

	Total	17	214	231	809.41	16.17	38.89	55.06	254.36	82
8	Banswara (Talwara)	7	39	46	66.56	2.97	8.34	11.31	55.25	83
7	Pipalkhunt	1	2	3	4.78	3.38	1.41	4.79	<u> </u>	_
6	Ghatol	3	28	31	43.31	2.24	4.35	6.59	36.72	85
5	Bhukhiya	1	31	32	40.93	1.70	5.94	7.64	33.29	81
4	Bagidor <b>a</b>	1	57	58	72.58	0.59	4.72	5.31	67.27	93
3	Sajjangarh	1	23	24	29.58	2.78	4.48	7.26	22.32	75
2	Kushalgarh	1	11	12	17.04	0.97	3.33	4.30	12.74	75
1	Garhi	2	23	25	34.63	1.54	6.32	7.86	26.77	77
ANS	SWARA									
	Total		325	897	585.85	28.66	85.99	114.65	471.20	89
6	Todaraisingh	10	61	71	102.11	4.51	9.90	14.41	87.70	86
5	Malpura	15	14	29	55.45	4.30	14.32	18.62	36.83	66
4	Niwai	10	63	73	104.41	0.92	5.60	6.52	97.89	94
3	Uniara	9	63	72	100.27	5.13	20.17	25.30	74.97	75
2	Deoli	11	81	92	128.51	9.61	15.86	25.47	103.04	80
1	Tonk	17	43	60	95.10	4.19	20.14	24.33	70.77	74
ONI	r									
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
					•	ontd.)				

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
сни	TORGARH									
1	Achnera	3	33	36	49.27	4.06	2.97	7.03	42.24	86
2	Kapasin	10	15	25	43.23	2.71	3.43	6.14	37.09	86
3	Chittorgarh	22	21	43	81.40	3.42	10.16	13.58	67.82	83
4	Chhotisadri	12	34	46	72.29	8.12	6.29	14.41	57.88	80
5	Doongla	11	33	44	68.94	1.31	3.02	4.33	64.61	94
' 6	Neembahera	14	28	42	68.97	2.44	9.72	12.16	56.81	82
7	Pratapgarh	8	45	53	76.25	6.87	10.01	16.88	59.37	78
8	Begun	12	16	28	49.07	2.40	9.43	11.83	37.24	76
9	Bhadesar	9	15	24	42.12	5.08	3.71	8.79	33.33	79
10	Bhopalsagar	5	14	19	29.95	3.96	3.23	7.19	22.76	76
11	Bhainsrorgarh	7	14	21	35.27	1.43	3.47	4.90	30.37	86
12	Rashmi	14	<b>2</b> 3	37	64.63	2.29	5.85	8.14	56.49	87
	Total	127	291	418	681.39	44.09	71.29	115.38	566.01	83
DUN	GARPUR									
1.	Simalwara	3	26	29	38.69	2.43	5.36	7,79	25.90	77
2	Sagwara	3	36	39	44.00	0.95	5.15	6.10	37.90	86
3	Dungarpur	2	11	13	16.06	4.25	9.28	13.53	2.53	16
4	Bichiwara	6	26	32	41.04	0.70	10.42	11.12	29.92	73
5	Aspur	2	26	28	29.58	0.61	4.64	5.25	24.33	82
	Total	16	125	141	164.37	8.94	34.85	43.79	120.58	73

### ANNEXURE 52 (Contd.)

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
SIRO	ні									
1	Sirohi	11	33	44	58.33	1.55	3.04	4.59	53.74	92
2	Pindwara	6	26	32	40.53	1.36	4.09	5.45	35.08	86
3	Sheaganj	13	23	36	54.87	2.08	2.29	4.37	50.50	92
4	Reodar	11	44	55	71.36	0.57	3.87	4.44	66.92	94
5	Abu Road	6	10	16	24.29	1.68	1.97	3.65	20.64	85
	Total	47	136	183	249.38	7.24	15.26	22.50	226.88	91
UDA	IPUR	<del></del>				<u> </u>				
1	Amet	5	9	14	22.10	0.86	5.58	6.44	15.66	71
2	Badgaon	2	9 9	11	14.09	1.13	4.72	5.85	8.24	71 58 78
3	Bhim	5	9	14	21.53	3.57	1.26	4.83	16.70	78
4	Bhinder	10	29	39	54.45	3.72	6.89	10.61	43.84	81
5	Deogarh	5	7	12	20.10	0.82	3.50	4.32	15.78	79
6	Dhariawad	5	24	29	35.82	1.30	3.41	4.71	31.11	87
7	Girwa	9	19	28	41.00	1.66	4.43	6.09	34.91	85
8	Gogunda	4	10	14 24	20.08	1.20	2.60	3.80	16.28	81
.9	Jhadol	3	21	24	28.17	1.21	4.93	6.14	22.03	78
10	Khamnore	9 2	9 25	18 27	31.42	1.60	2.34	3.94	27.48	87
11 12	Kherwara Kotra	2	25	27	29.40	0.94	2.30	3.24	26.16	89
13	Kumbhalgarh	5	18	21 13	25.44 18.89	0.88 0.85	0.31 4.45	1.19 5.30	24.25 13.59	93
14	Mavli	10	20	30	45.27	3.00	4.43 9.59	12.59	32.68	72
15	Rajsamand	10	11	21	36.57	2.20	10.05	12.39	24.32	81 79 87 85 81 78 87 89 95 72 72 67 53 90
16	Relmagra	6	11	17	26.70	1.37	11.11	12.48	14.22	53
iř	Salumber	ğ	22	31	43.82	1.77	2.78	4.55	39.27	90 91
18	Sarada	7	22 17	24	34.38	2.55	3.29	5.84	28.54	83
	Total	108	279	387	549.23	30.63	83.54	114.17	435.06	79

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
AR	MER									
1	Suwana	6	112	118	98.39	1.35	1.62	2.97	95.42	97
2	Sheo		149	149	111.47	0.13	1.42	1.55	109.92	98
3	Balotra	6	69	75	66.61	1.10	2.23	3.33	63.28	95
4	Dhromanna	4	119	123	99.17	4.14	15.92	20.06	79.11	80
5	Baitu	1	159	160	122.00	2.21	7.47	9.68	112.32	92
6	Barmer	1	505	506	382.33	4.54	11.90	16.44	365.89	96
7	Sindhari	(233)	112	112	84.35	4.77	5.28	10.05	74.30	88
8	Chohtan		273	273	205.05	6.63	11.16	17.79	187.26	91
	Total	18	1498	1516	1169.37	24.87	57.00	81.87	1087.50	93
BIKA	NER									
1	Bikaner	3	200	203	157.84	0.58	4.43	5.01	152.83	97
2	Loonkaransar	—	168	168	125.71	2.97	2.60	5.57	120.14	96
3	Nokha	(11)	67	67	49.90	7.92	4.79	12.71	37.19	75
4	Kolayat	3	170	173	135.43	1.95	2.01	3.96	131.47	97
	Total	6	605	611	468.88	13.42	13,83	27.25	441.63	94

			A	NNEXURI	E 52 (Contd.)	)				
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)
CHU	RU									
1	Churu (Ratannagar)	(55)	128	128	96.15	3.94	7.90	11.84	84.31	88
2	Sardarshahar	(89)	256	256	192.56	1.52	5.44	6.96	185.60	96
3	Rajgarh	-	154	154	115.36	3.70	8.29	11.99	103.37	90
4	Taranagar	(6)	109	109	81.72	2.77	11.21	12.98	67.74	83
5	Ratangarh	(228)	285	285	214.08	1.47	3.50	4.97	209.11	98
6	Dungargarh	(94)	125	125	93.63	3.62	0.59	4.21	89.42	96
7	Sujangarh	(116)	168	168	125.94	0.72	5.19	5.91	120.03	95
	Total	(588)	1225	1225	919.44	17.74	42.12	59.86	859.58	93
JAIS	ALMER									
1	Shankra (Pokharan)	(152)	33	33	25.40	1.05	0.15	1.20	24.20	95
2	Jaisalmer	<u> </u>	68	68	51.07	0.81	_	0.81	50.26	98
3	Sam		35	35	25.94	0.61	0.45	1.06	24.88	96
	Total	(152)	136	136	102.41	2.47	0,60	3.07	99.34	97

	(	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6
AL	ORE										
1	Ahore		24	220	244	280.76	1.08	9.14	10.22	270.54	96
2	Jalore		8	30	38	50.99	1.31	6.16	7.47	43.52	85
3	Sayala		11	26	37	55.06	0.63	6.13	6.76	48.30	87
4	Sanchore		7	267	274	284.76	1.86	5.50	7.46	277.30	97
5	Bhinmal		20	81	101	129.79	0.41	0.32	0.73	129.06	99
6	Ramiwara		8	2	10	21.29	0.13	2.51	2.64	18.65	87
7	Jaswantpura		14	3	17	37.10	0.08	2.70	2.78	34.32	92
		Total	92	629	721	859.75	5.50	32.56	38.06	821.69	96
HUI	NJHUNU										
1	Jhunjhunu		1	81	82	64.19	2.41	2.38	4.79	59.40	93
2	Alsisar			99	99	74.37	1.49	7.53	9.02	65.35	88
3	Buhana		1	53	54	42.31	80.9	0.16	1.05	41.26	98
4	Khetri		_	38	38	28.17	0.55	1.35	1.90	26.27	93
5	Udaipurwati		11	1	12	28.71	0.76	6.76	7.52	21.19	74
6	Nawalgarh		5	87	92	76.61	0.25	1.89	2.14	74.47	97
7	Chirawar		_	72	72	54.09	1.57	4.88	6.45	47.64	88
	Surajgarh		8	28	63	40.83	1.46	4.36	5.82	35.01	86
8	Sulajgalli										

ANNEXURE 52 (Contd.)

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	<b>(</b> 4c)	(5)	(6)
ODH	IPUR									
1	Bilara	3	80	83	67.96	6.90	17.45	24.35	43.61	64
2	Bhopalgarh	2	96	98	77.45	1.70	9.66	11.36	66.09	
3	Osian	6	75	81	69.82	4.93	12.64	17.57	52.25	85 75 86 93 99
4	Jodhpur	7	65	72	67.26	3.75	5.62	9.37	57.89	86
5	Luni	2	157	159	122.89	1.00	7.87	8.87	114.02	93
6	Shergarh	11	147	158	137.13	0.84	0.43	1.27	135.86	99
7	Balesar	3	98	101	81.88	0.83	1.53	2.36	79.52	97
8	Phalodi	1	249	250	189.06	4.99	0.68	5.67	183.39	97
9	Bap		117	117	87.62	2.26	1.17	3.43	84.19	96
	Tota	35	1084	1119	901.07	27.20	57.05	84.25	816.82	91
NAG.	AUR									
1	Deedwana	2	127	129	101.38	1.54	2.59	4.13	97.25	96
2	Ladnu	1	83	84	63.71	1.59	1.37	2.96	60.75	95
3	Kuchaman	3	7	10	12.80	3.27	0.77	4.04	8.76	68
4	Nagaur	2	173	175	133.73	8.71	0.61	9.32	124.41	93 94 88
- 5	Mundawa	(299)	162	162	121.84	6.36	0.74	7.10	114.74	94
6	Jayal	1	162	163	123.53	13.54	0.91	14.45	109.08	88
7	Makrana	3	106	109	87.13	1.65	0.62	2.27	84.86	97
8	Parbatsar	2 3	67	69	56.22	1.61	1.22	2.83	53.39	95
9	Degana	3	115	118	93.08	3.21	5.03	8.24	84.84	91
10 11	Riyan Monto	14 3	71	85	89.29	4.86	0.93	5.79	83.50	93
11	Merta	3	98	101	80.89	9.51	1.52	11.03	69.86	86
	Tota	al 34	1171	1205	963.60	55.85	16.31	72.16	· 891.44	92

		Total	58	506	564	524.66	10.19	77.66	87.85	436.81	83
8	Neemkathana		11	69	80	79.62	0.53	3.64	4.17	75.45	95
7	Khandela		11	44	55	61.45	0.87	3.95	4.82	56.63	92
6	Srimadhopur		15	39	54	66.03	0.73	3.95	4.68	61.35	93
5	Dantaramgarh		14	80	94	94.98	1.68	19.99	21.67	73 31	77
4	Piprali		4	61	65	54.85	2.10	19.50	21.60	33.25	61
3	Dohat		2	71	73	59.05	0.98	7.03	8.01	51.04	86
2	Lachmangarh		1	43	44	34.30	1.89	16.69	18.58	15.72	46
1	Fatehpur		(100)	99	99	74.38	1.41	2.91	4.32	70.06	94
IKA	AR										
	(1)		(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3)	(4a)	(4b)	(4c)	(5)	(6)

District	Credit Gap Rs 160 lal		Credit Gap I Rs 110 lakhs to 1		Credit Gap be Rs 60 lakhs to Rs		No. of Branches of Commercial
District	Block	Amount	Block	Amount	Block	Amount	Bank required@
(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5)
Ajmer	_				1 Pisangan	61.01	
					2 Masuda	96.56	-
. 1					3 Kishangarh	101.10	3
Alwar					4 Tijara	68.17	
					5 Umrain 6 Behror	67.50 95.79	3
Bharatpur					7 Dholpur	105.54	3
Duaracpui				_	8 Weir	67.35	2
Bhilwara			_		9 Shahpura	73.37	-
					10 Jahajpur	66.19	2
Bundi			—		11 Nainwa	63.55	2 1
Ganganaga <b>r</b>	1 Raisinghnagar 2 Suratgarh 3 Sadulshahar 4 Hanumangarh 5 Nohar	421.54 185.31 331.18 458.86	1 Ganganagar 2 Padampur	159.16 113.84	12 Karanpur	97.01	1
	6 Bhadra	190.19					23
Jaipur					13 Amber	103.24	
					14 Jamwaramgarh		
					15 Sanganer	72.65	
					16 Phagi 17 Dudu	78.86 67.00	
					17 Dudu 18 Kotputli	83.69	
					19 Bairath	75.87	
					20 Lalsot	74.27	
					21 Dausa	91.80	9
Jhalawar				·	22 Khanpur	68.21	-
					23 Manoharthana	72.69	2

			AN	NEX	URE 53			
Blocks	where	Commercial	Banks	may	undertake	to	finance	Societies

(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5)
Pali			3 Sumepur	131.71	24 Jaitaran 25 Sojat 26 Pali	103.42 86.54 85.63	5
Sawai Madhopur			4 Bamanwas (Nadoti)	128.40	27 Sapotra 28 Hindaun 29 Todabhim 30 Sawai Madhor 31 Malranchor (Bonli)	62.15 75.63 71.12	7
Tonk	_				32 Deoli 33 Uniara 34 Niwai 35 Todaraisingh	103.04 74.97 97.89 87.70	4
Banswara	_	_	_	_	36 Bagidora	67.27	ĩ
Chittorgarh	—				37 Chittorgarh	67.82	
Sirohi	_	_	_		38 Doongla 39 Reodar	64.61 66.92	2
Barmer	7 Barmer 8 Chohtan	365.89 187.26	5 Baitu	112.32	40 Suwana 41 Sheo 42 Balotra 43 Dhromanna 44 Sindhari	95.42 109.92 63.28 79.11 74.30	13
Bikaner		-	6 Bikaner 7 Loonkaransar 8 Kolayat	152.83 120.14 131.47			6
Churu	9 Sardarshahar 10 Ratangarh	185.60 209.11	9 Sujangarh	120.03	45 Churu 46 Rajgarh 47 Taranagar 48 Dungargarh	84.31 103.37 67.74 89.42	12
Jalore	11 Ahore 12 Sanchore	270.54 277.30	10 Bhinmal	129.06	-	_	8

(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5)
Jhunjhunu	·		·		49 Alsisar	65.35	2
Jodhpur	13 Phalodi	183.39	11 Luni	114.02	50 Nawalgarh 51 Bhopalgarh	74.47 66.09	2
	15 1 1141007	105.55	12 Shergarb	135.86	52 Balesar	79.52	
					53 Bap	84.19	10
Nagaur			13 Nagaur	124.41	54 Deedwana	97.25	
			14 Mundawa	114.74	55 Ladnu	60.75	
					56 Jayal	109.08	
			,		57 Makrana	84.86	
					58 Degana	84.84	
					59 Riyan	89.29	
					60 Merta	69.86	11
Sikar					61 Fatehpur	70.06	
					62 Dantaramgarh	73.31	
					63 Srimadhopur	61.35	
					64 Neemkathana	75.45	4
							131

ANNEYLIRE 53 (Contd)

@ No. of commercial banks' branches required:

(i) Blocks with credit gaps above Rs 160 lakhs -3

(ii) Blocks with credit gaps between Rs 110 lakhs and Rs 160 lakhs - 2

(iii) Blocks with credit gaps between Rs 60 and Rs 110 lakhs - 1

District	Block	Credit Gap	No. of Commercial Bank Branches		
District	BIOCN	(Rs Lakhs)	Re- quired	Ex- isting	Short- fall
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Normal Zone					
(a) NTA	1 Disangan	61 01	1	1	
1 Ajmer	1 Pisangan 2 Masuda	61.01 96.56	1	1 3	_
	3 Kishangarh	101.10	1	Š	_
2 Alwar	4 Tijara	68.17	î	521253124832	·
	5 Umrain	67.50	ī	ī	
	6 Behror	95.79	1	2	_
3 Bharatpur	7 Dholpur	105.54	1	5	
	8 Weir	67.35	1	3	
4 Bhilwara	9 Shahpura	73.37	1	I	
5 Bundi	10 Jahajpur 11 Nainwa	66.19 63.55	1	4	
6 Ganganagar	12 Raisinghnagar	283.12		8	
0 Oanganagai	13 Suratgarh	421.54	3	3	·
	14 Sadulshahar	185.31	3	2	1
	15 Hanumangarh	331.18	- 3	16	
	16 Nohar	458.86	3	3	_
	17 Bhadra	190.19	3	1	2
	18 Ganganagar	159.16	3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 1	16	—
	19 Padampur	113.84 97.01	2	7 4	_
7 Jaipur	20 Karanpur 21 Amber	103.24	1	2	_
/ Jaiput	22 Jamwaramgarh	87.13	1	ĩ	
	23 Sanganer	72.65	ī	4	_
	24 Phagi	78.86	1	1	
	25 Dudu	67.00	1	3	
	26 Kotputli	83.69	1	3	_
	27 Bairath	75.87	1	5	
	28 Lalsot 29 Dausa	74.27 91.80	1 1	1	_
8 Jhalawar	30 Khanpur	68.21	. 1	2	
o phalawai	31 Manoharthana	72.69	1	2	
9 Pali	32 Sumerpur	131.71	2	2	
	33 Jaitaran	103.42	1	3	—
	34 Sojat	86.54	1	3	
	35 Pali	85.63	1	2	
10 Sawai Madhopur	36 Nadoti	128.40 62.15	2 1	2	_
	37 Sapotra 38 Hindaun	75.63	1	5	
	39 Todabhim	71.12	1	ĭ	
	40 Sawai Madhopur	91.37	î	5	
	41 Bonli	90.95	1	1 3 3 3 1 4 2 2 2 3 3 5 2 1 5 1 5 1 2 2 3	
11 Tonk	42 Deoli	103.04	1	2	_
	43 Uniara	74.97	1	2	—
	44 Niwai	97.89	1	3 1	
	45 Todaraisingh	87,70	1		

Availability of Branches of Commercial Banks in the Blocks identified for introduction of the Scheme for Financing Agriculturists through Primary Societies

# ANNEXURE 54 (Contd.)

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
(b) TA					
12 Banswara	46 Bagidora	67.27	1	3	_
13 Chit organh	47 Chittorgarh 48 Doongla	67.82 64.61	1 1 1	7 1 2	
14 Sirohi	49 Reodar	66.92			
Arid Zone 15 Barmer	50 Barmer 51 Chohtan 52 Baitu 53 Suwana 54 Sheo 55 Balotra 56 Dhromanna 57 Sindhari	365.89 187.26 112.32 95.42 109.92 63.28 79.11 74.30	3 2 1 1 1 1	2 1 2 1 4 1	
16 Bikaner	58 Bikaner 59 Loonkaransar 60 Kolayat	152.83 120.14 131.47	2 2 2	18 3 2	
17 Churu	61 Sardarshahar 62 Ratangarh 63 Sujangarh 64 Churu 65 Raigarh 66 Taranagar 67 Dungargarh	185.60 209.11 120.03 84.31 103.37 67.74 89.42	3 2 1 1 1 1	3 5 5 3 1 3	
Semi-arid Zone 18 Jalore	68 Ahore 69 Sanchore 70 Bhinmal	270.54 277.30 129.06	3 3 2	1 1 2	2 2
19 Jhunjhunu	71 Alsisar 72 Nawalgarh	65.35 74.47	1 1	2 5	-
20 Jodhpur	73 Phalodi 74 Luni 75 Shergarh 76 Bhopalgarh 77 Balesar 78 Bap	183.39 114.02 135.86 66.09 79.52 84.19	3 2 1 1 1	2 Nil 1 2 Nil Nil	$\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{1}$
21 Nagaur	79 Nagaur 80 Mundwa 81 Deedwana 82 Ladnu 83 Jayai 84 Makrana 85 Degana 86 Riyan 87 Merta	124.41 114.74 97.25 60.75 109.08 84.86 84.84 89.29 69.86	2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	3 5 6 3 1 3 2 4	
22 Sikar	88 Fatehpur 89 Dantaramagarh 90 Srimadhopur 91 Neemkathana	70.06 73.31 61.35 7 <b>4.</b> 45	1 1 1 1	4 2 2	

## ANNEXURE 55

# Tehsil-wise concentration of Tribal Population

	District	Percentage of Tribal Population to total Population
1	Banswara (5 tehsils)	63.64
2	Dungarpur (3 tehsils)	72.93
3	Udaipur	
	(i) Gogunda	37.23
	(ii) Phalsia (Jhadol)	63.70
	(iii) Kherwara	70.73
	(iv) Kotra	85.16
	(v) Sarada	53.21
	(vi) Salumber	45.56
	(vii) Lasadia (Dhariawad)	75.62
4	Chittorgarh-Pratapgarh Tehsil	47.18
	Total for 16 tehsils	64.43

## List of Development Blocks with heavy concentration of Tribal Population in Rajasthan

District	Development Block
Banswara	Talwara Ghatol Garhi Pipalkhunt Bhukhiya Kushalgarh Sajjangarh Bagidora
Dungarpur	Sagwara Aspur Dungarpur Simalwara Bichiwara
Udaipu <del>r</del>	Gogunda Kherwara Phalasia (Jhadol) Kotra Sarada Salumber Lasadia (Dhariawad)
Chittorgarh	Pratapgarh Arnod

#### Financial and other Particulars of Primary Agricultural Credit Societies in Tribal Blocks for the Year 1972-3

Rupees Lakhs

	Items	Bans- wara	Dungar- pur	Udai- pur (7 blocks)	garh (2
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
<b>1</b>	No. of societies (i) Total (ii) Of which dormant	208 141	181 100	212 76	56 30
2	<ul> <li>(i) Of which domain</li> <li>No. of villages in the blocks</li> <li>(i) Total</li> <li>(ii) Served by societies</li> </ul>	1426 1166	821 820	1567 1361	305 303
3	Population in the blocks (in 000) (i) Total (ii) Covered by the societies	622 445	1013 917	574 497	150 139
4	No. of rural families (in 000)@ (i) Total (ii) Covered by the societies	124 89	203 183	- 115 99	30 28
5	Membership of societies (i) Total (ii) Of which scheduled tribes	34777 25655	33406 25530	2451 <b>5</b> 14487	11000 2226
6	Borrowing members during 1972-3 (i) Total (ii) Of which scheduled tribes	10819 8857	9147 6159	6548 4408	2184 479
7	No. of defaulting members	11896	16037	890 <b>9</b>	4037
8	Paid-up capital (i) Total (ii) Of which from Government	11.59 2.43	9.46 2.28	9.63 2.26	6.19 1.09
9	Reserves	0.26	0.43	0.47	0.09.
10	Deposits _	2.32	2.53	2.42	2.81
11	Borrowings from C.F. As	35.11	29.79	24.90	23.18
12	Loans outstanding (i) Total (ii) Short-term (iii) Medium-term	35.07 31.22 3.85	25.09 17.76 7.33	27.03 	24.72 21.70 3.02

@ Estimated at 5 persons per family.

# ANNEXURE 57 (Contd.)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
13	Loans overdue				
	(i) Total (ii) Of which overdue over 3 years	20.01 8.28	15.63 6.06	15.50 4.31	13.45 3.74
14	Percentage of overdues to outstandings	57.1	62.3	57.3	54.4
15	<ul> <li>(a) Demand</li> <li>(b) Collection</li> <li>(c) Balance</li> </ul>	 20.01	22.33 6.70 15.63	19.48 3.98 15.50	25.41 11.95 13.45
16	Percentage of overdues to demand		70.0	79.6	52.9
17	Societies borrowing from C.F. As (1972- Number	·3) 63	50	71	24
18	Societies advancing loans (i) Number (ii) Amount advanced	63 15.98	52 10.21	74 9.87	29 10.12
19	Societies undertaking marketing and processing activities	_	_	_	_
20	Societies undertaking distribution (a) Of farm requisites (i) Number (ii) Amount	4 0.55	1 0.02	47 2.32	13 2.04
	<ul> <li>(b) Of consumer goods         <ul> <li>(i) Number</li> <li>(ii) Amount</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	18 6.01	37 13.99	24* 7.60	_
21	Societies with full-time paid manager	31	46	32	26
22	Societies working at: (a) Profit				
	(i) Number (ii) Amount	133 0.80	90 0.71	113 0.60	34 0.69
	(b) Loss (i) Number (ii) Amount	72 0.40	63 0.55	46 0.29	9 0.11
~~~~	(c) No profit, no loss	3	28	48	13

\* No. in respect of 7 blocks only

Name of the Marketing	Whe- ther dor-	No. of Blocks	No. of Pri- mary		id-up pital	Whe- ther under-	as		ue of Sa Agent du		2-3	Loar Crea Socie		Whe- ther	Profit (+)/
Society		served	Socie- ties		Of	takes market		Agricul- tural	Agri- cultural	Con-	Minor Forest	recov		owns a Go-	Loss (—) for
			affi- liated	Total	from Govern- ment	ing	Total		Requi- sites			No. of Pri- mary Societies	reco- vered		the year
Banswara District															
KVSS	No	2	67	3.05	2.25	No								Yes	+ 0.3
2 Ghatol KVSS	No	2 2	29	0.33	0.15	No		••				<del></del>	_	Yes	•••
3 Garhi KVSS 4 Kushalgarh	No	2	49	0.39	0.30	No	••	••	••	••				Yes	••
KVSS	No	2	34	0.22	0.09	No	••	••		••	•••	·	—	No	••
Dungarpur District 5 Dungarpur KVSS	No	5	159	0.47	0.25	Yes	0.05	_		0.05				Yes	+ 0.1
Udaipur District 6 Udaipur KVSS	No	9 includi 8 tribal		2.72	2.15	Yes	35.04		2.48	32. <b>5</b> 6				No.	+ 0.3
Chittorgarh District 7 Pratapgarh			L												
KVSS 8 Arnod KVSS	No No	1	••	0.29 0.02	0.15	Yes No	8.10			8.10		••	1,00	No No	+ 0.0

Financial and other Particulars of Co-operative Marketing Societies operating in the Tribal Area for the Year 1972-3

## Financial and other Particulars of Forest Labour Societies in Tribal Areas for the Year 1972-3

Rupees Lakhs

	Items	Bans- wara	Dungar- pur	Udaipur	Chittor- garh
1	No. of societies (i) Total (ii) Of which dormant	8 8	8	20 17	4
2	Membership (i) Total (ii) Of which engaged in collection of forest produce	616 471	409 283	1820 1762	486 174
3	Paid-up capital (i) Total (ii) Of which from Government	0.08	0.07	0.37 0.12	0.10 0.01
4	Reserves	0.01		2.28	0.01
5	Deposits		0.04	_	0.25
6	Borrowings	0.03	0.26	0.57	1.50
7	Loans outstanding	0.10	_	0.06	0.07
8	Overdues	0.10	-	0.06	0.02
9	Value of forest contracts taken up	-	-	11.25	0.90
10	Value of forest produce collected		—	<b>2</b> .39@	9 0.90
11	Value of forest produce sold		· _	8.17	0.83
12	Wages paid		_ <del></del>	1.28	0.01
13	Societies working at (a) Profit (i) Number (ii) Amount	=	-	2 0.32	-
	(b) Loss (i) Number (ii) Amount	_		1 0.68	3 0.27
	(c) No profit, no loss	8	8	17	1

@ Data in respect of one society not available

Name of the member	Amount borrowed from the money- lender	Purpose	Interest rate	Amount outstanding/ conditions for repayment	Land holdings of the members	Crops taken	No. of members in the family	Subsi- diary occu- pation	Remarks
(1) Umrai GSS D	(2) District Bansward	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
1 Shri Dipa Bijia (Defaulter to society Rs 100)	Rs 50 in kind (cloth) Rs 50 in cash 2 years old		40 Kg of kapas to be delivered for cash loan of Rs 50. Cloth loan to be repaid in kind. If failure of crops then in cash (interest rate worked out to about 75%)		15 bighas of dry land	Maize Wheat Kapas	5	Casual labour	Unsecured loan — no knowledge what interest is charged
2 Shri Hadia Rajgaji (Non- defaulter society loan Rs 250)	Rs 1000 Rs 400 (Hand Ioan from relative) July/August 1974	Purchase of land 3½ bighas	3 paise per rupee per month	Rs 1000 to reray in kind or cash as convenient Rs 400 Rs 500	20 bighas	Kapas Maize Wheat Paddy	9	Casual labour	Loan of Rs 1000 obtained against security of silver ornaments (200 tolas) plus 2 sureties for Rs 500 loan. Hand- loan of Rs 500 from relative unsecured. Borrower owns 3
3 Shri Lal Kering (Non- defaulter society loar Rs 240)	Rs 300 8 months	Purchase of bullock	3 per cent per month (36%)	Rs 300	12 bighas (1.5 bighas irrigated)	Gram		Labour on mines	cows Owns 2 cows — Security for loan silver ornaments of 1 Kg weight

ANNEXURE 60 Indebtedness of Tribals from Select Societies

# ANNEXURE 60 (Contd.)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
4	Shri Mangalia Thavala (Non-defaulter society loan Rs 200)	<b>Rs 860</b>	Purchase of bullocks	1 paisa (old) per rupee per month	Rs 860To repay in kind.	16 bighas (4 bighas irrigated)	Wheat Kapas Maize Gram	8	Bullock cart hire	Owns 4 goats — Loan obtained against security of $1\frac{1}{2}$ kgs of silver
-	Shri Portu Bokar (Non- defaulter society loan Rs 300)	3 years old	house	per month (48%)	Rs 1000 Rs 500 paid towar interest in form of grains during each of the last 2 years	f	Maize Kapas Pulses Wheat	3	Nil	Milch cattle owned 2 cows and one buffalo Loan obtained aga- inst the security of 2 kgs of silver
Ar	nazara GSS, Bi				D 11D 250	e1 1 1 1		,	T 1	Mileh antile annual
6		about 2 years old	For well	3 paise per rupee per month Interest to be paid in cash	Repaid Rs 350 Fully outstanding	5½ bighas	Maize (3 qtls) Wheat (80 kilos)	6	Labou- rer	Milch cattle owned One cow, 6 goats — Rs 500 hand loan from relation to supplement Bank of Baroda loan
~		Rs 300	For food	2 paise	No repayment	2 bighas	Maize	7	Maz-	Milch cattle owned.
,		in kind	grains and cloth 2 years old (1972)	per rupee per month		(partly hilly track)		(3 sons)		one cow, 2 goats Borrowed from a member of the so- ciety who is a local trader
£	Shri Jivaraji Vektaji Hon. Secty. of the Amazara	Rs 400 from Dungarpur money-lende Received onl Rs 350 after deduction of discount— 3 years old sh	er. medical y expenses	6 per cent per month compound (72%) Repayment of interest in cash	Total outstanding together with local borrowings for domestic purposes aggregate about Rs 5000	ts 42 bighas (well shared by 4 brothers) Land holdi frangmente	Wheat (1 qtl) ng	8 (5 sons)		Milch cattle owned 1 cow, 8 goats

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
9 Shri Tehara Ranji (Society loan of Rs 400 — since con- verted — Fresh S.T. I of Rs 160)	only Rs 60 in hand Rs 20 being ducted as dis About 8 year	de- scount	3 paise per rupee per month — has paid Rs 35 in cash towards interest during the period	Rs 140 Total indebted- ness of the member was about Rs 1000	71 bighas (shared by 4 brothers) 21 bighas irrigated by a well, digging of well is not completed	(6 qtls) Wheat	21	Maz- doors	Milch cattle owned 2 goats
· · · · · · ,	Rs 80 (from local trader) against security of silver 16 tola		Rs 2 <del>1</del> per 100 per month						
Barothi GSS, L	District Dungarp	ur			.=				
10 Shri Lalo Jule (Non- defaulter to society)	Rs 400 Receiv- ed Rs 250 after deduction of discount an advance interes 2 years old	of bullock d	25% per annum to be paid in advance at the time of Diwali	Rs 400 (paid interest of Rs 100 for each of last 2 years in kind 1 qtl. of wheat for each year)	8-bighas (4 bighas irrigated by well)	Maize (5 qtls) Wheat (5 qtls)	3	_	
11 Shri Dhla Harji Rs 700 S.T. loan used for digging of a new well which is incomplete	Rs 700 Rs 700 from bania trader 4 years old 3 years old	Marriage of son -do-	per rupee (compound)	Rs 3000 payment of interest and repayment of loan in form of grains — Lender comes to the farm and takes away the grains	½ bigha irrigated by 1 well	Maize Wheat Sugarcane in $\frac{1}{2}$ bigha irrigated land		labour	Milch cattle owned 1 buffalo and 1 cow. Elder brother stood as personal surety for the advances from the traders — He has paid 1 qtl of wheat every year which has been adjusted towards interest by the money- lender

(9) (10)(7) (8) (5) (6) (1) (2) (3) (4) Milch cattle owned 15 Farm 12 Shri Kala Rs 500 (From 3 paise Rs 500 (has paid 94 bighas Paddy For supple-2 cows and 10 goats menting interest in form (4 bighas (2 atls) and Kala trader - Receiper month Loan obtained other ved only Rs 300 taccavi loan of grains. 14 qtls irrigated Wheat  $(1\frac{1}{2} \text{ qtls})$ labour against a surety after deduction **Rs 500 for** of wheat every on well) of discount and digging of and vear Kapas advance interest) well 5-6 years old Farm Own 2 buffaloes rRs 200 (has paid 91 bighas Paddy 13 Shri Masji Rs 200 Purchase About 11 interest for (3 atls) labour Pema (Received of 25 per cent Rs 120 after bullocks 2 years in the form Maize deduction of discount of  $1\frac{1}{2}$  gtls of wheat (3 qtls) and advance interest) every year 1973 14 Shri Nana Rs 100 3 bighas N.A. He mortgaged one piece of culti-Foodvable land for each of the three (in kind) (4 different Vokta grains loans. The remaining one piece is (Amazara pieces) of hilly track and unproductive. GSS) Rs 150 Repayment of Bank of Baroda loan taken for digging of well He has now no means to repay the loan or pay the interest. The mort-(well incomplete) Rs 70 Foodgrains gaged land is cultivated by the (in kind) money-lender and Shri Nana Vokta works as a paid farm labour for cultivation of his own land 15 Shri Nana Mokaii N.A. (Member of He purchased a bullock worth Rs 350 from a Banjara and was short of Rs 160 for payment to him. He borrow-

ANNEXURE 60 (Contd.)

(Member of Bakha GSS) He purchased a bullock worth Rs 350 from a Banjara and was short of Rs 160 for payment to him. He borrowed the amount from Kalal and mortgaged the bullock to him as security. Kalal adjusted the bullock towards previous debt owed by the member and took in mortgage, the land for fresh debt of Rs 160. Shri Nana Mokaji had no other means for repayment of loan or repayment of interest. Kalal has since acquired the land toward recovery of interest and evicted the borrower from his land. He now works as Sagri at Kalal's house for repayment of interest on the debt of Rs 160

# State of Land Records in Tribal Area

District/Name of Tehsil	No. of revenue		S	State of Land Rec	ord		Total
	Villages	No. of Villages fully surveyed	Year of latest Survey (year in Sambat)	No. of villages partially surveyed	Year of Survey	Not surveyed	(col.5 + col.7)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
District Dungarpur							
1 Dungarpur	420	420	2019	Nil	D.A	Nil	D.A.
2 Aspur	146	146	2016				
3 Sagwara	263	263	2021		_		
District Banswara							
1 Kushalgarh	397	58	1997	1			
		6	2002				
		9	2006			·	
		. 3	2008		·		
		321	2015				
2 Garhi	167	4	1995			·	· ••••
		72	1996				
		1.	1997	<u> </u>			
		1	2000				
		1	2001	<u> </u>			
		23	2002	· · · · ·			
		1	2004				
		40	2006		`		
		17	2007				
		7	2008		<u> </u>		_

			ANNEXU	URE 61 (Contd	l.)			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
3	Ghatol	316	94 44	1995	Nil	<b>D</b> .Л.	Nil	D.A.
			44	1997		_		
			1	1998	·			
			2	1999				
			6	2000			_	
			1	2001		_	_	<u> </u>
			24 1	2002				
			1	2005			<b>→</b>	
			86 44	2006				
			44	2007				
			13	2008	_			
4	Bagidora	259	1 18	1995	Nil	D.A.	Nil	D.A.
			18	1996	<u> </u>			
			206	2002		—		
			15 19	2006	—			
			19	2008		—		
5	Banswara	325	1	1995				
			22	1996		-		
			14	1997	_			
			22 14 48	1996 1997 1998 1999 2000		<del></del>		
			7	1999				
			5 112	2000	_			
			112	2001 2002				
			4	2002		<b>→</b>		
			4	2004			·	
			38 2 68	2006			—	
			2	2007				
			68	2008				
	· ····							

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
rict Udaipur							
1 Kotra	304	304	2012			—	
2 Gogunda	146	15	1994	Nil	D.A	Nil	D.A.
		7	1995				
		23	1996				<del>.</del>
		4	1997			_	
		5	1998			<u> </u>	<u> </u>
		6	1999	_		—	_
		. 3	2000				
		2	2001	. —	. —	·	_
		1	2002				
		1	2005		-		
		65	2007		<del>_</del>		
		1	2008				_
	•	13	2011		-		
3 Kherwara	234	3	1992		·		
		5	1993	—			
		10	1994		—		_
		2	1996		—		
		1	2001				_
		1	2002	_		—	_
		48	2008				

		ANNEXURE	5 61 (Contd.)				
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
3 Kherwara (contd.) 4 Phalasia	259	164 10	2013 1993	— Nil	 D.A.	— Nil	 D.A.
4 Flialasia	LJJ	5 4	1995 1999			_	
		9 6	2003 2005			_	
		225	2011	_	_	_	_
5 Lasadia	245	9 6	1997 1998				
		16 22 12	1999 2002	_			_
		12 20	2003 2004			_	_
		20 35 32 93	2005 2007				_
6 Sarada	159	93 34	2011 1991	_			
U Salada	107	8 15	1992 1994	_		_	
		6 2	1995 1997	_	_		
		7	1997 1998 1999	-	_		-
		4	2000				` <b></b>
		2 2	2001 2002 2003	 Nil	 D.A.	Nil	D.A.
		1 2	2005	_	D.A. —		<b>D.</b> A.
		5 68	2007 2011			·	

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
7 Salumber	221	17	1991	<u> </u>			
		14	1992				_
		2	1994		<del></del>		
		14	1995		_		—
		7	1997	—			
		4	1998	_			
		6	1999	_			
		4	2001				_
		8 20 27	2003	—	·		
		20	2004	-			
		27	2005	_	—	_	
		4	2007				
	,	77	2017-				-
District Chittorgarh							
1 Pratapgarh	530	129	2001	_	·		
		401	2010	_	. <del> </del>	_	

### List of Primary Agricultural Credit Societies visited

#### AJMER

- 1 Udaigarh Kheda Gram Seva Sahakari Samiti, Dhantol.
- 2 Kadeda Gram Seva Sahakari Society, Kadeda.

#### BHILWARA

- 3 Gurlan Gram Seva Sahakari Society, Gurlan.
- 4 Banka Kheda Gram Sewa Sahakari Society, Banka Kheda.

#### JODHPUR

- 5 Gajasinghpura Gram Sewa Sahakari Society, Gajasinghpura.
- 6 Bhoopalgarh Large-size Cooperative Society, Bhoopalgarh.

	District	1956	1961	1966	1971	Wool Pro- duction (in kgs)
1	Ajmer	4,37,351	4,88,718	4,87,202	5,54,593	7,55,356
2	Alwar	98,698	99,427	1,18,565	91,057	1,24,020
3	Barmer	4,71,074	5,86,064	7,92,150	5,67,656	5,79,577
4	Bundi	70,043	78,369	86,048	96,966	99,002
5	Banswara	25,242	23,838	26,440	20,027	20,448
6	Bharatpur	61,714	67,897	78,537	52,449	71,436
7	Bhilwara	5,98,044	6,96,042	7,35,652	7,79,992	7,96,372
8	Bikaner	4,79,810	4,30,232	5,33,517	4,01,701	7,29,489
9	Chittorgarh	1,36,602	1,67,017	2,15,182	2,02,717	2,06,974
10	Dungarpur	75,141	91,428	89,767	1,27,555	1,30,234
11	Ganganagar	3,23,377	2,87,294	3,34,320	2,83,825	5,79,854
12	Jaipur	3,36,686	3,62,875	3,82,539	3,69,389	3,77,146
13	Jodhpur	5,77,973	4,84,963	6,63,335	6,82,636	9,29,750
14	Jaisalmer	3,94,730	4,66,819	5,90,864	3,13,163	7,81,968
15	Jalore	4,36,563	4,06,219	5,15,654	4,53,178	6,17,228
16	Jhalawar	17,493	21,220	29,047	25,016	25,541
17	Jhunjhunu	1,69,327	2,18,114	1,75,701	2,11,593	3,84,253
18	Kota	53,468	49,750	61,834	43,527	44,441
19	Nagaur	6,71,652	3,97,614	5,90,013	8,0 <b>2,</b> 055	14,56,532
20	Pali	6,53,193	4,93,170	6,59,634	6,27,042	8,54,031
21	Sikar	2,32,477	2,92,704	3,25,743	3,96,596	7,20,218
22	S. Madhopur	65,095	94,823	1,01,220	85,840	87,643
23	Sirohi	1,47,268	1,48,239	1,63,915	1,77,196	2,41,341
24	Tonk	1,62,456	2,32,527	2,75,943	3,02,594	3,08,948
25	Churu	3,39,358	2,89,642	3,62,111	4,26,060	8,70,441
26	Udaipur	3,47,440	3,84,579	4,13,241	4,68,401	4,78,237
	Total	78,72,805	73,59,593	88,06,174	85,62,822	1,22,70,480

District-wise Population of Sheep in Rajasthan (as per Livestock Census) and Wool Production

Rajasthan Sheep Breeds, their Habitat, Number, Annual Wool Production and its Quality

Sr. No.	Breed	Home Tract	Total Sheep Population <sup>†</sup>	Annual Production of Wool per Sheep (kgs)	Annual Breed-wise Wool Production*	Qualities of Wool
1	Chokla	Churu, Jhunjhunu and Sikar districts also round common boundaries of Bikaner, Jaipur and Jodhpur Division		1 0/0 - 0 0/0	10.00.050	
2	Pugal	and Nagaur District Pugal area in Western Bikaner District and Northern parts of Jaisalmer	7,37,474	1,360 to 2,268	13,39,253	
		District	1,33,379	1, 368 to 2,268	2,42,216	(Medium & coarse)
3	Magra	Jaisalmer, Nagaur and Bikaner District	4,90,665	1,360 to 2,268	8,91,048	(Medium and coarse grades)
4	Nali	North, north-eastern parts of Bikaner				
		Division extending into Punjab State	5,15,287	1,360 to 2,721	10,52,731	(Medium and coarse)
5	Jaisalmeri	North-western parts of Jodhpur and				•
		Jaisalmer District	5,90,864	1,814 to 3,175	14,75,387	(Medium and Fine)
6	Marwari	Jodhpur Division and adjoining areas				
		of Ajmer and Udaipur Division	35,76,523	0,902 to 1,814	48,71,102	(Medium and coarse)
7	Malpura	Jaipur and S. Modhopur District	14,72,597	0,680 to 1,360	15,03,522	(Coarse and very coarse grades)
8	Sonadi	Udaipur Division extending into				
		former Bombay State	12,89,385	0,907 to 1,360	13,16,462	(Very coarse)
		-	88,06,174		1,26,91,721	Kgs.

Body Weight—Chokla 20-25 Kg., Pugal 25-30 Kg., Magra 25-30 Kg., Nali 30-35 Kg., Jaisalmeri 30-35 Kg., Marwari 25-30 Kg., Malpura 25-30 Kg., Sonadi 25- 30 Kg. Average wool production—1.44 kgs per sheep † As per 1966 live-stock census \* As per 1966 estimates

#### • ANNEXURE 65

Dis	trict Sheep and Wool Office		No. of C	entres	Sheep-bro	eding Farms
	wool Omce		Extension		No.	Location
1	Ajmer		10	· 1	•	
2	Barmer		8			
3	Bhilwara		6	3	·	_
4	Bikaner		13	1	1	Johrbeer
5	Chittorgarh		3	1	1	Chittorgarh
6	Churu		13	·		
7	Ganganagar		<u> </u>	2		<b>—</b> ,
8	Jaipur		12	1	1	Jaipur
9	<b>J</b> aisalmer		11	1	1	Lathi
10	Jalore		11		_	·
11	Jodhpur		11 (	1	1	Mandore
12	Nagaur		13	1	- 1	Nagaur
13	Sikar		16	1		
		Total	127	13	6	

District-wise Number of Extension and Artificial Insemination Centres and Location of Sheep-breeding Farms

.

Year	Wool purchased (Kgs)	Value Rs	
1964-5	3,75,952.976	20,54,644.84	
1965-6	8,78,222.543	51,07,788.77	
1966-7	4,29,518.931	20,58,909.09	
1967-8	8,41,657.127	45,31,018.04	
1968-9	8,95,939.209	47,15,111.23	
1969-70	7,89,287.000	42,15,508.00	
1970-71	9,83,826.000	53,05,241.30	
1971-2	8,85,569.733	47,45,167.12	
1972-3	7,11,789.650	54,17,941.37	
1973-4	10,73,305.281	_21,21,189.73	

# ANNEXURE 66

# Year-wise Purchases of Wool from 1964-5 to 1973-4

	Name of Distri		W	ool purchased in Kgs
	Name of Distri	ct		As per proforma account 1973-4
1	AJMER	(i) Ajmer (ii) Bhilwara (iii) Chittorgarh	}	1,17,205.689
2	BARMER			79,276.250
3	BIKANER	(including Anoopgarh, Suratg and Raisinghnagar Tehsils Ganganagar District)	arh of	1,20,677.690
4	CHURU	(including Nohar, Bhadra, Har mangarh and Sadulshahar Teh of Ganganagar District)	nu- sils	61,506.687
5	JAIPUR	(i) Jaipur (ii) Alwar (iii) Bundi (iv) Tonk	}	2,86,014.750
6	JODHPUR			57,307.500
7	JAISALMER			56,341.680
8	JALORE	(i) Jalore (ii) Pali	}	1,20,272.925
9	NAGAUR			73,382.560
10	SIKAR	(i) Sikar (ii) Jhunjhunu	}	1,01,319.550
		Total Value Rs		10,73,305.281 Kgs 1,21,21,189.73

**ANNEXURE 67** 

District-wise Wool Purchases made by the Sheep and Wool Directorate

## Medium-term Loans issued for Purchase of Sheep to identified Small/Marginal Farmers by Central Co-operative Banks in Ajmer and Bhilwara for the years 1971-2 to 1973-4

									Rupees Lak	
-				Y	'ear					
1971-2			19	72-3	19	73-4	Total (2+3+4)			
Name of the bank		No. of Beneficiaries	Amount	No. of Amount Beneficiaries		No. of Amount Beneficiaries		No. of Beneficiaries	Amount	
	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)	(5a)	(5b)	
1	Ajmer	153	2.44	219	3.28	362*	5.34*	734	11.06	
2	Bhilwara	55	1.65	321	6.11	298	4.55	674	12.31	

• upto November 1974.

# · Coverage of Sheep Farmers in the Areas of Societies visited

Nam	e of the society	No. of Sheep No. of Farmers in Members the Area		Of Members, Sheep Farmers	
Ajme	r				
1	Udaigarh Kheda GSS	<b>69</b>	206	69	
2	Kadeda GSS	157	423 ·	73	
Bhilu	vara				
3	Gurlan GSS	200	314	70	
4	Banka Kheda GSS	35	425	15	
Jodhj	pur				
5	Gajasinghpura GSS	150	261	15	
6	Bhoopalgarh Large-siz Co-operative Society	ed 100	615	35	

### ANNEXURE 70

Medium-term Loans advanced for Purchase of Sheep and Recoveries thereof during the Period 1971-2 to 1973-4 in respect of Societies visited

		Medium-term Loans (5 years) for Purchase of Sheep from 1971-2 to 1973-4					
Name	e of the society	No. of Farmers	Amount of Loan	Overdues as on 30.6.74			
			Rs	Rs			
Ajmei	r						
1	Udaigarh Kheda GSS Dhantol	5, 16	24,900	3,730			
2	Kadeda GSS, Kadeda	12	17,540	900			
Bhilw	para						
3	Gurlan GSS, Gurlan	10	12,278	Nil			
4	Banka Kheda GSS Banka Kheda	S, 2	3,831	195			

	Name of the Cultivator	Villege	Data of	She	ep purchase	d	Pres	sent Stock*	•
	Name of the Cultivator	Village	Date of loan	Ewes	Rams	Total	Ewes	Rams	Total
1	Shri Rama S/o Ragha Gujar	Dhantol	11-1-72	30	1	31	60	36	96
2	Shri Kana S/o Ghisa Gujar	,,	1-11-71	30	1	31	7	6	13
3	Shri Ganga Ram S/o Dhanna	**	11-1-72	30	1	31	13	11	24
4	Shri Bhagirth S/o Baktawar	,,	21-1-72	30	1	31	33	18	51
5	Shri Dhanna S/o Birma	,,	1-2-72	30	1	31	43	28	71
6	Shri Chand Mal S/o Chatra	Heerapura	3-2-72	JU -	1	31	28	10	38
7	Shri Amar Chand S/o Chatra	**	**	30	1 -	31	42	20	62
8	Shri Sundar S/o Surap Mal	**	,,	30	1	31	32	19	51
9	Shri Halu S/o Lucuba	Ganeshpura	21-1-72	30	1	31	25	18	43
10	Shri Nathu S/o Panna	Udaigarh Kharg	3-2-72	30	1	31	7	7	14
11	Shri Gopi S/o Kalla	,,	21-1-72	30	1	31	19	11	30
12	Shri Ladu S/o Chhitar		,,	30	1	31	31	16	47
13	Shri Ramkaran S/o Gokal	Dhantol	27-6-74	30	1	31	54	22	76
14	Shri Raju S/o Gokal	,,	**	30	1	31	54	24	78
15	Shri Sandool S/o Jethu	- ?	,,	30	1	31	55	26	81
16	Shri Kan Singh S/o Gordhansing	Gujenwar		30	1	31	30	16	46
17	Shri Ladu S/o Sheoji	Dhantol	29-7-74	30	1	31	30	29	59
18	Shri Chhotu S/o Dhanna	Udaigarh Kharg	24-8-74	30	_	30	30	20	50
19	Shri Nathu Ram S/o Gokal	Dhantol	8-9-74	30		30	30	27	57
20	Shri Uda S/o Gopal	<b>,</b> ,	26-9-74	30		30	29	15	44

## Stock of Sheep with the Members of Udaigarh Kheda GSS who were sanctioned Medium-term Loans for Purchase of Sheep

\* Inclusive of lambs—ewes and rams.

# Economics of Sheep Unit-30 Ewes and 1 Ram

## **REVISED SCHEME FOR PURCHASE OF SHEEP**

				D/- each Deshi Ram		Total	Rs	Total 2700/- 200/- 100/- 3000/-	Loan 1800/- 133/- 67/- 2000/-	Subsidy 900/- 67/- 33/- 1000/-	
Years	- <u>-</u>	nals maint	ained Ram	Total No. of		me by sale wool	Total income	Sale of manure	Sale of male		Total income
rears	Sheep	Ram/ lambs	Kam	animals	Sheep wool (Rs)	Ram/lamb wool (Rs)	bv sale of wool (Rs)	(Rs)	(Rs)		(Rs)
l Yr.	30	20	1	51	300	50	3:0	100	$10 \times 40/-e$	ach = 400	850
II Yr.	40	24	1	65	400	60	460	120	$12 \times 40/-e$	ach = 480	1060
III Yr.	50	30	1	81	500	70	570	140	$15 \times 40/-e^{-1}$	ach = 600	1310
IV Yr.	65	45	1	101	650	100	750	160	$22 \times 40/-e$	ach == 880	1790
V Yr.	90	55	1	146	900	120	1020	190	27 × 40/- e	ach = 1080	2290
				•				Five Y	(ears' Total I	income:	7,300
								Avera	ge Income:		1,460

		REPAYMENT O	F INSTALME	NTS	F	که	
	Year	Total Amount	Instalments	Interest	Total	Balance	
I II III IV V	Yr. Gross income Yr. Gross income Yr. Gross income Yr. Gross income Yr. Gross income	850 1060 1310 1790 2290	400 400 400 400 400	200 160 120 80 40	600 560 520 480 44	250 500 890 1310 1850	
	Total income	7300	2000	600	2600	4800	

Net Savings in 5 years — Rs 4,800

Average savings in 5 years - Rs 960

Note: 1 Lambing has been calculated at the rate of 60% keeping 10% mortality in lambs and 5% mortality in Adult sheep.

- 2 In first year farmer is advised to purchase all unshorn, P egnant or with lamb sheep. Puberty age for Marwar sheep is 14 to 18 months, with the result first year born lambs will conceive in second year and some of the sheep which could not lamb in first year will lamb in second year, with the result that increase in lambing will be maintained.
- 3 For marketing, male lamb of six months old, local traders contact sheep farmers frequently. Adult male lamb will take 2-3 times more price. Marketing of wool will be either through sheep and wool department or through local wool m.ndies of Beawar/Kekri etc.
- 4 Income by sale of wool has been calculated at the rate of 450-500 gms. per fleece weight. Sheep is shorn two times in a year and the average sales price is Rs 8/- to Rs 10/- per Kg. for unwashed wool and Rs 10/- to Rs 14/- per Kg. for washed wool. Shearing is done by local shearers and through the mobile shearing Van of Sheep and Wool Department.
- 5 No expenditure is incurred on feeding, sheep is maintained on natural pastures. During Feb.-April some sheep farmers purchase Accasia, Kheejadi trees to feed Loong papries for maintenance of new born lamb and flushing the sheep which cost of Rs 100/- per annum.
- 6 Income by sale of manure has been calculated on an average production of manure @ 4 to 5 carts per annum. Average sale price is Rs 20/- per cart.
- 7 For sheep, no shed is required. Only enclosure is required for protecting them from wild animals and street dogs.

(Sd.) PROJECT OFFICER. Aimer.

Block	No. of pacs	Of col. 2 dormant	Gross Cropped Area ('000 hectares)	No. of pacs that can be supported	(—) of	/ Credit Potential in 1973-4 (Rs lakhs)	col. 7)	Credit Require- ment to be met (60% of col. 8) (Rs lakhs)	supported w.r. to	() of
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
AJMER				_					-	
1 Srinagar@	41		12	6	+ 35	19.25	20.21	12.13	6	+ 35
2 Pisangan@	47		50	25	+ 22	81.70	85.78	51.47	25	+ 22
3 Jawaja@	35	7	15	7	+ 28	23.24	24.40	14.64	7	+ 28
4 Masuda	31		79	40	- 9	111.04	116.59	69.95	35	<u> </u>
5 Kekri@	32	3	45	22	+ 10	74.07	77.77	46.66	23	+ 9
6 Bhinai@	36	3	40	20	+ 16	59.25	62.21	37.33	18	+ 18
7 Kishang <b>arh</b>	30	2	85	43	- 13	118.34	124.26	74.56	37	- 7
8 Arain@	32	1	43	21	+ 11	76.33	80.15	48.09	24	+ 8
Total	284	22	369	184	+ 122 22	563.22	591.37	354.83	175	+ 120 11
ALWAR						··				
1 Kishangarhbas@	24	- 1	52	26	2	74.88	78.62	47.17	23	+ 1
2 Tijara@	32	ż	58	29	+ 3	80.50	84.53	50.72	25	÷ ;
3 Kotkasim@	32 24	ī	36	18	+ 6	50.39	52.91	31.75	15	÷ ģ
4 Govindgarh@	44	3	36 74	37	+ 7	102.98	108.13	64.88	32	+ 12
5 Kathumar@	43	3	53	27	+ 16	107.44	112.81	67.69	33	+ 10
6 Mandawar@	39	3	54	27	+ 12	74.27	77.98	46.79	23	+ 16
7 Ramgarh @	35	2	45	22	+ 13	65.96	69.26	41.56	20	+ 15

Block-wise Position of existing Number of Primary Credit Societies; Societies that can be supported on the basis of Cropped Area/Loan Business etc.

(1) 8 Umrain@ 9 Rajgarh@ 10 Reni@ 11 Behror 12 Neemrana@ 13 Bansur@ 14 Thanagazi@ Total	(2) 33 30 26 29 32 32 31 <b>454</b>	(3) 2 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 8	(4) 64 22 31 59 36 45 33 662	(5) 32 11 15 30 18 23 16 331	(6) + 1 + 19 + 11 - 1 + 14 + 9 + 15 + 126	(7) 89.12 35.94 40.01 105.94 47.60 64.27 52.68 <b>991.98</b>	(8) 93.58 37.74 42.01 111.24 49.98 67.48 55.31 1041.58	(9) 56.15 22.64 25.21 66.74 29.99 40.49 33.19 624.97	(10) 28 11 12 33 15 20 16 306	(11) + 5 + 19 + 14 - 4 + 17 + 12 + 15 + 152
1 VIAL	454	20	002	001	- 3	<i>//1./u</i>	1041.20	024.27	200	4
BHARATPUR 1 Deeg@ 2 Basseri@ 3 Nagarpahari@ 4 Rajakhera@ 5 Kama@ 6 Weir@ 7 Bayana@ 8 Rupbas 9 Dholpur@ 10 Nadbai@ 11 Bari@ 12 Kumbher@ 13 Sewar@	30 33 36 43 35 65 46 62 47 43 29 55 34	9 4 7 3 1 9 4 5 6 1 6 9 5	50 35 51 30 75 61 51 60 68 52 34 60 34	25 17 25 15 38 31 25 30 34 26 17 30 17	$\begin{array}{r} + & 5 \\ + & 16 \\ + & 11 \\ + & 28 \\ \hline & 3 \\ + & 34 \\ + & 21 \\ + & 32 \\ + & 13 \\ + & 17 \\ + & 12 \\ + & 25 \\ + & 17 \end{array}$	76.84 57.39 84.15 43.55 109.52 88.44 73.24 79.54 117.65 77.07 63.87 94.14 64.45	80.68 60.26 88.36 45.73 115.00 92.86 76.90 83.52 123.53 80.92 67.06 98.85 67.67	48.41 36.16 53.02 27.44 69.00 55.72 46.14 50.11 74.12 48.55 40.24 59.31 40.60	24 18 26 13 34 27 23 25 37, 24 20 29 20	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Total	558	69	661	330	+ 231	1029.85	1081.34	648.82	320	+ 238
BHILWARA 1 Mandalgarh@ 2 Mandal@ 3 Shahpura 4 Suwana@ 5 Asind@ 6 Hurda@	30 27 23 26 28 23	3 7 5 6 10 4	39 35 52 34 38 25	20 18 26 17 19 12	$\begin{array}{r} - 3 \\ + 10 \\ + 9 \\ - 3 \\ + 9 \\ + 9 \\ + 9 \\ + 11 \end{array}$	73.18 64.52 88.41 63.23 67.21 53.68	76.84 67.75 92.83 66.39 70.57 56.36	46.10 40.65 55.70 39.83 42.34 33.82	23 20 27 20 21 16	+ 7 + 7 - 4 + 6 + 7 + 7 + 7

			A	NNEXURE	E 73 (Contd	.)				
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
7 Banera@	19	4	21	10	+ 9	37.69	39.57	23.74	11	+ 8
8 Jahajpur@	27	6	43	22	+ 5	73.15	76.81	46.09	23	$\dot{+}$ 4
9 Kotri@	24	6	27	13	÷ 11	46.66	48.99	29.39	14	+ 10
10 Raipur@	18	ĩ	17	-8	+10	31.61	33.19	19.91	10	+ 8
11 Sahara@	27	4	25	13	+ 14	45.06	47.31	28.39	14	+ 13
Total	272	56	356	178	+ 97 - 3	644.40	676.61	405.96	199	+ 77 4
BUNDI	·····		- <u></u>	·						
1 Talera	43	9	82	41	+ 2	159.87	167.87	100.72	50	<u> </u>
2 Hindoli@	33	9	41	20	+ 13	84.29	88.50	53.10	26	+ 7
3 Nainwa@	30	8	47	23	+ 7	71.89	75.48	45.29	22	+ 8
4 Keshoraipatan	33	2	75	38	- 5	142.21	149.32	89.59	44	- 11
Total	139	28	245	122	+ 22 - 5	458.26	481.17	288.70	142	+ 15 - 18
GANGANAGAR			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				·			
1 Raisinghnagar	64	25	147	73	- 9	298.99	313.94	188.36	94	30
2 Karanpur@	41	11	58	29	+ 12	126.09	132.39	79.43	39	+ 2
3 Sadulshahar	39	8	126	63	- 24	229.81	241.30	144.78	72	- 33
4 Miezewala	47	5	90	45	+ 2	204.90	215.15	129.09	64	17
(Ganganagar)										
5 Hanumangarh	55	19	184	92	- 37	351.36	368.93	221.36	110	- 55
6 Nohar	52	13	394	197	— 145	470.84	494.38	296.63	148	- 96
7 Suratgarh	36	12	246	123	- 87	468.58	492.01	295.21	147	111
8 Padampur	37	4	75	37		143.76	150.95	90.57	45	8
9 Bhadra	44	4	178	89	- 45	201.97	212.07	127.24	63	- 19
Total	415	101	1498	748	+ 14 - 347	2496.30	2621.12	1572.67	782	+ 2 - 369
JAIPUR				· · · · · · ·				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
1 Bassi@	39	10	47	24	+ 15	73.71	76.35	45.81	22	+ 17
2 Sanganer@	39	9	52	26	+ 13	81.26	85.32	51.19	25	+ 14
3 Jhotwara@	27	66	40	20	+ 7	61.11	64.17	38.50	19	+ 8

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
4 Phagi@	41	10	71	35	+ 6	89.08	93.53	56.12	28	+ 13
5 Banc'ikui@	42	10	35	18	+ 24	50.96	53.51	32.11	16	+ 26
6 lobrer	14	6	53	26	<u> </u>	64.09	67.29	40.37	20	- 6
7 N'ozmabad (Dudu)@	39	10	72	36	+ 3	82.40	86.52	51.91	26	+ 13
8 Covindgarh@	44	11	22	11	+ 33 + 26 + 15 + 19	28.93	30.38	18.23	9	+ 3
9 Amber@	52	13	52	26	+ 26 + 15	113.34 104.74	119.01 109.98	71.41 65.99	35 33	+ 17 + 10
10 Jamwaramgarh@	49	12	67	34	+ 15	46.86	49.20	29.52	55 14	
11 Shahpura@:	32	8	27 60	13 30	+ 19 19	40.00	49.20	49.06	24	+ 12 - 13
12 Pairath	11	68	60 64	30		88.00	92.40	55.44	24	-1
13 Kotputli@	32 37	9	40	20	+ 17	63.47	66.64	39.98	20	+ 1
14 Sikrai@	45	12	40 57	20	+ 17 + 16	87.78	92.17	55.30	20	+ 18
15 1 alsot@	43	10	62	31	+ 10 + 10	115.89	121.68	73.01	36	+
16 Dausa@	41	11	51	25	+ 10 + 19	71.09	74.64	44.78	22	+ 2
17 Chaksu@	44 	11	51	2.5		/1.09	74.04	<del>41</del> .78		т 24
Total	628	161	872	436	+ 223 31-	1299.58	1364.55	818.73	403	+ 24
- IHAI AWAR							· · · ·		·	
1 Jhalarpatan@	39	1	58	29	+ 10	82.95	87.10	52.26	26	+ 13
2 Khanpur@	30	3	65	32	<u> </u>	90.96	95.51	57.31	28	+ 3
3 Dag@	40	1	59	30	+ 10	82.03	86.13	51.68	25	+ 1
4 Pirawa@	38	2	45	22	+ 16	60.76	63.80	38.28	19	+ 1
5 Rakani@	33	6	40	20	+ 13	55.39	58.16	34.90	17	+ 1
6 Mar.oharthana@	37	7	64	.32	+ 5	92.11	96.72	58:03	29	+ 3
Total	217	20	331	165	+ 54 2	464.20	487.42	292.46	144	+ 7
- К.ЭТА				<del></del>		<u></u>				
1 ladpira@	26		42	21	+ 5	78.51	82.44	49.46	24	+
2 Artah@	34		48	24	+ 10 + 7	68.18	71.58	42.95	21	+ 1
3 Baran@	32	8	50	25	+ 7	91.25	95.80	57.49	28	+

(1) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 67 4 Atru 30 33 3 120.54 126.57 75.94 38 8 1 49 10 39 56 17 5 Shahbad 1 112 156.98 164.83 98.90 \_\_\_\_ 3 6 Chechat (Kherabad)@ 21 ++-++ 24 49 24 67.75 71.14 42.68 \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ Sangod@ 33 1 62 31 2 85.94 90.24 54.14 27 6 7 + 30 32 2 8 Sultanour 60 30 104.25 109.47 65.68 1 \_ 36 20 9 Itawa@ 2 38 19 17 52.49 55.12 33.07 16 +10 Chhipabarod @ 24 28.53 17.12 8 16 1 17 9 + 15 27.17 11 Chhabra 21 66 33 12 117.06 122.91 73.75 36 -----15 -----\_\_\_\_ 305 Total 329 15 611 56 970.12 1018.63 611.18 300 +64 + 32 35 \_ \_ PALI 1 Bali@ 48 18 32 32 62.94 66.09 39.65 19 29 16 ++ 30 2 Sumerpur 11 102 51 21 88.22 44 14 140.03 147.03 ---------3 Kharchi@ 49 18 58 29 19 + ╋ 20 62.46 65.58 39.35 30 22 32 36 33 4 Desuri 8 19 9 13 27.10 28.45 17.07 8 ÷ 14 +5 Ranistation@ 12 29 14 21 18 35.04 36.79 22.07 11 +++++ 6 Jaitaran@ 14 53 105 17 70.93 35 112.58 118.21 \_\_\_\_ 1 7 Raipur@ 12 37 18 + 15 47.54 49.92 29.95 15 18 8 Sojat (a) 39 16 79 40 97.79 102.68 61.61 30 9 1 -----9 Pali 23 8 91 46 23 105.36 110.63 66.38 33 10 \_\_\_\_ ----10 Rohat@ 18 6 35 17 + 44.27 46.48 27.89 14 +1 4 Total 330 123 587 293 735.11 +99 771.86 463.12 228 + 12662 24 \_\_\_\_ -----SAWAI MADHOPUR 1 Mahwa(a) 35 12 50 25 10 74.97 78.72 +47.23 23 12 +2 Hindaun@ 48 17 52 26 + 22 81.33 85.40 51.24 25 23 + + 3 Gangapur@ 36 12 60 30 28 6 90.10 94.60 56.75 8 +

ANNEXURE 73 (Contd.)

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
4 Karauli @	44	16	40	20	+ 24	58.09	61.00	36.60	18	+ 26
	44	15	41	20	+ 24	69.34	72.80	43.69	21	+ 23
5 Sapotra@ 6 Todabhim@	44	16	48	24	+ 24	76.26	80.08	48.05	24	+ 23 + 24
7 Sawai Madhopur	40	17	77	38	+ 11	107.02	112.37	67.42	33	+ 16
	31	11	36	18	+ 13	48.79	51.23	30.74	15	+ 16
8 Khandar@	31	13	68	34	+ 13 + 4	99.24	104.20	62.52	31	
9 Bonli @			96		+ 4	143.17	150.33	90.20	45	+ 7 + 9
10 Nadoti@	54	19	90	48	+ 0	145.17	130.33	90.20	43	<u>+</u> 9
Total	427	148	568	284	+ 143	848.31	890.73	534.44	263	+ 164
ONK										
1 Tonk@	46	6	60	30	+ 16	95.10	99.85	59.91	30	+ 16
2 Malpura@	39	5	29	14	+ 25	55.45	58.23	34.94	17	+ 22
3 Niwai@	33	4	73	37	4.	104.41	109.63	65.78	32	+ 1
4 Deoli	38	5	92	46	- 8	128.51	134.94	80.96	40	<u> </u>
5 Uniara@	31	4	72	36	— Š	100.27	105.29	63.17	31	_
6 Todaraisingh	27	4	71	35	8	102.11	107.21	64.33	32	- 5
<u> </u>							··	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Total	214	28	397	198	+ 41 - 25	585.85	615.15	369.09	182	+ 39 - 7
JANSWARA							· <u> </u>			
1 Garhi@	40	4	25	13	+ 27	34.63	36.36	21.82	10	+ 30
2 Kushalgarh@	21	7	13	6	+ 15	17.04	17.90	10.74	5	+ 16
3 Sajjangarh@	20	5	23	12	+ 13	29.58	31.06	18.64	ğ	+ 10 + 11
4 Bagidora@	22	12	58	29	7	72.58	76.21	45.73	22	1 11
5 Bhukhiya@	16	4	32	16		40.93	42.98	25.79	12	+ 4
6 Ghatol@	33	25	31	15	+ 18	43.31	45.48	27.29	13	+ 20
7 Pipalkhunt@	20	16	3	1	+ 10 + 19	4.78	5.02	3.01	1	+ 19
8 Banswara (Talwara		12	46	23	+ 14	66.56	69.88	41.93	21	+ 16
			····		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			41.75		, 10
Total	209	85	231	115	+ 101 - 7	309.41	324.89	194.95	93	+ 116

				ANNEXU	RE 73 (Cont	d.)				
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
CHITTORGARH										
1 Begun@	27	5	27	14	+ 13	49.07	51.53	30.92	15	+ 12 + 12
2 Chittorgarh@	37 32	14 9	43 37	21 19	+ 16 + 13	81.40 64.63	85.47 67.86	51.28 40.72	25 20	+ 12 + 12
3 Rashmi@ 4 Kapasin@	22	6	25	12	+ 10	43.23	45.39	27.23	13	+ 9
5 Pratapgarh@	34	14	53	27	+ 7	76.25	80.06	48.04	24	+ 10
6 Neembahera@	24	2	42	21	+ 3	68.97	72.42	43.45	21	+ 3
7 Bhadesar@	24 30	11 10	24 44	12 22	+ 12 + 8	42.12 68.94	44.23 72.39	26.54 43.43	13 21	+ 11 + 9
8 Doongla@ 9 Chhotisadri@	30	9	44	22	+ 0	72.29	75.90	45.54	22	+ 8
10 Achnera (Arnod)@	21	5	36	18	+ 3	49.27	51.74	31.04	15	+ 6
11 Bhainsorgarh@@	13	3	21	11	+ 2	35.27	37.03	22.22	.11	+ 2
12 Bhopalsagar@	17	5	19	9	+ 8	29.95	31.45	18.87	9	+ 8
Total _	311	93	418	209	+ 102	681.39	715.47	429.28	2.09	+ 102
DUNGARPUR										
1 Simalwara@	45	15	30	15	+ 30	33.69	35.38	21.23	10	+ 35
2 Sagwara@	34	10	39	20	+ 14	44.00	46.20	27.72	13	+ 21
3 Dungarpur@	31 35	11 4	13 32	6 16	+ 25 + 19	16.06 41.04	16.87 43.09	10.12 25.85	5 12	+ 26 + 23
4 Bichiwara@ 5 Aspur@	35	8	27	13	+ 19 + 22	29.58	31.06	18.64	12	+ 26
Total	180	48	141	70	+ 110	164.37	172.60	103.56	49	+ 131
SIROHI										
1 Pindwara@	29	15	32	16	+ 13	40.53	42.56	25.54	12	+ 17
2 Sirohi@	30	11	44	22	+ 8	58.33	61.26	36.76	18	+ 12
3 Sheoganj@	24	10	36 55	18 27	+ 6	54.87	57.61	34.57	17	+ 7
4 Reodar@ 5 Abu Road@	31 21	12 11	55 16	8	+ 4 + 13	71.36 24.29	74.93 25.50	44.96 15.30	22 7	+ 9 + 14
Total	135	59	183	91	+ 44	249.38	261.86	157.13	76	+ 59

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	
UDAIPUR											
1 Kotra@	24	20	21	10	+ 14	25.44	26.71	16.03	8	+ 16	
2 Rajsamand@	28	6	21	11	+ 17	36.57	38.40	23.04	11	+ 17	
3 Kumbhalgarh@	33	3	13	6	+ 27	18.89	19.84	11.90	6	+ 27	
4 Relmagra@	27	4	17	8	+ 19	26.70	28.04	16.82	8	+ 19	
5 Amet@	20		14	ž	+ 13	22.10	23.20	13.92	7	+ 13	
6 Girwa@	41	11	28	14	+ 27	41.00	43.05	25.83	12	+ 29	
7 Badgaon@	31		īĭ	5	+ 26	14.09	14.79	8.87	4	+ 27	
8 Khamnore@	28	ģ	18	ğ	+ 19	31.42	32.99	19.79	ġ	+ 19	
9 Dhariawad@	31	15	29	14	+ 17	35.82	37.61	22.57	11	+ 20	
10 Salumber@	31	10	31	16	+ 15	43.82	46.01	27.61	13	+18	
11 Sarada@	32	6	24	12	+ 20	34,38	36.10	21.66	10	+22	
12 Mavli@	42	15	30	15	+ 20 + 27	45.27	47.53	28.52	14	$+ \tilde{2}\tilde{8}$	
13 Kherwara@	37	13	27	14	+ 23	29.40	30.87	18.52	19	$+ \tilde{28}$	
	42	19	39	20	+ 23	54.45	57.17	34.30	17	+ 25	
14 Bhinder@	42 24	19	14	20 7	+ 17	20.08	21.08	12.65	6	+ 18	
15 Gogunda@	24	37	24	12	+ 17 + 14	28.17	29.58	17.75	. 8	+ 18	
16 Jhadol@		1	12			20.10	29.38	12.67	6	+ 10	
17 Deogarh@	16	1		67					6		
18 Bhim@	36	8	14		+ 29	21.53	22.61	13.57		+ 30	
Total	549	151	387	193	+ 356	549.23	576.69	346.02	165	+ 384	
BARMER											
1 Suwana	29	9	118	24	+ 5	98.39	103.31	61.98	31	2	
2 Sheo	26	12	149	. 30	- 4	111.47	117.04	70.22	35	9	
3 Balotra@	29	10	75	15	+ 14	66.61	69.94	41.96	21	+ 8	
4 Dhromanna	33	<u> </u>	123	25	+ 8	99.17	104.13	62.48	31	$+$ $\overline{2}$	
5 Baitu	33	7	160	32	+ 1	122.00	128.10	76.86	38	<u> </u>	
6 Barmer	35	-	506	101	- 66	382.33	401.45	240.87	120	- 85	
7 Sindhari@	32	· _	112	22	+ 10	84.35	88.57	53.14	26	+ 6	
8 Chohtan	33		273	54	<u> </u>	205.05	215.30	129.18	64	<u> </u>	
Total	250	38	1516	303	+ 38	1169.37	1227.84	736.69	366	+ 16	•
2 0661	200	00	****	000	91	2107.01			000	132	423
							·····				ŝ

			ANI	NEXURE 7	13 (Contd.)					
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
BIKANER										
1 Bikaner 2 Loonkaransar	40 25	21 13	203 168	41 33	1 8	157.84 125.71	165.73 132.00	99.44 79.20	49 39	9 14
3 Nokha@	23	12	67	13	+ 10	49,90	52.40	31.44	15	+ 8
4 Kolayat	37	19	173	35	+ 2	135.43	142.20	85.32	42	3
Total	125	65	611	122	+ 12 - 9	468.88	492.33	295.40	145	+ 8 - 28
CHURU										
1 Sardarshahar	34	29	256	51	- 17	192.56	202.19	121.31	60	- 26
2 Ratangarh 3 Rajgarh@	25 43	16 21	285 154	57 31	-32 + 12	214.08 115.36	224.79 121.13	134.87 72.68	67 36	-42 + 7
4 Taranagar	21	10	109	22	- 1	81.72	85.81	51.49	25	4
5 Ratannagar (Churu)	26	17	128	26		96.15	100.96	60.58	30	- 4
6 Sujangarh 7 Dungargarb	34 26	14 4	168 125	33 25	+ 1 + 1	125.94 93.63	132.24 98.31	79.34 58.99	39 29	-5 -3
Total	209	111	1225	245	+ 14 50	919.44	965.43	579.26	286	+ 7 - 84
JAISALMER						<u>-</u>				
1 Shankra (Pokhran)@	y <b>49</b>	45	33	6	+ 43	25.40	26.67	16.00	8	+ 41
2 Jaisalmer@	22	20	68	14	+ 8	51.07	53.63	32.18	16	+ 6
3 Sam@ _	31	30	35	7	+ 24	25.94	27.24	16.34	8	+ 23
Total	102	95	136	27	+ 75	102.41	107.54	64.52	32	+ 70

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
ALORE 1 Ahore 2 Jalore	39 23	21 12	244 38	49 8	10 + 15	280.76 50.99	294.80 53.54	176.88	88 16	49 + 7
3 Sayala(ii)	32	17	37	7	+ 25	55.06	57.81	34.69	17	+ 7 + 15
4 Sanchore	51	28	274	55 20	- 4	284.76	299.00	179.40	89 40	-38 -12
5 Bhinmal 6 Raniwara@	28 25	15 13	101 10	20	$^{+}_{+}$ $^{8}_{23}$	129.79 21.29	136.28 22.35	81.77 13.41	40 6	-12 + 19
7 Jaswantpura@	21	11	17	3	+ 18	37.10	38.95	23.37	11	+ 19 + 10
Total	219	117	721	144	+ 89 14	859.75	902.73	541.64	267	+ 51 99
HUNJHUNU		- <del>1</del>				<u></u>			····	
1 Jhunjhunu@	31	19	83	17	+ 14	64.19	67.40	40.44	20	+ 11
2 Alsisar@	25	11	99 54	20	+ .5 + 24	74.37	78.09	46.85	23	+ 2 + 22
3 Buhana@ 4 Khetri@	35 31	25 21	54 38	11 8	+ 24 + 23	42.31 28.17	44.43 29.58	26.66 17.75	13 8	+ 22 + 23
5 Udaipurwati@	31 39	20	12	2	+ 23 + 37	28.71	30.15	18.09	° 9	+ 30
6 Nawalgarh@	32	14	92	18	+ 14	76.61	80.44	48.26	24	+ 8
7 Chirawa@	24	14	72	14	+ 10	54.09	56.79	34.07	17	+ 7
8 Surajgarh@	31	20	36	7	+ 24	40.83	42.87	25.72	12	÷ 19
Total	248	144	485	97	+ 151	409.28	429.75	257.84	126	+ 122
ODHPUR										
1 Bilara@	33	10	83	16	+ 17	67.96	71.36	42.82	21	+ 12 + 9 + 27
2 Bhopalgarh@	33	5	98	20	+ 13	77.45	81.32	48.79	24	+ 9
3 Osian@ 4 Jodhpur@	49 28	5	81 72	16 14	+ 33 + 14	69.82 67.26	73.31 70.62	43.99	22 21	+ 27 + 7
5 Luni	33	4 8	159	32	+ 14 + 1	122.89	129.03	77.42	38	$\frac{+}{-}$ 5
6 Shergarh	20	18	158	33	- 13	137.13	143.99	86.39	43	- 23

			A	NNEXURE	E 73 (Contd.	)				
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)
7 Balesar	- 22	12	101	20	+ 2	81.88	85.97	51.58	25	<u> </u>
8 Phalodi	25	18	250	50	- 25	189.06	198.51	119.11	59	34
9 Bap	20	4	117	23	3	87.62	92.00	55.20	27	7_
Total	263	84	1119	224	+ 80 - 41	901.07	946.11	567.67	280	+ 55 <u>- 72</u>
NAGAUR										
1 Deedwana@	48	32	129	26	+ 22	101.38	106.45	63.87	32	+ 16
2 Ladnu@	27	18	84	17	+ 10	63.71	66.90	40.14	20	+ 7
3 Kuchaman@	42	28	10	2	+ 40	12.80	13.44	8.06	4	+ 38
4 Nagaur	32	21	175	35	<u> </u>	133.73	140.42	84.25	42	<u> </u>
5 Mundawa	32	21	162	32		121.84	127.93	76.76	38	- 6
6 Jayal	37	24	163	33	+ 4	123.53	129.71	77.83	38	1
7 Makrana@	32	21	109	22	+ 10	87.13	91.49	54.89	27	+ 5
8 Parbatsar@	30	20	69	14	+ 16	56.22	59.03	35.42	17	+ 31
9 Degana@	35	23	118	23	+ 12	93.08	97.73	58.64	29	+ 6
10 Riyan@	34	22	85	17	+ 17	89.29	93.75	56.25	28	+ 6
11 Merta@	28	19	101	20	+ 8	80.89	84.93	50.96	25	+ 3
Total	377	249	1205	241	+ 139 3	963.60	1011.78	607.07	300	+ 94 - 17
SIKAR										
1 Fatehpur@	36	7	99	20	+ 16	74.38	78.10	46.86	23	+ 13
2 Lachmangarh@	37	24	44	-9	+ 28	34.30	36.02	21.61	10	+ 27
3 Piprali@	31	1	65	13	+18	54.85	57.60	34.56	17	+ 14
4 Dohat@	35	5	73	14	+ 21	59.05	62.00	37.20	18	+ 17
5 Dantaramgarh@	42	10	94	19	+ 23	94.98	99.73	59.84	30	+ 12
6 Srimadhopur@	31	12	54	11	+ 20	66.03	69.33	41.60	20	+ 11
7 Khandela@	37	12	55	11	+ 26	61.45	64.52	38.71	19	+ 18
8 Neemkathana@	48	27	80	16	+ 32	79.62	83.60	50.16	25	+ 23
Total	297	98	564	113	+ 184	524.66	550,90	330.54	162	+ 135

		Exist-	Of col. 2	Excess Societies	(+) / sho that can on the	rt-fall (—) of be supported basis of		
	District	ing number of	dor- mant	Cropp	ed Area	Loan Business		
		pacs	mant	No. of Blocks	No. of Societies	No. of Blocks	No. of Societies	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	
Norn	nal Zone							
(a) ]	NTA							
1	Ajme <b>r</b>	284	22	6 2	+ 122 - 22	6 2	$+ 120 \\ - 11$	
2	Alwar	454	28	12 2	$\frac{-}{+}$ 126 - 3	13 1	+ 152 4	
3	Bharatpur	558	69	12 1	+ 231 - 3	13	+ 238	
4	Bhilwara	272	56	10		10	+ 77	
5	Bundi	139	28	13	+ 22 - 5	1 2 2	+ 15 - 18	
6	Ganganagar	415	101	1 2*	+ 14	1	+ 2 - 369	
7	Jaipur	628	161	6 14*	-347 + 223	8 15	+ 244	
8	Jhalawar	217	20	25	-31 + 54	2 6	-19 + 73	
9	Kota	329	15	1 6@	2 + 56	7 4	$^{+}_{-}$ $^{64}_{35}$	
10	Pali	330	123	36	- 32 + 99	8	+ 126	
11	Sawai Madhopur	427	148	4 10	- 62 + 143	2 10	-24 + 164	
12	Tonk	214	28	2 4	+ 41 - 25	3* 2	+ 39 - 7	
	Sub-total	4267	799	88 27	+1228 535	94 24	+1314 - 491	
b) 1	ГА							
13	Banswara	209	85	6	+ 101	7	+ 116	
14	Chittorgarh	311	93	1 12	$\frac{1}{+}$ 102	12	+ 102	
15	Dungarpur	180	48	5	+ 110	5	+ 131	
16	Sirohi	135	59	5	+ .44	5	+ 59	
17	Udaipur	549	151	18	+ 356	18	+ 384	
	Sub-total	1384	436	46 1	+ 713	47	+ 792	

		ANNE	EXURE 1	3 (Cont	d.)		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Arid	Zone						
18	Barmer	250	38	5	+ 38	3	+ 16
19	Bikaner	125	65	2	-91 + 12	5	-132 + 8
20	Churu	209	11	5 3 2 3* 3	9 + 14 - 50	3 1 6	- 28 + 7 - 84
21	Jaisalmer	102	95	3	+ 75	3	$\frac{-}{+}$ 70
	Sub-total	686	209	13 8	+ 139 150	8 14	+ 101 244
	arid Zone						
22	Jalore	219	117	5 2 8	+ 89 - 14	43	+ 51 - 99
23	Jhunjhunu	248	144	8	+ 151	8	+ 122
24	Jodhpur	263	84	6 3	+ 80 - 41	4	+ 55 72
25	Nagaur	377	249	5 9* 1	+ 139 - 3	5 8 3 8	+ 94 - 17
26	Sikar	297	98	8	+ 184	8	+ 135
	Sub-total	1404	692	36 6	+ 643 58	32 11	+ 457 188
	Tota)	7741	2136	183 42	+2723 750	157 70	+2664 923
							· · -

ANNEXURE 73 (Contd.)

\* No excess or short-fall in one block in the district

@ No excess or short-fall in 2 blocks in the district

428

·		Names of Blocks wherein the No. of excess Societies							
Zone	District	exceeds the number of dormant Societies in the Block			đ	does not exceed the number of dormant Societies in the Block			
		<u> </u>	Block	Excess		Block	Short- fall		
(1)	(2)		(3)	(4)		(5)	(6)		
Normal (a) NTA	Ajmer	1 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	Srinagar* Pisangan* Jawaja Kekri Bhinai Arain Tijara Kotkasim Govindgarh Kathumar Mandawar Ramgarh Umrain Rajgarh Reni	35 22 21 6 15 1 5 8 9 7 13 13 13 13 15	1	Kishangarhbas			
	Bharatpur	16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28	Neemrana Bansur Thanagazi Basseri Nagarpahar Rajakhera Weir Bayana Rupbas Dholpur Nadbai Bari Kumbher	10 13 11 27 29 19 32 4 18 3 17	2 3	Deeg Kama	3		
	Bhilwara	29 30 31 32 33 34 35	Sewar Mandalgarh Hurda Banera Kotri Raipur Sahara	9 4 3 4 7 9	4 5 6 7	Mandal Suwana Asind Jahajpu <b>r</b>	 3 2		
	Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur	36 37 38 39 40 41 42	Bassi Sanganer Jhotwara Phagi Bandikui Dudu Govindgarh	7 5 2 3 16 3 24	8 <sup>°</sup> 9 10 11 12	Hindoli Nainwa Karanpur Kotputli Dausa	2 9 3 5		

List of Blocks having excess Societies

430

## ANNEXURE 74 (Contd.)

(1)	(2)		(3)	(4)		(5)	(6)
		43 44 45 46	Amber Jamwaramgarh Shahpura Sikarai	4 4 10 8			
		47 48	Lalsot Chaksu	6 11			
	Jhalawar	49 50 51 52 53	Jhalarpatan Dag Pirawa Bakani Manoharthana	12 14 17 10 1	13	Khanpur	1
	Kota	54 55 56 57 58 59	Ladpura* Antah* Chechat* Sangod Itawa Chhipabarod	2 13 3 5 18 15	14	Baran	4
	Pali	60 61 62 63 64	Bali Kharchi Desuri Ranistation Raipur	11 12 6 9 6	15 16 17	Jaitaran Sojat Rohat	13 7 2
	Sawai Madhopur	65 66 67 68 69	Hindaun Karauli Sapotra Todabhim Kandar	6 10 8 8 5	18 19 20 21 22	Mahwa Gangapur Sawai Madhopur Bonli Nadoti	4 1 6 10
	Tonk	70 71	Tonk Malpura	10 17	23	Niwai	3
(b) TA	Banswara	72 73 74 75 76	Garhi Kushalgarh Sajjangarh Pipalkhunt Banswara	26 9 6 3 4	24 25	Bhukhiya Ghatol	5
	Chittorgarh	77 78 79 80 81 82	Begun Rashmi Kapasin Neembahera Arnod Bhopalsagar	7 3 1 1 3	26 27 28 29 30 31	Chittorgarh Pratapgarh Bhadesar Doongla Chhotisadri Bhainsorgarh	$\frac{2}{4}$ $\frac{1}{1}$ $\frac{1}{1}$ $\frac{1}{1}$
	Dungarpur	83 84 85 86 87	Simalwara Sagwara Dungarpur Bichiwara Aspur	20 11 15 19 18			
	Sirobi	88 89 90	Pindwara Sirohi Abu Road	2 1 3	32 33	Sheoganj Reodar	3 3

(1)	(2)		(3)	(4)		(5)	(6)
	Udaipur	91 92 93 94 95 96 97 98 99 100 101 102 103 104 105 106	Rajsamand Kumbalgarh Relmagra Amet* Girwa Badgaon Khamnore Dhariawad Salumber Sarada Mavli Kherwara Bhinder Gogunda Jhadol Deogarh Bhim	11 24 15 13 20 10 5 8 16 13 21 6 15 11 9 22		34 Kotra	
Arid	Barmer	108 109	Dhromanna* Sindhari*	2 6	35	Balotra	2
	Bikaner				36	Nokha	4
	Churu				37	Rajgarh	14
	Jaisalmer				38 39 40	Pokharan Jaisalmer Sam	4 14 7
Semi- arid	<b>J</b> alore	110	Raniwara	6	41 42 43	Jalore Sayala Jaswantpura	5 2 1
	Jhunjhunu	111 112	Khetri Udaipurwati	2 10	44 45 46 47 48 49	Jhunjhunu Alsisar Buhana Nawalgarh Chirawa Surajgarh	8 9 3 6 7 1
	Jodhpur	113 114 115 116	Bilara Bhopalgarh Osian Jodhpur	2 4 22 3			
	Nagaur	117	Kuchaman	10	50 51 52 53 54 55 56	Deedwana Ladnu Makrana Parbatsar Degana Riyan Merta	16 11 16 7 17 16 16
	Sikar	118 119 120 121 122 123	Fatehpur Lachmangarh Piprali Dohat Dantaramgarh Khandela	6 3 13 12 2 6	57 58	Srimadhopur Neemkathana	1 4

N.B. In Bagidora block in Banswara district and Uniara block in Tonk district, the number of existing societies is equal to the number of required societies in each block. (\* No dormant society in the block)

	Dicel		s which the Block ca n the basis of
	Block	Cropped Area	Loan Business
	(1)	(2)	(3)
AJMER			
1 2	Masuda Kishangarb	9 13	4 7
ALWA	ર		
3	Kishangarhbas	2	_
4	Behrot	ĩ	4
BHARA	TPUR		
5	Kama	3	<b>—</b>
BHILW	ARA		
6	Shahpura	3	4
BUNDI			
7	Talera		7
8	Keshoraipatan	5	11
GANG	ANAGAR		
9	Raisinghnagar	9	30
10	Sadulshahar	24	33
11	Ganganagar		17
12	Hanumangarh	37	55
	Nohar	145 87	96 111
14	Suratgarh Padampur	87	8
16	Bhadra	45	19
JAIPUR	Ł		
17	Jobner	12	6
18	Bairath	19	13
JHALA	WAR		
19	Khanpur	2	
кота			
20	Atru	3	8
21	Shahbad	17	10 2
22 23	Sultanpur Chhabra	12	15
PALI			
24	Sumerpur	21	14
25	Jaitaran	17	<del></del>
26	Sojat	1	
27	Pali	23	10

-----

# ANNEXURE 75 Blocks where additional Societies are required to be organised

432

	(1)	(2)	(3)
TONK			
28	Niwai	4	
29	Deoli	8	2
30	Uniara	8 5 8	
31	Todaraisingh	8	5
BANSV	ARA		
32	Bagidora Bagidora	7	
BARM	ER		
33	Suwana*	-	2
34	Sheo*	4	ē
35	Baitu*		2 9 5 85
36	Barmer*	66	85
37	Chohtan*	21	31
BIKAN	ER		
38	Bikaner	1	9
39	Loonkaransar	8	14
40	Kolayat	—	5
CHURI	J		
41	Sardarshahar*	17	26
42	Ratangarh*	32	42
43	Taranagar*	1	4
44	Ratannagar (Churu)*	_	4
45	Sujangarh*		4 4 5 3
46	Dungargarb*		3
JALOR	E		
47	Ahore*	10	49
48	Sanchore*	4	38
49	Bhinmal*	-	12
JODHP	UR		
50	Luni		5
51	Shergarh	13	5 23
52	Balesar		3
53	Phatodi	25 3	34
54	Bap_	3	7
NAGAI			
55	Nagaur*	3	10
56	Mundawa*		6
57	Jayal*		1

433

ANNEXURE 75 (Contd.)	
ABSTRACT	

	Additional Societies which can be supported on the basis of					
District	Cropp	ed Area	Loan Business			
	No. of Blocks	No. of Societies	No. of Blocks	No. of Societies		
Normal Zone						
(a) NTA						
Ajmer Alwar Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Pali Tonk	2 2 1 1 6 2 1 3 4 4	22 3 3 5 347 31 2 32 62 25	2 1 1 2 8 2 4 2 2	$ \begin{array}{r} 11 \\ 4 \\ -18 \\ 369 \\ 19 \\ -35 \\ 24 \\ 7 \\ \end{array} $		
(b) TA						
Banswara	1	7				
Arid-Zone						
Barmer Bikaner Churu	3 2 3	91 9 50	5 3 6	132 28 84		
Semi-arid Zone						
Jalore Jodhpur Nagaur	2 3 1	14 41 3	3 5 3	99 72 17		
Total	42	750	49	923		

	District	No. of existing Societies	No. of Societies which can be retained after re-organization
Normal Z (a) NTA			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
1	Ajmer	284	175
2	Alwar	454	306
3	Bharatpu <b>r</b>	558	320
4 5 6 7 8	Bhilwara Bundi	272	199
5	Ganganagar	130 415	142 782
7	Jaipur	628	403
8	Jhalawar	217	144
9	Kota	329	300
10	Pali	330	228
11	Sawai Madhopur	427	263
12	Tonk	214	182
	Sub-total	4267	3444
(b) TA 13	Banswara	209	81
	Chittorgarh	311	199
15	Dungarpur	180	39
	Sirohi	135	76
17	Udaipur	549	160
	Sub-total	1384	555
Arid Zone			
18		250	22 Å
18	Barmer Bikaner	250 125	234 145
20	Churu	209	202
21	Jaisalmer	102	32
	Sub-total	686	613
S	-		
Semi-arid			
22	Jalore	219	168
23 24	Jhunjhunu Jodhaur	248	126
24	Jodhpur Nagaur	263 377	280 283
26	Sikar	297	162
	Sub-total	1404	1019
	Total	7741	5631

District-wise Position of existing Societies vis-a-vis Societies which can be retained after re-organization

District	No, of							Percentage of Villages affected to total Villages					
	Villages	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	1968-9	1969-70	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3		
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)		
Normal Zone													
(a) NTA	076	000	750		202	975	92	77		29	100		
1 Ajmer	976 1942	899	750	-	283	975	92	11		29	100		
2 Alwar 3 Bharatpur	1942		_	_		339	_		_	_	33		
4 Bhilwara	1545		_				_	_					
5 Bundi	739	387	130			238	52	18			30		
6 Ganganagar	3105	628	328	34	132	314	20	10	1	4	10		
7 Jaipur	2929	2617	520		—	1370	89	18		—	47		
8 Jhalawar	1591	314	167			229	20	10			14		
9 Kota	2252	109	146	99	-	712	5	7	4		32		
10 Pali	853	853	818	_	_	851	100	96		_	99		
11 Sawai Madhopur 12 Tonk	1653 1084			89		141 182	_		8	_	9 17		
Sub-total	19684	5807	2859	222	415	5351	30	15	1	2	27		
(b) TA													
13 Banswara	1464	1464	499	—		1454	100	34			99		
14 Chittorgarh	2364	1608	21 733		398	426	68 94	1 87	—	17	18		
15 Dungarpur 16 Sirohi	842 449	790 449	449	_	194	806 402	94 100	100		43	96 90		
17 Udaipur	3178	2207	24	1065	3000	2994	69	100	34	43 94	90 94		
Sub-total	8293	6518	1726	1065	3592	6082	79	21	13	43	73		

ANNEXURE 77 Number of Villages affected by Drought conditions in Rajasthan in 1968-9 to 1972-3

(1)	)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)
Arid Zone												
18 Barmer 19 Bikaner 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer		852 659 907 512	852 653 834 512	852 598 346 512	133 83 21 132	310 415 254 312	585 659 734 512	100 99 92 100	100 90 38 100	16 13 2 26	36 63 28 61	69 100 81 100
	Sub-total	2930	2851	2308	369	1291	2490	97	79	13	44	85
Semi-arid Zone												
22 Jalore 23 Jhunjhun 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur 26 Sikar	u	611 696 726 1257 823	607 168 726 970 694	608 28 722 711 18			560 645 693 1036 741	99 24 100 77 84	99 4 99 57 2	 99		92 93 95 82 90
	Sùb-total	4113	3165	2087	722	49	3675	77	51	18	1	89
	Total	35020	18341	8980	2378	5347	17598	52	26	7	15	50

-----

Relief for Non-wilful Defaulters — Conversion of Two Overdue Loans as a six-year Rehabilitation Loan

Particulars of loans	Vaan	Rehabilitation loan and -	Due da	ates and	instalmer	nts of rel	nabilitatic	n loan
Farticulars of loans	Year of calamity	fresh short-term loan	March Marc 1976 1977		March 1978	March 1979	March 1980	March 1981
Short-term loan of Rs 100 due in March 1972 but in default Normal medium-term loan of Rs 150, the first instalment of which was due in March	1971-2 (one year)	The aggregate of the overdue short-term and medium-term loar converted as a six-year rehabilitation loan repayable in six annual instalments	Rs ns 40	Rs 40	Rs 45	Rs 50	Rs 55	Rs 20
1972, but in default (Total amount of default Rs	250)	Burden of interest on the above at 10 per cent per annum	25	21	17	12 <del>1</del>	7 <del>1</del>	2
Fresh short-term loan (to be issued) in the respective years	ive	Annual repayment of short-term loan and interest at 10 per cent per annum	110	110	110	110	110	110
		Total annual burden of all loans with interest	175	171	172	172 <del>1</del>	172 <del>]</del>	132
		Total annual burden as a percentage to gross produce (per cent)	58.33	57.00	57.33	57.50	57.50	44.00
		N.B.: Overdue interest On short-term loan upto Mar On medium-term loan upto N	rch 1975 Aarch 19	075	Rs 40.0 Rs 60.0			
					Rs 100.0	00		

Relief for Non-wilful Defaulters - Conversion of Three Overdue Loans as a seven-year Rehabilitation Loan

-	Particulars of	Vacura	Rehabilitation loan		Γ	Oue dates	and insta	alments o	f rehabili	tation loa	n
	loans	Years of calamity	and short-term fresh loan		March 1976	March 1977	March 1978	March 1979	March 1980	March 1981	March 1982
-	Short-term loan of Rs 100 due in March 1972 but converted with due date in March 1973 but defaulted	) 1971-2 and 1972-3 (Two years)	Overdue interest collected in 1974-5 and 50 per cent of first Short-term (conversion) written off and balance of loans re-scheduled	loan				<u> </u>			
_	Short-term loan of Rs 100 due in March 1973 but defaulted Normal Medium-term Loa of Rs 150 the first instalm		Annual repayments of loans re-scheduled as one loan (Principal only) Burden of interest on re-scheduled loan at 10	Rs	•35	35	40	45	50	55	40
	of which was due in March but in default		per cent per annum	Rs	30	26 <del>1</del>	23	19	14 <del>1</del>	9 <del>1</del>	4
4	Fresh Short-term loan (to be issued) in the respective years		Annual repayment of fresh Short-term Loans for respect years and interest	ive Rs	110	110	110	110	110	110	110
			Total annual burden of all loans and interest	Rs	175	171 <del>1</del>	173	174	174 <del>1</del>	174 <del>1</del>	154
			Total annual burden as a percentage of gross produce	%	58.33	57.17	57.67	58.00	58.17	58.17	51.33

### Relief for Non-wilful Defaulters — Payment of overdue interest and a part of the Principal amount if 1974-5 is a good year

		Where default is for					
		two loans	three loans	four loans			
Amount overdue under principal	Rs	250	350	450			
Overdue interest on overdue loans	Rs	100	115	120			
Percentage of overdue interest to gross produce	%	33.33	38.33	40.00			
25 per cent of the principal amount in default or balance of epaying capacity, whichever is less	f the Rs	62 <del>]</del> (25%)	60 (17.2%)	55 (12.2%)			
Percentage of the principal so payable to gross produce	%	20.83	20.00	18.33			
otal burden of overdue Interest and a part of the Princ mount	ipal Rs	162 <del>]</del>	175	175			
Fotal burden as a percentage to gross produce		54.16	58.33	58.33			

N.B.: The percentage in brackets refer to the percentage to the principal amount in default

Estimate of overdues under Non-wilful Default as on 30 June 1973

Rupees Lakhs

District	Villages affe	ntage of num ected by natur number of V	al calamity		Overdues primary lev as on 30.6.7	el	Non-wilful default $(2a \times 3a)$ $- + (2b \times 3b)$
	1970-71	1971-2	1972-3	2-3 years	1-2 years	Less than 1 year	$+(20\times30)$ +(2c×3c)
(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	(4)
Normal Zone (a) NTA 1 Ajmer 2 Alwar 3 Bharatpur 4 Bhilwara 5 Bundi 6 Ganganagar 7 Jaipur 8 Jhalawar 9 Kota 10 Pali 11 Sawai Madhopur 12 Tonk@	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	29 4 	$   \begin{array}{r}     100 \\     \overline{33} \\     \overline{30} \\     10 \\     47 \\     14 \\     32 \\     99 \\     99 \\     99 \\     99 \\     17 \\   \end{array} $	5.34 13.34 22.05 5.25 2.28 4.05 14.57 7.64 15.65 21.81 5.28 5.78	6.93 12.79 68.14 14.86 2.17 15.76 16.63 22.28 32.91 1.31 11.59 5.78	$\begin{array}{c} 33.81\\ 11.18\\ 58.33\\ 3.61\\ 10.66\\ 25.76\\ 4.34\\ 6.90\\ 61.55\\ 28.56\\ 7.46\\ 14.46\end{array}$	35.82 19.25 3.20 3.25 2.04 0.97 20.32 28.27 0.67 2.92 116.71
<ul> <li>(b) TA</li> <li>13 Banswara</li> <li>14 Chittorgarh</li> <li>15 Dungarpur</li> <li>16 Sirohi</li> <li>17 Udaipur</li> </ul>		17 43 94	99 18 96 90 94	2.44 2.32 2.94 2.04 11.37	4.33 2.21 2.36 3.86	23.91 10.86 1.88 1.73 16.81	23.67 2.33 1.80 2.57 23.30 53.67

441

ANNEXURE 81 (Contd.)											
(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(2c)	(3a)	(3b)	(3c)	(4)				
Arid Zone 18 Barmer 19 Bikaner@ 20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer	16 13 2 26	36 63 28 61	69 100 81 100	3.00 4.14 6.15 0.10	13.52 4.14 7.30	18.37 10.35 2.11	18.02 13.49 3.88 0.03 35.42				
Semi-arid Zone 22 Jalore@ 23 Jhunjhunu 24 Jodhpur 25 Nagaur 26 Sikar		7	92 93 95 82 90	2.44 1.66 8.08 14.82 4.04	2.44 0.84 7.95 14.82 3.40	6.11 1.70 4.38 37.08 4.19	5.62 1.58 12.72 30.41 3.77 54.10 2259.90				

@Period-wise classification was not available for these districts and, therefore, 50 per cent of total overdues have been treated as below 1 year, 20 per cent 1-2 years and another 20 per cent 2-3 years

442

District	Overdues at primary level as on 30 June 1973	Suit file pend as 30.6	ing on		s filed ring 2-3
	Amount	No.	Amount.	No.	Amount
(1)	(2)	(3a)	(3b)	(4a)	(4b)
Normal Zone					
(a) NTA	61.07			tt	
1 Ajmer 2 Alwar	61,87 47,79	2,232	ata not rece 7,32	776 <sup>2176</sup>	4,62
3 Bharatpur	168,26	1,634	14,00	269	
4 Bhilwara	37,42	1,004	14,00	209	2,52
5 Bundi	20,77		_	2	1
6 Ganganaga <b>r</b>	62,58	499	4,20	1,575	14,15
7 Jaipur	68,21	9,088	46,65	1,558	8,00
8 Jhalawar	44,48	· ·	<u> </u>	, <u> </u>	
9 Kota	124,72				
10 Pali	51,81	5	8	1	_
11 Sawai Madhopur	34,93	75		30	92
12 Tonk	30,22	Ľ	ata not reco	eived	
Sub-total	753,06	14,533	75,21	4,211	30,22
(b) TA					
13 Banswara	20,01	_			· —
14 Chittorgarh	53,64		—		
15 Dungarpur	15,63		ata not recei	ived	
16 Sirohi	11,48	154	1,21	401	4,52
17 Udaipur	52,25	-		—	_
Sub-total	153,01	154	1,21	401	4,52
Arid Zone					
18 Barmer	39,97	-			—
19 Bikaner	20,71 25,29	Da	ata not recei	ived	
20 Churu 21 Jaisalmer	25,29	1	3		
	4,07	-	-		-
Sub-total	90,04	1	3		
Semi-arid Zone					
22 Jalore	14,32	7	8	7	3
23 Jhunjhunu	11,02	Da	ata not recei	ved	
24 Jodhpur	33,85	10	39	18	15
25 Nagaur	74,04		ata not recei	ved	
26 Sikar	15,02	16	2		_
Sub-total	148,25	33	49	25	18
Total	1144,36	13,721	76,94	4,637	34,92

Departmental action in the filing of disputes |arbitration cases and in the execution of awards obtained (position as at the end of 1972-3)

Rupees Thousands

		·				Ku	pees The	ousands
			Suit f cases pe as on 1 (3+4	ending 30.6.73	Awan pendi execut as on 30	ng tion	exe dur	vards cuted ring 2-3
	No. A	Amount	No.	Amount	No. A	mount	No.	Amount
	(5a)	(5b)	(6a)	(6b)	(7a)	(7b)	(8a)	(8b)
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	596 175	3,15 1,53	2,412 1,728	8,79 14,99	t received 2,676 1,255	8,31 9,74	82 206	
5 6 7 8	4 826 493 —	7,05 2,72	2 1,248 10,153 	11,30	518 3,921	4,82 20,44	607 2,201	
9 10 11 12	6		 2 99	1 3,56 Data not		4		
	2,100	14,84	15,644	90,59	8,373	45,35	3,096	18,9
13 14 15 16 17	333	 3,33	 222	 Data not 2,40	received	1,27	 134	
	333	3,33	222	2,40	138	127	134	72
18 19 20	_		_	Data not	received			
21	-	_	1	3	_	_	_	_
			1	3				
22 23 24	19	9	5	2 Data not		6 30		
24 25 26	15 —		13 16	45 Data not 2	10 received 4	39 2	4	16
	34	18	34	49	22	47	4	16
	2,467	18,35	15,901	93,51	8,533	45,09	3,234	19,17

			Rupees Thousan							
	Awards executio 30.6 (col. 5	pending n as on 5.73 +78)	for n six n	s pending nore than nonths 30.6.73	aw	col. 9 vards ayed				
	No.	Amount	No.	Amount	No.	Amoun				
	(9a)	(9b)	(10a)	(10b)	(11a)	(116)				
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	3,190 1,224	11,12 9,44	Data 2,824 1,017	not received 9,77 5,85 —	8	20				
5 6 7 8	737 2,213	7,06 11,85	503 1,674	4,13 8,41		20				
9 10 11 12	4 9	7 36	5 Data	16 not received		_				
	7,377	39,90	6,023	28,32	9	40				
13 14	=					_				
15 16 17	337	3,88	Data 241	not received 2,67	_	_				
	337	3,88	241	2,67						
18 19			Data	not received	_					
20 21			_	_	_	_				
22 23	17	15	8 Data	6 not received	_					
24 25	21	52	8	9 not received	-					
26	4	2	4	2	-	_				
	42	49	20	17						
	7,756	44,27	6,284	31,16	9	40				

# Statement of overdues and coercive action for their recovery for the year 1973-4

Na	ne of the central Bank	Total over-	Α	ction und	er Section 1	17	A	ction und	er Section 1	18
		dues as on 30.6.74	Pending at the begin- ning of the year	during	Disposed of during the year	Pending at the end of the year	Pending at the begin- ning of the year	Filed during the year	Disposed of during the year	Pending at the end of the year
_	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
1	Ajmer	87.16		1396	778	618	2528	701	367	2862
2	Bhilwara	52.0		12.09	6.31	5.78	20.16	5.69	3.73	22.12
3	Inimue	84.83	979		407	572	759		32	727
3	Jaipur	04.03	4.04		1.75	2.29	3.02		0.14	2.88
4	Pali	55.10	3589	803	477	3915	630	146	30	746
	Fall	55.10	24.76	7.70	5.10	27.36	5.32	1.81	0.58	6.55
5	Banswara	29.19					97			97
2	Danswala	47.17	—				1.19			1.19
6	Dungarpu <b>r</b>	17.53	294		23	271	271		12	259
Ŭ	Dungurpur	17.55	0.74		0.03	0.71	0.495	_	0.02	0.47
7	Sirohi	23.66	53		35	18	337		210	127
•	<i></i>	23.00	0.75		0.51	0.24	3.88		1.83	2.05

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
8	Udaipur	61.88				—	_	_		_
0	Churu	34.63	· 1			1	609	50	114	545
9	Churu	54.05	••			••	1.70	0.02	0.37	1.35
10	Thumihumu	24.81	7			7	103		1	102
10	Jhunjhunu	24.01	0.96			0.96	1.56		0.01	1.55
	S'l	40.62	199	1417	780	836	211	89	56	244
11	Sikar	40.62	1.04	7.96	3.72	5.78	1.05	0.75	0.47	1.34

N.B. : Figures under the lines in cols. 3 to 10 indicate amount involved in Rs lakhs

#### Extract of the Summary of Conclusions and Recommendations from the Report of the Overdues Study Team

#### Measures for Recovery of Overdues

It was observed that the directors of co-operative credit institutions were 59 generally not as much alive to their role of management or to the need for their direct and active participation in the matter of recovery of loans as they should have been. It is recommended, therefore, that the role of directors of co-operative credit institutions especially those of central banks and primary agricultural credit societies should, among other things, be dynamic so as to promote an atmosphere for voluntary repayment by the borrowers and even to exert pressure for repayment when it is not voluntarily forthcoming. The primary responsibility for the recovery of loans is that of the non-official managements of the co-operatives, who should be aided in this task by the executive and supervisory staff of the institutions concerned. Recourse to coercive action for recovery should be really only as a last resort and that too in extreme cases of recalcitrance. The co-operative principles of mutual knowledge and supervision when effectively practised especially by those in charge of management of the institutions should to a large extent solve the problem of recovery.

60 The managing committee of a primary credit society or the board of directors of a central bank should have the right to stay in office only if they collectively wield influence over and enjoy the confidence of the majority of members. A suitable provision should, therefore, be incorporated in the Co-operative Societies Acts of all the states and union territories in terms of which the entire board of directors or managing committee should stand automatically disqualified if the amount of default and/or the number of defaulters exceeded 60 per cent of the total demand and/or the total number of indebted societies in the case of central banks and 70 per cent of the total demand and/or total number of indebted members in the case of primary credit societies, for a continuous period of 2 years.

61 A consequential provision should also be made for appointing a special officer by the Registrar of Co-operative Societies, who should be charged with the responsibility for managing the affairs of such central bank/society as long as is necessary, but not exceeding two years. The officer appointed in the central co-operative bank should be vested with summary powers for directly proceeding against individual defaulters at the primary level for the recovery of overdues.

62 If the position of overdues of the institution whose management is entrusted to the special officer does not improve even after his tenure of two years the management of the institution should not be restored to the elected representatives but alternative institutional arrangements for the disbursement of agricultural credit in the area should be thought of. For initiating necessary action in this behalf the tenure of office of the special officer may be extended by one year. In the case of a primary credit society, such an arrangement may be the liquidation of the society and extension of the area of an adjoining viable society so as to enable the latter to meet the credit needs of non-defaulters and new members from the area or the central bank may by-pass the society and undertake to finance the cultivators directly through its branch, if necessary, newly opened for the purpose. In the case of a central bank, it may be amalgamated with the state co-operative bank and the latter may take up financing of primary credit societies in the district through branches or alternatively good societies in the area may be ceded for financing to commercial banks operating in the district.

63 We endorse the view expressed by the various committees on co-operative credit that financial supervision should be the responsibility of the central co-operative banks and hence control over the supervisory staff should vest in the banks. Our recommendations about automatic disqualification of the boards of directors of central banks are applicable only if the control over supervision of the societies vests in the banks and provided further the chief executives of

these institutions are also under their control. Likewise in the case of the managing committees of primary credit societies, the disqualification will apply only if the society is having a full-time paid secretary.

64 In about one-third the number of central banks in the country (130 out of 341), the charge per supervisor was more than 15 societies. The staff of the central banks should be suitably strengthened. As an interim measure, the staff of the Co-operative Department should be either additionally placed at the disposal of central banks accountable to their boards of directors or the state governments may in the initial years subsidise appropriately the cost of additional supervisors employed by the banks.

65 The boards of directors of central banks should periodically review the work done, progress made in the recovery of loans by the banks' field staff and not hesitate to take action against those found to be evasive, slack and irresponsible. The chief executive officer should be authorized to deal with such cases. So also in the case of primary credit societies, the secretary should be answerable to the managing committee and in some way also to the central bank. The duties and responsibilities of the secretary should be clearly defined. It should be his specific duty to assist the supervisors of the central bank/Department visiting the society for recovery of loans and also in preparing and submitting arbitration/execution cases for the orders of the managing committee.

66 The primary agricultural credit societies should be re-organized on a viable basis and each society should have the services of a full-time paid secretary. The Registrar of Co-operative Societies should also lay down certain minimum standards for the qualifications and training of the paid secretaries and ensure that these are complied with. The appointment of a trained and full-time paid secretary by a primary credit society should be made a condition for any financial assistance by the state government to the society.

67 Section 101 of the Maharashtra Co-operative Societies Act 1960 empowers the Registrar of Co-operative Societies to issue certificate for the recovery, even on his own motion, of loans issued to a member for raising crops as arrears of land revenue. This provision may be included in the Co-operative Societies Acts of other states, if it does not already exist at present. Besides, we also recommend that the applications of the co-operative credit institutions for the recovery of arrears of instalments under medium-term loans for agricultural purposes should be, as in the case of crop loans, treated by the Registrar as simple money claims and disposed of by grant of certificates of recovery and for this purpose suitable enabling provisions may be incorporated in all the State Co-operative Societies Acts.

68 We reiterate the recommendation of the All-India Rural Credit Review Committee that a provision enabling the central co-operative bank to initiate action on its own against the defaulter members of a primary agricultural credit society when the latter is reluctant to do so, may be incorporated in the Cooperative Societies Acts of those states where such a provision does not exist at present.

69 A sum of Rs 277 crores i.e., about three-fourths of the overdues as at the end of 1971-2 at the level of primary agricultural credit societies may be deemed to have arisen out of wilful defaults. Coercive action against the defaulters was found to be belated and inadequate. In 9 states/union territories, hardly 10 per cent of the overdues over one year were covered by arbitration. In 4 states, hardly 25 per cent of the overdues over three years were covered by execution proceedings.

70 In view of the magnitude of the work involved in taking coercive action against a much larger number of defaulters, the state governments may have to appoint additional staff. We would strongly urge on the state governments to review the whole position district-wise and take immediate steps to appoint and post the required number of persons in the concerned department so as to ensure speedy disposal of arbitration cases as also the execution of awards. The primary credit societies should not also delay the institution of arbitration proceedings against the defaulters and their sureties but resort to such action within 3 months of the default. Where the societies fail to do so, the central bank should step in and take action.

71 The managing committees of the primary credit societies or the boards of directors of the central banks should not, however, feel absolved of their responsibility because of initiating coercive action. Even after such action, the managements should with the assistance of the Co-operation Department and the state government continue their efforts with zeal to ensure the recovery of the overdue loans of the institutions. They must recognize the fact that recovery through coercive process is time consuming and the results may not be significant if the number of defaulters is very large in relation to the recovery officers in position. Persuasion should, therefore, continue even after the matter has been handed over to the recovery officers. Further, the managements of the state and central co-operative banks as also the Registrar of Co-operative Societies should review the position of recovery of especially the overdue loans at periodical intervals and initiate suitable follow-up action, wherever warranted.

72 In order to introduce a degree of automaticity in the recovery operations, we recommend an arrangement whereby every cultivator should under Law be required to obtain the permission for the transfer/sale of agricultural produce in a prescribed form from the primary agricultural credit society and no cultivator, whether member or non-member, should be permitted to offer his produce for auction/sale in a *mandi*/regulated market unless he produces the certificate from the society. The certificate should indicate the amount recoverable from the cultivator by the society. A non-borrower member or non-member's certificate will show 'nil' dues to be recovered. It should be made obligatory on the part of the *mandi*/regulated market to recover the dues to the society/central bank concerned.

73 In states where agricultural commodities are subject to monopoly procurement, the recovery of co-operative dues will be greatly facilitated if a statutory provision is incorporated on the lines of section 48A of the Maharashtra Cooperative Societies Act 1960 for the recovery of co-operative dues from the sale price of agricultural commodities subject to monopoly procurement by the state government and also agricultural commodities purchased by the Food Corporation of India or other commodity corporations or the co-operative marketing societies. At least 50 per cent of the sale proceeds or the amount of the dues to the primary credit society, whichever is less, should be made recoverable under the provision.

74 The central and state governments may ensure that agricultural machinery and implements purchased out of the loans obtained from the co-operative credit institutions are exempted from the definition of "implements of husbandry" (which under section 60(1) of the Civil Procedure Code are exempt from attachment), as such a step will give the necessary degree of security to the lending institutions.

75 Because of laxity it may happen that the co-operative credit societies find no movable properties such as agricultural produce or agricultural machinery available for attachment and have necessarily to resort to the realization of dues by sale of land. The difficulties faced by the societies in this regard are many and varying. One of the major difficulties is the lack of bidders whenever the lands are put to auction particularly if the owners are influential cultivators in the village. The society/central co-operative bank can certainly step in to buy the lands in question. Experience, however, is that they find it difficult to take possession of and sell the lands or to give them on lease. In the meanwhile, the funds of the institutions remain locked up. In such a situation, there are two alternatives. The state government may themselves purchase the lands in auction because with the authority at their command they would not only be in a position to take possession of the lands but also be able to dispose them of by sale or lease on a long-term basis. Alternatively, we would recommend the setting up of a State Farming Corporation in each state fully owned by the state government. All that the Corporation may do is to bid in the auction for an amount which

would settle the dues of the society/central co-operative bank together with interest. The Corporation would have the same authority as the government to dispose of the land by sale or long-term lease. In both the alternatives, the interest of the co-operative credit institutions is safeguarded as they will be receiving their dues back from the government or the Corporation as the case may be.

76 We endorse the recommendation of the All-India Rural Credit Review Committee that defaulters of co-opeatives should not be financed by the government in any circumstances. Even the financing in the form of fertilizers of such defaulters should be avoided. The credit societies themselves should ensure that a defaulter is denied fresh loans. He should not be accommodated either through *benami* transactions or book adjustments or through another member of his own family. We further recommend that the surety of a defaulter should also be treated as a defaulter and denied fresh credit. Besides, the defaulter of a primary credit society and his surety should be denied fresh credit by not only the concerned society but also all other institutional credit agencies like commercial banks, and the state governments.

77 It is recommended in the 'Manual on Production-Oriented System of Lending for Agriculture' that the primary credit society might be allowed to operate on the fresh limit sanctioned by the central bank provided it had repaid to the central bank at least the minimum proportion of the demand. This discipline should be enforced. The specific qualifying proportion between 50 and 75 per cent may be determined by the central bank in consultation with the Registrar and the state co-operative bank.

78 As a corollary to the above recommendation, the Reserve Bank of India may consider laying down a stipulation in terms of which the central banks should be required to repay their entire short-term borrowings for seasonal agricultural operations from the state co-operative banks or a specified proportion thereof before allowing them drawals on the credit limits.

79 The state governments should initiate action to amend the Co-operative Societies Acts or the Rules framed thereunder to disqualify a member from voting in a general meeting or an election of any primary credit society if he is in default to that society for more than one year. We are also of the view that the sureties of a defaulter also should be debarred from voting in general meetings or elections of any society.

80 The State Co-operative Societies Acts or the Rules framed thereunder disqualify a defaulter from being elected or appointed or continued as a member of the managing committee of a society. The surety of a defaulter should also suffer similar disqualification. The Co-operative Societies Acts of other states may be amended on the lines of section 29C of the Mysore Co-operative Societies Act 1959.

81 There has been a growing tendency on the part of primary credit societies in certain states to do away with the system of obtaining sureties. We have recommended denial of certain rights and privileges like eligibility for fresh credit, election as office-bearer and voting in an election or general meeting, to the surety of a defaulter as well. These recommendations can have the desired effect if the practice of obtaining sureties is restored and the principal borrower put under the constant pressure of his surety for prompt repayment. We recommend, therefore, that in respect of all short-term agricultural loans for amounts of Rs 500 and over, the primary credit society should insist on at least one surety even if the loan is secured by a statutory charge on land.

82 The denial of voting right to a defaulter could be circumvented and rendered ineffective by admitting another adult member of the family of the defaulter to the membership of the society. Action may also be taken, therefore, to amend the Co-operative Societies Acts so as to restrict the membership of a primary agricultural credit society to only one adult member of cultivating household.

<sup>83</sup> The Registrars of Co-operative Societies of all states and union territories should by a general order or otherwise provide for amendment of the by-laws

of the primary agricultural credit societies for imposition of penal interest on defaulted loans or a part thereof at least at 5 per cent per annum above the normal rate and the interest at such penal rate should be payable for the entire period of the loan. Similar provisions should also be made by the central banks in their

by-laws or loan rules so as to ensure that the defaulting societies are required to pay interest at a penal rate of not less than 3 per cent above the normal rate. 84 A special investigation cell with adequate trained staff should be created under the control of the Registrar of Co-operative Societies by all the state governments to undertake full scale investigations in areas from where existence of *benami* transactions, 'ghost' acreages, 'ghost' crops, etc., are reported. The

of *benami* transactions, 'ghost' acreages, 'ghost' crops, etc., are reported. The special investigation cell so created should also expeditiously investigate the cases of defalcations, embezzlements, etc., so as to ensure that deterrent administrative or legal action is taken against erring persons promptly and the interests of the concerned co-operative credit institution are safeguarded.

85 The extension services should not confine their activities to ensuring the provision of credit for agriculture. The agencies should fully involve themselves in the task of recoveries also so that agricultural development becomes really a businesslike and successful venture.

86 We would urge on the state governments that they should come down heavily on the wilful defaulters through coercive steps implemented with the full backing and assistance of the Revenue authorities. No mercy should be shown to them. The state governments should also refrain from any statements or passing any instructions to their officers which might give the impression to the borrowers of the co-operatives that repayment of the loans could be held back. We need hardly point out that if the state governments fail in their responsibility to create the appropriate climate for recovery, the remedial measures proposed by us for adoption in the sphere of legislative amendments, administrative and management changes and structural reforms will have little significance and impact on recovery.

#### Extract of Section 101 of the Maharashtra Co-operative Societies Act, 1960

#### Recovery of arrears due to certain societies as arrears of land revenue

101. (1) Notwithstanding anything contained in sections 91, 93 and 98, on an application made by a resource society undertaking the financing of crop and seasonal finance as defined under the Bombay Agricultural Debtors Relief Act, 1947, for the recovery of arrears of any sum advanced by it to any of its members on account of the financing of crop or seasonal finance or by a crop-protection society for the recovery of the arrears of the initial cost or of any contribution for obtaining services required for crop protection which may be due from its members or other owners of lands included in the proposal (who may have refused to become members) or by a lift irrigation society for the recovery of arrears of the and on the society concerned furnishing a statement of accounts in respect of the arrears, the Registrar may, after making such inquiries as he deems fit, grant a certificate for the recovery of the amount stated therein to be due as arrears.

(2) Where the Registrar is satisfied that the concerned society has failed to take action under the foregoing sub-section in respect of any amount due as arrears, the Registrar may, of his own motion, after making such inquiries as he deems fit, grant a certificate for the recovery of the amount stated therein to be due as arrears, and such a certificate shall be deemed to have been issued as if on an application made by the society concerned.

(3) A certificate granted by the Registrar under sub-section (1) or (2) shall be final and a conclusive proof of the arrears stated to be due therein, and the same shall be recoverable according to the law for the time being in force for the recovery of land revenue.

(4) It shall be lawful for the Collector and the Registrar to take precautionary measures authorised by sections 140 to 144 of the Bombay Land Revenues Code, 1879, or any law or provision corresponding thereto for the time being in force, until the arrears due to the concerned society, together with interest and any incidental charges incurred in the recovery of such arrears, are paid, or security for payment of such arrears is furnished to the satisfaction of the Registrar.

	District	No. of managers joined in pacs	
Norn	nal Zone		
(a)	NTA		
5 6 7 8 9	Ajmer Alwar Bharatpur Bhilwara Bundi Ganganagar Jaipur Jhalawar Kota Pali Sawai Madhopur Tonk	43 50 50 57 50 85 216 34 37 23 29 54	41 Information not received 50 57 5 69 Information not received 29 37 23 Information not received 54
	Sub-total	718	365
(b) 13 14 15 16 17	Banswara Chittorgarh	37 110 34 16 81 278	37 Information not received Information not received Nil 62 99
Arid	Zone		
18 19 20	Barmer Bikaner Churu Sub-total	5 40 36 81	Information not received Information not received 5 5
	500-10121		
Semi-	arid Zone		
21 22 23 24 25	Jalore Jbunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar	18 34 46 20 125	Information not received 34 Nil Nil Information not received
	Sub-total	243	34
	Total	1320	503

Managers joined in Primary Agricultural Credit Societies and in Position Ls on 31 July 1974 under Half a Million Jobs Programme during 1973-4

#### Extracts from the Recommendations of the Evaluation Committee for Secretaries Caderisation Scheme

#### Recommendation

Chapter 10 - Control and Supervision

51 All primary secretaries, save secretaries attached to Class I societies, who will form part of a State level cadre, should form part of a regional cadre of secretaries. (Para 10.1)

52 All primary secretaries, irrespective of their classification shall be deemed, in principle, to be the employees of the State Level Controlling Authority. (Para 10.1)

53 The supervision and control over all the regional cadres and the state cadre of primary secretaries throughout the State should be the charge and responsibility of a State Level Authority. (Para 10.3)

54 We recommend that the responsibility of collection and management of the State Caderisation Fund should be the function of the State Level Authority. The State Government may take necessary statutory powers by making suitable amendments in the Maharashtra Co-operative Societies Act for setting up of such a "State Caderisation Fund." (Para 10.3)

55 Recruitment should be on a regional basis and the recruitment and consequently award of punishments right up to dismissals, should be the function of the Regional Authority working under the State Authority. (Para 10.4)

56 The State Level Authority will act as a final appellant and revisionary authority in the matter of grievances or complaints arising out of either recruitment or dismissals, or award of any punishment higher than censure, or in the matter of finalisation of emoluments, inter-se seniority and promotions of secretaries. (Para 10.4)

57 The Regional Authority shall prepare and maintain a district-wise seniority list of secretaries in Class III, a regionwise seniority list of secretaries in Class II and the State Level Authority will prepare and maintain a statewide seniority list of secretaries in Class I. Such seniority lists shall be published. (Para 10.6)

58 There should be a District Level Authority working under the Regional Authority. (Para 10.7)

59 In the matter of evaluation of the work of a primary secretary, the primary document should be an annual confidential report or a special report which the board of management of the primary society shall tender to the District Authority. (Para 10.7)

60 The District Authority will also have a sou motu right to investigate or inspect the work of a primary secretary. (Para 10.7)

61 Any adverse observations made by the District Authority, consequent to the evaluation of work of a primary secretary, will be a matter appealable to the Regional Authority and revisable before the State Authority. (Para 10.7)

62 In the matter of annual confidential report submitted by the primary society to the District Authority, the District Authority shall, within a reasonable period not exceeding one month from the date of receipt of such report, serve copies thereof on the concerned primary secretary. (Para 10.8)

63 Release of the annual increment to a primary secretary shall be dependent on a specific recommendation in that behalf in the annual confidential report. (Para 10.8)

64 Any adverse observation in the annual confidential report, including the recommendation of the non-release of the annual increment, being the matter

appealable to the State Level Authority, the State Level Authority shall expeditiously frame, rules for the submission of such an appeal, for hearing and for decision thereon. The State Level Authority shall similarly frame norms, guidelines and formats for purposes such as the annual confidential report, special reports and for such other service-documents as may be deemed necessary. (Para 10.8)

65 In the matter of promotion of secretaries from third grade to second grade, and from second grade to first grade, the Regional Authority shall prepare annually or periodically select-lists which shall be published and such promotions shall be awarded strictly on the basis of the select-lists so prepared. (Para 10.9)

66 The power to grant annual increments and to permit the crossing of an efficiency bar, shall rest with the District Authority. (Para 10.9)

67 Authority to transfer a primary secretary belonging to Cass III shall rest with the District Authority and, mutatis mutandis, similar authority in relation to secretaries in Class II shall be the Regional Authority and for Class I secretaries, it shall be the State Authority. (Para 10.10)

68 The Regional and the District Authorities in the matter of transfers shall be guided and abide by the guidelines and norms in regard to transfers as may be fixed, from time to time, by the State Level Authority. (Para 10.10)

69 Any continuance of a primary secretary beyond the normal prescribed period with any particular society or any transfer prior to the period so prescribed in the normal rules shall be a matter to be effected only with the prior approval of the State Level Authority. (Fara 10.10)

70 The State Level Authority, with the prior approval of the State Government, shall fix, from time to time, the contribution payable by a Society or a class of societies to the State Caderisation Fund. Once such contributions are notified, they shall be the first charge on the revenue account of the scciety. Normally such fixation of contribution should be for a period of 5 years. (Para 10.11)

#### State Level Authority

71 The State Level Authority shall comprise of the following:

- (a) The Chairman of the M.S.C. Bank as ex-officio Chairman,
- (b) The Registrar of Co-operative Societies as the Vice-Chairman,
- (c) Four more nominees of the M.S.C. Bank, being persons other than a Chairman of a District Central Co-operative Bank, as far as possible representing the four geographical regions of Maharashtra, viz., Vidarbha, Marathwada, Western Maharashtra and Konkan, to be selected in consultation with the Registrar, Co-operative Societies,
- (d) one nominee of the Secretary to Government in Finance Department and one nominee of the Secretary to Government in Co-operation Department,
- (e) two other persons nominated by the State Government one representing the interest of agriculturists and the other representing interests of Co-operative Movement generally,
- (f) four representatives of primary secretaries, nominated by the State Government in consultation with the Registrar of Co-operative societies, heing actual working primary secretaries, selected to represent the four distinct geographical regions, referred to in (c) above,
- (g) four representatives of primary societies, being working office-bearers, to be nominated by the State Government from the panel submitted

by the Registrar, Co-operative Societies broadly representing four geographical regions, referred to in (c) above,

- (h) one nominee of the Reserve Bank of India in the Agricultural Credit Department,
- (i) the Managing Director of the Maharashtra State Co-operative Bank as Ex-officio Member Secretary, and Chief Executive Officer,
- (j) the Joint Registrar (Caderisation) in the office of the Registrar, Co-operative Societies as Administrator and Controller of the State Caderisation Fund, and a member of the State Level Authority (Para 10.12)

72 The State Caderisation Fund shall be maintained in a separate account with the Maharashtra State Co-operative Bank and any operation thereupon shall be under a joint signature of the Controller and the Chief Executive Officer of the Authority. (Para 10.12)

73 There shall be 4 Regional Level Authorities with a jurisdiction commensurate with the four Revenue divisions of the State. The Regional Level Authority shall comprise of 5 members, of which the Divisional Joint Registrar shall be a member and the representative or nominee of the Maharashtra State Co-operative Bank shall be the Member-Chairman, — such a representative of the MSC Bank shall, as far as possible, be from amongst the Chairmen of the District Central Co-operative Banks from that region. The State Level Authority shall nominate other three members with the prior approval of the State Government. One would represent the primary secretaries in the region, one should represent the primary socieities and the third should represent the District Central Co-operative Banks. There shall be a non-member stipendary secretary and Chief Executive Officer of the Regional Level Authority to be appointed by the State Level Authority. (Para 10.13)

74 The District Level Authority shall comprise of a full-time Deputy Registrar, Co-operative Societies as Chairman, to be seconded for this purpose by the Registrar, Co-operative Societies, the Manager of the District Central Cooperative Bank, as vice-chairman, a working office-bearer of the primary societies and a working primary secretary in the District and a prominent non-official worker in the Co-operative Sector. The last three members shall be nominated by the State Level Authority in consultation with the Registrar of Co-operative Societies. The State Level Authority shall appoint a non-member stipendary Chief Execuitve Officer of a suitable rank. (Para 10.14)

75 The District Level Authority shall be responsible for preparation, and maintenance of primary documents like service books, confidential records, provident fund and other accounts, etc. The State Level Authority shall fix guidelines and norms as well as prescribe returns, from time to time, which the District Level Authority shall use in the matter of general day-to-day supervision. (Para 10.15)

76 The entire expenditure incurred by the State Level Authority, the Regional Level Authority and the District Level Authority shall be a charge on the State Caderisation Fund. (Para 10.15)

77 The State Level Authority shall prescribe, from time to time, guidelines and norms in regard to qualifications and also frame rules in regard to recruitment as well as award of punishement and disciplinary action against the primary secretaries. (Para 10.16)

78 The Regional Level Authority shall prepare an estimate of future and existing vacancies on the regional cadre in various classes of societies, and on prior approval by the State Level Authority, recruit a panel of suitable candidates against such estimated vacancies and the District Level Authority shall 458

ppoint persons from such panel, against the vacancies as they may arise from time to time. (Para 10.16)

79 The State Level Authority shall expeditiously frame detailed rules regarding service-conditions, promotions, punishments, crossing of the efficiency bar, as well as frame norms and guidelines and rules for recruitment by the Regional Level Authority and in respect of the duties and responsibilities of the primary secretaries. Such rules shall be published in the official gazette and shall be approved by the Registrar of Co-operative Societies. (Para 10.16)

80 The State Level Authority shall also frame detailed rules in regard to arbitration, resolution of disputes, hearing of grievances and complaints. All the decisions of the State Level Authority shall be final and shall not be called in question. (Para 10.17)

81 In the matter of such supervision exercised by the State Level Authority through the District Level Authority, statutory functions of supervision of the District Deputy Registrar, Co-operative Societies shall not be attracted, and those functions shall rest with the District Deputy Registrar, Co-operative Societies. (Para 10.18)

Particulars regarding Deposit Mobilization by Central Financing Agencies in the State

**Rupees** Crores

Zone	District	Credit support from co-operatives*	Short-term loans to be issued by CFAs in 1978-9 (90% of col. 3)	Deposits required to sustain loan business in col. 4 (40% of col. 4)	Level of deposits to be reached in 1978-9 (200% of col. 5)	Total Deposits as on 30 June 1974	Annual growth rate of deposits over col. 7 required to e reach the level in	
							col. 5	col. 6
(1) Normal	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8a)	(8b)
(a) NTA	Ajmer	2.95	2.65	1.06	2.12	1.15		13
,	Alwar	5.65	5.09	2.04	4.08	0.98	16	33
	Bharatpur	6,09	5.48	2.19	4.38	1.12	14	31
	Bhilwara	3.66	3.29	1.32	2.64	0.83	10	26
	Bundi	2.69	2.42	0.97	1.94	0.40	19	37 33
	Ganganagar	11.13	10.02	4.01	8.02	1.97	16	33
	Jaipur	6.39	5.75	2.30	4.60	0.96	19	37
	Jhalawar	2.52	2.27	0.91	1.82	0.84	2	17
	Kota	6.11	5.50	2.20	4.40	1.88	3	19
	Pali	3.63	3.27	1.31	2.62	0.56	19	36
	Sawai Madhopur	3.94	3.55	1.42	2.84	0.27	39	60
	Tonk	2.89	2.60	1.04	2.08	0.29	29	47
	Sub-total	57.65	51.89	20.77	41.54	11.25		
(b) TA	Banswara	1.75	1.58	0.63	1.26	0.27	18	35
	Chittorgarh	3.89	3.50	1.40	2.80	0.65	17	34
	Dungarpur	1.04	0.94	0.38	0.76	0.33	3	19
	Sirohi	1.37	1.23	0.49	0.98	0.22	17	35
	Udaipur	3.46	3.11	1.24	2.48	0.80	9	25
	Sub-total	11.51	10.36	4.14	8.28	2.27		

459

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	ര്	(7)	(8a)	(8b)
Arid	Barmer Bikaner Churu	4.77 1.75 3.39	4.29 1.58 3.05	1.72 0.63 1.22	3.44 1.26 2.44	0.29 0.26 0.13	43 19 57	62 37 80
	Sub-total	9.91	8.92	3.57	7.14	0.68		
Semi-arid	Jalore Jhunjhunu Jodhpur Nagaur Sikar Sub-total	3.82 2.18 3.68 3.87 2.51 16.06	3.44 1.96 3.31 3.48 2.26 14.65	1.38 0.78 1.32 1.39 0.90 5.77	2.76 1.56 2.64 2.78 1.80 11.54	0.15 0.08 0.73 0.17 0.26 1.39	56 58 12 52 28	79 81 29 75 47
	Total	95.13	85.82	34.25	68.50	15.59	<u></u>	

ANNEXURE 88 (Contd.)

\* A 60 per cent of short-term credit needs in 1978-9 (col. 9 of Annexure 73) less the credit needs expected to be met by commercial banks.

#### REFERENCES

Agricultural Credit Board of the Reserve Bank of India (ACB)

All India Rural Credit Survey Committee 1954 (Survey Committee)

All-India Rural Credit Review Committee 1969

Banking Commission

Committee on Common Cadres of the Services of Co-operative Institutions 1966

Committee on Co-operation in India 1915 (Maclagan Committee)

Committee on Co-operative Credit 1960 (Vaikunth Mehta Committee)

Committee on Co-operative Land Development Banks

Evaluation Committee for Secretaries Caderisation Scheme 1973 (Kore Committee)

Expert Group on State Enactments having a Bearing on Commercial Banks Lending to Agriculture 1970 (Talwar Committee)

High Level Group of Experts for appropriate Institutional Structure of Rural Credit (T. A. Pai Group)

Informal Group on Institutional Arrangements for Agricultural Credit 1964

Irrigation Commission, Government of India, 1972

National Commission on Agriculture

National Development Council

Standing Advisory Committee on Rural and Co-operative Credit of the Reserve Bank of India (SAC)

Standing Committee on Co-ordination between Cooperative and Commercial Banks in financing Agriculture

Study Team on Co-operative Agricultural Credit Institutions in Maharashtra 1973 (Maharashtra Study Team)

Study Team on Co-operative Agricultural Credit Institutions in West Bengal 1972

Study Team on Overdues of Co-operative Credit Institutions 1974 (Overdues Study Team)

Study Team on Two-tier Co-operative Credit Structure in Kerala 1973 (Kerala Study Team)

Working Group on Co-operation for the formulation of the Fifth Five Year Plan (Fifth Plan Working Group)

### ABBREVIATIONS

ACB	Agricultural Credit Board of the RBI
ACD	Agricultural Credit Department of the RBI
ARC	Agricultural Refinance Corporation
AZ	Arid Zone
AI	Artificial Insemination
ccb	Central co-operative bank
CCADP	Chambal Command Area Development Project
cfa	Central financing agency
DDP	Dairy Development Project
DIC	Deposit Insurance Corporation
DPAP	Drought Prone Areas Project
GM	General Manager
GOI	Government of India
GOR	Government of Rajasthan
GSS	Gram-seva Sahakari Samiti
IDA	International Development Agency
KVSS	Kraya Vikraya Sahakari Samiti
LTO Fund	RBI's Long-Term Operations Fund
MD	Managing Director
NCDC	National Co-operative Development Corporation
nodc	Non-overdue cover
NTA	Non-tribal area
pacs	Primary agricultural credit societies
pldb	Primary land development bank
	Rajasthan Canal Command Area Development Project
RCP	Rajasthan Canal Project
RSDP	Rajasthan Sheep Development Project
RSCB	Rajasthan State Co-operative Bank
RRSBVB	
RCS	Registrar of Co-operative Societies
RBI	Reserve Bank of India
sao	Seasonal agricultural operations
SAZ	Semi-arid Zone
	Tribal Area
VBSS	Vrahat Bahudhandi Sahakari Samiti
VKRSS	Vrihat Krishi Rindatri Sahakari Samiti
NOTATIONS	
	Nil or peoligible

	Nil or negligible			
•	Not applicable			
	Not available			

### GLOSSARY

Adimjati - Adivasi, i.e., tribals Narota. i.e., Custom of mutual help amongst tribals

## FISCAL YEAR

GOI, GOR and agencies	April 1-March 31
ARC, Co-operatives	July 1June 30
Commercial Banks	January 1—December 31
Commercial Banks (For agricul-	Last Saturday of September
tural loans issued)	to last Friday of next
	September
Commercial Banks (For overdues of agricultural loans)	Last Saturday of June to last Friday of next June

